Dietary and supplement strategies for the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome

Edited by Rahele Ziaei and Jose Atilio Canas

Coordinated by Zahra Hajhashemy, Matteo Della Porta and Sahar Foshati

Published in Frontiers in Nutrition





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5789-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5789-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Dietary and supplement strategies for the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome

Topic editors

Rahele Ziaei — Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran Jose Atilio Canas — Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital, United States

Topic coordinators

Zahra Hajhashemy — Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran Matteo Della Porta — University of Milan, Italy Sahar Foshati — Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Iran

Citation

Ziaei, R., Canas, J. A., Hajhashemy, Z., Porta, M. D., Foshati, S., eds. (2024). *Dietary and supplement strategies for the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5789-1



Table of contents

- 05 The association between dietary intake of flavonoids and its subclasses and the risk of metabolic syndrome Zhenlei Zhao, Wenyan Gao, Xiaoli Ding, Xiaogang Xu, Changgian Xiao, Genxiang Mao and Wenmin Xing
- 17 Endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, hypertension, and the metabolic syndrome: molecular insights and combating strategies

Diptimayee Das, Nagainallur Ravichandran Shruthi, Antara Banerjee, Ganesan Jothimani, Asim K. Duttaroy and Surajit Pathak

42 Metabolic syndrome in relation to dietary acid load: a dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies

Sulieman Ibraheem Shelash Al-Hawary, Faris Mushabab, Shahabe Saquib Abullais, Raed H. Althomali, Ebraheem Abdu Musad Saleh, Serar Nassir Alnajjar, Khulood H. Oudaha, Rosario Mireya Romero-Parra, Beneen M. Hussien and Nazila Garousi

51 Can flaxseed supplementation affect circulating adipokines in adults? An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Shaghayegh Abbasi, Kiana Karimi, Amir Hossein Moridpour, Vali Musazadeh, Amir Hossein Faghfouri and Hannane Jozi

63 The effects of NAD+ precursor (nicotinic acid and nicotinamide) supplementation on weight loss and related hormones: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis of randomized controlled trials

You Baichuan, Marcela Gomes Reis, Sogand Tavakoli, Navideh Khodadadi, Mohammad Hassan Sohouli and Nathalia Sernizon Guimarães

73 Boosting plant food polyphenol concentration by saline eustress as supplement strategies for the prevention of metabolic syndrome: an example of randomized interventional trial in the adult population

> Vincenzo Ferrantelli, Sonya Vasto, Angelina Alongi, Leo Sabatino, Davide Baldassano, Rosalia Caldarella, Rosaria Gagliano, Luigi Di Rosa, Beppe Benedetto Consentino, Lorena Vultaggio and Sara Baldassano

84 Dietary intervention improves metabolic levels in patients with type 2 diabetes through the gut microbiota: a systematic review and meta-analysis

> Xiaoyu Xu, Fan Zhang, Jiajia Ren, Haimeng Zhang, Cuiqi Jing, Muhong Wei, Yuhong Jiang and Hong Xie

102 Ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk: an umbrella review of systematic reviews with meta-analyses of observational studies

> Jia-Le Lv, Yi-Fan Wei, Jia-Nan Sun, Yu-Chen Shi, Fang-Hua Liu, Ming-Hui Sun, Qing Chang, Qi-Jun Wu and Yu-Hong Zhao

118 Association and dose–response relationship of plasma magnesium with metabolic syndrome in Chinese adults older than 45years

Jingxin Yang, Yang Cao, Huidi Zhang, Yichun Hu, Jiaxi Lu, Rui Wang, Jie Feng and Lichen Yang

- 127 The impacts of dietary sphingomyelin supplementation on metabolic parameters of healthy adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials Chen-Zi Li, Li-Mei Wu, Chen-Xi Zhu, Huan-Yu Du, Guo-Xun Chen and Fang Yang
- 150 Association of multiple serum minerals and vitamins with metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in US adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017–2018

Peisen Guo and Jiahui Yu

159 Metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: current therapeutic strategies

Khamis Al Hashmi, Rosaria Vincenza Giglio, Anca Pantea Stoian, Angelo Maria Patti, Khalid Al Waili, Khalid Al Rasadi, Marcello Ciaccio and Manfredi Rizzo

168 Mechanisms of body fat distribution and gluteal-femoral fat protection against metabolic disorders

Maha Alser, Khaled Naja and Mohamed A. Elrayess

177 Impact of low-carbohydrate diet on health status: an umbrella review

Sarah Alkhunein, Rehab Alawad, Omar Alhumaidan, Bushra Fatani, Abeer Alolayan, Tarfah Alfelyeh, Shihana Alakeel and Yara Almuhtadi

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Miguel Rebollo-Hernanz, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States Julia Peterson, American Society of Pharmacognosy, United States Rosaria Vari, National Institute of Health (ISS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Wenmin Xing ☑ xing-wenmin@hotmail.com Genxiang Mao ☑ maogenxiang@163.com Changqian Xiao ☑ xiaochangqian@163.com

 $^{\dagger}\mbox{These}$ authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 28 March 2023 ACCEPTED 13 June 2023 PUBLISHED 05 July 2023

CITATION

Zhao Z, Gao W, Ding X, Xu X, Xiao C, Mao G and Xing W (2023) The association between dietary intake of flavonoids and its subclasses and the risk of metabolic syndrome. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1195107. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1195107

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Zhao, Gao, Ding, Xu, Xiao, Mao and Xing. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The association between dietary intake of flavonoids and its subclasses and the risk of metabolic syndrome

Zhenlei Zhao^{1†}, Wenyan Gao^{2†}, Xiaoli Ding², Xiaogang Xu¹, Changqian Xiao^{1*}, Genxiang Mao^{1*} and Wenmin Xing^{1*}

¹Zhejiang Provincial Key Lab of Geriatrics, Zhejiang Hospital, Hangzhou, China, ²School of Pharmacy, Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, China

Background: The healthiest way to prevent metabolic syndrome (MetS) is through behavioral and nutritional adjustments. We examined the relationship between total flavonoids intake, flavonoid subclasses, and clinically manifest MetS.

Methods: A cross-sectional analysis was conducted among 28,719 individuals from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) and Food and Nutrient Database for Dietary Studies (FNDDS) 2007–2011 and 2017–2018. Two 24-h reviews were conducted to determine flavonoids intake and subclasses. The link between flavonoids intake and MetS was investigated using a multivariate logistic regression model.

Results: Q2 and Q3 of total flavonoids intake were associated with 20 and 19% lower risk of incident MetS after adjusting age and sex. Anthocyanidins and flavanones intake in Q2 and Q3 substantially reduced the MetS risk compared to Q1. MetS risk decreased steadily as the total intake of flavonoids increased to 237.67 mg/d. Flavanones and anthocyanidins also displayed V-shaped relationship curves (34.37 and 23.13 mg/d).

Conclusion: MetS was adversely linked with total flavonoids intake, flavanones, and anthocyanidins. Moreover, the most effective doses of total flavonoids, flavanones, and anthocyanidins were 237.67, 34.37, and 23.13 mg/d, respectively, potentially preventing MetS.

KEYWORDS

metabolic syndrome, flavonoids intake, flavanones, anthocyanidins, NHANES

Introduction

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is characterized by a cluster of metabolic abnormalities, such as impaired glucose metabolism, high blood pressure, low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c) levels, and dyslipidemia (1). Subjects with MetS mainly present with abdominal obesity, hyperglycemia, hypertension, and dyslipidemia (2). It was also closely associated with a higher cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk, type 2 diabetes (T2D) risk, and overall mortality (3, 4). MetS results from complicated risk factors interaction among genetic, metabolic, diet, lifestyle, and environmental factors (5). For instance, smoking, alcohol drinking, and an unbalanced diet contributed significantly to the development of MetS (5). Studies have demonstrated that some dietary life and nutrients played a protective role against MetS development (6, 7). For instance, Mediterranean diet (MedDiet) interventions could improve MetS (8, 9). MedDiet is characterized by a high concentration of polyphenols, which are prospective candidates for ameliorating the chronic low-grade inflammation and oxidative stress of MetS patients (10).

Previous research examined the relationship between dietary polyphenols and MetS, CVD, T2D, cancer, and all-cause mortality (11-17). For instance, high total polyphenols, flavonoids, and phenolic acid intake had 50, 51, and 45% lower odds of MetS, respectively, when compared to low total polyphenols, flavonoids, and phenolic acid intake. In contrast, larger intakes of total polyphenols, flavonoids, and phenolic acids were related to a reduced risk for elevated systolic blood pressure (SBP) and HDL-c, which were independent cardiovascular risk factors (16). However, no relationship was found between total polyphenols intake and other MetS components (18). A French prospective cohort study reported that individuals with polyphenols intake, including anthocyanins, dihydro flavonols, catechins, flavonols, hydroxybenzoic acids, lignans, and stilbenes, had a low risk of T2D, which is independent of major potential confounders (11). Furthermore, a decreased risk of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is related to a large intake of fruit polyphenols. However, no clear association exists between total vegetable polyphenol intake and GDM risk (15). Moreover, a high intake of stilbenes, lignans, hydroxy benzaldehydes, hydroxy coumarins, and tyrosols was associated with a lower gastric cancer risk (12). Additionally, peonidin, naringenin, and catechin intakes were negatively correlated with cancer mortality (17). However, total polyphenols intake was not significantly associated with cancer mortality risk reported in Japanese adults (13). Importantly, individuals' biological aging or the discrepancy between the biological and chronological age of a subject (Δ age) was inversely associated with the polyphenol antioxidant content (PAC) score (14). Therefore, a polyphenol-rich diet helps decelerate biological aging, which benefits the long-term risk of MetS, cardiovascular disease, and cancer.

Previous studies have highlighted dietary flavonoids intake as a potential protective factor against developing extra body fat (19). Studies have evidenced that flavonoids are strong antioxidants and metal chelators to decrease energy intake, increase energy expenditure and fat oxidation, influence macronutrient absorption and uptake, and inhibit adipogenesis (20-25). According to a previous study, long-term use of flavonoids may improve cardiovascular disease by restoring the body's natural antioxidant defenses and lowering the risk of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL) oxidation (26). In addition, flavonoid compounds extracted from apple peel can reduce blood pressure and control body fat (27, 28). Although a previous cross-sectional study including 9,108 Chinese individuals investigated the relationship between flavonoid and copper intake and MetS, there is no proof that any flavonoid compound can ameliorate MetS symptoms (5). A Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study based on Iran's population reported that only flavonols and flavones showed protective effects against MetS. Simultaneously, no significant association was found between the intake of other flavonoid subclasses and MetS risk (29). Due to the intricacy of MetS and the variety of flavonoids, additional research is required to assess the relationship between flavonoid consumption and MetS risk. Furthermore, because each flavonoid component has unique active activity, it was necessary to confirm whether consuming the various flavonoid subclasses was linked with lowering MetS (18).

Consequently, this study aimed to demonstrate the possible association of total flavonoids and subclasses of flavonoid intake

with MetS in the USA using the NHANES data system from 2007 to 2010 and 2017 to 2018. We hypothesized that flavonoids intake would be positively associated with a reduced risk of MetS. Additionally, the impact of an individual's clinical characteristics and lifestyle on the MetS reduction brought on by using flavonoids was discussed. This study also explored the most effective dose of each flavonoid subtype for reducing the MetS rate.

Methods

Study population

The NHANES was a cross-sectional design that employed stratified, multistage probability sampling of the U.S. population to examine health and nutritional status through interviews and laboratory examinations (30). This survey was approved by the Ethics Review Board of the NCHS (available on the web at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/). This study employed three cycles of NHANES 2007–2010 and 2017–2018 data to extract flavonoids intake information, and 28,719 participants were included (Table 1). Participants were disqualified if they could not provide dietary information within 24 h. Moreover, pregnant women and cancer patients receiving medical therapy or radiotherapy were excluded. Demographic, health-related lifestyle, and chronic disease information were also gathered from the participants.

Assessment of flavonoid intakes

The information on total flavonoids and their subclasses intake was extracted from the United States Department of Food and Nutrient Database for Dietary Studies (FNDDS) linked to the NHANES database. These flavonoid compounds' levels were determined by averaging the results of two 24-h interviews (31). The USDA food code for each survey cycle was used to assign the flavonoid compounds (version 4.1 for 2007–2008 and version 5.0 for 2009–2010) (32). USDA Database provided values for 29 kinds of flavonoids, six flavonoid subclasses (anthocyanidins, flavan-3-ols, flavanones, flavones, flavonols, and isoflavones), and total flavonoids for all food codes linked to NHANES 2007–2010 and 2017–2018 (32). These values can be used to estimate flavonoids consumption in the U.S. population.

Definition of metabolic syndrome

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is defined according to the criteria and definition published in the Lancet statement on metabolic syndrome in 2005 guidelines (33, 34). The following requirements were described in detail: (1) waist circumference was \geq 88 cm for women and \geq 102 cm for men, (2) hypertriglyceridemia (triglycerides \geq 1.7 mmol/L), (3) low HDL cholesterol (HDL < 1.03 mmol/L in men or HDL < 1.29 mmol/L in women), (4) elevated blood pressure (SBP \geq 130 mm Hg, DBP \geq 85 mm Hg, or both) or antihypertensive drug treatment for hypertension, and (5) elevated

TABLE 1 Characteristics of NHANES participants by tertiles of total flavonoid intake.

| | Total population Total flavonoid intake qu $(n = 28,719)$ | | uintiles | | |
|--|---|------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------|
| | | Q1 (n = 8,937) | Q2 (<i>n</i> = 9,265) | Q3 (n = 10,517) | P-value |
| Total flavonoid intake, mean (SE) (mg/d) | 220.03 (7.37) | 18.57 (0.34) | 80.00 (0.93) | 579.24 (13.69) | < 0.0001 |
| Socio-economic characteristics | | | | | |
| Female, <i>n</i> (%) | 14,690 (51.15) | 4,553 (50.95) | 4,656 (50.25) | 3,851 (52.10) | 0.21 |
| Male, <i>n</i> (%) | 14,029 (48.85) | 4,384 (49.05) | 4,609 (49.75) | 5,409 (47.90) | |
| Age, years, mean (SE) | 37.26 (0.29) | 33.62 (0.39) | 37.17 (0.39) ^{a*} | 40.44 (0.41) ^{b*} | < 0.0001 |
| Ethnicity | | 1 | , | | |
| White, <i>n</i> (%) | 1,8191 (63.34) | 5,656 (63.29) | 5,716 (61.69) ^{a*} | 6,820 (64.85) ^{b*} | < 0.0001 |
| Black, <i>n</i> (%) | 3,464 (12.06) | 1,219 (13.64) | 1,106 (11.94) ^{a*} | 1,140 (10.84) ^{b*} | |
| Mexican, <i>n</i> (%) | 2,970 (10.34) | 990 (11.08) | 1,061 (11.45) ^{a*} | 919 (8.74) ^b * | |
| Others, <i>n</i> (%) | 4,092 (14.25) | 1,072 (12.00) | 1,383 (14.93) ^{a*} | 1,639 (15.58) ^b * | |
| Healthy behavior factors | | | | | |
| Smoke status | | | | | |
| Current smokers, <i>n</i> (%) | 4,431 (15.43) | 1,635 (18.30) | 1,141 (12.32) ^{a*} | 1,54 (15.73) ^b * | < 0.0001 |
| No current smokers, <i>n</i> (%) | 24,288 (84.57) | 7,302 (81.70) | 8,124 (87.68) ^{a*} | 8,863 (84.27) ^{b*} | |
| Drinking | | | | | |
| No drink user, <i>n</i> (%) | 6,979 (24.30) | 2,308 (25.83) | 2,339 (25.25) ^a * | 2,330 (22.15) ^b * | < 0.0001 |
| Former drink user, <i>n</i> (%) | 2,257 (7.86) | 798 (8.93) | 671 (7.24) ^a * | 788 (7.49) ^b * | |
| Mild drink user, <i>n</i> (%) | 8,587 (29.90) | 2,166 (24.24) | 2,867 (30.94) ^{a*} | 3,555 (33.80) ^{b*} | |
| Moderate drink user, <i>n</i> (%) | 4,474 (15.58) | 1,423 (15.92) | 1,390 (15.00) ^{a*} | 1663 (15.81) ^b * | |
| Heavy drink user, <i>n</i> (%) | 6,422 (22.36) | 2,241 (25.07) | 1,998 (21.57) ^{a*} | 2,181 (20.74) ^b * | |
| Physical activity level | | | | | |
| Never, <i>n</i> (%) | 10,399 (36.21) | 3,695 (41.34) | 3,327 (35.91) ^{a*} | 3,377 (32.11) ^{b*} | < 0.0001 |
| Low, <i>n</i> (%) | 5,775 (20.11) | 1,589 (17.78) | 1,885 (20.35) ^{a*} | 2,301 (21.88) ^{b*} | |
| Intermediate, n (%) | 6,304 (21.95) | 1,723 (19.28) | 2,129 (22.98) ^{a*} | 2,453 (23.32) ^{b*} | |
| High, <i>n</i> (%) | 6,241 (21.73) | 1,930 (21.60) | 1,924 (20.77) ^{a*} | 2,386 (22.69) ^{b*} | |
| Dietary intake | | | | | |
| kCal/day, kCal, mean (SE) | 2,032.07 (8.20) | 1,846.08 (11.69) | 2,091.19 (12.00) ^{a*} | 2,138.07 (12.75) ^b * | < 0.0001 |
| Carbohydrates/day, g/100 kCal, mean (SE) | 249.00 (0.95) | 222.01 (1.69) | 257.74 (1.44) ^{a*} | 264.23 (1.54) ^{b*} | < 0.0001 |
| Protein/day, g/100 kCal, mean (SE) | 78.01 (0.40) | 71.10 (0.57) | 80.17 (0.54) ^{a*} | 81.99 (0.51) ^b * | < 0.0001 |
| Fiber/day, g/100 kCal, mean (SE) | 15.85 (0.15) | 12.32 (0.13) | 17.25 (0.14) ^{a*} | 17.61 (0.19) ^{b*} | < 0.0001 |
| Total fat, mean (SE) | 78.49 (0.39) | 73.27 (0.54) | 79.01 (0.60) ^{a*} | 82.47 (0.60) ^b * | < 0.0001 |
| Medications, n (%) | | | | | |
| Anti.Diabetic | | | | | |
| No | 26,829 (93.42) | 8,344 (93.37) | 8,687 (93.76) | 9,798 (93.16) ^{b*} | 0.6 |
| Yes | 1,890 (6.58) | 593 (6.63) | 578 (6.24) | 719 (6.84) ^b * | |
| Anti.Hypertensive | | | | | |
| No | 27,533 (95.87) | 8,628 (96.54) | 8,866 (95.69) | 10,041 (95.47) ^b * | 0.08 |
| Yes | 1,186 (4.13) | 309 (3.46) | 399 (4.31) | 476 (4.53) ^b * | |

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

| | Total population $(n = 28,719)$ | Total flavonoid intake quintiles | | | |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------|
| | | Q1 (n = 8,937) | Q2 (n = 9,265) | Q3 (n = 10,517) | <i>P</i> -value |
| Chronic disease factors | | | | | |
| BMI, kg/m ² , <i>n</i> (%) | | | | | |
| BMI < 25 | 12,677 (44.14) | 4,027 (45.06) | 4,260 (45.98) | 4,390 (41.74) | 0.001 |
| $BMI \geq 25$ | 16,042 (55.86) | 4,910 (54.94) | 5,005 (54.02) | 6,127 (58.26) | |
| Hypertension, n (%) | | | | | |
| No Hypertension | 20,816 (72.48) | 6,638 (74.28) | 6,755 (72.91) | 7,421 (70.56) ^b * | < 0.0001 |
| Hypertension | 7,903 (27.52) | 2,299 (25.72) | 2,510 (27.09) | 3,096 (29.44) ^{b*} | |
| Diabetes, n (%) | | | | | |
| No diabetes | 23,972 (83.47) | 7,529 (84.25) | 7,759 (83.75) | 8,683 (82.56) | 0.11 |
| Diabetes | 4,747 (16.53) | 1,408 (15.75) | 1,506 (16.25) | 1,834 (17.44) | |
| Chronic kidney disease | | | | | |
| No CKD | 20,867 (72.66) | 6,212 (69.51) | 6,523 (70.40) | 8,132 (77.32) ^b * | < 0.0001 |
| CKD | 7,852 (27.34) | 2,725 (30.49) | 2,742 (29.60) | 2,385 (22.68) ^b * | |
| COPD | | | | | |
| No COPD | 27,645 (96.26) | 8,593 (96.15) | 8,931 (96.39) | 10,122 (96.24) | 0.82 |
| COPD | 1,074 (3.74) | 344 (3.85) | 334 (3.61) | 395 (3.76) | |
| CVD | | | | | |
| No CVD | 26,855 (93.51) | 8,375 (93.71) | 8,707 (93.98) | 9,773 (92.93) | 0.03 |
| CVD | 1,864 (6.49) | 562 (6.29) | 558 (6.02) | 744 (7.07) | |
| MetS | | | | | |
| No MetS | 22,694 (79.02) | 6,995 (78.27) | 7,417 (80.05) ^{a*} | 8,280 (78.73) | 0.15 |
| MetS | 6,025 (20.98) | 1,942 (21.73) | 1,848 (19.95) ^{a*} | 2,237 (21.27) | |

Values are means (SE) for continuous variables and n (%) for categorical variables; SE, standard error; NHANES, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey; BMI, body mass index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; MET, metabolic equivalent; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CVD, cardiovascular disease; MetS, metabolic syndrome. The total flavonoid value was the sum of 29 kinds of flavonoids in six subclasses of classes, which include anthocyanidins, flavan-3-ols, flavanones, flavonols, and isoflavones. Data were generated using χ^2 tests for the categorical variables, and *T*-tests were used for continuous variables. ^{a*}indicated that the *p*-value for the Q2 vs. Q1 comparison was <0.05, while ^{b*}indicated that the *p*-value for the Q3 vs. Q1 comparison was <0.05.

fasting plasma glucose (FPG) (FPG \geq 5.6 mmol/L, or diagnosed as type 2 diabetes).

Covariates

NHANES Using standard questionnaires, supplied demographic and lifestyle information about people in this study. In this study, gender, age, ethnicity, and body mass index (BMI) were demographic variables. Furthermore, smoking, drinking, physical activity, and fiber or protein consumption were lifestyle variables. Smoking was classified as no current (those who had never smoked more than 100 cigarettes in their lifetime or had smoked at least 100 cigarettes but did not currently smoke) or current (a minimum of 100 cigarettes had been smoked, or had smoked some days). Alcohol consumers were categorized as nondrinkers, previous drinkers, light, moderate, and heavy. Physical activity was evaluated by self-report and measured in weekly metabolic equivalent (MET) minutes. MET was calculated into trisection [Q1 (low), Q2 (intermediate), and Q3 (high)], and participants were categorized as never, low, intermediate, and high levels of physical activity. The ethnicity categories were White, Black, Mexican, and other ethnicity. Hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and COPD were defined. Medication information, including anti-diabetes and anti-hypertension drugs, was defined as "No" and "Yes".

Statistical analyses

We used NHANES-recommended weights to balance for planned oversampling and ensure the analysis accuracy. The continuous variables were expressed as means \pm standard errors (SE). Categorical variables were expressed as counts and percentages. Moreover, missing data were imputed using the forest R package. Individuals were separated into three groups

based on total flavonoids and flavonoid subclasses' consumption values (tertiles: Q1, Q2, and Q3). Significant differences between MetS subjects and control subjects were identified using χ^2 tests for categorical variables and ANOVA analysis for continuous variables. To evaluate the adjusted odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) between flavonoids intake and MetS risk, a multivariate logistic regression analysis model was used. A model-adjusted risk ratio was calculated to compare the risk of MetS and flavonoids intake (Q2 and Q3) with the lowest (Q1) category. Then, we also constructed several adjusted models to modify various characteristics: model 1 (adjusted for age), model 2 (adjusted for age, sex, and ethnicity), model 3 (Model 2 plus smoke status, drinking status, and physical activity), and model 4 (Model 2 plus BMI, hypertension, diabetes, COPD, and medications). Then, a restricted cubic spline (RCS) was employed to explore the nonlinear associations between the risk of MetS and the total flavonoids and its subclasses intake (35). A stratified analysis was performed to explore the heterogeneity of the effect of flavonoids intake on MetS risk. Moreover, an interaction model was used to evaluate the interaction between flavonoids intake and other variables. In this study, *p*-values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant. R software (version 4.1.2), Rstudio software, and the nhanesR package were used for all analyses.

Results

Basic characteristics of this study population

In 2007-2010 and 2017-2018, for all included individuals, the mean (SE) total flavonoids intake in the first tertile was 18.57 (0.34) mg, in the second tertile was 80.00 (0.93) mg, and in the third tertile was 579.24 (13.69) mg. The demographic, lifestyle characteristics, dietary intake components, and diseases of the included individuals are illustrated in Table 1. This population of 28,719 individuals from the USA was followed for a mean age of 37.26 years, and 14,029 (48.85%) were men. According to the criteria, 6,025 people (20.98%) were identified as MetS participants. Compared to participants in Q1 of total flavonoids intake, those in Q3 were more likely to be older, have a lower BMI, and be more physically active. Participants who consumed more flavonoids also tended to consume more total fat, protein, carbs, and fiber. Furthermore, these individuals take more antihypertension drugs (Table 1). These participants were less likely to be smokers and heavy drink users with CKD and COPD. However, these participants had a higher risk of diabetes, hypertension, and CVD (Table 1).

Overall associations between total flavonoids and six subclassess intake and MetS

We classified the total flavonoids intake by tertiles to investigate the association between flavonoids and MetS. The mean (SE) values of total flavonoids, six subclasses of flavonoids, and sole flavonoids are listed in Supplementary material 1. A multiple logistic regression model indicated that the Q2 and Q3 of total flavonoids intake were associated with a 20 and 19% lower risk of incident MetS after adjusting age and sex (model 1: second vs. first tertile, OR = 0.80 (95% CI: 0.71–0.90); Q3 vs. Q1, OR = 0.81 (95% CI: 0.72-0.91), P trend = 0.001) (Table 2). Total flavonoids intake is still strongly inversely associated with the MetS risk after adjusting for age, sex, lifestyles, and other nutrient intakes (Model 2: second vs. first tertile, OR = 0.82 (95% CI: 0.73-0.92); Q3 vs. Q1, OR = 0.83 (95% CI: 0.74-0.93), P trend = 0.003; model 3: Q2 vs. Q1, OR = 0.87 (95% CI: 0.76-0.98); Q3 vs. Q1, OR = 0.85 (95% CI: 0.75-0.97), P trend = 0.018). However, there were no statistically significant differences between the flavonols and flavones intake and the MetS risk. There were significant differences between the flavan_3_ols intake and the MetS risk only in model 1 (adjusting for sex and age) and model 2 (adjusting for sex, age, and lifestyles). The analysis showed that Q2 of flavanones intake reduced the risk of MetS compared to Q1 in model 1 (OR = 0.80, 95%CI: 0.71-0.89), model 2 (OR = 0.80, 95% CI: 0.71-0.89), and model 3 (OR = 0.84, 95% CI: 0.79-0.95). Furthermore, Q3 of flavanones intake had more strongly reduced the MetS risk than Q1 (model 1: OR = 0.73, 95%CI: 0.66–0.80), model 2 (OR = 0.73, 95% CI: 0.66–0.81), and model 3 (OR = 0.75, 95% CI: 0.67-0.84). Individuals who consumed anthocyanidins also experienced a considerable reduction in their MetS risk, as indicated in Table 2.

Stratified analyses

Results presented that Q3 of total flavonoids intake was significantly related to a lower risk of MetS in participants of age <20 years (OR = 0.64, 95% CI: 0.50–0.82) compared to Q1, but Q2 of total flavonoids intake was significantly related to a lower risk of MetS in participants of age >60 years (OR = 0.76, 95% CI: 0.58– 1.01). Moreover, compared to Q1, Q2, and Q3, total flavonoids intake was significantly related to MetS lower risk in Mexican participants (Q2: OR = 0.78, 95% CI: 0.66-0.92; Q3: OR = 0.79, 95% CI: 0.66-0.95). A negative correlation between total flavonoids intake and MetS prevalence was also found in participants with a BMI of <25 kg/m². Interaction analysis revealed that different degrees of physical activity had distinct effects on the extent to which total flavonoids consumption affected MetS risk (P < 0.0001; Table 3). Compared to Q1, MetS risk was reduced in Q3 of the isoflavones intake (Supplementary material 2), while no significant difference was found in Q2 of the isoflavones intake. Moreover, no interaction existed in the effect of these covariates with isoflavones intake on MetS risk. Additionally, compared to Q1, anthocyanidins and flavanones intake in Q2 and Q3 could significantly lower MetS risk (Supplementary material 3, 4).

Overall dose-response associations between flavonoids intake and MetS

We employed an RCS to analyze the dose-response relationship of flavonoid consumption (Figure 1). The median total intake of total flavonoids, flavanones, isoflavones, and anthocyanidins was set as the reference point to illustrate the association between

TABLE 2 Odd ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of MetS risk by tertiles of flavonoid intake.

| | Tot | Total flavonoid intake quintiles | | | | |
|------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|----------|--|--|
| No. events | Q1 (n = 8,937) | Q2 (<i>n</i> = 9,265) | Q3 (n = 10,517) | | | |
| Total flavonoid | | | | | | |
| Mean (SE) (mg/d) | 18.57 (0.34) | 80.00 (0.93) | 579.24 (13.69) | < 0.0001 | | |
| OR (95%CI) | | | | | | |
| Model 1 | Ref | 0.80 (0.71,0.90) | 0.81 (0.72,0.91) | 0.001 | | |
| Model 2 | Ref | 0.82 (0.73,0.92) | 0.83 (0.74,0.93) | 0.003 | | |
| Model 3 | Ref | 0.87 (0.76,0.98) | 0.85 (0.75,0.97) | 0.018 | | |
| Flavonols | | | | | | |
| No. events | 8,136 | 9,026 | 11,557 | | | |
| Mean (SE) (mg/d) | 4.29 (0.03) | 11.65 (0.04) | 26.85 (0.33) | < 0.0001 | | |
| OR (95%CI) | | | | | | |
| Model 1 | Ref | 0.83 (0.74,0.93) | 0.95 (0.85,1.07) | 0.722 | | |
| Model 2 | Ref | 0.82 (0.73,0.92) | 0.95 (0.84,1.07) | 0.696 | | |
| Model 3 | Ref | 0.87 (0.77,0.98) | 1.07 (0.97,1.21) | 0.145 | | |
| Flavan_3_ols | · | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | |
| No. events | 9,121 | 9,268 | 10,327 | | | |
| Mean (SE) (mg/d) | 4.12 (0.05) | 39.23 (0.88) | 351.61 (9.93) | < 0.0001 | | |
| OR (95%CI) | | | | | | |
| Model 1 | Ref | 0.82 (0.74,0.92) | 0.88 (0.798,0.97) | 0.02 | | |
| Model 2 | Ref | 0.84 (0.75,0.94) | 0.89 (0.81,0.98) | 0.041 | | |
| Model 3 | Ref | 0.89 (0.80,1.00) | 0.91 (0.81,1.01) | 0.077 | | |
| Flavones | | | | | | |
| No. events | 8,570 | 9,101 | 11,048 | | | |
| Mean (SE) (mg/d) | 0.10 (0.00) | 0.51 (0.00) | 1.54 (0.04) | < 0.0001 | | |
| OR (95%CI) | | | | | | |
| Model 1 | Ref | 0.91 (0.81,1.01) | 0.96 (0.84,1.09) | 0.064 | | |
| Model 2 | Ref | 0.87 (0.78,0.97) | 0.8793 (0.78,0.99) | 0.059 | | |
| Model 3 | Ref | 0.89 (0.79,0.98) | 0.8855 (0.78,0.99) | 0.582 | | |
| Flavanones | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | | |
| No. events | 9,922 | 9,943 | 8,854 | | | |
| Mean (SE) (mg/d) | 0.06 (0.00) | 7.34 (0.15) | 36.55 (0.50) | < 0.0001 | | |
| OR (95%CI) | | | | | | |
| Model 1 | Ref | 0.80 (0.71,0.89) | 0.73 (0.66,0.80) | < 0.001 | | |
| Model 2 | Ref | 0.80 (0.71,0.89) | 0.73 (0.66,0.81) | < 0.001 | | |
| Model 3 | Ref | 0.84 (0.75,0.95) | 0.7503 (0.67,0.84) | < 0.001 | | |
| Isoflavones | | | | | | |
| No. events | 10,870 | 8,570 | 9,279 | | | |
| Mean (SE) (mg/d) | 0.00 (0.00) | 0.07 (0.00) | 5.47 (0.25) | < 0.0001 | | |
| OR (95%CI) | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | I | | | |
| Model 1 | Ref | 1.05 (0.94,1.17) | 0.69 (0.62,0.76) | <0.001 | | |

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

| | Total flavonoid intake quintiles | | | P for trend | |
|------------------|----------------------------------|------------------|-------------------------|-------------|--|
| No. events | Q1 (<i>n</i> = 8,937) | Q2 (n = 9,265) | Q3 (<i>n</i> = 10,517) | | |
| Model 2 | Ref | 1.04 (0.92,1.17) | 0.69 (0.62,0.76) | <0.001 | |
| Model 3 | Ref | 1.09 (0.96,1.23) | 0.70 (0.63,0.79) | <0.001 | |
| Anthocyanidins | | | | | |
| No. events | 9,696 | 9,371 | 9,652 | | |
| Mean (SE) (mg/d) | 0.25 (0.01) | 6.51 (0.08) | 36.08 (0.94) | < 0.0001 | |
| OR (95%CI) | | | | | |
| Model 1 | Ref | 0.81 (0.73,0.90) | 0.61 (0.55,0.68) | <0.001 | |
| Model 2 | Ref | 0.82 (0.74,0.91) | 0.62 (0.55,0.70) | <0.001 | |
| Model 3 | Ref | 0.84 (0.75,0.94) | 0.64 (0.57,0.73) | <0.001 | |

OR, odd ratios; CI, confidence interval. Data are presented as OR and 95% CIs. ORs obtained from average marginal predictions in the logistic analysis model. Model 1 adjusted for age and sex; Model 2 adjusted for age, sex, BMI, smoking status, physical activity, and alcohol consumption; Model 3 adjusted for all covariates in Model 2 plus intakes of energy, protein, carbohydrate, fiber, and total fat. *P*-value based on orthogonal polynomial contrasts of the adjusted prevalence estimates by category of flavonoid (total or subclass) intake.

flavonoids intake and MetS reduction. Figure 1A displays a nonlinear between flavonoid intake and the risk of MetS after adjusting for age, sex, ethnicity, lifestyle, and other nutrient intakes. MetS prevalence decreased steadily following the increase in total intake of flavonoids until the total flavonoids' intake reached 237.67 mg/day. Then, MetS risk began to increase as the total flavonoids intake evaluate further. Flavanones (Figure 1B) and anthocyanidins (Figure 1D) also displayed V-shaped relationship curves. At 34.37 mg/day (flavanones) and 23.13 mg/day (anthocyanidins) points, MetS risk was the lowest, respectively. In contrast to these flavonoids, when isoflavones intake increased, MetS risk consistently dropped, and the downward trend then slightly increased (Figure 1C). In addition, there was a slight difference between men and women in the dose-response relationship of total flavonoids intake and flavanones intake. As shown in Supplementary Figure 1, the change point of total flavonoids intake was 222 and 237 mg/day for women and men, respectively, and the change point of flavanones intake was 31.09 and 39.09 mg/day for women and men, respectively.

Discussion

This study first investigated the relationship between total flavonoids and their subclasses intake and the MetS risk in the USA population based on NHANES 2007–2010 and 2017–2018. The results demonstrated that higher total flavonoids intake was significantly related to a lower MetS risk, with 13 and 15% reductions in Q3 and Q2 vs. Q1, respectively. Moreover, this reverse effect of total flavonoids on MetS risk was considerably pronounced in men, younger, Mexican, obese, and CVD individuals. The flavanones, isoflavones, and anthocyanidins intake are also inversely related to MetS risk in any population. Furthermore, the dose–response effect demonstrated a U-shaped curve between the total flavonoids intake (change point at 237.67 mg/day), flavanones (change point at 34.37 mg/day), anthocyanidins (change point at 23.13 mg/day), and MetS risk.

Currently, MetS is an urgent public health problem. Previous epidemiological surveys predicted that the prevalence rate of MetS ranges from 20 to 45%. Additionally, over 85% of adults will be overweight or obese by 2030 (36). Therefore, it is critical to explore effective intervention manner for MetS. Flavonoidenriched diet and moderate physical activity could be the most effective and less costly manner to improve MetS. A previous study investigated the relationship between flavonoids intake and MetS risk. For instance, higher dietary flavonoid intakes were negatively associated with MetS among Polish individuals (37), Iranian adults (29, 38), and Chinese urban adults (5). In this study, total flavonoids intake, flavanones, isoflavones, and anthocyanidins can also reduce the metabolic syndrome risk, even after adjusting for sex, age, and other factors, which was different from a previous study performed in the Iran population (29). Flavonoids have been associated with other health benefits, including reduced T2D and CVD risk, certain cancers, and neurodegenerative disorders. For example, the Health Professionals Follow-Up Study (1986-2006) reported that higher consumption of anthocyanins and anthocyanin-rich fruit was associated with a lower risk of T2D in the USA population (39). Total flavonoids, anthocyanidins, flavan-3-ols, and flavanones intake were also inversely associated with high CVD and atrial fibrillation (AF) risk (19, 40), whereas intakes of flavones and flavonols were not. Moreover, a high intake of flavones (OR 0.62), flavanones (0.64), and anthocyanins were associated with lower odds of subjective cognitive decline (SCD) (41).

Flavonoids are a large, diverse group of bioactive polyphenolic compounds mainly sourced from fruits, vegetables, cereals, and tea (19, 42). There are six subclasses of flavonoids: anthocyanidins (fruits, particularly berries), flavan-3-ols (tea), flavanones (citrus fruits and juices), flavones (tea, peppers, and celery), flavonols (tea, onions, and potatoes), and isoflavones (soy products) (43–45). An investigation of the main food sources of total polyphenol intake and subclasses between 2008–2009 and 2017–2018 in the Brazilian population showed that coffee was the most significant food source for hydroxycinnamic acids and phenolic acids, contributing with 59.4 and 54.1% to the daily total polyphenols intake (46).

TABLE 3 Stratification analysis of the association between total flavonoid intake and MetS.

| Covariates | Total population $(n = 28,719)$ | | | | p for trend | p for interaction |
|-------------------------|---------------------------------|-----|------------------|------------------|-------------|-------------------|
| Age | | | | | | 0.56 |
| ≤20, <i>n</i> | 7,804 | ref | 0.72 (0.57,0.92) | 0.64 (0.50,0.82) | < 0.001 | |
| 21–39, <i>n</i> | 6,813 | ref | 0.94 (0.77,1.13) | 0.87 (0.66,1.14) | 0.3 | |
| 40-59, <i>n</i> | 7,847 | ref | 0.96 (0.74,1.24) | 0.93 (0.74,1.18) | 0.54 | |
| ≥60, <i>n</i> | 6,255 | ref | 0.76 (0.58,1.01) | 0.84 (0.66,1.07) | 0.22 | |
| Sex | | | | | | 0.73 |
| Female, <i>n</i> | 14,690 | ref | 0.92 (0.80,1.05) | 0.99 (0.87,1.13) | 0.94 | |
| Male, <i>n</i> | 14,029 | ref | 0.86 (0.73,1.00) | 0.90 (0.75,1.08) | 0.27 | |
| Ethnicity | | | | | | 0.19 |
| White, <i>n</i> | 18,191 | ref | 0.98 (0.83,1.14) | 1.03 (0.88,1.21) | 0.63 | |
| Black, n | 3,465 | ref | 0.82 (0.67,1.00) | 0.91 (0.73,1.12) | 0.37 | |
| Mexican, n | 2,970 | ref | 0.78 (0.66,0.92) | 0.79 (0.66,0.95) | 0.02 | |
| Other, n | 4,093 | ref | 0.72 (0.56,0.92) | 0.77 (0.61,0.96) | 0.05 | |
| BMI (kg/m2) | | | | | | 0.11 |
| BMI \geq 25, <i>n</i> | 12,677 | ref | 0.98 (0.83,1.15) | 0.97 (0.84,1.12) | 0.7 | |
| BMI \leq 25, <i>n</i> | 16,042 | ref | 0.74 (0.56,0.97) | 0.70 (0.55,0.91) | 0.01 | |
| Smoke | | | | | | 0.41 |
| No, <i>n</i> | 24,288 | ref | 0.90 (0.79,1.03) | 0.92 (0.80,1.07) | 0.32 | |
| Yes, n | 4,431 | ref | 0.90 (0.72,1.12) | 1.09 (0.86,1.38) | 0.43 | |
| Alcohol drinki | ing | | | | | |
| Never, n | 6,979 | ref | 0.75 (0.62,0.89) | 0.87 (0.69,1.10) | 0.3 | 0.65 |
| Former, n | 2,257 | ref | 0.83 (0.63,1.09) | 1.00 (0.72,1.39) | 0.97 | |
| Mild, n | 8,587 | ref | 1.01 (0.76,1.33) | 0.94 (0.69,1.26) | 0.61 | |
| Moderate, n | 4,474 | ref | 0.93 (0.64,1.35) | 1.13 (0.83,1.54) | 0.35 | |
| Heavy, n | 6,422 | ref | 0.92 (0.74,1.15) | 0.93 (0.72,1.18) | 0.54 | |
| Physical activi | ity | | | | | |
| No, <i>n</i> | 10,399 | ref | 0.76 (0.65,0.89) | 1.16 (1.00,1.35) | 0.04 | < 0.001 |
| Low, n | 5,775 | ref | 0.93 (0.73,1.18) | 0.80 (0.62,1.03) | 0.07 | |
| Intermediate, n | 6,304 | ref | 1.08 (0.86,1.35) | 0.82 (0.64,1.05) | 0.07 | |
| High, n | 6,241 | ref | 0.87 (0.69,1.09) | 0.94 (0.71,1.24) | 0.73 | |
| Hypertension | | | | | | 0.08 |
| No, <i>n</i> | 20,816 | ref | 0.79 (0.69,0.91) | 0.87 (0.74,1.04) | 0.16 | |
| Yes, n | 7,903 | ref | 0.99 (0.83,1.19) | 0.92 (0.77,1.09) | 0.29 | |
| Diabetic | | | | | | 0.28 |
| No, <i>n</i> | 23,972 | ref | 0.88 (0.75,1.02) | 0.92 (0.80,1.06) | 0.32 | |
| Yes, n | 4,747 | ref | 0.88 (0.71,1.09) | 0.86 (0.72,1.04) | 0.14 | |
| CVD | | | | | | 0.07 |
| No, <i>n</i> | 26,855 | ref | 0.91 (0.80,1.03) | 0.96 (0.84,1.10) | 0.62 | |
| Yes, n | 1,864 | ref | 0.71 (0.54,0.94) | 0.72 (0.52,0.98) | 0.05 | |
| СКD | | | | | · · · · · | 0.002 |
| No, <i>n</i> | 20,867 | ref | 0.96 (0.84,1.10) | 0.92 (0.80,1.05) | 0.21 | |
| Yes, n | 7,852 | ref | 0.77 (0.63,0.94) | 1.04 (0.84,1.29) | 0.6 | |
| COPD | | | , | | | 0.03 |
| No, <i>n</i> | 27,645 | ref | 0.91 (0.80,1.02) | 0.94 (0.82,1.07) | 0.41 | |
| Yes, n | 1,074 | ref | 0.58 (0.38,0.89) | 1.07 (0.68,1.69) | 0.66 | |

OR, odd ratios; CI, confidence interval. Data are presented as OR and 95% CIs. ORs were obtained by the logistic analysis with adjusted intakes of energy, protein, carbohydrate, fiber, and total fat. *P*-value based on orthogonal polynomial contrasts of the adjusted prevalence estimates by category of flavonoid (total or subclass) intake. BMI, body mass index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; MET, metabolic equivalent; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CVD, cardiovascular disease; MetS, metabolic syndrome.



Tea, coffee, and fruits are the main sources of flavonoids. Among the population of the USA, flavan-3-ols, primarily derived from tea (94%), comprised 80% of flavonoids intake (47). It has been found that consumption of certain foods, such as blueberries, strawberries, apples, orange juice, grapefruit juice, bananas, onions, tea, and peaches, could independently predict the development of SCD in the future (41). However, future multiple-center longitudinal studies must confirm the causal relationship between each flavonoid intake and metabolic syndrome and other diseases.

Indeed, earlier research specified that flavonoids improved metabolic syndrome through their antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties to repair endothelial function and enhance nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability (48, 49). For example, naringenin, one flavanone compound, can downregulate the levels of triglyceride (TG) and phospholipid and increase the gene expression of PPAR- α , CPT-1, and uncoupling protein (UCP)-2 to reduce blood lipid (50, 51). It could also activate the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) and adiponectin expression and decrease the liver X receptors (LXR)- α level (52, 53) to treat adiposity and atherosclerosis. Moreover, naringenin showed strong anti-inflammation activity by inhibiting NF-KB activation, the levels of myeloperoxidase (MPO), N-acetylβ-D-glucosaminidase (NAG), TNF-α, interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, and IL-12 (54), and involved into the NO-cGMP-PKG-KATP signaling pathway (36). Therefore, naringenin can potentially improve MetS, which aligns with our findings that flavanones may lower the risk of MetS. Isoflavones, like genistein and puerarin, may influence insulin release and lipids metabolism by blocking adipocyte-specific proteins and controlling PPAR-y levels (55-57). Additionally, consuming anthocyanins, such as pelargonidin, cyanidin, delphinidin, peonidin, and malvidin, can help treat the pathology of MetS and disorders linked to MetS by reducing body weight, insulin resistance, inflammation, and oxidative stress injury (36). Recent studies have found that dietary lifestyle can affect the structure of the gut microbiome and its metabolites, thereby influencing the development of MetS. By altering the host gut flora, resveratrol, for instance, could decrease body weight and body fat to improve glucose homeostasis and obesity (58). Future randomized clinical trials should be designed to confirm these potential mechanisms in multiple districts.

Although flavonoid intake effectively attenuated MetS, RCS curves showed complex non-linear relationships between flavonoids intake and MetS risk rather than monotonic increasing or decreasing relationships. Additionally, the RCS curves of flavonoids consumption showed slight differences for men and women, indicating that the prevalence of MetS and the amount of flavonoids intake varied by gender. Indeed, men had a significantly higher intake of flavanones (citrus) and flavonols (mixed dishes and beer) than women. Women had a significantly higher intake of anthocyanidins (berries) compared with men (47). Moreover, our previous study found that a diet of 7,8-dihydroxyflavone (7,8-DHF) could protect the function of the female hypothalamicpituitary-ovarian (HPO) axis and activate tissue-specific ERa to maintain body metabolic homeostasis (59). Additionally, intake rates of flavonoids varied by geographic region, dietary preferences, sociodemographic characteristics, and lifestyle choices. Previous studies reported that the mean flavonoids intake was 34.68 mg/day in Chinese (5), whereas the mean flavonoids intake was 189.7 mg/day in 1999-2002 (60) in the U.S. population. Future large-scale and multi-center clinical trials should be conducted to establish safe doses and create an individual's healthcare program for the potential health implications of attuning the risk of MetS.

The strength of this study was that it was the first large sample, population-based, cross-sectional study that reported the effect of flavonoid intake and its subclasses on MetS based on NHANES from 2007–2010 to 2017–2018. The effects of total flavonoids, flavanones, isoflavones, and anthocyanidins consumption on MetS were evaluated, providing diet recommendations for people in the USA. However, this study has several limitations. First, this study is a cross-sectional investigation that could only present relationships between flavonoids and MetS. Second, flavonoid data was obtained by the 24-h recall, whereas MetS might have already occurred before the interview. Therefore, a bias in the effects of flavonoids intake on MetS is unavoidable. Third, the participants included in this study were all Americans. Consequently, the effects of flavonoids intake on MetS observed in this study may be unsuitable for Asians or other populations.

Conclusion

Higher flavonoid intakes could reduce MetS risk in the USA population. In addition, flavanones, isoflavones, and anthocyanidins are the most effective flavonoid subclasses in attenuating MetS, while other flavonoid subclasses showed a relatively small effect. Total flavonoids, flavanones, isoflavones, and anthocyanidins demonstrated non-linear relationships with MetS risk. The most effective doses of total flavonoids, flavanones, and anthocyanidins were 237.67, 34.37, and 23.13 mg/day, respectively. Further large-scale randomized controlled trials should be performed to establish causality between flavonoids intake and MetS risk and the safe doses of flavonoids in different populations. Regarding the perspective of public health, our findings may provide fresh insight into MetS risk based on flavonoids intake and build future tailored dietary recommendations as a preventative tool against metabolic syndrome based on the most effectively calculated amounts.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

ZZ and WX: conceptualization and writing—review and editing. WG and XD: methodology. WG and CX: software. GM and CX: validation. ZZ: formal analysis. XX: data curation. GM and WX: writing—original draft preparation. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by the project of the Health Bureau of Zhejiang Province (2021ZB009).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of

their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1195107/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. *Circulation.* (2009) 120:1640–5. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644

2. Bonora E, Kiechl S, Willeit J, Oberhollenzer F, Egger G, Bonadonna RC, et al. Metabolic syndrome: epidemiology and more extensive phenotypic description. Crosssectional data from the Bruneck Study. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. (2003) 27:1283– 9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802381

3. Beyene Kassaw A, Tezera Endale H, Hunie Tesfa K, Derbew Molla M. Metabolic syndrome and its associated factors among epileptic patients at Dessie Comprehensive Specialized Hospital, Northeast Ethiopia; a hospital-based comparative cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0279580. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0279580

4. Lin Y, Wang Y, Li PF. PPARα: An emerging target of metabolic syndrome, neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* (2022) 13:1074911. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1074911

5. Qu R, Jia Y, Liu J, Jin S, Han T, Na L. Dietary flavonoids, copper intake, and risk of metabolic syndrome in chinese adults. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:991. doi: 10.3390/nu10080991

6. Castro-Barquero S, Ruiz-León AM, Sierra-Pérez M, Estruch R, Casas R. Dietary strategies for metabolic syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:2983. doi: 10.3390/nu12102983

7. de la Iglesia R, Loria-Kohen V, Zulet MA, Martinez JA, Reglero G, Ramirez de Molina A. Dietary strategies implicated in the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:1877. doi: 10.3390/ijms17111877

8. Finicelli M, Squillaro T, Di Cristo F, Di Salle A, Melone MAB, Galderisi U, et al. Metabolic syndrome, Mediterranean diet, and polyphenols: Evidence and perspectives. *J Cell Physiol.* (2019) 234:5807–26. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27506

9. Sayón-Orea C, Razquin C, Bulló M, Corella D, Fitó M, Romaguera D, et al. Effect of a nutritional and behavioral intervention on energy-reduced mediterranean diet adherence among patients with metabolic syndrome: interim analysis of the PREDIMED-Plus randomized Clinical Trial. *Jama*. (2019) 322:1486–99. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.14630

10. Chen G, Li X, Saleri F, Guo M. Analysis of flavonoids in rhamnus davurica and its antiproliferative activities. *Molecules*. (2016) 21:1275. doi: 10.3390/molecules21101275

11. Laouali N, Berrandou T, A Rothwell J, Shah S, El Fatouhi D, Romana Mancini F, et al. Profiles of polyphenol intake and type 2 diabetes risk in 60,586 women followed for 20 years: results from the E3N cohort study. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1934. doi: 10.3390/nu12071934

12. Rubín-García M, Vitelli-Storelli F, Molina AJ, Zamora-Ros R, Aragonés N, Adarnaz E, et al. Association between polyphenol intake and gastric cancer risk by anatomic and histologic subtypes: MCC-Spain. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3281. doi: 10.3390/nu12113281

13. Taguchi C, Kishimoto Y, Fukushima Y, Kondo K, Yamakawa M, Wada K, et al. Dietary intake of total polyphenols and the risk of all-cause and specific-cause mortality in Japanese adults: the Takayama study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2020) 59:1263–71. doi: 10.1007/s00394-019-02136-9

14. Esposito S, Gialluisi A, Costanzo S, Di Castelnuovo A, Ruggiero E, De Curtis A, et al. Dietary polyphenol intake is associated with biological aging, a novel predictor of cardiovascular disease: cross-sectional findings from the moli-sani study. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1701. doi: 10.3390/nu13051701

15. Gao Q, Zhong C, Zhou X, Chen R, Xiong T, Hong M, et al. Inverse association of total polyphenols and flavonoids intake and the intake from fruits with the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: A prospective cohort study. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:550–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.05.053

16. Lanuza F, Zamora-Ros R, Bondonno NP, Meroño T, Rostgaard-Hansen AL, Riccardi G, et al. Dietary polyphenols, metabolic syndrome and cardiometabolic risk factors: An observational study based on the DCH-NG subcohort. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2023) 33:1167–78. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2023.02.022

17. Zhou Y, Gu K, Zhou F. Dietary flavonoid intake and cancer mortality: a population-based cohort study. *Nutrients*. (2023) 15:976. doi: 10.3390/nu15040976

18. Castro-Barquero S, Tresserra-Rimbau A, Vitelli-Storelli F, Doménech M, Salas-Salvadó J, Martín-Sánchez V, et al. Dietary polyphenol intake is associated with HDL-cholesterol and a better profile of other components of the metabolic syndrome: A PREDIMED-plus sub-study. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:689. doi: 10.3390/nu12030689

19. Sebastian RS, Wilkinson Enns C, Goldman JD, Moshfegh AJ. Dietary Flavonoid Intake Is Inversely Associated with Cardiovascular Disease Risk as Assessed by Body Mass Index and Waist Circumference among Adults in the United States. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:817. doi: 10.3390/nu9080827

20. Cherrak SA, Mokhtari-Soulimane N, Berroukeche F, Bensenane B, Cherbonnel A, Merzouk H, et al. In Vitro Antioxidant versus Metal Ion Chelating Properties of Flavonoids: A Structure-Activity Investigation. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0165575. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165575

21. Dinda B, Dinda M, Roy A, Dinda S. Dietary plant flavonoids in prevention of obesity and diabetes. *Adv Protein Chem Struct Biol.* (2020) 120:159-235. doi: 10.1016/bs.apcsb.2019.08.006

22. Khalilpourfarshbafi M, Gholami K, Murugan DD, Abdul Sattar MZ, Abdullah NA. Differential effects of dietary flavonoids on adipogenesis. *Eur J Nutr.* (2019) 58:5–25. doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-1663-8

23. Luo T, Miranda-Garcia O, Sasaki G, Wang J, Shay NF. Genistein and daidzein decrease food intake and body weight gain in mice, and alter LXR signaling *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Food Funct*. (2018) 9:6257–67. doi: 10.1039/C8FO01718B

24. Poudel B, Nepali S, Xin M, Ki HH, Kim YH, Kim DK, et al. Flavonoids from Triticum aestivum inhibit adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells by upregulating the insig pathway. *Mol Med Rep.* (2015) 12:3139–45. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2015.3700

25. Shen N, Wang T, Gan Q, Liu S, Wang L, Jin B. Plant flavonoids: Classification, distribution, biosynthesis, and antioxidant activity. *Food Chem.* (2022) 383:132531. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2022.132531

26. Fuhrman B, Aviram M. Flavonoids protect LDL from oxidation and attenuate atherosclerosis. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2001) 12:41–8. doi: 10.1097/00041433-200102000-00008

27. Hollands WJ, Tapp H, Defernez M, Perez Moral N, Winterbone MS, Philo M, et al. Lack of acute or chronic effects of epicatechin-rich and procyanidin-rich apple extracts on blood pressure and cardiometabolic biomarkers in adults with moderately elevated blood pressure: a randomized, placebo-controlled crossover trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 108:1006–14. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy139

28. Williamson G. The role of polyphenols in modern nutrition. *Nutr Bull.* (2017) 42:226–35. doi: 10.1111/nbu.12278

29. Hejazi J, Hosseinpour-Niazi S, Yuzbashian E, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. The protective effects of dietary intake of flavonoids and its subclasses on metabolic syndrome incidence. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2022) 73:116–26. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2021.1928008

30. Johnson CL, Dohrmann SM, Burt VL, Mohadjer LK. National health and nutrition examination survey: sample design, 2011-2014. *Vital Health Stat.* (2014) 162:1–33.

31. Tong J, Zeng Y, Xie J, Xiao K, Li M, Cong L. Association between flavonoid and subclasses intake and metabolic associated fatty liver disease in U.S. adults: Results from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017-2018. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:1074494. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1074494

32. Group UFSR. FNDDS Documentation and Databases. (2023). Available online at: https://www.ars.usda.gov/northeast-area/beltsville-md-bhnrc/beltsville-human-nutrition-research-center/food-surveys-research-group/docs/fndds-flavonoid-database/ (accessed January 6, 2023).

33. Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J. The metabolic syndrome-a new worldwide definition. *Lancet.* (2005) 366:1059-1062. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67402-8

34. Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, et al. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. *Circulation.* (2005) 112:2735–52. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.1 69404

35. Jin R, Zhu X, Shrubsole MJ, Yu C, Xia Z, Dai Q. Associations of renal function with urinary excretion of metals: Evidence from NHANES 2003-2012. *Environ Int.* (2018) 121:1355–62. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.11.002

36. Wang S, Du Q, Meng X, Zhang Y. Natural polyphenols: a potential prevention and treatment strategy for metabolic syndrome. *Food Funct.* (2022) 13:9734–53. doi: 10.1039/D2FO01552H

37. Grosso G, Stepaniak U, Micek A, Stefler D, Bobak M, Pajak A. Dietary polyphenols are inversely associated with metabolic syndrome in Polish adults of the HAPIEE study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:1409–20. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1187-z

38. Sohrab G, Hosseinpour-Niazi S, Hejazi J, Yuzbashian E, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. Dietary polyphenols and metabolic syndrome among Iranian adults. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2013) 64:661–7. doi: 10.3109/09637486.2013. 787397

39. Wedick NM, Pan A, Cassidy A, Rimm EB, Sampson L, Rosner B, et al. Dietary flavonoid intakes and risk of type 2 diabetes in US men and women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 95:925–33. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.028894

40. Bondonno NP, Murray K, Bondonno CP, Lewis JR, Croft KD, Kyro C, et al. Flavonoid intake and its association with atrial fibrillation. *Clin Nutr.* (2020) 39:3821– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.04.025

41. Yeh TS, Yuan C, Ascherio A, Rosner BA, Willett WC, Blacker D. Long-term dietary flavonoid intake and subjective cognitive decline in US Men and women. *Neurology.* (2021) 97:e1041–56. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012454

42. Palmer MK, Toth PP. Trends in lipids, obesity, metabolic syndrome, and diabetes mellitus in the United States: An NHANES analysis (2003-2004 to 2013-2014). *Obesity.* (2019) 27:309–14. doi: 10.1002/oby.22370

43. Krga I, Milenkovic D. Anthocyanins: from sources and bioavailability to cardiovascular-health benefits and molecular mechanisms of action. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2019) 67:1771–83. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b06737

44. Salazar HM, de Deus Mendonça R, Laclaustra M, Moreno-Franco B, Åkesson A, Guallar-Castillón P, et al. The intake of flavonoids, stilbenes, and tyrosols, mainly consumed through red wine and virgin olive oil, is associated with lower carotid and femoral subclinical atherosclerosis and coronary calcium. *Eur J Nutr.* (2022) 61:2697–709. doi: 10.1007/s00394-022-02823-0

45. Sebastian RS, Wilkinson Enns C, Goldman JD, Martin CL, Steinfeldt LC, Murayi T, et al. New database facilitates characterization of flavonoid intake, sources, and positive associations with diet quality among US adults. *J Nutr.* (2015) 145:1239–48. doi: 10.3945/in.115.213025

46. Carnauba RA, Sarti FM, Hassimotto NMA, Lajolo FM. Estimated polyphenol intake and major food sources of the Brazilian population: changes between 2008-2009 and 2017-2018. *Br J Nutr.* (2022) 130:147–154. doi: 10.1017/S0007114522003221

47. Vieux F, Maillot M, Rehm CD, Drewnowski A. Flavonoid intakes in the US diet are linked to higher socioeconomic status and to tea consumption: analyses of NHANES 2011-16 Data. *J Nutr.* (2020) 150:2147–55. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxaa145

48. Rizza S, Muniyappa R, Iantorno M, Kim JA, Chen H, Pullikotil P, et al. Citrus polyphenol hesperidin stimulates production of nitric oxide in endothelial cells while improving endothelial function and reducing inflammatory markers in patients with metabolic syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 96:E782–792. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2879

49. Schewe T, Steffen Y, Sies H. How do dietary flavanols improve vascular function? A position paper. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* (2008) 476:102–6. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2008.03.004

50. Cho KW, Kim YO, Andrade JE, Burgess JR, Kim YC. Dietary naringenin increases hepatic peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor α protein expression and decreases plasma triglyceride and adiposity in rats. *Eur J Nutr.* (2011) 50:81–8. doi: 10.1007/s00394-010-0117-8

51. Hashimoto T, Ide T. Activity and mRNA Levels of Enzymes Involved in Hepatic Fatty Acid Synthesis in Rats Fed Naringenin. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2015) 63:9536–42. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b03734

52. Goldwasser J, Cohen PY, Yang E, Balaguer P, Yarmush ML, Nahmias Y. Transcriptional regulation of human and rat hepatic lipid metabolism by the grapefruit flavonoid naringenin: role of PPARalpha, PPARgamma and LXRalpha. *PLoS ONE.* (2010) 5:e12399. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012399

53. Liu L, Shan S, Zhang K, Ning ZQ, Lu XP, Cheng YY. Naringenin and hesperetin, two flavonoids derived from Citrus aurantium up-regulate transcription of adiponectin. *Phytother Res.* (2008) 22:1400–3. doi: 10.1002/ptr.2504

54. Pinho-Ribeiro FA, Zarpelon AC, Mizokami SS, Borghi SM, Bordignon J, Silva RL, et al. The citrus flavonone naringenin reduces lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory pain and leukocyte recruitment by inhibiting NF- κ B activation. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2016) 33:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.03.013

55. Choi YR, Shim J, Kim MJ. Genistin: a novel potent anti-adipogenic and antilipogenic agent. *Molecules*. (2020) 25:2042. doi: 10.3390/molecules25092042

56. Gan M, Shen L, Wang S, Guo Z, Zheng T, Tan Y, et al. Genistein inhibits high fat diet-induced obesity through miR-222 by targeting BTG2 and adipor1. *Food Funct.* (2020) 11:2418–26. doi: 10.1039/C9FO00861F

57. Hou N, Huang Y, Cai SA, Yuan WC Li LR, Liu XW, Zhao GJ, et al. Puerarin ameliorated pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy in ovariectomized rats through activation of the PPAR α /PGC-1 pathway. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2021) 42:55–67. doi: 10.1038/s41401-020-0401-y

58. Chaplin A, Carpéné C, Mercader J. Resveratrol, metabolic syndrome, and gut microbiota. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1651. doi: 10.3390/nu10111651

59. Zhao Z, Xue F, Gu Y, Han J, Jia Y, Ye K, et al. Crosstalk between the muscular estrogen receptor α and BDNF/TrkB signaling alleviates metabolic syndrome via 7,8-dihydroxyflavone in female mice. *Mol Metab.* (2021) 45:101149. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2020.101149

60. Chun OK, Chung SJ, Song WO. Estimated dietary flavonoid intake and major food sources of US adults. J Nutr. (2007) 137:1244–52. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.5.1244

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Prabu Paramasivam, University of New Mexico, United States Rosa Suades, Sant Pau Institute for Biomedical Research, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Asim K. Duttaroy a.k.duttarov@medisin.uio.no

Surajit Pathak drsurajitpathak@care.edu.in

RECEIVED 12 May 2023 ACCEPTED 25 July 2023 PUBLISHED 08 August 2023

CITATION

Das D, Shruthi NR, Banerjee A, Jothimani G, Duttaroy AK and Pathak S (2023) Endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, hypertension, and the metabolic syndrome: molecular insights and combating strategies. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1221438. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1221438

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Das, Shruthi, Banerjee, Jothimani, Duttaroy and Pathak. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, hypertension, and the metabolic syndrome: molecular insights and combating strategies

Diptimayee Das¹, Nagainallur Ravichandran Shruthi¹, Antara Banerjee¹, Ganesan Jothimani¹, Asim K. Duttaroy^{2*} and Surajit Pathak^{1*}

¹Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Chettinad Hospital and Research Institute, Chettinad Academy of Research and Education, Kelambakkam, Tamil Nadu, India, ²Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition, Institute of Medical Sciences, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a multifaceted condition that increases the possibility of developing atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. MetS includes obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, hyperglycemia, endothelial dysfunction, and platelet hyperactivity. There is a concerning rise in the occurrence and frequency of MetS globally. The rising incidence and severity of MetS need a proactive, multipronged strategy for identifying and treating those affected. For many MetS patients, achieving recommended goals for healthy fat intake, blood pressure control, and blood glucose management may require a combination of medicine therapy, lifestyles, nutraceuticals, and others. However, it is essential to note that lifestyle modification should be the first-line therapy for MetS. In addition, MetS requires pharmacological, nutraceutical, or other interventions. This review aimed to bring together the etiology, molecular mechanisms, and dietary strategies to combat hypertension, endothelial dysfunction, and platelet dysfunction in individuals with MetS.

KEYWORDS

metabolic syndrome, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, hypertension, endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity

1. Introduction

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a medical condition characterized by a combination of metabolic abnormalities, including insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and obesity. This condition has a negative impact on the vascular wall due to events involving endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, oxidative stress, and low-grade inflammation. The activation of these events leads to increased vasoconstriction and atherosclerosis, ultimately promoting a pro-thrombotic state (1). Clinical studies have shown that endothelial dysfunction, hyperlipidemia, oxidative stress, and platelet hyperactivity are important factors in the development of atherosclerotic vascular problems (2). There is still a need for further improvement in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, high blood pressure, and vascular damage. The challenge of comprehending the role of the vascular endothelium in the development of hypertension persists. A well-functioning endothelium is responsible for producing vasodilators

that play a crucial role in maintaining healthy blood vessel function and vascularity. Endothelial dysfunction is a condition that is marked by a decrease in endothelial-dependent vasodilation and an increase in endothelial inflammatory activity (3). Endothelial dysfunction increases the likelihood of the blood vessels being in a more contracted state. This is caused by an imbalance between factors that relax the endothelium, such as nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin (PGI₂), and down regulation of endothelioum-dependent hyperpolarization (EDH) and factors that cause contraction such as thromboxane A_2 (TxA₂) and upregulation of endothelin-1 (ET-1). Endothelial dysfunction promotes pro-inflammatory and oxidative stress pathways through the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in endothelial mitochondria. This, in turn, drives vascular growth and remodeling. The endothelium undergoes a significant transformation in metabolic syndrome, shifting to a dysfunctional state. This transformation involves the host immune system and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The progression of diseases associated with metabolic syndrome occurs through a range of dynamic changes within the vasculature (4). Although there is a general consensus that endothelial dysfunction is a reliable indicator of the advancement of atherosclerosis and potential cardiovascular events, additional research is needed to fully understand its impact on hypertension and platelet hyperactivity. The components of MetS, whether alone or in combination, are significant risk factors for the development of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). As a result, the implications for future healthcare costs and management are both relevant and challenging. Although underlying metabolic or genetic predispositions are essential, the condition typically affects individuals who consume high-caloric foods with sedentary lifestyles (5); modifying lifestyles, such as physical exercise and diet, can address many causative factors contributing to MetS. Diet modification represents an essential strategy for MetS prevention, as the increasing evidence indicates a robust inverse association between CVD risks, MetS, and the consumption of plant-based foods and their bioactive compounds.

This review highlights the prevalence, molecular mechanisms and combating approaches of underlying risk conditions by managing endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and platelet hyperactivity/ prothrombotic state with bioactive compounds like polyphenols, small molecules like miRNA, and gene therapy. The study also highlights the potential effects of lifestyle measures and pharmacological interventions on endothelial function in patients diagnosed with MetS.

1.1. Prevalence of MetS

MetS has a varying prevalence across the globe and is frequently associated with central obesity, diabetes, and CVD. Prevalence rates differ significantly based on age, gender, racial or ethnic background, and specific diagnostic criteria. MetS affects around 25% of the European population and at least 20% of the American people. MetS is less prevalent in South and Southeast Asia. However, its incidence has gradually increased and is expected to reach the levels observed in Western countries. With a 95% confidence range of 28 to 33%, 30% of Indian adults have MetS. According to research, one-third of people in low- and middle-income nations in the Middle East, Southeast Asia, and Latin America showed MetS symptoms (6). According to the study, India's rapid economic development and urbanization may explain its rising MetS rate, and it may affect lifestyle and nutrition (7). According to study, MetS was more common in urban (32%; 95% CI: 29-36%) than tribal (28%; 21-36%) settings and it may contribute to urban MetS due to unfavorable lifestyle choices, higher socioeconomic class, lesser physical exercise, increased stress, and excessive salt and red meat consumption (8). MetS affects both genders and ethnic groups differently. The prevalence of MS was higher in females (35%; 95% CI: 31-38%) than in males (26%; 95% CI: 22-29%). Similar discoveries have also been made in the Eastern Mediterranean, South East Asia, and Western Pacific regions (9). This conclusion is attributed to factors such as menopause, polycystic ovarian syndrome, and the use of hormonal contraceptives (10). Additional factors contribute to the differences between men and women, such as the increased risk women face due to certain characteristics. These characteristics include higher body weight, larger waist circumference, and lower HDL cholesterol levels (11). MetS is more prevalent in Hispanic women by 26% compared to Hispanic men and in African-American women by 57% compared to African-American men. Insulin resistance is a predominant symptom of MetS among Hispanics, while African-Americans are more likely to experience hypertension, and dyslipidemia is more common among Whites (5). Miller and colleagues conducted a more recent analysis of the same database and discovered that 10.1% of adolescents in the United States had MetS (12). They demonstrated that MetS was more prevalent among men and Hispanics than women. The incidence of MetS rises significantly in tandem with an individual's Body Mass Index (BMI). The prevalence of MetS is 9.8% among men in urban North India while 42.0% among women in urban Iran (13). The growth is evident irrespective of the parameters considered, and it indicates a shift from a conventional, older lifestyle to a contemporary, Western one. As developing countries grew economically more robust, they experienced a demographic transition. This transition led to a decrease in the prevalence of infectious diseases and an increase in the majority of lifestyle-related diseases. During this period, there was a shift in the prevalent types of conditions. Infectious diseases became less common, while lifestyle-related diseases became more prevalent. This change occurred alongside what is known as an epidemiological transition. Disruption of these processes can result in increased BMI, generalized and abdominal obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, type 2 diabetes, and CVD (13).

1.2. Etiology of MetS

Despite decades of investigation, the precise cause of MetS remains unclear. A poor diet, insufficient exercise, and the consequent weight gain are the primary causes of the condition in most instances (14). Other contributing variables include endothelial dysfunction, elevated blood pressure, and hyperactive platelets. As aforementioned, the main objective behind establishing the MetS was to recognize characteristics linked with a high susceptibility to CVD (15). The term "syndrome" suggests that the underlying cause of MetS is not readily identifiable, and it was not initially expected that a singular, comprehensive pathological etiology would exist for MetS (16). MetS is closely concomitant to a "Westernized lifestyle" that includes

sedentary behavior and easy access to high-fat meals. Obesity in children is a risk factor for adult MetS (17). In addition, many features of MetS, including its potential significance, are more widespread among low-income people. Even though not everyone with MetS has them, hereditary variables for both the syndrome's components and body fat and muscle are now well established (18). Approximately 30-40% of the reported variation in body mass index (BMI) and 70-80% in fat distribution is attributable to hereditary factors. In 2007, the first single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) linking high BMI to the fat mass and obesity-related (FTO) gene was found (19). The FTO gene affects mood and metabolism, potentially contributing to obesity. Since then, researchers have used SNPs to identify about 40 genetic variants connected to body mass index, fat distribution, obesity risk, and MetS (20). Although common allelic alterations only account for 2% of the variation in obesity, those with a higher number of risk alleles (>10) acquire more body weight than those with a smaller number (21). Recent evidence suggests that environmental factors must interact with obesity's genetic basis. Lifestyle variables that increase intra-abdominal fat and metabolic risk include being overweight, eating high-fat, smoking, physically inactive, and drinking

1.3. Pathophysiology of MetS

excessively (22).

The MetS has a harmful influence on many bodily systems. Endothelial dysfunction, vascular resistance, hypertension, and arterial wall inflammation are more likely to occur in patients with pre-existing microvascular damage, such as that caused by insulin resistance (23). Endothelial dysfunction can disrupt homeostasis, increasing the risk of atherosclerotic disease and hypertension. Renal impairment, elevated vascular resistance and stiffness, and structural cardiac disorders like left ventricular hypertrophy and stroke are all brought on by the adverse effects of hypertension on the body's normal functioning (24).

Ischemic heart disease is a problem that may develop as a result of the cumulative effects of MetS, such as endothelial dysfunction and hypertension. Endothelial dysfunction caused by elevated plasminogen activator type 1 and adipokines may lead to thrombosis. For instance, coronary artery disease is a possible outcome of hypertension and other conditions related to MetS. Hypertension can lead to coronary artery disease (CAD) due to increased vascular resistance. Dyslipidemia can cause symptomatic ischemic heart disease in some patients and is associated with MetS. This disorder has the potential to accelerate the advancement of atherosclerosis (25).

1.4. Clinical-based definition of MetS

Although MetS has several components and clinical implications, there is currently no universally accepted pathogenic mechanism or firmly established diagnostic criteria for this condition. Furthermore, it is unclear whether this entity represents a distinct medical condition or acts as a substitute for a combination of risk factors that contribute to an individual's vulnerability to a particular ailment. The prevalence of MetS is on the rise among children and young adults. The emerging aspect of the disease is significant because it will have future consequences for the global health burden (26). The Adult Treatment Panel III report (ATP III) from the National Cholesterol Education Programme highlighted the significance of MetS as a multifaceted risk factor for CVD (27). The report indicated that this condition necessitates further therapeutic attention. MetS can be diagnosed using the National Cholesterol Education Programme Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP ATP III) definition. The diagnostic criteria for MetS consist of five parameters. These parameters include a waist circumference that exceeds 40 inches in men or 35 inches in women, blood pressure that surpasses 130/85 mmHg, fasting triglyceride levels that exceed 150 mg/dL, fasting high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels below 40 mg/dL in men or 50 mg/dL in women, and fasting blood sugar levels that exceed 100 mg/dL (28).

1.4.1. Insulin resistance

Insulin resistance plays a crucial role in developing and advancing CVD. It is a MetS component and is commonly linked to obesity and dyslipidemia. In addition, it has been linked to chronic low-grade inflammation. Insulin resistance is linked to several negative consequences, such as endothelial dysfunction, reduced cardiac diastolic relaxation, impaired vascular relaxation, decreased coronary blood flow, and increased susceptibility to ischemia.

The pathophysiology of MetS and its components, including elevated triglycerides, blood pressure, glucose, waist circumference, and low high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, are closely linked to insulin resistance and abdominal obesity. MetS Consequently, this section aims to explore how insulin resistance and abdominal obesity may contribute to the pathophysiology of MetS (29). To explain the pathophysiology of MetS, the concept of insulin resistance has emerged as the most popular and unifying framework. The definition of insulin resistance has always centered on glucose (30). Lack of insulin action leading to fasting hyperinsulinemia to maintain euglycemia indicates insulin resistance. However, postprandial hyperinsulinemia may exist before fasting hyperinsulinemia develops (31). Insulin influences various biological activities, including amino acid absorption, protein synthesis and degradation, and triglyceride breakdown in adipose tissue.

Furthermore, it impacts the functioning of lipoprotein lipase and the release of VLDL cholesterol. The hormone insulin plays a crucial role in promoting the uptake of glucose in adipose and muscle tissue, as well as in synthesizing glycogen in muscle and secreting triglycerides (32). Therefore, an individual's insulin sensitivity or resistance is frequently assessed by evaluating their reaction to glucose or insulin stimulation, whether administered orally or intravenously (33). One of the key reasons contributing to the development of insulin resistance is the presence of an excess of circulating fatty acids.

As illustrated in Figure 1, MetS is associated with an elevation in oxidative stress, which is the underlying cause of various complications such as atherosclerosis, hypertension, myocardial infarction, and inflammation. Elevated levels of oxidative stress have been identified as a detrimental factor contributing to insulin resistance development. This phenomenon occurs due to an imbalance between the body's antioxidant defence mechanisms and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). β -cells that have low levels of antioxidants are especially susceptible to chronic oxidative stress. This stress can cause a decrease in the production of inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α and interleukins (such as IL-6, IL-10, and IL-1 β), ultimately leading to the death of these cells.



1.5. Risk factors of MetS

MetS is a group of risk factors linked to developing atherosclerotic CVD and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolic risk factors are the leading cause of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) (34). Additionally, MetS refers to a group of metabolic anomalies linked to visceral fat accumulation. The disorders above encompass insulin resistance, hypertension, dyslipidemia (characterized by low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and hypertriglyceridemia), and central obesity (35), as shown in Figure 2. The primary causes of these metabolic risk factors include a poor diet, inactivity, an unhealthy lifestyle, smoking, alcohol consumption, etc. Hypertension, obesity, hyperglycemia, and hyperlipidemia are metabolic risk factors that increase NCD susceptibility (36).

1.6. Rationale

MetS is associated with insulin resistance, abdominal obesity, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, platelet hyperactivity, and other CVD risk factors. Individuals with MetS may require pharmacological and nutraceutical modifications to alleviate the unfavorable effects that lead to endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, and hypertension. The proper functioning of the endothelium is crucial for maintaining homeostasis, and any disturbance in its function can lead to atherosclerosis, hypertension, and diabetes. Endothelium dysfunction is characterized by impaired endothelial cell-dependent vasodilation, inflammation, apoptosis, and cell proliferation. It is essential to comprehend and address endothelial dysfunction to prevent vascular complications.

2. MetS and cardiovascular disease

Each component of the MetS has been documented as a risk factor for CVDs. Moreover, the cumulative effect of multiple risk factors goes beyond simply adding up individual risks, further impacting the overall risk (37). In recent research, it has been found that MetS, which was defined by the World Health Organisation (WHO) in 1999, is strongly associated with an increased risk of coronary heart disease (CHD). These individuals were at a higher risk of experiencing myocardial infarction and cerebrovascular disease. The disorder was also found to be associated with a significant increase in cardiovascular mortality (38). Having diabetes significantly increases the likelihood of developing CVD in individuals with MetS. Many individuals with type 2 diabetes, particularly those who also have other risk factors for cardiovascular disease, face a substantial risk of experiencing severe cardiovascular events (39). In a study involving a large group of individuals with type 2 diabetes, insulin resistance (IR) was found to be a significant factor in predicting both the prevalence of CVD at the beginning of the study and the occurrence of new cases of CVD during the follow-up period. There was no evidence to suggest a direct relationship between smoking, variables related to insulin resistance (IR), such as body mass index (BMI), and the subject in question. The researchers utilized data from the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor study to examine the relationship between MetS and cardiovascular mortality (40). Even in the absence of CVD and



diabetes at the beginning of the study, MetS was found to be linked to an increased risk of cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular mortality in males. Among individuals with MetS, the relative risks for mortality due to CHD and CVD were approximately four and three and a half, respectively (41).

3. MetS and diabetes

The worldwide prevalence of MetS and type 2 diabetes is increasing. Diabetes and MetS are associated with numerous health problems, such as hypertension, stroke, breast, prostate, and colon cancers, limb amputation, blindness, and renal and gallstone disease (42). Consequentially, the burden of chronic diseases on healthcare systems has been burdensome for Western nations and may be fatal for countries with limited resources (43). There is currently no cure for diabetes. Consequently, primary prevention via dietary and lifestyle modifications is crucial (44).

4. Management of MetS risk factors

The metabolic risk variables in the syndrome's definition include atherogenic dyslipidemia, elevated blood pressure, high plasma glucose, a prothrombotic condition, and a pro-inflammatory state (45). If the underlying risk factors can be adequately addressed, the severity of all metabolic risk factors will be reduced. The most successful treatment for those with MetS should focus on promoting modest weight reduction and regular involvement in physically active leisure activities (46). The therapy must target the multi-pathological process involved with MetS, with each disorder component being recognized and aggressively treated (47). If lifestyle changes are insufficient, a multimodal treatment strategy will be needed to achieve the requisite blood pressure, lipid profile, and blood glucose control targets. In addition, clinical risk factors such as dyslipidemia, hypertension, and hyperglycemia should be addressed more aggressively. According to the professional agreement, appropriate LDL cholesterol or blood pressure objectives have yet to be determined in treating MetS (48).

Reduction in blood pressure has been demonstrated to reduce the risk of severe CVD in several clinical studies, including those involving people with type-2 diabetes (49). However, the most effective drug has yet to be fully resolved (50). Some studies have shown that angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers are better first-line therapy for patients with MetS, especially when type-2 diabetes is present.

A prothrombotic state is indicated by elevated levels of fibrinogen, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, and other coagulation components. Low-dose aspirin or other antiplatelet drugs are available to diabetic patients as a potential therapeutic option for managing the increased risk of arterial thrombosis (51). It is generally recommended that individuals with CVD take these medications, unless otherwise specified. Although clinical trials have not demonstrated the effectiveness of these drugs in individuals with type-2 diabetes who do not have CVD, they are still widely recommended (52). Furthermore, aspirin prophylaxis is a viable treatment option for individuals diagnosed with MetS who are at a relatively high risk of experiencing CVD-related events (53).

5. Role of MetS on endothelial dysfunction

The role of endothelial dysfunction in the development of atherosclerosis is significant. Prospective studies have indicated that endothelial dysfunction is a predictive factor for the occurrence of vascular events, regardless of the presence or absence of preexisting vascular disease. The involvement of endothelial dysfunction in

developing T2DM has been observed. Due to the detrimental effects of all constituent elements of MetS on the endothelium, it is plausible that endothelial dysfunction is more prevalent among individuals with MetS. This dysfunction, in turn, may play a role in the increased vulnerability to vascular disease and T2DM observed within this particular cohort. There is ample documentation indicating that endothelial dysfunction, which is a response to cardiovascular risk factors, typically precedes the development of atherosclerosis (54). The treatment of cardiovascular risk factors leads to an improvement in endothelial function. Its ability to independently predict cardiac events is highly valuable. In addition to the elevated blood pressure readings obtained from the sphygmomanometer, patients with hypertension often experience other issues such as endothelial dysfunction, increased peripheral vascular resistance, and arterial stiffness. These problems can be detected in patients with hypertension. Metabolic syndrome is a condition characterized by the presence of abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and glucose intolerance. It is often considered a prediabetic condition. Metabolic syndrome frequently involves endothelial dysfunction (55). A research study discovered that within a sample of 100 male and female volunteers who were not diagnosed with diabetes and had no prior history of cardiovascular disease, individuals who met the ATP-III criteria for MetS exhibited a higher degree of endothelial dysfunction than those who did not. This finding is particularly significant because it was observed in individuals within an age range that is typically not associated with vascular disease. The level of endothelial dysfunction was strongly associated with the amount of metabolic components of the ATP-III criterion present in each participant. In a multivariate logistic regression model, it was found that the presence or absence of MS was the only independent predictor of endothelial dysfunction (55). The occurrence of endothelial dysfunction represents an initial pathogenic occurrence in the development of MetS. Increased cardiovascular morbidity and death are associated with this impairment (56). Endothelial coronary, peripheral, or cerebral vasculature dysfunction predicts vascular events. Endothelial dysfunction is linked to the pathophysiology of CVDs (57). The state of endothelial dysfunction is distinguished by a transition toward a pro-inflammatory state to diminished vasodilation and prothrombotic requirements, as well as a reduced ability to endure oxidative stress. This change may also be seen as a condition where thrombotic events are more prone to occur. These events create vascular inflammation, partly mediated by activated mononuclear cells' ROS (58).

5.1. Endothelial dysfunction

Vascular homeostasis relies on the endothelium, a monocellular lining that coats the inside arteries and separates the interstitial fluid from the blood (59). Nitric oxide (NO), natriuretic peptide type C (NPyC), and eicosanoids are all paracrine chemicals usually secreted by the endothelium. The variables mentioned above impact the proportion of vasodilation to vasoconstriction, the movement and growth of smooth muscle cells, the hindrance and encouragement of platelet adhesion and aggregation, and thrombogenesis and fibrinolysis (60). Endothelial dysfunction is a significant risk factor for CVD and a precursor to atherosclerosis (61). Diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, stroke, and heart diseases (62) are only some of the vascular and metabolic disorders associated with oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction in humans.

5.1.1. Prevalence, prediction, and geographical status of endothelial dysfunction

MetS affects a significant portion of the population in different world regions. In the United States, it affects approximately 34.6% of the people, while in Europe, the prevalence ranges from 17.8 to 34.0%. In Asia, the prevalence ranges from 12.8 to 41.1% (63). The occurrence of endothelial dysfunction differed in different studies, ranging from 33 to 58%. The measurement of endothelial activation involves monitoring the levels of certain adhesion molecules in the blood, such as soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1), soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (sVCAM-1), and E-selectin. Additionally, serum levels of von Willebrand factor (vWF), tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) are also monitored. Furthermore, the presence of circulating mature endothelial cells, endothelial progenitor cells, and endothelial microparticles is taken into account (64). However, it is important to note that not all of these indicators are exclusive to endothelium dysfunction. Levels of adhesion molecules in the blood increase during inflammatory situations. Additionally, levels of PAI-1 are associated with insulin resistance, a significant characteristic of MetS (65). It has been suggested that microalbuminuria is an indicator of generalized endothelial dysfunction (66). Indicators of endothelial dysfunction, such as sICAM-1, tPA antigen, and PAI-1 levels and activity, are higher in individuals with Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) (67). Additionally, research has shown that as the number of components of Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) increases, there is a corresponding increase in both plasma PAI-1 levels and activity. Patients with MetS also have higher levels of vasoconstrictor endothelin-1 in their blood (68). The prevalence of microalbuminuria is higher in patients with Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) (69). Additionally, the occurrence of microalbuminuria increases as the number of MetS components rises. The multivariate analysis found that the significant predictors of ED were the presence of CAD, diabetes, cigarette smoking, and the overall number of CVD risk variables (70). According to (71) ED was found in 67% of individuals with three CVD risk factors but did not have coronary artery disease (CAD). Among 137 patients with CAD, 44% had a notable endothelial dysfunction characterized by vasoconstriction greater than 20% (71). According to a study, even individuals with very low cardiovascular risk, such as healthy men and women, have been observed to experience endothelial dysfunction. Passing specific percentiles in males aged 50-55 and females aged 70-75 indicate an increased risk of CVD. Men appear to have a higher risk compared to women (72).

5.2. Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction

Many disorders, such as hypertension, atherosclerosis, dyslipidemia, diabetes mellitus, CVD, renal failure, and ischemia–reperfusion damage, are primarily caused by endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress. Several clinical circumstances involve the oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) and mitochondrial electron transport, as well as the inactivation of nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase, xanthine oxidase (XO), cyclooxygenase, and uncoupled endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (73). An imbalance that results in reduced NO production or increased ROS creation promotes endothelial dysfunction. Remodeling, platelet aggregation, vasodilation loss, inflammation, and smooth muscle cell proliferation may occur from this imbalance (74). Endothelial dysfunction is related to oxidative stress in cardiovascular disorders such as CAD and stroke (75). Renovascular hypertension, for example, is produced by constriction of the blood vessels, which activates the renin-angiotensin system and raises the synthesis of angiotensin II (Ang II), the system's main active peptide, thus increasing ROS (76).

5.3. Epigenetics in endothelial dysfunction

The importance of epigenetics in developing endothelial dysfunction and CVD is becoming more evident. It plays a crucial role in regulating various aspects of these conditions, from their underlying mechanisms to potential treatments. An epigenetic study was conducted on CVD due to its significance in inflammation and vascular involvement. The study revealed several alterations that affect the course of CVD. Furthermore, epigenetics play a role in influencing risk factors for CVD, including but not limited to age, hypertension, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, and diabetes. Epigenetic modifications refer to all heritable changes in gene regulation that do not involve alterations to the DNA sequence (77). The principal epigenetic mechanisms observed in human cells encompass DNA methylation, posttranslational modifications of histones, and the involvement of non-coding RNA molecules, including microRNAs and long non-coding RNAs. Evidence suggests that epigenetic mechanisms, including DNA methylation, histone modification, and microRNAs, impact the endothelium's ability to respond to blood flow (78). There is mounting evidence that epigenetic processes such as NOS3 (eNOS) play a significant role in regulating crucial endothelial cell genes and are responsive to a wide range of intrinsic and environmental stimuli, including those involved in the etiology of CVD. The role of non-coding RNAs in histone protein modification and regulation in endothelial cell homeostasis and dysfunction is well established (79).

5.4. Molecular mechanisms

Two major pathophysiological causes of many diseases are endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress. The endothelium also generates a variety of vasodilators and vasoconstrictors, including thromboxane A2, NO, endothelin, and Ang II (80). Endothelial dysfunction is distinguished by reduced NO bioavailability and reduced vasodilation connected to a proinflammatory and prothrombotic condition. This results in a mild and reversible disorder in the endothelium that affects the whole body. The endothelium also generates a variety of vasodilators and vasoconstrictors, including thromboxane A2, endothelin, and Ang II (80). The condition of endothelial dysfunction is marked by impaired vasodilation and a state of prothrombotic and proinflammatory activity. According to the literature, endothelial dysfunction impacts physiological processes such as LDL oxidation, vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration, cell permeability, leukocyte adhesion, and platelet activation (81). In addition, more mitochondria-produced ROS accumulate when inflammation causes oxidative stress. Oxidation of macromolecules is triggered by excess ROS, which in turn triggers cell death by releasing cytochrome c (Cyt-c) (82). In addition to promoting leukocyte adherence and altering endothelial signal transmission and redox-regulated transcription factors, oxidative stress also raises vascular permeability. Recent research has linked endothelial dysfunction to dysregulation of non-coding RNAs (miRNAs, lncRNA) and alterations in gene regulatory networks (82).

Endothelial dysfunction, a recognized phenomenon, exerts an influence on the permeability of the endothelial barrier, a pivotal component involved in the inflammatory response that plays a contributory role in the initiation of CVD. Blood arteries are composed of various components, including connective tissue, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs). The endothelium, a semipermeable layer, serves as a barrier between the bloodstream and the innermost lining of blood vessels. As per Rahimi's (83) findings, it has been observed that the endothelium possesses tightly specialized cell-to-cell junctions, which function as a selective barrier to impede the passage of macromolecules. Endothelial cells that have been stimulated and are in an activated state have the ability to generate various signalling molecules such as cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors. These molecules play a crucial role in enhancing the processes of endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and permeability (84). In accordance with the findings of Sun et al. (85), the introduction of endothelial cells with an inflammatory phenotype into the bloodstream's arterial vessels results in the initiation of an inflammatory response, thereby contributing to the advancement of CVD. Based on the proposed theory, it is postulated that the primary etiological factor underlying hypertension, ageing, atherosclerosis, stroke, venous thrombosis, obesity, heart disease, diabetes, and intimal hyperplasia is the inflammatory response exhibited by endothelial cells (85). The loss of nitric oxide (NO) bioactivity is a common characteristic observed in the majority of individuals with cardiovascular risk factors. Consequently, this phenomenon holds significant therapeutic relevance (86). There is a discernible correlation between MetS, endothelial dysfunction, and CVD. While the significance of endothelial dysfunction in the onset of atherosclerosis is widely recognized, its specific contribution to the pathogenesis of CVD has yet to be definitively determined (Figure 3).

In type 2 diabetes patients, elevated blood sugar levels cause the vascular endothelium to become glycosylated. It modifies the blood vessels by making them narrower and more susceptible to rupture due to sprouting neovasculature (87). This leads to endothelial dysfunction from augmented ROS production, inflammation, and eNOS deletion (88). As a result, type 2 diabetes patients exhibit an increased susceptibility to CVD, with a two to four times greater risk than non-diabetic counterparts.

5.5. Endothelial dysfunction and diabetes

The presence of endothelial dysfunction has been observed to be closely linked with the occurrence of type 2 diabetes in human subjects. Endothelial dysfunction has been found to exhibit associations with various disorders related to diabetes, such as obesity, sedentary lifestyle, and MetS (89). Diabetes is characterized by elevated concentrations of endothelium-derived adhesion molecules, specifically ICAM-1, ICAM-2, VCAM-1, and PECAM-1, which are



members of the immunoglobulin-like molecule family located on the surface of endothelial cells. In order to facilitate robust adhesion and/ or transendothelial migration, these molecules interact with counter-receptors present on leukocytes and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 within the circulatory system, indicating the potential presence of an endothelial phenotype that is both pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic (90). Multiple studies have been conducted, which have consistently demonstrated a higher prevalence of endothelial dysfunction among individuals diagnosed with diabetes. It is widely acknowledged within the scientific community that elevated blood glucose levels and the presence of diabetes have a detrimental effect on the production and functioning of NO. The available evidence indicates that there is a notable impairment in endothelial-derived nitric oxide (NO)-mediated vasodilation in individuals with both insulin-dependent and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (91).

5.6. Endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular disease

The maintenance of a healthy endothelium is of utmost importance in the regulation of various cardiovascular functions,

including but not limited to blood flow and fibrinolysis, hemostasis, vascular tone, angiogenesis, monocyte/leukocyte adhesion, and platelet aggregation. The aforementioned functions play a crucial role in the regulation of cardiovascular homeostasis, as indicated by previous research (92). The regulatory role of the vascular endothelium in maintaining cardiovascular health is widely recognized in scientific literature. The role of the aberrant vascular endothelium in the development of cardiovascular pathologies, including atherosclerosis, ageing, hypertension, obesity, and diabetes, has been widely recognized (93). Endothelial dysfunction, which refers to an imbalance between various factors involved in relaxation and contraction, coagulation and anticoagulation, as well as inflammation and anti-inflammation, may play a substantial role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease (94). The presence of endothelial dysfunction has been observed in individuals diagnosed with ischemic CAD who also exhibit signs of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis is a pathological state that is distinguished by a deviation from the typical physiological behavior of endothelial cells. Specifically, these cells exhibit impaired release of nitric oxide in response to serotonin (95). The occurrence of vasoconstriction within atherosclerotic regions has the potential to instigate the progression of coronary thrombosis. It has been observed that there is a correlation

between inflammation and CAD, wherein inflammation has been found to impede the production of endothelial nitric oxide. Patients diagnosed with CAD who experience myocardial ischemia are also at risk of mortality resulting from congestive heart failure (CHF) as a consequence of endothelial dysfunctions (96).

5.7. Treatment

Experimental, clinical, and translational evidence suggests that several medicines and therapeutic options may improve various aspects of endothelial dysfunction. Furthermore, most of these medications have shown encouraging cardioprotective benefits in preclinical and clinical research. Metformin reduced the risk of MetS and T2DM in overweight impaired fasting glucose (IFG) or impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) patients, although lifestyle adjustments were more beneficial. Metformin did not reduce MetS prevalence. Metformin decreased EDV in MetS patients with normal glucose tolerance independent of glucose, LDL-C, HDL-C, body weight, or blood pressure. In another MetS study, metformin improved Flow-Mediated Dilation (FMD) and insulin resistance. MetS patients' NO levels also increased with metformin (97).

In the Diabetes Reduction Assessment with Ramipril and Rosiglitazone Medication (DREAM) research, rosiglitazone reduced T2DM and improved normoglycemia in IFG patients. Vascular events remained stable, and heart failure risk increased. In MetS studies, rosiglitazone improved FMD. Endothelial function improved with lower hsCRP and higher adiponectin. Pioglitazone reduced hsCRP in MetS patients, however endothelial function was not examined (98).

After the bezafibrate infarction prevention (BIP) study, a subgroup analysis found that bezafibrate lowers myocardial infarction (MI) in CHD patients. Bezafibrate reduces T2DM in obese people and those with impaired fasting glucose (IFG). Fenofibrate lowered MetS. In MetS patients, fenofibrate raised flow-mediated dilation (FMD) and decreased sICAM-1 and sVCAM-1. Bezafibrate increased FMD. Statins and fibrates together improve FMD in mixed dyslipidemia patients. When MetS patients moved from atorvastatin to bezafibrate, endothelial function decreased (99).

Nicotinic acid (NA) may treat MetS-related mixed dyslipidemia. A Coronary Drug Project study shows that NA reduces non-fatal MI and all-cause mortality in CHD and MetS patients. MetS patients had higher FMD. In MetS patients, ezetimibe with atorvastatin at 10 mg daily reduced LDL-C and improved Endothelium-dependent vasodilation (EDV) compared to 40 mg alone. In another experiment, ezetimibe + simvastatin 10 mg/day prevented a reduction in FMD after a high-fat meal better than simvastatin 80 mg/day alone. Eicosapentaenoic acid lowered plasma sICAM-1 and sVCAM-1 in MetS patients. Orlistat improved T2DM in obese people with IGT. Orlistat and sibutramine improved FMD in obese people. Orlistat and sibutramine also lower MetS. It is unknown how these drugs affect endothelial function in MetS patients (100).

Estradiol increases NO generation and endothelial function. Estradiol interacting with HDL particles is unexpected. Other HDL-associated estradiol esters may boost HDL's atheroprotective activities, including macrophage cholesterol export. According to research, oral hormone therapy increases adhesion molecules, PAI-1, and tPA better than transdermal hormone therapy. The earlier intervention raised hsCRP more than the latter. Oral estradiol reduced E-selectin levels in postmenopausal women with MetS in trial w108. Transdermal estradiol had no effect. Estradiol increases NO and endothelial function. Estradiol seems to work through HDL particles. HDL-associated estradiol esters increase macrophage cholesterol efflux and other atheroprotective actions. According to, oral hormone treatment increases bloodstream adhesion molecules, PAI-1, and tPA more than transdermal hormone therapy. The former increased hsCRP more than the latter. Oral estradiol lowered E-selectin levels in postmenopausal women with MetS, while transdermal did not (101).

5.7.1. Lipid lowering-statin

Subgroup analysis of primary and secondary preventative trials found statins reduce vascular events in MetS patients. Statins reduced MetS risk in multiple trials. Atorvastatin reduced MetS prevalence, increased FMD, and decreased sICAM-1 (102). Pravastatin did not affect sICAM-1, sVCAM-1, or E-selectin levels in MetS patients, whereas simvastatin lowered PAI-1 activity. Statins may affect endothelial function differently in MetS patients, according to data. No comparative studies have been done to assess whether statin improves endothelial function better. Statins, which work by inhibiting the enzyme hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase, are the standard treatment for lowering high cholesterol levels. However, the effects of statins are not limited to decreasing lipid levels; they also have extra cholesterol-dependent or pleiotropic effects (103). In addition, statins have been shown to have cardioprotective benefits by reducing oxidative stress, enhancing endothelial function and inflammation, stabilizing susceptible plaques, and clot formation (103).

5.7.2. Antihypertensive drugs

According to secondary prevention subgroup analyses, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I) reduce vascular events in MetS patients. ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) diminish the risk of T2DM in hypertensives. Diuretics and beta-blockers enhance T2DM risk. Calcium channel blockers (CCBs) are ineffective. In the placebo-controlled DREAM trial, Ramipril did not decrease T2DM or vascular disease in IFG patients. Ramipril-treated individuals had more normoglycemia relapses. A recent subgroup analysis of the Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering medication to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT) indicated that chlorthalidone medication increased the risk of T2DM but decreased the risk of vascular events compared to lisinopril. Compared to chlorthalidone, lisinopril increased systolic blood pressure throughout follow-up. MetS patients treated with amlodipine, chlorthalidone, or lisinopril had comparable risks of developing T2DM and vascular events. Irbesartan improved endothelial function in MetS in a study. Despite lowering blood pressure, irbesartan improved FMD and plasma PAI-1 levels. Statins or fibrates plus ACE-I or ARB improve FMD better than alone (104). ARBs, CCBs, and ACEIs have been shown to potentially improve endothelial function in individuals diagnosed with CVD (104). The aforementioned outcomes are accomplished through a range of mechanisms, including upregulating the expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), enhancing the phosphorylation of eNOS at Ser1177, downregulating the expression of NADPH oxidase (NOX), increasing the levels of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) in the vasculature through GCH1dependent pathways, and restoring the coupling of eNOS to facilitate the availability of NO (105).

5.7.3. Antihyperglycemic drugs

Endothelial dysfunction has been observed to be closely linked with hyperglycemia. Hence, the amelioration of hyperglycemia may lead to enhanced endothelial function. This can be accomplished through the utilization of various pharmacological agents, such as DPP-4 inhibitors, SGLT2 inhibitors, insulin, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists, and metformin (106).

6. Role of MetS on hypertension

While there are various distinguishing aspects of MetS, hypertension is the most difficult to treat and is likely the least connected to or reliant on the condition (107). Hypertension affects around 80% of people with MetS. However, the majority of MetS patients with hypertension are overweight or obese. The most significant modifiable risk factor for CVD and overall mortality is hypertension, as shown in Figure 4. Hypertension is defined as systolic blood pressure (BP) of \geq 140 mmHg or higher and diastolic blood pressure (BP) of \geq 90 mmHg or lower, affecting 31.1% of the world's adult population, or 1.38 billion people, in 2010 (108). Hypertension is rising internationally because of an aging population, increased exposure to lifestyle risk factors such as poor diets (high salt and low potassium consumption), and a lack of physical exercise. Globally, the

prevalence of hypertension has fluctuated, although unevenly. Most hypertension has dropped somewhat in high-income countries during the previous two decades, while it has climbed dramatically in lowand middle-income nations.

6.1. Prevalence, prediction and geographical status of hypertension

Elevated blood pressure is a necessary criterion for diagnosing the syndrome. Research shows that hypertension is common in people with MetS (109). In the Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate E Loro Associazioni (PAMELA) study, high blood pressure was the most common component of MetS, affecting over 80% of patients. Individuals with MetS had higher blood pressure levels than those without the syndrome. Fatal events were more frequent in this population (110). Many hypertensive patients also have metabolic syndrome. In the Progetto Ipertensione Umbria Monitoraggio Ambulatoriale (PIUMA) study, 34% of hypertensive patients had MetS. Patients with MetS had more cardiovascular events than those without MetS (111). In a French study, MetS was increased with higher blood pressure values (112). In the PAMELA study, MetS-free participants were followed for 10 years. Individuals with certain types of hypertension were more likely to develop MetS (113). The Global Cardiometabolic Risk Profile in Patients with Hypertension Disease (GOOD) study found less than a third of hypertensive patients had acceptable blood pressure values. The study found that MetS was more common in participants with uncontrolled blood pressure than those with controlled blood pressure. The difference was significant (114).



10.3389/fnut.2023.1221438

MetS in hypertensive patients increases end-organ damage. Hypertension and metabolic syndrome together lead to more cases of left ventricular hypertrophy, microalbuminuria, increased intimamedia thickness, and hypertensive retinopathy (115). Hypertension has increased significantly over the past two decades in Southeast Asian and sub-Saharan African countries (116). The prevalence of hypertension and pre-hypertension among adults (18 years and older) in Uganda was determined through a cross-sectional survey representing the entire nation (117). The results showed an overall age- and sex-adjusted prevalence of 31.5% for hypertension and 38.8% for pre-hypertension. The majority of hypertension, adjusted for age and sex, was highest in the Central (34.3%), West (32.5%), and East (32.3%) regions. In comparison, it was lowest in the North (22.0%) and West Nile (24.1%) regions, based on geographical location (117). In the United States, hypertension is estimated to be prevalent when an individual has a systolic blood pressure of 140 mm Hg and a diastolic blood pressure of 90 mm Hg (118). The prevalence of hypertension in Southeast Asian urban populations was estimated at 33.82% based on pooled data. Among the total cases, 33.98% of hypertension was reported in the community, while 32.45% was reported among school adolescents. At present, at least 1 billion people worldwide suffer from hypertension. It is projected that this number will increase to 1.5 billion by the year 2025. A survey conducted in 2015 found that 25% of women and 20% of men suffer from hypertension. Less than 20% of people have well-controlled hypertension. Additionally, hypertension is associated with over 9 million deaths (116).

6.2. Oxidative stress and hypertension

There is a link between hypertension and increased oxidative stress in the vascular system; however, it is unclear whether oxidative stress is a cause or result of hypertension. It is well acknowledged that hypertension is the most critical risk factor for the development of CVD (119). A rising amount of evidence suggests that oxidative stress, which causes excessive ROS production, plays a significant role in the development of hypertension (120). ROS function as vasoconstriction mediators during vasomotor system modulation. Many factors, including angiotensin II, endothelin-1, and urotensin-II, trigger this vasoconstriction (121). In addition, the redox state influences the quantity of nitric oxide (NO) available for bioavailability in the body. NO is a potent vasodilator, and low levels of intracellular ROS play a crucial role in normal redox signaling that helps to maintain vascular function and integrity under physiological conditions (122). Higher levels of ROS contribute to vascular dysfunction and remodeling through oxidative damage when pathophysiological circumstances are present. Increased SOD and H2O2 generation, decreased nitric oxide synthesis, and impaired antioxidant bioavailability have all been associated with human hypertension (123).

6.3. Epigenetics and hypertension

It is now well-accepted that environmental and epigenetic, and genetic factors influence hypertension. Differential aetiologies of hypertension arise from complex interplays between genetic and environmental variables that modify biological pathways and lead to the disease (124). Hypertension significantly contributes to CVD pathologic remodeling, which may lead to severe complications such as heart failure, stroke, kidney failure, and cognitive impairment (125). Pulmonary vascular cells in people with progressive hypertension have a phenotype that is hyperproliferative, antiapoptotic, and inflammatory, leading to an increase in vasoconstriction and an aberrant remodeling of blood vessels. Gene mutations, epigenetic modifications, anomalies in sex hormones, and environmental variables all contribute to the development of hypertension (126). Altered DNA methylation patterns have been observed in patients with hypertension. Genomic DNA methylation has been associated with the onset and severity of hypertension (127). Individuals with chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension exhibit differential methylation of multiple probes in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (PASMCs), which may be associated with PASMC remodeling. The epigenetic change in PASMC led to the activation of HIF-1, which caused a proliferative and antiapoptotic phenotype (hypoxia-inducible factor-1). It may be possible to differentiate between hypertension and pulmonary veno-occlusive diseases by analyzing dysregulated DNA methylation of specific genes (128).

6.4. Molecular mechanisms

It is crucial to comprehend the biology of hypertension to treat it and prevent any potential consequences effectively. Although there have been significant studies conducted on the pathophysiology and etiology of hypertension, it is still the case that over 95% of individuals with hypertension do not have a known cause. Vascular alterations, such as inflammation, remodeling, stiffness, calcification, and atherosclerosis, may play a role. Hypertension is a multifaceted condition that arises from the intricate interplay of genetic, physiological, and environmental factors. Hypertension's pathogenesis has been linked to several variables, such as inflammation, reninangiotensin-aldosterone system overexpression, sympathetic nervous system activation, and aberrant G protein-coupled receptor signaling, as shown in Figure 4 (129-131). A study indicates that changes in T-cell activity, specifically in the immune system, are a factor in the onset of hypertension (132). These processes commonly result in increased bioavailability of ROS due to excess ROS formation, decreased nitric oxide (NO) levels, and impaired antioxidant capacity in the arteries, heart, brain, and kidneys (133, 134).

ROS may cause hypertension by activating redox-sensitive signaling pathways. Maintaining a balance between NO production and ROS formation is crucial in the vasculature. Any NO generation reduction and ROS production increase might reduce blood flow. The functions of superoxide anion and H_2O_2 as second messengers are highly controlled. ROS stimulates the activity of many physiological components, including mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), tyrosine kinases, Rho kinases, and transcription factors (NF-kB, AP-1, and HIF-1) and increased concentration of intracellular free Ca²⁺ also inactivates the protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTP). Furthermore, it increases the expression and activity of genes associated with inflammation and cancer (135, 136).

The pathophysiologic pathways in MetS connected to several diseases have been investigated. The objective is to find better and more effective therapies (137). So far, several distinct pathophysiological ideas have been proposed about why MetS patients

have high blood pressure. The significant reasons are IR, obesity, activation of the sympathetic nervous system, and excessive salt consumption (138).IR raises heart rate and blood pressure via upregulating angiotensin II receptors and inhibiting nitric oxide synthesis (139). In addition, high levels of leptin, hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis activity, obstructive sleep apnea, and baroreflex issues contribute to sympathetic nervous system activation in MetS (140). Finally, in obese patients, increased renal tubular reabsorption produces salt retention, which worsens high blood pressure. To summarize, the emergence of high blood pressure in patients with MetS is a multi-step process involving a variety of pathophysiological pathways (141).

6.5. Treatment

In cases where lifestyle modifications prove inadequate in achieving the desired blood pressure levels, pharmacological intervention may be deemed necessary. However, when hypertension continues after such therapy, antihypertensive medication is typically necessary, even for minor increases in blood pressure. The primary pharmacological agents utilized in the management of hypertension include diuretics, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), beta-blockers, and calcium channel blockers (CCBs) (142). Specific individuals may require multiple antihypertensive medications to attain their desired blood pressure level. In cases where blood pressure readings exceed the target by more than 20/10 mm Hg, newly diagnosed individuals may be promptly prescribed antihypertensive or a combination of hypertensive medications. To minimize adverse effects, taking a secondary medication with a complementary mode of action is advisable before taking the initial drug at the maximum recommended dose (143).

7. Role of MetS on platelet hyperactivity

Platelets serve an essential role in hemostasis and thrombosis. Therefore, they should stay dormant and only become active when vascular damage occurs. When activated, platelets produce and release a slew of prothrombotic substances from their granules. Coagulation factor V, fibrinogen, and vWF are examples of these molecules (144). In inactivated platelets, several surface glycoproteins were expressed differentially (GP). During this activation phase, the adhesion molecule P-selectin is translocated to the cell surface and stored in endothelial cell Weibel Palade bodies and platelet granules (145). In addition, the GPIIb-IIIa on the surface of activated platelets changes conformation and binds to fibrinogen during activation. Platelets triggered by thrombin had decreased levels of VWF binding sites on the GPIb-IX complex but increased levels of GPIV critical to thrombospondin, shown in Figure 5 (146).

MetS patients often have hyperactive platelets. Elevated levels of fibrinogen, PAI-1, thrombin, von Willebrand factor, factor VII, and other coagulation factors, as well as significant platelet aggregation, define it (147). Specific abnormalities include high levels of tissue factor, factor VIII, fibrinogen, and inhibitor of plasminogen activator type 1 activity (148). At baseline, patients with MetS showed a lower antiplatelet response to aspirin and higher platelet reactivity. Platelet hyperactivity may be exacerbated by increased systemic inflammation, obesity, dyslipidemia, and other metabolic diseases (149). Platelet hyperactivity may also be exacerbated by metabolic diseases such as obesity. Increases in platelet count and mean volume (150) are one example of an abnormality associated with platelet reactivity. They are a prognostic sign in several atherothrombotic diseases, including acute coronary syndrome, thrombosis, and stroke.

Furthermore, an increase in cytosolic calcium concentration stimulates platelet reactivity (151). Finally, high blood leptin levels cause increased platelet aggregability. The overall effect of these anomalies is increased platelet adhesion and activation (152).

7.1. Prevalence, prediction, and geographical status of platelet hyperactivity

Platelet hyperactivity is becoming increasingly common worldwide, with its frequency and prevalence rising. It is the most prevalent type, comprising approximately 90-95% of all cases worldwide. The activation of these events results in an increase in vasoconstriction and the promotion of thrombus formation, which can ultimately lead to the development of atherosclerosis (16). No significant differences were observed between healthy participants with hyperactive platelets and those without hyperactive platelets regarding age, race, body mass index, smoking status, or the prevalence of hypertension. Several studies on humans have demonstrated a preference for platelet hyperreactivity among females (153). Platelet hyperreactivity is a common occurrence that can be triggered by different stimuli, indicating that similar platelet activation pathways are involved in the process. Platelet reactivity varies significantly among individuals and is associated with factors such as female gender, high plasma fibrinogen levels, and genetic diversity (154).

7.2. Oxidative stress and platelet hyperactivity

Thrombotic events are a common cause of morbidity and mortality in the elderly population. Much evidence suggests that oxidative stress regulates various elements of thrombotic processes, including platelet activation (155). Platelet or vascular redox state, endogenous or exogenous antioxidants, and the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species are all potential factors in platelet-dependent thrombus development (156). The parameters and processes that govern the synthesis and metabolism of superoxide and nitric oxide may alter platelet activity and thrombus formation (157). Normal platelet activation may cause a shift in the redox state. Glutathione disulfide levels rise, and oxygen consumption increases with platelet aggregation. Conditions that cause oxidative stress but do not cause a florid aggregation response have the potential to be prothrombotic (158). Platelets have



essential roles in a wide range of biological processes, including but not limited to hemostasis, thrombosis, inflammation, infection, immunobiology, cancer metastasis, wound repair, and angiogenesis (159). Even though a significant change in the redox state occurs during normal aggregation; as a result, oxidative stress may promote platelet hyperactivity by reducing the level of physiologically accessible nitric oxide. Therefore, the measurement of oxidative stress may aid in the early diagnosis of asymptomatic patients at risk of developing thrombosis (160).

7.3. Epigenetics in platelet hyperactivity

Epigenetic changes may influence the generation and release into the circulation of proteins involved in blood coagulation and fibrinolysis. They may also interact with platelet activities and their susceptibility to antiplatelet medications (161). Cancer and other multifactorial illnesses, including atherosclerosis, hypertension, MetS, and diabetes, have received considerable attention during the last decade because of the potential relevance of epigenetic mechanisms in explaining the remaining unknown heredity factors. However, new research suggests that microRNAs and DNA methylation may be more nuanced in controlling the hemostatic balance, particularly in developing a prothrombotic condition linked to CAD (162). Platelet miRNA is involved in the regulation of hemostasis. Most microRNAs in human platelets are produced by megakaryocytes, which have an efficient miRNA processing mechanism (163). During thrombopoiesis, megakaryocytes provide platelets with most of their miRNA and pre-miRNA pools. Platelets may produce fully mature miRNAs (such as Dicer, Ago2, and RISC) expressing the enzymes necessary for pre-miRNA digestion. Ablation of Dicer 1 alters mRNA expression patterns and reduces miRNA expression levels in megakaryocytes and platelets (164).

7.4. Molecular mechanisms

The process of platelet activation is a complex phenomenon that is dependent on a multitude of factors. In the context of vascular injury, it has been observed that platelets possess adhesion receptors on their surface, namely integrins $\alpha 6\beta 1$, $\alpha 2\beta 1$, GPIIb/IIIa, and the GPIb/V/IX complex. These receptors exhibit specific binding interactions with laminin, collagen, fibrinogen, and VWF, respectively. Notably, this binding process occurs in the presence of regulatory molecules such as small G-protein regulators (SGRs), SRC-family kinases (SFKs), and serine/threonine-protein kinases (STKs). Consequently, these molecular interactions induce discernible changes in the morphology of platelets (165). When collagen binds to the platelet collagen receptors, it triggers a cascade regulated by phospholipase C (PLC). The depletion of calcium stores is a result of the thick tubular system. Activating various enzymes, such as phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and glycoprotein kinases, elevates intracellular calcium levels. This increase in calcium is crucial for several cellular processes, including morphological changes, presentation of the procoagulant surface, secretion of platelet granular content, and activation of Phospholipase A2 (166). The synthesis of thromboxane A2 from arachidonic acid, which serves as a precursor to TBXA2, is facilitated by the activation of phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and subsequent conversion by cyclooxygenase 1 (COX-1) (167). The G protein-coupled receptors that the released agonists activate include the thrombin receptor (F2R), thromboxane A2 receptor (TBXA2R), and adenosine diphosphate (ADP) receptors (P2RY1 and P2RY12). Upon adenosine diphosphate (ADP) activation, the P2RY12 receptor interacts with Gi and inhibits adenylate cyclase activity (168). The interaction of clotting factors with activated platelets is another vital process. The production of thrombin is triggered by the exposure of tissue factors in the arterial wall, which in turn sets off the clotting cascade. It plays a crucial role as a platelet activator by interacting with

protease-activated platelet receptors (169). LAIR-1 and PECAM-1 are two proteins that are present in megakaryocytes. These proteins are crucial in keeping the platelets dormant within the bone marrow. In individuals with coronary heart disease, platelets are attracted to damaged blood vessels. Platelets assist in the process of blood clotting, thereby reducing bleeding. Contributing to the occlusion of sick arteries can worsen the condition, potentially leading to thrombosis (170).

7.5. Platelet hyperactivity and diabetes

Platelet hyperreactivity is a crucial determinant in developing thrombotic diseases such as heart attack and ischemic stroke, which may be fatal consequences of diabetes. Individuals with type 2 diabetes have higher amounts of the collagen receptor GPVI on the surface of their platelets (171). Elevated GPVI levels have been linked to cardiovascular events such as acute coronary syndrome, myocardial infarction, ischemic stroke, and transient ischemic episodes. Platelet activation is caused by the breakdown of atheromatous plaque or the de-endothelialization of the arterial wall. In order to conceal the exposed region, it is necessary to identify the sticky proteins through various receptors of platelet membrane glycoproteins (GPs) (172). When activated, a receptor triggers physiological reactions such as membrane phospholipid hydrolysis, intracellular calcium mobilization, and phosphorylation of vital intracellular proteins. The process of glycation of proteins on the surface of platelets has been reported to reduce membrane fluidity while boosting platelet adhesion. This, in turn, results in the incorporation of glycated proteins inside thrombi (173). Calcium mobilization from intracellular storage pools is associated with reduced membrane fluidity, which leads to increased intracellular calcium concentrations (174). Platelets in diabetic patients are hyperactive, with high adhesion, activation, and aggregation, which may be related to the dysregulation of various signaling pathways. Platelet activity was elevated in individuals with type 1 and type 2 diabetes in the early stages, which may increase their vulnerability to CVD (175). Platelet dysfunction in diabetics has the potential to be discovered before any visible damage to the vessel wall manifests itself. Diabetes increases platelet responsiveness to subthreshold stimuli, encouraging thrombotic events and the generation of new hyperreactive platelets (176).

7.6. Platelet hyperactivity and cardiovascular disease

Activated platelets are essential constituents of thrombi that obstruct arteries and contribute to plaque development in blood vessels during atherogenesis. Consequently, they are gaining prominence as novel participants, given that increased platelet aggregation constitutes a crucial risk factor for thrombosis, heart attacks, and strokes (177). The linkage between platelet activation and consequent thrombosis has been established in numerous CVD. The phenomenon of platelet hyperactivity encompasses many mechanisms, among which oxidative stress is included. Human platelets generate and discharge ROS, such as O^{2-} , H_2O_2 , or OH-, in reaction to physiological agonists. These ROS molecules play a crucial role in augmenting the platelet activation response through various

signaling pathways, including isoprostane formation, Ca^{2+} mobilization, and NO inactivation. In addition, the generation of ROS by platelets, the absorption of free radicals from the environment, and the depletion of antioxidants can lead to pro-oxidant, pro-inflammatory, and platelet hyperaggregability effects, which increase the risk of CVD (178).

7.7. Platelet hyperactivity and infertility

Platelets are essential for hemostasis, and abnormalities in their activation or hyperaggregability may play a role in the pathophysiology of conditions, including miscarriage and thrombosis with no known cause. Miscarriage is increasingly connected to platelet hyperaggregability, also known as sticky platelet syndrome (SPS) (179). Hyperandrogenism, repeated anovulation, and infertility are hallmarks of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), one of the most common endocrine disorders affecting women of reproductive age. Increased risk of CVD insulin resistance, and impaired endothelial function are all associated with this condition (180). Patients with PCOS exhibit increased agonist-induced platelet aggregation, faster coagulation, and microparticles produced from platelets. Factor XII deficiency, dysfibrinogenemias related to thrombosis, protein C defects, protein S defects, antithrombin deficiency, heparin cofactor II deficiency, and fibrinolytic defects associated with thrombosis are all linked to infertility and pregnancy loss. Pregnancy increases the risk of uteroplacental thrombosis in a hypercoagulable state because of coagulation factors, regulators, and fibrinolytic system changes. Furthermore, placental perfusion may cause thrombosis due to its low pressure and turbulent flow (181).

7.8. Treatment

Several therapeutic targets for platelet hyperactivity have been reported in studies aimed at reducing vascular risk in patients. Platelet-derived microparticles (PMPs) have been demonstrated to play a role in the increased incidence of atherosclerotic plaque and arterial thrombosis formation in individuals (182, 183). It is indisputable that patients with CVD exhibit platelets with a hyperactive phenotype characterized by higher aggregation, activation, and adhesion (184). This may contribute to the emergence of atherothrombotic complications in such patients (185). Hence, identifying elevated concentrations of particular microparticles can be a significant prognosticator of vascular impairment and cardiovascular consequences. New treatments have been explored using pharmacological drugs with antiplatelet and anticoagulant characteristics to improve human platelet function (186). For a long time, people have known that aspirin, or acetylsalicylic acid and cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor, has beneficial effects against inflammation and blood clots (187).

Over previous decades, it has been demonstrated that vitamin K antagonists possess anticoagulant characteristics. Dicoumarol, warfarin, phenprocoumon, acenocoumarol, and rivaroxaban are among the most significant vitamin K antagonists presently employed (188). Compared to aspirin, rivaroxaban reduced the risk of recurrence in patients with venous thromboembolism without significantly increasing the risk of bleeding (189). Clopidogrel, ticagrelor, prasugrel, and cangrelor are all examples of P2Y12 receptor antagonists, and each of these drugs has been shown to pharmacologically block adenosine diphosphate (ADP) receptors (186). Abciximab, tirofiban, and eptifibatide are examples of Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors that have been shown to block fibrinogen adherence to activate platelets and, by extension, the formation of inter platelet bridges (190). The abovementioned medications treat and prevent atrial fibrillation and venous thromboembolism. Anticoagulants in question include unfractionated heparin and low molecular weight heparin. Fondaparinux, a parenteral anti-factor Xa medication, has lately emerged as a preferable alternative to unfractionated heparin (186).

8. Advanced/alternative treatment strategies

The primary goals of MetS treatment are to lower the risk of CVD and, ideally, to postpone the development of type 2 diabetes. Once type 2 diabetes has been established, medication may aid in maintaining health by reducing exposure to CVD risk factors (CVD). Therefore, the primary therapy for MetS is a lifestyle change that promotes cardiovascular wellness. Both nutritional supplements and physical exercise reduce MetS symptoms (191). Medicines, small molecules, and naturally occurring bioactive compounds are among the various materials that may be used in the treatment (192).

8.1. Pharmacotherapy

Because MetS is not yet a recognized disease and knowledge of common pathways as prospective therapy targets are still being researched, the current strategy is to address each problem individually. In addition to lowering the underlying risk factors, medication may be utilized to prevent CVD. Effective pharmacological therapies include statins for the treatment of dyslipidemia, antiplatelet medicines for the reduction of prothrombotic risk, and insulin sensitizers for the prevention of diabetes. There is no single pharmacological treatment for MetS, and patients with polypharmacy, limited adherence to current pharmacotherapy, and associated comorbidities find it challenging to continue taking multiple medications. Those who struggle to control their blood pressure are likely to develop treatment-resistant hypertension. more Antihypertensive drugs may now have unwanted side effects, an added complication. It has been suggested that aldosterone synthase, aldosterone receptors, and the ACE2/angiotensin 1-7/Mas receptor axis are all potential therapeutic targets (193).

Obesity is associated with type 2 diabetes, IR, and CVD, which may be avoided and treated using adiponectin, the principal peptide generated by adipocytes. Adiponectin levels are diminished by sickness. Endothelial, skeletal, cardiac, and adipocyte cells can produce this adipocytokine. Recently, the synthesis and release of higher-order adiponectin have been linked to several endoplasmic reticulums (ER)-associated proteins. These proteins include ER-resident protein 44 (ERp44), disulfide-bond A oxidase-like protein (DsbA-L), ER oxidoreductase 1- (Ero1-), and glucose-regulated protein 94 (GPR94). Adiponectin injections affect insulin sensitivity, atherosclerosis, inflammation, and weight in people and animals. Replacement treatment using human adiponectin may help identify therapeutic targets for preventing and treating metabolic diseases, including insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (194).

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) regulate triglycerides (TGs), blood sugar, and abdominal adiposity. There are several kinds of PPARs. Fibrate and omega-3 fatty acid PPAR agonists lower TG. They raise HDL cholesterol via catabolizing TGs, especially when combined with fibrates (HDL-C). Glitazones, the major PPARagonist, decreases glucose but not TGs. Glitazones are antihyperglycemic and insulin-sensitizing. However, newer PPAR-/ agonists such as elafibranor reduce TG while increasing HDL-C. They may aid in the treatment of NAFLD caused by MetS. As a result, the PPAR system can potentially treat atherogenic dyslipidemias; however, side effects such as myopathy, gallstones, and drug-drug interactions (such as those caused by gemfibrozil) must be considered (195). The indirect antioxidant effects of statins, type 1 angiotensin II receptor antagonists, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, and other cardiovascular medications are pleiotropic. Effects on vasodilation, antithrombosis, and antiproliferation are facilitated by endothelial progenitor cells. The therapeutic advantages in heart failure might be attributed to these defense systems. The pathophysiological mechanisms that statins attack are identical. Statins lessen the risk of cardiovascular events, including heart attacks and strokes, by lowering inflammation and atherothrombosis in the blood vessels. Statins enhance NO bioavailability by decreasing NADPH oxidase activity in a Rac1-dependent manner, reducing caveolin-1 activity, decreasing asymmetric dimethyl-l-arginine, improving activating eNOS phosphorylation, and upregulating eNOS mRNA (196). Nebivolol, a third-generation beta-blocker, was shown to stimulate eNOS activity in ex vivo tests, leading to the induction of vascular nitric oxide, which explains why individuals with essential hypertension had better NO bioavailability (197, 198).

Subsequent research has revealed that while first- and secondgeneration beta-blockers do not inhibit Nox2, nebivolol does exhibit inhibitory effects on Nox2 in hypertensive rats and isolated cells (199). Directly modifying the cytoplasmic membrane assembly of Nox2 and cytosolic subunits p47phox, p67phox, and rac1 may result in various potential outcomes, including reducing superoxide generation, prevention of eNOS uncoupling and nitric oxide breakdown through interaction with superoxide, and enhancement of endothelial function. Furthermore, it has been observed that Nebivolol can mitigate oxidative stress in individuals with hypertension through the reduction of nitric oxide's oxidative degradation (200).

8.2. Gene therapy

Gene therapy has progressed mainly to advances in delivery methods and vectors and the continual identification of novel mechanisms driving CVD (201). Clinical translation of cardiovascular applications lags substantially behind analogs for other conditions, such as metabolic diseases, blood disorders, and cancer. Differences in the intricacy and duration of the disease processes may account for this. In contrast to diseases resulting from a unique genetic mutation, most chronic cardiovascular conditions are multifactorial. The conditions mentioned above involve complex genetic and environmental interplays, rendering them less amenable to gene therapy (201). Attaining consistent

10.3389/fnut.2023.1221438

expression in the cardiac or susceptible vascular tissue via vector delivery has presented novel obstacles. Adenoviral-mediated methods to overexpress sarcoplasmic-endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+/ATPase (SERCA) have shown promise in preclinical and early-phase clinical trials. The SERCA pump is a regulatory mechanism that significantly impacts the management of myocardial calcium homeostasis and contractility. This mechanism has been linked to heart failure (202). The phase II clinical study, Calcium Up-regulation by Percutaneous Administration of Gene Therapy in Cardiac Disease (CUPID2), yielded no significant therapeutic effects. This finding is documented in academic literature. It was hypothesized that AAV1-neutralizing antibodies were blamed for the virus's failure to transduce SERCA. Disrupted redox signaling has not been the target of any gene therapy approach thus far. However, new targets from detailed molecular mechanistic analyses and improved gene therapy delivery technologies, such as using non-viral, nanoparticle-based DNA delivery mentioned below, provide renewed optimism.

It is well-established that vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) promotes angiogenesis. However, two additional benefits of improved redox balance are lowered NOX activity and eNOS coupling. VEGF may also stimulate NRF-2-mediated antioxidant mechanisms (184). The intramyocardial injection of adenoviral VEGF was safe and improved myocardial perfusion at 1 year in patients with severe CAD, as shown in phase I/II experiment. However, the precise distinction between increased redox signaling and direct activating pro-angiogenesis pathways remains to be seen (203).

8.3. miRNA therapy

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are diminutive, non-coding RNA molecules that are crucial in regulating gene expression. MiRNAs exert significant control over translation through direct mRNA degradation and forming a protein complex called "RNA-induced silencing complex" (RISC), which can cleave miRNA targets. This underscores the critical role played by miRNAs in translation control. Both of these systems play a role in the regulation of translation (204). According to research findings, approximately 40 microRNAs have been observed to impact redox signaling, potentially in the onset of CVD or as a protective measure against it (205). In the last decade and a half, the discovery of AntagoMiRs, synthetic oligonucleotides with an anti-sense sequence explicitly targeting a particular miRNA, has been a significant breakthrough. Several side-chain modifications are also generated, making attaching to the target microRNA easier and providing protection from endogenous nucleases. These side-chain changes are also included. MicroRNAs, on the other hand, pose pharmacokinetic problems. They tend to amass in the kidneys and liver (206). Several nanoparticle compositions are now being developed to address these pharmacokinetic concerns. These formulations seek to increase antagoMir targeting to cardiovascular tissue while reducing cargo exposure to nuclease action. Currently, research on the cardiovascular system is only available in preclinical models.

In contrast, an antagoMiR that targets miR-34a has shown promise in a mouse model of heart attack by partly restoring myocardial function and boosting tissue survival rate. In addition, mir-34a increases oxidative damage in endothelial cells dependent on p66shc-sirtuin1. As a result, the benefits of antagoMiR-34a may be acquired by suppressing this apoptosis-promoting pathway (207).

8.4. Dietary strategies

Poor nutrition and lack of exercise are significant contributors to the worldwide rise in the prevalence of overweight and obesity. Until now, which dietary pattern is best for controlling MetS is unknown. Modifying one's lifestyle, especially diet, is the most important therapeutic strategy for this condition. Certain dietary modifications have been demonstrated to effectively reduce symptoms and improve several metrics associated with MetS (184). Scientific studies showed that the DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) diet is the most effective strategy for preventing and treating MetS compared to low-fat and restricted diets. Health practitioners may suggest simplified diets without restrictive diets. Normalizing metabolic imbalances in people with MetS requires calorie restriction and increased activity (208). MetSAs part of treatment for MetS; nutritional recommendations should consider the overall eating pattern since focusing on just one nutrient can only go so far. Alternatives to restrictive diets that focus on calories or specific nutrients have been found in recent research (209, 210). Numerous studies have shown the potential health advantages of following the MedDiet, including the primary and secondary prevention of CVD, T2DM, and MetS (211, 212).

The "Mediterranean Diet" describes the food preferences, lifestyle choices, and cooking methods of people living around the Mediterranean Sea region (213). The various plant-based foods include greens, fruits, grains, beans, nuts, seeds, olive oil, and pulses. Sofrito is a seasoning that has been traditionally utilized in various dishes. It comprises olive oil, tomato, garlic, onion, and leek, rich in phenolic compounds and carotenoids, including naringenin, hydroxytyrosyl, lycopene, and β -carotene (214). The traditional Mediterranean diet is characterized by a high-fat content and low carbohydrate intake, with fat contributing 35 to 45% of daily caloric intake, protein contributing 15%, and carbohydrates contributing 40 to 45%. The principal source of fat is derived from olive oil and almonds. The lipid in question is primarily comprised of polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fatty acids. Olive oil is the primary source of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) in the Mediterranean diet (MedDiet). In addition, olive oil is rich in oleic acid, which has been associated in several studies with beneficial effects on IR, blood lipid profiles, and blood pressure (215).

Olive oil is beneficial because of the polyphenols it contains, which have anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties. Fruits and vegetables are rich sources of various nutrients, including antioxidant vitamins such as vitamins C, E and beta-carotene and phytochemicals, folates, and minerals (216). Recent studies have demonstrated that the Mediterranean diet (MedDiet) can reduce mortality rates in individuals of various body sizes, including those who are overweight or obese, physically fit, or at an increased risk for CVD (217). Studies have shown a negative correlation between MedDiet adherence and mortality from CVD, cancer, and other degenerative diseases. The risk of acquiring significant complications of CVD is also reduced by following the MedDiet, both statistically and clinically (218). Changes in body composition, as shown by lower total and segmental fat, may be related to differences in metabolic profile and other health

outcomes associated with MedDiet treatment. The prevalence of both type 2 diabetes and CVD is falling, and research suggests that MedDiet may be contributing to this trend. Due to its many positive health effects, the MedDiet should be one of the first lines of defense in the fight against and management of MetS (219, 220).

There is a growing awareness of the significance of dietary factors in altering endothelial function. The primary focus of the research has been on n3 fatty acids, antioxidant vitamins (especially vitamins E and C), folic acid, and L-arginine (221). Studies have demonstrated that dietary factors significantly affect vascular reactivity. Studies have shown that fish oil and soy protein can improve endothelial function, which may help prevent CVD. These chemicals possess properties that protect the heart. Communities with a lower incidence of CVD have been given particular focus regarding their dietary habits. Research suggests that following a Mediterranean diet with a significant amount of vegetables, seafood, olive oil, and moderate wine consumption may positively impact endothelial function (222).

The risk of hypertension and its complications may be reduced by adopting dietary modifications that lower blood pressure. Nutritional therapies for hypertension prevention include reducing salt intake, limiting alcohol use, increasing potassium intake, and adopting a general healthy pattern like the DASH or Mediterranean diet (223). Recent research has shown that the DASH diet may effectively control hypertension. Consumption of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, low- or no-fat dairy, legumes, and nuts is preferred over red and processed meats and sugary drinks. The DASH diet is distinguished from other eating plans by its lower sodium intake (from 1,500 to 2,300 mg/day), higher fiber intake (>30 g/day), potassium, magnesium, and calcium content, and a lower intake of saturated fats (6% of energy) and dietary cholesterol (approximately 150 mg/d) (224). In epidemiological studies, improved adherence to the DASH diet has been related to a healthier cardiometabolic profile and a lower risk of CVD. The DASH diet's food content and distribution are likely responsible for many health advantages. The DASH diet emphasizes their output, increasing potassium, magnesium, and fiber intake. Evidence shows that these nutrients help check blood pressure, glucose levels, and insulin sensitivity. Blood insulin and glucose levels have been shown to decrease in correlation with the consumption of polyphenol- and antioxidantrich fruits and vegetables (225).

Avoiding or limiting the consumption of animal products is a central tenet of "plant-based diets." In contrast, a focus on whole plant foods, including fruits, vegetables, nuts, legumes, and grains, is advocated. Consistent evidence links plant-based diets to a reduced risk of developing MetS and associated symptoms (226, 227). In addition, the risk of developing obesity, diabetes, and CVD, as well as the risk of dying prematurely, is lower among those who follow these dietary habits. In addition, the nutritional composition of plant-based diets promotes the consumption of a diverse range of plant-derived foods while discouraging the intake of red and processed meat, correlated with heightened susceptibility to diabetes, cardiovascular ailments, and certain forms of cancer. Furthermore, it has been established that the minerals and bioactive compounds in plant-based diets, such as vitamins C and E, beta-carotene, and polyphenols, exhibit antioxidant properties associated with reduced CVD and MetS (228, 229).

Several studies conducted in the last 20 years have demonstrated that the aqueous constituents present in tomatoes inhibit the

aggregation of blood platelets, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The naturallyderived functional food component, Fruitflow[®], a water-soluble tomato extract, has gained widespread global distribution and recognition (230). Fruitflow[®] is a dietary antiplatelet agent with a reversible mechanism of action and a milder antiplatelet effect than conventional antiplatelet medications such as aspirin, clopidogrel, and prasugrel (175). The antiplatelet tomato components present in Fruitflow[®] are known to protect the cardiovascular system by lowering platelet hyperactivity in response to potent platelet agonists such as adenosine diphosphate (ADP), collagen, arachidonic acid, thrombin, and inflammation. They may also aid in preventing endothelial dysfunction (231).

The findings of in vitro and ex vivo studies indicate that extracts derived from tomatoes and kiwifruits can mitigate platelet aggregation. The antiplatelet components found in tomato, strawberry, and kiwifruit have been observed to exhibit inhibitory effects on ACE (angiotensin-converting enzyme) and induce relaxation of the endothelium. These actions contribute to the protection of blood vessels (232). Recent studies have suggested that certain natural substances, such as olive oils, alperujo, ginseng, curcuminoids, and garlic, possess potential antiplatelet properties. Following the process of olive oil extraction, it has been observed that alperujo, the byproduct obtained, retains a significant amount of phenolic compounds. In their study, DeRoos et al. observed that applying alperujo extract at a concentration of 40 mg/L resulted in a notable reduction in platelet activation induced by ADP and TRAP in an in vitro setting. A recent study observed that the consumption of dietary vitamin-rich extra virgin olive oil for 1 year resulted in a significant reduction in ADP-induced blood platelet aggregation (233). The primary phenolic compound found in olive oil, known as hydroxytyrosol, has been observed to reduce platelet aggregation in humans (234) significantly. Ginseng has been historically employed to manage and mitigate cardiovascular disease (CVD) symptoms and its potential preventive properties. The inhibitory effects of ginsenosides on internal calcium mobilization and granule release have been observed, suggesting their potential as broad-spectrum antiplatelets (235). The platelet aggregation induced by ADP and arachidonic acid was significantly inhibited by curcuminoids derived from Curcuma longa plants (236). In a recent study, it has been observed that aged garlic extract can enhance the levels of cyclic nucleotides within the body. Moreover, it has been found to effectively inhibit the binding of fibrinogen, an essential protein involved in blood clotting. Additionally, the extract has been shown to mitigate platelet shape changes and modify their functional characteristics in response to collagen stimulation (237).

8.5. Natural bioactive compounds

Plant extracts, spices, herbs, and essential oils all include natural ingredients that have shown promise in treating MetS. However, these nutraceuticals are not suggested instead of standard pharmacotherapies for MetS since their advantages still need to be investigated (Table 1).

8.5.1. Curcumin

Curcumin is commonly found in Southeast Asian turmeric (*Curcuma longa*). Curcumin blocks NF-kB activation, resulting in lower levels of TNF- α and thrombotic plasminogen activator inhibitor

| TABLE 1 List of Bioactive compounds and mechanisms in Met | tS. |
|---|-----|
|---|-----|

| Bioactive compounds | Category | Source | Structure | Mechanism and effects | Reference |
|---------------------------|-----------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|--|-----------|
| Curcumin | Flavonoid polyphenol | Curcuma longa (Turmeric) | HO CCH ₃ CCH ₃ | ↑TNF-α, IL-6 ⊥ NF-kB | (238) |
| Allicin | Vegetable | Allium sativum (Garlic) | S-S+ | ↑Nrf2 ↓SBP, Keap1, HIF-1α, and VEGF | (239) |
| Resveratrol | polyphenolic phytoalexin | 3,5,4'-Trihydroxystilbene (Grapes, Apple) | HO CH OH | ↑Nrf2, ↓NF-kB | (240) |
| Quercetin | Flavonoid | 2-(3,4-Dihydroxyphenyl)-5,7- dihydroxy-4H-1-benzopyran-4- one. (Berries, Grapes, Onion) | | ↑SOD, GPX, CAT ↓ROS, MDA, TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-10, Caspase-3, Bax/Bcl-2 | (241) |
| Sulforaphane | Vegetable | 1-Isothiocyanato-4- (methanesulfinyl) butane. (Broccoli, Cabbage) | H ₃ C ^S NCS | ⊥ Nrf2, NF-E2, NF- kB, MAPKs, P ³⁸ , JNK, ERK ↓TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β, PGE2 | (242) |
| Cynaropicrin (Cardoon) | Vegetable | <i>Cynara cardunculus</i> (Artichoke thistle) | | ↓TNF-α, IL-6, ROS, NO, ERK ↑Nrf-2 | (243) |

type 1 (238). Furthermore, curcumin stimulates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPR- γ) in hepatic stellate cells and blocks the Wnt/–catenin pathway, contributing to obesity. As a result of curcumin's interference with leptin signaling, adiponectin expression is boosted. Obesity, IR, and inflammatory processes are all reduced in those with MetS (244). Research has shown that curcumin has the potential to enhance insulin sensitivity, inhibit the formation of fat cells, and lower high blood pressure, inflammation, and oxidative stress. As a result, it may help alleviate various aspects of MetS (245).

8.5.2. Allicin

The anti-inflammatory and antithrombotic qualities of garlic/ Allicin (*Allium sativum*) make it useful in medicine. According to a study, fructose-fed rats whose diet included raw garlic had greater insulin sensitivity, suggesting that this food item could have similar benefits for people (246). Research shows that a placebo-controlled study reduces total cholesterol and triglyceride levels (247). According to research, aged garlic extract altered MetS patients' adiponectin levels and upregulated Nrf-2 express,sion, which raised adiponectin after 12 weeks (239). In addition, garlic's organosulfur compounds were found to effectively reduce dyslipidemia and liver fat by boosting taurine levels and encouraging hepatic fatty acidoxidation which helps in maintaining healthy glucose levels due to its ability to inhibit DPP-4 and hepatic gluconeogenesis (248). Garlic can cure MetS naturally because its thiol groups fight ROS-mediated inflammation.

8.5.3. Resveratrol

Resveratrol is a polyphenol found in grapes, nuts, and wine. It affects metabolism, oxidation, and aging via sirtuin pathway activation. It promotes lipolysis, reduces adipogenesis, and improves cellular energy balance. It inhibits antioxidant cyclooxygenase and Nrf-2 expression and downregulates NF-kB expression (240). Resveratrol enhances glucose tolerance, weight, insulin sensitivity, and BMI in MetS patients (249, 250). According to recent studies, resveratrol consumption has been linked to decreased risk of developing diabetes and its associated cardiovascular complications. Resveratrol has a protective effect due to its ability to regulate multiple signaling pathways. These pathways include those related to oxidative stress and inflammation, lipid metabolism, GLUT4 expression and translocation, and the SIRT1/AMPK signaling axis (251).

8.5.4. Quercetin

Quercetin, a plant-derived flavonoid, is found in onions, berries, and tea. Its metabolic activities include antioxidant and antiinflammatory. Studies have shown that quercetin may help reduce the risk of developing osteoporosis, CVD, neuropathy, and certain types of cancer (252). Furthermore, it possesses various other advantages such as antiatherosclerotic, anti-inflammatory, anti-obesity, anti-hyperlipidemic, anti-hypercholesterolemic, neuroprotective, antihypertensive, and anti-inflammatory properties (253). According to researchers, the metabolic effects of quercetin are thought to be influenced by the activation of transcription factors like PPAR-y, AMPk, NF-kB, and SIRT1 (254). Quercetin inhibits obesity-causing adipokinesis and lipolysis through mitochondrial pathways. Obese Zucker fat rats were administered 2 mg/kg BW or 10 mg/kg BW of quercetin daily for 10 weeks. As a result, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and insulin resistance were reduced in these rats. The higher dose was the only one that effectively reduced body weight and inflammation in visceral adipose tissue. This was achieved by inhibiting the generation of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (255). Reduced adiponectin levels in the bloodstream have been linked to obesity, type 2 diabetes, and hypertension. Losing weight could lead to an improvement in these health conditions. The vasoprotective properties of quercetin have been linked to an increase in eNOS expression (255). Pfeuffer and coworkers discovered that in people with an apolipoprotein E genotype, quercetin reduces metabolic parameters, including waist circumference, postprandial blood glucose, and lipids, while increasing inflammatory markers like TNF-.α, IL-1β, IL-10, Caspase-3, Bax/Bcl-2 (241).

8.5.5. Sulforaphane

The anti-inflammatory and antioxidant characteristics of a phytochemical called sulforaphane (SFN), found in the Brassica family of plants like broccoli, may be used to treat MetS. It induces NF-E2, Nrf-2, and NF-kB expression and decreases inflammatory markers like TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β (242). In addition, experimental animal research has shown that sulforaphane may prevent the development of MetS hallmarks such as diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia (256). SFN interacts with the active cysteine residues of KEAP1, dissociating KEAP1 and the subsequent activation of NRF-2 (257). SFN acts as a cytoprotective factor in different types of cellular stress by triggering the oxidative stress response (OSR) and decreasing inflammation. Administering SFN can help control the NF-kB pathway, which may prevent diabetic neuropathy and high glucose-induced changes in animals (258). SFN protects against diabetic cardiomyopathy through increased NRF2 expression and correction of oxidative stress-induced modulation of the LKB1/ AMPK pathway (259). Mice with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease were administered SFN, reducing their oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and mitochondrial dysfunction (260). SFN reduces the expression of adipogenic factors such as PPAR and CCAAT/ enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP), which inhibits adipocyte formation and fat accumulation. The detection of AMPK activation upon SFN administration suggests that SFN may have potential antiobesity and anti-diabetic benefits (261). Supplementation with SFN decreased fasting blood glucose and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) levels in obese individuals with dysregulated type 2 diabetes. The anti-diabetic properties of this substance are similar to those of metformin, considered the standard medication for treating diabetes (262).

8.5.6. Cardoon

The industrial potential of the cardoon plant is well acknowledged. It is an intriguing source of bioactive components, including cynaropicrin, phenolics, minerals, inulin, fiber, and sesquiterpene lactones, making it a functional food with great nutritional value. These bioactive compounds have anti-diabetic, anti-inflammatory, cardiotonic, antibacterial, anti-hemorrhoidal, antioxidant, anticancer, lipid-lowering, cytotoxic, and choleretic activities. The presence of vitamins, flavonoids, and polyphenols in *Cynara cardunculus L*. has been observed to contribute to its biological activity by scavenging free radicals and reducing oxidative stress. These properties have been associated with the plant's hypolipidemic, hepatoprotective, and antidiabetic effects, as well as it's capacity to increase Nrf-2 expression and reduce inflammatory markers such as TNF- α and interleukin-6 (243).

9. Conclusion

MetS is not classified as a disease per se but rather as a cluster of metabolic risk factors that have the potential to substantially elevate the likelihood of developing CVD. Despite several definitions for MetS, a singular purpose cannot be employed to assess potential hazards or outcomes in adolescents. Diagnosing the risk of MetS early on is imperative, as insulin resistance can lead to impaired glucose, lipid, and energy metabolism in various organs and tissues, resulting in the co-occurrence of multiple metabolic disorders. Alterations in migration, proliferation, and angiogenesis characterize the MetS. These modifications are caused by inflammation, hyperhomocysteinemia, oxidative stress, decreased angiogenic factors, and cellular senescence. Empirical data indicate a reciprocal association exists between hypertension, endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, and MetS. The coexistence of hypertension, endothelial dysfunction, platelet hyperactivity, and MetS contributes to the advancement of organ damage. Thus, this population is critical to managing blood pressure, regulating the prothrombotic state, and controlling blood glucose.

A detailed understanding of the MetS mechanism will help develop effective prevention strategies and appropriate intervention tools. MetS and its components do not yet have specific therapy recommendations. Some patients are at moderate or high risk of developing atherosclerosis. The initial approach for managing the latter group involves implementing therapeutic lifestyle changes. In cases where the possibility of developing CVD is significant, it may be imperative to implement pharmacological measures to modify risk factors. Every person with MetS must go through a risk evaluation. Obesity, dyslipidemia, hypertension, insulin resistance, and hyperglycemia may all be successfully managed with dietary and physical activity changes. These treatments show the highest promise for managing MetS. A pharmacological approach targeting many MetS components and extensive gene and miRNA Therapy management may be necessary for high-risk people. MetS is often associated with gut microbiota dysbiosis, inducing a low-grade inflammatory response and insulin resistance via different mechanisms. This review did not discuss the gut microbiota as a potential target for treating MetS.

Although their success varies, lifestyle adjustments and other non-pharmaceutical methods are sometimes recognized as the first line of therapy. Improved insulin resistance, blood pressure, plasma lipid and lipoprotein metabolism, and general health may result from a diet high in nutrients and total calories, as well as from regular
physical exercise and healthy body weight. Pharmaceutical therapy is only somewhat beneficial. In contrast to when lifestyle measures are used alone, it is connected with more significant adverse results when used in conjunction with them.

Nutraceuticals are a popular therapy for MetS due to their low toxicity and minimal adverse effects. Using curcumin, resveratrol, quercetin, aged garlic extract, sulforaphane, and fruitflow may be a natural treatment for hypertension, platelet hyperactivity, and endothelial dysfunction,. More efforts must be undertaken in animal and clinical studies to evaluate the influence of these compounds on CVD risk factors. In addition, the prevention and treatment of underlying risk factors might lower CVD prevalence in the general population.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Chettinad Academy of Research and Education (CARE), Chettinad Hospital and Research Institute (CHRI), Chennai, India, and the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway.

References

1. Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes. (1988) 37:1595-607. doi: 10.2337/diab.37.12.1595

2. Konukoglu D, Uzun H. Endothelial dysfunction and hypertension. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2017) 956:511–40. doi: 10.1007/5584_2016_90

3. Watson T, Goon PK, Lip GY. Endothelial progenitor cells, endothelial dysfunction, inflammation, and oxidative stress in hypertension. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2008) 10:1079–88. doi: 10.1089/ars.2007.1998

4. Shenouda SM, Widlansky ME, Chen K, Xu G, Holbrook M, Tabit CE, et al. Altered mitochondrial dynamics contributes to endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. *Circulation*. (2011) 124:444–53. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.110.014506

5. Grundy SM. Metabolic syndrome pandemic. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2008) 28:629–36. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.151092

6. Popkin BM. Global nutrition dynamics: the world is shifting rapidly toward a diet linked with noncommunicable diseases. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2006) 84:289–98. doi: 10.1093/ ajcn/84.1.289

7. Kearney J. Food consumption trends and drivers. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci.* (2010) 365:2793–807. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0149

8. Sepp T, McGraw KJ, Kaasik A, Giraudeau M. A review of urban impacts on avian life-history evolution: does city living lead to slower pace of life? *Glob Chang Biol.* (2018) 24:1452–69. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13969

9. Ostovar R, Kiani F, Sayehmiri F, Yasemi M, Mohsenzadeh Y, Mohsenzadeh Y. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in Iran: a meta-analysis. *Electron Physician*. (2017) 9:5402–18. doi: 10.19082/5402

10. Kim Y, Je Y. Meat consumption and risk of metabolic syndrome: results from the Korean population and a Meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:390. doi: 10.3390/nu10040390

11. Prasad DS, Kabir Z, Dash AK, Das BC. Prevalence and risk factors for metabolic syndrome in Asian Indians: a community study from urban eastern India. *J Cardiovasc Dis Res.* (2012) 3:204–11. doi: 10.4103/0975-3583.98895

12. Miller JM, Kaylor MB, Johannsson M, Bay C, Churilla JR. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and individual criterion in US adolescents: 2001-2010 National Health and nutrition examination survey. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. (2014) 12:527–32. doi: 10.1089/met.2014.0055

13. Misra A, Khurana L. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in developing countries. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2008) 93:S9–S30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1595

14. Han TS, Lean ME. A clinical perspective of obesity, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. *JRSM Cardiovasc Dis.* (2016) 5:2048004016633371. doi: 10.1177/2048004016633371

15. Joshi V, Upadhyay A, Prajapati VK, Mishra A. How autophagy can restore proteostasis defects in multiple diseases? *Med Res Rev.* (2020) 40:1385–439. doi: 10.1002/med.21662

Author contributions

AD conceptualized the review. DD, GJ, and NRS wrote the manuscript. SP, AB, GJ, and AD corrected the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

16. Kaur R, Kaur M, Singh J. Endothelial dysfunction and platelet hyperactivity in type 2 diabetes mellitus: molecular insights and therapeutic strategies. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2018) 17:121. doi: 10.1186/s12933-018-0763-3

17. Park JH, Moon JH, Kim HJ, Kong MH, Oh YH. Sedentary lifestyle: overview of updated evidence of potential health risks. *Korean J Fam Med.* (2020) 41:365–73. doi: 10.4082/kjfm.20.0165

18. Kopp W. How Western diet and lifestyle drive the pandemic of obesity and civilization diseases. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes*. (2019) 12:2221–36. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S216791

19. O'Toole PW, Shiels PG. The role of the microbiota in sedentary lifestyle disorders and ageing: lessons from the animal kingdom. *J Intern Med.* (2020) 287:271–82. doi: 10.1111/joim.13021

20. Rohde K, Keller M, la Cour PL, Blüher M, Kovacs P, Böttcher Y. Genetics and epigenetics in obesity. *Metabolism.* (2019) 92:37–50. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.10.007

21. Blüher M. Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2019) 15:288–98. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0176-8

22. Sanghera DK, Bejar C, Sharma S, Gupta R, Blackett PR. Obesity genetics and cardiometabolic health: potential for risk prediction. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2019) 21:1088–100. doi: 10.1111/dom.13641

23. Misra A, Jayawardena R, Anoop S. Obesity in South Asia: phenotype, morbidities, and mitigation. *Curr Obes Rep.* (2019) 8:43–52. doi: 10.1007/s13679-019-0328-0

24. Wong A, Chen SQ, Halvorson BD, Frisbee JC. Microvessel density: integrating sex-based differences and elevated cardiovascular risks in metabolic syndrome. *J Vasc Res.* (2022) 59:1–15. doi: 10.1159/000518787

25. Cătoi AF, Pârvu AE, Andreicuț AD, Mironiuc A, Crăciun A, Cătoi C, et al. Metabolically healthy versus unhealthy morbidly obese: chronic inflammation, nitrooxidative stress, and insulin resistance. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1199. doi: 10.3390/ nu10091199

26. Kassi E, Pervanidou P, Kaltsas G, Chrousos G. Metabolic syndrome: definitions and controversies. *BMC Med.* (2011) 9:48. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-9-48

27. Grundy SM, Hansen B, Smith SC Jr, Cleeman JI, Kahn RA. Clinical management of metabolic syndrome: report of the American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Diabetes Association conference on scientific issues related to management. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2004) 24:e19–24. doi: 10.1161/01. ATV.0000112379.88385.67

28. Huang PL. A comprehensive definition for metabolic syndrome. *Dis Model Mech.* (2009) 2:231–7. doi: 10.1242/dmm.001180

29. Zhuo Q, Yang W, Chen J, Wang Y. Metabolic syndrome meets osteoarthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2012) 8:729–37. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2012.135

30. Cameron AJ, Boyko EJ, Sicree RA, Zimmet PZ, Söderberg S, Alberti KGMM, et al. Central obesity as a precursor to the metabolic syndrome in the AusDiab study and Mauritius. *Obesity*. (2008) 16:2707–16. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.412 31. Mittra S, Bansal VS, Bhatnagar PK. From a glucocentric to a lipocentric approach towards metabolic syndrome. *Drug Discov Today*. (2008) 13:211–8. doi: 10.1016/j. drudis.2008.01.006

32. Carmichael L, Keske MA, Betik AC, Parker L, Brayner B, Roberts-Thomson KM, et al. Is vascular insulin resistance an early step in diet-induced whole-body insulin resistance? *Nutr Diabetes*. (2022) 12:31. doi: 10.1038/s41387-022-00209-z

33. Sponton CH, de Lima-Junior JC, Leiria LO. What puts the heat on thermogenic fat: metabolism of fuel substrates. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 33:587–99. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2022.05.003

34. Li M, Chi X, Wang Y, Setrerrahmane S, Xie W, Xu H. Trends in insulin resistance: insights into mechanisms and therapeutic strategy. *Signal Transduct Target Ther*. (2022) 7:216. doi: 10.1038/s41392-022-01073-0

35. Kervezee L, Kosmadopoulos A, Boivin DB. Metabolic and cardiovascular consequences of shift work: the role of circadian disruption and sleep disturbances. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2020) 51:396–412. doi: 10.1111/ejn.14216

36. Shiferaw WS, Akalu TY, Gedefaw M, Anthony D, Kassie AM, Misganaw Kebede W, et al. Metabolic syndrome among type 2 diabetic patients in sub-Saharan African countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Metab Syndr*. (2020) 14:1403–11. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.07.013

37. Colvin BT. Physiology of haemostasis. Vox Sang. (2004) 87:43-6. doi: 10.1111/j. 1741-6892.2004.00428.x

38. Gepstein V, Weiss R. Obesity as the Main risk factor for metabolic syndrome in children. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:568. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00568

39. Kim JH, Moon JS, Byun SJ, Lee JH, Kang DR, Sung KC, et al. Fatty liver index and development of cardiovascular disease in Koreans without pre-existing myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke: a large population-based study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2020) 19:51. doi: 10.1186/s12933-020-01025-4

40. Möller-Leimkühler AM. Gender differences in cardiovascular disease and comorbid depression. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 9:71–83. doi: 10.31887/ DCNS.2007.9.1/ammoeller

41. Tertsunen HM, Hantunen S, Tuomainen TP, Virtanen JK. Healthy Nordic diet and risk of disease death among men: the Kuopio Ischaemic heart disease risk factor study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2020) 59:3545–53. doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02188-2

42. Nelson AJ, Peterson ED, Pagidipati NJ. Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease and heart failure: determinants of risk and outcomes in patients with diabetes. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* (2019) 62:306–14. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2019.07.001

43. Mahat RK, Singh N, Arora M, Rathore V. Health risks and interventions in prediabetes: a review. *Diabetes Metab Syndr*. (2019) 13:2803–11. doi: 10.1016/j. dsx.2019.07.041

44. Dal Canto E, Ceriello A, Rydén L, Ferrini M, Hansen TB, Schnell O, et al. Diabetes as a cardiovascular risk factor: an overview of global trends of macro and micro vascular complications. *Eur. Eur J Prev Cardiol.* (2019) 26:25–32. doi: 10.1177/2047487319878371

45. Schwartz B, Yehuda-Shnaidman E. Putative role of adipose tissue in growth and metabolism of colon cancer cells. *Front Oncol.* (2014) 4:164. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00164

46. Ahmed M, Kumari N, Mirgani Z, Saeed A, Ramadan A, Ahmed MH, et al. Metabolic syndrome; definition, pathogenesis, elements, and the effects of medicinal plants on it's elements. *J Diabetes Metab Disord*. (2022) 21:1011–22. doi: 10.1007/s40200-021-00965-2

47. Xiao F, Zhou YC, Zhang MB, Chen D, Peng SL, Tang HN, et al. Hyperglycemia and blood glucose deterioration are risk factors for severe COVID-19 with diabetes: a two-center cohort study. *J Med Virol*. (2022) 94:1967–75. doi: 10.1002/jmv.27556

48. Pedersen BK, Saltin B. Exercise as medicine - evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. (2015) 25:1–72. doi: 10.1111/sms.12581

49. Petrie JR, Guzik TJ, Touyz RM. Diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease: clinical insights and vascular mechanisms. *Can J Cardiol.* (2018) 34:575–84. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2017.12.005

50. Guerrero-García C, Rubio-Guerra AF. Combination therapy in the treatment of hypertension. *Drugs Context*. (2018) 7:212531. doi: 10.7573/dic.212531

51. Oger E, Kerbrat S, Nowak E, Paillard F, Scarabin PY, Happe A. Effectiveness of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers on total and cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in primary prevention: a nationwide study based on French health insurance data (SNDS). *J Clin Hypertens.* (2022) 24:438–48. doi: 10.1111/jch.14445

52. Miceli G, Basso MG, Rizzo G, Pintus C, Tuttolomondo A. The role of the coagulation system in peripheral arterial disease: interactions with the Arterial Wall and its vascular microenvironment and implications for rational therapies. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:14914. doi: 10.3390/ijms232314914

53. Azimova K, San Juan Z, Mukherjee D. Cardiovascular safety profile of currently available diabetic drugs. *Ochsner J.* (2014) 14:616–32.

54. Landmesser U, Hornig B, Drexler H. Endothelial function: a critical determinant in atherosclerosis? *Circulation*. (2004) 109:II27–33. doi: 10.1161/01. CIR.0000129501.88485.1f 55. Melikian N, Chowienczyk P, MacCarthy PA, Williams IL, Wheatcroft SB, Sherwood R, et al. Determinants of endothelial function in asymptomatic subjects with and without the metabolic syndrome. *Atherosclerosis.* (2008) 197:375–82. doi: 10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2007.06.009

56. López-Méndez I, Méndez-Maldonado K, Manzo-Francisco LA, Juárez-Hernández E, Uribe M, Barbero-Becerra VJ. G protein-coupled receptors: key molecules in metabolic associated fatty liver disease development. *Nutr Res.* (2021) 87:70–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2020.12.019

57. Kreslová M, Kirchnerová O, Rajdl D, Sudová V, Blažek J, Sýkorová A, et al. Bronchial asthma as a cardiovascular risk factor: a prospective observational study. *Biomedicine*. (2022) 10:2614. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10102614

58. Gao J, Pan X, Li G, Chatterjee E, Xiao J. Physical exercise protects against endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res.* (2022) 15:604–20. doi: 10.1007/s12265-021-10171-3

59. Losso JN. The potential of dietary bioactive compounds against SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Molecules*. (2022) 27:1623. doi: 10.3390/molecules27051623

60. Campinho P, Vilfan A, Vermot J. Blood flow forces in shaping the vascular system: a focus on endothelial cell behavior. *Front Physiol.* (2020) 11:552. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2020.00552

61. Mallick R, Duttaroy AK. Modulation of endothelium function by fatty acids. *Mol Cell Biochem.* (2022) 477:15–38. doi: 10.1007/s11010-021-04260-9

62. Scicchitano P, Cortese F, Gesualdo M, de Palo M, Massari F, Giordano P, et al. The role of endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress in cerebrovascular diseases. *Free Radic Res.* (2019) 53:579–95. doi: 10.1080/10715762.2019.1620939

63. Kullo IJ, Malik AR. Arterial ultrasonography and tonometry as adjuncts to cardiovascular risk stratification. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. (2007) 49:1413–26. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2006.11.039

64. Deanfield JE, Halcox JP, Rabelink TJ. Endothelial function and dysfunction: testing and clinical relevance. *Circulation*. (2007) 115:1285–95. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.652859

65. Festa A, D'Agostino R Jr, Mykkänen L, Tracy RP, Zaccaro DJ, Hales CN, et al. Relative contribution of insulin and its precursors to fibrinogen and PAI-1 in a large population with different states of glucose tolerance. The insulin resistance atherosclerosis study (IRAS). *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (1999) 19:562–8. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.19.3.562

 Deckert T, Feldt-Rasmussen B, Borch-Johnsen K, Jensen T, Kofoed-Enevoldsen A. Albuminuria reflects widespread vascular damage. *The Steno hypothesis Diabetologia*. (1989) 32:219–26. doi: 10.1007/BF00285287

67. You T, Nicklas BJ, Ding J, Penninx BWJH, Goodpaster BH, Bauer DC, et al. The metabolic syndrome is associated with circulating adipokines in older adults across a wide range of adiposity. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2008) 63:414–9. doi: 10.1093/gerona/63.4.414

68. Piatti PM, Monti LD, Conti M, Baruffaldi L, Galli L, Phan CV, et al. Hypertriglyceridemia and hyperinsulinemia are potent inducers of endothelin-1 release in humans. *Diabetes*. (1996) 45:316–21. doi: 10.2337/diab.45.3.316

69. LEONCINI G, RATTO E, VIAZZI F, VACCARO V, PARODI D, PARODI A, et al. Metabolic syndrome is associated with early signs of organ damage in nondiabetic, hypertensive patients. *J Intern Med.* (2005) 257:454–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2005.01468.x

70. Toggweiler S, Schoenenberger A, Urbanek N, Erne P. The prevalence of endothelial dysfunction in patients with and without coronary artery disease. *Clin Cardiol.* (2010) 33:746–52. doi: 10.1002/clc.20836

71. Feenstra RGT, Boerhout CKM, Woudstra J, Vink CEM, Wittekoek ME, de Waard GA, et al. Presence of coronary endothelial dysfunction, coronary vasospasm, and adenosine-mediated vasodilatory disorders in patients with ischemia and nonobstructive coronary arteries. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2022) 15:e012017. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCINTERVENTIONS.122.012017

72. Königstein K, Wagner J, Frei M, Knaier R, Klenk C, Carrard J, et al. Endothelial function of healthy adults from 20 to 91 years of age: prediction of cardiovascular risk by vasoactive range. *J Hypertens*. (2021) 39:1361–9. doi: 10.1097/HJH.000000000002798

73. Incalza MA, D'Oria R, Natalicchio A, Perrini S, Laviola L, Giorgino F. Oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species in endothelial dysfunction associated with cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. *Vasc Pharmacol.* (2018) 100:1–19. doi: 10.1016/j. vph.2017.05.005

74. Yi X, Zhu QX, Wu XL, Tan TT, Jiang XJ. Histone methylation and oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases. *Oxidative Med Cell Longev*. (2022) 2022:6023710. doi: 10.1155/2022/6023710

75. Ciarambino T, Crispino P, Giordano M. Hyperuricemia and endothelial function: is it a simple association or do gender differences play a role in this binomial? *Biomedicine*. (2022) 10:3067. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10123067

76. Bu Y, Peng M, Tang X, Xu X, Wu Y, Chen AF, et al. Protective effects of metformin in various cardiovascular diseases: clinical evidence and AMPK-dependent mechanisms. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2022) 26:4886–903. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.17519

77. Junho CVC, Trentin-Sonoda M, Panico K, dos Santos RSN, Abrahão MV, Vernier ICS, et al. Cardiorenal syndrome: long road between kidney and heart. *Heart Fail Rev.* (2022) 27:2137–53. doi: 10.1007/s10741-022-10218-w

78. Abi KC. The emerging role of epigenetics in cardiovascular disease. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis.* (2014) 5:178–87. doi: 10.1177/2040622314529325

79. Smith ZD, Meissner A. DNA methylation: roles in mammalian development. Nat Rev Genet. (2013) 14:204–20. doi: 10.1038/nrg3354

80. Smail HO. The epigenetics of diabetes, obesity, overweight and cardiovascular disease. *AIMS Genet.* (2019) 6:36–45. doi: 10.3934/genet.2019.3.36

81. Lin YH. MicroRNA networks modulate oxidative stress in Cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:4497. doi: 10.3390/ijms20184497

82. Jamwal S, Sharma S. Vascular endothelium dysfunction: a conservative target in metabolic disorders. *Inflamm Res.* (2018) 67:391–405. doi: 10.1007/s00011-018-1129-8

83. Rahimi N. Defenders and challengers of endothelial barrier function. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:1847. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01847

84. Park-Windhol C, D'Amore PA. Disorders of vascular permeability. Annu Rev Pathol. (2016) 11:251–81. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044506

85. Sun HJ, Hou B, Wang X, Zhu XX, Li KX, Qiu LY. Endothelial dysfunction and cardiometabolic diseases: role of long non-coding RNAs. *Life Sci.* (2016) 167:6–11. doi: 10.1016/j.Ifs.2016.11.005

86. Sitia S, Tomasoni L, Atzeni F, Ambrosio G, Cordiano C, Catapano A, et al. From endothelial dysfunction to atherosclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2010) 9:830-4. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2010.07.016

87. Fantin F, Giani A, Gasparini L, Rossi AP, Zoico E, Mazzali G, et al. Impaired subendocardial perfusion in patients with metabolic syndrome. *Diab Vasc Dis Res.* (2021) 18:147916412110471. doi: 10.1177/14791641211047135

88. Peyter AC, Armengaud JB, Guillot E, Yzydorczyk C. Endothelial progenitor cells dysfunctions and Cardiometabolic disorders: from mechanisms to therapeutic approaches. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:6667. doi: 10.3390/ijms22136667

89. Gora IM, Ciechanowska A, Ladyzynski P. NLRP3 Inflammasome at the Interface of inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, and type 2 diabetes. *Cells*. (2021) 10:314. doi: 10.3390/cells10020314

90. Benincasa G, Coscioni E, Napoli C. Cardiovascular risk factors and molecular routes underlying endothelial dysfunction: novel opportunities for primary prevention. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2022) 202:115108. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115108

91. Daryabor G, Atashzar MR, Kabelitz D, Meri S, Kalantar K. The effects of type 2 diabetes mellitus on organ metabolism and the immune system. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:1582. doi: 10.3389/fmmu.2020.01582

92. Sobha SP, Kesavarao KE. Contribution of glutathione-S-transferases polymorphism and risk of coronary artery diseases: a meta-analysis. *Curr Aging Sci.* (2022) 15:282–92. doi: 10.2174/1874609815666220304193925

93. Mallah MA, Changxing L, Mallah MA, Noreen S, Liu Y, Saeed M, et al. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon and its effects on human health: an overeview. *Chemosphere*. (2022) 296:133948. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.133948

94. Zaric B, Obradovic M, Trpkovic A, Banach M, Mikhailidis DP, Isenovic ER. Endothelial dysfunction in dyslipidaemia: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications. *Curr Med Chem.* (2020) 27:1021–40. doi: 10.217 4/0929867326666190903112146

95. Ugwoke CK, Cvetko E, Umek N. Skeletal muscle microvascular dysfunction in obesity-related insulin resistance: pathophysiological mechanisms and therapeutic perspectives. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:847. doi: 10.3390/ijms23020847

96. Esposito L, Cancro FP, Silverio A, di Maio M, Iannece P, Damato A, et al. COVID-19 and acute coronary syndromes: from pathophysiology to clinical perspectives. *Oxidative Med Cell Longev*. (2021) 2021:1–13. doi: 10.1155/2021/4936571

97. Title LM, Lonn E, Charbonneau F, Fung M, Mather KJ, Verma S, et al. Relationship between brachial artery flow-mediated dilatation, hyperemic shear stress, and the metabolic syndrome. *Vasc Med.* (2008) 13:263–70. doi: 10.1177/1358863X08095154

98. Bahia L, Aguiar LG, Villela N, Bottino D, Godoy-Matos AF, Geloneze B, et al. Adiponectin is associated with improvement of endothelial function after rosiglitazone treatment in non-diabetic individuals with metabolic syndrome. *Atherosclerosis*. (2007) 195:138–46. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2006.09.003

99. Kim JA, Montagnani M, Koh KK, Quon MJ. Reciprocal relationships between insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction: molecular and pathophysiological mechanisms. *Circulation.* (2006) 113:1888–904. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.563213

100. Digby JE, Lee JM, Choudhury RP. Nicotinic acid and the prevention of coronary artery disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2009) 20:321–6. doi: 10.1097/MOL.0b013e32832d3b9d

101. Beazer JD, Freeman DJ. Estradiol and HDL function in women - a Partnership for Life. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2022) 107:e2192-4. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab811

102. Blanco-Colio LM, Martín-Ventura JL, de Teresa E, Farsang C, Gaw A, Gensini GF, et al. Elevated ICAM-1 and MCP-1 plasma levels in subjects at high cardiovascular risk are diminished by atorvastatin treatment. Atorvastatin on inflammatory markers study: a substudy of achieve cholesterol targets fast with atorvastatin stratified titration. *Am Heart J.* (2007) 153:881–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2007.02.029

103. Oesterle A, Laufs U, Liao JK. Pleiotropic effects of statins on the cardiovascular system. *Circ Res.* (2017) 120:229–43. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308537

104. Liu Y, Huang F, Xu J, Yang P, Qin Y, Cao M, et al. Anti-hypertensive angiotensin II receptor blockers associated to mitigation of disease severity in elderly COVID-19 patients. *MedRxiv*. (2020) 2020:2020–03.

105. Silva IVG, de Figueiredo RC, Rios DRA. Effect of different classes of antihypertensive drugs on endothelial function and inflammation. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:3458. doi: 10.3390/ijms20143458

106. Triggle CR, Ding H, Marei I, Anderson TJ, Hollenberg MD. Why the endothelium? The endothelium as a target to reduce diabetes-associated vascular disease. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (2020) 98:415–30. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2019-0677

107. Sattar N, Rawshani A, Franzén S, Rawshani A, Svensson AM, Rosengren A, et al. Age at diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus and associations with cardiovascular and mortality risks. *Circulation*. (2019) 139:2228–37. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.118.037885

108. Penninx BWJH, Lange SMM. Metabolic syndrome in psychiatric patients: overview, mechanisms, and implications. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*. (2018) 20:63–73. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2018.20.1/bpenninx

109. Chimonas T, Karagiannis A, Athyros VG, Achimastos A, Elisaf M, Panagiotakos DB. Blood pressure levels constitute the most important determinant of the metabolic syndrome in a Mediterranean population: a discrimination analysis. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. (2010) 8:523–9. doi: 10.1089/met.2010.0023

110. Mancia G, Bombelli M, Corrao G, Facchetti R, Madotto F, Giannattasio C, et al. Metabolic syndrome in the Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate E Loro Associazioni (PAMELA) study: daily life blood pressure, cardiac damage, and prognosis. *Hypertension*. (2007) 49:40–7. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000251933.22091.24

111. Schillaci G, Pirro M, Vaudo G, Gemelli F, Marchesi S, Porcellati C, et al. Prognostic value of the metabolic syndrome in essential hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2004) 43:1817–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2003.12.049

112. Pannier B, Thomas F, Bean K, Jégo B, Benetos A, Guize L. The metabolic syndrome: similar deleterious impact on all-cause mortality in hypertensive and normotensive subjects. *J Hypertens*. (2008) 26:1223–8. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3282fd9936

113. Cuspidi C, Facchetti R, Bombelli M, Sala C, Tadic M, Grassi G, et al. Risk of new-onset metabolic syndrome associated with white-coat and masked hypertension: data from a general population. *J Hypertens*. (2018) 36:1833–9. doi: 10.1097/HJH.000000000001767

114. Kjeldsen SE, Naditch-Brule L, Perlini S, Zidek W, Farsang C. Increased prevalence of metabolic syndrome in uncontrolled hypertension across Europe: the global Cardiometabolic risk profile in patients with hypertension disease survey. *J Hypertens*. (2008) 26:2064–70. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32830c45c3

115. Athyros VG, Mikhailidis DP. High incidence of metabolic syndrome further increases cardiovascular risk in patients with type 2 diabetes. Implications for everyday practice. *J Diabetes Complicat*. (2016) 30:9–11. doi: 10.1016/j. jdiacomp.2015.07.012

116. Mohammed Nawi A, Mohammad Z, Jetly K, Abd Razak MA, Ramli NS, Wan Ibadullah WAH, et al. The prevalence and risk factors of hypertension among the urban population in southeast Asian countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Hypertens*. (2021) 2021:1–14. doi: 10.1155/2021/6657003

117. Lunyera J, Kirenga B, Stanifer JW, Kasozi S, van der Molen T, Katagira W, et al. Geographic differences in the prevalence of hypertension in Uganda: results of a national epidemiological study. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0201001. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0201001

118. Cutler JA, Sorlie PD, Wolz M, Thom T, Fields LE, Roccella EJ. Trends in hypertension prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control rates in United States adults between 1988–1994 and 1999-2004. *Hypertension*. (2008) 52:818–27. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.113357

119. Park S, Lee S, Kim Y, Lee Y, Kang MW, Han K, et al. Altered risk for cardiovascular events with changes in the metabolic syndrome status: a Nationwide population-based study of approximately 10 million persons. *Ann Intern Med.* (2019) 171:875–84. doi: 10.7326/M19-0563

120. Krzemińska J, Wronka M, Młynarska E, Franczyk B, Rysz J. Arterial hypertension-oxidative stress and inflammation. *Antioxidants*. (2022) 11:172. doi: 10.3390/antiox11010172

121. Liguori I, Russo G, Curcio F, Bulli G, Aran L, Della-Morte D, et al. Oxidative stress, aging, and diseases. *Clin Interv Aging*. (2018) 13:757–72. doi: 10.2147/CIA. \$158513

122. Dayeh NR, Ledoux J, Dupuis J. Lung capillary stress failure and arteriolar Remodelling in pulmonary hypertension associated with left heart disease (group 2 PH). *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* (2016) 59:11–21. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2016.05.002

123. Kolluru GK, Shackelford RE, Shen X, Dominic P, Kevil CG. Sulfide regulation of cardiovascular function in health and disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2023) 20:109–25. doi: 10.1038/s41569-022-00741-6

124. Higashi Y. Roles of oxidative stress and inflammation in vascular endothelial dysfunction-related disease. *Antioxidants*. (2022) 11:1958. doi: 10.3390/antiox11101958

125. Arif M, Sadayappan S, Becker RC, Martin LJ, Urbina EM. Epigenetic modification: a regulatory mechanism in essential hypertension. *Hypertens Res.* (2019) 42:1099–113. doi: 10.1038/s41440-019-0248-0

126. Giurgescu C, Nowak AL, Gillespie S, Nolan TS, Anderson CM, Ford JL, et al. Neighborhood environment and DNA methylation: implications for cardiovascular disease risk. *J Urban Health.* (2019) 96:23–34. doi: 10.1007/s11524-018-00341-1

127. Dhoble S, Patravale V, Weaver E, Lamprou DA, Patravale T. Comprehensive review on novel targets and emerging therapeutic modalities for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Int J Pharm*. (2022) 621:121792. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2022.121792

128. Cortese F, Cecere A, Maria Cortese A, Andriani A, Truncellito L, Valente F, et al. Vascular, cardiac and renal target organ damage associated to arterial hypertension: which noninvasive tools for detection? *J Hum Hypertens*. (2020) 34:420–31. doi: 10.1038/s41371-020-0307-7

129. Savoia C, Burger D, Nishigaki N, Montezano A, Touyz RM. Angiotensin II and the vascular phenotype in hypertension. *Expert Rev Mol Med.* (2011) 13:e11. doi: 10.1017/S1462399411001815

130. Belmonte SL, Blaxall BC. G protein coupled receptor kinases as therapeutic targets in cardiovascular disease. *Circ Res.* (2011) 109:309–19. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.231233

131. Zubcevic J, Waki H, Raizada MK, Paton JF. Autonomic-immune-vascular interaction: an emerging concept for neurogenic hypertension. *Hypertension*. (2011) 57:1026–33. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.169748

132. Muller DN, Kvakan H, Luft FC. Immune-related effects in hypertension and target-organ damage. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. (2011) 20:113–7. doi: 10.1097/MNH.0b013e3283436f88

133. Sugamura K, Keaney JF Jr. Reactive oxygen species in cardiovascular disease. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2011) 51:978–92. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.05.004

134. Puddu P, Puddu GM, Cravero E, Rosati M, Muscari A. The molecular sources of reactive oxygen species in hypertension. *Blood Press.* (2008) 17:70–7. doi: 10.1080/08037050802029954

135. al Ghouleh I, Khoo NK, Knaus UG, Griendling KK, Touyz RM, Thannickal VJ, et al. Oxidases and peroxidases in cardiovascular and lung disease: new concepts in reactive oxygen species signaling. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2011) 51:1271–88. doi: 10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2011.06.011

136. Zinkevich NS, Gutterman DD. ROS-induced ROS release in vascular biology: redox-redox signaling. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2011) 301:H647–53. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01271.20101

137. Liang S, Yegambaram M, Wang T, Wang J, Black SM, Tang H. Mitochondrial metabolism, redox, and calcium homeostasis in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Biomedicine*. (2022) 10:341. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10020341

138. Stys PK, Tsutsui S. Recent advances in understanding multiple sclerosis. *F1000Res.* (2019) 8:F1000 Faculty Rev-2100. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.20906.1

139. Touyz RM, Schiffrin EL. A compendium on hypertension: new advances and future impact. *Circ Res.* (2021) 128:803–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.319181

140. Mancusi C, Izzo R, di Gioia G, Losi MA, Barbato E, Morisco C. Insulin resistance the hinge between hypertension and type 2 diabetes. *High Blood Press Cardiovasc Prev.* (2020) 27:515–26. doi: 10.1007/s40292-020-00408-8

141. Katsimardou A, Imprialos K, Stavropoulos K, Sachinidis A, Doumas M, Athyros V. Hypertension in metabolic syndrome: novel insights. *Curr Hypertens Rev.* (2020) 16:12–8. doi: 10.2174/1573402115666190415161813

142. Brouwers S, Sudano I, Kokubo Y, Sulaica EM. Arterial hypertension. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:249–61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00221-X

143. Savaré L, Rea F, Corrao G, Mancia G. Use of initial and subsequent antihypertensive combination treatment in the last decade: analysis of a large Italian database. *J Hypertens*. (2022) 40:1768–75. doi: 10.1097/HJH.000000000003215

144. Hall JE, Do Carmo JM, Da Silva AA, Wang Z, Hall ME. Obesity, kidney dysfunction and hypertension: mechanistic links. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2019) 15:367–85. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0145-4

145. Cognasse F, Laradi S, Berthelot P, Bourlet T, Marotte H, Mismetti P, et al. Platelet inflammatory response to stress. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1478. doi: 10.3389/fmmu.2019.01478

146. Venter C, Bezuidenhout JA, Laubscher GJ, Lourens PJ, Steenkamp J, Kell DB, et al. Erythrocyte, platelet, serum ferritin, and P-selectin pathophysiology implicated in severe Hypercoagulation and vascular complications in COVID-19. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:8234. doi: 10.3390/ijms21218234

147. Manz XD, Szulcek R, Pan X, Symersky P, Dickhoff C, Majolée J, et al. Epigenetic modification of the von Willebrand factor promoter drives platelet aggregation on the pulmonary endothelium in chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2022) 205:806–18. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202109-2075OC

148. Ciavarella A, Gnocchi D, Custodero C, Lenato GM, Fiore G, Sabbà C, et al. Translational insight into prothrombotic state and hypercoagulation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Thromb Res.* (2021) 198:139–50. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.12.002

149. Zermatten MG, Fraga M, Moradpour D, Bertaggia Calderara D, Aliotta A, Stirnimann G, et al. Hemostatic alterations in patients with cirrhosis: from primary hemostasis to fibrinolysis. *Hepatology*. (2020) 71:2135–48. doi: 10.1002/hep.31201

150. van Oosterom N, Barras M, Bird R, Nusem I, Cottrell N. A narrative review of aspirin resistance in VTE prophylaxis for Orthopaedic surgery. *Drugs*. (2020) 80:1889–99. doi: 10.1007/s40265-020-01413-w

151. Maurin N. The role of platelets in atherosclerosis, diabetes mellitus, and chronic kidney disease. An attempt at explaining the TREAT study results: Ein Versuch, die Resultate der TREAT-Studie zu erklären. *Med Klin.* (2010) 105:339–44. doi: 10.1007/s00063-010-1062-2

152. Senchenkova EY, Ansari J, Becker F, Vital SA, Al-Yafeai Z, Sparkenbaugh EM, et al. Novel role for the AnxA1-Fpr2/ALX signaling axis as a key regulator of platelet function to promote resolution of inflammation. *Circulation*. (2019) 140:319–35. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.039345

153. Bray PF. Platelet hyperreactivity: predictive and intrinsic properties. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am.* (2007) 21:633–vi. doi: 10.1016/j.hoc.2007.06.002

154. Kurrelmeyer K, Becker L, Becker D, Yanek L, Goldschmidt-Clermont P, Bray PF. Platelet hyperreactivity in women from families with premature atherosclerosis. *J Am Med Womens Assoc* (1972). 2003;58:272–277.

155. Khwairakpam AD, Banik K, Girisa S, Shabnam B, Shakibaei M, Fan L, et al. The vital role of ATP citrate lyase in chronic diseases. *J Mol Med.* (2020) 98:71–95. doi: 10.1007/s00109-019-01863-0

156. Gu SX, Dayal S. Redox mechanisms of platelet activation in aging. *Antioxidants*. (2022) 11:995. doi: 10.3390/antiox11050995

157. Masselli E, Pozzi G, Vaccarezza M, Mirandola P, Galli D, Vitale M, et al. ROS in platelet biology: functional aspects and methodological insights. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:4866. doi: 10.3390/ijms21144866

158. Chirkov YY, Nguyen TH, Horowitz JD. Impairment of anti-aggregatory responses to nitric oxide and prostacyclin: mechanisms and clinical implications in cardiovascular disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:1042. doi: 10.3390/ijms23031042

159. Sharifi-Rad M, Anil Kumar NV, Zucca P, Varoni EM, Dini L, Panzarini E, et al. Lifestyle, oxidative stress, and antioxidants: back and forth in the pathophysiology of chronic diseases. *Front Physiol.* (2020) 11:694. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00694

160. Maués JHDS, Aquino Moreira-Nunes CF, Rodriguez Burbano RM. MicroRNAs as a potential quality measurement tool of platelet concentrate stored in blood banks-a review. *Cells.* (2019) 8:1256. doi: 10.3390/cells8101256

161. Neu CT, Gutschner T, Haemmerle M. Post-transcriptional expression control in platelet biogenesis and function. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:7614. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21207614

162. das D, Adhikary S, das RK, Banerjee A, Radhakrishnan AK, Paul S, et al. Bioactive food components and their inhibitory actions in multiple platelet pathways. *J Food Biochem.* (2022) 46:e14476. doi: 10.1111/jfbc.14476

163. Freedman JE. Oxidative stress and platelets. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2008) 28:s11-6. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.159178

164. Danese E, Montagnana M, Gelati M, Lippi G. The role of epigenetics in the regulation of hemostatic balance. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* (2021) 47:53–62. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1718400

165. Eslam M, George J. Genetic contributions to NAFLD: leveraging shared genetics to uncover systems biology. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020) 17:40–52. doi: 10.1038/s41575-019-0212-0

166. Lancellotti S, Sacco M, Basso M, De Cristofaro R. Mechanochemistry of von Willebrand factor. *Biomol Concepts*. (2019) 10:194–208. doi: 10.1515/bmc-2019-0022

167. van der Meijden PEJ, Heemskerk JWM. Platelet biology and functions: new concepts and clinical perspectives. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2019) 16:166–79. doi: 10.1038/s41569-018-0110-0

168. Assinger A, Schrottmaier WC, Salzmann M, Rayes J. Platelets in Sepsis: an update on experimental models and clinical data. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1687. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01687

169. Szczuko M, Kozioł I, Kotlęga D, Brodowski J, Drozd A. The role of thromboxane in the course and treatment of ischemic stroke: review. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:11644. doi: 10.3390/ijms222111644

170. Smith CW, Thomas SG, Raslan Z, Patel P, Byrne M, Lordkipanidzé M, et al. Mice lacking the inhibitory collagen receptor LAIR-1 exhibit a mild thrombocytosis and hyperactive platelets. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2017) 37:823–35. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309253

171. Barale C, Russo I. Influence of Cardiometabolic risk factors on platelet function. Int J Mol Sci. (2020) 21:623. doi: 10.3390/ijms21020623

172. Meng D, Luo M, Liu B. The role of CLEC-2 and its ligands in thromboinflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:688643. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.688643

173. Rochette L, Dogon G, Rigal E, Zeller M, Cottin Y, Vergely C. Involvement of oxidative stress in protective cardiac functions of calprotectin. *Cells*. (2022) 11:1226. doi: 10.3390/cells11071226

174. Baskaran S, Finelli R, Agarwal A, Henkel R. Reactive oxygen species in male reproduction: a boon or a bane? *Andrologia*. (2021) 53:e13577. doi: 10.1111/and.13577

175. O'Kennedy N, Duttaroy AK. Platelet hyperactivity in COVID-19: can the tomato extract Fruitflow[®] be used as an antiplatelet regime? *Med Hypotheses*. (2021) 147:110480. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110480

176. Gusev E, Sarapultsev A, Hu D, Chereshnev V. Problems of pathogenesis and Pathogenetic therapy of COVID-19 from the perspective of the general theory of pathological systems (general pathological processes). *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:7582. doi: 10.3390/ijms22147582

177. Mallat Z, Hugel B, Ohan J, Lesèche G, Freyssinet JM, Tedgui A. Shed membrane microparticles with procoagulant potential in human atherosclerotic plaques: a role for apoptosis in plaque thrombogenicity. *Circulation*. (1999) 99:348–53. doi: 10.1161/01. cir.99.3.348

178. Suades R, Padró T, Vilahur G, Badimon L. Circulating and platelet-derived microparticles in human blood enhance thrombosis on atherosclerotic plaques. *Thromb Haemost.* (2012) 108:1208–19. doi: 10.1160/TH12-07-0486

179. Van Der Meijden PE, Van Schilfgaarde M, Van Oerle R, Renné T, ten Cate H, Spronk HM. Platelet- and erythrocyte-derived microparticles trigger thrombin generation via factor XIIa. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2012) 10:1355–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04758.x

180. Khatana C, Saini NK, Chakrabarti S, Sharma A, Kaushal A, Siwal SS, et al. Mechanistic insights into the oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced atherosclerosis. *Oxidative Med Cell Longev.* (2020) 2020:5245308. doi: 10.1155/2020/5245308

181. Siracusa DS, Dipaola ROSANNA, Cuzzocrea S. Neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in the traumatic brain injury and in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases: modulation by nutritional Supplementation.

182. Stasko J, Holly P, Kubisz P. A new decade awaits sticky platelet syndrome: where are we now, how do we manage and what are the complications? *Expert Rev Hematol.* (2022) 15:53–63. doi: 10.1080/17474086.2022.2030217

183. Corrie L, Gulati M, Singh SK, Kapoor B, Khursheed R, Awasthi A, et al. Recent updates on animal models for understanding the etiopathogenesis of polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Life Sci.* (2021) 280:119753. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119753

184. Yalameha B, Nejabati HR, Nouri M. Circulating microparticles as indicators of cardiometabolic risk in PCOS. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2022) 533:63–70. doi: 10.1016/j. cca.2022.06.019

185. Orbe J, Rodríguez JA, Calvayrac O, Rodríguez-Calvo R, Rodríguez C, Roncal C, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-10 is upregulated by thrombin in endothelial cells and increased in patients with enhanced thrombin generation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:2109–16. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.194589

186. Koenig-Oberhuber V, Filipovic M. New antiplatelet drugs and new oral anticoagulants. *Br J Anaesth*. (2016) 117:ii74-ii84. doi: 10.1093/bja/aew214

187. Oprea AD, Popescu WM. Perioperative management of antiplatelet therapy. Br J Anaesth. (2013) 111:i3–i17. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet402

188. Behera SK, Xavier AS, Selvarajan S, Munuswamy H, Haridasan S, Srinivas BH. Acenocoumarol as an alternative anticoagulant in a patient with warfarin-related nephropathy. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2018) 84:1068–71. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13541

189. Weitz JI, Lensing AWA, Prins MH, Bauersachs R, Beyer-Westendorf J, Bounameaux H, et al. Rivaroxaban or aspirin for extended treatment of venous thromboembolism. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:1211–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700518

190. Zhou X, Wu X, Sun H, Li J. Efficacy and safety of eptifibatide versus tirofiban in acute coronary syndrome patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Evid Based Med.* (2017) 10:136–44. doi: 10.1111/jebm.12253

191. Abete I, Goyenechea E, Zulet MA, Martínez JA. Obesity and metabolic syndrome: potential benefit from specific nutritional components. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2011) 21:B1–B15. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2011.05.001

192. Rochlani Y, Pothineni NV, Kovelamudi S, Mehta JL. Metabolic syndrome: pathophysiology, management, and modulation by natural compounds. *Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis.* (2017) 11:215–25. doi: 10.1177/1753944717711379

193. Gao Q, Xu L, Cai J. New drug targets for hypertension: a literature review. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis.* (2021) 1867:166037. doi: 10.1016/j. bbadis.2020.166037

194. Achari AE, Jain SK. Adiponectin, a therapeutic target for obesity, diabetes, and endothelial dysfunction. Int J Mol Sci. (2017) 18:1321. doi: 10.3390/ijms18061321

195. Botta M, Audano M, Sahebkar A, Sirtori CR, Mitro N, Ruscica M. PPAR agonists and metabolic syndrome: an established role? *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:1197. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19041197

196. Steven S, Münzel T, Daiber A. Exploiting the pleiotropic antioxidant effects of established drugs in cardiovascular disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2015) 16:18185–223. doi: 10.3390/ijms160818185

197. Georgescu A, Pluteanu F, Flonta ML, Badila E, Dorobantu M, Popov D. The cellular mechanisms involved in the vasodilator effect of nebivolol on the renal artery. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2005) 508:159–66. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2004.11.043

198. Broeders MA, Doevendans PA, Bekkers BC, Bronsaer R, van Gorsel E, Heemskerk JW, et al. Nebivolol: a third-generation beta-blocker that augments vascular nitric oxide release: endothelial beta(2)-adrenergic receptor-mediated nitric oxide production. *Circulation*. (2000) 102:677–84. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.102.6.677

199. Oelze M, Daiber A, Brandes RP, Hortmann M, Wenzel P, Hink U, et al. Nebivolol inhibits superoxide formation by NADPH oxidase and endothelial dysfunction in angiotensin II-treated rats. *Hypertension*. (2006) 48:677–84. doi: 10.1161/01. HYP.0000239207.82326.29

200. Fratta Pasini A, Garbin U, Nava MC, Stranieri C, Davoli A, Sawamura T, et al. Nebivolol decreases oxidative stress in essential hypertensive patients and increases nitric oxide by reducing its oxidative inactivation. *J Hypertens.* (2005) 23:589–96. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000160216.86597.ff

201. Greenberg B, Butler J, Felker GM, Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Pogoda JM, et al. Prevalence of AAV1 neutralizing antibodies and consequences for a clinical trial of gene transfer for advanced heart failure. *Gene Ther.* (2016) 23:313–9. doi: 10.1038/gt.2015.109

202. Neves KB, Rios FJ, van der Mey L, Alves-Lopes R, Cameron AC, Volpe M, et al. VEGFR (vascular endothelial growth factor receptor) inhibition induces cardiovascular damage via redox-sensitive processes. *Hypertension*. (2018) 71:638–47. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.10490

203. Hartikainen J, Hassinen I, Hedman A, Kivelä A, Saraste A, Knuuti J, et al. Adenoviral intramyocardial VEGF-D Δ N Δ C gene transfer increases myocardial perfusion reserve in refractory angina patients: a phase I/IIa study with 1-year follow-up. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2547–55. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx352

204. Rupaimoole R, Slack FJ. MicroRNA therapeutics: towards a new era for the management of cancer and other diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2017) 16:203–22. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.246

205. Leisegang MS, Schröder K, Brandes RP. Redox regulation and noncoding RNAs. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2018) 29:793–812. doi: 10.1089/ars.2017.7276

206. Li Z, Rana TM. Therapeutic targeting of microRNAs: current status and future challenges. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2014) 13:622–38. doi: 10.1038/nrd4359

207. Bernardo BC, Gao XM, Winbanks CE, Boey EJH, Tham YK, Kiriazis H, et al. Therapeutic inhibition of the miR-34 family attenuates pathological cardiac remodeling and improves heart function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2012) 109:17615–20. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1206432109

208. Castro-Barquero S, Ruiz-León AM, Sierra-Pérez M, Estruch R, Casas R. Dietary strategies for metabolic syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:2983. doi: 10.3390/nu12102983

209. Mozaffarian D. Dietary and policy priorities for cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and obesity: a comprehensive review. *Circulation*. (2016) 133:187–225. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018585

210. McGuire S. Scientific report of the 2015 dietary guidelines advisory committee. Washington, DC: US Departments of agriculture and health and human services, 2015. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:202–4. doi: 10.3945/an.115.011684

211. Franquesa M, Pujol-Busquets G, García-Fernández E, Rico L, Shamirian-Pulido L, Aguilar-Martínez A, et al. Mediterranean diet and Cardiodiabesity: a systematic review through evidence-based answers to key clinical questions. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:655. doi: 10.3390/nu11030655

212. Di Daniele N, Noce A, Vidiri MF, Moriconi E, Marrone G, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, et al. Impact of Mediterranean diet on metabolic syndrome, cancer and longevity. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:8947–79. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13553

213. Lăcătușu CM, Grigorescu ED, Floria M, Onofriescu A, Mihai BM. The Mediterranean diet: from an environment-driven food culture to an emerging medical prescription. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2019) 16:942. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16060942

214. Storniolo CE, Sacanella I, Mitjavila MT, Lamuela-Raventos RM, Moreno JJ. Bioactive compounds of cooked tomato sauce modulate oxidative stress and arachidonic acid Cascade induced by oxidized LDL in macrophage cultures. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1880. doi: 10.3390/nu11081880

215. Davis C, Bryan J, Hodgson J, Murphy K. Definition of the Mediterranean diet; a literature review. *Nutrients*. (2015) 7:9139–53. doi: 10.3390/nu7115459

216. Chiva-Blanch G, Badimon L. Effects of polyphenol intake on metabolic syndrome: current evidences from human trials. *Oxidative Med Cell Longev*. (2017) 2017:5812401. doi: 10.1155/2017/5812401

217. Widmer RJ, Flammer AJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A. The Mediterranean diet, its components, and cardiovascular disease. *Am J Med.* (2015) 128:229–38. doi: 10.1016/j. amjmed.2014.10.014

218. Gotsis E, Anagnostis P, Mariolis A, Vlachou A, Katsiki N, Karagiannis A. Health benefits of the Mediterranean diet: an update of research over the last 5 years. *Angiology*. (2015) 66:304–18. doi: 10.1177/0003319714532169

219. Pérez-Martínez P, Mikhailidis DP, Athyros VG, Bullo M, Couture P, Covas MI, et al. Lifestyle recommendations for the prevention and management of metabolic syndrome: an international panel recommendation. *Nutr Rev.* (2017) 75:307–26. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nux014

220. Sleiman D, Al-Badri MR, Azar ST. Effect of mediterranean diet in diabetes control and cardiovascular risk modification: a systematic review. *Front Public Health*. (2015) 3:69. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2015.00069

221. Brown AA, Hu FB. Dietary modulation of endothelial function: implications for cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. (2001) 73:673-86. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/73.4.673

222. Man AWC, Li H, Xia N. Impact of lifestyles (diet and exercise) on vascular health: oxidative stress and endothelial function. *Oxidative Med Cell Longev*. (2020) 2020:1496462. doi: 10.1155/2020/1496462

223. Bazzano LA, Green T, Harrison TN, Reynolds K. Dietary approaches to prevent hypertension. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2013) 15:694–702. doi: 10.1007/s11906-013-0390-z

224. Ge L, Sadeghirad B, Ball GDC, da Costa BR, Hitchcock CL, Svendrovski A, et al. Comparison of dietary macronutrient patterns of 14 popular named dietary programmes for weight and cardiovascular risk factor reduction in adults: systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised trials [published correction appears in BMJ. 2020;370:m3095]. *BMJ*. (2020) 369:m696. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m696

225. Akhlaghi M. Dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH): potential mechanisms of action against risk factors of the metabolic syndrome. *Nutr Res Rev.* (2020) 33:1–18. doi: 10.1017/S0954422419000155

226. Kahleova H, Levin S, Barnard N. Cardio-metabolic benefits of plant-based diets. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:848. doi: 10.3390/nu9080848

227. Kim H, Caulfield LE, Rebholz CM. Healthy plant-based diets are associated with lower risk of all-cause mortality in US adults. *J Nutr.* (2018) 148:624–31. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy019

228. Satija A, Hu FB. Plant-based diets and cardiovascular health. Trends Cardiovasc Med. (2018) 28:437–41. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2018.02.004

229. Tresserra-Rimbau A, Arranz S, Vallverdu-Queralt A. New insights into the benefits of polyphenols in chronic diseases. *Oxidative Med Cell Longev*. (2017) 2017:1432071. doi: 10.1155/2017/1432071

230. Das RK, Datta T, Biswas D, Duss R, O'Kennedy N, Duttaroy AK. Evaluation of the equivalence of different intakes of Fruitflow in affecting platelet aggregation and thrombin generation capacity in a randomized, double-blinded pilot study in male subjects. *BMC Nutr.* (2021) 7:80. doi: 10.1186/s40795-021-00485-5

231. O'Kennedy N, Duss R, Duttaroy AK. Dietary Antiplatelets: a new perspective on the health benefits of the water-soluble tomato concentrate Fruitflow[®]. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:2184. doi: 10.3390/nu13072184

232. O'Kennedy N, Crosbie L, Song HJ, Zhang X, Horgan G, Duttaroy AK. A randomised controlled trial comparing a dietary antiplatelet, the water-soluble tomato extract Fruitflow, with 75 mg aspirin in healthy subjects. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 71:723–30. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2016.222

233. Vignini A, Nanetti L, Raffaelli F, Sabbatinelli J, Salvolini E, Quagliarini V, et al. Effect of 1-y oral supplementation with vitaminized olive oil on platelets from healthy postmenopausal women. *Nutrition*. (2017) 42:92–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2017.06.013

234. Tejada S, Pinya S, Del Mar BM, Tur JA, Pons A, Sureda A. Cardioprotective effects of the polyphenol Hydroxytyrosol from olive oil. *Curr Drug Targets*. (2017) 18:1477–86. doi: 10.2174/1389450117666161005150650

235. Irfan M, Kim M, Rhee MH. Anti-platelet role of Korean ginseng and ginsenosides in cardiovascular diseases. J Ginseng Res. (2020) 44:24-32. doi: 10.1016/j.jgr.2019.05.005

236. Maheswaraiah A, Rao LJ, Naidu KA. Anti-platelet activity of water dispersible curcuminoids in rat platelets. *Phytother Res.* (2015) 29:450–8. doi: 10.1002/ptr.5274

237. Rahman K, Lowe GM, Smith S. Aged garlic extract inhibits human platelet aggregation by altering intracellular signaling and platelet shape change. *J Nutr.* (2016) 146:410S-5S. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.202408

238. Aggarwal BB. Targeting inflammation-induced obesity and metabolic diseases by curcumin and other nutraceuticals. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2010) 30:173–99. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.012809.104755

239. Gómez-Arbeláez D, Lahera V, Oubiña P, Valero-Muñoz M, de Las Heras N, Rodríguez Y, et al. Aged garlic extract improves adiponectin levels in subjects with metabolic syndrome: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, crossover study. *Mediat Inflamm.* (2013) 2013:285795. doi: 10.1155/2013/285795

240. Bremer AA. Resveratrol use in metabolic syndrome. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. (2014) 12:493–5. doi: 10.1089/met.2014.1505

241. Pfeuffer M, Auinger A, Bley U, Kraus-Stojanowic I, Laue C, Winkler P, et al. Effect of quercetin on traits of the metabolic syndrome, endothelial function and inflammation in men with different APOE isoforms. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2013) 23:403–9. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2011.08.010

242. Song MY, Kim EK, Moon WS, Park JW, Kim HJ, So HS, et al. Sulforaphane protects against cytokine- and streptozotocin-induced beta-cell damage by suppressing the NF-kappaB pathway. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2009) 235:57–67. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2008.11.007

243. Silva LR, Jacinto TA, Coutinho P. Bioactive compounds from cardoon as health promoters in metabolic disorders. *Foods*. (2022) 11:336. doi: 10.3390/foods11030336

244. Na LX, Li Y, Pan HZ, et al. Curcuminoids exert glucose-lowering effect in type 2 diabetes by decreasing serum free fatty acids: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2013) 57:1569–77. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201200131

245. Xu J, Fu Y, Chen A. Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma contributes to the inhibitory effects of curcumin on rat hepatic stellate cell growth. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2003) 285:G20–30. doi: 10.1152/ ajpgi.00474.2002

246. Padiya R, Khatua TN, Bagul PK, Kuncha M, Banerjee SK. Garlic improves insulin sensitivity and associated metabolic syndromes in fructose fed rats. *Nutr Metab.* (2011) 8:53. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-8-53

247. Reinhart KM, Talati R, White CM, Coleman CI. The impact of garlic on lipid parameters: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Res Rev.* (2009) 22:39–48. doi: 10.1017/S0954422409350003

248. Chen K, Nakasone Y, Yi S, Ibrahim HR, Sakao K, Hossain MA, et al. Natural garlic organosulfur compounds prevent metabolic disorder of lipid and glucose by increasing gut commensal *Bacteroides acidifaciens*. J Agric Food Chem. (2022) 70:5829–37. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.2c00555

249. Chen S, Zhao X, Ran L, et al. Resveratrol improves insulin resistance, glucose and lipid metabolism in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Dig Liver Dis.* (2015) 47:226–32. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2014.11.015

250. Méndez-del Villar M, González-Ortiz M, Martínez-Abundis E, Pérez-Rubio KG, Lizárraga-Valdez R. Effect of resveratrol administration on metabolic syndrome, insulin sensitivity, and insulin secretion. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. (2014) 12:497–501. doi: 10.1089/met.2014.0082

251. Su M, Zhao W, Xu S, Weng J. Resveratrol in treating diabetes and its cardiovascular complications: a review of its mechanisms of action. *Antioxidants.* (2022) 11:1085. doi: 10.3390/antiox11061085

252. Boots AW, Haenen GR, Bast A. Health effects of quercetin: from antioxidant to nutraceutical. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2008) 585:325–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.03.008

253. Anand David AV, Arulmoli R, Parasuraman S. Overviews of biological importance of quercetin: a bioactive flavonoid. *Pharmacogn Rev.* (2016) 10:84–9. doi: 10.4103/0973-7847.194044

254. Kim GT, Lee SH, Kim JI, Kim YM. Quercetin regulates the sestrin 2-AMPK-p38 MAPK signaling pathway and induces apoptosis by increasing the generation of intracellular ROS in a p53-independent manner. *Int J Mol Med.* (2014) 33:863–9. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2014.1658

255. Rivera L, Morón R, Sánchez M, Zarzuelo A, Galisteo M. Quercetin ameliorates metabolic syndrome and improves the inflammatory status in obese Zucker rats. *Obesity*. (2008) 16:2081–7. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.315

256. de Souza CG, Sattler JA, de Assis AM, Rech A, Perry ML, Souza DO. Metabolic effects of sulforaphane oral treatment in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. *J Med Food*. (2012) 15:795–801. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2012.0016

257. de Figueiredo SM, Binda NS, Nogueira-Machado JA, Vieira-Filho SA, Caligiorne RB. The antioxidant properties of organosulfur compounds (sulforaphane). *Recent Pat Endocr Metab Immune Drug Discov.* (2015) 9:24–39. doi: 10.217 4/1872214809666150505164138

258. Negi G, Kumar A, Sharma SS. Nrf2 and NF-κB modulation by sulforaphane counteracts multiple manifestations of diabetic neuropathy in rats and high glucoseinduced changes. *Curr Neurovasc Res.* (2011) 8:294–304. doi: 10.2174/156720211798120972

259. Zhang Z, Wang S, Zhou S, Yan X, Wang Y, Chen J, et al. Sulforaphane prevents the development of cardiomyopathy in type 2 diabetic mice probably by reversing oxidative stress-induced inhibition of LKB1/AMPK pathway. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* (2014) 77:42–52. doi: 10.1016/j.yimcc.2014.09.022

260. Xu L, Nagata N, Ota T. Impact of glucoraphanin-mediated activation of Nrf2 on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease with a focus on mitochondrial dysfunction. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:5920. doi: 10.3390/ijms20235920

261. Choi KM, Lee YS, Kim W, et al. Sulforaphane attenuates obesity by inhibiting adipogenesis and activating the AMPK pathway in obese mice. *J Nutr Biochem*. (2014) 25:201–207. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2013.10.007

262. Axelsson AS, Tubbs E, Mecham B, Chacko S, Nenonen HA, Tang Y, et al. Sulforaphane reduces hepatic glucose production and improves glucose control in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. aah4477

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jose Atilio Canas, Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital, United States

REVIEWED BY Thomas Remer, University of Bonn, Germany Shahab Alizadeh, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

*CORRESPONDENCE Nazila Garousi I garousinazila1@gmail.com

RECEIVED 02 June 2023 ACCEPTED 28 July 2023 PUBLISHED 11 August 2023

CITATION

Al-Hawary SIS, Mushabab F, Abullais SS, Althomali RH, Saleh EAM, Alnajjar SN, Oudaha KH, Romero-Parra RM, Hussien BM and Garousi N (2023) Metabolic syndrome in relation to dietary acid load: a dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. *Eront Nutr* 10:1233746

doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1233746

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Al-Hawary, Mushabab, Abullais, Althomali, Saleh, Alnajjar, Oudaha, Romero-Parra, Hussien and Garousi. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Metabolic syndrome in relation to dietary acid load: a doseresponse meta-analysis of observational studies

Sulieman Ibraheem Shelash Al-Hawary¹, Faris Mushabab², Shahabe Saquib Abullais³, Raed H. Althomali⁴, Ebraheem Abdu Musad Saleh⁴, Serar Nassir Alnajjar⁵, Khulood H. Oudaha⁶, Rosario Mireya Romero-Parra⁷, Beneen M. Hussien⁸ and Nazila Garousi⁹*

¹Department of Business Administration, Business School, Al al-Bayt University, Mafraq, Jordan, ²Department of Periodontics, Albaha University, Al Bahah, Saudi Arabia, ³Department of Periodontics and Community Dental Sciences, College of Dentistry, King Khalid University, Abha, Saudi Arabia, ⁴Department of Chemistry, College of Arts and Science, Prince Sattam Bin Abdulaziz University, Wadi Al-Dawasir, Saudi Arabia, ⁵College of Dentistry, Al-Bayan University, Baghdad, Iraq, ⁶Pharmaceutical Chemistry Department, College of Pharmacy, Al-Ayen University, Nasiriyah, Iraq, ⁷Department of General Studies, Universidad Continental, Lima, Peru, ⁸Medical Laboratory Technology Department, College of Medical Technology, The Islamic University, Najaf, Iraq, ⁹Department of Clinical Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Science, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Background and aim: Several studies have identified that dietary acid load (DAL) may be associated with the odds of metabolic syndrome (MetS); however, the evidence is inconclusive. This dose-response meta-analysis aimed to examine the relation of DAL to MetS.

Methods: A systematic literature search was carried out in PubMed and Scopus up to April 2023 for pertinent studies evaluating the relation of DAL scores, including potential renal acid load (PRAL) and net endogenous acid production (NEAP), to the odds of MetS. The odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were pooled using a random-effects meta-analysis to test the association.

Results: Eight studies, with an overall sample size of 31,351 participants, were included in this meta-analysis. Higher DAL scores were significantly related to the elevated odds of MetS (NEAP: OR = 1.42, 95%CI = 1.12–1.79; PRAL: OR = 1.76, 95%CI = 1.11–2.78), with significant evidence of heterogeneity across studies. The linear dose–response analysis proposed that a 10 mEq/day elevation in NEAP and PRAL was linked to a 2% (OR = 1.02, 95%CI = 1.001–1.05) and 28% (OR = 1.28, 95%CI = 1.11–1.47) increased odds of MetS, respectively. No non-linear association was observed between MetS and NEAP (P-non-linearity = 0.75) and PRAL (P-non-linearity = 0.92).

Conclusion: This study revealed a significant direct relationship between DAL and MetS. Therefore, lower acidogenic diets are suggested for the prevention of MetS.

KEYWORDS

dietary acid load, NEAP, PRAL, metabolic syndrome, meta-analysis

1. Introduction

Metabolic syndrome (MetS), characterized by a cluster of metabolic abnormalities including insulin resistance, obesity, dyslipidemia, and hypertension, has become a prominent concern worldwide, owing to its prevalence and association with chronic diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes, and stroke (1-3). Genetics and environmental factors are both involved in the etiology of this disorder (4). Given its high prevalence and adverse health consequences, it is essential to identify preventive approaches against MetS.

Evidence has suggested the contribution of numerous dietary factors to the development of MetS; however, the focus should be on the dietary patterns rather than on single food items/ingredients as dietary patterns yield the whole effect of diet by considering the complex interactions between various food components (5-7). In recent years, the role of dietary acid load (DAL), as measured by the net endogenous acid production (NEAP) and potential renal acid load (PRAL), has been of particular interest. NEAP and PRAL reflect the dietary content of acid-or base-forming compounds that may affect the acid-base balance in the body (8). The PRAL is computed based on the dietary consumption of magnesium, potassium, phosphorous, calcium, and protein, while NEAP is computed using the intakes of potassium and total protein, which partly play a role in metabolic acidosis (9). A diet high in animal protein and grains and low in fruits and vegetables typically leads to a high acid load (8). Diet has been demonstrated to be a leading contributor to variations in endogenous acid production in different people (10).

Although associations between DAL and individual features of MetS have been reported, evidence regarding the link between DAL and the overall odds of MetS is scarce and highly controversial (11– 13). The relation of DAL to MetS may differ by race, gender, geographic region, and other demographic features of various populations. Therefore, this meta-analysis aims to summarize the current evidence on the association between DAL, defined by NEAP and PRAL, and the odds of MetS.

2. Materials and methods

This meta-analysis was implemented by following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyzes (PRISMA) protocols (14).

2.1. Search strategy

We performed a systematic literature search with no language restriction through the Scopus and PubMed databases to find all pertinent studies published up to April 2023. The search strategy was as follows: (((((((((("Dietary acid load"[Title/Abstract]) OR ("dietary acid-base load"[Title/Abstract])) OR ("dietary acidity"[Title/ Abstract])) OR ("net acid load"[Title/Abstract])) OR ("acid excretion"[Title/Abstract])) OR ("potential renal acid load"[Title/ Abstract])) OR (PRAL [Title/Abstract])) OR ("net endogenous acid production"[Title/Abstract])) OR (NEAP [Title/Abstract])) OR ("protein to potassium ratio"[Title/Abstract])) OR ("protein/ potassium ratio"[Title/Abstract])) OR ("potential renal acid load"[Title/Abstract])) AND ((("Metabolic Syndrome"[Mesh]) OR (metabolic syndrome [Title/Abstract])) OR (insulin resistance syndrome [Title/Abstract])). The reference lists of the associated publications were also screened manually to evade missing any study.

2.2. Inclusion criteria

For the present meta-analysis, publications were expected to meet all the following criteria to be eligible for inclusion: (1) observational studies (prospective, case–control, or cross-sectional) investigating the relation of DAL, assessed by NEAP or PRAL (15, 16), to MetS; (2), studied reported odds ratios (OR), relative risk (RR), or hazard ratios (HR) and their 95% confidence intervals (CI) (or provided sufficient data to calculate them) for the relations of DAL indices, NEAP or PRAL, to the odds of MetS. We excluded reviews, letters, comments, conference papers, animal studies, and studies with irrelevant exposure/outcome during the screening of studies.

2.3. Data extraction and quality assessment

Data were extracted by two independent reviewers with the use of a standardized data extraction form, and inconsistencies were resolved by discussion among all authors. The following information was obtained from each publication: first author, publication year, type of exposure (NEAP or PRAL), mean or range of age, total sample size, number of MetS cases, gender, type of study, country, method of dietary assessment, the definition used for the diagnosis of MetS, confounder variables adjusted for in analyzes, and effect sizes (OR, RR, or HR with their 95%CI). If a publication applied both NEAP and PRAL for the evaluation of DAL, both effect sizes for NEAP and PRAL were extracted separately. When necessary, we contacted the corresponding authors to obtain publications. The quality of the studies was evaluated with the use of the Newcastle–Ottawa scale (NOS), in which scores of 0–3, 4–6, and 7–9 were considered as low, moderate, and high quality, respectively (17).

2.4. Statistical analysis

The included studies reported effect sizes for the associations in various models; for the present meta-analysis, we obtained the ORs and 95%CIs in the highest category of NEAP or PRAL scores, compared to the lowest category, in the most adjusted model. The ORs and 95%CIs in the highest vs. lowest N tiles of DAL were used as effect size in the meta-analysis to compute the pooled effect for the association. Heterogeneity across the studies was measured with the use of the Q-statistics and I^2 values, and $I^2 > 50\%$ or p < 0.1 were considered as statistically significant evidence of heterogeneity (18, 19). Because of the anticipated heterogeneity, data were pooled by the DerSimonian-Laird random-effects model (20). To instigate possible sources of heterogeneity, subgroup analysis by definition of MetS and the sex of participants was performed. Using the two-stage generalized least-squares trend estimation approach, a linear dose-response metaanalysis, as reported by Greenland and Longnecker (21), was carried out for the odds of MetS associated with each increment of 10 mEq/ day in NEAP and PRAL. To obtain the overall average slope, study-specific slope lines were first computed, and these lines were then blended using a random-effects model (22). To investigate non-linear associations, restricted cubic splines for each study with \geq 3 categories of exposure were computed with the use of three fixed knots at 10, 50, and 90% through the total distribution of reported exposure, then combined with the use of multivariate meta-analysis (23–25). The distribution of cases and non-cases, the mean or median of the NEAP or PRAL scores, and the ORs with the 95%CIs for at least three exposure categories were needed for the dose–response analysis. Publication bias was also evaluated by funnel plots and Egger's test (26, 27). All statistical analyzes were performed with the Stata software (version 14). p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant for the relation of NEAP and PRAL to MetS.

3. Results

3.1. Characteristics of studies

The systematic literature search yielded a total of 210 publications. Of these, 47 studies were duplicates, and 139 studies were irrelevant based on the titles/abstracts, and these were thus excluded. The full texts of 24 potentially pertinent publications were reviewed, and finally, a total of eight studies (8, 9, 11–13, 28–30), with 31,351 participants, published from 2015 to 2022, were included in the meta-analysis according to the inclusion criteria. The study by Arisawa et al. reported the results for men and women separately; thus, two effect sizes were extracted from this study (8). The flow diagram of the study selection is reported in Figure 1. All studies were cross-sectional in design. Among the studies, five were performed in Iran (9, 12, 28–30),

two were performed in Japan (8, 11), and one was from Italy (13). All analyzed studies reported effect sizes that were controlled for the potential covariate except for the study by Sanz et al. (13), which was based on a crude analysis without adjustment for confounders. The effect sizes for NEAP and PRAL were available in seven studies (with eight effect sizes) (8, 9, 11, 13, 28-30) and seven studies (9, 11-13, 28-30), respectively. Two publications reported effect sizes only for women (9, 12), one only for men (28), four for the combination of both genders (11, 13, 29, 30), and one for men and women separately (8). Dietary assessment was based on a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) in seven studies (8, 9, 12, 13, 28-30) and a diet history questionnaire in one study (11). The definition of MetS was based on the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP ATP III) in five studies (9, 12, 13, 28, 29), Joint Interim Statement Criteria (JIS) of 2009 in two studies (8, 11), and International Diabetes Federation (IDF) in one study (30). The quality of the included studies was moderate to high, with NOS scores ranging from 7 to 9 (Supplementary Table S1). The characteristics of the studies are presented in Table 1.

3.2. Findings from the meta-analysis

Among seven studies investigating the relation of NEAP to the odds of MetS, four studies (8, 11, 13, 28) identified a significant direct association between diets with high NEAP and odds of MetS. On the other hand, two studies (11, 13) out of seven studies on PRAL found a positive significant relationship between high PRAL and MetS. In the pooled analysis of available evidence by the random-effects model, a significant association between MetS and



10.3389/fnut.2023.1233746

TABLE 1 Characteristics of included studies.

| Author | Year | Study design | Location | Sex | No. of participants | Cases | Age (mean <u>+</u> sd or range) | Exposure type | Exposure assessment | MetS diagnosis | Adjustment |
|-------------------------|------|---------------------|----------|--------------|------------------------|-------|---------------------------------------|------------------|-------------------------------|--|---|
| Arisawa et al. | 2020 | Cross- sectional | Japan | Men Women | 14,042 | 3,155 | 35–69 | NEAP | FFQ | Joint Interim Statement Criteria of 2009 | Adjusted for age, study site, smoking and drinking habits, physical activity level, total energy intake, and school career, plus nutrient pattern (fiber, iron, potassium, and vitamins pattern) scores |
| Sanz et al. | 2022 | Cross- sectional | Italy | Both | 448 | 74 | 55-80 | NEAP PRAL | FFQ | NCEP ATP III | Crude |
| Iwase et al. | 2015 | Cross- sectional | Japan | Both | 149 | 67 | 65.7±9.3 | NEAP PRAL | Diet history questionnaire | Joint Interim Statement Criteria of 2009 | Adjusted for age, sex, serum uric acid and creatinine, total energy intake, carbohydrate intake, and sodium intake |
| Jafari et al. | 2021 | Cross- sectional | Iran | Men | 357 | NR | >60 years | NEAP PRAL | FFQ | NCEP ATP III | Adjusted for age, smoking, physical activity, socioeconomic status, marital status, energy, disease, anti- diabetic drugs, thyroid drugs, and heart disease drugs |
| Mozaffari et al. | 2019 | Cross- sectional | Iran | Women | 371 | NR | 20-50 | NEAP PRAL | FFQ | NCEP ATP III | Adjusted for energy intake, age, marital status, socioeconomic status, and BMI |
| Rezazadegan et al. | 2022 | Cross- sectional | Iran | Both | 203 | 79 | 12 to 18 y | NEAP PRAL | FFQ | IDF | Adjusted for age, sex, energy intake, physical activity, socioeconomic status, and BMI |
| Tangestani et al. | 2022 | Cross- sectional | Iran | Women | 246 | 79 | 36.49±8.38 | PRAL | FFQ | NCEP ATP III | Adjusted for age, physical activity, and socio-economic, marital, and education status |
| Mohammadifard et al. | 2020 | Cross- sectional | Iran | Both | 1,430 | 205 | 38.70±10.66 | NEAP PRAL | FFQ | NCEP ATP III | Adjusted for age, physical activity, and BMI |

BMI, body mass index; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; NEAP, net endogenous acid production; PRAL, potential renal acid load; NCEPATP III, National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III; IDF, International Diabetes Federation.



Forest plot of the pooled data for the association between high dietary acid load (based on NEAP) and odds of metabolic syndrome.



the indices of the dietary acid load was detected [NEAP: OR = 1.42, 95%CI = 1.12–1.79 (Figure 2); PRAL: OR = 1.76, 95%CI = 1.11–2.78 (Figure 3)]. There was significant evidence of heterogeneity across studies (NEAP: I^2 = 56.4%, p = 0.02; PRAL: I^2 = 52.4%, p = 0.05). In the linear dose–response meta-analysis, each 10 mEq/day increment in NEAP and PRAL was linked to a 2% (OR = 1.02, 95%CI = 1.001–1.05) and 28% (OR = 1.28, 95%CI = 1.11–1.47) increased odds of MetS, respectively (Figure 4). No evidence for a non-linear relationship was observed for NEAP (P-non-linearity = 0.75) and PRAL (P-non-linearity = 0.92) (Figure 5). The funnel plots revealed a remarkable asymmetry, with significant publication bias in studies on NEAP (Egger's test p = 0.02) and PRAL (Egger's test p = 0.03) (Figure 6).

3.2.1. Subgroup analysis

In the subgroup analysis by definition of MetS (Supplementary Figure S1) and the sex of participants

(Supplementary Figure S2), the association of NEAP with MetS was supported by studies with NCEP ATPII definition for MetS (OR=2.53, 95%CI=1.003-6.43) and studies on both genders (OR=1.65, 95%CI=1.01-2.70), but not in men and women subgroups, as well as in studies with JIS and IDF criteria for MetS. Moreover, PRAL was significantly linked to the odds of MetS based on the JIS definition for MetS (OR=2.22, 95%CI=1.01-4.78) (Supplementary Figure S3) and in women (OR=3.17, 95%CI=1.31-7.65; Supplementary Figure S4).

3.2.2. Sensitivity analysis

In the sensitivity analysis, by removing single studies step by step from the main analysis, no individual study significantly affected the pooled effect sizes for the relation of NEAP and MetS (Supplementary Figure S5), showing the reliability of the findings; however, the sensitivity analysis remarkably affected the relation of PRAL to MetS (Supplementary Figure S6).





4. Discussion

The present meta-analysis aimed to investigate the relation of DAL to the odds of MetS. The results identified that higher DAL measured by PRAL and NEAP is significantly associated with elevated odds of MetS. There was a 28 and 2% elevated odds of MetS for each 10 mEq/day increment in PRAL and NEAP, respectively.

Diet is a main environmental factor influencing the odds of MetS (31). Recently, epidemiological evidence has suggested that DAL may play a role in MetS (28). Nevertheless, the available evidence in this regard is contradictory. Iwase et al. identified that, in Japanese patients

with type 2 diabetes, higher scores for NEAP and PRAL were linked to the elevated prevalence of MetS (11). In contrast, four crosssectional investigations on the Iranian population found no relationship between DAL and MetS (9, 12, 29, 30). In agreement with our findings, the study by Arisawa et al. on 14,042 men and 14,105 women revealed that metabolic acidosis, defined by high NEAP, is significantly related to increased odds of MetS (8). Recent metaanalyzes have also demonstrated a close direct relationship between DAL and single components of MetS, including increased obesity (32), impaired glucose metabolism (10), hypertension (33), and dyslipidemia (32), supporting our findings that a diet with a higher Al-Hawary et al.



DAL may impair metabolic health. The diverging findings of previous studies might result from differences in gender, sociodemographic characteristics of the populations, and the sample size of the studies. Moreover, the varying results may be due to the high differences in the range of PRAL and NEAP across the available evidence. In the present meta-analysis, the strength of association between PRAL with MetS was stronger than NEAP. It has been recognized that PRAL is a more precise indicator of DAL since, in contrast to the NEAP score, which only takes dietary intake of protein and potassium into account, the PRAL score considers dietary intake of protein and several micronutrients, phosphorus, potassium, magnesium, and calcium, as well as the rate at which the nutrients are absorbed in the intestinal border (34). As a result, PRAL is a better predictor of the impacts of diet acidity on health outcomes (10, 35).

Regarding underlying biological mechanisms, high DAL values may be linked to the development of MetS through several interlinked mechanisms, including chronic low-grade inflammation (36), mineral imbalances (37), alterations of the gut microbiota (38), and insulin resistance (39). Chronic low-grade inflammation is a critical component of the pathogenesis of MetS (40). Acidic diets have been reported to induce inflammation by increasing the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), activating the toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling pathway, and promoting the infiltration of immune cells into adipose tissue (28, 41). The inflammation may further aggravate MetS components such as insulin resistance, hypertension, and dyslipidemia (42). High DAL has been shown to induce insulin resistance, a central process contributing to MetS, by impairing insulin signaling pathways and promoting inflammation and oxidative stress (43). Furthermore, in response to acidic diets, the body releases cortisol (44), a stress hormone that inhibits insulin action, induces lipase activity, and promotes gluconeogenesis, leading to hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and hypertriglyceridemia (9, 45). The production of acids in the body increases hydrogen ion concentration, leading to a decrease in pH. To neutralize this acidity, the body utilizes alkaline reserves such as bicarbonate, calcium, and magnesium (29, 37). Acidic diets, which are high in animal protein and low in fruits and vegetables (46), tend to decrease the pH of the blood and urine, causing the depletion of alkaline reserves. Such mineral imbalances impair insulin action, disrupt lipid metabolism, and elevate blood pressure, all of which are components of MetS (8, 47). Lastly, a diet with high acidity may lead to dysbiosis of the gut microbiota (38), which has been linked to inflammation, insulin resistance, and dyslipidemia as components of MetS (38, 48). Another mechanism that leads to MetS in response to higher DAL is mediated by increasing adiposity (49), a fundamental component involved in the pathogenesis of all MetS components (9). Accordingly, reducing the intake of acid-forming dietary factors such as animal-based foods, which are high in Western diets, and increasing the consumption of alkaline-forming food items such as fruit, vegetable, potassium, calcium, and magnesium may help prevent or manage MetS (28, 50). Further research is needed to elucidate the mechanisms underlying the association between DAL and MetS and to develop appropriate interventions to mitigate the odds of this disease.

To the best of our knowledge, this was the first meta-analysis evaluating the relation of DAL to MetS. Both NEAP and PRAL scores, as indicators of DAL, were used to analyze the associations with the outcome. We also performed linear and non-linear dose-response analyzes to better understand the pattern of the relationship between DAL and MetS. Despite these strengths, some limitations of our study should be declared. First, all the included publications were crosssectional in design, and causal inference could not be obtained from the results. While the analyzed data were obtained from large population-based publications with satisfactory quality, prospective and clinical trial studies are required to confirm our findings. Second, there was a remarkable heterogeneity across the studies. This heterogeneity may result from differences in the dietary assessment tools, criteria used to define MetS, genetic background, the level of adjustment for covariates, study population characteristics, and differences in FFQ items in the various populations. Third, significant evidence of publication bias was observed for studies on NEAP and PRAL; our search was limited to English-language publications, which may mean that some studies were ignored. Fourth, even though the majority of the studies controlled the results for potential confounders, residual and unknown confounding factors still might have influenced the findings. Fifth, the included studies were from limited geographic regions (Iran, Japan, and Italy); therefore, the pooled results might not be expandable to all populations. Sixth, calculations of DAL indices were based on self-reported retrospective questionnaires, which are at risk of recall bias. Moreover, the results of the subgroup analyzes should be interpreted with caution because of the small number of the included studies in each subgroup. Sensitivity analysis also revealed that the relation of PRAL to MetS was remarkably affected by single

studies, reducing the stability of the results. However, the results were stable for NEAP in the sensitivity analysis. Lastly, DAL is more reliable when diets supply the recommended dietary allowance of protein (0.8 g/kg body weight). In the case of extremely low intake of protein, PRAL would take negative scores; in such a condition, negative scores for PRAL are not representative of an alkaline situation but indicate an unhealthy condition. The included studies did not consider the sufficiency of dietary protein intake and thus may be at risk of an inaccurate estimation of diet-related acidosis.

5. Conclusion

The results of the present meta-analysis propose that high DAL is related to the increased prevalence of MetS. Additional studies, particularly prospective cohort and clinical trials, are needed to elucidate the association between DAL and MetS and to reveal the underlying mechanisms.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

SA-H, FM, SSA, NG, and RA: conceptualization and software. ES, NG, SNA, KO, and RR-P: methodology. BH, NG, FM, SNA, and SSA:

References

1. Askari M, Dehghani A, Abshirini M, Raeisi T, Alizadeh S. Glycemic index, but not glycemic load, is associated with an increased risk of metabolic syndrome: Meta-analysis of observational studies, vol. 75. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Online Library (2021). e14295 p.

2. Alizadeh S, Ahmadi M, Ghorbani Nejad B, Djazayeri A, Shab-Bidar S. Metabolic syndrome and its components are associated with increased chronic kidney disease risk: evidence from a meta-analysis on 11 109 003 participants from 66 studies. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2018) 72:e13201. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13201

3. Rashidbeygi E, Safabakhsh M, Mohammed SH, Alizadeh S. Metabolic syndrome and its components are related to a higher risk for albuminuria and proteinuria: evidence from a meta-analysis on 10, 603, 067 subjects from 57 studies. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev.* (2019) 13:830–43. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2018.12.006

4. Razi B, Alizadeh S, Omidkhoda A, Imani D, Rezaei R. Association of chronic hepatitis B infection with metabolic syndrome and its components: meta-analysis of observational studies. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev.* (2017) 11:S939–47. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2017.07.020

5. Mohseni R, Abbasi S, Mohseni F, Rahimi F, Alizadeh S. Association between dietary inflammatory index and the risk of prostate cancer: a meta-analysis. *Nutr Cancer*. (2019) 71:359–66. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2018.1516787

6. Alizadeh S, Shab-Bidar S, Mohtavinejad N, Djafarian K. A posteriori dietary patterns and risk of pancreatic and renal cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Food Sci.* (2017) 47:839–68. doi: 10.1108/NFS-03-2017-0053

7. Alizadeh S, Djafarian K, Alizadeh M, Shab-Bidar S. The relation of healthy and Western dietary patterns to the risk of endometrial and ovarian cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res.* (2019) 90:365–75. doi: 10.1024/0300-9831/a000514

8. Arisawa K, Katsuura-Kamano S, Uemura H, Van Tien N, Hishida A, Tamura T, et al. Association of dietary acid load with the prevalence of metabolic syndrome among participants in baseline survey of the Japan multi-institutional collaborative cohort study. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1605. doi: 10.3390/nu12061605

9. Mozaffari H, Namazi N, Larijani B, Bellissimo N, Azadbakht L. Association of dietary acid load with cardiovascular risk factors and the prevalence of metabolic

validation. NG, BH, FM, and RR-P: formal analysis. SA-H, RA, ES, and KO: investigation. SA-H, FM, SSA, RA, ES, and KO: data curation and writing–original draft preparation. SNA, NG, BH, and RR-P: writing–review and editing. SA-H: visualization and project administration. SA-H and NG: supervision and funding acquisition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1233746/ full#supplementary-material

syndrome in Iranian women: a cross-sectional study. Nutrition. (2019) 67-68:110570. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2019.110570

10. Dehghan P, Abbasalizad FM. Dietary acid load, blood pressure, fasting blood sugar and biomarkers of insulin resistance among adults: findings from an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2020) 74:e13471. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13471

11. Iwase H, Tanaka M, Kobayashi Y, Wada S, Kuwahata M, Kido Y, et al. Lower vegetable protein intake and higher dietary acid load associated with lower carbohydrate intake are risk factors for metabolic syndrome in patients with type 2 diabetes: post-hoc analysis of a cross-sectional study. *J Diabetes Investig.* (2015) 6:465–72. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12326

12. Tangestani H, Emamat H, Tavakoli A, Ghalandari H, Keshavarz SA, Yekaninejad MS, et al. Association of dietary acid load with metabolic syndrome in overweight and obese women: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res.* (2021) 2021:748. doi: 10.1024/0300-9831/a000748

13. Sanz JM, Sergi D, Colombari S, Capatti E, Situlin R, Biolo G, et al. Dietary acid load but not Mediterranean diet adherence score is associated with metabolic and cardiovascular health state: a population observational study from northern Italy. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:9. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.828587

14. Parums DV. Review articles, systematic reviews, meta-analysis, and the updated preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) 2020 guidelines. *Med Sci Monit.* (2021) 27:e934475–1. doi: 10.12659/MSM.934475

15. Remer T, Manz F. Potential renal acid load of foods and its influence on urine pH. J Am Diet Assoc. (1995) 95:791–7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00219-7

16. Remer T, Dimitriou T, Manz F. Dietary potential renal acid load and renal net acid excretion in healthy, free-living children and adolescents. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2003) 77:1255–60. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/77.5.1255

17. Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. *The Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses.* 2. Ottawa: Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, pp. 1–12. (2011).

18. Emami MR, Khorshidi M, Zarezadeh M, Safabakhsh M, Rezagholizadeh F, Alizadeh S. Acute effects of caffeine ingestion on glycemic indices: a systematic review

and meta-analysis of clinical trials. Complement Ther Med. (2019) 44:282–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2019.05.003

19. Mozaffari H, Ajabshir S, Alizadeh S. Dietary approaches to stop hypertension and risk of chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Clin Nutr.* (2020) 39:2035–44. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2019.10.004

20. DerSimonian R, Kacker R. Random-effects model for meta-analysis of clinical trials: an update. *Contemp Clin Trials*. (2007) 28:105–14. doi: 10.1016/j. cct.2006.04.004

21. Greenland S, Longnecker MP. Methods for trend estimation from summarized dose-response data, with applications to meta-analysis. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1992) 135:1301–9. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116237

22. Jackson D, White IR, Thompson SG. Extending DerSimonian and Laird's methodology to perform multivariate random effects meta-analyses. *Stat Med.* (2010) 29:1282–97. doi: 10.1002/sim.3602

23. Harre FE Jr, Lee KL, Pollock BG. Regression models in clinical studies: determining relationships between predictors and response. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (1988) 80:1198–202. doi: 10.1093/jnci/80.15.1198

24. Orsini N, Bellocco R, Greenland S. Generalized least squares for trend estimation of summarized dose-response data. *Stata J.* (2006) 6:40–57. doi: 10.1177/1536867X0600600103

25. Mohseni R, Mohammed SH, Safabakhsh M, Mohseni F, Monfared ZS, Seyyedi J, et al. Birth weight and risk of cardiovascular disease incidence in adulthood: a doseresponse meta-analysis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* (2020) 22:1–13. doi: 10.1007/ s11883-020-0829-z

26. Egger M, Smith GD, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ*. (1997) 315:629–34. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629

27. Mohseni R, Mohseni F, Alizadeh S, Abbasi S. The association of dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet with the risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutr Cancer.* (2020) 72:778–90. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2019.1651880

28. Jafari A, Ghanbari M, Shahinfar H, Bellissimo N, Azadbakht L. The association between dietary acid load with cardiometabolic risk factors and inflammatory markers amongst elderly men: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2021) 75:e14109. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.14109

29. Mohammadifard N, Karimi G, Khosravi A, Sarrafzadegan N, Jozan M, Zahed P, et al. High dietary acid load score is not associated with the risk of metabolic syndrome in Iranian adults. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res.* (2021) 91:152–63. doi: 10.1024/0300-9831/a000626

30. Rezazadegan M, Mirzaei S, Asadi A, Akhlaghi M, Saneei P. Association between dietary acid load and metabolic health status in overweight and obese adolescents. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:10799. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-15018-8

31. Babio N, Bulló M, Basora J, Martínez-González M, Fernández-Ballart J, Márquez-Sandoval F, et al. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and risk of metabolic syndrome and its components. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2009) 19:563–70. doi: 10.1016/j. numecd.2008.10.007

32. Abbasalizad Farhangi M, Nikniaz L, Nikniaz Z. Higher dietary acid load potentially increases serum triglyceride and obesity prevalence in adults: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0216547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0216547

33. Parohan M, Sadeghi A, Nasiri M, Maleki V, Khodadost M, Pirouzi A, et al. Dietary acid load and risk of hypertension: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis

of observational studies. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. (2019) 29:665-75. doi: 10.1016/j. numecd.2019.03.009

34. Fagherazzi G, Vilier A, Bonnet F, Lajous M, Balkau B, Boutron-Ruault M-C, et al. Dietary acid load and risk of type 2 diabetes: the E3N-EPIC cohort study. *Diabetologia*. (2014) 57:313–20. doi: 10.1007/s00125-013-3100-0

35. Michaud DS, Troiano RP, Subar AF, Runswick S, Bingham S, Kipnis V, et al. Comparison of estimated renal net acid excretion from dietary intake and body size with urine pH. J Am Diet Assoc. (2003) 103:1001–7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(03)00469-3

36. Galland L. Diet and inflammation. Nutr Clin Pract. (2010) 25:634-40. doi: 10.1177/0884533610385703

37. Rylander R, Remer T, Berkemeyer S, Vormann J. Acid-base status affects renal magnesium losses in healthy, elderly persons. *J Nutr.* (2006) 136:2374–7. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.9.2374

38. Singh RK, Chang H-W, Yan D, Lee KM, Ucmak D, Wong K, et al. Influence of diet on the gut microbiome and implications for human health. *J Transl Med.* (2017) 15:1–17. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1175-y

39. Akter S, Eguchi M, Kuwahara K, Kochi T, Ito R, Kurotani K, et al. High dietary acid load is associated with insulin resistance: the Furukawa nutrition and health study. *Clin Nutr.* (2016) 35:453–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2015.03.008

40. Elks CM, Francis J. Central adiposity, systemic inflammation, and the metabolic syndrome. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2010) 12:99–104. doi: 10.1007/s11906-010-0096-4

41. Wu T, Seaver P, Lemus H, Hollenbach K, Wang E, Pierce JP. Associations between dietary acid load and biomarkers of inflammation and hyperglycemia in breast cancer survivors. *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:1913. doi: 10.3390/nu11081913

42. Welty FK, Alfaddagh A, Elajami TK. Targeting inflammation in metabolic syndrome. *Transl Res.* (2016) 167:257–80. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2015.06.017

43. Williams RS, Kozan P, Samocha-Bonet D. The role of dietary acid load and mild metabolic acidosis in insulin resistance in humans. *Biochimie*. (2016) 124:171–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2015.09.012

44. Esche J, Shi L, Sánchez-Guijo A, Hartmann MF, Wudy SA, Remer T. Higher dietdependent renal acid load associates with higher glucocorticoid secretion and potentially bioactive free glucocorticoids in healthy children. *Kidney Int*. (2016) 90:325–33. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.02.033

45. Xu C, He J, Jiang H, Zu L, Zhai W, Pu S, et al. Direct effect of glucocorticoids on lipolysis in adipocytes. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2009) 23:1161–70. doi: 10.1210/me.2008-0464

46. Zhang L, Curhan GC, Forman JP. Diet-dependent net acid load and risk of incident hypertension in United States women. *Hypertension*. (2009) 54:751–5. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.135582

47. Farwell W, Taylor E. Serum bicarbonate, anion gap and insulin resistance in the National Health and nutrition examination survey. *Diabet Med.* (2008) 25:798–804. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02471.x

48. Firrman J, Liu L, Mahalak K, Tanes C, Bittinger K, Tu V, et al. The impact of environmental pH on the gut microbiota community structure and short chain fatty acid production. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol.* (2022) 98:fiac038. doi: 10.1093/femsec/fiac038

49. Faure A, Fischer K, Dawson-Hughes B, Egli A, Bischoff-Ferrari H. Gender-specific association between dietary acid load and total lean body mass and its dependency on protein intake in seniors. *Osteoporos Int.* (2017) 28:3451–62. doi: 10.1007/s00198-017-4220-z

50. Adeva MM, Souto G. Diet-induced metabolic acidosis. Clin Nutr. (2011) 30:416–21. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2011.03.008

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jose Atilio Canas, Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital, United States

REVIEWED BY

Samantha Maurotti, Magna Græcia University, Italy Kailin Yang, Hunan University of Chinese Medicine, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Amir Hossein Faghfouri ⊠ amir.nut89@gmail.com Vali Musazadeh ⊠ mosazadeh.vali05@gmail.com

RECEIVED 03 March 2023 ACCEPTED 14 August 2023 PUBLISHED 07 September 2023

CITATION

Abbasi S, Karimi K, Hossein Moridpour A, Musazadeh V, Faghfouri AH and Jozi H (2023) Can flaxseed supplementation affect circulating adipokines in adults? An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1179089. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1179089

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Abbasi, Karimi, Hossein Moridpour, Musazadeh, Faghfouri and Jozi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Can flaxseed supplementation affect circulating adipokines in adults? An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Shaghayegh Abbasi¹, Kiana Karimi², Amir Hossein Moridpour^{3,4}, Vali Musazadeh^{3,4*}, Amir Hossein Faghfouri^{5*} and Hannane Jozi³

¹Department of Pharmacy, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran, ²Department of Nutrition, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran, ³Student Research Committee, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran, ⁴School of Nutrition and Food Sciences, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran, ⁵Maternal and Childhood Obesity Research Center, Urmia University of Medical Sciences, Urmia, Iran

Introduction: The findings of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) regarding the effect of flaxseed on adipokine concentrations are conflicting. Therefore, the present meta-analysis was conducted to provide definite and conclusive results.

Methods: Systematically, Scopus, Embase, PubMed, Web of Science databases, and Google Scholar were searched for relevant literature published up to December 2022. Based on random-effect models, standard mean differences (SMDs) were calculated for net changes in adipokine concentrations.

Results: Overall, 13 RCTs (15 arms) were eligible to be included. The results indicated that leptin was significantly reduced after the intervention with flaxseed supplement (SMD = -0.69, 95% CI: -1.37, -0.01; p = 0.048; $l^2 = 92.0\%$, p < 0.001). In addition, flaxseed supplements had no considerable effect on plasma adiponectin (SMD = 0.52, 95% CI: -0.20, 1.25, p = 0.159; $l^2 = 92.0\%$, p < 0.001).

Discussion: Flaxseed significantly improves leptin but does not affect adiponectin concentrations. Additional future well-designed trials are required to further assess the potential benefits of flaxseed on adipokines in humans.

KEYWORDS

flaxseed, adiponectin, leptin, meta-analysis, systematic review

1. Introduction

The most common circulating hormone secreted by adipocytes is adiponectin. Adiponectin regulates many metabolic pathways, including fatty acid modulation and glucose oxidation (1). The high-molecular weight (HMW) of adiponectin is also considered a risk factor for metabolic syndrome (MetS) (2, 3). Previous studies have demonstrated that adiponectin levels are lowered in people with type 2 diabetes (T2DM), MetS, and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (4). High plasma levels of adiponectin have also been associated with a lower risk of myocardial infarction in men (5). Leptin is a hormone that regulates energy intake and consumption. It may also have an effect on the pathways that regulate glycolytic enzyme activity, glucose uptake, and the production of inflammatory cytokines (6–8).

Flaxseed (*Linum usitatissimum*), which is an oil seed or grain, has been suggested as a possible functional food since it contains bioactive components (9). Alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), which makes up \sim 55% of the total fatty acid content, is present in high amounts. Lignans, a group of phytoestrogens, are also present. There is also dietary fiber that makes

up 28% of the weight, and up to one-third is soluble fiber (10). These characteristics suggest that flaxseed may have antiinflammatory effects and clinical intervention trials have been conducted to ascertain whether flaxseed and flaxseed-derived products (flaxseed oil, whole flaxseed, or lignans) are effective in reducing a variety of cardiovascular risk factors, especially inflammatory indicators such as C-reactive protein (11–14).

In addition to the potential anti-inflammatory capabilities of flaxseed, adiponectin expression has been found to be induced by several flaxseed components in preclinical animal models (15). Additionally, flaxseed oil increased the expression of hepatic adiponectin receptors and circulating adiponectin (16). Other investigations have reached the conclusion that variations in leptin expression may contribute to the possible cardioprotective benefits of flaxseed supplementation (17). According to experimental research, ALA can bind to peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy), which can enhance adiponectin expression and levels in the blood (18, 19). Other clinical trials have reported that ALA enhances adiponectin; in fact, ALA and adiponectin production was found to have a dose-response relationship (20). However, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have shown conflicting outcomes. The effects of flaxseed on adiponectin and leptin levels were evaluated in a previous metaanalysis published in 2020 (21); however, several trials did not fully measure changes in their concentration. We conducted an additional study on the effects of flaxseed on leptin and adiponectin levels in adults as a result of the contradictory findings of the previous studies and the lack of a comprehensive meta-analysis. To determine the effect of flaxseed supplementation and flaxseedderived products on adiponectin and leptin levels, the present study performed a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis of all relevant RCTs in adults.

2. Methods

This systematic review and meta-analysis was carried out and reported under the Preferred Reporting Items of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) statement guidelines (22).

2.1. Search strategy

We searched international databases, including Scopus, Embase, PubMed, Web of Science databases, and Google Scholar, from inception to December 2022, using the following keywords: (flax OR flaxseed OR linseed OR lignan OR whole flaxseed OR ground flaxseed OR flaxseed oil OR *L. usitatissimum*) **AND** (adiponectin OR adipocytokines OR leptin). The search strategy is presented in Supplementary Table S1. The search process was conducted by two researchers (VM and AHM). In addition, reference lists were searched from included studies.

2.2. Eligibility criteria

Retrieved studies were included in our meta-analysis if they met the following evidence-based PICOS criteria: (1) Patients: adult individuals >18 years old; (2) Intervention: flaxseed supplementation; (3) Control: placebo or control; (4) Outcomes: sufficient data for extraction regarding adiponectin and leptin levels; and (5) Study design: RCTs. *In vitro, in vivo,* and *ex vivo* studies, observational studies, quasi-experimental studies, and animal studies were excluded from this meta-analysis. Only articles in English were included in the study.

2.3. Data extraction

Two independent researchers (SA and VM) screened and extracted data from each qualified trial. First author's name, publication year, study location, study design, sample size in each group, dose and type of flaxseed, duration of intervention, average age, gender and baseline body mass index (BMI) of subjects, and mean and standard deviation (SD) of adipokines in both groups at baseline and at the end of the study and their changes from baseline were extracted from the selected RCTs. Any disagreement about the choice of studies was settled by consensus (AHF).

2.4. Quality assessment and assessment of the meta-evidence

The methodological quality assessments of each included study were performed independently by at least two researchers using the Cochrane Collaboration risk of bias tool, in which domains were judged as "low-risk, high-risk, or unclear" (23). The credibility of RCTs was evaluated using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, and Evaluation (GRADE) approach, which consisted of five factors as follows: risk of bias, consistency of results, directness, precision, and potential for publication bias. The evidence is categorized into four categories, namely high, moderate, low, or very low.

2.5. Statistical analysis

The STATA program (version 16) was used to conduct the statistical analysis (Stata Corp, College Station, TX). To assess the effect size for adipokines, SD and mean differences were determined for the two groups. Furthermore, a random-effects model was used to estimate standardized mean differences (SMDs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) (24). When standard error (SE) or confidence interval (CI) was reported, they were also transformed into SD. Heterogeneity between studies was assessed using I^2 and the *p*-value of Cochran's Q-test. We performed a subgroup analysis according to baseline BMI ($<30, \geq 30$), study quality (high and low), intervention duration (<12 and \geq 12 weeks), type of flaxseed (whole flaxseed and flaxseed oil), sample size (\leq 40 and >40), the health condition [T2DM, polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), obesity, and others], gender (men, women, and both), and average age (<50 and \geq 50 years) to identify potential sources of heterogeneity. We also performed a sensitivity analysis to determine the effect of removing one particular study from



the overall SMDs. Begg's adjusted rank correlation and Egger's regression asymmetry test were applied to examine the results of the small study effect (25, 26). Publication bias was assessed by visual inspection of funnel plots. If there was evidence of publication bias, the "trim and fill" method was carried out. All statistical tests were two-sided, and a *p*-value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Flow and characteristics of included studies

A total of 3,200 studies were identified in the databases, and 1,287 duplicates were excluded. In total, 1,425 studies were

evaluated based on the title and abstract, and 467 were deemed irrelevant. There were 21 studies that went through a full-text evaluation, and 8 were omitted. Finally, 13 studies were included in the analysis. Figure 1 shows the selection process of the study. Studies were conducted in Iran (27, 28), China (29), Canada (30), USA (31-34), Greece (35, 36), and Brazil (37-39). The range of intervention periods varied from 2 to 12 weeks. Whole flaxseed (27-30, 38, 39) and ground flaxseed (33) were used in four RCTs with doses from 13,000 to 60,000 mg/day. In the other studies, flaxseed oil (30-32, 34-37) was used, with doses of 3,500 to 14,200 mg/day. In this study, different patient populations were examined in eligible RCTs. Included subjects were patients with obesity (27, 29, 31, 38, 39), dyslipidemia (35), T2DM (30, 37), prediabetes (33), and PCOS (28, 32, 34), and healthy people (36). Detailed characteristics of the included studies are summarized in Table 1.

TABLE 1 Study characteristics of included studies.

| Author, year Design Part <i>n</i> | | Participants, Health n condition | | Health Age, year condition | | vention | Baseline adiponectin | Baseline leptin | Duration (week) |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------|--|----------------------|----------------------------|---|------------------------|---|--|--------------------|
| | | | | | Treatment group | Control group | | | |
| Paschos et al. (35) | RA/SB/parallel | M: 35 Int: 18, Con: 17 | Dyslipidemia | Int: 49, Con: 54 | 15 ml/day flaxseed oil | Safflower oil | Int: 5.97 μg/ml, Con: 5.98 μg/ml | - | 12 |
| Nelson et al. (31) | RA/parallel | M/F: 57 Int: 30, Con: 27 | Overweight and obese | Int: 38.8, Con: 38.15 | 11,000 mg/day flaxseed oil (capsule) | Normal diet | Int: 10.12 μg/ml, Con: 7.93 μg/ml | _ | 8 |
| Faintuch et al. (38) | RA/DB/crossover | M/F: 24 Int: 14, Con: 10 | Obese | 40.8 | 30,000 mg/day flaxseed flour | Manioc flour | - | Int: 27.3 ng/ml, Con: 27 ng/ml | 2 |
| Taylor et al. (30) | RA/parallel | M/F: 22 Int: 13, Con: 9 M/F: 21 Int: 12, Con: 9 | T2DM | 52.4 | 32,000 mg/day milled flaxseed 13,000 mg/day flaxseed oil | Placebo | Int: 10.5 μg/ml, Con: 9.8 μg/ml Int: 6.9 μg/ml, Con: 9.8 μg/ml | Int: 10 ng/ml, Con: 25 ng/ml Int: 10.3 ng/ml, Con: 25 ng/ml | 12 |
| Faintuch et al. (39) | RA/SB/parallel | M/F: 28 Int: 10, Con: 18 | Obese | Int: 47.8, Con: 50.7 | 60,000 mg/day flaxseed powder | Cassava powder | - | Int: 44.4 ng/ml, Con: 27.6 ng/ml | 12 |
| Vargas et al. (32) | RA/DB/parallel | F: 34 Int: 17, Con: 17 | PCOS | Int: 29.4, Con: 28.9 | 3,500 mg/day flaxseed oil (capsule) | Soybean oil | Int: 8 ng/ml, Con: 6.5 ng/ml | Int: 27.1 ng/ml, Con: 28.1 ng/ml | 6 |
| Kontogianni et al. (36) | RA/crossover | M/F: 37 Int: 19, Con: 18 | Healthy | 25.6 | 13,800 mg/day flaxseed oil | Olive oil | Int: 6.2 mg/L Con: 6.5 mg/L | - | 6 |
| Hutchins et al. (33) | RA/crossover | M/F: 25 Int: 13, Con: 12 • M/F: 25 Int: 13, Con: 12 | Pre-diabetes | 58.6 | 13,000 mg/day ground flaxseed 26,000 mg/day ground flaxseed | Placebo | Int: 8.4 μg/ml, Con: 9.4 μg/ml Int: 9.3 μg/ml, Con: 9.4 μg/ml | - | 12 |
| Gomes et al. (37) | RA/DB/parallel | M/F: 20 Int: 10, Con: 10 | T2DM | Int: 47, Con: 50.1 | 6,000 mg/day linseed oil (capsule) | Placebo | Int: 10.61 μg/ml, Con: 12.04 μg/ml | _ | 8 |
| Karakas et al. (34) | RA/DB/parallel | F: 34 Int: 17, Con: 17 | PCOS | Int: 29.4, Con: 28.9 | 3,500 mg/day flaxseed oil (capsule) | soybean oil | Int: 8 ng/ml, Con: 6.5 ng/ml | Int: 27.1 ng/ml, Con: 28.1 ng/ml | 6 |
| Haidari et al. (28) | RA/parallel | F: 41 Int: 21, Con: 20 | PCOS | Int: 27.21, Con: 26.13 | 30,000 mg/day brown milled flaxseed powder + lifestyle modification | Lifestyle modification | Int: 13.04 mg/ml, Con: 14.56 mg/ml | Int: 70.18 ng/ml, Con: 64.64 ng/ml | 12 |
| Kuang et al. (29) | RA/DB/parallel | M/F: 51 Int: 27, Con: 24 | Overweight and obese | Int: 22.74, Con: 21.79 | 13,000 mg/day flaxseed meal (Biscuits) | Control | Int: 21.89 μg/ml, Con: 25.52 μg/ml | Int: 12.25 ng/ml, Con: 12.19 ng/ml | 8 |
| Ahmadniay motlagh et al. (27) | RA/DB/parallel | F: 52 Int: 29, Con: 23 | Overweight and obese | Int: 38.28, Con: 41.74 | 30,000 mg/day brown milled flaxseed powder | Raw milled rice | Int: 12.11 ng/ml, Con: 12.48 ng/ml | Int: 53.76 ng/ml, Con: 51.48 ng/ml | 12 |

| Study | Random sequence generation | Allocation concealment | Reporting bias | Other sources of bias | Performance bias | Detection bias | Attrition bias |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| Paschos et al. (35) | L | L | L | Н | L | Н | L |
| Nelson et al. (31) | L | U | L | L | Н | Н | Н |
| Faintuch et al. (38) | L | U | L | Н | L | L | L |
| Taylor et al. (30) | L | U | L | Н | U | U | Н |
| Faintuch et al. (39) | L | U | L | Н | L | Н | L |
| Vargas et al. (32) | L | L | L | Н | L | L | L |
| Kontogianni et al. (36) | L | L | L | Н | U | U | L |
| Hutchins et al. (33) | L | L | L | Н | U | U | L |
| Gomes et al. (37) | L | U | L | Н | L | L | Н |
| Karakas et al. (34) | L | L | L | L | L | L | L |
| Haidari et al. (28) | L | L | L | L | U | U | L |
| Kuang et al. (29) | L | L | L | Н | L | L | L |
| Ahmadniay motlagh et al. (27) | L | L | L | L | L | L | L |

TABLE 2 Results of risk of bias assessment for randomized clinical trials included in the current meta-analysis on the effects of flaxseed supplementation on adipokines in adults.

Each study was assessed for risk of bias using the Cochrane Risk of Bias Assessment tool. Domains of assessment were included random sequence generation, allocation concealment, reporting bias, performance bias, detection bias, attrition bias, and other sources of bias. Each domain was scored as "high risk" if it contained methodological flaws that may have affected the results, "low risk" if the flaw was deemed inconsequential, and "unclear risk" if information was insufficient to determine. If a study got "low risk" for all domains, it is considered a high-quality study with low total risk of bias.

3.2. Risk of bias assessment and quality of evidence

imputed study) following the uneven distribution of the funnel plot (Figure 3).

Random allocation of participants was mentioned in all included trials. Most of the included studies had a low/unclear risk of allocation concealment and reporting bias. In addition, most studies showed a high risk of other sources of bias and detection bias. Out of the 13 RCTs in the current study, five were of high quality (27–29, 32, 34), six were of moderate quality (33, 35– 39), and two were of low quality (30, 31). Detailed information regarding the quality of the included RCTs based on the Cochrane risk of bias assessment is shown in Table 2. GRADE quality of evidence was high for leptin and moderate for adiponectin (Table 3).

3.3. Flaxseed on adiponectin concentrations

Based on the result of 11 RCTs comprising 13 treatment arms, flaxseed could not significantly affect circulating adiponectin in adults (SMD = 0.52, 95% CI: -0.20, 1.25, p = 0.159; Figure 2). The results were heterogeneous ($I^2 = 92.0\%$, p < 0.001), and the sensitivity analysis results revealed no significant change following the removal of each study. Subgroup analysis indicated significant effects on adiponectin in RCTs administered with whole flaxseed (Table 4). Egger's and Begg's tests showed significant small-study effects (p < 0.05). The trim and fill method was performed (without

3.4. Flaxseed on leptin concentrations

Eight RCTs with nine arms investigated the effect of flaxseed supplementation on leptin levels. The results indicated a significant reducing effect of flaxseed supplementation on leptin levels (SMD = -0.69, 95% CI: -1.37, -0.01; p = 0.048) with between-study heterogeneity ($I^2 = 86.4\%$, p < 0.001; Figure 4). Moreover, the overall effects of flaxseed on leptin were changed to not significantly impact by excluding studies using a one-study removal analysis (27–29, 32, 34). Whole flaxseed supplementation among RCTs with a sample size of >40 participants and age <50 years contributed to a robust reduction in leptin concentrations (Table 4). Begg's tests showed no significant publication bias (p = 0.754).

4. Discussion

The results of our pooled analysis showed that flaxseed supplementation, despite its non-significant effect on adiponectin, caused a significant decrease in circulating leptin. However, subgroup analysis showed that flaxseed had no significant effect on leptin levels in high-quality studies, and only low-quality studies showed ameliorating effects of flaxseed on leptin. Consequently, the interpretation of this result should be accompanied by caution, and studies with appropriate designs and a low risk of bias are needed to confirm our results on leptin. In addition, the

| Adipokines | Summary of findings | indings | | | Quality of evidence assessment (GRADE) | nce assessment | t (GRADE) | |
|------------------------|---|--------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|--|----------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| | No. of patients (trials) SMD* (95% CI) Ris | SMD* (95% CI) | Risk of bias ^a | Inconsistency ^b | $Indirectness^{c}$ | Imprecision | Publication bias ^e | Quality of evidence ^f |
| Adiponectin | 420 (11) | 0.52 (-0.20, 1.25) | Not serious | Not serious | Not serious | Serious ^d | Not serious | Moderate |
| Leptin | 288 (8) | -0.69 (-1.37, -0.01) Not | Not serious | Not serious | Not serious | Not serious | Not serious | High |
| *Drecented ac standar. | *Dresented as standard mean difference (SMD) all outcomes | | | | | | | |

nean difference (SMID) all outcomes

Risk of bias based on the Cochrane risk of bias tool. This tool assesses selection bias, performance bias, attrition bias, and reporting bias. Five of the eight included studies had incomplete outcome data (attrition bias). Half of the included studies had performance bias

50%, p < 0.10) that was unexplained by meta-regression or subgroup analyses Downgraded if there was a substantial unexplained heterogeneity (I² >

Downgraded if there were factors present relating to the participants, interventions, or outcomes that limited the generalizability of the results

(95% CI including 0). on adiponectin There is no evidence of significant effects of flaxseed supplementation

results detected overall using a funnel plot that affected evidence of publication bias ²Downgraded if there was

analysis. by trim and fill

outcomes by default and then downgraded based on prespecified criteria. Quality was graded as high, moderate, low, and very low all for graded as high was of the the controlled trials. were randomized included studies all i Since

examination of other subgroups showed that flaxseed significantly increases adiponectin in the form of whole flaxseed. Regarding leptin, the whole flaxseed caused a significant decrease in people of <50 years of age and in studies with a sample size of over 40. The results of the previous meta-analysis study in 2019 by Jalili et al. (21) showed that flaxseed supplementation has no significant effect on leptin and adiponectin levels and also on studied subgroups. However, the abovementioned study suggested that additional clinical trial studies should also be conducted for a definitive conclusion. Our study added four more clinical trials (27-29, 34) than Jalili et al.'s study of the pooled analysis which yielded different results in some aspects. In addition, the subgroup analysis of Jalili et al.'s study was only limited to the duration of the supplementation, the study population (healthy or unhealthy), and the type of intervention. However, our study added demographic variables (age and gender), sample size, body mass index, and study quality to subgroup analysis and examined the studied population more comprehensively than the aforementioned study in order to obtain generalizable results. In addition, unlike the abovementioned study, the quality of the obtained evidence in our investigation was checked with the GRADE tool.

In both studied biomarkers, whole flaxseed compared with flaxseed oil led to a significant improvement in leptin and adiponectin levels. Unlike flaxseed oil, which contains omega-3 fatty acids, especially polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), whole flaxseed contains PUFAs, soluble and insoluble fibers, proteins, various antioxidants, and phytoestrogenic lignans (40) that explain more improving effects on adipokines.

Studies have pointed out that the circulating levels of adiponectin and leptin are higher in women than in men (41, 42). Due to the existence of only one low-quality study (34) in the subgroup of men, the significant reduction of adiponectin in this subgroup cannot be a generalizable and valid result. No significant results have been reported for other gender subgroups either in leptin or adiponectin. However, it is suggested that future studies separate the effect of flaxseed supplements in men and women, in order to report a more accurate result. In terms of mean age, only one low-quality study (30) with two investigated arms included a <50 years of age subgroup in the leptin-pooled analysis. Therefore, a significant decrease in leptin in this subgroup is not highly worth noting. However, this finding can be a sign for future studies to clarify the effect of flaxseed on this age group.

The sample size is another important factor determining the true effect of flaxseed on leptin. Subgroup analysis showed that studies with a >40 sample size reported a significant decrease in leptin levels following flaxseed supplementation. As a general principle in epidemiological studies, large sample sizes lead to high power to show a true effect (43). However, a very high sample size can also lead to false conclusions (44).

The various compounds found in whole flaxseed lead to beneficial effects on circulating levels of leptin and adiponectin. Fatty acids through interaction with transcription factors such as PPARy, CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP), and sterol regulatory element-binding transcription factor 1 (SREBPF1) can



alter the expression of leptin and adiponectin (45). Moreover, the anti-inflammatory properties of omega-3 fatty acids contribute to the regulation of adipokine production (46). Studies have reported that inflammatory conditions can lead to the inhibition of adiponectin production from adipocytes (47). In addition, pro-inflammatory cytokines have stimulating effects on leptin production (48). The main fatty acid of flaxseed oil is ALA, which is a poor activator of PPARy compared with arachidonic acid as the main activator of PPARy among fatty acids (49). This could explain the difference in the results observed between whole flaxseed and flaxseed oil. Dietary fibers can regulate the levels of adipokines in various ways, such as through changing body composition (50) and modifying gut microbiota (51). Due to the similar structure of phytoestrogens and estrogen, these compounds can bind to estrogen receptors (ERs) with a high affinity toward ER β than ER α (52), leading to the inhibition of adipocyte differentiation and lipid accumulation in an in vivo model (53). However, phytoestrogens can directly bind to and activate PPARy (52). This cross-talk between PPARy and ERs focused on future studies to elucidate the precise effect of phytoestrogens on obesity-related pathways. The beneficial effects of plant polyphenols and antioxidants on the balance between

different adipokines have been investigated in some studies (54, 55).

There were some limitations worth noting in our study that are suggested to cover in future studies. First, due to the lack of sufficient studies, an accurate comparison between men and women was not possible. As it is known, the expression of estrogen receptors between the two genders has a different pattern (56), and this can be effective in the effect of flaxseed on the circulating levels of adipokines. Second, it seems that the effect of flaxseed on other adipokines, such as visfatin and resistin, should also be taken into consideration in order to obtain a more comprehensive conclusion. Third, there were limited studied populations; therefore, additional studies on other diseases especially inflammatory conditions seem necessary.

Our study also has some worth noting strengths. First, the present study tried to cover all the limitations of the previous meta-analysis. Second, due to the low risk of bias in the included studies and the appropriate design of the current meta-analysis, the quality of our obtained results was moderate for adiponectin and high for leptin. Third, our study was registered in PROSPERO (code: CRD42023399735).

TABLE 4 Subgroup analyses for the effects of flaxseed supplementation plasma adipokines.

| | NO | SMD (95% CI) ^a | <i>p</i> -within ^b | <i>I</i> ² (%) ^c | <i>p-</i> heterogeneity ^d |
|---------------------------|------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------|--|---|
| Flaxseed supplementation | n on adiponectin | | | | |
| Overall | 13 | 0.52 (-0.20, 1.25) | 0.159 | 92.0 | <0.001 |
| Age (year) | | | | | |
| <50 | 9 | 0.67 (-0.36, 1.69) | 0.203 | 94.6 | <0.001 |
| ≥50 | 4 | 0.25 (-0.16, 0.66) | 0.232 | 0.0 | 0.731 |
| Gender | | | | | |
| Men | 1 | -1.63 (-2.40, -0.86) | < 0.001 | 0.0 | < 0.001 |
| Women | 4 | 1.97 (-0.21, 4.15) | 0.076 | 96.5 | < 0.001 |
| Both | 8 | 0.08 (-0.32, 0.48) | 0.698 | 59.4 | 0.016 |
| Intervention duration (we | eek) | | | | |
| <12 | 6 | -0.06 (-0.50, 0.37) | 0.774 | 63.3 | 0.018 |
| ≥12 | 7 | 1.05 (-0.42, 2.51) | 0.161 | 95.1 | <0.001 |
| Intervention type | | | | | |
| Whole flaxseed | 6 | 1.46 (0.06, 2.86) | 0.040 | 94.5 | <0.001 |
| Flaxseed oil | 7 | -0.25 (-0.81, 0.32) | 0.393 | 77.4 | <0.001 |
| Study population | | | | | |
| Overweight and obese | 5 | 0.62 (-0.68, 1.93) | 0.351 | 94.5 | < 0.001 |
| PCOS | 3 | 1.47 (-0.91, 3.85) | 0.227 | 96.2 | <0.001 |
| T2DM | 3 | 0.28 (-0.22, 0.78) | 0.275 | 0.0 | 0.535 |
| Other diseases | 2 | -0.62 (-2.57, 1.34) | 0.537 | 93.4 | <0.001 |
| Sample size | | | | | |
| ≤40 | 9 | 0.02 (-0.42, 0.46) | 0.927 | 65.9 | 0.003 |
| >40 | 4 | 1.75 (-0.54, 4.04) | 0.135 | 97.5 | <0. |
| BMI | | | | | |
| ≤30 | 5 | 0.76 (-0.75, 2.26) | 0.325 | 94.8 | < 0.001 |
| >30 | 8 | 0.40 (-0.44, 1.24) | 0.352 | 90.4 | <0.001 |
| Study quality | | | | | |
| Low | 9 | 0.41 (-0.48, 1.30) | 0.365 | 91.3 | <0.001 |
| High | 4 | 0.78 (-0.66, 2.22) | 0.289 | 94.5 | <0.001 |
| Flaxseed supplementation | n on leptin | | | | |
| Overall | 9 | -0.69 (-1.37, -0.01) | 0.048 | 86.4 | < 0.001 |
| Age (year) | | | | | |
| <50 | 7 | -0.84 (-1.68, -0.01) | 0.047 | 89.0 | <0.001 |
| ≥50 | 2 | -0.16 (-0.93, 0.61) | 0.686 | 36.4 | 0.210 |
| Gender | | | | | |
| Women | 4 | -1.37 (-2.75, 0.01) | 0.051 | 93.1 | <0.001 |
| Both | 5 | -0.21 (-0.76, 0.33) | 0.442 | 56.9 | 0.055 |
| Intervention duration (we | eek) | | | | |
| <12 | 4 | -0.32 (-0.81, 0.17) | 0.198 | 52.0 | 0.100 |
| ≥12 | 5 | -1.06 (-2.37, 0.25) | 0.112 | 91.6 | <0.001 |

(Continued)

TABLE 4 (Continued)

| | NO | SMD (95% CI) ^a | <i>p</i> -within ^b | l ² (%) ^c | <i>p-</i> heterogeneity ^d | |
|----------------------|----|---------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|---|--|
| Intervention type | | | | | | |
| Whole flaxseed | 6 | -1.03 (-2.02, -0.05) | 0.040 | 89.6 | <0.001 | |
| Flaxseed oil | 3 | -0.09 (-0.50, 0.33) | 0.686 | 0.0 | 0.690 | |
| Study population | | | | | | |
| Overweight and obese | 4 | -0.48 (-1.20, 0.23) | 0.181 | 74.9 | 0.007 | |
| PCOS | 3 | -1.47 (-3.57, 0.63) | 0.170 | 95.3 | < 0.001 | |
| T2DM 2 | | -0.16 (-0.93, 0.61) | 0.686 | 36.4 | 0.210 | |
| Sample size | | | | | | |
| ≤40 | 6 | -0.06 (-0.39, 0.26) | 0.693 | 0.0 | 0.727 | |
| >40 | 3 | -2.02 (-3.55, -0.50) | 0.009 | 92.6 | <0.001 | |
| BMI | | | | | | |
| ≤30 | 2 | -2.53 (-5.73, 0.66) | 0.120 | 96.1 | <0.001 | |
| >30 | 7 | -0.25 (-0.68, 0.18) | 0.257 | 55.5 | 0.036 | |
| Study quality | | | | | | |
| Low | 4 | -0.65 (-1.16, -0.14) | 0.013 | 61.8 | 0.049 | |
| High | 5 | -0.78 (-2.23, 0.66) | 0.289 | 92.1 | <0.001 | |

^aObtained from the Random-effects model.

^bRefers to the mean (95% CI).

^cInconsistency, percentage of variation across studies due to heterogeneity.

^dObtained from the Q-test.

SMD, standard mean differences; CI, confidence interval; NR, not reported; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease.



Funnel plot displaying publication bias in the studies reporting the effects of flaxseed supplementation on adiponectin levels.



5. Conclusion

Whole flaxseed is effective in improving the levels of adiponectin and leptin. Flaxseed oil cannot change circulating levels of adipokines. The quality of our obtained results is moderate for adiponectin and high for leptin.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

VM was responsible for designing and coordinating the study. VM, KK, SA, HJ, and AH were responsible for the statistical study and writing of the manuscript. AF was responsible for reviewing the manuscript. KK was responsible for the statistical work and for writing the manuscript. All authors were responsible for data collection, data analysis, and data interpretation of the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1179089/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE S1 The search strategy.

References

1. Oh DK, Ciaraldi T, Henry RR. Adiponectin in health and disease. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2007) 9:282–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2006.00610.x

2. Seino Y, Hirose H, Saito I, Itoh H. High-molecular-weight adiponectin is a predictor of progression to metabolic syndrome: a populationbased 6-year follow-up study in Japanese men. *Metabolism.* (2009) 58:355-60. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2008.10.008

3. Zhu N, Pankow JS, Ballantyne CM, Couper D, Hoogeveen RC, Pereira M, et al. High-molecular-weight adiponectin and the risk of type 2 diabetes in the ARIC study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2010) 95:5097–104. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0716

4. Ferrarezi DAF, Cheurfa N, Reis AF, Fumeron F, Velho G. Adiponectin gene and cardiovascular risk in type 2 diabetic patients: a review of evidences. *Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol.* (2007) 51:153–9. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302007000200003

5. Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor E, May S, Langenberg C. Association of adiponectin with coronary heart disease and mortality: the Rancho Bernardo study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2007) 165:164–74. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwk001

6. Ahima RS. Revisiting leptin's role in obesity and weight loss. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:2380–3. doi: 10.1172/JCI36284

7. Denroche HC, Huynh FK, Kieffer TJ. The role of leptin in glucose homeostasis. J Diabetes Investig. (2012) 3:115–29. doi: 10.1111/j.2040-1124.2012.00203.x

8. La Cava A. Leptin in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Cytokine*. (2017) 98:51-8. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2016.10.011

9. Musazadeh V, Jafarzadeh J, Keramati M, Zarezadeh M, Ahmadi M, Farrokhian Z, et al. Flaxseed oil supplementation augments antioxidant capacity and alleviates oxidative stress: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2021) 2021:4438613. doi: 10.1155/2021/4438613

10. Kajla P, Sharma A, Sood DR. Flaxseed—a potential functional food source. J Food Sci Technol. (2015) 52:1857-71. doi: 10.1007/s13197-014-1293-y

11. Bassett CMC, McCullough RS, Edel AL, Patenaude A, LaVallee RK, Pierce GN. The α -linolenic acid content of flaxseed can prevent the atherogenic effects of dietary trans fat. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2011) 301:H2220–6. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00958.2010

12. Khalesi S, Irwin C, Schubert M. Flaxseed consumption may reduce blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. *J Nutr.* (2015) 145:758–65. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.205302

13. Pan A, Yu D, Demark-Wahnefried W, Franco OH, Lin X. Meta-analysis of the effects of flaxseed interventions on blood lipids. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 90:288–97. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.27469

14. Ren G-Y, Chen C-Y, Chen G-C, Chen W-G, Pan A, Pan C-W, et al. Effect of flaxseed intervention on inflammatory marker C-reactive protein: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients.* (2016) 8:136. doi: 10.3390/nu8030136

15. Fukumitsu S, Aida K, Ueno N, Ozawa S, Takahashi Y, Kobori M. Flaxseed lignan attenuates high-fat diet-induced fat accumulation and induces adiponectin expression in mice. *Br J Nutr.* (2008) 100:669–76. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508911570

16. Wang M, Zhang X-J, Feng K, He C, Li P, Hu Y-J, et al. Dietary α -linolenic acid-rich flaxseed oil prevents against alcoholic hepatic steatosis via ameliorating lipid homeostasis at adipose tissue-liver axis in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:1–11. doi: 10.1038/srep26826

17. McCullough RS, Edel AL, Bassett CMC, Lavallée RK, Dibrov E, Blackwood DP, et al. The alpha linolenic acid content of flaxseed is associated with an induction of adipose leptin expression. *Lipids*. (2011) 46:1043–52. doi: 10.1007/s11745-011-3619-0

18. Marion-Letellier R, Savoye G, Ghosh S. Fatty acids, eicosanoids, hypolipidemic agents identified as ligands of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors by coactivator-dependent receptor ligand assay. *Mol Endocrinol.* (1997) 11:779–91. doi: 10.1210/mend.11.6.0007

19. Maeda N, Takahashi M, Funahashi T, Kihara S, Nishizawa H, Kishida K, et al. PPAR γ ligands increase expression and plasma concentrations of adiponectin, an adipose-derived protein. *Diabetes.* (2001) 50:2094–9. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.50.9.2094

20. Duda MK, O'Shea KM, Tintinu A, Xu W, Khairallah RJ, Barrows BR, et al. Fish oil, but not flaxseed oil, decreases inflammation and prevents pressure overload-induced cardiac dysfunction. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2009) 81:319-27. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn310

21. Jalili C, Pezeshki M, Askarpour M, Marx W, Hassani B, Hadi A, et al. The effect of flaxseed supplementation on circulating adiponectin and leptin concentration in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Phytother Res.* (2020) 34:1578–86. doi: 10.1002/ptr.6634

22. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Syst Rev.* (2015) 4:1–9. doi: 10.1186/2046-4 053-4-1

23. Higgins JP, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ*. (2011) 343:d5928. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d5928

24. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials. (1986) 7:177-88. doi: 10.1016/0197-2456(86)90046-2

25. Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics*. (1994) 50:1088–101. doi: 10.2307/2533446

26. Irwig L, Macaskill P, Berry G, Glasziou P. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ*. (1997) 315:629–34. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629

27. Motlagh HA, Aalipanah E, Mazidi M, Faghih S. Effect of flaxseed consumption on central obesity, serum lipids, adiponectin level in overweight or obese women: a randomised controlled clinical trial. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2021) 75:e14592. doi:10.22541/au.162045943.35168913/v1

28. Haidari F, Banaei-Jahromi N, Zakerkish M, Ahmadi K. The effects of flaxseed supplementation on metabolic status in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized open-labeled controlled clinical trial. *Nutr J.* (2020) 19:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12937-020-0524-5

29. Kuang X, Kong Y, Hu X, Li K, Guo X, Liu C, et al. Defatted flaxseed flour improves weight loss and lipid profile in overweight and obese adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Food Funct.* (2020) 11:8237–47. doi: 10.1039/D0FO00838A

30. Taylor CG, Noto AD, Stringer DM, Froese S, Malcolmson L. Dietary milled flaxseed and flaxseed oil improve N-3 fatty acid status and do not affect glycemic control in individuals with well-controlled type 2 diabetes. *J Am Coll Nutr.* (2010) 29:72–80. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2010.10719819

31. Nelson TL, Stevens JR, Hickey MS. Adiponectin levels are reduced, independent of polymorphisms in the adiponectin gene, after supplementation with α -linolenic acid among healthy adults. *Metabolism.* (2007) 56:1209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2007.04.017

32. Vargas ML, Almario RU, Buchan W, Kim K, Karakas SE. Metabolic and endocrine effects of long-chain versus essential omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Metabolism.* (2011) 60:1711–8. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.04.007

33. Hutchins AM, Brown BD, Cunnane SC, Domitrovich SG, Adams ER, Bobowiec CE. Daily flaxseed consumption improves glycemic control in obese men and women with pre-diabetes: a randomized study. *Nutr Res.* (2013) 33:367–75. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2013.02.012

34. Karakas SE, Perroud B, Kind T, Palazoglu M, Fiehn O. Changes in plasma metabolites and glucose homeostasis during omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *BBA Clin.* (2016) 5:179–85. doi: 10.1016/j.bbacli.2016.04.003

35. Paschos GK, Zampelas A, Panagiotakos DB, Katsiougiannis S, Griffin BA, Votteas V, et al. Effects of flaxseed oil supplementation on plasma adiponectin levels in dyslipidemic men. *Eur J Nutr.* (2007) 46:315–20. doi: 10.1007/s00394-007-0668-5

36. Kontogianni MD, Vlassopoulos A, Gatzieva A, Farmaki A-E, Katsiougiannis S, Panagiotakos DB, et al. Flaxseed oil does not affect inflammatory markers and lipid profile compared to olive oil, in young, healthy, normal weight adults. *Metabolism.* (2013) 62:686–93. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2012.11.007

37. Gomes PM, Hollanda-Miranda WR, Beraldo RA, Castro AVB, Geloneze B, Foss MC, et al. Supplementation of α -linolenic acid improves serum adiponectin levels and insulin sensitivity in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition.* (2015) 31:853–7. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.12.028

38. Faintuch J, Horie LM, Barbeiro HV, Barbeiro DF, Soriano FG, Ishida RK, et al. Systemic inflammation in morbidly obese subjects: response to oral supplementation with alpha-linolenic acid. *Obes Surg.* (2007) 17:341–7. doi: 10.1007/s11695-007-9062-x

39. Faintuch J, Bortolotto LA, Marques PC, Faintuch JJ, França JI, Cecconello I. Systemic inflammation and carotid diameter in obese patients: pilot comparative study with flaxseed powder and cassava powder. *Nutr Hosp.* (2011) 26:208–13.

40. Goyal A, Sharma V, Upadhyay N, Gill S, Sihag M. Flax and flaxseed oil: an ancient medicine & modern functional food. *J Food Sci Technol.* (2014) 51:1633–53. doi: 10.1007/s13197-013-1247-9

41. Hellström L, Wahrenberg H, Hruska K, Reynisdottir S, Arner P. Mechanisms behind gender differences in circulating leptin levels. *J Intern Med.* (2000) 247:457–62. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2796.2000.00678.x

42. Manieri E, Herrera-Melle L, Mora A, Tomás-Loba A, Leiva-Vega L, Fernández DI, et al. Adiponectin accounts for gender differences in hepatocellular carcinoma incidence. *J Exp Med.* (2019) 216:1108–19. doi: 10.1084/jem.20181288

43. Serdar CC, Cihan M, Yücel D, Serdar MA. Sample size, power and effect size revisited: simplified and practical approaches in pre-clinical, clinical and laboratory studies. *Biochem Med.* (2021) 31:010502. doi: 10.11613/BM.2021.010502

44. Faber J, Fonseca LM. How sample size influences research outcomes. *Dental Press J Orthod.* (2014) 19:27–9. doi: 10.1590/2176-9451.19.4.027-029.ebo

45. Nasir Y, Farzollahpour F, Mirzababaei A, Maghbooli Z, Mirzaei K. Associations of dietary fats intake and adipokines levels in obese women. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. (2021) 43:390–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2021.03.018

46. Albracht-Schulte K, Kalupahana NS, Ramalingam L, Wang S, Rahman SM, Robert-McComb J, et al. Omega-3 fatty acids in obesity and metabolic syndrome: a mechanistic update. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2018) 58:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.02.012

47. Ouchi N, Walsh K. Adiponectin as an anti-inflammatory factor. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2007) 380:24–30. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2007.01.026

48. Bruun JM, Pedersen SB, Kristensen K, Richelsen B. Effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines on leptin production in human adipose tissue *in vitro*. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*. (2002) 190:91–9. doi: 10.1016/S0303-7207(02)00007-2

49. Varga T, Czimmerer Z, Nagy L. PPARs are a unique set of fatty acid regulated transcription factors controlling both lipid metabolism and inflammation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2011) 1812:1007–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2011. 02.014

50. Islam A, Civitarese AE, Hesslink RL, Gallaher DD. Viscous dietary fiber reduces adiposity and plasma leptin and increases muscle expression of fat oxidation genes in rats. *Obesity.* (2012) 20:349–55. doi: 10.1038/oby.20 11.341

51. Queipo-Ortuño MI, Seoane LM, Murri M, Pardo M, Gomez-Zumaquero JM, Cardona F, et al. Gut microbiota composition in male rat models under different nutritional status and physical activity and its association with serum leptin and ghrelin levels. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e65465. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065465

52. Kuryłowicz A, Cakała-Jakimowicz M, Puzianowska-Kuznicka M. Targeting abdominal obesity and its complications with dietary phytoestrogens. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:582. doi: 10.3390/nu12020582

53. Park HJ, Della-Fera MA, Hausman DB, Rayalam S, Ambati S, Baile CA. Genistein inhibits differentiation of primary human adipocytes. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2009) 20:140–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2008.01.006

54. Derdemezis CS, Kiortsis DN, Tsimihodimos V, Petraki MP, Vezyraki P, Elisaf MS, et al. Effect of plant polyphenols on adipokine secretion from human SGBS adipocytes. *Biochem Res Int.* (2011) 2011:285618. doi: 10.1155/2011/285618

55. Daneshzad E, Farsad-Naeimi A, Heshmati J, Mirzaei K, Maghbooli Z, Keshavarz S-A. The association between dietary antioxidants and adipokines level among obese women. *Diabetes Metab Syndr*. (2019) 13:1369–73. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2019.02.022

56. Hutson DD, Gurrala R, Ogola BO, Zimmerman MA, Mostany R, Satou R, et al. Estrogen receptor profiles across tissues from male and female *Rattus norvegicus*. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2019) 10:4. doi: 10.1186/s13293-019-0219-9

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Maria Morgan-Bathke, Viterbo University, United States Antje Garten, Leipzig University, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Mohammad Hassan Sohouli 🖂 mohammadhassansohouli@gmail.com

RECEIVED 19 April 2023 ACCEPTED 18 September 2023 PUBLISHED 03 October 2023

CITATION

Baichuan Y, Gomes Reis M, Tavakoli S, Khodadadi N, Sohouli MH and Sernizon Guimarães N (2023) The effects of NAD+ precursor (nicotinic acid and nicotinamide) supplementation on weight loss and related hormones: a systematic review and metaregression analysis of randomized controlled trials.

Front. Nutr. 10:1208734. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1208734

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Baichuan, Gomes Reis, Tavakoli, Khodadadi, Sohouli and Sernizon Guimarães. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. The effects of NAD+ precursor (nicotinic acid and nicotinamide) supplementation on weight loss and related hormones: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis of randomized controlled trials

You Baichuan¹, Marcela Gomes Reis^{2,3}, Sogand Tavakoli⁴, Navideh Khodadadi⁴, Mohammad Hassan Sohouli^{4*} and Nathalia Sernizon Guimarães^{3,5}

¹SDU-ANU Joint Science College, Shandong University, Weihai, China, ²Master in Health Science at Faculdade Ciências Médicas de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil, ³OPENS: Observatory of Epidemiology, Nutrition and Health Research, Faculdade Ciências Médicas de Minas Gerais/FELUMA, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil, ⁴Student Research Committee, Department of Clinical Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Nutrition and Food Technology, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁵Faculdade Ciências Médicas de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil

Background: Despite the fact that obesity and overweight are serious major health problems worldwide, fighting against them is also considered a challenging issue. Several interventional studies have evaluated the potential weight-reduction effect of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) precursor. In order to obtain a better viewpoint from them, this study aimed to comprehensively investigate the effects of NAD+ precursor supplementation on weight loss, adiponectin, and leptin.

Methods: Scopus, PubMed/Medline, Web of Science, Cochrane, and Embase databases were searched using standard keywords to identify all controlled trials investigating the weight loss and related hormones effects of NAD+ precursor. Pooled weighted mean difference and 95% confidence intervals were achieved by random-effects model analysis for the best estimation of outcomes.

Results: Twenty two treatment arms with 5,144 participants' were included in this systematic review and meta-regression analysis. The pooled findings showed that NAD+ precursor supplementation has an effect on lowering BMI (weighted mean difference (WMD): -0.19 kg/m2, 95% confidence interval (CI): -0.29 to -0.09, p < 0.001) and increasing adiponectin (WMD: $1.59 \mu \text{g/mL}$, 95% CI: 0.49 to 2.68, p = 0.004) in humans compared with control groups. However, no significant effect was observed on body weight and leptin. There was a significant relationship between doses of intervention with changes in BMI. In addition, subgroup analysis showed that BMI reduction was greater when receiving nicotinic acid (NA) supplementation than nicotinamide (NE) supplementation.

Conclusion: NAD+ precursor had significant effects on weight management with the reduction of BMI and increasing adiponectin.

KEYWORDS

NAD+ precursor, niacin, obesity, obesity hormone, weight loss

10.3389/fnut.2023.1208734

Introduction

Overweight and obesity are defined as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health. A body mass index (BMI) over 25 is considered overweight, and over 30 is obese. The issue has grown to epidemic proportions, with over 4 million people dying each year as a result of being overweight or obese in 2017 according to the global burden of disease (1). Adiposity, particularly abdominal adiposity, is associated with an increased risk of most chronic diseases such as type 2 diabetes (T2DM), cancer, cardiovascular disease (CVD), atherosclerosis, and metabolic syndrome (2). Moreover, low-grade chronic inflammation linked to adiposity, along with adipocyte development and a change in the pattern of activity of adipokines especially, leptin and adiponectin, leads to adipose tissue (AT) dysfunction (3). Following these changes, serious disorders are generally observed, such as a decrease in mitochondrial biogenesis and an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation (4-6). Therefore, one might hypothesise that elements such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) + and their related components, which regulate mitochondrial function, metabolism, cellular stress response, carbohydrates and fatty acids synthesis, ATP generation, and ketogenesis, have been significantly involved in the adjustment of metabolic complications associated with obesity (7-9). NAD+ is synthesised in two major pathways in the human body: de novo synthesis and salvage, the latter of which has a more effective role in maintaining levels of NAD+ in the body. The compounds that are created from the salvage pathway are called NAD+ precursors (10). Furthermore, the presence of Sirtuins, NAD + -dependent protein deacetylases (SIRT1-7), is crucial for NAD+'s biological function in humans (11). Studies have shown that NAD+ precursors and Sirtuins gene expression were significantly down-regulated in obese subjects (12-14), whereas their expression increased progressively in subjects with a weight loss programme (15). However, the effects of NAD+ precursor supplementation on weight and other related factors, as well as adipokines, are still not completely clear. Therefore, the objective of this systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials is to analyze and evaluate the effects of NAD+ precursor supplementation on weight loss and obesity hormone.

Methods

Search strategy

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Metaanalysis (PRISMA) criteria were followed for conducting this study (16). Without regard to language or time restrictions, a thorough search was carried out in the PubMed/MEDLINE, Web of Science, SCOPUS, and Embase databases from the beginning to February 2023. Additionally, similar papers and gray literature were considered in the search. Medical subject headings (MeSH) and Emtree (Embase subject headings) were selected to search the online databases, as follow: ("NAD" OR "NAD precursor" OR "Nicotinic Acids" OR "Niacin" OR "Niacinamide" OR "Nicotinamide Mononucleotide") AND ("weight" OR "Waist Circumference" OR "Body Mass Index" OR "Adiponectin" OR "Leptin") AND ("Clinical Trials as Topic" OR "Cross-Over Studies" OR "Double-Blind Method" OR "Single-Blind Method" OR "Random Allocation" OR "Clinical Trial") (The specific search strategy is described in the Supplementary Appendix S1). The reference lists of

Eligibility criteria

Using titles, abstracts, or the complete texts of the research, two writers separately removed duplicate articles before finding and reviewing relevant publications. In the end, the papers were separated based on the following standards: (1) Randomized clinical trials studies; (2) NAD+ precursor supplementation (nicotinic acid (NA) or nicotinamide (NE) supplementation) was given as an intervention in individual's aged 18 and over; and 3) baseline and post measurements in both group (intervention and control) weight, BMI, adiponectin, and leptin were recorded. The most recent or longest follow-up period was used when a research revealed results at more than one follow-up time. Studies with duplicated data, studies with ambiguous information, studies in which NAD+ precursor was used as an intervention alongside other commonly prescribed medications, non-randomized trial designs, animal studies, studies without a control group, reviews, and metaanalysis studies were also excluded. The PICOS criteria for inclusion and exclusion of studies were as follows. Population: individual's aged 18 and over; Intervention: NAD+ precursor supplementation (nicotinic acid (NA) or nicotinamide (NE) supplementation); Comparator: other intervention or placebo; Outcomes: weight, BMI, adiponectin, and leptin; Study design: randomized clinical trials studies.

Data extraction

The qualifying studies were examined by two authors independently. The first author's name, the study's location, the year it was published, the sample size (for the intervention and control groups), the participant characteristics (such as the percentage of men, the participant's BMI, age, and health status), the type of outcomes, duration of the intervention, the dosage and type of the intervention, and the means and standard deviations (S.D.s) of the intended outcomes at baseline, post-intervention, and/or changes between baseline and post-intervention, were all extracted.

Quality assessment

The details of the evaluation of the study's quality are presented in Table 1. Using the Cochrane risk-of-bias test for randomized trials (RoB 2), version 2, the quality of the included RCTs was methodologically evaluated (17). Based on the following potential sources of bias: blinding of outcome assessment, allocation concealment, participant and staff blinding, random sequence generation, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting, and other bias, two authors independently rated each study as having a low, high, or unclear risk of bias. A "High risk" rating indicates significant bias that may invalidate the results. These studies have serious errors in design, analysis, or reporting; have large amounts of missing information; or have discrepancies in reporting. Studies are assessed as at unclear risk of bias when too few details are available to make a judgement of 'high' or 'low' risk; when the risk of bias is genuinely unknown despite sufficient information about the conduct; or when an

| Study, Year (reference) | Random sequence generation | Allocation concealment | Blinding of participants and personnel | Blinding of outcome assessment | Incomplete outcome data | Selective reporting | Overall assessment of risk of bias |
|----------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------|---|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------|---|
| El-Kady et al. (2022) | Low | Low | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Liao et al. (2021) | Low | Unclear | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Canner et al. (2003) | Low | Low | Low | High | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Linke et al. (2008) | Low | Low | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Fabbrini et al. (2010) | Low | Unclear | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Aye et al. (2014) | Low | Low | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Vittone et al. (2007) | Low | High | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Vaccari et al. (2007) | Low | Low | High | Low | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Superko et al. (2004) | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Savinova et al. (2015) | Low | Unclear | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Bays et al. (2010) | Low | Low | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Okabe et al. (2022) | Low | Unclear | Unclear | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Ko et al. (1998) | Low | High | High | Low | High | Low | High |
| Kei et al. (2011) | Low | Low | High | Unclear | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Chauhan et al. (2011) | Low | Low | Unclear | Unclear | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Osar et al. (2004) | Low | Low | High | Low | Unclear | Low | Unclear |
| Westphal et al. (2007) | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |
| Lee et al. (2009) | Low | Low | Low | Low | Unclear | Low | Low |

TABLE 1 Risk of bias assessment according to the Cochrane collaboration's risk of bias assessment tool.

entry is not relevant to a study (for example because the study did not address any of the outcomes in the group of outcomes to which the entry applies). A "Low risk" study has the least bias, and results are considered valid. Any discrepancies were discussed with a third author in order to come to a consensus. The GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation) grading method was also used to evaluate the quality of the current analytic research (18). A reliable 10-point assessment system that assesses elements affecting study quality is the GRADE checklist. This scale has seven components: (1) risk of bias, (2) precision, (3) heterogeneity, (4) directness, (5) publishing bias, (6) funding bias, and (7) study design.

Data synthesis and statistical analysis

The data were examined using STATA version 12.0 software. Different data types were converted using a predetermined procedure to the mean and standard deviations (S.D.s) (19, 20). For instance, in the absence of standard deviations, we calculated the change using the method below: The definition of standard deviation changes is square root [(S.D. baseline ² + SD final ²) - (2R S.D. baseline 2 S.D. final)]. The following formula is used to convert the standard error of the mean (SEM) to standard deviation: S.D. is equal to SEM × \sqrt{n} , where n is the total number of participants in each group. The random-effects model was employed in the meta-analysis of research results. The weighting of the research followed the typical inverse variance technique. The data from the longest time point were used for the analysis, which allowed for the handling of many assessments within a single study group. Using

Q Statistics and I-squared (I²), the degree of study heterogeneity was evaluated. Insignificant, low, moderate, and high heterogeneity were found with I² values ranging from 0% to 25, 26 to 50%, 5 to 75%, and 76 to 100%, respectively (21). To identify possible causes of heterogeneity, a pre-defined subgroup analysis based on the dosage, duration, and type of the intervention was conducted. A sensitivity analysis was done to determine the contribution of each research to the overall mean difference. In order to establish if there was publication bias, we utilized the official Egger's test (22).

Results

Figure 1 depicts a flowchart of the research selection process with exclusion criteria. This value indicates that the aforementioned electronic databases generated 1781 articles. After removing publications with duplicate research, there were 1,259 total. Following an assessment of the research's titles and abstracts, 1,220 papers were dropped since they did not meet the inclusion requirements. 39 articles were found utilizing the full-text search during the secondary screening. For the reasons listed above, 21 of the investigations were dropped. Finally, 18 papers with 22 treatments arm were included in the quantitative meta-analysis since they matched the qualifying requirements.

Study characteristics

The features of the pooled articles are shown in Table 2. Our surveys reveal that seven studies have been carried out in USA, 2

articles in the Germany and UK, respectively, and other studies were conducted in Japan, China, India, Egypt, Turkey, Hong Kong, and Greece. All articles were published between 1998 and 2022 and follow up intervention ranged from 4 to 144 weeks. The mean age and percentage of male participants ranged from 31 to 65 years and 0–100%, respectively, at the baseline. The doses prescribed in the studies were between 250 and 3,000 mg per day, and in 4 studies the supplement type was in the form of NE and the rest were in the form of NA. Five studies conducted on patients with metabolic syndrome, five articles on people with a history of cardiovascular disease or dyslipidemia, two studies on each of type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and non-alcoholic fatty liver (NAFLD) as well as healthy samples, and two studies on patients with impaired glucose tolerance and polycystic ovary syndrome.

The findings of the evaluation of the eligible studies' quality are shown in Table 1. Additionally, a score of 8.8 (very good quality) was determined after the GRADE score system was used to assess the quality of the current meta-analysis.

Meta-analysis results

Pooled findings from the random-effects model indicated that body mass index (BMI) (weighted mean difference (WMD): -0.19 kg/m^2 , 95% confidence interval (CI): -0.29 to -0.09, p < 0.001) were significantly reduced after NAD+ precursor supplementation compared to control group. However, no significant effect was observed on body weight (WMD: 0.07 kg, 95% CI: -0.40 to 0.55, p = 0.766), leptin (WMD: 1.74 ng/mL, 95% CI: -3.45 to 6.92, p = 0.512) compared to the control group. Also, Pooled findings indicated that compared to the control group, adiponectin (WMD: 1.59 µg/mL, 95% CI: 0.49 to 2.68, p = 0.004) was significantly increased after with NAD+ precursor supplementation. Furthermore, significant heterogeneity was found among the studies for adiponectin (Cochran Q test, p < 0.001, $I^2 = 88.3\%$). However, low heterogeneity was reported for weight (Cochran Q test, p = 0.984, $I^2 = 0.0\%$), BMI (Cochran Q test, p = 0.395, $I^2 = 5.1\%$), and leptin (Cochran Q test, p = 0.579, $I^2 = 0.0\%$) (Figures 2–4).

Subgroups analysis

The findings of the subgroup also show the greater effect of NAD+ precursor supplementation on BMI decrease in a dose $\geq 2g$ and a duration of intervention >12 weeks. In addition, subgroup analysis showed that BMI reduction was greater when receiving nicotinic acid (NA) supplementation than nicotinamide (NE) supplementation (Supplementary Table).



TABLE 2 Characteristics of eligible studies.

| Author (year) | Country | Population | Mean age year | Sex (Male %) | Sample size study (intervention/ control) | Follow up of intervention (Weeks) | Type and dose (mg/day) of intervention | Baseline of BMI (kg/m²) | Outcomes |
|---------------------------|-----------|---|------------------|--------------|--|---|--|----------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| El-Kady et al. (2022) | Egypt | NAFLD | 45.6 | 41.9 | 31/30 | 12 | 1,000 mg NE | 32.69 | BMI, weight, Adiponectin |
| Liao et al. (2021) | China | Healthy Subjects | 37 | 83.3 | 12/12 | 6 | 300, 600, 1,200 mg NE | 22 | BMI, weight |
| Canner et al. (2003) | USA | Metabolic Syndrome and Healed Myocardial Infarction | NR | NR | 964/2468 | 48 | 2000 mg NA | NR | BMI |
| Linke et al. (2008) | Germany | Patients with impaired glucose tolerance | 45.5 | 70 | 30/30 | 24 | 1,000 mg NA | 37.9 | BMI, weight, Adiponectin, Leptin |
| Fabbrini et al. (2010) | USA | NAFLD | 43 | 30 | 9/9 | 16 | 2000 mg NA | 35.8 | BMI, weight |
| Aye et al. (2014) | UK | Polycystic ovary syndrome | 31 | 0 | 13/12 | 12 | 1,000 mg NA | 35.8 | BMI |
| Vittone et al. (2007) | USA | Patients with metabolic syndrome | 54 | 86.2 | 80/80 | 144 | 2000 mg NA | 29.7 | BMI |
| Vaccari et al. (2007) | USA | Patients with metabolic syndrome | 32 | 56 | 30/15 | 52 | 1,000 mg NA | 29.7 | BMI, Adiponectin |
| Superko et al. (2004) | USA | Hypercholesterolemic subjects | 53 | 71.6 | 60, 59/61 | 14 | 1,500, 3,000 mg NA | 28 | BMI |
| Savinova et al. (2015) | USA | Patients with metabolic syndrome | 47 | 57 | 14/14 | 16 | 2000 mg NA | 32.7 | BMI |
| Bays et al. (2010) | USA | Dyslipidemic patients without metabolic syndrome | 57.7 | 62.4 | 221, 320/110, 160 | 24 | 2000 mg NA | 31.5 | ВМІ |
| Okabe et al. (2022) | Japan | Healthy Subjects | 42.9 | 26.6 | 15/15 | 16 | 250 mg NE | 21.3 | BMI, weight |
| Ko et al. (1998) | Hong Kong | T2DM | 59.2 | 36.3 | 32/30 | 12 | 750 mg NA | 25.7 | BMI |
| Kei et al. (2011) | Greece | Dyslipidemic patients | 58 | 46.6 | 30/30 | 12 | 2000 mg NA | 29.1 | weight |
| Chauhan et al. (2011) | India | Hyperlipidemic patients | NR | NR | 17/20 | 12 | 2,250 mg NA | NR | weight |
| Osar et al. (2004) | Turkey | Patients with Poorly Controlled Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus | 58 | 46.6 | 15/15 | 4 | 3,000 mg NE | 30 | weight |
| Westphal et al. (2007) | Germany | Patients with metabolic syndrome | 55 | 100 | 20/10 | 6 | 1,500 mg NA | 32.4 | Adiponectin, Leptin |
| Lee et al. (2009) | UK | Patients with coronary artery disease | 65 | 94 | 22/29 | 48 | 2000 mg NA | 31 | Adiponectin |

BMI, body mass index; NAFLD, Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; TD2M, Type 2 diabetes; NR, not report; NA, Nicotinic acid; NE, Nicotinamide.

Meta-regression

Meta-regression between NAD+ precursor and absolute mean differences in body weight and BMI based on dosage and duration of intervention was performed. Only, there was a significant relationship between dose of intervention with changes in BMI (coefficient (Coef) = -0.0001847, p = 0.033). However, meta-regression analysis did not show a significant linear relationship between dose and duration of intervention with weight changes (Supplementary Figures S1, S2).

Sensitivity analysis

To discover the effect of each article on the pooled effect size for the levels of weight, BMI, adiponectin, and leptin, we step-bystep discarded each trial from the analysis. The leave-one-out sensitivity analysis indicated the robustness of the results (Supplementary Figure S3).

Publication bias

Evaluating the publication bias by visual inspection of the funnel, no evidence for publication bias based on the Egger's tests was detected for weight (p=0.531), BMI (p=0.621), adiponectin (p=1.00), and leptin (p=0.602; Supplementary Figure S4).

Discussion

The results of our systematic review and meta-analysis showed that nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) precursor

supplementation has an effect on lowering BMI and increasing adiponectin in humans compared with control groups. Furthermore, there was a significant relationship between doses of intervention with changes in BMI. The findings of the subgroup also show the greater effect of NAD+ precursor supplementation on BMI decrease in a dose \geq 2g and a duration of intervention >12 weeks.

Currently, there is no meta-analysis on the effect of NAD+ precursors on obesity in the human body. Earlier meta-analysis investigated and described the effect of NAD+ precursor supplementation on improving TG, TC, LDL, and HDL levels in humans, but resulted in hyperglycemia, compared with placebo or no treatment (23, 24). Animal studies evaluating obese mice have shown an association between NAD+ supplementation and improved indices of obesity as well as molecular regulation of adipocytes (25, 26).

Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) is an important molecule in energy and signal transduction, besides acting as substrate for enzymes such as sirtuins, poly-ADP ribose polymerases (PARPs), and cyclic ADP ribose synthetases that regulate key cellular processes of energy metabolism, DNA damage repair, and calcium signaling (27). Improving NAD+ availability *via* NAD+ precursor supplementation has emerged as a potential strategy to augment tissue-specific NAD+ homeostasis and improve physiological function (28). Thus, NAD+ supplementation therapy is a new treatment for obesity in recent years because acts *via* activation of the NAD+-dependent sirtuin enzyme family, thereby regulating oxidative metabolism (29, 30).

NAD+ precursors such as nicotinamide riboside (NR) and nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) is a recently discovered vitamin B3, are available as over-the-counter dietary supplements, and oral supplementation with these precursors reduction in fat mass and an increase in lean mass; improved glucose tolerance and alleviated





FIGURE 3

Forest plot of randomized controlled trails investigating the effects of NAD+ precursor supplementation on body mass index (BMI) (kg/m²).



adipose tissue inflammation in pre-clinical models with obesity (26). Remie et al. (31) has demonstrated that NAD+ supplementation therapy with 1,000 mg/d for 6 weeks in healthy overweight or obese men and women increased skeletal muscle NAD+ metabolites, affected skeletal muscle acetylcarnitine metabolism, and induced minor changes in body composition. Consistent with the effect of NAD+ precursor supplementation on body composition observed by Remie et al. (31), we have shown lowering BMI at 0.19 kg/m² and BMI decrease was higher in a dose \geq 2 g and a duration of intervention >12 weeks. In another study in 2018, which was conducted to investigate dietary nicotinamide riboside (NR) supplementation in a 12-week period on the

improvement of insulin sensitivity and other metabolic parameters in obese and insulin-resistant men, the results showed that NR in doses of 2g/day had no effect on resting energy expenditure, lipolysis, lipid oxidation, or body composition (32). In a study, with the aim of determining the effect of long-term NR supplementation on increasing mitochondrial biogenesis and metabolic health on twenty monozygotic twins discordant with BMI with an increasing dose of NR (250 to 1,000 mg per day) for 5 months, NR did not improve obesity or metabolic health (33). Udin et al. (34) evaluated the effects of NAD+ supplementation in rats fed a high-fat diet. The results showed that NAD+ supplementation reduced the BMI of the rats, suggesting that NAD+ supplementation may be an effective strategy for weight loss and improving metabolic health. In another animal study on diet-induced obese rats, NA decreased visceral adipose tissue and improved adiponectin levels and lipid profile (35). However, a study on developing rats did not show any useful results regarding the effect of NE on factors related to obesity (36).

However, despite the promising result for BMI lowering in the face of supplementation, no significant effect was observed on body weight. Despite previous evidence from preclinical studies on promoting resistance to weight gain no significant effect on body weight in human studies was observed in our meta-analysis. We believe that the discrepancy between the results observed for the BMI and body weight outcomes is related to the smaller number and consequent smaller effect size of studies selected for the body weight outcome in relation to the BMI outcome (37). Moreover, we observed that for the outcome of body weight, the majority of weight of the studies obtained from the effect size was concentrated in the evidence demonstrated by Liao et al. (38), which was responsible for 92.5% of the overall effect (% weight), this can overestimate the total effect.

To investigate the role of the effect of NAD+ precursor supplementation on obesity, we evaluated leptin and adiponectin. Adipose tissue is a metabolic and endocrine organ that secretes a number of adipokines that contribute to the etiology of obesityrelated metabolic complications (39, 40). Leptin is a hormone produced by adipose tissue that plays an important role in regulating appetite and energy metabolism. Elevated leptin levels are associated with suppressed appetite and increased energy expenditure, while reduced leptin levels are associated with increased appetite and decreased energy expenditure (41). Adiponectin, on the other hand, is a hormone secreted by fat cells that has been linked to the regulation of metabolism and insulin sensitivity (42). Dysfunction of leptin signaling and reduced adiponectin levels may contribute to the development of obesity. In our review we observed no effect on leptin levels. In contrast, increased levels were observed in patients who used supplementation. Elevated levels of adiponectins in humans may correlate with inflammation or the body's reaction to exacerbation on contact with new substances, in the case of NAD+ supplementation, so that in the supplemented group there was an increase in its levels, as an attempt to combat the effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines, there is an increase in adiponectins (43). In addition, the fact that a low BMI is associated with an increase in adiponectin can be explained, identifying that the secretion of this adipokine is related to the quality, not the quantity, of adipose tissue, and in addition to BMI, in situations of greater age this also tends to occur (42).

Another interesting finding regarding the effects of NAD+ precursors on BMI was their greater magnitude with the use of NA when compared to NE. However, it is important to highlight that only five RCTs evaluating the effect of NE supplementation on BMI were included in this meta-analysis. In fact, when compared to NA, NE has been less studied regarding its effect on BMI. Thus, more studies evaluating the effect of NE supplementation would be important to better investigate its therapeutic potential in obesity outcomes, allowing a better comparison in relation to other NAD+ precursors. In addition, unlike NE, NA reduces the levels of lipid profiles, including cholesterol and triglycerides, which can explain its greater effect on BMI and be effective on factors related to obesity.

Our study had some limitations that jeopardized the extraction of robust conclusions. Clinically and statistically significant heterogeneities was found for adiponectin. These may be explained by the differences in the intervention-specific factors (e.g., type, dose, administration route, and duration of drugs) and weight-specific factors (e.g., age, sex, physiology, genetics, familial history, race/ ethnicity, physical activity, socioeconomic status, dietary intakes, and drug, tobacco, or alcohol consumption) (44). Nonetheless, we attempted to identify some possible sources of heterogeneity in data by performing a subgroup analysis. In addition, lack of registration of the current study in PROSPERO due to time limit was another limitation of this study.

Despite its limitations, the current study has several positive features: a rigorous methodology was used based on the PRISMA guidelines; a comprehensive literature search included different independent databases; search, selection, and data extraction applied to the selected studies were performed separately, and in duplicate, by two researchers; a third party was accessed to solve disagreements. Furthermore, the present study likely included the largest effect size for each outcome assessed at obesity.

Conclusion

The finding of this paper showed that NAD+ precursor supplementation has an effect on lowering BMI and increasing adiponectin in humans compared with control groups. However, no significant effect was observed on body weight and leptin. Given the evidence of decreased BMI in humans and increased adiponectin, it is important to emphasize that NAD+ supplementation should not be seen as a one-time solution for weight loss and should be combined with healthy eating habits and exercise under professional guidance from a dietitian.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This study was approved by the research council and ethics committee Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran.

Author contributions

MS and YB contributed in conception, design, and statistical analysis. MS, YB, ST, MG, and NS contributed in data collection and manuscript drafting. MS supervised the study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. World Health Organization. *Obesity and overweight* (2016). Available at: http:// www.whoint/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en

2. Williams EP, Mesidor M, Winters K, Dubbert PM, Wyatt SB. Overweight and obesity: prevalence, consequences, and causes of a growing public health problem. *Curr Obes Rep.* (2015) 4:363–70. doi: 10.1007/s13679-015-0169-4

3. Paniagua JA. Nutrition, insulin resistance and dysfunctional adipose tissue determine the different components of metabolic syndrome. *World J Diabetes*. (2016) 7:483. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v7.i19.483

4. Naukkarinen J, Heinonen S, Hakkarainen A, Lundbom J, Vuolteenaho K, Saarinen L, et al. Characterising metabolically healthy obesity in weight-discordant monozygotic twins. *Diabetologia*. (2014) 57:167–76. doi: 10.1007/s00125-013-3066-y

5. Heinonen S, Buzkova J, Muniandy M, Kaksonen R, Ollikainen M, Ismail K, et al. Impaired mitochondrial biogenesis in adipose tissue in acquired obesity. *Diabetes*. (2015) 64:3135–45. doi: 10.2337/db14-1937

6. Huang C-J, McAllister MJ, Slusher AL, Webb HE, Mock JT, Acevedo EO. Obesityrelated oxidative stress: the impact of physical activity and diet manipulation. *Sports Med.Open*. (2015) 1:1–12. doi: 10.1186/s40798-015-0031-y

7. Houtkooper RH, Pirinen E, Auwerx J. Sirtuins as regulators of metabolism and healthspan. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2012) 13:225–38. doi: 10.1038/nrm3293

8. Conze D, Brenner C, Kruger CL. Safety and metabolism of long-term administration of NIAGEN (nicotinamide riboside chloride) in a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trial of healthy overweight adults. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46120-z

9. Bogan KL, Brenner C. Nicotinic acid, nicotinamide, and nicotinamide riboside: a molecular evaluation of NAD+ precursor vitamins in human nutrition. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2008) 28:115–30. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.28.061807.155443

10. Rajman L, Chwalek K, Sinclair DA. Therapeutic potential of NAD-boosting molecules: the in vivo evidence. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 27:529-47. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2018.02.011

11. Belenky P, Bogan KL, Brenner C. NAD+ metabolism in health and disease. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2007) 32:12–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2006.11.006

12. Chalkiadaki A, Guarente L. High-fat diet triggers inflammation-induced cleavage of SIRT1 in adipose tissue to promote metabolic dysfunction. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 16:180–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.07.003

13. Wei X, Jia R, Wang G, Hong S, Song L, Sun B, et al. Depot-specific regulation of NAD+/SIRTs metabolism identified in adipose tissue of mice in response to high-fat diet feeding or calorie restriction. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2020) 80:108377. doi: 10.1016/j. jnutbio.2020.108377

14. Jukarainen S, Heinonen S, Rämö JT, Rinnankoski-Tuikka R, Rappou E, Tummers M, et al. Obesity is associated with low NAD+/SIRT pathway expression in adipose tissue of BMI-discordant monozygotic twins. *J Clin Endocrinol.* (2016) 101:275–83. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3095

15. Rappou E, Jukarainen S, Rinnankoski-Tuikka R, Kaye S, Heinonen S, Hakkarainen A, et al. Weight loss is associated with increased NAD+/SIRT1 expression but reduced PARP activity in white adipose tissue. *J Clin Endocrinol Metabol.* (2016) 101:1263–73. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3054

16. Parums DV. Review articles, systematic reviews, meta-analysis, and the updated preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) 2020 guidelines. *Med Sci Mon.* (2021) 27:e934475–1. doi: 10.12659/MSM.934475

17. Higgins JP, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Sterne JA. Assessing risk of bias in a randomized trial. *Cochrane Handbook Syst Rev Interv.* (2019):205–28. doi: 10.1002/9781119536604.ch8

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1208734/ full#supplementary-material

18. Schwingshackl L, Knüppel S, Schwedhelm C, Hoffmann G, Missbach B, Stelmach-Mardas M, et al. Perspective: NutriGrade: a scoring system to assess and judge the Metaevidence of randomized controlled trials and cohort studies in nutrition research. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:994–1004. doi: 10.3945/an.116.013052

19. Higgins J. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Version 5.1.0 The Cochrane Collaboration. Available at: www.cochrane-handbook.org (2011).

20. Hozo SP, Djulbegovic B, Hozo I. Estimating the mean and variance from the median, range, and the size of a sample. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. (2005) 5:13. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-5-13

21. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ*. (2003) 327:557–60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557

22. Egger M, Smith GD, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ*. (1997) 315:629–34. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629

23. Zhong O, Wang J, Tan Y, Lei X, Tang Z. Effects of NAD+ precursor supplementation on glucose and lipid metabolism in humans: a meta-analysis. *Nutr Metab*. (2022) 19:20. doi: 10.1186/s12986-022-00653-9

24. Sahebkar A, Reiner Ž, Simental-Mendia LE, Ferretti G, Cicero AF. Effect of extended-release niacin on plasma lipoprotein (a) levels: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials. *Metabolism*. (2016) 65:1664–78. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2016.08.007

25. Roh E, Myoung Kang G, Young Gil S, Hee Lee C, Kim S, Hong D, et al. Effects of chronic NAD supplementation on energy metabolism and diurnal rhythm in obese mice. *Obesity.* (2018) 26:1448–56. doi: 10.1002/oby.22263

26. Zhang Y, Zhu W, Wang M, Xi P, Wang H, Tian D. Nicotinamide mononucleotide alters body composition and ameliorates metabolic disorders induced by a high-fat diet. *IUBMB Life*. (2023) 75:548–62. doi: 10.1002/iub.2707

27. Yoshino J, Baur JA, Imai S-i. NAD+ intermediates: the biology and therapeutic potential of NMN and NR. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 27:513–28. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2017.11.002

28. Elhassan YS, Philp AA, Lavery GG. Targeting NAD+ in metabolic disease: new insights into an old molecule. J Endocr Soc. (2017) 1:816–35. doi: 10.1210/js.2017-00092

29. Soma M, Lalam SK. The role of nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) in antiaging, longevity, and its potential for treating chronic conditions. *Mol Biol Rep.* (2022) 49:9737–48. doi: 10.1007/s11033-022-07459-1

30. Houtkooper RH, Auwerx J. *Exploring the therapeutic space around NAD+*. The Rockefeller University Press; (2012), *199*, 205–209.

 Remie CM, Roumans KH, Moonen MP, Connell NJ, Havekes B, Mevenkamp J, et al. Nicotinamide riboside supplementation alters body composition and skeletal muscle acetylcarnitine concentrations in healthy obese humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2020) 112:413–26. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqaa072

32. Dollerup OL, Christensen B, Svart M, Schmidt MS, Sulek K, Ringgaard S, et al. A randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial of nicotinamide riboside in obese men: safety, insulin-sensitivity, and lipid-mobilizing effects. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 108:343–53. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy132

33. Lapatto HA, Kuusela M, Heikkinen A, Muniandy M, van der Kolk BW, Gopalakrishnan S, et al. Nicotinamide riboside improves muscle mitochondrial biogenesis, satellite cell differentiation, and gut microbiota in a twin study. *Sci Adv.* (2023) 9:eadd5163. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.add5163

34. Uddin GM, Youngson NA, Chowdhury SS, Hagan C, Sinclair DA, Morris MJ. Administration of nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) reduces metabolic impairment in male mouse offspring from obese mothers. *Cells.* (2020) 9:791. doi: 10.3390/ cells9040791
35. Morakinyo AO, Samuel TA, Adekunbi DA, Adegoke OA. Niacin improves adiponectin secretion, glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in diet-induced obese rats. *Egypt J Basic Appl Sci.* (2015) 2:261–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejbas.2015.08.003

36. Li D, Tian Y-J, Guo J, Sun W-P, Lun Y-Z, Guo M, et al. Nicotinamide supplementation induces detrimental metabolic and epigenetic changes in developing rats. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 110:2156–64. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513001815

37. Zhang Z, Xu X, Ni H. Small studies may overestimate the effect sizes in critical care metaanalyses: a meta-epidemiological study. *Crit Care*. (2013) 17:R2-9. doi: 10.1186/cc11919

38. Liao B, Zhao Y, Wang D, Zhang X, Hao X, Hu M. Nicotinamide mononucleotide supplementation enhances aerobic capacity in amateur runners: a randomized, doubleblind study. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr.* (2021) 18:54. doi: 10.1186/s12970-021-00442-4

39. Unamuno X, Gómez-Ambrosi J, Rodríguez A, Becerril S, Frühbeck G, Catalán V. Adipokine dysregulation and adipose tissue inflammation in human obesity. *Eur J Clin Investig.* (2018) 48:e12997. doi: 10.1111/eci.12997

40. Westphal S, Borucki K, Taneva E, Makarova R, Luley C. Extended-release niacin raises adiponectin and leptin. *Atherosclerosis.* (2007) 193:361–5. doi: 10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2006.06.028

41. Landecho M, Tuero C, Valentí V, Bilbao I, de la Higuera M, Frühbeck G. Relevance of leptin and other adipokines in obesity-associated cardiovascular risk. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2664. PUBMED. doi: 10.3390/nu11112664

42. Zhao S, Kusminski CM, Scherer PE. Adiponectin, leptin and cardiovascular disorders. *Circ Res.* (2021) 128:136–49. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.314458

43. Kırdar S, Serter M, Ceylan E, Şener AG, Kavak T, Karadağ F. Adiponectin as a biomarker of systemic inflammatory response in smoker patients with stable and exacerbation phases of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest.* (2009) 69:219–24. doi: 10.1080/00365510802474400

44. Jéquier E, Tappy L. Regulation of body weight in humans. *Physiol Rev.* (1999) 79:451–80. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1999.79.2.451

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Xuhuiqun Zhang, Complete Genomics, United States Maria Maisto, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Sara Baldassano ⊠ sara.baldassano@unipa.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 03 September 2023 ACCEPTED 24 November 2023 PUBLISHED 22 December 2023

CITATION

Ferrantelli V, Vasto S, Alongi A, Sabatino L, Baldassano D, Caldarella R, Gagliano R, Di Rosa L, Consentino BB, Vultaggio L and Baldassano S (2023) Boosting plant food polyphenol concentration by saline eustress as supplement strategies for the prevention of metabolic syndrome: an example of randomized interventional trial in the adult population. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1288064. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1288064

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ferrantelli, Vasto, Alongi, Sabatino, Baldassano, Caldarella, Gagliano, Di Rosa, Consentino, Vultaggio and Baldassano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Boosting plant food polyphenol concentration by saline eustress as supplement strategies for the prevention of metabolic syndrome: an example of randomized interventional trial in the adult population

Vincenzo Ferrantelli^{1†}, Sonya Vasto^{2,3†}, Angelina Alongi¹, Leo Sabatino⁴, Davide Baldassano⁵, Rosalia Caldarella⁶, Rosaria Gagliano¹, Luigi Di Rosa³, Beppe Benedetto Consentino⁴, Lorena Vultaggio⁴ and Sara Baldassano³*

¹Experimental Zooprophylactic Institute of Sicily, Palermo, Italy, ²Euro-Mediterranean Institutes of Science and Technology (IEMEST), Palermo, Italy, ³Department of Biological, Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences and Technologies, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ⁴Dipartimento Scienze Agrarie, Alimentari e Forestali, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ⁵Department of Promoting Health, Maternal-Infant, Excellence and Internal and Specialized Medicine (ProMISE) G. D'Alessandro, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ⁶Department of Laboratory Medicine, "P. Giaccone" University Hospital, Palermo, Italy

Introduction:Phenolic compounds in lettuce can increase by the application of positive stress (eustress) such as moderate saline stress. Phenolic compounds possess antioxidant capacity that is a key factor in the detoxification of excess reactive oxygen species. A double-blinded randomized interventional and placebo- controlled study design was carried out to compare the effect of daily dietary eustress lettuce ingestion in hepatic, lipid, bone, glucose, and iron metabolism.

Methods: Forty-two healthy volunteers, 19 female and 23 male participants, were divided into two groups. Participants were randomized into a polyphenol-enriched treatment (PET) arm or control arm. Each arm consumed 100 g/day of control or eustress (polyphenols enriched treatment = PET) lettuce for 12 days. Primary study outcomes were serological analysis for assessing hepatic, lipid, bone, iron, and glucose markers at baseline and after 12 days. Secondary outcomes assessed body composition.

Results: Salinity stress reduced plant yield but increased caffeic acid (+467%), chlorogenic acid (+320%), quercetin (+538%), and rutin (+1,095%) concentrations. The intake of PET lettuce reduced PTH, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), cholesterol, alanine transaminase (ALT), and aspartate transaminase (AST) enzyme levels and increased vitamin D and phosphate levels, while iron and glucose metabolism were unaffected.

Discussion: Supplementation with eustress lettuce by increasing polyphenols concentration ameliorates hepatic, lipid, and bone homeostasis. Body composition was not affected.

Clinical trial registration: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT06002672, identifier: NCT06002672.

KEYWORDS

MetS, diet, body homeostasis, functional food, lettuce, phytochemicals, nutritional intervention

1 Introduction

In recent years, the demand for fresh vegetables has been increasing due to consumers' self-awareness that fibers, mineral salts, and vitamins have a beneficial effect on health by reducing, for example, the risk of age-related diseases (1). Due to their bioactive properties, horticultural crops are in the interest of the major lines of international food manufacturing. Therefore, farmers together with scientists are working to characterize new market products with enhanced nutraceutical activity (2) in order to maintain sustainability for the preservation of natural resources.

In this view, it is necessary to point out the gap between research and market offering (3). At present, horticultural crops are well characterized for the quality component, while the information about the functional properties comes from *in vitro* (cells) or *in vivo* animal studies (rodents) and, therefore, translated to human metabolism. Thus, the effects of crops enriched with nutraceutical compounds on human body homeostasis and on disease prevention need to be addressed.

Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) is a green leafy vegetable belonging to the *Asteraceae* family, which is consumed worldwide by most of the population in all seasons. The high fiber content, which promotes satiety, and the presence of vitamin C, flavonoids, and phenolic acids place lettuce at the top of healthy food items (4, 5).

Groundwater salinization caused by salts such as NaCl and CaCl² is a growing concern in several regions of the ecosphere, comprising those of the Mediterranean basin (6). These salts can be derived from different fonts such as seawater infiltration, dissolution of minerals in rocks, and anthropogenic actions (7). The high electrical conductivity of irrigation water and agricultural soils is mainly due to the excessive use of fertilizers and determines salt stress in plants, affecting their growth and yield. However, the salinity can also be used to increase the content of bioactive compounds (8). The application of positive stress (eustress) can modulate the biosynthesis and accumulation of secondary metabolites via the activation of plant defense mechanisms (9). Therefore, the nutritional management of horticultural crops and the application of eustress, such as salinity, provide valuable and cost-effective tools to manipulate plant phytochemical content and product quality, which will contribute to meeting the growing market trends toward high value-added products (8). In fact, it was shown that moderate salinity resulted in an increase of ascorbic acid, α-tocopherol content, and antioxidant activity of Cichorium spinosum leaves (10). Furthermore, an increase in anthocyanin and ascorbic acid contents in green and red lettuce leaves (11, 12) was documented.

Several studies strongly suggest that a diet rich in polyphenols may have beneficial effects in the prevention of metabolic syndrome and related diseases (13), including cancer. Data on the effects of the consumption of polyphenols-enriched lettuce on human health are missing. Therefore, the specific objective of this study was to test whether polyphenols-enriched treatment (PET) lettuce supplementation influences human health. Two outcomes were measured: Primary outcomes investigating whether the consumption of PET lettuce could influence key regulators of body homeostasis, in particular, liver, lipid, bone, glucose, and iron metabolism in the adult population by assessing serological levels of hepatic, lipid, bone, iron, and glucose markers at baseline and after 12 days. Secondary outcomes evaluated the body composition.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Cultivation practice, experimental site, and design and yield of lettuce

The lettuce plants were grown on a farm belonging to the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Forestry Sciences of the University of Palermo (SAAF), located near Palermo. The growing cycle was carried out in a tunnel covered with a transparent polyethylene film. Before transplanting, aged manure was added as a soil amendment at a rate of 10 t ha⁻¹. On March 15, 2021, 300 plug plants of "Canasta" lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) (Syngenta Seed, Basel, Switzerland), at the stage of four to five true leaves, were transplanted at a density of 20 plants m⁻². Considering the short duration of the lettuce growing cycle and the nitrogen available in the soil (2‰), no fertilizers were added. During the growing cycle, the irrigation management was conducted in accordance with standard lettuce cultivation practices. After 7 days of transplanting, half of the plants were irrigated with tap water (0 mM NaCl; EC 0.68 dS m^{-1}), while the remaining plants were exposed to salinity stress (25 mM NaCl; EC 3.15 dS m⁻¹). All plants were harvested on May 31, 2021 and immediately weighed (10 plants per replication) and transferred to the Department of Biological, Chemical, and Pharmaceutical Sciences and Technologies, University of Palermo to start the clinical trial. The agronomic trial was arranged in a randomized complete block design, and each block was replicated three times, containing 50 plants each.

2.2 Design of the study and participants

This is a randomized and placebo-controlled study design. The protocol was approved with the number of approbation protocol 02/2020 by the Ethics Committee of the University of Palermo Hospital P. Giaccone and was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Participants provided, prior to study inclusion, written informed consent. The participants were recruited in March 2021. The study is registered at clinicaltrial.gov NCT06002672.

Based on previous studies (14–16), for the estimation of fasting insulin levels, *a priori* power calculation utilizing a level of statistical significance α of 5% and a probability β of 20% was performed, which estimated a sample size of eight people. In order to reduce type two error risks and to improve the evaluation power for the secondary outcomes, we decided to include not <12 persons in each group of the study. Forty-two healthy volunteers, 19 female and 23 male participants, joined the study. A team of physicians and nutritionists individually instructed the volunteers for the compilation of a food and lifestyle diary and for not changing lifestyle habits throughout the study period. This is because having a trained interviewer review increases the quality of the report (17). The information about food diaries was collected 8 days

TABLE 1 Criteria of eligibility for participation in the recruitment process.

| Criteria of selection for participation in the study | Inclusion criteria | Exclusion criteria | | | | |
|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Italian ethnicity | Absence of gastrointestinal, cardiac and blood dysfunction, absence of metabolic disorders, and viral infection | Presence of metabolic or chronic disease | | | | |
| Not taking medications and supplements | Age range: 18–65 years | Use of vitamins and minerals supplements and use of medications | | | | |
| Clinically healthy | Body mass index: 18.5–28 kg/m ² | Pregnancy and breastfeeding condition | | | | |

before the beginning of the study as previously reported (15) and until the end of the study in order to monitor compliance and adherence, showing eventual food habits and lifestyle modification. More specifically, participants were asked to record in detail the foods and beverages they consumed during the day at designated times and to report physical activity type and duration. The team of nutritionists conducted meal plan analysis of food diaries for each participant to monitor energy, macronutrients, micronutrients, and water and fiber consumption by using the WinFood software from Medimatica s.r.l Colonnella (TE) (Supplementary Table 1). This was done in order to check that subjects maintained their usual diet and lifestyle during the supplementation period. The flowchart of the recruitment and assignment of applicants to study groups is described in Figure 1. The criteria of eligibility for participation in the study were the absence of gastrointestinal, cardiac and blood dysfunction, absence of metabolic disorders, viral infection, use of medication including minerals and vitamins supplements and exogenous hormones, and the absence of pregnancy and breastfeeding condition. The criteria are summarized in Table 1.

2.3 Experimental research design procedures

Participants attended the ambulatory Nutrition Age and Bone (NABbio) of the University of Palermo, STEBICEF department in the morning between 7:00 and 8:00 a.m. (18, 19) under controlled conditions. They were in fasting condition from the dinner of the day before (12-h fasting) as previously reported (15). A sample of venous whole blood was collected in the appropriate tubes for serum and plasma, and the anthropometric measurements including body lean and fat mass, weight, and height (20) were recorded for each participant. To randomize the participants, a random number generator computer program (excel) was used to generate random numbers from the list for each group. Then, the participants were randomly assigned to the control or experimental group and given random numbers by a third party, who encoded the lettuces with matching random numbers. The medical staff, the investigator, and the participants in the study were blinded to the allocation during the whole data collection period. The investigators were also blinded during the data analysis and the sample assessment. Thus, participants in a double-blinded manner were allocated to one group, were provided with the crops of lettuce (\sim 2 kg), were instructed to store them (21), and to eat 100 g each day for 12 days. In the control group, 12 volunteers (8 female and 12 male participants) who received canasta lettuce were allocated. In the PET lettuce group, 22 people (11 female and 11 male participants) were allocated, but 2 subjects dropped out due to personal problems, thus leaving a total of 20 volunteers (9 female and 11 male participants). The study outcome is represented by a sample of blood collected at time zero and after 12 days of nutritional intervention (15), as shown in Figure 2. Specifically, the primary outcome assessment involved measuring the serological levels of hepatic, lipid, bone, iron, and glucose markers at baseline and after 12 days. secondary outcome measured body mass.

Authors had no access to information that could identify individual participants during or after data collection. To not be individuated and be anonymous, the samples were identified by code numbers.

2.4 Hematological and biochemical analysis of the samples

For the analysis of the samples, to obtain serum, blood was collected in specific tubes without anti-coagulant and centrifugated at room temperature, 1.300 g for 15 min. An automated procedure on the Roche COBAS c503, according to standard commercially available assays supplied by Roche Diagnostics, was performed to measure glucose and insulin, markers of hepatic, lipid, and iron metabolism, and markers of bone metabolism (14–16, 20, 22, 23).

2.5 Analysis of polyphenols in lettuces

Lettuce samples were stored immediately on reception at -80° C in a properly numbered plastic jar until analysis. Samples were properly homogenized before analysis using a laboratory blender. The blank was analyzed to confirm the absence of polyphenols.

In the sample extraction procedure, 0.1 g of lettuce grounded sample was used. Then, 10 mL of acetone/water/HCl (70:29.9:0.1 v/v/v) solution was added, and this mixture was shaken in a vortex, sonicated for 30 min, and centrifuged at 3,500 rpm for 15 min at $+5^{\circ}$ C. The supernatant was incubated overnight at 4° C. After incubation, samples were filtered using a $0.45\,\mu$ filter, and finally, 10 µL of the extract was injected into the UHPLC/HRMS system. For the analysis of polyphenols in lettuces, an accela pump HPLC binary pump, with an XBridge BEH column (Thermo) C18 2.5 μ m (2.1 \times 50 mm) was used. The oven temperature was $+40^{\circ}$ C and the flow rate was 300 μ L min⁻¹. The mobile phases were aqueous 0.1% formic acid (A) and ACN hypergrade (B), and the gradient program was as follows (time min, % B): (0, 5); (0.33, 30); (1.63, 100); (9.63, 100); (11.63, 5). The total run time was 13.63 min. The chromatographic system was coupled to a hybrid quadrupole-Orbitrap HRMS instrument (Q-Exactive, Thermo Scientific, Bremen, Germany), with heated electrospray



ionization (HESI) in the positive and negative ionization mode. The full MS-ddMS2 acquisition mode was applied with a resolution of 70,000 (m/z 200, FWHM), automatic gain control (AGC) target

3e6, maximum injection time (IT) 200 ms, and a scan range of 100–1,000 m/z. Nitrogen was obtained from a Zephyr generator (Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA). Compounds were



identified by retention time (RT) and accurate mass. In the experiment, a mass accuracy of 5 ppm was used. The analysis was carried out on the basis of calibration curves (https://doi.org/10. 6084/m9.figshare.24219346).

2.6 Statistical analyses

Student *t*-tests were used for the comparison of polyphenols in control and eustress lettuce. For the human study, the groups of study were first compared at baseline by using Student *t*-tests, while the differences between T0 and 1 were compared by using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posttest by using GraphPad Prism software. A *p*value for a dataset of ≤ 0.05 indicates that the results were statistically significant. Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (S.D).

3 Results

3.1 Phenolic quantification analysis in lettuces

The quantification of the phenolic compounds was performed in control and eustress (polyphenols enriched treatment) lettuces in order to observe differences in the concentration of polyphenols. Eustress (polyphenols enriched treatment) lettuce showed significantly increased concentrations of caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, quercetin, and rutin compared to the control lettuce. No difference was observed in apigenin and catechin concentrations between eustress lettuce and control (Table 2). TABLE 2 Polyphenols quantification in control and eustress (polyphenols enriched treatment PET) lettuce.

| Polyphenols content (µg/100 g of fresh weight) | $\begin{array}{c} {\sf Control} \\ {\sf lettuce} \\ {\sf mean} \pm {\sf SEM} \end{array}$ | PET lettuce mean \pm SEM | <i>p</i> - value | |
|---|---|----------------------------|---------------------|--|
| Apigenin | 114.4 ± 4.0 | 107.4 ± 1.2 | n.s. | |
| Caffeic acid | 27.4 ± 1.1 | 128 ± 0.8 | < 0.000001 | |
| Catechin | 18 ± 4.2 | 25.1 ± 2.0 | n.s. | |
| Chlorogenic acid | 260 ± 4.1 | 834.1 ± 96.6 | 0.000144 | |
| Quercetin | 28.2 ± 3.3 | 151.8 ± 7.8 | < 0.000001 | |
| Rutin | 14.6 ± 1.6 | 160 ± 5.9 | < 0.000001 | |
| Total polyphenols | 462.4 ± 7.0 | 1406.5 ± 106.9 | 0.000005 | |

Data are means \pm SEM. Student t-tests were used to compare the two groups of study. A p-value higher than 0.05 denotes that the change is not statistically significant (n.s.) and indicates strong evidence for the null hypothesis.

3.2 Anthropometric characteristics of the study population

As shown in Table 3, the two groups of the study were homogeneous in nature. The study started in March 2021 and ended in June 2021. No difference was observed in the percent of body fat and lean mass, in body weight among the two groups of subjects enrolled in the study at baseline and at the end of the intervention (Table 3).

| Study group information | Control group T0 ($n = 20$; 8 females; 12 males) Mean \pm S.D. | PET lettuce group T0 (n = 20; 9 females; 11 males) Mean ± S.D. | Control group T1 ($n = 20$; 8 females; 12 males) Mean \pm S.D. | PET lettuce group T1 ($n = 20;$ 9 females; 11 males) Mean \pm S.D. | <i>p</i> -value |
|----------------------------|--|---|--|--|-----------------|
| Age (years) | 45 ± 12 | 37 ± 11 | - | - | n.s. |
| Body weight (kilograms) | 75 ± 13 | 72 ± 15 | 75 ± 12 | 72 ± 15 | n.s. |
| Body mass index | 28.2 ± 3.8 | 26.0 ± 5.1 | - | - | n.s. |
| Height (centimeters) | 164 ± 8 | 166 ± 8 | - | - | n.s. |
| Body fat mass (percent) | hass (percent) 24.2 ± 4.7 | | 24.3 ± 4.8 | 23.6 ± 4.3 | n.s. |
| Body lean mass (percent) | 75.7 ± 4.7 | 76.5 ± 4.2 | 75.7 ± 4.8 | 76.4 ± 4.3 | n.s. |

TABLE 3 Characteristics of subjects in the two groups (control and polyphenols-enriched treatment, PET lettuce groups) at baseline (T0) and following 12 days of lettuce administration (100 g/day) (T1).

All the values are indicated as means \pm standard deviations (SD). Student t-tests were used to compare control and PET lettuce groups at baseline. When appropriate differences between and within the groups (T0 and T1) were compared by using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posttest. A p-value higher than 0.05 means that the change is not statistically significant and reported as not statistically significant (n.s.). A p-value for a dataset of ≤ 0.05 indicates that the results were statistically significant.

3.3 PET lettuce consumption in adults and its impact on hepatic and lipid homeostasis

PET-enriched lettuce consumption, 100 g/day, for 12 days improved liver function. Specifically, a reduction of \sim 30% in AST and \sim 34% in ALT enzymatic levels following 12 days of PET lettuce consumption from baseline (Table 4) was observed. Ingestion for 12 days of control lettuce was without effects on hepatic function. No difference was observed in ALP, GGT, TP, and albumin within or among the two groups (Table 4). The nutritional intervention with PET lettuce ameliorates lipid metabolism. In fact, it reduced total cholesterol and LDL levels and did not affect triglycerides and HDL concentration (Table 5).

3.4 PET lettuce intake in the adult population and its impact on bone homeostasis

Daily intake of PET lettuces reduced serum PTH and increased vitamin D and phosphate levels compared to baseline and control lettuce (both baseline and after 12 days) (Table 6). However, there was no modification in the markers of bone remodeling. There was no change in serum levels of bone formation (osteocalcin) and resorption (CTX), calcium, potassium, and calcitonin compared to the baseline or control group.

3.5 PET lettuce intake in the adult population and impact on glucose and iron homeostasis

PET lettuce intake did not affect blood glucose concentration. In fact, no differences were observed in fasting glucose and insulin levels among the two groups of study that consumed control or PET lettuce (Table 7). Moreover, the nutritional intervention with PET lettuce did not modify markers of iron metabolism such as iron, ferritin, and transferrin serum level concentration as well as transferrin saturation if compared to the control arm (Table 7).

4 Discussion

We are dealing with global warming and new pathology, and the COVID-19 pandemic is the latest example. These are signals that there is a need to increase sustainability. Therefore, new approaches to vegetable growth and novelty in their consumption are necessary in order to find new treatments for the prevention of metabolic syndrome. In the present study, we aimed to understand the effect of natural eustress, such as a mild increase in salinity, in one of the most popular consumed vegetables such as lettuce. In particular, the novelty of the study was to verify the ability of eustress to increase functional content, in particular, polyphenols, and to analyze the impact on human physiological homeostasis in an attempt to find new nutritional strategies for the prevention of metabolic syndrome.

Data showed that salinity-stressed plants had a lower yield than control plants. These findings are coherent with a previous study (24) that reported a yield reduction in iceberg lettuce plants stressed with NaCl. This effect could be attributed to the osmotic, ionic, and oxidative stress caused by salinity (25). Moreover, eustress significantly increased the concentration of caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, quercetin, and rutin with respect to control lettuce. Therefore, as previously shown by Santander et al. (26), we confirm that mild eustress improves the functional quality of lettuce and specifically it acts by increasing polyphenol concentration. This effect is linked to the modification of plant physiological mechanisms and metabolism, permitting plants to grow better under sub-optimal environmental conditions through the activation of antioxidant systems (8).

To investigate the potential effect of PET lettuce supplementation in the prevention of metabolic syndrome, the cohort of adults consumed two different types of lettuce every day in a quantity that we know is well accepted by the participants (23), 100 g a day for 12 days. One group ate the control lettuce, which was grown without salinity eustress, while the other

TABLE 4 Markers of hepatic function were measured in the study population baseline (T0) and following 12 days of control and polyphenols-enriched treatment (PET) lettuce administration (100 g/day) (T1).

| Markers of hepatic function | Control group T0 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | Control group T1 ($n = 20$) Mean \pm SD | p- value | PET lettuce group T0 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | PET lettuce group T1 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | p- value |
|---|--|--|-------------|--|--|-------------|
| Aspartate aminotransferase (AST) (U/l) | 24 ± 7 | 25.6 ± 6 | n.s. | 23 ± 7 | 16.4 ± 5 | 0.0108 |
| Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) (U/l) | 25 ± 7.0 | 23.6 ± 8.0 | n.s. | 24 ± 8.4 | 15.8 ± 11 | 0.0309 |
| Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (U/l) | 66 ± 9 | 61 ± 11 | n.s. | 66 ± 11 | 64 ± 13 | n.s. |
| Gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) (U/L) | 17 ± 6 | 17.5 ± 6 | n.s. | 17 ± 10 | 15 ± 7 | n.s. |
| Total protein (TP) (g/L) | 72 ± 5 | 71 ± 4 | n.s. | 72 ± 3 | 70 ± 3 | n.s. |
| Albumin (g/L) | 46 ± 3 | 44 ± 3 | n.s. | 45 ± 2.4 | 44 ± 2.5 | n.s. |

All the values are indicated as means \pm standard deviations (SD). Differences between and within the groups (T0 and T1) were compared by using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posttest. A p-value higher than 0.05 means that the change is not statistically significant and reported as not statistically significant (n.s.). A p-value for dataset \leq 0.05 indicates that the results were statistically significant.

TABLE 5 Markers of lipid metabolism were measured in the study population baseline (T0) and following 12 days of control and polyphenols-enriched treatment (PET) lettuce administration (100 g/day) (T1).

| Markers of lipid metabolism | Control group T0 ($n = 20$) Mean \pm SD | Control group T1 ($n = 20$) Mean \pm SD | <i>p-</i> value | PET lettuce group T0 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | PET lettuce group T1 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | p- value |
|--|--|--|--------------------|--|--|-------------|
| Triglycerides (mg/dL) | 104 ± 49 | 97 ± 20 | n.s. | 91 ± 56 | 95 ± 29 | n.s. |
| Total cholesterol (mg/dL) | 194 ± 27 | 189 ± 14 | n.s. | 198 ± 32 | 167 ± 33 | 0.0035 |
| Low-density lipoproteins (LDL) cholesterol (mg/dL) | 116 ± 28 | 113 ± 24 | n.s. | 124 ± 32 | 90 ± 27 | 0.0010 |
| High-density lipoproteins (HDL) cholesterol (mg/dL) | 65 ± 13 | 61 ± 13 | n.s. | 63 ± 11 | 60 ± 14 | n.s. |

All the values are indicated as means \pm standard deviations (SD). Differences between and within the groups (T0 and T1) were compared by using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posttest. A p-value higher than 0.05 means that the change is not statistically significant and reported as not statistically significant (n.s.). A p-value for dataset \leq 0.05 indicates that the results were statistically significant.

group consumed-for the same period-the PET lettuce. The two groups of study have a similar age range and anthropometric characteristics. The participants did not report differences in the taste or appearance of lettuces. Moreover, they did not report differences in diet and/or lifestyle during the supplementation periods as reported in the food diary. Both the groups, control and PET lettuce, maintained their usual lifestyle. From the physiopathology point of view, the group that consumed the PET lettuce showed improved body homeostasis. In fact, PET lettuce consumption ameliorated liver function by reducing the AST and ALT levels. It also acted in lipid metabolism by reducing total cholesterol and LDL compared with control lettuce. Our results are in accordance with several reports (27), which showed that polyphenols, due to their beneficial properties when regularly consumed in humans, reduced the risk of several metabolic disorders associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. The added value of this study is that polyphenols are naturally increased by eustress, and lettuce can be easily consumed during meals with a normal diet. Thus, regular PET lettuce consumption could be an optimal solution for the prevention of NAFLD and metabolic syndrome.

Despite the health-promoting qualities of polyphenols, it was postulated that the consumption of polyphenols may be associated with decreasing the absorption and bioavailability of iron (28, 29) and affects iron metabolism. Therefore, the markers of iron metabolism were measured in order to verify if consumption of eustress lettuce may be associated with negative health consequences. We did not find differences in iron, transferrin, ferritin, and ceruloplasmin levels between the groups of study ruling out that PET lettuce consumption could interfere with iron status. We also did not find modification in glucose and insulin circulating levels between the control and PET lettuce group. The effects of polyphenols-enriched food in glycemic control during clinical trials are still unclear (30).

In consideration of the tight link between lipid and bone metabolism (31–33) and the lack of clinical trials to define a clear link between these phytonutrients and bone health (34), we analyzed if consumption of PET lettuce impacts markers of bone remodeling and metabolism. We measured serum PTH. This hormone is secreted from the parathyroid glands and is a key regulator of bone metabolism and calcium–phosphorus homeostasis (35). It upregulates bone turnover (36). In particular, PTH has a stimulatory effect on bone resorption. PET lettuce consumption significantly reduced the concentration of PTH. Therefore, its reduction, within the physiological range, suggests that PET lettuce intake exerts a positive effect on the maintenance

| Markers of bone metabolism | Control group T0 (n = 20) Mean ± SD | Control group T1 ($n = 20$) Mean \pm SD | <i>p-</i> value | PET lettuce group T0 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | PET lettuce group T1 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | <i>p-</i> value |
|--|--|--|--------------------|--|--|--------------------|
| Carboxy-terminal collagen crosslinks (CTX) (µg/L) | 0.45 ± 0.1 | 0.43 ± 0.1 | n.s. | 0.5 ± 0.2 | 0.46 ± 0.2 | n.s. |
| Osteocalcin (µg/L) | 22 ± 6.5 | 20.5 ± 6.2 | n.s. | 24 ± 6.6 | 23.3 ± 8 | n.s. |
| PTH (ng/ml) | 43.2 ± 9.3 | 40 ± 9.5 | n.s. | 40.3 ± 12 | 29.8 ± 11 | 0.0177 |
| Vitamin D (µg/L) | 32.2 ± 4.4 | 31.6 ± 5.5 | ns | 32.5 ± 3.3 | 41.3 ± 8.9 | < 0.0001 |
| Phosphate (mg/dL) | 3.2 ± 0.7 | 3.1 ± 0.8 | n.s. | 3.2 ± 0.6 | 3.8 ± 0.5 | 0.0079 |
| Aa calcium (mg/dL) | 8.7 ± 1.3 | 8.4 ± 1.1 | n.s. | 9.1 ± 0.2 | 9.2 ± 0.2 | n.s. |
| Potassium (mmol/L) | 4.0 ± 0.3 | 3.9 ± 0.4 | n.s. | 3.7 ± 1.1 | 4.2 ± 0.3 | n.s. |
| Calcitonin (ng/L) | 2.3 ± 2.4 | 1.6 ± 1.5 | n.s. | 2.3 ± 2.3 | 1.6 ± 1.4 | n.s. |

TABLE 6 Markers of bone remodeling and metabolism were measured in the study population baseline (T0) and following 12 days of control and polyphenols-enriched treatment (PET) lettuce administration (100 g/day) (T1).

All the values are indicated as means \pm standard deviations (SD). Differences between and within the groups (T0 and T1) were compared by using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posttest. A p-value higher than 0.05 means that the change is not statistically significant and reported as not statistically significant (n.s.). A p-value for dataset \leq 0.05 indicates that the results were statistically significant.

TABLE 7 Markers of glucose and iron metabolism were measured in the study population baseline (T0) and following 12 days of control and polyphenols-enriched treatment (PET) lettuce administration (100 g/day) (T1).

| Markers of glucose and iron metabolism | Control group T0 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | Control group T1 ($n = 20$) Mean \pm SD | <i>p</i> - value | PET lettuce group T0 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | PET lettuce group T1 (n = 20) Mean \pm SD | p- value |
|--|--|--|---------------------|--|--|-------------|
| Glucose (mg/dL) | 85.7 ± 8.4 | 86 ± 9.7 | n.s. | 87.7 ± 9.0 | 88.6 ± 9.7 | n.s. |
| Insulin (mUI/L) | 9.2 ± 3.5 | 9.4 ± 3 | n.s. | 8.7 ± 4 | 8.5 ± 5.7 | n.s. |
| Iron (µg/dL) | 80 ± 21 | 75 ± 17 | n.s. | 88 ± 43 | 83 ± 36 | n.s. |
| Ferritin (ng/dL) | 87 ± 29 | 84 ± 19 | n.s. | 81 ± 38 | 83 ± 17 | n.s. |
| Transferrin (mg/dL) | 250 ± 42 | 242 ± 37 | n.s. | 267 ± 39 | 254 ± 41 | n.s. |
| Transferrin saturation (%) | 22 ± 7 | 19 ± 3.5 | n.s. | 24 ± 9.5 | 23 ± 10 | n.s. |

All the values are indicated as means \pm standard deviations (SD). Differences between and within the groups (T0 and T1) were compared by using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posttest. A p-value higher than 0.05 means that the change is not statistically significant and reported as not statistically significant (n.s.). A p-value for dataset \leq 0.05 indicates that the results were statistically significant.

of skeletal homeostasis (37). In fact, we did not observe a difference in CTX (the marker of bone resorption) and osteocalcin (the marker of bone formation) after 12 days of intervention.

In order to investigate the potential mechanism of action, we measured vitamin D levels. In fact, PTH synthesis and secretion are regulated by vitamin D. Specifically, vitamin D acts at the parathyroid gland by suppressing the synthesis of PTH by repressing its gene (38). In our study, the consumption of eustress lettuce increased vitamin D levels. Therefore, it is possible to suppose that the consumption of PET lettuce by increasing vitamin D levels suppresses the synthesis of PTH (38), and reduces PTH secretion.

Maintenance of skeletal homeostasis through bone remodeling is a tight coupling process that requires subtle coordination between osteoblasts and osteoclasts (39). Following PET lettuce treatment, an increase in the level of phosphate, within the physiological range, in the adult population was observed, while it was not observed for calcium. This is probably because vitamin D is able to enhance the efficiency of intestinal absorption of calcium up to 30–40% and of phosphate to nearly 80% (40). Therefore, we registered significant changes in the level of phosphate but not calcium concentration. Our results are consistent with previous *in vitro* and *in vivo* animal studies, which showed that bioactive phenolics have beneficial effects on bone health (41).

About the mechanism of action by which the supplementation with PET lettuce exerts its effects, we found that it may act at different levels to modulate homeostasis because multiple targets have been reported for polyphenols. They could affect lipid metabolism by modulating oxidative stress (42) by reducing ROS. In fact, polyphenols are powerful regulators of LDL oxidation (43). This could ameliorate lipid metabolism. Moreover, they could impact liver homeostasis by decreasing liver pro-inflammatory cytokines (27) and this in turn could reduce liver enzymes. Elevated liver enzymes often indicate inflammation or damage to liver cells. Polyphenols can protect bone health through modulation of osteoimmunological action, osteoblastogenesis, and osteoclastogenesis. Thus, polyphenols by inducing a reduction of oxidative stress could modulate bone metabolism due to their antioxidant activity and probably also by reduction of inflammation by modulating pro-inflammatory signaling in the bone (41) as they do in liver and adipose tissue. It is interesting to underline that the second cause of osteoporosis is liver disease. In fact, \sim 30% of patients affected by chronic liver disease suffer from osteoporosis (44). Thus, the use of natural polyphenols, supplied by the vegetable matrix, could be useful in the prevention of liver disease and its associated osteoporosis.

In the PET lettuce, we found an increase in caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, quercetin, and rutin concentration. Thus, about the mechanism of action, we found that each of them could take part in the observed effects. In fact, caffeic acid is a potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory molecule. In obese animal models improves lipid profile, and liver biomarker enzymes by decreasing lipoperoxyl radicals (45). In nutritional intervention studies caffeic acid acts by inhibiting low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation and impacts bone metabolism by reducing oxidative stress on bone cells (46). In particular, caffeic acid in *in vitro* and animal models reduces osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption, as well as osteoblast apoptosis (47).

Chlorogenic acid is able to improve lipid metabolism. In diabetic mice, it acts by enhancing fatty acid oxidation and triglycerides lipolysis. Moreover, it reduces liver triglyceride synthesis and fatty acid transportation, alleviating hepatic inflammatory response and oxidative stress (48). Similar to our results, in healthy male subjects (aged 20–31 years), chlorogenic acid, supplied in coffee, decreased LDL-cholesterol (49). In obese rats, it reduced cholesterol and triacylglycerol concentrations in the liver and plasma (50).

About the effects of quercetin, it was found, in accordance with our results, that supplementation with quercetin, in patients with MetS and related disorders, significantly reduced total cholesterol and LDL cholesterol, but did not affect triglycerides and HDL cholesterol (51). In animal models, quercetin exerts antioxidative properties favoring an increase in osteogenic activities and a decrease in osteoclastogenic activities (52).

Rutin enhances proliferation and ossification markers in bone cells. In fact, *in vitro* studies showed that rutin increases osteocyte and osteoblast-related gene expression and, similar to our study, increases vitamin D levels (53). In animal models, rutin reduces reactive oxygen species by inhibiting inflammatory cytokines (54). In rats, rutin reduces plasma total cholesterol and LDL and exerts hepatoprotective effects that seem to be related to antioxidant activity (55).

There are limitations to the clinical trial. The intervention was short-term. It was performed for 12 days. Although it provides information in acute about the effect of PET consumption, longer trials are necessary. Moreover, it could be interesting to analyze the effects of the PET in a cohort of seniors.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first interventional study that has investigated the benefits of the consumption of dietary polyphenols, carried by a vegetable matrix, in human bone metabolism. The effects that were observed in the liver, and lipid and bone metabolism could pave the way for future application of this natural resource for prevention of osteoporosis and NAFLD.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://doi.org/10.6084/m9. figshare.24219346.v1.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committee of the University of Palermo Hospital P. Giaccone. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Palermo University Hospital (No. 2/2020).

Author contributions

VF: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. SV: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. AA: Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Validation, Writing – review & editing. LS: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. DB: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. RC: Software, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. RG: Software, Writing – review & editing. LD: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Writing – review & editing. BC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. BC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. BC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. BC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. RC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. BC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. CD: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. CD: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. CD: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. CD: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. CD: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. CD: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Resources, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by Experimental Zooprophylactic Institute and FFR 2022 Grant to SB.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of

their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Stea TH, Nordheim O, Bere E, Stornes P, Eikemo TA. Fruit and vegetable consumption in Europe according to gender, educational attainment and regional affiliation-A cross-sectional study in 21 European countries. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0232521. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0232521

2. Kyriacou MC, Rouphael Y. Towards a new definition of quality for fresh fruits and vegetables. *Sci Horticult.* (2018) 234:463–9. doi: 10.1016/j.scienta.2017.09.046

3. Pai S, Hebbar A, Selvaraj S. A critical look at challenges and future scopes of bioactive compounds and their incorporations in the food, energy, and pharmaceutical sector. *Environ Sci Poll Res.* (2022) 29:35518–41. doi: 10.1007/s11356-022-19423-4

4. Yang X, Gil MI, Yang Q, Tomás-Barberán FA. Bioactive compounds in lettuce: highlighting the benefits to human health and impacts of preharvest and postharvest practices. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf.* (2022) 21:4–45. doi: 10.1111/1541-4337.12877

5. Shi M, Gu J, Wu H, Rauf A, Emran TB, Khan Z, et al. Phytochemicals, nutrition, metabolism, bioavailability, and health benefits in lettuce-A comprehensive review. *Antioxidants.* (2022) 11:e61158. doi: 10.3390/antiox11061158

6. Voutsinos-Frantzis O, Karavidas I, Petropoulos D, Zioviris G, Fortis D, Ntanasi T, et al. Effects of NaCl and CaCl2 as eustress factors on growth, yield, and mineral composition of hydroponically grown valerianella locusta. *Plants.* (2023) 12:1454. doi: 10.3390/plants12071454

7. D LK, Dhakate R, Guguloth S, Srinivas B. Hydrochemical appraisal of groundwater quality for drinking and agricultural utility in a granitic terrain of Maheshwaram area of Ranga Reddy district, Telnagana State, India. *HydroResearch.* (2021) 4:11–23. doi: 10.1016/j.hydres.2021.02.002

8. Rouphael Y, Petropoulos SA, Cardarelli M, Colla G. Salinity as eustressor for enhancing quality of vegetables. *Sci Horticult.* (2018) 234:361–9. doi: 10.1016/j.scienta.2018.02.048

9. Baenas N, García-Viguera C, Moreno DA. Elicitation: a tool for enriching the bioactive composition of foods. *Molecules*. (2014) 19:13541– 63. doi: 10.3390/molecules190913541

10. Petropoulos SA, Levizou E, Ntatsi G, Fernandes Â, Petrotos K, Akoumianakis K, et al. Salinity effect on nutritional value, chemical composition and bioactive compounds content of *Cichorium spinosum* L. *Food Chem.* (2017) 214:129–36. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.07.080

11. Neocleous D, Koukounaras A, Siomos AS, Vasilakakis M. Assessing the salinity effects on mineral composition and nutritional quality of green and red "baby" lettuce. *J Food Qual.* (2014) 37:1–8. doi: 10.1111/jfq.12066

12. Neocleous D, Koukounaras A, Siomos AS, Vasilakakis MD. Changes in photosynthesis, yield, and quality of baby lettuce under salinity stress. *J Agricult Sci Technol.* (2014) 16:1335–43.

13. Rana A, Samtiya M, Dhewa T, Mishra V, Aluko RE. Health benefits of polyphenols: a concise review. *J Food Biochem.* (2022) 46:e14264. doi: 10.1111/jfbc.14264

14. Vasto S, Amato A, Proia P, Baldassano S. Is the secret in the gut? SuperJump activity improves bone remodeling and glucose homeostasis by GLP-1 and GIP peptides in eumenorrheic women. *Biology.* (2022) 11:296. doi: 10.3390/biology11020296

15. Vasto S, Di Gaudio F, Raso M, Sabatino L, Caldarella R, De Pasquale C, et al. Impact on glucose homeostasis: is food biofortified with molybdenum a workable solution? A two-arm study. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:1351. doi: 10.3390/nu14071351

16. Baldassano S, Di Gaudio F, Sabatino L, Caldarella R, De Pasquale C, Di Rosa L, et al. Biofortification: effect of iodine fortified food in the healthy population, doublearm nutritional study. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:e871638. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.871638

17. Cantwell MM, Millen AE, Carroll R, Mittl BL, Hermansen S, Brinton LA, et al. A debriefing session with a nutritionist can improve dietary assessment using food diaries. *J Nutr.* (2006) 136:440–5. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.2.440

18. Baldassano S, Gasbjerg LS, Kizilkaya HS, Rosenkilde MM, Holst JJ, Hartmann B. Increased body weight and fat mass after subchronic GIP receptor antagonist, but not GLP-2 receptor antagonist, administration in rats. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:492. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00492

19. Baldassano S, Accardi G, Aiello A, Buscemi S, Di Miceli G, Galimberti D, et al. Fibres as functional foods and the effects on gut hormones: the example of β -glucans in a single arm pilot study. *J Funct Foods*. (2018) 47:264–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2018.05.059

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1288064/full#supplementary-material

20. Vasto S, Amato A, Proia P, Caldarella R, Cortis C, Baldassano S. Dare to jump: the effect of new high impact activity superjump on bone remodeling. A new tool to be fit during COVID-19 home confinement. *Biol Sport.* (2022) 39:1011–9. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2022.108993

21. Vasto S, Baldassano D, Sabatino L, Caldarella R, Di Rosa L, Baldassano S. The role of consumption of molybdenum biofortified crops in bone homeostasis and healthy aging. *Nutrients.* (2023) 15:1022. doi: 10.3390/nu15041022

22. Amato A, Proia P, Caldara GF, Alongi A, Ferrantelli V, Baldassano S. Analysis of body perception, preworkout meal habits and bone resorption in child gymnasts. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:42184. doi: 10.3390/ijerph180 42184

23. Baldassano S, Polizzi MR, Sabatino L, Caldarella R, Macaluso A, Alongi A, et al. A new potential dietary approach to supply micronutrients to physically active people through consumption of biofortified vegetables. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:2971. doi: 10.3390/nu141 42971

24. Kurunc A. Effects of water and salinity stresses on growth, yield, and water use of iceberg lettuce. *J Sci Food Agricul.* (2021) 101:5688–96. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.11223

25. Okon O. Effect of salinity on physiological processes in plants. In: Giri B, Varma A, editors. *Microorganisms in Saline Environments: Strategies and Functions*. Springer Nature (2019). p. 237–62.

26. Santander C, Vidal G, Ruiz A, Vidal C, Cornejo P. Salinity eustress increases the biosynthesis and accumulation of phenolic compounds that improve the functional and antioxidant quality of red lettuce. *Agronomy.* (2022) 12:598. doi: 10.3390/agronomy12030598

27. Bayram HM, Majoo FM, Ozturkcan A. Polyphenols in the prevention and treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: an update of preclinical and clinical studies. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. (2021) 44:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2021.06.026

28. Siegenberg D, Baynes RD, Bothwell TH, Macfarlane BJ, Lamparelli RD, Car NG, et al. Ascorbic acid prevents the dose-dependent inhibitory effects of polyphenols and phytates on nonheme-iron absorption. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1991) 53:537–41. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/53.2.537

29. Ma Q, Kim EY, Lindsay EA, Han O. Bioactive dietary polyphenols inhibit heme iron absorption in a dose-dependent manner in human intestinal Caco-2 cells. *J Food Sci.* (2011) 76:H143–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02184.x

30. Kim Y, Keogh JB, Clifton PM. Polyphenols and glycemic control. Nutrients. (2016) 8:10017. doi: 10.3390/nu8010017

31. Wang B, Wang H, Li Y, Song L. Lipid metabolism within the bone micro-environment is closely associated with bone metabolism in physiological and pathophysiological stages. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2022) 21:5. doi: 10.1186/s12944-021-01615-5

32. Alekos NS, Moorer MC, Riddle RC. Dual effects of lipid metabolism on osteoblast function. *Front Endocrinol.* (2020) 11:e578194. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.578194

33. Proia P, Amato A, Drid P, Korovljev D, Vasto S, Baldassano S. The impact of diet and physical activity on bone health in children and adolescents. *Front Endocrinol.* (2021) 12:704647. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.704647

34. Sacco SM, Horcajada MN, Offord E. Phytonutrients for bone health during ageing. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2013) 75:697–707. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12033

35. Kumar R, Thompson JR. The regulation of parathyroid hormone secretion and synthesis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2011) 22:216–24. doi: 10.1681/ASN.20100 20186

36. Tominaga N, Yonaha T, Yamanouchi M, Sumi H, Taki Y, Shibagaki Y, et al. Bone responsiveness to parathyroid hormone is negatively associated with parathyroid hormone-lowering drug use in patients undergoing hemodialysis: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2021) 22:275. doi: 10.1186/s12882-021-02482-z

37. Wein MN, Kronenberg HM. Regulation of bone remodeling by parathyroid hormone. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2018) 8:31237. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a031237

38. Khundmiri SJ, Murray RD, Lederer E. PTH and vitamin D. Compr Physiol. (2016) 6:561-601. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140071

39. Li Y, Li L, Li X, Luo B, Ye Q, Wang H, et al. A mechanistic review of chinese medicine polyphenols on bone formation and resorption. *Front Pharmacol.* (2022) 13:e1017538. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.1017538

40. Akimbekov NS, Digel I, Sherelkhan DK, Razzaque MS. Vitamin D and phosphate interactions in health and disease. In: Razzaque MS, editor. *Phosphate Metabolism: From Physiology to Toxicity*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2022). p. 37–46.

41. Dudarić L, FuŽinac-Smojver A, Muhvić D, Giacometti J. The role of polyphenols on bone metabolism in osteoporosis. *Food Res Int.* (2015) 77:290-8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2015.10.017

42. Li S, Tan HY, Wang N, Cheung F, Hong M, Feng Y. The potential and action mechanism of polyphenols in the treatment of liver diseases. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2018) 2018:8394818. doi: 10.31193/ssap.isbn.9787520118873

43. Rudrapal M, Khairnar SJ, Khan J, Dukhyil AB, Ansari MA, Alomary MN, et al. Dietary polyphenols and their role in oxidative stress-induced human diseases: insights into protective effects, antioxidant potentials and mechanism(s) of action. *Front Pharmacol.* (2022) 13:e806470. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.806470

44. Handzlik-Orlik G, Holecki M, Wilczyński K, Duława J. Osteoporosis in liver disease: pathogenesis and management. *Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 7:128–35. doi: 10.1177/2042018816641351

45. Kim HM, Kim Y, Lee ES, Huh JH, Chung CH. Caffeic acid ameliorates hepatic steatosis and reduces ER stress in high fat diet-induced obese mice by regulating autophagy. *Nutrition.* (2018) 55–56:63–70. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2018.03.010

46. Muhammad Abdul Kadar NN, Ahmad F, Teoh SL, Yahaya MF. Caffeic acid on metabolic syndrome: a review. *Molecules*. (2021) 26:5490. doi: 10.3390/molecules26185490

47. Ekeuku SO, Pang KL, Chin KY. Effects of caffeic acid and its derivatives on bone: a systematic review. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* (2021) 15:259–75. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S287280

48. Yan Y, Li Q, Shen L, Guo K, Zhou X. Chlorogenic acid improves glucose tolerance, lipid metabolism, inflammation and microbiota composition in

diabetic db/db mice. Front Endocrinol. (2022) 13:1042044. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022. 1042044

49. Yukawa GS, Mune M, Otani H, Tone Y, Liang XM, Iwahashi H, et al. Effects of coffee consumption on oxidative susceptibility of low-density lipoproteins and serum lipid levels in humans. *Biochemistry.* (2004) 69:70–4. doi: 10.1023/B:BIRY.0000016354.05438.0f

50. Meng S, Cao J, Feng Q, Peng J, Hu Y. Roles of chlorogenic acid on regulating glucose and lipids metabolism: a review. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2013) 2013:801457. doi: 10.1155/2013/8 01457

51. Tabrizi R, Tamtaji OR, Mirhosseini N, Lankarani KB, Akbari M, Heydari ST, et al. The effects of quercetin supplementation on lipid profiles and inflammatory markers among patients with metabolic syndrome and related disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2020) 60:1855–68. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2019.16 04491

52. Wong SK, Chin KY, Ima-Nirwana S. Quercetin as an agent for protecting the bone: a review of the current evidence. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:76448. doi: 10.3390/ijms21176448

53. Abdel-Naim AB, Alghamdi AA, Algandaby MM, Al-Abbasi FA, Al-Abb AM, Eid BG, et al. Rutin isolated from chrozophora tinctoria enhances bone cell proliferation and ossification markers. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2018) 2018:5106469. doi: 10.1155/2018/5106469

54. Kyung T-W, Lee J-E, Shin H-H, Choi H-S. Rutin inhibits osteoclast formation by decreasing reactive oxygen species and TNF- α by inhibiting activation of NF- κ B. *Exp Mol Med.* (2008) 40:52–8. doi: 10.3858/emm.2008. 40.1.52

55. Ziaee A, Zamansoltani F, Nassiri-Asl M, Abbasi E. Effects of rutin on lipid profile in hypercholesterolaemic rats. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2009) 104:253–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2008.00368.x

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Philippe Gérard, Institut National de recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement (INRAE), France

REVIEWED BY

Athanasia K. Papazafiropoulou, Tzaneio Hospital, Greece Ji Youn Yoo, The University of Tennessee, Knoxville, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Hong Xie ⊠ xh@bbmc.edu.cn

RECEIVED 20 June 2023 ACCEPTED 18 December 2023 PUBLISHED 08 January 2024

CITATION

Xu X, Zhang F, Ren J, Zhang H, Jing C, Wei M, Jiang Y and Xie H (2024) Dietary intervention improves metabolic levels in patients with type 2 diabetes through the gut microbiota: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1243095. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1243095

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Xu, Zhang, Ren, Zhang, Jing, Wei, Jiang and Xie. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Dietary intervention improves metabolic levels in patients with type 2 diabetes through the gut microbiota: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Xiaoyu Xu¹, Fan Zhang¹, Jiajia Ren¹, Haimeng Zhang¹, Cuiqi Jing¹, Muhong Wei², Yuhong Jiang² and Hong Xie^{3*}

¹School of Public Health, Bengbu Medical University, Bengbu, China, ²Department of Epidemiology and Health Statistics, School of Public Health, Bengbu Medical University, Bengbu, China, ³Department of Nutrition and Food Hygiene, School of Public Health, Bengbu Medical University, Bengbu, China

Background: Poor dietary structure plays a pivotal role in the development and progression of type 2 diabetes and is closely associated with dysbiosis of the gut microbiota. Thus, the objective of this systematic review was to assess the impact of dietary interventions on improving gut microbiota and metabolic levels in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Methods: We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis following the PRISMA 2020 guidelines.

Results: Twelve studies met the inclusion criteria. In comparison to baseline measurements, the high-fiber diet produced substantial reductions in FBG (mean difference -1.15 mmol/L; 95% CI, -2.24 to -0.05; $I^2 = 94\%$; P = 0.04), HbA1c (mean difference -0.99%; 95% Cl, -1.93 to -0.03; $l^2 = 89\%$; P =0.04), and total cholesterol (mean difference -0.95 mmol/L; 95% CI, -1.57 to -0.33; $I^2 = 77\%$; P = 0.003); the high-fat and low-carbohydrate diet led to a significant reduction in HbA1c (mean difference -0.98; 95% CI, -1.50 to -0.46; $I^2 = 0\%$; P = 0.0002). Within the experimental group (intervention diets), total cholesterol (mean difference -0.69 mmol/L; 95% CI, -1.27 to -0.10; $I^2 = 52\%$; P = 0.02) and LDL-C (mean difference -0.45 mmol/L; 95% Cl, -0.68 to -0.22; $l^2 = 0\%$; P < 0.0001) experienced significant reductions in comparison to the control group (recommended diets for type 2 diabetes). However, no statistically significant differences emerged in the case of FBG, HbA1c, HOMA-IR, and HDL-C between the experimental and control groups. The high dietary fiber diet triggered an augmented presence of short-chain fatty acid-producing bacteria in the intestines of individuals with T2DM. In addition, the high-fat and low-carbohydrate diet resulted in a notable decrease in Bacteroides abundance while simultaneously increasing the relative abundance of Eubacterium. Compared to a specific dietary pattern, personalized diets appear to result in the production of a greater variety of beneficial bacteria in the gut, leading to more effective blood glucose control in T2D patients.

Conclusion: Dietary interventions hold promise for enhancing metabolic profiles in individuals with T2D through modulation of the gut microbiota. Tailored dietary regimens appear to be more effective than standard diets in improving glucose metabolism. However, given the limited and highly heterogeneous nature of the current sample size, further well-designed and controlled intervention studies are warranted in the future.

KEYWORDS

type 2 diabetes, dietary intervention, gut microbiota, short-chain fatty acids, systematic review

1 Introduction

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a non-infectious metabolic disease characterized by elevated blood glucose levels caused by impaired insulin secretion, insulin resistance, or both (1). The etiology of T2DM is multifaceted, and recent studies have identified the gut microbiota as a potential contributor to its pathophysiology (2). In addition to chronic inflammation and metabolic disturbances, individuals with T2DM experience dysregulation of the gut microbiota and compromised intestinal barrier function, leading to increased intestinal permeability (3). Specifically, gut microbiota imbalances manifest as reduced microbial abundance and diversity, particularly the depletion of butyric acid-producing bacteria (4). On one hand, patients exhibit diminished production of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) by beneficial gut bacteria, resulting in decreased levels of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1). On the other hand, the proliferation of harmful bacteria in the gut leads to increased intestinal permeability and the release of endotoxins (LPS), causing chronic inflammation in pancreatic islets, ultimately contributing to pancreatic β-cell damage and reduced insulin sensitivity (5, 6). Additionally, the gut microbiota is now recognized as a novel endocrine organ that influences human health by secreting metabolites such as SCFAs, bile acids, indoleacetic acid, branched-chain amino acids, and trimethylamine-N-oxide (7).

Furthermore, poor dietary structure and eating habits play significant roles in the onset and progression of T2DM, and an unbalanced diet is closely associated with gut microbiota dysbiosis. This dietary structure is characterized by chronic excessive consumption of carbohydrates and fats (particularly saturated fats) and inadequate intake of dietary fiber (8). Consequently, dietary interventions for patients with T2DM should focus on the overall dietary pattern rather than isolated nutrients or specific foods (9). This is because different dietary combinations and the nutrients contained within them interact synergistically to influence the health of individuals with T2DM (10).

While numerous meta-analyses and systematic reviews have examined the effects of dietary patterns or individual nutrients on glycemia in T2DM patients, few have explored the collective impact of daily dietary patterns on both gut microbiota and metabolic levels in this population. Hence, the objective of this systematic review is to investigate the efficacy of dietary patterns or combinations in improving gut microbiota and metabolic levels in patients with type 2 diabetes, while also exploring the potential mediating role of gut microbiota and its metabolites in the diet-metabolism relationship. Specifically, we will analyze changes in gut microbiota diversity, composition, and function. Probiotic interventions directly affecting the gut microbiota have been excluded from the inclusion criteria.

2 Materials and methods

This Meta-analysis and systematic review adhered to the latest PRISMA 2020 guidelines for reporting (11).

2.1 Eligibility criteria

The following criteria were used for inclusion and exclusion:

Experiment type: Population intervention trials such as randomized controlled trials. Experiments conducted on animals and *in vitro* were excluded.

Population: Inclusion encompassed patients diagnosed with type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes, while exclusions were applied to individuals with type 1 diabetes, gestational diabetes, and other diabetes types. It was imperative for subjects with type 2 diabetes to possess a clinical diagnosis managed through dietary control, oral medications, and/or insulin therapy.

Intervention: Eligible interventions included specific dietary patterns or combinations of diets. Supplementation with nutrients, nutritional supplements, or probiotics in isolation was not considered for inclusion.

Outcomes: The primary outcomes were changes in the gut microbiota (including changes in the diversity and abundance of the gut microbiota, gut microbiota composition and gut microbiota function) and metabolic levels. Among the metabolic levels were blood glucose (glycated hemoglobin, fasting glucose, and insulin resistance homeostasis model assessment) and lipid profile (total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, and HDL cholesterol). Secondary outcomes were changes in anthropometric indicators and inflammatory markers (endotoxin levels, tumor necrosis factor alpha, interleukin 6, and C-reactive protein).

2.2 Information sources and search strategy

Two authors independently searched electronic databases including PubMed, EMBASE, Web of Science, and ScienceDirect. The search was limited to articles published in English, with the completion date set as October 10, 2023. Medical subject headings (MeSH) and their synonyms were used as search terms, combined using Boolean operators (OR/AND) based on the study requirements. The search strategy is: "type 2 diabetes" combined with Boolean operator OR to similar terms ("type 2 diabetes mellitus"; "T2D"; "T2DM"; "pre-diabetes"; "prediabetes"; "prediabetic state"); AND "dietary pattern" combined with Boolean operator OR to similar terms ("feeding pattern"; "eating behavior"; "diet"; "dietary habit"; "food selection"); AND "gut microbiota" combined with Boolean operator OR to similar terms ("gut microbiome"; "gut microbiota"; "Intestinal flora"; "Gut microbiota"; AND "randomized controlled trial" combined with Boolean operator OR to similar terms ("RCT"; "trial"; "intervention").

2.3 Selection process and data extraction

All titles and abstracts obtained from the literature search were initially screened manually, following the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Subsequently, the literature selected from the initial screening underwent a second screening through full-text reading. Finally, the studies identified in the secondary screening were organized using Microsoft Excel software. We extracted information from the included studies, including authors, country, year, diet and subgroup, study type, subject characteristics, and study outcomes (Table 1). The data extracted for analysis included relevant indicators such as baseline and post-dietary intervention measurements of gut microbiota, glucose, lipids, and inflammation.

2.4 Data analysis

Meta-analysis was conducted using Review Manager 5.4 software. All included studies were randomized controlled trials, except for the study by Ismael S et al., which was a single-arm trial with only one experimental group in its study subgroup. In our meta-analysis, two distinct approaches were employed. Firstly, we conducted a comparative assessment between the changes observed in the experimental group pre- and post-intervention and those in the control group (following a recommended diet for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus) before and after their respective interventions. Secondly, we compared changes before and after the intervention of two nutritionally characterized diets (highfiber diets, high-fat and low-carbohydrate diets) within groups. The specific indicators scrutinized encompassed alterations in fasting blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin, the homeostasis model insulin resistance index, total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, and body mass index. The mean and standard deviation were calculated using the conversion formula in an Excel sheet (24, 25), and the standard error was converted to standard deviation using a specific formula. Fasting glucose units were standardized to mmol/L.

2.5 Risk of bias and quality assessment

Review Manager 5.4 software was used as an assessment tool for evaluating the quality of clinical trial studies. Two authors independently assessed the risk of bias and quality of each included article. Areas assessed included selection bias (random sequence generation and allocation concealment), implementation bias (blinding of participants and personnel), measurement bias (blinding of outcome assessment), missing visit bias (incomplete outcome data), reporting bias (selective reporting), and other biases. Each assessment was categorized as "low risk," "high risk," or "uncertain risk."

3 Description and classification of dietary interventions

In light of the intricate and multifarious nature of various dietary patterns, this study categorizes them into two distinct classes: specific dietary patterns and individualized dietary patterns, contingent upon whether the groups underwent uniform dietary interventions. Furthermore, within the category of specific dietary patterns, a finer classification was employed to delineate high-fiber diets, high-fat and low-carbohydrate diets, and low-fat low-carbohydrate diets, guided by the nutritional characteristics of the dietary interventions encompassed. Table 2 describes the characteristics of the main nutrients in dietary interventions.

4 Results

4.1 Study selection

Using the literature search strategy, we initially identified 785 relevant citations from four databases: Pubmed, EMBASE, Web of Science, and Science Direct. After removing duplicate citations, 532citations underwent title and abstract screening based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria, resulting in the exclusion of 502 citations. Finally, 12clinical studies were included in the meta-analysis after a thorough evaluation of the full text to ensure they met the specified study types, interventions, and study outcomes. Figure 1 presents the PRISMA flow chart illustrating the selection process of the included studies.

4.2 Study characteristics

4.2.1 Participant characteristics

The study involved a total of 676 individuals with either type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) or prediabetes, ranging in age from 25 to 80 years. One study reported a BMI of $18.5-24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$ (15), while 6 studies provided a BMI range of $25-45 \text{ kg/m}^2$, and the remaining five did not report BMI values. These findings indicate that at least half of the participants were overweight or obese.

4.2.2 Intervention characteristics

The duration of the interventions ranged from 18 days to 3 years. The interventions consisted of various dietary patterns or combinations, including 3 Mediterranean diets (Two of them were compared with ketogenic diet and personalized diet, respectively), 1 low-energy diets, 1 low-carbohydrate diet based on almonds, 1 low-fat diet, 1 Ma-Pi 2 diet, 2 high dietary fiber diets, 1 diet incorporating sardines, 1 diet with reduced branched-chain amino acids, and 2 individualized diet. Supplementary Table S1 provides details of the nutritional intake for each experimental group after the dietary intervention, as anticipated in the experiment.

4.3 Risk of bias in studies

We assessed the quality of the 11 included studies using the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias tool (Supplementary Figure S1) (26). All studies were determined to have low risk of bias in terms of missing visit bias (incomplete outcome data) and reporting bias (selective reporting). Only three studies (13, 19, 20) explicitly mentioned using random sequence generation for allocation, and two of these studies (13, 19) also reported concealing the allocation scheme, indicating low risk of selection bias. Implementation bias (blinding of participants and personnel) and measurement bias (blinding of outcome assessment) were rated as lower in four studies, while two studies exhibited a higher risk of bias associated with blinding of participants and personnel (14, 18). **Frontiers in Nutrition**

TABLE 1 Description and characteristics of the included studies.

| References/ Country | Dietary patterns and groupings | Nutritional characteristics of the intervention group | Study Design | Subject characteristics | Main microbiota results | Main clinical outcomes |
|-----------------------------------|---|---|---|---|--|---|
| Candela et al. (12) Italy | ⁽¹⁾ Experimental group: fiber-rich longevity Ma-Pi 2 diet ($n = 28$) ⁽²⁾ Control group: Italian Professional Association for T2D Therapy recommended diet CTR ($n = 28$) ⁽³⁾ Healthy group: normal diet ($n = 13$) | High dietary fiber | Open randomized controlled trial, 21 days | T2DM, n = 56, BMI of 27–45 kg/m², 55–70 years old; Wealthy group: normal weight, 21-40 years old. | Both dietary interventions demonstrated effectiveness in alleviating gut microbiota dysbiosis and promoting the restoration of bacteria that produce short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) in individuals with T2DM. | The reduction in HOMA-IR, total cholesterol and LDL/HDL ratio was significantly higher in the Ma-Pi 2 diet group than in the CTR group. the Ma-Pi 2 diet significantly reduced TNF- α , plasma CRP and IL-6 levels, while only TNF- α was significantly reduced in the CTR group. |
| Zhao et al. (13) China | ⁽¹⁾ Experimental group: high dietary fiber diet ($n = 27$) ⁽²⁾ Control group: 2013 version of the Chinese Diabetes Association dietary guidelines for patients to manage their diet ($n = 16$) | High dietary fiber | Randomized controlled trial, 84 days | T2DM, $n = 43$, acarbose as a treatment drug | The high dietary fiber intervention increased 15 strains of acetate and butyric acid-producing bacteria, inhibited perindole- and hydrogen sulfide-producing bacteria, and promoted GLP-1 and PYY secretion to improve blood glucose, the abundance and diversity of which correlated significantly with clinical outcomes. | Indicators such as HbA1c improved faster and better in the experimental group than in the control group, and this clinical effect could be reproduced in mice by colony transplantation. |
| Chen et al. (14) China | ①Experimental group: high dietary fiber diet $(n = 9)$ ②Control group: 2013 version of the Chinese Diabetes Association dietary guidelines for patients to manage their diet $(n = 8)$ | High dietary fiber | Randomized controlled trial, 4 weeks | T2DM, $n = 17$, acarbose as a therapeutic agent | The ratio of <i>Firmicutes</i> to <i>Bacteroidota</i> was significantly lower in the treatment group, and the number of <i>Proteus</i> was reduced; the proportion of beneficial microorganisms of several genera increased, and the relative abundance of all other opportunistic pathogens decreased. | Glucose homeostasis, glucose homeostasis and systemic inflammation levels were significantly improved in the treatment group compared to the control group. |
| Medina-Vera et al. (15) Mexico | ①Experimental group: Functional food diet (n = 81) (T2DM) ②Control group: normal diet (healthy population) | High dietary fiber, low carb, high unsaturated fat | Randomized controlled trial, 12 weeks | T2DM, $n = 81$, 30-60 years old, and BMI of 18.5-24.9 Kg/m ² @Healthy control group, 20-40 years old | Compared to the control group, the experimental group showed a significant increase in the α -diversity of the gut microbiota and significant changes in the abundance of specific flora, which were not associated with antidiabetic drugs. Among them, P Copri decreases, while <i>Faecalibacterium praussnitzii</i> and <i>Akkermansia</i> with anti-inflammatory effects increase. | The intervention group also had significantly lower blood glucose, total and LDL cholesterol, FFA, HbA1c, triglycerides and area under the CRP curve, and increased antioxidant activity compared to the control group. |

10.3389/fnut.2023.1243095

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

| References/ Country | Dietary patterns and groupings | Nutritional characteristics of the intervention group | Study Design | Subject characteristics | Main microbiota results | Main clinical outcomes |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| Jian et al. (16) Finland and 8 other countries | Low energy diet for the first 8 weeks and weight maintenance for the last 148 weeks ($n = 211$) | Low-carbohydrate, low-fat | Multicenter randomized controlled trial, 3 years | Prediabetes overweight adult patients, $n = 211, 25-70$ years old, BMI ≥ 25 kg/m ² | There was a significant increase in the relative abundance of several genera linked to enhanced metabolism. Changes in microbiota composition and predicted function were strongly correlated with weight loss. The initial characteristics of the gut microbiota accounted for approximately 25% of the variability in overall changes in adiposity prior to low-energy diet treatment. | Subjects lost an average of 11.5% of body weight and 22% of total body fat during the intervention, with significant improvements in all metabolic parameters. 76 subjects returned to normal blood glucose levels. Substantial interindividual variability was observed in the changes induced by the low-energy diet in variables related to glucose metabolism and total body fat. |
| Ismael et al. (17) Portugal | Mediterranean diet (<i>n</i> = 9) | High fiber and unsaturated fat | Single-arm trial, 12 weeks | T2DM, $n = 9$ (6 males, 3 females), 40–80 years old (mean 66 \pm 9 years), except for 1 subject, all received oral hypoglycemic drugs | After 4 weeks, there was an increase in the abundance of intestinal bacteria, and the ratio of <i>Prevotella/Bacteroides</i> also increased. Bacterial diversity showed a negative correlation with HbA1c, while bacterial abundance exhibited negative correlations with FBS and HOMA-IR. Changes in gut microbiota seemed to precede alterations in a conventional biomarker for type 2 diabetes, namely HbA1c. | HbA1c and HOMA-IR were significantly reduced after 12 weeks. Blood lipid profiles showed no concomitant changes. Alkaline phosphatase activity (a marker of intestinal inflammation and permeability) in fecal samples was negatively correlated with HbA1c and positively correlated with bacterial diversity. |
| Deledda et al. (18) Italy | <pre>①Experimental group: ketogenic diet ($n = 6$) @Control group: Mediterranean diet ($n = 5$)</pre> | Very low-carb, high-fat | Randomized controlled trial, 12 weeks | T2DM newly diagnosed and without complications, $n = 11$ (6 males, 5 females), 45-65 years, BMI ≥ 28 Kg/m ² | In the ketogenic diet group, there was a significant increase in beneficial microbiota groups, along with a decrease in microbiota groups associated with obesity (<i>Firmicutes</i> and Actinobacteriota) or other diseases. The Mediterranean diet group exhibited a significant increase in Actinobacteria and Firmicutes. | The beneficial effects of the ketogenic diet on anthropometric parameters were more significant than those of the Mediterranean diet, but there were no statistically significant differences in biochemical improvements. Macrogenomic alterations associated with certain metabolic pathways were found only in the ketogenic diet group. |
| Ren M, et al. (19) China, | ©Experimental group: almond-based low-carbohydrate diet a-LCD ($n = 22$) @Control group: low-fat diet LFD ($n = 23$) | Low-carb, high-fat | Randomized controlled trial, 12 weeks | T2DM, <i>n</i> = 45, ≥18 years old | The consumption of a low-calorie diet (a-LCD) notably augmented the presence of short-chain fatty acid-producing bacteria, including <i>Roseburia, Ruminococcus</i> , and <i>Eubacterium</i> . | HbA1c levels were significantly lower during the study period in both groups compared to baseline. At Month 3, the a-LCD group had higher GLP-1 concentrations than the LFD group, had a greater decrease in HbA1c levels than the LFD, and significantly improved depressive symptoms. |

Xu et al.

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

| References/ Country | Dietary patterns and groupings | Nutritional characteristics of the intervention group | Study Design | Subject characteristics | Main microbiota results | Main clinical outcomes |
|----------------------------------|---|---|---|---|--|--|
| Balfegó et al. (20) Spain | ⁽¹⁾ Experimental group: sardine diet ($n = 19$) ⁽²⁾ Control group: general diet recommended for diabetes without sardines ($n = 16$) | High unsaturated fat | Randomized controlled trial, 6 months | T2DM, $n = 35$ (16 males, 19 females), BMI of 26–35 kg/m ² , 40–70 years old, not receiving insulin and oral hypoglycemic drugs. | Both dietary interventions effectively lowered the concentrations of phylum <i>Firmicutes</i> and E. coli compared to their respective baselines. Moreover, the intervention group displayed a reduced <i>Firmicutes</i> / <i>Bacteroidetes</i> ratio and an increased abundance of <i>Bacteroides-Prevotella</i> . | There was no significant difference in glycemic control between the groups. Plasma insulin and HOMA-IR were reduced in both groups at 6 months after baseline. Plasma lipocalin increased only in the intervention group (+40.7%) compared to baseline levels. Omega-3 index increased by 2.6% in the experimental group and by 0.6% in the control group. |
| Karusheva et al. (21) Germany | ①Experimental group: reduced branched-chain amino acid diet (BCAA-) ②Control group: complete amino acid diet (BCAA+) | Reduction in branched-chain amino acids | Crossover test, 4 weeks | T2DM, $n = 12$, 40–60 years old, BMI of 28–35 kg/m ² , disease duration <5 years. | In comparison to the BCAA+ diet, the BCAA- diet intervention demonstrated an 11% decrease in the abundance of <i>Firmicutes</i> and a remarkable 40% increase in the abundance of <i>Bacteroidetes</i> . | After the BCAA-diet, insulin secretion was reduced, postprandial insulin sensitivity was increased, and mitochondrial efficiency in adipose tissue was stimulated. |
| Meleshko et al. (22) Ukraine | <pre>①Experimental group: personalized diet ($n = 35$) ②Control group ($n = 21$)</pre> | NA | Randomized controlled trial, 18 days | T2DM, $n = 56$, 39–68 years old, all female. | Enterococcus faecalis, Escherichia coli, lac+, and Candida spp. significantly decreased, while <i>Lactobacillus</i> spp. significantly increased. | Significant improvements in blood glucose, lipid profile (cholesterol, LDL, HDL, VLDL, triglycerides) and inflammatory markers (IL-1 β , IL-10, IgA, TNF- α). |
| Shoer et al. (23) Israel | ①Experimental group: personalized diet (n = 100) ② Control group: Mediterranean diet (n = 100) NA Randomized controlled trial, 6 months | | Prediabetes, <i>n</i> = 200, adults | The personalized diet had a greater effect on the gut microbiota than the Mediterranean diet. The personalized diet resulted in a significant increase in the relative abundance and alpha diversity of 19 gut microbiota species. flavonifractor plautii, Roseburia hominis, Ruthenibacterium lactatiformans and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii increased significantly in abundance. The Mediterranean diet resulted in a significant increase in the relative abundance of four gut microbiota species. | Compared to the Mediterranean diet, the personalized diet had a greater effect on glycemic control (HbA1c). | |

FBS, fasting blood sugar; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; FFA, free fatty acids; plasma CRP, C-reactive protein; IL-6, interleukin; Functional food diet: Rich in soluble fiber, prebiotics, plant protein, and n-3 unsaturated fatty acids; Personalized diet: Using developed algorithms, personalized diets are selected based on the patient's gut microbiota, immune, and biochemical parameters.

Xu et al.

10.3389/fnut.2023.1243095

TABLE 2 The characteristics of the main nutrients in dietary intervention.

| Categorization of dietary patterns | Dietary intervention measures | Specific dietary characteristics | Main nutrient characteristics | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------|--|---|--|--------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | | | Dietary fiber | Carbohydrate | Lipid | Protein | | | |
| Specific dietary patterns | Fiber-rich longevity Ma-Pi 2 diet (12) | High dietary fiber; Rich in vegetables, fruits, grains, and white meat; No added sugar. | High-fiber | NA | Low saturated fat | NA | | | |
| | High dietary fiber diet (13) | High dietary fiber; Rich in whole grains and prebiotics. | High-fiber | NA | NA | NA | | | |
| | High dietary fiber diet (14) | A high fiber diet composed of whole grains and prebiotics. | High-fiber | NA | NA | NA | | | |
| | Functional food diet (15) | Rich in soluble fiber, prebiotics, plant protein, and n-3 unsaturated fatty acids. | High-fiber Low carbohydrate High unsaturated for | | | NA | | | |
| | Mediterranean diet (17) | Rich in fiber, unsaturated fatty acids, and phytochemicals; Very low red meat and processed foods. | High-fiber | NA | High unsaturated fat | NA | | | |
| | ketogenic diet (18) | Extremely low in carbohydrates and high in fat. | NA | Low carbohydrate | High fat | NA | | | |
| | Mediterranean diet (18) | Rich in fiber, unsaturated fatty acids, and phytochemicals; Very low red meat and processed foods. | High-fiber | NA | High unsaturated fat | NA | | | |
| | Low energy diet (16) | 8 weeks of full meal replacement diet, followed by a low calorie diet for the next 148 weeks. | NA | Low carbohydrate Low fat | | NA | | | |
| | Almond-based low-carbohydrate diet (19) | A large amount of nuts, low-carbon water, and high fat. | NA | Low carbohydrate | High fat | NA | | | |
| | Low-fat diet (19) | Low fat. | NA | NA | Low fat | NA | | | |
| | Sardine diet (20) | Take 100 g of sardine 5 days a week. | NA | NA | High unsaturated fat | NA | | | |
| | BCAA- diet (21) | Reduce branched chain amino acids in dietary protein. | NA | NA | NA | Reduce branched chain amino acids | | | |
| Personalized dietary patterns | Personalized diet (22) | Using developed algorithms, select personalized diets based on the patient's gut microbiota, immune, and biochemical parameters. | NA | NA | NA | NA | | | |
| | Personalized diet (23) | | | NA | NA | NA | | | |



4.4 Effect of dietary intervention on gut microbiota

4.4.1 Changes in gut microbiota diversity and richness

Five studies investigated gut microbiota diversity, while two studies examined gut bacterial richness. In a multicenter randomized clinical trial (16) involving 211 pre-diabetic overweight adult patients, a low-energy diet intervention resulted in significant increases in alpha diversity (microbiota composition diversity within individuals), beta diversity (differences in microbiota structure between individuals), and gut microbiota richness (all P < 0.001). Ren et al. (19) observed increased alpha diversity of the gut microbiota in patients with T2DM following both an almondbased low-carbohydrate diet and a low-fat diet, although there was no significant difference in gut microbiota structure (beta diversity) between the two diet groups. Candela M et al. (12) compared the fiber-rich long-life Ma-Pi 2 diet with the Italian T2D Therapy Professional Association recommended diet and found a tendency for both dietary patterns to increase gut microbiota alpha diversity in T2DM patients, but without significant differences between time points.

Ismael et al. (17) conducted a single-arm trial of a Mediterranean diet intervention, where no difference in gut

microbiota diversity was observed at the end of the intervention, while bacterial richness tended to increase from baseline to 12 weeks. However, Deledda et al. (18) also implemented a Mediterranean diet intervention, comparing it with a ketogenic diet. The results indicated no significant difference in the alpha diversity of the gut microbiota over time in either group, but a significant difference in beta diversity of the flora between the two intervention groups (p = 0.013).

4.4.2 Changes in the composition of the gut microbiota

Table 3 displays the effects of different dietary interventions on the gut microbiota at the phylum, genus, and species levels. Candela et al. (12) reported that a fiber-rich Ma-Pi 2 diet effectively countered the reduction of *Faecalibacterium*, *Bacteroides*, and *Dorea* in T2DM patients and promoted the presence of SCFAproducing bacteria, such as *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and *Lachnospiraceae bacterium*. Zhao et al. (13) demonstrated that a high dietary fiber intake stimulated the production of 15 strains of acetate and butyrate-producing bacteria, while inhibiting the production of indole and hydrogen sulfide-producing bacteria. Chen et al. (14) found that a high dietary fiber intake increased the proportion of several beneficial bacteria in the intestines of T2DM

TABLE 3 Effect of different diets on part of the gut microbiota in T2DM patients at Phylum, Genus and Species levels.

| Phylum | Genus | Ma-Pi 2 diet (_2) | High fiber diet () | High fiber diet (14) | Functional food diet () | Low energy18mm diet (| Mediterranean diet (| Ketogenic diet () | Mediterranean diet () | Low Carbohydrate diet () | Low-fat diet () | Sardine diet (20) | BCAA+ and BCAA- | Personalized diet () | Personalized diet () |
|-----------------|---|-------------------|---------------------------------------|----------------------|---|--------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|----------------------------------|---|--------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| Bacteroidetes | | NR | NR | NR | NR | ↑*** | NR | Ļ | ↓* | †* | Ļ | Ļ | BCAA- has a 40% higher abundance of <i>Bacteroidetes</i> than BCAA+. | NR | NR |
| | Bacteroides | Ŷ | NR | ¢ | <i>Bacteroides</i> fragilis↑ | ^*** | Ŷ | \downarrow^* | ↓* | \downarrow^* | \downarrow | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| | Prevotella | NR | NR | Ļ | Prevotella copri reduced by 13%↓ | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | ↑ | NR | NR | NR |
| Firmicutes | | NR | NR | NR | NR | ↓*** | Ļ | ↓* | ^* | NR | NR | ↓** | The abundance of <i>Firmicutes</i> in BCAA - is 11% lower than that in BCAA+. | NR | NR |
| | Ruminococcus | Ļ | NR | Ť | NR | ^*** | Ť | \downarrow^* | NR | ¢ | \downarrow^* | NR | NR | NR | Ruthenibacterium lactatiformans↑* |
| | Faecalibacterium $^{\textcircled{1}}$ | Ŷ | NR | NR | NR | \downarrow^{***} | \downarrow | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| | Roseburia ^① | 1 | NR | NR | NR | NR | ↑ | NR | NR | \uparrow^* | \downarrow^{**} | NR | NR | NR | Roseburia hominis↑* |
| | Clostridium leptum ^① | NR | Faecalibacterium prausnitzii↑ | NR | Faecalibacterium prausnitzii↑ | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | Faecalibacterium prausnitzii↑ | NR | NR | Faecalibacterium prausnitzii↑* |
| | Eubacteriu ^① | NR | 1 | NR | NR | NR | NR | \uparrow^* | NR | ^** | ↑ | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| | Lachnospir ^① | ¢ | <i>Lachnospirac</i> eae bacterium↑ | NR | NR | \downarrow^{***} | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| | $\textit{Pseudobutyrivibrio}^{\textcircled{1}}$ | NR | NR | NR | NR | \downarrow^{***} | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| | Lactobacillus | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | Ļ | NR | NR | ^* | NR |
| Verrucomicrobia | Akkermansia | ¢ | NR | NR | A.Muciniphila increased by 125% ↑ | ↑*** | ¢ | ^* | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Actinobacteria | | NR | NR | NR | NR | \downarrow^{***} | ↑ (| ↓* | \uparrow^* | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| | Bifidobacterium | NR | 1 | 1 | <i>Bifidobacterium</i> longum↑ | ↓*** | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |

All studies are within-group comparisons except for BCAA+ vs. BCAA- for between-group comparisons: \uparrow indicates increased bacterial abundance compared to baseline, \downarrow indicates decreased bacterial abundance compared to baseline. In studies where p-value sizes are provided, *indicates $p \leq 0.05$ compared to baseline, **indicates $p \leq 0.01$ compared to baseline, and ***indicates $p \leq 0.001$ compared to baseline. ① indicates butyric acid-producing bacteria. NR, Not reported.

patients, while decreasing the proportion of certain opportunistic pathogenic bacteria.

Medina-Vera et al. (15) observed that a Functional food diet increased the levels of Akkermansia muciniphila and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii (associated with anti-inflammatory effects) by 125%, while decreasing the levels of Prevotella copri by 13%. Additionally, the intake of Bifidobacterium longum (linked to improved insulin signaling) and Bacteroides fragilis (with a robust capacity for multiple dietary polysaccharides) also increased. Jian et al. (16) demonstrated that after 8 weeks of a low-energy diet intervention, there was a significant increase in the abundance of Verrucomicrobia and Bacteroidetes (P < 0.001) at the phylum level, while Actinobacteria and Firmicutes significantly decreased in abundance (P < 0.001). At the genus level, Akkermansia, Ruminococcus, Bacteroides, and Christensenellaceae R-7 showed significant increases, whereas Faecalibacterium, Bifidobacterium, and butyrate-producing bacteria (Lachnospira, Pseudobutyrivibrio, and Blautia) were significantly reduced.

Ismael et al. (17) compared changes in Bacteroides flora at 4 and 12 weeks of Mediterranean diet intervention with baseline. The ratio of Prevotella to Bacteroides significantly increased after 4 weeks, and the increase in the ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes after 12 weeks was clinically significant. The relative abundance of Bacteroides, Ruminococcus, Roseburia, Akkermansia, and Actinobacteria showed an increasing trend after 12 weeks of Mediterranean diet intervention, while Faecalibacterium and Firmicutes exhibited a decreasing trend. Deledda et al. (18) divided the ketogenic and Mediterranean diets into two intervention groups, and both groups showed consistent reductions in Bacteroidetes and Bacteroides. The ketogenic diet group exhibited a significant increase in beneficial microbiota such as Akkermansia and Eubacterium, as well as a decrease in microbial taxa associated with obesity (Firmicutes and Actinobacteria). The Mediterranean diet group showed significant increases in Firmicutes and Actinobacteria. Ren et al. (19) compared an almond-based low-carbohydrate diet with a low-fat diet. After 3 months of intervention, the low-carbohydrate diet group exhibited significantly higher relative abundances of Ruminococcus and Roseburia (P < 0.01) compared to the low-fat diet group. Several short-chain fatty acid-producing bacteria, including Eubacterium, were significantly increased in the low-carbohydrate diet group compared to baseline.

Karusheva et al. (21) found an 11% decrease in the abundance of Firmicutes and a 40% increase in the abundance of Bacteroidetes after BCAA- intervention compared to BCAA+. Meleshko et al. (22) reported that the use of a personalized diet resulted in a significant increase in the abundance of Lactobacillus spp., Enterococcus faecalis, Escherichia coli, lac+, and Candida spp., while there was a significant decrease in abundance. In a study by Shoer et al. (23), it was observed that personalized dietary regimens elicited a more pronounced influence on gut microbiota in comparison to the Mediterranean diet. The personalized diet instigated a noteworthy rise in the relative abundance of 19 gut microbiota species, notably including Flavonifractor plautii, Roseburia hominis, Ruthenibacterium lactatiformans, and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii. In contrast, the Mediterranean diet led to a notable increase in the relative abundance of only four gut microbiota species.

Upon comprehensive analysis of alterations in gut microbiota composition across the included studies, it became evident that high dietary fiber-based diets (such as the Ma-Pi 2 diet, high dietary fiber diet, functional food diet, and Mediterranean diet) conferred an augmented presence of intestinal Bacteroides, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Akkermansia, and Bifidobacterium in patients with T2DM. In contrast, high-fat low-carbohydrate diets, encompassing ketogenic diets and almond-based low-carbohydrate diets, markedly diminished the relative abundance of Bacteroides and substantially augmented that of Eubacterium.

4.4.3 Changes in gut microbiota function

Three studies conducted comparative predictive analyses of the functional macrogenome of the gut microbiota following dietary interventions, and some of the metabolic pathways that were significantly altered are collated in Supplementary Table S2 in the Appendix. Deledda et al. (18) reported a significant increase in 22 metabolic pathways commonly associated with the ketogenic diet group, while 17 pathways showed a significant decrease at months 2 and 3 compared to baseline. Notably, pathways involved in the degradation of limonene and ethylbenzene, biosynthesis of cephalosporin and penicillin, and carbohydrate digestion and absorption exhibited strong negative correlations, but displayed strong positive correlations with steroid and carotenoid biosynthesis as well as non-homologous end-joining pathways. No significant correlations with metabolic pathways were observed in the Mediterranean diet group.

Jian et al. (16) discovered that low-energy dietary intake significantly increased the abundance of *Akkermansia* (which promotes the glycosaminoglycan degradation pathway) and decreased the abundance of *Pseudobutyrivibrio* (which promotes flagellar assembly). Furthermore, the body mass index (BMI) and body weight of the subjects exhibited a negative correlation with the glycosaminoglycan degradation pathway and a positive correlation with flagellar assembly, indicating a connection between changes in the human gut microbiota and body weight.

Candela et al. (12) demonstrated that the Ma-Pi 2 diet reduced the abundance of gut microbiota marker bacteria associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus (involved in polyketide biosynthesis, sphingolipid biosynthesis, arachidonic acid metabolism, and alanine metabolism), while increasing the abundance of bacteria that improved metabolism (involved in taurine, cysteine, methionine, valine, leucine, isoleucine metabolism, and unsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis). Consequently, the Ma-Pi 2 diet provided the body with additional essential amino acids and vital nutrients.

4.5 Effect of dietary intervention on glycemic control

Candela et al. (12) compared the fiber-rich Ma-Pi 2 diet with the diet recommended by the Italian Professional Association for the Treatment of T2DM. Both diets led to a significant reduction in fasting blood glucose (FBG) levels in patients. The reduction in FBG (P = 0.007) and homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) (P = 0.0004) was more pronounced in the Ma-Pi 2 diet group compared to the control group. Zhao et al. (13) observed a significant decrease in both glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) and FBG levels in the high dietary fiber group (P < 0.001) and the control group (following the 2013 edition of the Dietary Guidelines for Patients with Chinese Diabetes Society) (P < 0.001). However, the high dietary fiber group exhibited a greater reduction in HbA1c levels starting from day 28 of the intervention (-1.91 ± 0.24). Chen et al. (14) found that high dietary fiber significantly lowered HbA1c and FBG levels in patients.

Medina-Vera et al. (15) reported significant reductions of -15.6% in free fatty acids (FFA) and -7.2% in HbA1c levels among patients following a high fiber low-energy diet intervention compared to baseline. Jian C et al. (16) observed significant reductions in HbA1c, FBG, and HOMA-IR in patients with T2DM after a low-energy diet (*P*<0.001). Ren M et al. (19) compared low-carbohydrate and low-fat diets and found that the low-carbohydrate group exhibited a greater decrease in HbA1c levels compared to the low-fat diet group after 3 months of intervention (*P* < 0.01). Both groups demonstrated significantly lower HbA1c levels during the intervention (*P* < 0.01 and *P* < 0.05, respectively).

Ismael et al. (17) implemented a 12-week Mediterranean diet intervention in T2DM patients, resulting in a significant decrease in HOMA-IR (mean change -1.03 ± 2.64 , P<0.05, Cohen's d = -0.41) and HbA1c compared to baseline levels (mean change -0.67 ± 0.98 , p < 0.05, Cohen's d = -0.70), although the decrease in FBG was not significant. Deledda et al. (18) demonstrated a 1.1% decrease in HbA1c in the ketogenic diet group after dietary intervention (from 6.6 ± 0.9 to 5.5 ± 0.5 , p = 0.012), while the change in HbA1c in the Mediterranean diet group was not significant. No significant changes in FBG were observed in either group.

Balfegó et al. (20) found no significant difference in glycemic control between the sardine diet and the control diet. Both groups exhibited significantly lower homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and fasting insulin levels compared to baseline, but the reduction was greater in the sardine diet group (mean change in fasting insulin -6.1 ± 1.8 mU/L, P=0.01; mean change in HOMA-IR -2.3 ± 0.7 , P = 0.007). Karusheva et al. (21) demonstrated that a reduced branched-chain amino acid diet (BCAA-) led to reduced insulin secretion and increased postprandial insulin sensitivity when compared to a full amino acid diet (BCAA+). Meleshko et al. reported a significant reduction in blood glucose levels in patients with T2DM after personalized dietary intervention (mean change -2.36 ± 2.13 mmol/L, P < 0.05). Shoer et al. (23) reported that a personalized diet was more effective in managing glycemic control (HbA1c) compared to the Mediterranean diet.

Regarding the meta-analysis of glucose metabolism, no significant differences were observed in FBG, HbA1c, and HOMA-IR between the experimental group (intervention diet) and the control group (recommended diet for type 2 diabetic patients), as depicted in Supplementary Figure S2. Following the high-fiber dietary intervention, FBG (mean difference -1.15 mmol/L; 95% CI, -2.24 to -0.05; I² = 94%; *P* = 0.04) and HbA1c (mean difference -0.99%; 95% CI, -1.93 to -0.03; I² = 89%; P=0.04) exhibited significant reductions compared to baseline levels (Figure 2). Moreover, the high-fat low-carbohydrate HbA1c (mean difference

-0.98; 95% CI, -1.50 to -0.46; I² = 0%; *P* = 0.0002) was notably lower after the dietary intervention (Figure 2).

4.6 Effect of dietary intervention on lipids

Medina-Vera et al. (15) observed a decrease in total cholesterol (-7.8%), triglycerides (-23%), and LDL-C (-9.9%) compared to baseline values in 81 subjects who received a high fiber, low-energy diet. Additionally, Candela et al. (12) reported a significantly greater reduction in total cholesterol, HDL-C, and LDL-C in the Ma-Pi 2 diet group compared to the control group (p < 0.05).

In the context of the meta-analysis on lipid metabolism, the experimental group (intervention diet) exhibited a noteworthy reduction in total cholesterol (mean difference -0.69 mmol/L; 95% CI, -1.27 to -0.10; I² =52%; P=0.02) and LDL-C (mean difference -0.45 mmol/L; 95% CI, -0.68 to -0.22; I² =0%; P<0.0001) compared to the control group (recommended diet for type 2 diabetic patients), as illustrated in Figure 3. After the high-fiber dietary intervention, total cholesterol (mean difference -0.95 mmol/L; 95% CI, -1.57 to -0.33; I² =77%; P = 0.003) demonstrated a significant decrease relative to baseline levels. Nonetheless, no significant differences were observed in HDL-C between the experimental and control groups, nor in the changes before and after the high-fiber diet intervention, as depicted in Supplementary Figure S2.

4.7 Effect of dietary intervention on inflammatory indicators

According to Candela et al. (12), the consumption of a highfiber Ma-Pi 2 diet significantly reduced the levels of TNF- α (-18.63 \pm 27.59 pg/mL), CRP (-4.43 \pm 7.81 mg/L), and IL-6 (-0.286 \pm 3.86 pg/mL) (p < 0.01). Medina-Vera et al. (15) demonstrated that a low-energy diet high in fiber, polyphenols, and plant proteins effectively reduced inflammation levels in T2DM patients. The intervention group showed a 65% reduction in endotoxin (LPS) levels compared to baseline. Similarly, Chen et al. (14) found that a high dietary fiber diet significantly decreased IL-6, IL-1, and TNF- α , resulting in reduced systemic inflammation. Meleshko et al. (22) designed a personalized diet that significantly reduced TNF- α levels (-6.9 \pm 0.91 pg/mL, P < 0.05), along with IL-6 and IL-1, indicating the efficacy of dietary interventions rich in dietary fiber and phytochemicals in improving inflammation levels in T2DM.

4.8 Effect of dietary intervention on anthropometrics

Deledda et al. investigated the impact of the Mediterranean diet intervention, which resulted in significant reductions in weight (-3.1 ± 17.6 kg, P = 0.02), body mass index (-2.1 ± 4.53 kg/m², P = 0.02), and waist circumference (-4.7 ± 9.08 cm, P = 0.004) compared to baseline. However, the ketogenic diet intervention



yielded even more substantial and significant reductions in weight $(-14.3 \pm 13.91 \text{ kg}, P < 0.0001)$, body mass index $(-5.3 \pm 3.93 \text{ kg/m}^2, P < 0.0001)$, and waist circumference $(-12.3 \pm 7.27 \text{ cm}, P < 0.0002)$. The low-energy diet designed by Jian C et al. demonstrated significant decreases in BMI compared to baseline $(-3.9 \pm 1.14 \text{ kg/m}^2, P < 0.001)$, as did the low-carbohydrate diet implemented by Ren et al. $(-0.51 \pm 2.39 \text{ kg/m}^2, P = 0.034)$. Similarly, the individualized diet by Meleshko et al. led to a significant reduction in BMI during the intervention period $(-4.03 \pm 10.62 \text{ kg/m}^2)$.

Regarding the meta-analysis of BMI, no significant disparity in BMI was observed between the experimental group (intervention diet) and the control group (recommended diet for type 2 diabetic patients), as depicted in Supplementary Figure S2.

5 Discussion

This review included a total of 12 dietary intervention trials. In the comprehensive meta-analysis, alterations in glucose metabolism and BMI within the experimental group (adhering to nutrient intake adjusted according to the recommended diet for individuals with T2D) did not demonstrate statistical significance when compared to the control group (following the recommended diet for T2D patients). However, the experimental group exhibited noteworthy reductions in both total cholesterol and LDL-C levels. In subgroup analyses, it was observed that FBG, HbA1c, and total cholesterol were significantly lower following interventions involving high dietary fiber diets, such as the Ma-PI² diet, high-fiber diet, and Mediterranean diet, when contrasted with pre-intervention levels. Furthermore, HbA1c exhibited a significant decrease after high-fat, low-carbohydrate diet interventions, as seen in the ketogenic diet and almondbased low-carbohydrate diet. Notably, the low-fat and lowcarbohydrate diet, i.e., a low-energy diet, significantly enhanced glucose metabolism levels (FBG and HOMA-IR), as well as general and central obesity, as measured by BMI and waist circumference, in overweight and obese T2D patients.Furthermore, a personalized diet tailored to the individual's gut microbiota, immune system, and biochemical parameters demonstrated superior efficacy in glycemic control among T2D patients, leading to a more diverse population of beneficial gut bacteria than the specific diets previously mentioned.

The present review appears to provide further evidence of an earlier study by Houghton et al. (27), a systematic review evaluating the effectiveness of dietary interventions on the gut microbiota and glycemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Houghton et al. found a significant reduction in HbA1c and no significant changes in FBG or HOMA-IR in patients after dietary intervention. In terms of the gut microbiota, there were significant changes in diversity matrices (α and β) and the Firmicutes: Bacteroidetes ratios, but no significant changes in the relative abundance of Bifidobacterium spp. However, the present review builds on that study by updating the intervention studies of the last few years and analyzing subgroups according to nutritional characteristics, culminating in further results on the gut microbiota.



In comparison to the healthy population, patients with T2DM present a diminished abundance and diversity of gut microbiota, specifically lacking in butyrate-producing bacteria (e.g., Ruminococcus, Subdoligranulum, Eubacterium, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, and Roseburia) and bacteria inversely associated with inflammation (Bacteroides, Prevotella, Akkermansia, and Bifidobacterium) (28). Noteworthy, changes in the gut microbiota appear to precede alterations in the standard biomarker of type 2 diabetes, HbA1c (17). The consumption of a Western-style diet, characterized by elevated levels of refined sugars, carbohydrates, saturated fatty acids, and animal proteins, coupled with a low dietary fiber intake, correlates with inflammation, metabolic disease, and T2DM (29). Remarkable traits of the Western-style diet-associated gut microbiota include an upsurge in proteinmetabolizing bacteria (e.g., Bacillus and Aspergillus), saturated fat-metabolizing bacteria (e.g., Bacillus spp.), and a substantial reduction in fiber-degrading bacteria (e.g., Faecalibacterium and Lachnospira) (30, 31). Following the consumption of red meat, the gut microbiota ferments its constituent choline, carnitine, betaine, and lecithin, resulting in the synthesis of trimethylamine (TMA). Subsequently, the liver further metabolizes TMA to trimethylamine-N-oxide (TMAO) (32). A study demonstrated that TMAO impairs glucose tolerance, elevates HOMA-IR and fasting insulin levels in mice fed a high-fat diet, inducing adipose tissue inflammation and blocking insulin signaling (33). Furthermore, a case-control study revealed a positive correlation between increased plasma TMAO levels and heightened risk of T2DM (34). Therefore, adopting a rational and effective dietary pattern stands as a powerful means to augment gut microbiota diversity, while balancing its composition and metabolism in patients with T2DM.

Dietary interventions examined in this review exhibited a significant impact on the diversity of the gut microbiota. Various interventions, such as low-energy, low-carbohydrate, low-fat, and high-fiber Ma-Pi 2 diets, were found to notably increase alpha diversity. Moreover, the Mediterranean diet and ketogenic diet demonstrated a significant increase in beta diversity of the gut microbiota. Notably, several studies indicated a strong association between bacterial fluctuations resulting from dietary interventions and improved metabolic pathways, including the degradation pathways of limonene and ethylbenzene, glycosaminoglycan, and unsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis (12, 16, 18).

Importantly, the majority of dietary interventions significantly modify the composition of the gut microbiota, with some of the altered flora closely linked to human metabolic function. Specifically, high-fiber Ma-Pi 2 diets, high dietary fiber diet, highfiber low-energy diet, and Mediterranean diet, all belonging to high dietary fiber categories, upregulated the relative abundance of *Bacteroides, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Akkermansia*, and Bifidobacterium. Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, a major SCFA (such as acetic and butyric acid) producer in the human intestine, notably enhances insulin sensitivity and ameliorates T2DM (35). Additionally, numerous *Firmicutes* members, including *Lachnospira*, *Pseudobutyrivibrio*, *Clostridium leptum*, *Roseburia*, and *Faecalibacterium*, possess robust SCFA-producing capabilities (36). SCFA stimulates insulin secretion from pancreatic β -cells by stimulating the release of glucagon-like peptide (GLP-1) and casein (PPY) from intestinal L-cells and reduces inflammation levels by inhibiting indole- and hydrogen sulfide-producing bacteria (13, 37, 38).

However, the majority of bacterial strains commonly found in today's probiotic supplements do not possess the ability to produce butyrate. This limitation stems from the fact that most butyrateproducing bacteria are highly anaerobic and perish rapidly upon exposure to oxygen. In contrast, direct administration of butyrate can be absorbed by the stomach (36). While it is not possible to directly supplement butyrate-producing bacteria or butyrate itself, it is feasible to nourish butyric acid bacteria within the gut through dietary intake. This indirect approach facilitates an increase in the abundance of butyrate-producing bacteria and stimulates their substantial production of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs). The consumption of dietary fiber represents the optimal means of augmenting SCFA-producing bacteria. Dietary fiber predominantly encompasses cellulose, resistant starch, pectin, inulin, and oligosaccharides, with whole grains, legumes, nuts, vegetables, and fruits constituting major food sources.

Secondly, Akkermansia muciniphila (A. Muciniphila) has been the subject of increasing research due to its diminished abundance in patients with diabetes, cardiovascular disease, inflammatory bowel disease, and neurological disorders (39, 40). A. Muciniphila may stimulate increased levels of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) through protein P9 on the outer membrane, thereby promoting insulin secretion from pancreatic β -cells and suppressing appetite, ultimately improving T2DM and obesity (41). The most effective approach to enhancing A. Muciniphila abundance in the gut involves consuming foods rich in polyphenols and fish oil, alongside a dietary fiber intake (42). Notably, polyphenols act as antioxidants, combating oxidative stress and chronic inflammation, while also improving insulin resistance. Foods such as flax seeds, rye bread, walnuts, cranberries, blueberries, and green tea are abundant sources of dietary polyphenols (43). Additionally, fish such as sardines and salmon not only provide fish oil (DHA) but also serve as excellent sources of high-quality protein (44). Our study revealed that a high dietary, low-energy regimen enriched with polyphenols and plant proteins, as designed by Medina-Vera et al. (15), resulted in a 125% increase in A. Muciniphila abundance, a 65% decrease in its endotoxin (LSP) concentration, and a significant enhancement of plasma antioxidant activity. Furthermore, Bifidobacterium is extensively utilized in fermented dairy products as one of the most prevalent probiotics for promoting healthy intestinal function in humans (45), while Bacteroides fragilis exhibits a robust capacity for the extensive breakdown of dietary fiber polysaccharides and host glycans (15).

We observed a decline in *Prevotella* abundance in two high dietary fiber-based diets (14, 15), with a 13% reduction in *Prevotella copri* specifically in the high dietary fiber low-energy

diet. Similarly, an animal study (46) and a population intervention trial (47) demonstrated an association between Prevotella copri and insulin resistance. Conversely, numerous clinical trials have consistently reported an elevation in Prevotella abundance following high dietary fiber interventions (48-51). Moreover, one study revealed the potential benefits of Prevotella copri in host metabolism, suggesting its utility as an indicator of postprandial glucose metabolism (52). Nevertheless, the precise effects of Prevotella on human health and its underlying mechanisms remain unclear. Potential factors contributing to this discrepancy include inter-individual variability in species and strain-level composition of Prevotella within the gut and variations in dietary patterns (53). Thus, the prevailing explanation is that higher diversity of Prevotella spp. species corresponds to a greater fermentative capacity, yielding greater benefits for human health (53).

In addition to dietary fiber and polyphenols, the gut microbiota play a vital role in lipid metabolism, encompassing lipid conversion, synthesis, breakdown of dietary lipids, and generation of host-regulated secondary metabolites (54). The Mediterranean diet, rich in n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFA) abundant in fish, is strongly linked to improved T2DM outcomes (55). n-3 PUFA exhibit anti-inflammatory properties by reducing the Lachnospiraceae/Firmicutes ratio and enhancing Lachnospiraceae, thereby interacting with the gut microbiota to suppress inflammation. These effects are particularly attributed to the reduction of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-producing bacteria and the increase in short-chain fatty acid (SCFA)-producing bacteria (56, 57). However, the three studies (17, 18, 20) included in this paper, which explored dietary interventions enriched in n-3 PUFA (Mediterranean diet and sardine diet), did not consistently demonstrate alterations in gut microbiota composition, suggesting incomplete correlation with reported results of gut microbiota changes.

Regarding the reduced branched-chain amino acid (BCAA) diet, this paper only includes one study (21). The findings indicate that compared to a full BCAA diet, reduced BCAA intake leads to increased postprandial insulin sensitivity, improved gut microbiota composition, and enhanced white adipose tissue metabolism. BCAA, an essential amino acid synthesized by the gut microbiota, has emerged as a biomarker for insulin resistance (58). However, a two-way Mendelian randomization study demonstrated a causal association between insulin resistance and higher BCAA levels, whereas higher BCAA levels were not causally associated with insulin resistance (59).

In summary, the gut microbiota and their metabolites serve as potential mediators between diet and T2DM metabolism (Figure 4). This pivotal connection was also demonstrated in the context of a mediation analysis pertaining to personalized dietary interventions (23), where alterations in the gut microbiome composition elucidated 12.25% of the variations observed in serum metabolites. A Western diet, positively associated with T2DM, promotes impaired glucose tolerance by fostering the growth of saturated fatty acid-metabolizing bacteria and triggering the secretion of trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO), ultimately elevating the risk of T2DM. Conversely, diets negatively associated with T2DM promotes insulin secretion and improves insulin resistance



by increasing SCFA-producing bacteria and decreasing H2S- and LPS-producing bacteria.

The human gut microbiota is intricately associated with dietary patterns and influenced by confounding factors such as age, race, gender, geography, and socioeconomic variables (60). Furthermore, it can be substantially impacted by different disease stages and treatment medications (60, 61). A Meta-analysis that included 27 studies (62) showed that age is an important factor influencing the diversity, composition and functional characteristics of the gut microbiota, and in particular, beta diversity varies significantly across developmental stages.

The growing recognition of the gut microbiome's predictive capacity for human health necessitates its incorporation as a foundation for personalized health management indicators (63). Moreover, diet-microbiota interactions underpin the advancement of precision nutrition, where the gut microbiota composition emerges as a critical factor in determining responses to dietary interventions (64). Therefore, by integrating gut microbiomics and metabolomics with robust data analysis, machine learning algorithms can aid in devising personalized diets that offer more effective guidance for the prevention and management of T2DM through nutritional interventions (65). This paper includes a study featuring a personalized diet intervention designed by Meleshko et al. (22), which tailored the diet based on the individuals' gut microbiota status, immune responses, and biochemical parameters among T2DM patients. The results showed significant improvements in blood glucose levels, lipid profiles, and inflammatory markers, along with notable reductions in metabolism-related detrimental bacteria (e.g., *Enterococcus faecalis*, *Escherichia coli*, *lac*+, and *Candida spp*.). Shoer et al. (23) found that personalized diets had greater beneficial effects on glycemic control, gut microbiota and metabolites than the Mediterranean diet.

Nevertheless, there are several current challenges and issues associated with employing precision nutrition for disease prevention and management. These include the high cost of histological techniques, the complexity of study design methods, the analysis and interpretation of high-dimensional data, and result reproducibility (66, 67). In the face of these challenges, future research efforts should prioritize rigorous and rational study designs, cost reduction of histological technique analyses, and the development of algorithms capable of handling high-dimensional big data from diverse sources (67).

6 Advantages and limitations

To our knowledge, this is the inaugural meta-analysis and systematic review designed to categorize dietary interventions based on their nutritional attributes, aiming to evaluate their efficacy in ameliorating the gut microbiota and metabolic profiles of individuals with T2DM. This approach holds broader instructive value for individuals in their daily dietary choices. Additionally, we elucidate the intermediary role of the gut microbiota and its metabolites in bridging dietary patterns and T2DM. In this context, as different diets influence the gut microbiota, they subsequently leverage various pathways to enhance the metabolic status of T2DM patients. We should note that our scope of interventions excludes isolated nutritional supplements and probiotic interventions. The inclusion of probiotics, considered beneficial bacteria, could directly interfere with the impact of dietary interventions on the gut microbiota. Moreover, nutritional supplements are not commonly integrated into individuals' daily dietary habits.

However, it is imperative to acknowledge that our metaanalysis incorporated a substantial degree of heterogeneity, primarily attributed to the variance in the methodologies employed for dietary interventions. Additionally, patient age, variations in disease progression, intervention duration combined with medication usage, and the limited sample sizes within the studies could potentially obscure the genuine alterations in gut microbiota and metabolic markers. It is pertinent to mention that the relatively limited number of meta-analyses focusing on gut microbiota is due to the scarcity of specific gut microbiota-related variables accessible for complete experimental and control groups. In certain instances, studies solely compared changes between the intervention and baseline levels, further contributing to this scarcity.

7 Conclusion and prospect

Regarding specific dietary patterns, a high dietary fiber regimen led to a noteworthy reduction in FBG, HbA1c, and total cholesterol levels while augmenting the prevalence of short-chain fatty acidproducing bacteria. The high-fat and low-carbohydrate diet was particularly effective in lowering HbA1c levels, and a low-fat, low-carbohydrate diet exhibited significant reductions in FBG, HOMA-IR, BMI, and waist circumference. Notably, individualized dietary strategies demonstrated superior efficacy in blood glucose management among T2D patients when compared to predefined dietary patterns. This approach also fostered a greater diversity of beneficial gut bacteria.

In summary, diverse dietary interventions can enhance metabolic profiles by positively influencing the gut microbiota, consequently leading to improvements in metabolic parameters among individuals with T2D.

Consequently, future clinical investigations are warranted to comprehensively explore the effects of dietary modalities on the gut microbiota of T2DM patients, as well as establish connections between alterations in the gut microbiota and changes in T2DM-associated biochemical markers. In forthcoming studies, it is imperative to consider appropriate sample sizes, extend intervention durations, and continuously monitor the dynamics of the gut microbiota and its metabolites. Additionally, it is essential to move beyond bacterial classification and perform functional group analyses of functionally similar microorganisms when studying the gut microbiota. Regarding dietary interventions, apart from commonly studied patterns such as the Mediterranean diet, high-fiber diets, and low-energy diets, future investigations should embrace personalized and tailored approaches based on individual variations in gut microbiota characteristics, immune and biochemical indicators, disease stage, and drug response diversity.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: XX and HX. Methodology: XX, FZ, JR, HZ, CJ, MW, and YJ. Validation: XX, FZ, and JR. Formal analysis and writing—original draft preparation: XX. Writing—review and editing: XX, HX, FZ, JR, HZ, CJ, MW, and YJ. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by Humanities and Social Sciences Planning Fund Project of the Ministry of Education of China (No. 15YJAZH085).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of

their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1243095/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Chatterjee S, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Type 2 diabetes. Lancet. (2017) 389:2239–51. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30058-2

2. Gurung M, Li Z, You H, Rodrigues R, Jump DB, Morgun A, et al. Role of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes pathophysiology. *EBioMedicine*. (2020) 51:102590. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.11.051

3. Yang G, Wei J, Liu P, Zhang Q, Tian Y, Hou G, et al. Role of the gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes and related diseases. *Metabolism.* (2021) 117:154712. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2021.154712

4. Sohail MU, Althani A, Anwar H, Rizzi R, Marei HE. Role of the gastrointestinal tract microbiome in the pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus. *J Diabetes Res.* (2017) 2017:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2017/9631435

5. Koren O, Goodrich JK, Cullender TC, Spor A, Laitinen K, Kling Bäckhed H, et al. Host Remodeling of the Gut Microbiome and Metabolic Changes during Pregnancy. *Cell.* (2012) 150:470–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.008

6. Brown JM, Hazen SL. The gut microbial endocrine organ: bacterially derived signals driving cardiometabolic diseases. *Annu Rev Med.* (2015) 66:343–59. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-060513-093205

7. Zhu T, Goodarzi MO. Metabolites linking the gut microbiome with risk for type 2 diabetes. *Curr Nutr Rep.* (2020) 9:83–93. doi: 10.1007/s13668-020-00307-3

8. Ganesan K, Chung SK, Vanamala J, Xu B. Causal relationship between diet-induced gut microbiota changes and diabetes: a novel strategy to transplant faecalibacterium prausnitzii in preventing diabetes. *IJMS*. (2018) 19:3720. doi: 10.3390/ijms19123720

9. Mozaffarian D. Dietary D and policy priorities for cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and obesity: a comprehensive review. *Circulation.* (2016) 133:187–225. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018585

10. Hodge A, Bassett J. What can we learn from dietary pattern analysis? *Public Health Nutr.* (2016) 19:191-4. doi: 10.1017/S1368980015003730

11. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 2021:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

12. Candela M, Biagi E, Soverini M, Consolandi C, Quercia S, Severgnini M, et al. Modulation of gut microbiota dysbioses in type 2 diabetic patients by macrobiotic Ma-Pi 2 diet. *Br J Nutr.* (2016) 116:80–93. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516001045

13. Zhao L, Zhang F, Ding X, Wu G, Lam YY, Wang X, et al. Gut bacteria selectively promoted by dietary fibers alleviate type 2 diabetes. *Science.* (2018) 359:1151–6. doi: 10.1126/science.aao5774

14. Chen L, Liu B, Ren L, Du H, Fei C, Qian C, et al. High-fiber diet ameliorates gut microbiota, serum metabolism and emotional mood in type 2 diabetes patients. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2023) 13:1069954. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2023.1069954

15. Medina-Vera I, Sanchez-Tapia M, Noriega-López L, Granados-Portillo O, Guevara-Cruz M, Flores-López A, et al. A dietary intervention with functional foods reduces metabolic endotoxaemia and attenuates biochemical abnormalities by modifying faecal microbiota in people with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab.* (2019) 45:122–31. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2018.09.004

16. Jian C, Silvestre MP, Middleton D, Korpela K, Jalo E, Broderick D, et al. Gut microbiota predicts body fat change following a low-energy diet: a PREVIEW intervention study. *Genome Med.* (2022) 14:54. doi: 10.1186/s13073-022-01053-7

17. Ismael S, Silvestre MP, Vasques M, Araújo JR, Morais J, Duarte MI, et al. A pilot study on the metabolic impact of mediterranean diet in type 2 diabetes: is gut microbiota the key? *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1228. doi: 10.3390/nu13041228

18. Deledda A, Palmas V, Heidrich V, Fosci M, Lombardo M, Cambarau G, et al. Dynamics of gut microbiota and clinical variables after ketogenic and mediterranean diets in drug-naïve patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity. *Metabolites.* (2022) 12:1092. doi: 10.3390/metabol2111092

19. Ren M, Zhang H, Qi J, Hu A, Jiang Q, Hou Y, et al. An almond-based low carbohydrate diet improves depression and glycometabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes through modulating gut microbiota and GLP-1: a randomized controlled trial. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3036. doi: 10.3390/nu12103036

20. Balfegó M, Canivell S, Hanzu FA, Sala-Vila A, Martínez-Medina M, Murillo S, et al. Effects of sardine-enriched diet on metabolic control, inflammation and gut microbiota in drug-naïve patients with type 2 diabetes: a pilot randomized trial. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2016) 15:78. doi: 10.1186/s12944-016-0245-0

21. Karusheva Y, Koessler T, Strassburger K, Markgraf D, Mastrototaro L, Jelenik T, et al. Short-term dietary reduction of branched-chain amino acids reduces meal-induced insulin secretion and modifies microbiome composition in type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled crossover trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 110:1098–107. doi: 10.1093/ajrch/nqz191

22. Meleshko T, Rukavchuk R, Levchuk O, Boyko N. Personalized nutrition for microbiota correction and metabolism restore in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. In: Donelli G, editor. *Advances in Microbiology, Infectious Diseases and Public Health.* Cham: Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; Springer International Publishing. (2021).

23. Shoer S, Shilo S, Godneva A, Ben-Yacov O, Rein M, Wolf BC, et al. Impact of dietary interventions on pre-diabetic oral and gut microbiome, metabolites and cytokines. *Nat Commun.* (2023) 14:5384. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-41042-x

24. Wan X, Wang W, Liu J, Tong T. Estimating the sample mean and standard deviation from the sample size, median, range and/or interquartile range. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2014) 14:135. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-135

25. Luo D, Wan X, Liu J, Tong T. Optimally estimating the sample mean from the sample size, median, mid-range, and/or mid-quartile range. *Stat Methods Med Res.* (2018) 27:1785–805. doi: 10.1177/0962280216669183

26. Higgins J, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [Updated March 2011]. London: The Cochrane Collaboration. (2011).

27. Houghton D, Hardy T, Stewart C, Errington L, Day CP, Trenell MI, et al. Systematic review assessing the effectiveness of dietary intervention on gut microbiota in adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia.* (2018) 61:1700–11. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4632-0

28. Cunningham AL, Stephens JW, Harris DA. Gut Microbiota Influence in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM). *Gut Pathog.* (2021) 13:50. doi: 10.1186/s13099-021-00446-0

29. Janssen JA. Hyperinsulinemia MJL, and its pivotal role in aging, obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and cancer. *IJMS*. (2021) 22:7797. doi: 10.3390/ijms22157797

30. Hills R, Pontefract B, Mishcon H, Black C, Sutton S, Theberge C. Gut microbiome: profound implications for diet and disease. *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:1613. doi: 10.3390/nu11071613

31. Malesza IJ, Malesza M, Walkowiak J, Mussin N, Walkowiak D, Aringazina R, et al. High-fat western-style diet, systemic inflammation, and gut microbiota: a narrative review. *Cells.* (2021) 10:3164. doi: 10.3390/cells10113164

32. Bennet B, Vallim T, Wang Z, Shih D, Meng Y, Gregory J, et al. Trimethylamine-N-oxide, a metabolite associated with atherosclerosis, exhibits complex genetic and dietary regulation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:49–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.12.011

33. Gao X, Liu X, Xu J, Xue C, Xue Y, Wang Y. Dietary trimethylamine n-oxide exacerbates impaired glucose tolerance in mice fed a high fat diet. *J Biosci Bioeng.* (2014) 118:476–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2014.03.001

34. Association between Microbiota-Dependent Metabolite Trimethylamine-N-Oxide and Type 2 Diabetes – ScienceDirect. Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0002916522026077?via%3Dihub (accessed 2 April, 2023).

35. Mukherjee A, Lordan C, Ross RP, Cotter PD. Gut microbes from the phylogenetically diverse genus eubacterium and their various contributions to gut health. *Gut Microbes.* (2020) 12:1802866. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2020.1802866

36. Arora T, Tremaroli V. Therapeutic potential of butyrate for treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Front Endocrinol.* (2021) 12:761834. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.761834

37. Udayappan S, Manneras-Holm L, Chaplin-Scott A, Belzer C, Herrema H, Dallinga-Thie GM, et al. Oral treatment with eubacterium hallii improves insulin sensitivity in db/db mice. *NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes.* (2016) 2:16009. doi: 10.1038/npjbiofilms.2016.9

38. Li K-K, Tian P-J, Wang S-D, Lei P, Qu L, Huang J-P, et al. Targeting gut microbiota: lactobacillus alleviated type 2 diabetes via inhibiting

lps secretion and activating GPR43 pathway. J Funct Foods. (2017) 38:561–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2017.09.049

39. Depommier C, Everard A, Druart C, Plovier H, Van Hul M, Vieira-Silva S, et al. Supplementation with akkermansia muciniphila in overweight and obese human volunteers: a proof-of-concept exploratory study. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1096–103. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0495-2

40. Hasani A, Ebrahimzadeh S, Hemmati F, Khabbaz A, Hasani A, Gholizadeh P. The role of akkermansia muciniphila in obesity, diabetes and atherosclerosis. *J Med Microbiol.* (2021) 70:1435. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.001435

41. Cani PD, Depommier C, Derrien M, Everard A, de Vos WM. Akkermansia muciniphila: paradigm for next-generation beneficial microorganisms. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2022) 19:625–37. doi: 10.1038/s41575-022-00631-9

42. Zhou K. Strategies to promote abundance of akkermansia muciniphila, an emerging probiotics in the gut, evidence from dietary intervention studies. *J Funct Foods.* (2017) 33:194–201. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2017.03.045

43. Wan MLY, Co VA, El-Nezami H. Dietary polyphenol impact on gut health and microbiota. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2021) 61:690–711. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2020.1744512

44. Ghasemi Fard S, Wang F, Sinclair AJ, Elliott G, Turchini GM. How Does High DHA Fish Oil Affect Health? A systematic review of evidence critical reviews in food science and nutrition. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2019) 59:1684–727. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1425978

45. Hidalgo-Cantabrana C, Delgado S, Ruiz L, Ruas-Madiedo P, Sánchez B. Margolles, bifidobacteria a, and their health-promoting effects. *Microbiol Spectr.* (2017) 5:21. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.BAD-0010-2016

46. Pedersen HK, Gudmundsdottir V, Nielsen HB, Hyotylainen T, Nielsen T, Jensen BAH, et al. Human gut microbes impact host serum metabolome and insulin sensitivity. *Nature*. (2016) 535:376–81. doi: 10.1038/nature18646

47. Meslier V, Laiola M, Roager HM, De Filippis F, Roume H, Quinquis B, et al. Mediterranean diet intervention in overweight and obese subjects lowers plasma cholesterol and causes changes in the gut microbiome and metabolome independently of energy intake. *Gut.* (2020) 69:1258–68. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-320438

48. Haro C, García-Carpintero S, Rangel-Zúñiga OA, Alcalá-Díaz JF, Landa BB, Clemente JC, et al. Consumption of two healthy dietary patterns restored microbiota dysbiosis in obese patients with metabolic dysfunction. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1700300. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201700300

49. Marungruang N, Tovar J, Björck I, Hållenius FF. Improvement in cardiometabolic risk markers following a multifunctional diet is associated with gut microbial taxa in healthy overweight and obese subjects. *Eur J Nutr.* (2018) 57:2927–36. doi: 10.1007/s00394-017-1563-3

50. Ghosh TS, Rampelli S, Jeffery IB, Santoro A, Neto M, Capri M, et al. Mediterranean diet intervention alters the gut microbiome in older people reducing frailty and improving health status: the nu-age 1-year dietary intervention across five european countries. *Gut.* (2020) 69:1218–28. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319654

51. Roager HM, Vogt JK, Kristensen M, Hansen LBS, Ibrügger S, Mærkedahl RB, et al. Whole grain-rich diet reduces body weight and systemic low-grade inflammation without inducing major changes of the gut microbiome: a randomised cross-over trial. *Gut.* (2019) 68:83–93. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314786

52. Asnicar F, Berry SE, Valdes AM, Nguyen LH, Piccinno G, Drew DA, et al. Microbiome connections with host metabolism and habitual diet from 1,098 deeply phenotyped individuals. *Nat Med.* (2021) 27:321–32. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-01183-8

53. Tett A, Pasolli E, Masetti G, Ercolini D, Segata N. Prevotella diversity niches and interactions with the human host. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2021) 19:585–99. doi: 10.1038/s41579-021-00559-y

54. Brown EM, Clardy J, Xavier RJ. Gut microbiome lipid metabolism and its impact on host physiology. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2023) 31:173-86. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2023.01.009

55. Oliver E, McGillicuddy F, Phillips C, Toomey S, Roche HM. The role of inflammation and macrophage accumulation in the development of obesity-induced type 2 diabetes mellitus and the possible therapeutic effects of long-chain n-3 PUFA. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2010) 69:232–43. doi: 10.1017/S0029665110000042

56. Watson H, Mitra S, Croden FC, Taylor M, Wood HM, Perry SL, et al. A Randomised trial of the effect of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplements on the human intestinal microbiota. *Gut.* (2018) 67:1974–83. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314968

57. Costantini L, Molinari R, Farinon B, Merendino N. Impact of omega-3 fatty acids on the gut microbiota. *IJMS*. (2017) 18:2645. doi: 10.3390/ijms18122645

58. Ruiz-Canela M, Guasch-Ferré M, Toledo E, Clish CB, Razquin C, Liang L, et al. Plasma branched chain/aromatic amino acids, enriched mediterranean diet and risk of type 2 diabetes: case-cohort study within the PREDIMED trial. *Diabetologia*. (2018) 61:1560–71. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4611-5

59. Mahendran Y, Jonsson A, Have CT, Allin KH, Witte DR, Jørgensen ME, et al. Genetic Evidence of a Causal Effect of Insulin Resistance on Branched-Chain Amino Acid Levels. *Diabetologia*. (2017) 60:873–8. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4222-6

60. Zhang J, Guo Z, Xue Z, Sun Z, Zhang M, Wang L, et al. A phylo-functional core of gut microbiota in healthy young chinese cohorts across lifestyles, geography and ethnicities. *ISME J.* (2015) 9:1979–90. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2015.11

61. Whang A, Nagpal R, Yadav H. Bi-directional drug-microbiome interactions of anti-diabetics. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 39:591–602. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.11.046

62. Badal VD, Vaccariello ED, Murray ER, Yu KE, Knight R, Jeste DV, et al. The gut microbiome, aging, and longevity: a systematic review. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3759. doi: 10.3390/nu12123759

63. Larsen PE, Dai Y. Metabolome of human gut microbiome is predictive of host dysbiosis. *GigaSci.* (2015) 4:42. doi: 10.1186/s13742-015-0084-3

64. Biesiekierski JR, Jalanka J, Staudacher HM. Can gut microbiota composition predict response to dietary treatments? *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:1134. doi: 10.3390/nu11051134

65. de Toro-Martín J, Arsenault B, Després J-P, Vohl M-C. Precision nutrition: a review of personalized nutritional approaches for the prevention and management of metabolic syndrome. *Nutrients.* (2017) 9:913. doi: 10.3390/nu9080913

66. Merino J. Precision nutrition in diabetes: when population-based dietary advice gets personal. *Diabetologia*. (2022) 65:1839–48. doi: 10.1007/s00125-022-05721-6

67. Wang DD, Hu FB. Precision nutrition for prevention and management of type 2 diabetes. *Lancet Diab Endocrinol.* (2018) 6:416–26. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30037-8

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jose Atilio Canas, Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital, United States

REVIEWED BY Mahdi Vajdi, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran José María Huerta, Carlos III Health Institute (ISCIII), Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Qi-Jun Wu I wuqj@sj-hospital.org Yu-Hong Zhao I zhaoyuhong@sj-hospital.org

[†]These authors share first authorship

RECEIVED 03 October 2023 ACCEPTED 17 January 2024 PUBLISHED 31 January 2024

CITATION

Lv J-L, Wei Y-F, Sun J-N, Shi Y-C, Liu F-H, Sun M-H, Chang Q, Wu Q-J and Zhao Y-H (2024) Ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk: an umbrella review of systematic reviews with metaanalyses of observational studies. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1306310. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1306310

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Lv, Wei, Sun, Shi, Liu, Sun, Chang, Wu and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk: an umbrella review of systematic reviews with meta-analyses of observational studies

Jia-Le Lv^{1,2,3†}, Yi-Fan Wei^{1,2,3†}, Jia-Nan Sun⁴, Yu-Chen Shi⁴, Fang-Hua Liu^{1,2,3}, Ming-Hui Sun^{1,2,3}, Qing Chang^{1,2,3}, Qi-Jun Wu^{1,2,3,4*} and Yu-Hong Zhao^{1,2,3*}

¹Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ²Clinical Research Center, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ³Liaoning Key Laboratory of Precision Medical Research on Major Chronic Disease, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ⁴Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China,

Background and aims: There is an ongoing debate on whether to advocate reducing ultra-processed food (UPF) in dietary guidelines to control metabolic disease (such as obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus [T2DM]). We aimed to summarize the evidence from systematic reviews with meta-analyses between UPF consumption and metabolic diseases risk, assess the credibility, and verify the robustness of these associations.

Methods: We systematically searched PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and Cochrane Library databases from their inception to July 15, 2023, to identify relevant systematic reviews with meta-analyses. We used the random-effects model to evaluate the summary effect size, along with 95% confidence interval and prediction interval. We also assessed heterogeneity, evidence of small-study effects and excess significance bias, and categorized the credibility of each association based on quantitative umbrella review criteria. Additionally, we conducted subgroup and sensitivity analyses to assess the robustness of associations based on continents, study design, dietary assessment methods, definition methods of UPF, population, and units of UPF consumption.

Results: Overall, 6 systematic reviews with 13 meta-analyses were included. Three (23.08%) meta-analyses were classified as highly suggestive evidence for meeting the criteria that associations were significant at $p < 10^{-6}$, had more than 1,000 cases, and presented the largest study with significance at p < 0.05. Among them, the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of obesity (OR = 1.55, 95% CI: 1.36–1.77) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile. The highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of T2DM (RR = 1.40, 95% CI: 1.23–1.59) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile, and a 10% increase in UPF consumption (% g/d) was associated with an increased risk of T2DM (RR = 1.12, 95% CI: 1.10–1.13). Meanwhile, the robustness of these associations was verified by a series of subgroup and sensitivity analyses. **Conclusion:** UPF consumption may be a risk factor for several metabolic diseases. However, well-designed studies are still needed to verify our findings in the future.

KEYWORDS

ultra-processed food, metabolic diseases, meta-analysis, umbrella review, observational study

Introduction

Metabolic disease is a metabolic disorder of organs, tissues, or cells caused by abnormal synthesis and decomposition of certain substances during metabolism, such as obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (1). It has become a serious burden on human society due to its rapidly increasing incidence worldwide (2–4). Currently, the precise etiology of metabolic disease is not fully understood, both genetic and environmental factors play crucial roles in the occurrence and development of disease (5, 6). Among them, as one of the most important modifiable environmental factors, the role of diet factors on metabolic disease has received extensive attention (7, 8).

Traditional methods to improve health focused on nutrients as the key determinants of a healthful diet (9). However, this classical nutrient-centric view has been challenged by the NOVA classification system, which is proposed as a novel way to classify foods based on the degree of processing rather than nutritional components (9, 10). According to the NOVA classification system, ultra-processed food (UPF) is a group of foods defined as industrial formulations created mostly or entirely from substances extracted from foods, with additives and with little if any intact food, such as fast foods, savory snacks, cakes, soft and/or sweetened drinks, and sausages (10). In developed countries, UPF has become an important source of energy intake, and the percentage of total energy from UPF could even be more than 50% (11, 12). Several systematic reviews with metaanalyses suggested that UPF consumption was associated with various metabolic disease, such as obesity, T2DM, hypertension, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and metabolic syndrome (MetS) (13-18). Therefore, there is a view that it is necessary to advocate the reduction of UPF in dietary guidelines to optimize health and policies (19). However, there is also an opposite view questioning the significance of UPF (20), suggesting that the concept and investigations of UPF are vague, and the association between UPF consumption and metabolic disease such as obesity remain uncertain due to the existence of potential biases, therefore, the mention of UPF in dietary guidelines can add little to existing nutrient profiling systems (21).

The contradictory views may cause confusion for clinicians and public health policymakers to make decisions. Therefore, we conducted an umbrella review (UR) across published systematic reviews with meta-analyses to evaluate the credibility as well as verify the robustness of associations between UPF consumption and metabolic disease.

Methods

The UR is an approach used to provide an overview of published systematic reviews with meta-analyses on the same topic and evaluate

the credibility of associations (22–24). In this UR, we strictly followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Metaanalyses reporting guideline (Supplementary Table S1) and metaanalysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines (Supplementary Table S2) (25, 26), and the protocol was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (CRD42023427297).

Search strategy

Two investigators (J-LL and Y-FW) systematically searched PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and Cochrane Library databases from their inception to July 15, 2023, to identify systematic reviews with meta-analyses that evaluated the associations between UPF consumption and metabolic disease risk. The search strategy is shown in Supplementary Table S3. No language restrictions were used when selecting eligible articles. Furthermore, included studies were backward snowballed manually and forward snowballed using the Web of Science citation tracking feature to identify additional eligible studies (27, 28).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Articles were included if they met the following PI[E]COS (Population, Intervention or Exposure, Comparison, Outcome, Study design) criteria: (1) Population: participants of different ages; (2) Intervention/Exposure: including UPF which was defined according to the NOVA classification system; (3) Comparison: highest/moderate vs. lowest, or dose-response analysis, etc.; (4) Outcome: metabolic disease risk (e.g., obesity, T2DM, or MetS); and (5) Study design: UR of systematic reviews with meta-analysis of observational studies (cohort, nested case-control, case-control, or cross-sectional studies, etc.).

Exclusion criteria: (1) genetic polymorphisms, laboratory, and animal studies; (2) systematic reviews without quantitative evaluations; (3) studies that could not obtain study-specific data, including effect sizes (odds ratio [OR], relative risk [RR], or hazard ratio [HR], etc.), 95% confidence interval (CI), and the number of cases or total population; and (4) studies that included less than three original studies. When more than one meta-analysis on the same association was eligible, only the latest meta-analysis was included (29). Of note, any comparison of exposure could be included and treated as a unique meta-analysis, such as highest/moderate vs. lowest, and dose–response analysis (30–32). Moreover, when a systematic review reported meta-analyses on more than one eligible outcome, they were all included and assessed separately (22). Two investigators (J-LL and Y-FW) independently screened the titles and abstracts of identified records and selected eligible articles by scrutinizing the full text. Any disagreement in the results comparison process was resolved through consensus with a third investigator (Q-JW).

Data extraction

Two investigators (J-NS and Y-CS) independently conducted data extraction, and any disagreement was resolved by consensus with the third investigator (Q-JW). From each eligible metaanalysis, we recorded the first author, year of publication, journal name, outcomes, number of studies included, and comparison (highest/moderate vs. lowest, or dose-response analysis, etc.). Regarding comparison, "lowest" was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile. For each original study, we extracted the first author, year of publication, country, study design (cohort, nested case-control, case-control, or cross-sectional studies, etc.), follow-up year, Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) score, diagnostic criteria for disease, dietary assessment methods (food frequency questionnaire [FFQ], 24-h dietary recall, or food record, etc.), definition methods (NOVA or non-NOVA) and units (% kcal/d, % g/d, or g/d, etc.) of UPF consumption, number of cases and participants, risk estimate (OR, RR, or HR) and 95% CI from the multivariable model, and covariates used for adjustment.

Statistical analyses

For each association, we calculated the summary effect size and 95% CI using random effects methods (33). The 95% prediction interval (PI) was also calculated to account for between-study heterogeneity and to evaluate the possible range of the effect size in a new study addressing the same association (34). Between-study heterogeneity was evaluated by tau² and I² statistic (35). An I² value <50, 50% sto sto sto sto sto sto sto sto store considered to represent not large, large, and very large heterogeneity, respectively (35). Egger's regression asymmetry test was used to identify whether there was evidence for small-study effects (SSE) (i.e., whether smaller studies tend to report larger effect size than larger studies) (36). A p-value <0.10 with more conservative effects in the largest study (i.e., the study with the smallest standard error) than in random effects meta-analysis was considered to be evidence of SSE (37). We applied the excess statistical significance test to assess whether the number of observed studies (O) with statistically significant results was larger than the expected number of positive studies (E) (38). In each meta-analysis, we calculated *E* by the sum of the statistical power estimates for each component study (38). We evaluated the power of each component study using the effect size of the largest study, while a non-central t distribution was used to calculate the statistical power of each study (39). Excess significance bias (ESB) for each meta-analysis was denoted at p < 0.10 and O > E (38). Cohen's kappa statistic was employed to evaluate the consistency of different procedures between the two investigators. The degree of consistency was explained by the kappa value (40).

In addition, subgroup analyses were performed to evaluate the robustness of results according to continents (America, Asia, or Europe), study design (prospective cohort, case-control, or crosssectional studies), dietary assessment methods (FFQ, 24-h dietary recall, or food record), and definition methods (NOVA or non-NOVA) of UPF. Furthermore, sensitivity analyses were conducted in our UR. First, only one meta-analysis involved adolescent participants (15), therefore we excluded adolescent participants due to their limited representation in the included meta-analyses which mostly focused on adults. Second, in the meta-analyses that defined UPF entirely based on the NOVA classification system, we further considered the potential impact of UPF units and reanalyzed associations by excluding original studies that differed from the UPF units used in most original studies. All analyses were performed using STATA version 16 (StataCrop, College Station, TX, United States) and IBM SPSS Statistics version 21 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, United States).

Grading the evidence

We applied quantitative criteria to categorize the credibility of each association into convincing, highly suggestive, suggestive, or weak according to previously published UR (Table 1) (23, 41, 42).

Quality assessment of evidence and methods

Two investigators (J-LL and M-HS) independently employed the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) to assess the quality of each association (43). According to GRADE, the quality of each association was classified as high, moderate, low, or very low (43). For observational studies, the quality of evidence was initially classified as low, and then could be downgraded based on five factors including study limitations, imprecision, inconsistency, indirectness, and publication bias, and upgraded based on three factors including a large magnitude of effect,

TABLE 1 The criteria to categorize the credibility of evidence in umbrella review.

| Evidence class | Criteria | | |
|---------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Convincing (Class I) | p < 10⁻⁶ under the random-effects model Number of cases >1,000 p < 0.05 of the largest study in the meta-analysis l² < 50% 95% prediction interval that excluded the null value No evidence of small-study effects No evidence of excess significance bias | | |
| Highly suggestive (Class II) | <i>p</i> < 10⁻⁶ under the random-effects model Number of cases >1,000 <i>p</i> < 0.05 of the largest study in the meta-analysis | | |
| Suggestive (Class III) | <i>p</i> < 10⁻³ under the random-effects model Number of cases >1,000 | | |
| Weak (Class IV) | • $p < 0.05$ under the random-effects model | | |
| Not significant | • $p \ge 0.05$ under the random-effects model | | |

a dose–response gradient, and attenuation by plausible confounding (43).

In addition, two reviewers (J-LL and M-HS) independently used the Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) tool to assess the methodological quality of each included systematic review (44). AMSTAR evaluates 11 questions, with a maximum score of 11. Each meta-analysis was categorized as high, moderate, or low quality for scores of ≥ 8 points, 4–7 points, and ≤ 3 points, respectively (45).

Results

Literature review

Overall, we initially identified 776 records, 315 records were excluded for duplication, and 429 records were excluded after screening titles and abstracts. Finally, we reviewed 32 full-text articles, and 6 systematic reviews with 13 meta-analyses met the inclusion criteria (Figure 1). Details of the 26 excluded articles are shown in Supplementary Table S4. The two investigators showed a high consistency in terms of data screening and selection, with a kappa value of 0.86.

Characteristics of the included meta-analyses

The characteristics of 13 meta-analyses corresponding to 97 original studies are presented in Supplementary Table S5. Of the 13 meta-analyses, the median number of original studies was 7 (range from 3 to 18), that of participants was 66,235 (range from 15,152 to 992,242), and that of cases was 15,000 (range from 4,302 to 34,924). Regarding exposure, all meta-analyses involved UPF defined by the NOVA classification system, of which 3 (23.08%) meta-analyses also involved specific types of foods belonging to UPF. Data on UPF consumption were mainly collected using FFQ, 24-h dietary recall, and 4-day food records. In addition, the commonly used units of UPF consumption included % kcal/d and % g/d. Regarding outcome, we investigated a total of 6 outcomes, including abdominal obesity (13), hypertension (14), MetS (15), NAFLD (16), obesity (13), overweight (13), overweight and obesity (13), and T2DM (17, 18).

UPF consumption and overweight and/or obesity risk

Six (46.15%) meta-analyses that evaluated the association between UPF consumption and overweight and/or obesity risk were all significant at p < 0.05. Among them, one meta-analysis was still significant at $p < 10^{-6}$, had more than 1,000 cases, presented the largest study with significance at p < 0.05, and reported large heterogeneity, 95% PI excluding the null value, and evidence of ESB. According to the quantitative UR criteria, the above meta-analysis was classified as highly suggestive evidence, indicating that the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of obesity (OR = 1.55, 95% CI: 1.36–1.77) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile. In addition, according to criteria that the associations were still significant at $p < 10^{-3}$ and had more than 1,000

cases, two meta-analyses were classified as suggestive evidence, demonstrating that the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of abdominal obesity (OR = 1.41, 95% CI: 1.18–1.68) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile, and a 10% increase in UPF consumption (% kcal/d) was associated with an increased risk of abdominal obesity (OR = 1.05, 95% CI: 1.02–1.07). The other three meta-analyses were classified as weak evidence, showing that the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of overweight (OR = 1.36, 95% CI: 1.14–1.63) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile, and a 10% increase in UPF consumption (% kcal/d) was associated with an increased risk of overweight (OR = 1.03, 95% CI: 1.01–1.06) as well as obesity (OR = 1.07, 95% CI: 1.03–1.11) (Figures 2, 3 and Table 2).

UPF consumption and T2DM risk

Three (23.08%) meta-analyses that evaluated the association between UPF consumption and T2DM risk were all significant at $p < 10^{-3}$. Among them, two meta-analyses were still significant at $p < 10^{-6}$, had more than 1,000 cases, and presented the largest study with significance at p < 0.05. According to the quantitative umbrella review criteria, they were classified as highly suggestive evidence, indicating that the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of T2DM (RR = 1.40, 95% CI: 1.23–1.59) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile, and a 10% increase in UPF consumption (% g/d) was associated with an increased risk of T2DM (RR=1.12, 95% CI: 1.10-1.13). In addition, one meta-analysis was classified as suggestive evidence due to meeting the criteria of cases more than 1,000 simultaneously, demonstrating that moderate UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of T2DM (RR=1.12, 95% CI: 1.06-1.17) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile (Figures 2, 3 and Table 2).

UPF consumption and NAFLD risk

Two (15.38%) meta-analyses that evaluated the association between UPF consumption and T2DM risk were all significant at p < 0.05. One meta-analysis was still significant at $p < 10^{-3}$ and had more than 1,000 cases, classifying as suggestive evidence and demonstrating that the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of NAFLD (RR = 1.39, 95% CI: 1.21– 1.60) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile. The other meta-analysis was classified as weak evidence, suggesting that moderate UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of NAFLD (RR = 1.04, 95% CI: 1.00–1.07) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile (Figures 2, 3 and Table 2).

UPF consumption and hypertension risk

One (7.69%) meta-analysis was classified as suggestive evidence according to $p < 10^{-3}$ and cases more than 1,000, demonstrating that the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of hypertension (OR = 1.23, 95% CI: 1.11–1.37) when



Flow diagram of the study selection process.

| Outcomes (Reference)/ Author Year | No. of studies | Comparison ^a | Effect metrics | Random effect estimate (95% CI) | Random effect estimate (95% Cl |
|--------------------------------------|----------------|-----------------------------|----------------|------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Abdominal obesity (14) | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | | 1.41 (1.18-1.68) |
| Moradi 2023 | 6 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | Hat | 1.05 (1.02-1.07) |
| Hypertension (15) | | | | | |
| Wang 2022 | 9 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | ⊢ •−−1 | 1.23 (1.11-1.37) |
| MetS (16) | | | | | |
| Shu 2023 | 9 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | ⊢ | 1.25 (1.09-1.42) |
| NAFLD (17) | | | | | |
| Henney 2023 | 7 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | -01 | 1.04 (1.00-1.07) |
| Henney 2023 | 9 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | ⊢ •−−1 | 1.39 (1.21-1.60) |
| Obesity (14) | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 7 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | ⊢ ⊸⊸⊣ | 1.55 (1.36-1.77) |
| Moradi 2023 | 7 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | HPH | 1.07 (1.03-1.11) |
| Overweight (14) | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | ⊢ | 1.36 (1.14-1.63) |
| Overweight and obesity (14) | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | 901 | 1.03 (1.01-1.06) |
| T2DM (18,19) | | | | | |
| Delpino 2022 | 18 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | H | 1.12 (1.06-1.17) |
| Chen 2023 | 7 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | ⊢ | 1.40 (1.23-1.59) |
| Chen 2023 | 7 | A 10% increase ^c | RR | R | 1.12 (1.10-1.13) |
| | | | | i | |
| | | | | .75 1.00 1.25 1.50 1.75 2 | |

Summary random effect estimate with 95% confidence interval from 13 meta-analyses evaluating the association between ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk. CI, confidence interval, MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; OR, odds ratio; RR, risk ratio; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus. ^a "lowest" was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile. ^b The unit of UPF consumption was % kcal/d. ^c The unit of UPF consumption was % g/d.

compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile (Figures 2, 3 and Table 2).

UPF consumption and MetS risk

One (7.69%) meta-analysis was classified as weak evidence according to p < 0.05, suggesting that the highest UPF consumption quantile was associated with an increased risk of MetS (RR = 1.25, 95% CI: 1.09–1.42) when compared with the lowest UPF consumption quantile (Figures 2, 3 and Table 2).

Findings of subgroup and sensitivity analyses

The findings of subgroup analyses are displayed in Figures 4, 5 and Table 3. In subgroup analyses, the majority of subgroups exhibited consistent direction and significance with the main analysis. Regarding credibility, the credibility of the association between UPF consumption and obesity risk was upgraded or unchanged when compared with the main analysis. The credibility of the association between UPF

consumption and T2DM risk was unchanged in the majority of highest vs. lowest and dose–response meta-analyses, while it was degraded in several moderate vs. lowest meta-analyses. In addition, the credibility of associations between UPF consumption and hypertension and NAFLD risk was degraded in the majority of subgroups. Notably, the credibility of the association between UPF consumption and MetS risk was still weak in the majority of subgroups, but it was degraded to not significant in prospective cohort studies.

The results of sensitivity analyses are shown in Figure 6 and Table 4. In our study, only the association between UPF consumption and MetS risk included adolescents. After excluding adolescent participants, the positive association between UPF consumption and MetS risk was still classified as weak evidence. In addition, five meta-analyses could be further analyzed by excluding original studies with inconsistent units, and the results showed the direction and significance of these associations were all unchanged. However, the credibility of the association between UPF consumption and hypertension was degraded from suggestive evidence to weak evidence, and the credibility of the association between UPF consumption and T2DM (highest vs. lowest analysis) was degraded from highly suggestive evidence.


Quality assessment of evidence and methods

The quality of 13 associations is shown in Supplementary Table S6. According to the GRADE, two (15.38%) associations were classified as moderate evidence, including the dose–response meta-analysis of overweight and obesity as well as T2DM. Four (30.77%) associations were classified as low evidence, including the dose–response metaanalysis of abdominal obesity and obesity, as well as the moderate vs. lowest meta-analysis of NAFLD and T2DM. Seven (53.85%) associations were classified as very low evidence, including the highest vs. lowest meta-analysis of abdominal obesity, hypertension, MetS, NAFLD, obesity, overweight, and T2DM.

The methodological quality of 6 systematic reviews is displayed in Supplementary Figure S1. According to the AMSTAR tool, four (66.67%) systematic reviews were categorized as high quality and the outcomes involved abdominal obesity, MetS, NAFLD, obesity, overweight, overweight and obesity, and T2DM (moderate vs. lowest meta-analysis). Two (33.33%) systematic reviews were categorized as moderate quality, and the outcomes involved hypertension and T2DM (highest vs. lowest and dose–response meta-analyses).

The two investigators showed a high consistency in quality assessment of evidence and methods, with a kappa value of 0.72 and 1.00, respectively.

Discussion

In this UR, we performed a comprehensive overview of 13 metaanalyses to critically assess the credibility of associations between UPF consumption and metabolic disease risk. Overall, we observed significant positive associations in all 13 meta-analyses, with highly suggestive evidence supporting the association between UPF consumption and obesity and T2DM risk. Our findings demonstrated that UPF consumption might contribute to metabolic disease.

Principal findings and possible explanations

In this study, the association between the highest UPF consumption and a 1.55-fold increased risk of obesity was supported by highly suggestive evidence. Although the above association was summarized from 7 cross-sectional studies, a similar trend was also observed in several prospective cohort studies (46, 47). For example, a prospective cohort study of 22,659 adults in the UK Biobank demonstrated that UPF consumption was associated with a 1.79-fold increased risk of obesity (46). In addition, another prospective cohort study of 17,310 adults in South Korea found that there was a significant positive association between UPF consumption and obesity risk (47). Meanwhile, a randomized controlled trial (RCT) study demonstrated that a diet with a large proportion of UPF could cause excess calorie intake and weight gain (48); in contrast, eliminating UPF from the diet could decrease energy intake and lead to weight loss (48). Therefore, UPF consumption may be a risk factor for obesity, and reducing UPF consumption may decrease the risk of obesity. However, of note, our study found evidence of ESB in the association between the highest UPF consumption and obesity risk, suggesting that the harmful association between UPF and obesity might have been exaggerated. Similarly, another dose-response meta-analysis included in our study suggested that UPF consumption was only associated with a 1.07-fold increased risk of obesity. Nevertheless, considering the high prevalence of obesity

| Outcomes (Reference)/ Author Year | No. of studies | Comparisonª | Random <i>p</i> -value | No. of cases | 95% Pl | l² (95% CI) (%) | Tau ² | Largest study effect (95% CI) | SSE/ ESB | Evidence class | |
|---|-------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------|-----------|--------------------|------------------|--|-------------|----------------------|--|
| Abdominal obesity (13) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | 2.00×10^{-4} | 13,928 | 0.69-2.87 | 62 (0-87) | 0.02 | 1.21 (1.10–1.46) | No/Yes | Suggestive | |
| Moradi 2023 | 6 | A 10% increase ^b | 5.36×10^{-5} | 17,011 | 0.98-1.12 | 77 (47–89) | 0.00 | 1.02 (1.01-1.03) | No/No | Suggestive | |
| Hypertension (14) | 1 | | 1 | | | 1 | | 1 | | | |
| Wang 2022 | 9 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.37×10^{-4} | 13,375 | 0.92-1.64 | 52 (0-77) | 0.01 | 1.21 (1.06–1.37) | No/Yes | Suggestive | |
| MetS (15) | 1 | | 1 | | | 1 | | 1 | | | |
| Shu 2023 | 9 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.00×10^{-3} | 8,649 | 0.84-1.85 | 85 (73–92) | 0.02 | 1.00 (0.99–1.01) | Yes/No | Weak | |
| NAFLD (16) | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | | 1 | | 1 | 1 | | |
| Henney 2023 | 7 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.03 | 12,367 | 0.99-1.08 | 0 (0–71) | 0.00 | 1.03 (0.99–1.07) | No/No | Weak | |
| Henney 2023 | 9 | Highest vs. lowest | 2.65×10^{-6} | 12,977 | 0.90-2.17 | 89 (82–94) | 0.03 | 1.05 (1.02-1.09) | Yes/No | Suggestive | |
| Obesity (13) | 1 | | 1 | | | 1 | | 1 | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 7 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.17×10 ⁻¹⁰ | 21,149 | 1.06-2.26 | 55 (0-81) | 0.02 | 1.53 (1.29–1.81) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive | |
| Moradi 2023 | 7 | A 10% increase ^b | 0.001 | 15,000 | 0.95-1.21 | 88 (79–94) | 0.00 | 1.00 (0.99–1.01) | Yes/No | Weak | |
| Overweight (13) | 1 | 1 | | | | 1 | | 1 | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.00×10^{-3} | 16,131 | 0.65-2.87 | 73 (22–90) | 0.02 | 1.13 (1.08–1.41) | No/No | Weak | |
| Overweight and ob | esity (13) | 1 | | | | 1 | | 1 | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | 5.00×10^{-3} | 4,302 | 0.84-1.27 | 39 (0-81) | 0.00 | 1.02 (1.00-1.04) | No/Yes | Weak | |
| T2DM (17, 18) | | 1 | 1 | | | 1 | | 1 | 1 | | |
| Delpino 2022 | 18 | Moderate vs. lowest | 7.63×10^{-6} | 34,924 | 1.00-1.25 | 24 (0-57) | 0.00 | 1.21 (1.12–1.31) | No/No | Suggestive | |
| Chen 2023 | 7 | Highest vs. lowest | 3.15×10 ⁻⁷ | 21,932 | 0.91-2.13 | 88 (78–94) | 0.00 | 1.12 (1.04–1.20) | No/No | Highly suggestive | |
| Chen 2023 | 7 | A 10% increase ^c | 5.44×10 ⁻⁷⁹ | 21,932 | 1.10-1.14 | 2 (0-71) | 0.02 | 1.13 (1.11–1.15) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive | |

TABLE 2 Credible assessment of 13 meta-analyses evaluating the association between ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk.

CI, confidence interval; ESB, excess significance bias; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; PI, prediction interval; SSE, small-study effects; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus.

^{ae}Lowest[®] was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile. ^bThe unit of UPF consumption was % kcal/d.

^cThe unit of UPF consumption was % g/d.

worldwide (49), a smaller effect size of UPF consumption may have important public health implications. Therefore, when formulating dietary guidelines in the future, it may be necessary to advocate reducing UPF consumption to decrease the incidence of obesity (19).

In addition, two meta-analyses based on prospective cohort studies were supported by highly suggestive evidence, indicating that UPF consumption was associated with T2DM in the highest vs. lowest and dose–response meta-analyses. In addition, in line with our findings, another meta-analysis excluded due to overlap also showed that there was a significant positive association between UPF consumption and T2DM risk (50). In addition, a UR evaluating the role of diet in T2DM demonstrated that several specific types of UPF, such as processed meat and sugar-sweetened beverages, could increase the incidence of T2DM (51). Therefore, the above evidence hints that UPF consumption may be a risk factor for T2DM. Of note, our study also suggests that dose may be an important factor influencing the effects of UPF consumption. In the moderate vs. lowest meta-analysis, the association between UPF consumption and T2DM risk was only supported by suggestive or weak evidence. In addition, the above-mentioned association was even not significant in the subgroups of the Asian population. This imply that the association between UPF consumption and T2DM risk may vary across different populations. Nevertheless, our findings should still be interpreted with caution. Although significant results were observed in the American and European populations and no significant findings were found in the Asian population, this discrepancy may be related to the level of UPF consumption being much lower among Asians than other populations. Meanwhile, only three studies were included in the association of the Asian population, with a relatively small sample size and short follow-up time. Furthermore, of note, the majority of original studies included in the moderate vs. lowest metaanalysis of the association between UPF consumption and T2DM risk did not define UPF based on the NOVA classification system. Further subgroup analyses showed that although the above-mentioned association was still significant in the non-NOVA group, the results were not significant in the NOVA group. Not defining UPF based on the NOVA classification system may affect the results due to potential misclassification bias, therefore more studies are needed to further explore the above-mentioned association.

| Outcomes (Reference)/ Author Year | No. of studies | Comparison ^a | Effect metrics | Random effect estimate (95% Cl) | Random effect estimate (95% C |
|--|----------------|-----------------------------|----------------|---------------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Abdominal obesity (14) | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | ¦ ⊢ → → | 1.38 (1.13-1.70) |
| Moradi 2023 (America) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | H-H | 1.04 (1.01-1.07) |
| Moradi 2023 (Europe) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | 10 →1 | 1.06 (1.04-1.09) |
| Moradi 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | 19 4 | 1.05 (1.04-1.07) |
| Moradi 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | | 1.05 (1.00-1.09) |
| lypertension (15) | | | | | |
| Wang 2022 (America) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | · | 1.21 (1.05-1.39) |
| Wang 2022 (Cross-sectional studies) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 1.35 (1.11-1.64) |
| Wang 2022 (Prospective cohort studies) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | · | 1.16 (1.03-1.32) |
| Wang 2022 (FFQ) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | · | 1.20 (1.06-1.37) |
| Wang 2022 (24-hour dietary recall) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | · | 1.29 (1.01-1.65) |
| letS (16) | | | | | () |
| Shu 2023 (America) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | ▶ —— → | 1.21 (1.04-1.40) |
| Shu 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | • | 1.47 (1.16-1.87) |
| Shu 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | ↓ | 1.11 (0.96-1.27) |
| Shu 2023 (FFQ) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | · | 1.33 (1.06-1.66) |
| Shu 2023 (24-hour dietary recall) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.19 (1.07-1.32) |
| IAFLD (17) | - | righest vs. lowest | | | 1.13 (1.07-1.02) |
| Henney 2023 (Asia) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.04 (0.95-1.14) |
| Henney 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.03 (1.00-1.07) |
| Henney 2023 (FFQ) | 6 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.04 (1.00-1.07) |
| Henney 2023 (NOVA group) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.03 (0.99-1.07) |
| Henney 2023 (non-NOVA group) | 4 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.08 (0.99-1.18) |
| Henney 2023 (Asia) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.61 (0.97-2.69) |
| Henney 2023 (Europe) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.36 (1.00-1.85) |
| | 4 | - | RR | | |
| Henney 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.58 (1.40-1.79) |
| Henney 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 8 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.13 (1.00-1.28) |
| Henney 2023 (FFQ) | 8 | Highest vs. lowest | | | 1.36 (1.18-1.57) |
| Henney 2023 (NOVA group) | | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.23 (1.04-1.46) |
| Henney 2023 (non-NOVA group) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.59 (1.26-2.00) |
| Desity (14) | - | 1.0 sharehouse davies at | | | 4 54 (4 00 4 77) |
| Moradi 2023 (America) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | | 1.51 (1.30-1.77) |
| Moradi 2023 (Food records) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | | 1.92 (1.58-2.34) |
| Moradi 2023 (24-hour dietary recall) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | | 1.41 (1.26-1.59) |
| Moradi 2023 (America) | 4 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | | 1.05 (1.01-1.09) |
| Moradi 2023 (Europe) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | | 1.13 (1.07-1.20) |
| Moradi 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 5 | A 10% increase ^D | OR | H ● → | 1.08 (1.05-1.12) |
| Moradi 2023 (24-hour dietary recall) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | OR | 1 14 | 1.05 (1.04-1.07) |
| C2DM (18,19) | | | | | |
| Delpino 2022 (America) | 4 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.15 (1.01-1.30) |
| Delpino 2022 (Asia) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.08 (0.92-1.27) |
| Delpino 2022 (Europe) | 11 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | ⊢ ●(| 1.11 (1.05-1.17) |
| Delpino 2022 (FFQ) | 16 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.12 (1.06-1.18) |
| Delpino 2022 (NOVA group) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | | 1.10 (1.00-1.23) |
| Delpino 2022 (non-NOVA group) | 15 | Moderate vs. lowest | RR | ⊢ •−−1 | 1.12 (1.06-1.19) |
| Chen 2023 (America) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.46 (1.30-1.65) |
| Chen 2023 (Europe) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 1.34 (1.10-1.63) |
| Chen 2023 (FFQ) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | | 1.48 (1.35-1.63) |
| Chen 2023 (America) | 3 | A 10% increase ^c | RR | HRH | 1.11 (1.09-1.13) |
| Chen 2023 (Europe) | 4 | A 10% increase ^c | RR | | 1.14 (1.09-1.19) |
| Chen 2023 (FFQ) | 5 | A 10% increase ^c | RR | юн | 1.12 (1.10-1.14) |

FIGURE 4

Subgroup analyses of summary random effect estimate with 95% confidence interval from meta-analyses evaluating the association between ultraprocessed food consumption and metabolic disease risk. Cl, confidence interval; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; OR, odds ratio; RR, risk ratio; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus. ^a "lowest" was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile. ^b The unit of UPF consumption was % kcal/d. ^c The unit of UPF consumption was % g/d.

Furthermore, we found that UPF consumption was associated with increased risks of hypertension, NAFLD, and MetS, and these associations were supported by suggestive or weak evidence. The credibility of associations between UPF consumption and hypertension and NAFLD did not seem to be robust as the grade of evidence was degraded in the majority of subgroups. Of note, the association between UPF consumption and NAFLD risk included more than half of the original studies that did not define UPF based on the NOVA classification system. However, the results of subgroup analyses showed that whether to define UPF based on the NOVA



FIGURE 5

Subgroup analyses of credible assessment of meta-analyses evaluating the association between ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk. FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus. "Lowest" was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile. The color of the text reflected the change of credibility compared with the main analyses: black, unchanged; red, degraded; green, upgraded. ^a The unit of UPF consumption was % kcal/d. ^b The unit of UPF consumption was % g/d.

classification system may have an impact on the credibility of the association. The credibility of the association between UPF consumption and MetS risk was still classified as weak in the majority of subgroups, but became not significant when limited to prospective cohort studies only. Therefore, further studies are needed to explore the association between UPF consumption and MetS risk as prospective cohort studies are generally considered to provide higher levels of evidence than other observational studies (31).

The biological mechanisms of the association between UPF consumption and metabolic disease risk are still unclear, but there are several scenarios to explain the above-mentioned association. First, at the nutritional level, UPF usually has a poor nutritional profile and tends to be rich in added sugars, saturated fats, and sodium, as well as poor in fiber and micronutrients (52, 53). Evidence suggests that the poor nutritional profile can increase chronic and low-grade systemic inflammation, and then increase the risk of obesity and related metabolic disease such as T2DM and NAFLD (54). In addition, at the food level, UPF consumption can replace unprocessed or minimally processed food consumption (55). According to the NOVA classification system, unprocessed or minimally processed food is fresh or processed by industrial processes such as removal of unwanted or inedible parts, boiling, drying, roasting, freezing, and refrigeration (10). None of these processes add salt, sugar, oils or fats, or other food substances to the original food, and examples include fresh vegetables and fruits, grains, legumes, pasteurized milk, yogurt without added sugar, nuts and seeds without added sugar, etc. (10). Of note, unprocessed or minimally processed food may exert a protective effect against metabolic disease (56-58). On the one hand, this may be associated with healthpromoting components. For example, fresh vegetables and fruits provide antioxidants which may help to prevent inflammation and oxidative stress in metabolic disease (59). On the other hand, beyond single foods or nutrients, the overall dietary pattern may also explain the association between diet and health (60). For instance, Greater adherence to the prudent pattern rich in vegetables and fruits, whole grains, and legumes can predict lower risks of MetS (61).

The aforementioned evidence suggests that nutritional factors can explain the association between UPF consumption and metabolic disease risk. Additionally, food processing factors may also play an important role during this process (57). At the food processing level, the loss of physical and structural characteristics of the food matrix is linked with a lower satiety potential (62), combined with the non-nutritional features of UPF such as delicious and ready-to-eat, UPF may lead to continuous and unconscious eating behaviors and then further increase the risk of metabolic disease (13, 63). In addition, food additives may create an environment in the gut that favors the selection of microbes that promote inflammation-related disease (64). Furthermore, neo-formed compounds resulting from food processing (e.g., advanced glycation end products) are associated with an increased risk of metabolic disease (65). Similarly, chemical contaminants released from food packaging (e.g., phthalates and bisphenol A) are known as endocrine-disrupting chemicals and are involved in the pathophysiological processes of various diseases (66).

Strengths and limitations

To our knowledge, this is the first UR to provide a comprehensive summary of the associations between UPF consumption and metabolic disease from published systematic reviews with metaanalyses and to further analyze the robustness of these associations through a series of subgroup and sensitivity analyses. According to standard criteria, we comprehensively assessed the credibility and quality of each meta-analysis. Our findings demonstrated that UPF consumption might be a risk factor for metabolic disease, providing a TABLE 3 Subgroup analyses of credible assessment of meta-analyses evaluating the association between ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk.

| Outcomes (Reference)/ Author Year (Subgroups) | No. of studies | Comparison ^a | Random p-value | No. of cases | 95% PI | l² (95% CI) (%) | Tau ² | Largest study effect (95% CI) | SSE/ESB | Evidence class ^d |
|--|-------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------|-----------------|-------------|--------------------|------------------|----------------------------------|---------|--------------------------------|
| Addition real (Subgroups) | studies | | p-value | Cases | | CI) (78) | | enect (93% CI) | | Class |
| Moradi 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 2.00×10^{-3} | 13,751 | 0.13-14.61 | 74 (11–92) | 0.02 | 1.21 (1.10-1.46) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Moradi 2023 (America) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | 5.00×10 ⁻³ | 12,434 | 0.75-1.44 | 85 (55-95) | 0.00 | 1.02 (1.01–1.03) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Moradi 2023 (Europe) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | 1.11×10 ⁻⁷ | 4,577 | 0.92-1.23 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.06 (1.03–1.08) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Moradi 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | 1.83×10 ⁻¹¹ | 13,751 | 0.95-1.17 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.06 (1.04–1.08) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Moradi 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | 0.03 | 3,260 | 0.67-1.62 | 82 (46-94) | 0.00 | 1.02 (1.01–1.03) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Hypertension (14) | | | | ., | | | | | | |
| Wang 2022 (America) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | 7.00×10 ⁻³ | 11,093 | 0.80-1.84 | 63 (10-85) | 0.02 | 1.19 (1.03-1.38) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Wang 2022 (Cross-sectional studies) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | 3.00×10^{-3} | 6,239 | 0.78-2.33 | 44 (0-80) | 0.02 | 1.19 (1.03–1.38) | No/No | Weak |
| Wang 2022 (Prospective cohort studies) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.02 | 7,136 | 0.72-1.89 | 55 (0-85) | 0.01 | 1.21 (1.06–1.37) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Wang 2022 (FFQ) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | 5.00×10 ⁻³ | 7,716 | 0.85-1.70 | 51 (0-81) | 0.01 | 1.21 (1.06–1.37) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Wang 2022 (24-h dietary recall) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.04 | 5,659 | 0.09-17.72 | 62 (0-89) | 0.03 | 1.19 (1.03–1.38) | No/No | Weak |
| MetS (15) | | 0 | | | | . , | | . , , | | |
| Shu 2023 (America) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.01 | 6,393 | 0.76-1.91 | 87 (73–93) | 0.02 | 1.00 (0.99–1.01) | Yes/No | Weak |
| Shu 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | 2.00×10^{-3} | 4,112 | 0.73-2.95 | 69 (28-87) | 0.05 | 1.20 (1.07–1.35) | No/No | Weak |
| Shu 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.15 | 4,537 | 0.21-5.82 | 87 (61–95) | 0.01 | 1.00 (0.99–1.01) | No/No | Not significant |
| Shu 2023 (FFQ) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.01 | 3,383 | 0.65-2.72 | 88 (75–94) | 0.04 | 1.00 (0.99–1.01) | Yes/No | Weak |
| Shu 2023 (24-h dietary recall) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.00×10 ⁻³ | 5,266 | 0.86-1.64 | 26 (0-72) | 0.00 | 1.20 (1.07–1.35) | No/Yes | Weak |
| NAFLD (16) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Henney 2023 (Asia) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.41 | 4,091 | 0.54-2.01 | 2 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.03 (0.95–1.11) | No/No | Not significant |
| Henney 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.09 | 8,988 | 0.82-1.29 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.03 (1.00-1.07) | No/No | Not significant |
| Henney 2023 (FFQ) | 6 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.03 | 12,065 | 0.99-1.08 | 0 (0-75) | 0.00 | 1.03 (0.99–1.07) | No/No | Weak |
| Henney 2023 (NOVA group) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.10 | 8,752 | 0.82-1.29 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.03 (0.99–1.07) | No/No | Not significant |
| Henney 2023 (non-NOVA group) | 4 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.09 | 3,615 | 0.89-1.32 | 0 (0-85) | 0.00 | 1.08 (0.98-1.19) | No/No | Not significant |
| Henney 2023 (Asia) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.07 | 4,091 | 0.00-900.52 | 89 (72–96) | 0.18 | 1.11 (1.03–1.21) | No/No | Not significant |
| Henney 2023 (Europe) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.05 | 5,610 | 0.34-5.44 | 93 (84–97) | 0.08 | 1.05 (1.02–1.09) | No/No | Not significant |
| Henney 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 5.22×10^{-13} | 676 | 0.71-3.53 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.71 (1.43–2.03) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Henney 2023 (Prospective cohort studies) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.04 | 8,988 | 0.29-4.34 | 80 (37-94) | 0.01 | 1.05 (1.02–1.09) | Yes/Yes | Weak |
| Henney 2023 (FFQ) | 8 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.71×10^{-5} | 12,675 | 0.87-2.12 | 90 (82–94) | 0.03 | 1.05 (1.02–1.09) | Yes/No | Suggestive |
| Henney 2023 (NOVA group) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | 0.02 | 9,057 | 0.59-2.57 | 90 (77–96) | 0.02 | 1.05 (1.02–1.09) | No/No | Weak |

(Continued)

10.3389/fnut.2024.1306310

Lv et al.

Frontiers in Nutrition

| Outcomes (Reference)/ Author Year (Subgroups) | No. of studies | Comparison ^a | Random <i>p</i> -value | No. of cases | 95% PI | l² (95% CI) (%) | Tau ² | Largest study effect (95% CI) | SSE/ESB | Evidence class ^d |
|--|-------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------|-----------|--------------------|------------------|----------------------------------|---------|--------------------------------|
| Henney 2023 (non-NOVA group) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | 7.07×10^{-5} | 3,920 | 0.72-3.49 | 79 (49–91) | 0.05 | 1.21 (1.10–1.33) | Yes/Yes | Suggestive |
| Obesity (13) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 (America) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | 2.02×10^{-7} | 18,918 | 0.90-2.55 | 65 (7-87) | 0.02 | 1.53 (1.29–1.81) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Moradi 2023 (Food records) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 4.28×10^{-11} | 5,769 | 0.41-8.97 | 16 (0-91) | 0.00 | 2.17 (1.64-2.70) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Moradi 2023 (24-h dietary recall) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 5.91×10 ⁻⁹ | 13,612 | 0.66-3.01 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.53 (1.29–1.81) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Moradi 2023 (America) | 4 | A 10% increase ^b | 0.02 | 11,822 | 0.87-1.26 | 92 (81–96) | 0.00 | 1.00 (0.99–1.01) | No/No | Weak |
| Moradi 2023 (Europe) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | 8.67×10^{-6} | 3,178 | 0.79-1.62 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.18 (1.08–1.28) | No/No | Suggestive |
| Moradi 2023 (Cross-sectional studies) | 5 | A 10% increase ^b | 9.92×10^{-6} | 13,305 | 0.97-1.21 | 61 (0-85) | 0.00 | 1.05 (1.03–1.07) | Yes/Yes | Suggestive |
| Moradi 2023 (24-h dietary recall) | 3 | A 10% increase ^b | 3.58×10^{-9} | 10,253 | 0.94-1.18 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.05 (1.03–1.07) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| T2DM (17, 18) | ' | · | | | | | | · | | |
| Delpino 2022 (America) | 4 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.04 | 11,129 | 0.70-1.88 | 54 (0-85) | 0.01 | 1.21 (1.12–1.31) | No/No | Weak |
| Delpino 2022 (Asia) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.34 | 3,818 | 0.20-5.80 | 56 (0-88) | 0.01 | 1.25 (1.06–1.47) | No/No | Not significant |
| Delpino 2022 (Europe) | 11 | Moderate vs. lowest | 2.14×10^{-4} | 19,977 | 1.04-1.18 | 0 (0-60) | 0.00 | 1.08 (0.98–1.19) | No/No | Suggestive |
| Delpino 2022 (FFQ) | 16 | Moderate vs. lowest | 8.60×10^{-5} | 33,798 | 0.97-1.29 | 31 (0-62) | 0.00 | 1.21 (1.12–1.31) | No/No | Suggestive |
| Delpino 2022 (NOVA group) | 3 | Moderate vs. lowest | 0.06 | 1,301 | 0.56-2.17 | 0 (0-90) | 0.00 | 1.13 (1.01–1.27) | No/No | Not significant |
| Delpino 2022 (non-NOVA group) | 15 | Moderate vs. lowest | 9.45×10^{-5} | 33,623 | 0.97-1.30 | 34 (0-65) | 0.00 | 1.21 (1.12–1.31) | No/No | Suggestive |
| Chen 2023 (America) | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 3.93×10^{-10} | 19,503 | 0.35-6.15 | 82 (45-94) | 0.01 | 1.36 (1.26–1.46) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Chen 2023 (Europe) | 4 | Highest vs. lowest | 4.00×10^{-3} | 2,429 | 0.58-3.09 | 75 (30–91) | 0.03 | 1.21 (1.04–1.20) | No/Yes | Weak |
| Chen 2023 (FFQ) | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | 3.69×10^{-16} | 20,806 | 1.10-1.99 | 66 (10-87) | 0.01 | 1.36 (1.26–1.46) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Chen 2023 (America) | 3 | A 10% increase ^c | 8.58×10^{-31} | 19,503 | 0.92-1.35 | 54 (0-87) | 0.00 | 1.13 (1.11–1.15) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Chen 2023 (Europe) | 4 | A 10% increase ^c | 1.32×10^{-9} | 2,429 | 1.04-1.25 | 0 (0-85) | 0.00 | 1.12 (1.04–1.20) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |
| Chen 2023 (FFQ) | 5 | A 10% increase ^c | 6.94×10 ⁻³⁹ | 20,806 | 1.07-1.17 | 34 (0-75) | 0.00 | 1.13 (1.11–1.15) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |

10.3389/fnut.2024.1306310

Cl, confidence interval; ESB, excess significance bias; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; PI, prediction interval; SSE, small-study effects; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus.

"Lowest" was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile.

^bThe unit of UPF consumption was % kcal/d.

°The unit of UPF consumption was % g/d.

^dThe color of the text reflected the change of credibility compared with the main analyses: black, unchanged; red, degraded; green, upgraded.

| Outcomes (Reference)/ Author Year | No. of studies | Comparison ^a | Effect metrics | Random effect estimate (95% Cl) | Random effect estimate (95% Cl) |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|---|------------------------------------|
| Sensitivity analysis 1 Exc | luding adolescent p | articipants | | | |
| MetS (16) | | | | | |
| Shu 2023 | 8 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | ; | 1.20 (1.06-1.35) |
| Sensitivity analysis 2 Exc | luding original stud | ies with inconsistent u | nits | | |
| Hypertension (15) | | | | | |
| Wang 2022 | 8 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | ⊢ → | 1.25 (1.09-1.43) |
| MetS (16) | | | | | |
| Shu 2023 | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | · | 1.33 (1.08-1.64) |
| Overweight (14) | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | OR | ↓ → → → → | 1.29 (1.11-1.54) |
| T2DM (18, 19) | | | | | |
| Chen 2023 | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | RR | ↓ • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | 1.39 (1.21-1.59) |
| Chen 2023 | 6 | A 10% increase ^b | RR | ж | 1.12 (1.10-1.13) |
| | | | | 0.75 1 1.25 1.5 1.75 | |

FIGURE 6

Sensitivity analyses of summary random effect estimate with 95% confidence interval from meta-analyses evaluating the association between ultraprocessed food consumption and metabolic disease risk. CI, confidence interval; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; OR, odds ratio; RR, risk ratio; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus. ^a "lowest" was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile. ^b The unit of UPF consumption was % g/d.

TABLE 4 Sensitivity analyses of credible assessment of meta-analyses evaluating the association between ultra-processed food consumption and metabolic disease risk.

| Outcomes (Reference)/ Author Year | No. of studies | Comparison ^a | Random <i>p</i> -value | No. of cases | 95% Pl | l² (95% Cl) (%) | Tau ² | Largest study effect (95% Cl) | SSE/ ESB | Evidence class ^c |
|---|-------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------|-----------|--------------------|------------------|--|-------------|--------------------------------|
| Sensitivity analysis 1 | Excluding ad | olescent participants | | | | | | | | |
| MetS (15) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Shu 2023 | 8 | Highest vs. lowest | 4×10^{-3} | 8,635 | 0.83-1.73 | 83 (69–91) | 0.02 | 1.00 (0.99–1.01) | Yes/No | Week |
| Sensitivity analysis 2 | Excluding or | iginal studies with inc | onsistent units | | | | | | | |
| Hypertension (14) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Wang 2022 | 8 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.00×10^{-3} | 11,673 | 0.86-1.80 | 58 (8-81) | 0.02 | 1.19 (1.03–1.38) | No/Yes | Weak |
| MetS (15) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Shu 2023 | 5 | Highest vs. lowest | 6.00×10^{-3} | 4,098 | 0.72-2.47 | 59 (0-85) | 0.03 | 1.20 (1.07–1.35) | No/Yes | Week |
| Overweight (13) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Moradi 2023 | 3 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.00×10^{-3} | 16,041 | 0.23-7.20 | 68 (0-91) | 0.01 | 1.13 (1.08–1.41) | No/No | Week |
| T2DM (17, 18) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Chen 2023 | 6 | Highest vs. lowest | 1.96×10^{-6} | 21,757 | 0.87-2.21 | 90 (81–95) | 0.02 | 1.12 (1.04–1.20) | No/No | Suggestive |
| Chen 2023 | 6 | A 10% increase ^b | 5.25×10 ⁻⁵⁵ | 21,757 | 1.09-1.15 | 16 (0–79) | 0.00 | 1.13 (1.11–1.15) | No/Yes | Highly suggestive |

CI, confidence interval; ESB, excess significance bias; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; PI, prediction interval; SSE, small-study effects; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus.

^{ae}Lowest" was defined as the lowest UPF consumption quantile, "moderate" was defined as the first exposure quantile, and "highest" was defined as the highest UPF consumption quantile. ^bThe unit of UPF consumption was % g/d.

"The color of the text reflected the change of credibility compared with the main analyses: black, unchanged; red, degraded; green, upgraded.

basis for clinicians and public health policymakers to make decisions. In addition, our study also found the shortcomings of the current research and provided study directions for future analyses. Nevertheless, our UR also had several limitations. First, as the UR is a method used to summarize the evidence from meta-analyses, the reliability of the UR relies heavily on the included meta-analyses and

their original studies. Potential issues in meta-analysis and original studies may affect the analysis of UR. Second, as the UR only evaluates published meta-analyses with available data, meta-analyses that lack specific data or include less than three original studies as well as individual studies that have not been summarized by meta-analyses may be ignored. Therefore, future meta-analyses should report data in detail and focus on outcomes that had not yet been evaluated by our UR, such as dyslipidemia and hyperuricemia (56, 67, 68). In addition, due to the lack of RCTs, our UR only included meta-analyses of observational studies. Therefore, residual confounding and measurement errors were unavoidable. Meanwhile, due to the nature of observational studies and factors for quality downgrade, the quality of most associations was only classified as low or very low based on the GRADE. Third, the most commonly used dietary assessment method in the included original studies was FFQ, however, there was no study specifically designed FFQ based on the NOVA classification system. In addition, several meta-analyses simultaneously included original studies that defined UPF based on the NOVA classification system and original studies that did not define UPF based on the NOVA classification system (16, 17). These might lead to the misclassification of UPF, thereby leading to biased associations. Furthermore, specific types of UPF may have different effects on the results, but this was not been considered in our study. Fourth, the majority of included original studies divided UPF consumption into tertiles, quartiles, or quintiles, rather than pre-defined cut-off values. These inconsistencies in classification might limit conclusions about how much UPF consumption was needed in the diet to trigger adverse metabolic disease. In addition, the units used to assess UPF consumption were not consistent in some meta-analyses, therefore this might be an important source of heterogeneity and limit the interpretation of the results as well as the comparability of different meta-analyses. Meanwhile, our sensitivity analyses also suggested that the unit of UPF might have an impact on the credibility of the associations. In this case, it is important for original studies to unify the units of UPF. According to our UR, an energy ratio was widely used, but recent studies suggested that a weight ratio might be more appropriate than an energy ratio to assess UPF consumption as it accounted for UPF that did not provide energy (69, 70). Nevertheless, there was a view that the weight ratio was also flawed, and no ideal weighting method exists at present (71). Hence, this issue needs to be explored in future studies. Furthermore, it is very important for original studies to reasonably determine the confounding factors that need to be adjusted. For example, body mass index which might be a potential mediator variable had been adjusted in most of the original studies. In this case, the effect size represented the effect after deducting the influence of body mass index rather than the overall effect. Therefore, we suggest that the causal directed acyclic graphs can be used in future studies to more reasonably determine the confounding factors that need to be adjusted. Last, considering that the existing studies were mainly conducted in Brazil, the United States and several European countries, the extrapolation of the results might be limited.

Conclusion

In conclusion, highly suggestive evidence indicated that UPF consumption was associated with increased risks of obesity and T2DM. The associations between UPF consumption and other

metabolic disease need to be further explored. In addition, considering that there are still many limitations in the existing original studies and meta-analyses. Therefore, more well-designed original studies and meta-analysis are needed to verify our findings in the future.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

J-LL: Writing – original draft. Y-FW: Writing – original draft. J-NS: Writing – original draft, Data curation. Y-CS: Writing – original draft, Data curation. F-HL: Writing – original draft, Data curation. M-HS: Writing – original draft, Data curation. QC: Writing – review & editing. Q-JW: Writing – review & editing. Y-HZ: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by the National Key R&D Program of China (No. 2017YFC0907402 to Y-HZ), the JieBangGuaShuai Project of Liaoning Province (No. 2021JH1/1040050 to Y-HZ), the LiaoNing Revitalization Talents Program (No. XLYC1802095 to Y-HZ and No. XLYC1907102 to Q-JW), and 345 Talent Project of Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University (No. M0268 to Q-JW).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024.1306310/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Wang L, Zhang K, Zeng Y, Luo Y, Peng J, Zhang J, et al. Gut mycobiome and metabolic diseases: the known, the unknown, and the future. *Pharmacol Res.* (2023) 193:106807. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2023.106807

2. Fan Y, Pedersen O. Gut microbiota in human metabolic health and disease. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2021) 19:55–71. doi: 10.1038/s41579-020-0433-9

3. Koenen M, Hill MA, Cohen P, Sowers JR. Obesity, adipose tissue and vascular dysfunction. *Circ Res.* (2021) 128:951–68. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.121.318093

4. GBD. Diseases and injuries collaborators. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet.* (2019, 2020) 396:1204–22. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30925-9

5. Hoffman DJ, Powell TL, Barrett ES, Hardy DB. Developmental origins of metabolic diseases. *Physiol Rev.* (2021) 101:739–95. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00002.2020

6. Wu YL, Lin ZJ, Li CC, Lin X, Shan SK, Guo B, et al. Epigenetic regulation in metabolic diseases: mechanisms and advances in clinical study. *Signal Transduct Target Ther.* (2023) 8:98. doi: 10.1038/s41392-023-01333-7

7. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G, Lampousi AM, Knüppel S, Iqbal K, Schwedhelm C, et al. Food groups and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and metaanalysis of prospective studies. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2017) 32:363–75. doi: 10.1007/ s10654-017-0246-y

8. Mahumud RA, Sahle BW, Owusu-Addo E, Chen W, Morton RL, Renzaho AMN. Association of dietary intake, physical activity, and sedentary behaviours with overweight and obesity among 282,213 adolescents in 89 low and middle income to high-income countries. *Int J Obes*. (2021) 45:2404–18. doi: 10.1038/s41366-021-00908-0

9. Tobias DK, Hall KD. Eliminate or reformulate ultra-processed foods? Biological mechanisms matter. Cell Metab. (2021) 33:2314–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.10.005

10. Monteiro CA, Cannon G, Levy RB, Moubarac JC, Louzada ML, Rauber F, et al. Ultra-processed foods: what they are and how to identify them. *Public Health Nutr.* (2019) 22:936–41. doi: 10.1017/S1368980018003762

11. Monteiro CA, Moubarac JC, Levy RB, Canella DS, Louzada M, Cannon G. Household availability of ultra-processed foods and obesity in nineteen European countries. *Public Health Nutr.* (2018) 21:18–26. doi: 10.1017/S1368980017001379

12. Poti JM, Mendez MA, Ng SW, Popkin BM. Is the degree of food processing and convenience linked with the nutritional quality of foods purchased by US households? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 101:1251–62. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.100925

13. Moradi S, Entezari MH, Mohammadi H, Jayedi A, Lazaridi AV, Kermani MAH, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption and adult obesity risk: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2023) 63:249–60. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2021.1946005

14. Wang M, Du X, Huang W, Xu Y. Ultra-processed foods consumption increases the risk of hypertension in adults: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Am J Hypertens*. (2022) 35:892–901. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpac069

15. Shu L, Zhang X, Zhou J, Zhu Q, Si C. Ultra-processed food consumption and increased risk of metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Front Nutr.* (2023) 10:1211797. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1211797

16. Henney AE, Gillespie CS, Alam U, Hydes TJ, Cuthbertson DJ. Ultra-processed food intake is associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in adults: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. (2023) 15:2266. doi: 10.3390/nu15102266

17. Delpino FM, Figueiredo LM, Bielemann RM, da Silva BGC, Dos Santos FS, Mintem GC, et al. Ultra-processed food and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2022) 51:1120–41. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyab247

18. Chen Z, Khandpur N, Desjardins C, Wang L, Monteiro CA, Rossato SL, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: three large prospective U.S. cohort studies. *Diabetes Care*. (2023) 46:1335–44. doi: 10.2337/dc22-1993

19. Monteiro CA, Astrup A. Does the concept of "ultra-processed foods" help inform dietary guidelines, beyond conventional classification systems? YES. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2022) 116:1476–81. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqac122

20. Astrup A, Monteiro CA. Does the concept of "ultra-processed foods" help inform dietary guidelines, beyond conventional classification systems? Debate consensus. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2022) 116:1489–91. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqac230

21. Astrup A, Monteiro CA. Does the concept of "ultra-processed foods" help inform dietary guidelines, beyond conventional classification systems? NO. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2022) 116:1482–8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqac123

22. Huang Y, Chen Z, Chen B, Li J, Yuan X, Li J, et al. Dietary sugar consumption and health: umbrella review. *BMJ*. (2023) 381:e071609. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2022-071609

23. Lv JL, Wu QJ, Li XY, Gao C, Xu MZ, Yang J, et al. Dietary protein and multiple health outcomes: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of observational studies. *Clin Nutr.* (2022) 41:1759–69. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2022.06.005

24. Ioannidis JP. Integration of evidence from multiple meta-analyses: a primer on umbrella reviews, treatment networks and multiple treatments meta-analyses. *CMAJ*. (2009) 181:488–93. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.081086

25. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ*. (2009) 339:b2535. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535

26. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Fau RD, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA*. (2000) 283:2008–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.15.2008

27. Wohlin C. Guidelines for snowballing in systematic literature studies and a replication in software engineering. *ACM*. (2014). doi: 10.1145/2601248.2601268

28. Mygind L, Kurtzhals M, Nowell C, Melby PS, Stevenson MP, Nieuwenhuijsen M, et al. Landscapes of becoming social: a systematic review of evidence for associations and pathways between interactions with nature and socioemotional development in children. *Environ Int.* (2021) 146:106238. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2020.106238

29. Mandic M, Li H, Safizadeh F, Niedermaier T, Hoffmeister M, Brenner H. Is the association of overweight and obesity with colorectal cancer underestimated? An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2023) 38:135–44. doi: 10.1007/s10654-022-00954-6

30. Poole R, Kennedy OJ, Roderick P, Fallowfield JA, Hayes PC, Parkes J. Coffee consumption and health: umbrella review of meta-analyses of multiple health outcomes. *BMJ*. (2017) 359:j5024. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j5024

31. Kim TL, Jeong GH, Yang JW, Lee KH, Kronbichler A, van der Vliet HJ, et al. Tea consumption and risk of cancer: an umbrella review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Adv Nutr.* (2020) 11:1437–52. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmaa077

32. Zang ST, Wu QJ, Li XY, Gao C, Liu YS, Jiang YT, et al. Long-term PM(2.5) exposure and various health outcomes: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of observational studies. *Sci Total Environ.* (2022) 812:152381. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.152381

33. Dersimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Control Clin Trials*. (1986) 7:177–88. doi: 10.1016/0197-2456(86)90046-2

34. Riley RD, Higgins JP, Deeks JJ. Interpretation of random effects meta-analyses. *BMJ*. (2011) 342:d549. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d549

35. Ioannidis JP, Patsopoulos NA, Evangelou E. Uncertainty in heterogeneity estimates in meta analyses. *BMJ*. (2007) 335:914–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39343.408449.80

36. Sterne JA, Sutton AJ, Ioannidis JP, Terrin N, Jones DR, Lau J, et al. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in metaanalyses of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ*. (2011) 343:d4002. doi: 10.1136/bmj. d4002

37. Belbasis L, Bellou V, Evangelou E, Ioannidis JPA, Tzoulaki I. Environmental risk factors and multiple sclerosis: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and metaanalyses. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015) 14:263–73. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(14)70267-4

38. Ioannidis JP, Trikalinos TA. An exploratory test for an excess of significant findings. *Clin Trials*. (2007) 4:245–53. doi: 10.1177/1740774507079441

39. Ioannidis JP. Clarifications on the application and interpretation of the test for excess significance and its extensions. *J Math Psychol.* (2013) 57:184–7. doi: 10.1016/j. jmp.2013.03.002

40. McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochem Med (Zagreb)*. (2012) 22:276–82.

41. Qin X, Chen J, Jia G, Yang Z. Dietary factors and pancreatic Cancer risk: an umbrella review of Meta-analyses of prospective observational studies. *Adv Nutr.* (2023) 14:451–64. doi: 10.1016/j.advnut.2023.02.004

42. Dragioti E, Solmi M, Favaro A, Fusar-Poli P, Dazzan P, Thompson T, et al. Association of antidepressant use with adverse health outcomes: a systematic umbrella review. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2019) 76:1241–55. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.2859

43. Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2011) 64:383–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.026

44. Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, et al. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2007) 7:10. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-7-10

45. Shea BJ, Hamel C, Wells GA, Bouter LM, Kristjansson E, Grimshaw J, et al. AMSTAR is a reliable and valid measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2009) 62:1013–20. doi: 10.1016/j. jclinepi.2008.10.009

46. Rauber F, Chang K, Vamos EP, da Costa Louzada ML, Monteiro CA, Millett C, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption and risk of obesity: a prospective cohort study of UK biobank. *Eur J Nutr.* (2021) 60:2169–80. doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02367-1

47. Tan LJ, Hwang SB, Shin S. The longitudinal effect of ultra-processed food on the development of dyslipidemia/obesity as assessed by the NOVA system and food compass score. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2023):e2300003. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.202300003

48. Hall KD, Ayuketah A, Brychta R, Cai H, Cassimatis T, Chen KY, et al. Ultraprocessed diets cause excess calorie intake and weight gain: an inpatient randomized controlled trial of ad libitum food intake. *Cell Metab.* (2019) 30:67-77.e3. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2019.05.008

49. Wong MCS, Huang J, Wang J, Chan PSF, Lok V, Chen X, et al. Global, regional and time-trend prevalence of central obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 13.2 million subjects. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2020) 35:673–83. doi: 10.1007/s10654-020-00650-3

50. Moradi S, Hojjati Kermani MA, Bagheri R, Mohammadi H, Jayedi A, Lane MM, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption and adult diabetes risk: a systematic review and dose-response Meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:4410. doi: 10.3390/nu13124410

51. Neuenschwander M, Ballon A, Weber KS, Norat T, Aune D, Schwingshackl L, et al. Role of diet in type 2 diabetes incidence: umbrella review of meta-analyses of prospective observational studies. *BMJ*. (2019) 366:l2368. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l2368

52. Martinez Steele E, Popkin BM, Swinburn B, Monteiro CA. The share of ultraprocessed foods and the overall nutritional quality of diets in the US: evidence from a nationally representative cross-sectional study. *Popul Health Metrics*. (2017) 15:6. doi: 10.1186/s12963-017-0119-3

53. Rauber F, da Costa Louzada ML, Steele EM, Millett C, Monteiro CA, Levy RB. Ultra-processed food consumption and chronic non-communicable diseases-related dietary nutrient profile in the UK (2008–2014). *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:587. doi: 10.3390/ nu10050587

54. Charles-Messance H, Mitchelson KAJ, De Marco CE, Sheedy FJ, Roche HM. Regulating metabolic inflammation by nutritional modulation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2020) 146:706–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.08.013

55. Monteiro CA, Cannon G, Moubarac JC, Levy RB, Louzada MLC, Jaime PC. The UN decade of nutrition, the NOVA food classification and the trouble with ultra-processing. *Public Health Nutr.* (2018) 21:5–17. doi: 10.1017/S1368980017000234

56. Nasreddine L, Tamim H, Itani L, Nasrallah MP, Isma'eel H, Nakhoul NF, et al. A minimally processed dietary pattern is associated with lower odds of metabolic syndrome among Lebanese adults. *Public Health Nutr.* (2018) 21:160–71. doi: 10.1017/S1368980017002130

57. Beslay M, Srour B, Méjean C, Allès B, Fiolet T, Debras C, et al. Ultra-processed food intake in association with BMI change and risk of overweight and obesity: a prospective analysis of the French NutriNet-Santé cohort. *PLoS Med.* (2020) 17:e1003256. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003256

58. Zhang T, Xu X, Chang Q, Lv Y, Zhao Y, Niu K, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption, genetic predisposition, and the risk of gout: the UK biobank study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2023) 63:kead196. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kead196

59. Vajdi M, Karimi A, Tousi AZ, Hosseini B, Nikniaz Z, Farhangi MA. Association between plant-based diets and metabolic syndrome in obese adults from Iran: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Endocr Disord*. (2023) 23:109. doi: 10.1186/s12902-023-01358-7

60. Vajdi M, Farhangi MA. A systematic review of the association between dietary patterns and health-related quality of life. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. (2020) 18:337. doi: 10.1186/s12955-020-01581-z

61. Ushula TW, Mamun A, Darssan D, Wang WYS, Williams GM, Whiting SJ, et al. Dietary patterns and the risks of metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance among young adults: evidence from a longitudinal study. *Clin Nutr.* (2022) 41:1523–31. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2022.05.006

62. Fardet A. Minimally processed foods are more satiating and less hyperglycemic than ultra-processed foods: a preliminary study with 98 ready-to-eat foods. *Food Funct.* (2016) 7:2338–46. doi: 10.1039/c6fo00107f

63. Monteiro CA, Moubarac JC, Cannon G, Ng SW, Popkin B. Ultra-processed products are becoming dominant in the global food system. *Obes Rev.* (2013) 14:21–8. doi: 10.1111/obr.12107

64. Zinocker MK, Lindseth IA. The western diet-microbiome-host interaction and its role in metabolic disease. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:365. doi: 10.3390/nu10030365

65. Khan MI, Ashfaq F, Alsayegh AA, Hamouda A, Khatoon F, Altamimi TN, et al. Advanced glycation end product signaling and metabolic complications: dietary approach. *World J Diabetes.* (2023) 14:995–1012. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v14.i7.995

66. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Bourguignon JP, Giudice LC, Hauser R, Prins GS, Soto AM, et al. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement. *Endocr Rev.* (2009) 30:293–342. doi: 10.1210/er.2009-0002

67. Fajardo VC, Barreto SM, Coelho CG, Haueisen Sander Diniz MF, Bisi Molina MDC, Pinho Ribeiro AL, et al. Ultra-processed foods: cross-sectional and longitudinal association with uric acid and hyperuricemia in ELSA-Brasil. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2023) 33:75–83. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2022.09.020

68. Zhang T, Gan S, Ye M, Meng G, Zhang Q, Liu L, et al. Association between consumption of ultra-processed foods and hyperuricemia: TCLSIH prospective cohort study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2021) 31:1993–2003. doi: 10.1016/j. numecd.2021.04.001

69. Srour B, Fezeu LK, Kesse-Guyot E, Alles B, Debras C, Druesne-Pecollo N, et al. Ultraprocessed food consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes among participants of the NutriNet-Sante prospective cohort. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2019) 180:283–91. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.5942

70. Levy RB, Rauber F, Chang K, Louzada M, Monteiro CA, Millett C, et al. Ultraprocessed food consumption and type 2 diabetes incidence: a prospective cohort study. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:3608–14. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.12.018

71. Srour B, Fezeu LK, Kesse-Guyot E, Alles B, Mejean C, Andrianasolo RM, et al. Ultra-processed food intake and risk of cardiovascular disease: prospective cohort study (NutriNet-Sante). *BMJ*. (2019) 365:l1451. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l1451

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Alvaro Perez, University of Chile, Chile Mahdi Vajdi, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

*CORRESPONDENCE Lichen Yang ⊠ yanglc@ninh.chinacdc.cn

RECEIVED 30 November 2023 ACCEPTED 19 January 2024 PUBLISHED 14 February 2024

CITATION

Yang J, Cao Y, Zhang H, Hu Y, Lu J, Wang R, Feng J and Yang L (2024) Association and dose–response relationship of plasma magnesium with metabolic syndrome in Chinese adults older than 45 years. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1346825. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1346825

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Yang, Cao, Zhang, Hu, Lu, Wang, Feng and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Association and dose–response relationship of plasma magnesium with metabolic syndrome in Chinese adults older than 45 years

Jingxin Yang, Yang Cao, Huidi Zhang, Yichun Hu, Jiaxi Lu, Rui Wang, Jie Feng and Lichen Yang*

Key Laboratory of Trace Element Nutrition, National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Nutrition and Health, Beijing, China

Purpose: Magnesium (Mg) is an essential nutrient for the maintenance of vital physiological functions. Magnesium deficiency is associated with diseases such as obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), and metabolic syndrome (MetS); however, conclusions have been inconsistent, and there is a particular lack of evidence regarding this association in Chinese population older than 45 years. This study aimed to assess the association between plasma magnesium and the risk of MetS and its components, the dose–response relationship, and the threshold effect relationship in a Chinese population involving older than 45 years.

Methods: A total of 2,101 individuals were randomly selected from the China Nutrition and Health Surveillance (CNHS) (2015–2017) by considering monitoring points. We used the joint statement of the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) in 2009 to define participants with MetS. The plasma magnesium was tested by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). The logistic regression and restricted cubic spline (RCS) models were used to analyze the association and dose–response relationship between plasma Mg and MetS and its components.

Results: Compared with the lowest quintile (Q1) for plasma Mg, the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% Cl) for MetS, impaired fasting glucose (IFG), hypertension, and triglyceride (TG) elevation at the highest quintile (Q5) were 0.419 (0.301, 0.583), 0.303 (0.221, 0.415), 0.446 (0.322, 0.618), and 0.526 (0.384, 0.720), respectively, with all p < 0.05. However, in the components of decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and central obesity, no trend toward lowering with higher plasma magnesium was observed (p = 0.717, p = 0.865). These associations were not altered by further adjustment for potential confounding variables, including age, gender, education, nationality, area, residence, body mass index (BMI), and heart rate. The RCS analysis showed that, when plasma magnesium was lower than 0.85 mmol/L, the curve was leveled off, and then, the curve showed a decreasing trend with the increase in plasma magnesium.

Conclusion: Therefore, plasma Mg was negatively associated with MetS and its components (including IFG, hypertension, and elevated TG) in people older than 45 years. In addition, plasma Mg greater than or equal to 0.85 mmol/L, which is higher than the commonly used threshold of 0.75 mmol/L, may be protective

against MetS and its components (including elevated FPG, elevated blood pressure, and elevated TG). More prospective studies, such as randomized controlled trials, are necessary to confirm the effective impact of Mg on MetS and its components. Plasma Mg levels in the MetS population older than 45 years require attention.

KEYWORDS

magnesium, metabolic syndrome, IFG, hypertension, Chinese adults

1 Introduction

Magnesium (Mg) is one of the essential nutrients for maintaining important physiological functions of the body. It is involved in many fundamental processes, and Mg deficiency is often associated with negative health outcomes (1). Mg is involved in more than 300 enzymatic reactions and significantly influences neurotransmitter release, oxidative stress prevention, bone metabolism, heart rhythm, and vascular tone (2). Mg deficiency is frequent in obese patients, individuals with type 2 diabetes (T2DM), and those with metabolic syndrome (MetS). The symptoms of Mg deficiency are usually non-specific and may be mistaken for an inadequate intake of other nutrients. Typically, according to the Nutrition and Health Status Monitoring Report of Chinese Residents 2010-2013 (3), the prevalence of MetS has increased significantly from the age of 45 years. Although the relationship between plasma Mg and the body Mg content may not be obvious, plasma Mg remains the most widely used indicator of Mg nutrition status, and there is still a lack of reports on Mg nutrition status in Chinese people older than 45 years (4).

The MetS is characterized by a clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, including central obesity, elevated blood pressure, dyslipidemia (high triglycerides), low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), and fasting hyperglycemia (5). MetS is on the rise globally and is clinically important due to its association with cardiovascular disease, T2DM, and cancer (6). Although the pathogenesis of MetS is not well defined, Mg may play a role in the development of MetS, insulin resistance, and chronic low-grade inflammation due to central obesity, which are the most widely accepted underlying reasons (7). Lifestyle risk factors such as obesity, physical inactivity, smoking, and unhealthy diet are strongly associated with the risk of developing MetS (8). Nikniaz et al. (9) study also demonstrated that a multi-mineralbased dietary pattern including Mg is associated with healthier metabolic factors in the Iranian population. However, studies exploring the relationship between plasma Mg and MetS and its components as well as whether there is a dose-effect or thresholdeffect relationship in Chinese population have been relatively limited.

Guerrero-Romero et al. (10) review of clinical evidence from randomized controlled trials assesses the efficacy of Mg supplementation in improving the composition of MetS. Their results suggest that supplementation for people with hypomagnesemia can effectively treat MetS. Champagne (11) review also recognized that adequate Mg intake is beneficial in controlling blood pressure, promoting weight loss, and improving the risk of chronic diseases. While data are not entirely consistent, Sarrafzadegan et al. systematic review and meta-analysis (12) found a negative correlation between Mg intake and MetS. However, this negative correlation is highly heterogeneous and sensitive.

As mentioned above, the nutritional status of Mg may be associated with MetS. Moreover, the surveillance results in China have shown that the prevalence of MetS has begun to increase in the Chinese population older than 45 years, which is a cause for concern. Studies on MetS and plasma Mg, especially in the Chinese population older than 45 years, were scarce. Therefore, we aimed to explore the relationship between plasma Mg and MetS in Chinese adults older than 45 years, especially the dose–response relationship and thresholdeffect relationship.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study population

The nationally representative China Nutrition and Health Monitoring (2015) (CNHS 2015) was the data source for this study. Protocols for monitoring the sample selection have been published elsewhere (13). According to the design of natural population distribution, a representative sample set of people older than 45 years was selected from approximately 180,000 monitoring populations by the stratified sampling method. The formula for calculating the sample size

of this cross-sectional study is $N = deff \frac{u^2 p(1-p)}{d^2}$. According to Wang et al. result, in China, in 2013 the prevalence of diabetes in 2013 was 10.9% (14). The values of the parameters *u*, *p*, *deff*, and *d* were 1.96, 0.109, 1.5, and 4%, respectively. The calculation yields a minimum sample size of 350 for each stratification factor. Taking into account gender and geographic location (east, mid, and west), there were six strata, and the whole cluster was randomly sampled with a population of 2,101 participants based on the distribution of 302 monitoring sites in China. Detailed sampling strategies are available in the previous article. All subjects in this study signed informed consent before the start of the trial. This study is also in line with the Declaration of Helsinki. This study has also been approved by the ethics committee of the Institute of Nutrition and Health, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Changping district, Beijing, China (No. 201519-A).

2.2 Criteria for inclusion and diagnosis of MetS

The criteria we use for MetS, according to the joint statement of the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) in 2009 (15), recognize

MetS when any three of the following conditions are present: (1) Elevated plasma glucose: Diagnosed with diabetes, taking hypoglycemic medications, or having fasting blood glucose (FPG) $\geq 5.6 \text{ mmol/L}$. (2) Elevated blood pressure (BP): systolic blood pressure (SBP) $\geq 130 \text{ mmHg}$, diastolic blood pressure (DBP) $\geq 85 \text{ mmHg}$, or under treatment with medications for essential hypertension. (3) Central obesity: waist circumference (WC) $\geq 85 \text{ cm}$ for men and 80 cm for women. (4) Triglyceride (TG) elevation: $\geq 1.7 \text{ mmol/L}$ or receiving treatment. (5) Reduced high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C): < 1.0 mmol/L for men and <1.3 mmol/L for women or receiving relevant medication.

2.3 Basic information and laboratory measurements

Each participant was asked to fast for more than 8 h, and 5 mL of venous blood was collected and centrifuged at 3000 × g for 15 min in separate tubes. Separated plasma was stored in a refrigerator at 80°C pending relevant testing. Training professionals used a nationally standardized questionnaire to collect basic information such as name, gender, ethnicity, education level, smoking, and alcohol consumption. Height, weight, WC, and BP were measured by a trained professional three times for each individual, and the measurements were averaged. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing weight (kg) by the square of height (m²). Non-smokers and ex-smokers who have quit smoking were judged to be non-smokers, and non-drinkers and ex-drinkers who have quit drinking were judged to be non-drinkers. The residence was categorized as urban and rural. Geographic location was divided into east, central, and west according to longitude. Educational attainment was divided into elementary school and below, middle school and high school, and college and above.

The study used an automatic biochemical analyzer (Hitachi 7600, Tokyo, Japan) to measure the liver and renal function, including fasting plasma glucose (FPG), plasma lipids, including total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and plasma uric acid (UA). Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) was determined by a highperformance lipid chromatography (HPLC) method using Trinity Biotech Premier Hb9210 (Dublin, Ireland). In this study, plasma Mg was determined by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS, PerkinElmer, NexION 350, Waltham, MA, United States). Plasma Mg was measured with 0.5% (v/v) high-purity nitric acid diluted with plasma in a 1:20 ratio. Standard quality control (QC) assays were performed on every 20 samples. QC consisted of Seronorm (Level 2, Billingstad, Norway) and ClinChek (Level 2, Munich, Germany). The coefficient of variation for Mg was 3.56% between batches and 2.30% within batches.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Quantitative information was expressed in the form of mean \pm SD, and qualitative information was expressed in the form of percentage. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the chi-squared tests were used to compare the demographic characteristics of individuals with different plasma Mg levels. In this study, multiple logistic regression was applied to explore the relationship between plasma Mg and MetS

and its components. Different variables were added to the model to compare the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) with the results of the reference quartile (lowest quartile, Q1) under different components in the model. We also used restricted cubic spline (RCS) to test for non-linear relationships and to explore the shape of the dose–response relationship between plasma Mg and MetS and their different components. The statistical analysis was conducted using SAS version 9.4 software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, United States). All *p*-values were two-sided, and the differences were considered statistically significant with the *p*-values less than or equal to 0.05.

3 Results

3.1 Basic characteristics of 2,101 participants

The mean plasma Mg was $0.88 \pm 0.10 \text{ mmol/L}$. Based on the plasma Mg levels, 2,101 subjects were equally divided into five parts to compare the various influences on different plasma Mg levels in Table 1. As plasma Mg levels increased, the percentage of obese, WC, TC, TG, LDL-C, FPG, HbA1c, systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), and heart rate showed a tendency to decrease, and the difference was statistically significant (p < 0.05). Other variables including age, gender, nationality, education, region, residence, smoking or drinking status, HDL-C, and UA did not show statistically significant differences between the different plasma Mg groups (p > 0.05).

3.2 Multivariate logistic regression analysis of plasma Mg and MetS and their components

Table 2 summarizes the results of the multivariate logistic analysis of the relationship between plasma Mg and MetS and its components. In the context of MetS as a whole, there was a gradual and statistically significant decrease in ORs with increasing plasma Mg levels, regardless of correction for other possible confounders. Model 1 was an uncorrected model, model 2 corrected for age, gender, education, nationality, area, and residence, and model 3 further corrected for BMI and heart rate. Its components, including impaired fasting glucose (IFG), hypertension, and elevated TG, also showed a tendency to decrease with elevated plasma Mg levels. Compared with Q1 for plasma Mg, the ORs (95% CI) for MetS, IFG, hypertension, and TG elevation at Q5 were 0.419 (0.301, 0.583), 0.303 (0.221, 0.415), 0.446 (0.322, 0.618), and 0.526 (0.384, 0.720), respectively, with all the p-values less than 0.05. However, in the components of decreased HDL and central obesity, no trend toward lowering with higher plasma Mg was observed (p = 0.717, p = 0.865).

3.3 Dose-response relationship between plasma Mg and MetS and its components

The results of the RCS analysis are shown in Figure 1. When plasma Mg levels were greater than $0.85\,\mathrm{mmol/L}$, there was a

TABLE 1 Characteristics of 2,101 participants according to the quintiles of plasma Mg.

| Variables | | Quinti | le of plasma Mg (n | nmol/L) | | <i>p</i> -value |
|--|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------|
| | Q1(≤0.805) | Q2(≤0.852) | Q3(≤0.895) | Q4(≤0.950) | Q5(>0.950) | |
| N | 419 | 419 | 420 | 424 | 419 | |
| Gender | | | | | | 0.825 |
| Man | 51.10% | 49.40% | 51.00% | 47.40% | 50.10% | |
| Woman | 48.90% | 50.60% | 49.00% | 52.60% | 49.90% | |
| Nationality | | | | | | 0.481 |
| Han | 86.60% | 88.50% | 89.00% | 89.60% | 90.50% | |
| Ethnic minorities | 13.40% | 11.50% | 11.00% | 10.40% | 9.50% | |
| Age group | | | | | | 0.361 |
| 45 <age≤55< td=""><td>23.20%</td><td>29.10%</td><td>24.00%</td><td>25.90%</td><td>28.20%</td><td></td></age≤55<> | 23.20% | 29.10% | 24.00% | 25.90% | 28.20% | |
| 55 <age≤65< td=""><td>36.30%</td><td>32.90%</td><td>35.50%</td><td>29.00%</td><td>33.20%</td><td></td></age≤65<> | 36.30% | 32.90% | 35.50% | 29.00% | 33.20% | |
| 65 <age≤75< td=""><td>19.60%</td><td>19.60%</td><td>18.60%</td><td>22.40%</td><td>17.70%</td><td></td></age≤75<> | 19.60% | 19.60% | 18.60% | 22.40% | 17.70% | |
| age>75 | 21.00% | 18.40% | 21.90% | 22.60% | 21.00% | |
| BMI group | | | | | | 0.033 |
| <18.5 | 4.30% | 2.90% | 3.10% | 5.20% | 5.00% | |
| 18.5–23.9 | 44.40% | 45.80% | 47.10% | 46.00% | 54.90% | |
| 24-27.9 | 33.90% | 34.40% | 35.20% | 35.60% | 29.10% | |
| ≥28 | 17.40% | 16.90% | 14.50% | 13.20% | 11.00% | |
| Education | | | | | | 0.088 |
| Elementary school | 65.40% | 57.80% | 57.90% | 56.60% | 59.70% | |
| and blow | 03.1070 | 57.0070 | 57.5070 | 50.0070 | 57.7070 | |
| Middle school and | 33.70% | 39.60% | 40.50% | 41.70% | 39.60% | |
| high school | | | | | | |
| College and above | 1.00% | 2.60% | 1.70% | 1.70% | 0.70% | |
| Area | | | | | | 0.252 |
| East | 31.50% | 33.90% | 36.00% | 38.70% | 37.00% | |
| Mid | 32.20% | 28.40% | 27.10% | 30.20% | 30.80% | |
| West | 36.30% | 37.70% | 36.90% | 31.10% | 32.20% | |
| Residence | | | | | | 0.357 |
| City | 60.40% | 57.30% | 57.10% | 60.80% | 63.00% | |
| Rural area | 39.60% | 42.70% | 42.90% | 39.20% | 37.00% | |
| Smoke | | | | | | 0.158 |
| Yes | 29.60% | 23.60% | 26.70% | 22.90% | 24.30% | |
| No | 70.40% | 76.40% | 73.30% | 77.10% | 75.70% | |
| Drink | | | | | | 0.949 |
| Yes | 32.90% | 32.50% | 34.00% | 31.60% | 33.70% | |
| No | 67.10% | 67.50% | 66.00% | 68.40% | 66.30% | |
| BMI | 24.25±3.75 | 24.46±3.56 | 24.30±3.60 | 23.97±3.55 | 23.60±3.33 | 0.004 |
| Waist (cm) | 83.84±11.25 | 84.11±10.51 | 83.78±11.26 | 82.78±10.59 | 82.19±10.46 | 0.048 |
| TC (mmol/L) | 4.96±1.08 | 4.81±0.98 | 4.79±0.99 | 4.93±1.01 | 4.69±0.91 | < 0.001 |
| TG (mmol/L) | 1.66±1.19 | 1.53±1.26 | 1.45±0.98 | 1.60±1.30 | 1.33±0.87 | <0.001 |
| LDL-C (mmol/L) | 3.12±0.93 | 3.01±0.84 | 2.97±0.87 | 3.05±0.88 | 2.88±0.80 | 0.002 |
| HDL-C (mmol/L) | | | | | | 0.269 |
| BP (mmHg) | 1.30 ± 0.34 144.35 ± 23.89 | 1.27 ± 0.32 140.29 ± 22.65 | 1.31 ± 0.33 141.61 ± 22.61 | 1.30 ± 0.33 140.91 ± 21.34 | 1.32 ± 0.30 135.61 ± 20.34 | <0.001 |

| Variables | Quintile of plasma Mg (mmol/L) | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------|--|--|--|
| | Q1(≤0.805) | Q2(≤0.852) | Q3(≤0.895) | Q4(≤0.950) | Q5(>0.950) | | | | |
| DBP (mmHg) | 81.19 ± 12.41 | 79.76 ± 10.93 | 79.67 ± 11.60 | 79.29 ± 11.02 | 77.19 ± 10.53 | < 0.001 | | | |
| FPG (mmol/L) | 6.57 ± 2.80 | 5.84 ± 1.75 | 5.64 ± 1.30 | 5.60 ± 1.36 | 5.22 ± 0.88 | <0.001 | | | |
| HbA1c (%) | 5.66±1.66 | 5.25 ± 1.06 | 5.17 ± 0.87 | 5.12 ± 0.87 | 4.95 ± 0.57 | < 0.001 | | | |
| UA | 321.17±96.36 | 311.98±85.05 | 316.13±83.41 | 307.40 ± 78.59 | 308.01 ± 86.17 | 0.108 | | | |
| Heart rate | 80.11±35.78 | 77.68 ± 19.42 | 76.17 ± 19.07 | 75.37 ± 10.93 | 76.09 ± 18.18 | 0.016 | | | |

BMI, Body mass index; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; UA, uric acid.

TABLE 2 Multivariate logistic regression analysis of plasma Mg and MetS and its components [OR (95%CI)].

| | | Quinti | le of plasma Mg (m | mol/L) | | <i>p</i> -value |
|-----------------|----------------|----------------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|-----------------|
| | Q1(≤0.805) | Q2(≤0.852) | Q3(<u><</u> 0.895) | Q4(<u><</u> 0.950) | Q5(>0.950) | |
| MetS | | | | | | I |
| Model 1 | 1(ref) | 0.918 (0.700, 1.203) | 0.753 (0.574, 0.989) | 0.741 (0.565, 0.973) | 0.426 (0.321, 0.566) | < 0.001 |
| Model 2 | 1(ref) | 0.909 (0.689, 1.200) | 0.732 (0.554, 0.967) | 0.682 (0.516, 0.901) | 0.396 (0.296, 0.529) | < 0.001 |
| Model 3 | 1(ref) | 0.855 (0.622, 1.176) | 0.678 (0.491, 0.936) | 0.713 (0.517, 0.982) | 0.419 (0.301, 0.583) | < 0.001 |
| IFG | · | | · | · | · | |
| Model 1 | 1(ref) | 0.834 (0.636, 1.094) | 0.677 (0.515, 0.889) | 0.556 (0.422, 0.733) | 0.296 (0.220, 0.398) | <0.001 |
| Model 2 | 1(ref) | 0.814 (0.618, 1.072) | 0.652 (0.494, 0.861) | 0.518 (0.391, 0.686) | 0.274 (0.203, 0.371) | < 0.001 |
| Model 3 | 1(ref) | 0.807 (0.603, 1.078) | 0.675 (0.504, 0.904) | 0.564 (0.420, 0.758) | 0.303 (0.221, 0.415) | < 0.001 |
| Hypertension | | | | | | |
| Model 1 | 1(ref) | 0.885 (0.651, 1.203) | 0.799 (0.590, 1.083) | 0.810 (0.598, 1.097) | 0.454 (0.339, 0.609) | < 0.001 |
| Model 2 | 1(ref) | 0.950 (0.686, 1.316) | 0.796 (0.577, 1.100) | 0.773 (0.560, 1.069) | 0.428 (0.313, 0.585) | < 0.001 |
| Model 3 | 1(ref) | 0.902 (0.644, 1.265) | 0.756 (0.541, 1.057) | 0.780 (0.558, 1.090) | 0.446 (0.322, 0.618) | < 0.001 |
| Hyperlipidemia- | –increased TG | | | | | |
| Model 1 | 1(ref) | 0.709 (0.532, 0.944) | 0.798 (0.601, 1.058) | 0.486 (0.360, 0.657) | 0.612 (0.502, 0.745) | < 0.001 |
| Model 2 | 1(ref) | 0.654 (0.488, 0.875) | 0.690 (0.516, 0.921) | 0.763 (0.573, 1.015) | 0.472 (0.348, 0.639) | < 0.001 |
| Model 3 | 1(ref) | 0.630 (0.465, 0.852) | 0.683 (0.505, 0.923) | 0.817 (0.607, 1.100) | 0.526 (0.384, 0.720) | 0.001 |
| Dyslipidemia—d | ecreased HDL-C | | | | | |
| Model 1 | 1(ref) | 1.021 (0.771, 1.351) | 0.996 (0.753, 1.319) | 0.942 (0.711, 1.247) | 0.758 (0.569, 1.009) | 0.238 |
| Model 2 | 1(ref) | 1.005 (0.748, 1.350) | 0.994 (0.740, 1.335) | 0.878 (0.653, 1.180) | 0.722 (0.534, 0.976) | 0.149 |
| Model 3 | 1(ref) | 0.992 (0.730, 1.348) | 0.992 (0.728, 1.350) | 0.932 (0.685, 1.269) | 0.823 (0.602, 1.126) | 0.717 |
| Central obesity | | | · | · | · | |
| Model 1 | 1(ref) | 0.894 (0.681, 1.175) | 0.884 (0.674, 1.161) | 0.721 (0.550, 0.947) | 1.328 (1.094, 1.611) | 0.147 |
| Model 2 | 1(ref) | 0.960 (0.726, 1.269) | 0.884 (0.669, 1.167) | 0.835 (0.633, 1.103) | 0.686 (0.519, 0.906) | 0.069 |
| Model 3 | 1(ref) | 0.857 (0.584, 1.258) | 0.819 (0.558, 1.201) | 0.937 (0.640, 1.373) | 0.881 (0.605, 1.283) | 0.865 |

IFG, impaired fasting glucose; model 1 unadjusted; model 2 further added age, gender, education, nationality, area, and residence; model 3 further added BMI and heart rate.

significant protective effect against elevated MetS (a), FPG (b), increased blood pressure (c), and elevated TG (d), with no significant effect on the reduction of HDL-C (e), or the increase in waist circumference (f). MetS showed a flattening and then a decreasing trend with increasing plasma Mg, with a cutoff point of approximately 0.85 mmol/L, which is similar to the relationship between blood pressure and plasma Mg. FPG tended to decrease as plasma Mg increased and was not statistically significant until 0.85 mmol/L. There was a statistically significant tendency for blood glucose to decrease when plasma Mg was greater than 0.85 mmol/L, which is similar to the relationship between TG and plasma Mg.

4 Discussion

In this study, we analyzed the association and dose–response relationship between plasma Mg and MetS in adults older than 45 years using the nationally representative data from China. The



cholesterol; (F) WC, waist circumference.

results showed that, when the plasma Mg concentration was greater than 0.85 mmol/L, the OR values of the increased MetS, FPG, BP, and TG were significantly lower than 1 but had no significant effect on the decrease of HDL and WC.

The present study obtained a significantly negative correlation between overall MetS and plasma Mg levels. Huang et al. (16)

recruited 1,277 adults to evaluate the relationship between metal mixture exposure and the prevalence of MetS in Chinese middle-aged and elderly populations. They also used ICP-MS and RCS methods to detect the plasma levels of 13 metals and the dose–response relationships of plasma metals with MetS, respectively. The results showed that the concentrations of Mg were lower in the MetS group

(p < 0.05), and the adjusted OR (95% CI) in the highest quartile was 0.44 (0.35, 0.76) compared with the lowest quartile. It was demonstrated that Mg and Mo were the major contributors to the combined effect, and elevated plasma Mg levels were associated with a reduced prevalence of MetS. Except for Huang's cross-sectional research, Afitska et al. RCT study also confirms this. Afitska et al. (17) recruited 50 participants with normal plasma Mg status and randomly assigned them to 400 mg/day Mg citrate or placebo for 12 weeks. Compared with the placebo group, Mg supplementation resulted in a statistically significant reduction in SBP and DBP (145±10 vs. 121±5 mmHg and 85±3 vs. 79±3 mmHg) along with a statistically significant reduction in HbA1c ($6.43\pm0.64\%$ vs. $6.15\pm0.55\%$). Thus, this study confirms that oral Mg citrate supplementation even when given to individuals with normal plasma Mg with MetS reduces components of MetS such as HbA1c and increased blood pressure.

The negative correlation between elevated TG and plasma Mg found in this study has consistent results in other studies. Rayssiguier et al. (18) review showed that Mg deficiency leads to stress effects and increased susceptibility to stress-generated physiological damage. Inflammation occurring during experimental Mg deficiency induces hypertriglyceridemia and primary atherosclerosis changes in lipoprotein metabolism. Guerrero-Romero et al. (19) cross-sectional study enrolled 427 men and non-pregnant women aged 20–65 years and also showed that hypomagnesemia is strongly associated with hypertriglyceridemia and insulin resistance in obese individuals.

In addition to the negative correlation with MetS, this study also found a negative correlation between plasma Mg levels and FPG. Del Gobbo et al. (20) included 16 prospective studies comprising 313,041 individuals with 11,995 cardiovascular disease (CVD), 7,534 ischemic heart disease (IHD), and 2,686 fatal IHD events. The results found that each 0.2 mmol/L increase in plasma Mg was associated with a 30% reduction in the risk of CVD (RR: 0.70; 95% CI: 0.56, 0.80), a lower risk of IHD (RR: 0.83; 95% CI: 0.75, 1.05), and lethal IHD (RR: 0.61; 95% CI: 0.37, 1.00). Increasing dietary Mg by 200 mg/day was not significantly associated with cardiovascular disease (RR: 0.89; 95% CI: 0.75, 1.05) but was associated with a 22% lower risk of IHD (RR: 0.78; 95% CI: 0.67, 0.92). Dietary Mg was non-linear (p=0.001) and negatively associated with lethal IHD compared to those with lower intakes, with an observed threshold of 250 mg/day (RR: 0.73; 95% CI: 0.62, 0.86). In conclusion, this meta-analysis study found that circulating and dietary Mg were inversely associated with the risk of cardiovascular disease. Zhang et al. (21) recruited 254 patients with T2DM to determine the relationship between serum Mg and the peripheral nerve function in patients with T2DM. The results showed that serum Mg levels were significantly lower in patients with diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN). The percentage of DPN was lower in T2DM patients with higher serum Mg levels, which suggests a correlation between plasma Mg levels and diabetic complications of DPN. Albaker et al. (22) conducted an RCT clinical trial to evaluate the effect of adding Mg chloride supplements to desalinated water consumed by T2DM patients on blood glucose, metabolic parameters, and insulin sensitivity indices. A total of 102 T2DM patients completed the trial, and the results showed that adding a dose (50 mg/L in this study) of Mg to drinking water improves long-term glycemic control indices and reduces insulin resistance in T2DM patients. Das (23) also suggests that Mg promotes the metabolism of essential fatty acids (EFAs), which, in turn, protects pancreatic b-cells, improves insulin sensitivity, and suppresses inflammation, which leads to the protective role of Mg against T2DM.

This study also found a negative correlation between blood pressure (BP) and plasma Mg. Several intervention studies also demonstrated that oral Mg supplementation lowered BP in patients with mild-to-moderate hypertension. Zhang et al. (24) meta-analysis included 34 RCTs and involved 2,028 participants to quantify the effect of oral Mg supplementation on BP. Their meta-analysis showed that a 3-month Mg supplementation of 368 mg/day significantly reduced SBP and DBP by 2.00 mmHg and 1.78 mmHg, respectively. The RCS analysis showed that the addition of 300 mg/day for 1 month was sufficient to raise serum Mg and lower blood pressure. Furthermore, serum Mg was negatively correlated with DBP and not significantly correlated with SBP (p < 0.05). Kass et al. (25) metaanalysis included 141 articles, which also certified that Mg supplementation can achieve a small but clinically significant reduction in BP. Witteman et al. (26) recruited 91 middle-aged and elderly women with mild-to-moderate hypertension who were randomized to 6 months of treatment with aspartate-Mg hydrochloride (20 mmol/d) or placebo with the same appearance. The results showed that the SBP and DBP of Mg-supplemented group decreased by 2.7 mmHg and 3.4 mmHg, respectively.

No dose-response relationship between plasma Mg and blood HDL-C and WC was found in this study. However, contrary to our findings, Salehidoost et al. (27) conducted a 12-week RCT, which recruited 86 prediabetic patients who were given Mg oxide 250 mg/ day versus placebo, and the results showed that Mg supplementation increased HDL-C levels in patients with prediabetes. However, Mg supplementation did not improve other cardiometabolic indices, such as HOMA-IR index, TC, LDL-C, TG, UA, and C-reactive protein (CRP). Some studies are consistent with our findings, such as Simental-Mendía et al. (28) research. LUIS performed a meta-analysis of 18 RCTs to evaluate the effect of oral Mg supplementation on lipids in diabetic and non-diabetic patients. The results of this meta-analysis suggest that Mg supplementation does not have a significant effect on lipid profiles, including TC (p = 0.671), LDL-C (p = 0.903), HDL-C (p=0.076), and TG concentrations (p=0.149) in diabetic or non-diabetic individuals.

This study also found that BMI tended to decrease with increasing plasma Mg levels, and the difference was statistically significant. Singh et al. (29) research also found that serum Mg/insulin ratio is negatively associated with high body fat percentage. They randomly selected 850 men aged 25–64 years to determine the relationship between high body fat percentage and serum Mg levels in an urban Indian population. The results showed that Mg deficiency (OR: 1.02) was a risk factor for high body fat rate and central obesity. Hosseini et al. (30) reviewed 31 articles, which also demonstrated a negative correlation between plasma Mg and obesity. At the same time, contrary studies, such as Asbaghi et al. study, are showing that plasma Mg is not associated with obesity, OMID summarized five randomized controlled trials that showed that Mg supplementation did not affect weight (WMD: -0.01 kg), BMI (WMD: -0.07), and WC (WMD: 0.12) (31).

The study also identified 0.85 mmol/L as a critical inflection point for MetS and its three components: elevated FPG, elevated TG, and elevated blood pressure. Other research groups, including those in the US (32) and German (33), proposed that the lower cutoff value of the Mg deficiency should be 0.85 mmol/L. They all agreed that the range of reference values usually found for serum Mg (0.75–0.95 mmol/L), especially the lower reference of 0.75 mmol/L, is no longer universally applicable. This is because subclinical Mg deficiency may still exist despite the normal performance within the current serum Mg reference. According to the current data, serum Mg values below 0.85 mmol/L are associated with increased health risks. Therefore, the lower limit of the reference range should be raised to 0.85 mmol/L. Rosanoff et al. (34) consensus also suggests an updated standardization of serum Mg reference ranges. Andrea argued that it would be more appropriate to standardize the lower reference value for serum Mg to 0.85 mmol/L (2.07 mg/dL; 1.7 mgeq/L) for proper diagnosis, awareness, and management of Mg status. Our study also supports 0.85 mmol/L as a reasonably low value for disease prevention.

5 Strengths and limitations

This study has several advantages. First, the sample was a representative sample randomly selected from nationally representative data (CNHS 2015) with a complete quality control system. Second, we used the more recognized ICP-MS method for plasma Mg with comparable experimental results. Third, we synthesized the relationship between plasma Mg and MetS and its components using an RCS approach and obtained a meaningful inflection point value of 0.85 mmol/L.

This study also has some disadvantages that need to be mentioned. First, due to the use of cross-sectional data, causal associations could not be determined. Second, as the data used were nationally monitored and included only some common physiological and biochemical factors, there may be other confounding factors that are not measured and controlled for, causing the possibility of error and bias.

6 Conclusion

In conclusion, plasma Mg was negatively associated with MetS and its components (including IFG, hypertension, and elevated TG) in people older than 45 years. In addition, plasma Mg greater than or equal to 0.85 mmol/L, which is higher than the commonly used threshold of 0.75 mmol/L, may be protective against MetS and its components (including elevated FPG, elevated blood pressure, and elevated TG). More prospective studies, such as randomized controlled trials, are necessary to confirm the effective impact of Mg on MetS and its components. The plasma Mg levels in the MetS population older than 45 years require attention.

Data availability statement

The data set presented in this article is not readily available as it belongs to China Nutrition and Health Surveillance (2015) (CNHS 2015). The database is not publicly available. Requests regarding the datasets should be directed to 243671926@qq.com.

References

1. Pelczyńska M, Moszak M, Bogdański P. The role of magnesium in the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14. doi: 10.3390/ nu14091714

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the National Institute for Nutrition and Health, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin.

Author contributions

JY: Writing – original draft. YC: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. HZ: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. YH: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. JL: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. RW: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. JF: Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. LY: Funding acquisition, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was funded by the Active Health and Aging Technologic Solutions Major Project of the National Key R&D Program—Study of Diet and Nutrition Assessment and Intervention Technology (no. 2020YFC2006300)—Study on the Key Nutrients Requirement of Chinese Population (no. 2020YFC2006302).

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the contributions of specific colleagues, institutions, or agencies that aided the efforts of the authors.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{2.} Wang J, Lin S, Li HY, Tang W, Liu Y, Zhou T. Influencing factors of serum magnesium in CKD5 patients: a multicenter study in southern China. *Front Public Health*. (2022) 10:1047602. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1047602

3. Yuna H, Wenhua Z, Liyun Z, Dongmei Y, Jian Z, Xiaoguang Y, et al. Epidemiological characteristics of adult metabolic syndrome in China, 2010-2012. *Chin J Epidemiol.* (2017) 38:212–5. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2017.02.015

4. Witkowski M, Hubert J, Mazur A. Methods of assessment of magnesium status in humans: a systematic review. *Magnes Res.* (2011) 24:163–80. doi: 10.1684/mrh.2011.0292

5. Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet. (2005) 365:1415-28. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66378-7

6. Ji L. Current challenges of diabetes and metabolic disorders in China. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2023) 25:3-4. doi: 10.1111/dom.15048

7. Son DH, Ha HS, Park HM, Kim HY, Lee YJ. New markers in metabolic syndrome. *Adv Clin Chem.* (2022) 110:37–71. doi: 10.1016/bs.acc.2022.06.002

8. Vajdi M, Farhangi MA, Nikniaz L. Diet-derived nutrient patterns and components of metabolic syndrome: a cross-sectional community-based study. *BMC Endocr Disord.* (2020) 20:69. doi: 10.1186/s12902-020-0547-0

9. Nikniaz L, Mahmudiono T, Jasim SA, Vajdi M, Thangavelu L, Farhangi MA. Nutrient pattern analysis of mineral based, simple sugar based, and fat based diets and risk of metabolic syndrome: a comparative nutrient panel. *BMC Endocr Disord.* (2022) 22:51. doi: 10.1186/s12902-022-00963-2

10. Guerrero-Romero F, Jaquez-Chairez FO, Rodríguez-Morán M. Magnesium in metabolic syndrome: a review based on randomized, double-blind clinical trials. *Magnes Res.* (2016) 29:146–53. doi: 10.1684/mrh.2016.0404

11. Champagne CM. Magnesium in hypertension, cardiovascular disease, metabolic syndrome, and other conditions: a review. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (2008) 23:142–51. doi: 10.1177/0884533608314533

12. Sarrafzadegan N, Khosravi-Boroujeni H, Lotfizadeh M, Pourmogaddas A, Salehi-Abargouei A. Magnesium status and the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrition*. (2016) 32:409–17. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2015.09.014

13. Yu D, Zhao L, Zhang J, Yang Z, Yang L, Huang J, et al. China nutrition and health surveys (1982-2017). *China CDC Wkly*. (2021) 3:193–5. doi: 10.46234/ccdcw2021.058

14. Wang L, Gao P, Zhang M, Huang Z, Zhang D, Deng Q, et al. Prevalence and ethnic pattern of diabetes and prediabetes in China in 2013. *JAMA*. (2017) 317:2515–23. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7596

15. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; world heart federation; international atherosclerosis society; and International Association for the Study of obesity. *Circulation.* (2009) 120:1640–5. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644

16. Huang S, Zhong D, Lv Z, Cheng J, Zou X, Wang T, et al. Associations of multiple plasma metals with the risk of metabolic syndrome: a cross-sectional study in the midaged and older population of China. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* (2022) 231:113183. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113183

17. Afitska K, Clavel J, Kisters K, Vormann J, Werner T. Magnesium citrate supplementation decreased blood pressure and HbA1c in normomagnesemic subjects with metabolic syndrome: a 12-week, placebo-controlled, double-blinded pilot trial. *Magnes Res.* (2021) 34:130–9. doi: 10.1684/mrh.2021.0489

18. Rayssiguier Y, Libako P, Nowacki W, Rock E. Magnesium deficiency and metabolic syndrome: stress and inflammation may reflect calcium activation. *Magnes Res.* (2010) 23:73–80. doi: 10.1684/mrh.2010.0208

19. Guerrero-Romero F, Rodriguez-Moran M. Serum magnesium in the metabolicallyobese normal-weight and healthy-obese subjects. *Eur J Intern Med.* (2013) 24:639–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2013.02.014 20. Del Gobbo LC, Imamura F, Wu JH, de Oliveira Otto MC, Chiuve SE, Mozaffarian D. Circulating and dietary magnesium and risk of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 98:160–73. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.053132

21. Zhang Q, Ji L, Zheng H, Li Q, Xiong Q, Sun W, et al. Low serum phosphate and magnesium levels are associated with peripheral neuropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2018) 146:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j. diabres.2018.09.015

22. Albaker WI, Al-Hariri MT, Al Elq AH, Alomair NA, Alamoudi AS, Voutchkov N, et al. Beneficial effects of adding magnesium to desalinated drinking water on metabolic and insulin resistance parameters among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *NPJ Clean Water*. (2022) 5:63. doi: 10.1038/ s41545-022-00207-9

23. Das UN. Magnesium supplementation reduces metabolic syndrome—how and why? *Arch Med Res.* (2014) 45:604–6. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2014.10.002

24. Zhang X, Li Y, Del Gobbo LC, Rosanoff A, Wang J, Zhang W, et al. Effects of magnesium supplementation on blood pressure: a Meta-analysis of randomized doubleblind placebo-controlled trials. *Hypertension*. (2016) 68:324–33. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.07664

25. Kass L, Weekes J, Carpenter L. Effect of magnesium supplementation on blood pressure: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 66:411–8. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2012.4

26. Witteman JC, Grobbee DE, Derkx FH, Bouillon R, de Bruijn AM, Hofman A. Reduction of blood pressure with oral magnesium supplementation in women with mild to moderate hypertension. *Am J Clin Nutr*. (1994) 60:129–35. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/60.1.129

27. Salehidoost R, Taghipour Boroujeni G, Feizi A, Aminorroaya A, Amini M. Effect of oral magnesium supplement on cardiometabolic markers in people with prediabetes: a double blind randomized controlled clinical trial. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:18209. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-20277-6

28. Simental-Mendía LE, Simental-Mendía M, Sahebkar A, Rodríguez-Morán M, Guerrero-Romero F. Effect of magnesium supplementation on lipid profile: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (2017) 73:525–36. doi: 10.1007/s00228-017-2212-8

29. Singh RB, Beegom R, Rastogi SS, Gaoli Z, Shoumin Z. Association of low plasma concentrations of antioxidant vitamins, magnesium and zinc with high body fat per cent measured by bioelectrical impedance analysis in Indian men. *Magnes Res.* (1998) 11:3–10.

30. Hosseini B, Saedisomeolia A, Allman-Farinelli M. Association between antioxidant intake/status and obesity: a systematic review of observational studies. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2017) 175:287–97. doi: 10.1007/s12011-016-0785-1

31. Asbaghi O, Hosseini R, Boozari B, Ghaedi E, Kashkooli S, Moradi S. The effects of magnesium supplementation on blood pressure and obesity measure among type 2 diabetes patient: a systematic review and Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2021) 199:413–24. doi: 10.1007/s12011-020-02157-0

32. Costello RB, Elin RJ, Rosanoff A, Wallace TC, Guerrero-Romero F, Hruby A, et al. Perspective: the case for an evidence-based reference interval for serum magnesium: the time has come. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:977–93. doi: 10.3945/an.116.012765

33. Micke O, Vormann J, Kraus A, Kisters K. Serum magnesium: time for a standardized and evidence-based reference range. *Magnes Res.* (2021) 34:84–9. doi: 10.1684/mrh.2021.0486

34. Rosanoff A, West C, Elin RJ, Micke O, Baniasadi S, Barbagallo M, et al. Recommendation on an updated standardization of serum magnesium reference ranges. *Eur J Nutr.* (2022) 61:3697–706. doi: 10.1007/s00394-022-02916-w

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Ligang Yang, Southeast University, China Md. Monowarul Mobin Siddique, The University of Utah, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Guo-Xun Chen ⊠ Guoxun.chen@mail.hzau.edu.cn Fang Yang ⊠ fangy521@hbtcm.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 29 December 2023 ACCEPTED 06 February 2024 PUBLISHED 23 February 2024

CITATION

Li C-Z, Wu L-M, Zhu C-X, Du H-Y, Chen G-X and Yang F (2024) The impacts of dietary sphingomyelin supplementation on metabolic parameters of healthy adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1363077. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1363077

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Li, Wu, Zhu, Du, Chen and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is

permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The impacts of dietary sphingomyelin supplementation on metabolic parameters of healthy adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Chen-Zi Li^{1†}, Li-Mei Wu^{1†}, Chen-Xi Zhu¹, Huan-Yu Du¹, Guo-Xun Chen²* and Fang Yang¹*

¹School of Laboratory Medicine, Hubei University of Chinese Medicine, Wuhan, China, ²College of Food Science and Technology, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China

Background: Studies have shown that sphingomyelin (SM) and its metabolites play signaling roles in the regulation of human health. Endogenous SM is involved in metabolic syndrome (MetS), while dietary SM supplementation may maintain lipid metabolism and prevent or alleviate MetS. Therefore, we hypothesized that dietary SM supplementation is beneficial for human health.

Aims: In order to examine the impacts of dietary SM on metabolic indexes in adults without MetS, we performed a meta-analysis to test our hypothesis.

Methods: A comprehensive search was performed to retrieve randomized controlled trials that were conducted between 2003 and 2023 to examine the effects of dietary SM supplementation on metabolic parameters in the Cochrane Library, PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and ClinicalTrials.gov databases. RevMan 5.4 and Stata 14.0 software were used for meta-analysis, a sensitivity analysis, the risk of bias, and the overall quality of the resulted evidence.

Results: Eventually, 10 articles were included in this meta-analysis. Dietary SM supplementation did not affect the endline blood SM level. When compared to the control, SM supplementation reduced the blood total cholesterol level [MD: -12.97, 95% CI: (-14.57, -11.38), p < 0.00001], low-density lipoprotein cholesterol level [MD: -6.62, 95% CI: (-10.74, -2.49), p = 0.002], and diastolic blood pressure [MD: -3.31; 95% CI (-4.03, -2.58), p < 0.00001] in adults without MetS. The supplementation also increased high-density lipoprotein level [MD: 1.41, 95% CI: (0.94, 1.88), p < 0.00001] and muscle fiber conduction velocity [MD: 95% 1.21 CI (0.53, 1.88), p = 0.0005]. The intake of SM had no effect on the blood phospholipids and lyso-phosphatidylcholine, but slightly decreased phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylethanolamine, and phosphatidylinositol concentrations. Dietary SM supplementation reduced insulin level [MD: -0.63; 95% CI (-0.96, -0.31), p = 0.0001] and HOMA-IR [MD: -0.23; 95% CI (-0.31, -0.16), p < 0.00001] without affecting blood levels of glucose and inflammatory cytokines.

Conclusion: Overall, dietary SM supplementation had a protective effect on blood lipid profiles and insulin level, but had limited impacts on other metabolic parameters in adults without MetS. More clinical trials and basic research are required.

Systematic review registration: PROSPERO, identifier CRD42023438460.

KEYWORDS

sphingomyelin, metabolic parameters, randomized controlled trials, meta-analysis, protective effect

1 Introduction

Metabolic syndrome (MetS), also known as syndrome X, is a pathological condition characterized by abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia (1). Approximately 20 to 25% of adults in the world are affected by MetS (2). In the meantime, the prevalence of MetS resulting from obesity in children and adolescents is also on the rise (3, 4). MetS has the potential to induce metabolic disorders in the body, which is a risk factor not only for cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and other chronic metabolic diseases, but also for cancer and all-cause mortality (5-7). As CVDs are the primary cause of mortality on a global scale, it has become imperative to investigate the impact of MetS in order to alleviate the substantial burden of CVDs (8). In conjunction with genetic and epigenetic influences, some lifestyle and environmental variables, such as excessive caloric intake and sedentary behavior, have been recognized as significant determinants in the pathogenesis of MetS (8, 9). Identifying clinical high-risk factors for MetS and finding early intervention methods to prevent the occurrence and progression of severe complications have significant public health implications. According to World Health Organization, European group for study of insulin resistance, International Diabetes Federation, American Heart Association, and National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III, the main diagnostic criteria of MetS are central obesity (elevated waist circumference), elevated blood glucose level, elevated triglyceride (TG) and total cholesterol (TC) levels, reduced high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) level, and elevated blood pressure (8). The prevention and treatment of MetS often involve individualized therapies targeting dyslipidemia, hyperglycemia, and hypertension, with food restriction and regular exercise (10).

Blood lipid profiles such as levels of TG, cholesterol, phospholipids (PLs) and fatty acids, particularly those related to cholesterol homeostasis, are the essential indexes for controlling MetS (11). The plasma low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) is maintained though the intestinal cholesterol absorption, endogenous cholesterol synthesis, and cholesterol clearance (12). Sphingomyelin (SM) is a sphingolipid found in animal tissues, which consists of a phosphorylcholine head group, a long-chain fatty acyl group and a sphingosine (13). It predominantly colocalizes with cholesterol on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane, lysosomal and Golgi membranes, as well as in lipoproteins (14, 15). SM and its metabolites, including sphingoid bases, ceramide (Cer), ceramide-1-phosphate (C1P), and sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), play an important role in human health (10). Several investigations have shown that the endogenous SM and its metabolites are involved in

the pathological processes associated with obesity, diabetes, and atherosclerosis (16-18). The amount of endogenous SM in the plasma is associated with atherosclerosis, which is considered a risk factor for CVDs (19). It has been shown that atherosclerotic LDL contains 10-50 times more Cer than the control ones (20). Patients with coronary heart disease showed higher plasma SM levels than the control subjects in case-control studies and multi-ethnic cohort studies (14, 21, 22). SM and Cer species containing palmitate exhibited the strongest positive correlation with cardiovascular and total mortality (23). Circulating C16-SM and C16-Cer, the potential biomarkers, have been associated with CVDs in people with T2DM (24, 25). However, one study shows that in adults with T2DM, SM containing a very long chain saturated fatty acid is associated with a reduced risk of CVDs (25). Nevertheless, Yeboah et al. discovered that plasma SM levels did not serve as a predictor of incidence of coronary heart disease events after a 5-year follow-up study (26).

However, the potential impact of dietary SM on the regulation of cholesterol homeostasis, lipid metabolism, and the mitigation of symptoms associated with obesity, diabetes, and atherosclerosis has not been revealed and is of significant interest. Studies on animals have shown that the dietary SM supplementation prevents atherosclerosis through the inhibition of cholesterol absorption (27-30), modification of plasma and hepatic cholesterol and TG metabolism (31, 32), formation of lipoproteins and intestinal mucosal development (33). Dietary SM derived from milk and egg yolk diminished the high-fat diet (HFD)-induced hepatic steatosis by controlling lipid absorption and metabolism, and reduced blood lipopolysaccharide via bifidogenic effects and changes in the distal gut microbiota (34, 35). Then, whether dietary SM has a positive impact on human health is still an open question. The average Western diet provides humans with 300 mg to 400 mg of sphingolipids daily, and the majority of them is SM found in meat, milk, egg products and fish (36). The extent to which dietary SM influences the endogenous sphingolipidome is still unknown. Ohlsson et al. first designed a parallel study to examine the effects of the consumption of buttermilk fortified with SM on plasma lipids over 4 weeks, and did not observe the lipid-lowering benefits of SM-enriched milk polar lipids. However, the results suggest that 700 mg/day of dietary SM mitigated the rise in TG and LDL levels associated with an increase in calorie and fat consumption (37). According to Ramprasath et al., with the exception of an increase in HDL, the addition of 1 g/day of SM to the diet has no effect on cholesterol absorption, synthesis, and the blood lipid profile in a crossover randomized controlled trial (RCT) (38). No clinically significant changes in body mass index (BMI), glucose, blood lipid profile and liver function of healthy adults after the dietary SM supplementation were observed in subsequent RCTs (39-42). Therefore, we assume that dietary SM intake is beneficial to human

body. In order to test this hypothesis, we conducted a meta-analysis using data retrieved from 10 RCT studies to obtain a more definite conclusion about the effect of dietary SM supplementation on relevant biomarkers of MetS.

2 Methods

2.1 Scheme and registration

The present systematic review was filed in PROSPERO (CRD42023438460) and carried out in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (43). For the current study, ethical approval was not required.

2.2 Search strategy

The search strategy took into account three primary concepts, SM, PLs, and adults. For each concept, Medical Subject Headings and keywords were mapped. Subsequently, a search was conducted in the PubMed database to get a broader range of search terms, which included SM, PLs, gangliosides, sphingolipids, Cer, sphingosine, milk, egg, along with adults. RCTs on the effects of dietary SM on adults were searched in PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, ClinicalTrials.gov, and Cochrane Library databases from January 2003 to October 2023, with a language restriction to English. The search process and the related results were shown in Supplementary material 1. To ensure the comprehensiveness of reference lists, the cited references of the included relevant studies were also carefully reviewed. Four team members were divided into two groups: LMW and HYD, and CZL and CXZ. These two groups independently conducted reference screening in pairs and later compared the titles and/or abstracts of the publications that they retrieved. Subsequently, a comprehensive assessment was conducted on the whole texts of possibly eligible research in order to identify papers that satisfied the predetermined criteria for inclusion and exclusion. To ensure the integrity of the research selection process, a calibration exercise was first conducted. A consensus was achieved either via the resolution of conflicts or with the aid of another reviewer (FY).

2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The following inclusion criteria were used to ensure that the studies were appropriately selected. (1) The effects of SM supplementation on metabolic parameters of adults without MetS were studied. (2) RCTs studies should have compared SM supplementation with a placebo. (3) At least one MetS component (anthropometric parameters, blood pressure measurement, blood lipid and glycemic profile) was investigated in RCTs. (4) Only RCTs lasting at least 2 weeks were included to ensure that the interventions had enough time to have an effect. (5) The data presented in the selected studies should be continuous measures, as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of the baseline and final

value, and 95% confidence interval (CI) of the indicators must also be provided. (6) The language was limited to English. Articles that did not provide information on the amount of SM consumed and specific physical indicators were excluded. Studies were excluded if their subjects are minors, elderly people, unhealthy people with MetS, atherosclerosis, CVDs, diabetes and other chronic metabolic diseases, or acute diseases such as appendicitis, myocardial infarction, and cerebral hemorrhage. Furthermore, studies with an intervention duration of less than 2 weeks or longer than 13 weeks should be precluded, as the duration of the intervention is decisive. Finally, studies that were published as letters, meeting abstracts, meta-analyses, or reviews were excluded. If there were duplicate studies, we included only the most recent or complete one.

2.4 Data extraction

The following extracted data were collected from all eligible studies, including fundamental characteristics (the first author's name, year of publication, country, type of RCT, representation of population and sources of funding), diagnosis criteria of MetS, sample size, the age, gender, and conditions of the subjects, baseline data of participants, control and intervention (the dosage of SM and duration time), outcome measures, and records used for assessing bias risk. The outcome indicators included: (1) blood SM, (2) anthropometric parameters including BMI, body fat percentage (BF%), knee extension, muscle fiber conduction velocity (MFCV), systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP), (3) blood lipid profile including TC, TG, LDL-C, HDL-C and LDL-C/HDL-C, apolipoprotein B (ApoB) and apolipoprotein A1 (ApoA1), (4) blood PL profile including PLs, phosphatidylcholine (PC), lyso-phosphatidyl (Lyso-PC), phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) choline and phosphatidylinositol (PI), (5) blood glycemic indexes including glucose, insulin and homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), (6) inflammatory response factors including aspartate transaminase (AST), alanine transaminase (ALT) and C-reactive protein (CRP). To determine if any data were missing or inadequate, we attempted to contact the authors of the listed papers. Prior to validating the data extraction process, a calibration procedure was performed. Data were cross-checked, and any discrepancies were resolved through discussion with the two authors (FY and GXC).

2.5 Quality assessment of studies

Two researchers (CZL, LMW) assessed the risk of bias in the included RCTs independently and consistently using the Cochrane criteria (44). Any controversy regarding literature deviation risk was resolved through discussion and consultation with the two authors (FY and GXC). The risk of bias in the included RCTs was assessed, including random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blindness of participants and personnel, blindness of outcome assessment, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting bias, and other biases. Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) methodology was used to assess the overall quality of the evidence generated by the meta-analysis, taking into account high risk of bias, imprecision, indirectness, heterogeneity, and

publication bias.¹ Supplementary material 2 shows that the overall certainty of evidence was rated as "very low," "low," "moderate" or "high."

2.6 Data synthesis and statistical analysis

To extract the baseline and final values of the indicators mentioned above, unifying the index nomenclature and units in the involved articles was needed. Using the following conversion factors to unify the units of the indicators: $1 \mu g/100$ ul=0.01 mg/mL for SM, 1 mmo/L = 38.66 mg/dL for TC, HDL-C, and LDL-C, 1 mmol/L = 88.6 mg/ dL for TG, 1 mmol/L=18 mg/dL for glucose, 1 pmol/L=0.167 mIU/L for insulin, and 1 mg/dL = 10 mg/L for CRP. For PLs, PC, PE, PI and Lyso-PC, 1µg/100ul=0.01 mg/mL. The statistical analyses to perform a meta-analysis and the funnel plots to evaluate publication bias were performed by RevMan software (version 5.4; Cochrane, London, United Kingdom) and Stata software (version 14.0; StataCorp, Texas, United States). The effects of SM supplementation were described by the mean difference (MD) with 95% CI. p < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. Before stratifying the indicators by dose, statistical heterogeneity across the included studies was assessed by using the I^2 value with 50% or higher regarded as high (45). In consideration of the heterogeneity of the included studies, effects models were chosen. The random-effects model was utilized to aggregate the data if I^2 > 50% and p < 0.05. Otherwise, the fixed-effects model was applied. In order to elucidate the underlying factors contributing to the observed heterogeneity, a subgroup analysis was performed based on the dosage of SM supplementation. Prescribed by stringent criteria for inclusion and exclusion, and based on the average daily intake of 300 mg to 400 mg sphingolipids (36), the subjects were divided into high and low dose SM intervention groups. The high dose group had a dose greater than 400 mg/day, while the low dose group had a dose less than or equal to 400 mg/day. Sensitivity analysis was used to determine the robustness and stability of the meta-analysis results by excluding (1) studies with a high risk of bias and (2) numerical outliers. Evidence of publication bias was assessed with the Egger's test using Stata if ten or more studies were included in each meta-analysis.

3 Results

3.1 Search results

The flowchart of retrieval process is shown in Figure 1, a total of 968 articles were retrieved from the 5 databases mentioned above, no more articles were found when searching the references' list. In all, 546 articles were examined after the removal of duplicates and records marked as ineligible by automation tools. Based on the titles and abstracts, an additional 508 studies were excluded as they were non-SM (n = 234), non-clinical (n = 147), no clear dosage (n = 27) and inconsistent with the aim of this research (n = 100). In addition, there were 3 articles with incomplete retrieval reports. Eventually, 35 full text articles left, which 25 of them were excluded based on the lack of

analyzable indicators (n = 10), infant participants (n = 5), patients with acute cancer (n = 4), and incomplete indicators (n = 6). Ultimately, a total of 10 RCT articles (37, 39–42, 46–50) were included in the final systematic review and meta-analysis with a total of 458 study subjects.

3.2 Quality assessment of the studies

According to Cochrane's criteria, the risk assessment of the included studies is shown in Figure 2. Overall, the quality of the articles is good. Only 1 article did not specify whether randomization grouping was used (47). For group concealment, 9 articles used the group concealment method in the experimental process, while only 1 article did not use it (47). Similarly, only 1 article in the included studies did not use the double-blind method (37). We also assessed whether there was bias in the study results. The quality of the studies was evaluated in terms of completeness of results, reporting bias, and information bias. All the studies had complete outcome data. Only 4 studies did not clearly describe the blinding of outcome assessment (39, 40, 46, 48). Five studies found that there were no reporting bias from various aspects (39, 41, 47, 49, 50), while 3 studies identified potential biases (41, 49, 50). These three articles are considered to pose other bias, such as information bias and measure bias. The GRADE evidence quality of the included studies is shown in Supplementary material 2. Among the 35 outcome indicators in the total, low and high dose subgroups of the same indicator, 20 indicators (SM, BF%, knee extension, DBP, TC-high dose subgroup, LDL-C-high dose subgroup, HDL-C-high dose subgroup, LDL-C/ HDL-C, LDL-C/HDL-C low dose subgroup, LDL-C/HDL-C high dose subgroup, ApoA, ApoB, PL, PC, Lyso-PC, insulin, HOMA-IR, AST, ALT and CRP) were of high quality and 14 indicators (BMI, MFCV, SBP, TC, TC-low dose subgroup, TG, TG low dose subgroup, TG high dose subgroup, LDL-C, LDL-C low dose subgroup, HDL-C, HDL-C low dose subgroup, PE, PI and glucose) were of medium quality. Taking the results of Cochrane's criteria and GRADE evidence together, the overall quality of this meta-analysis was of high quality.

3.3 Characteristics results of the included RCTs

The basic characteristics of the included studies with RCT design are shown in Table 1. A total of 448 participants were included in this meta-analysis and were published between 2003 and 2023. Among the 10 studies included, one survey was conducted in Switzerland, four in Japan, one in Canada, two in Germany, and two in France. Four of these investigations were reported from Asian countries, the others reports were from North America and European countries. All studies were conducted in developed countries. The SM supplementation was orally administered, without other conversion forms. The experimental group was given different dosages of milk SM, while the control group was given placebo with the same durations time. Confounding factors including age and gender were controlled in 10 studies. The summary of outcomes and results obtained from the 10 included RCTs are detailed in Table 2.

¹ https://gradepro.org/



3.4 Results of the meta-analyses

3.4.1 Impact of dietary SM on blood SM level

For the daily dietary SM intervention-based meta-analysis, Figure 3 displays the forest plot results for the MD in serum SM levels among adults without MetS from five RCTs. Squares represent the MD for RCTs, while line segments crossing the squares, which are aligned parallel to the X-axis, depict the 95% CIs. The pooled MD is represented by diamonds indicating the effect size and confidence interval of multiple studies combined. The result showed that the dietary SM intervention did not affect the blood SM level in healthy adults [MD: 0.01, 95% CI (-0.01, 0.02), p = 0.34].

3.4.2 Impact of dietary SM on anthropometric parameters and blood pressure

The effects of SM consumption on anthropometric parameters and blood pressure in adults without MetS are illustrated in Figures 4A–F. These

parameters include BMI, BF%, knee extension, MFCV, SBP and DBP. According to the findings, SM consumption significantly decreased DBP [MD: -3.31,95% CI (-4.03, -2.58), p < 0.00001], while significantly increased MFCV [MD: 1.21,95% CI (0.53, 1.88), p = 0.0005] when compared with the control group. It is noteworthy to mention that the DBP remained within the range of 70–80 mmHg even after the fall. There were no significant changes in BMI, BF%, knee extension and SBP.

3.4.3 Impact of dietary SM on blood lipid profile

Overall, dietary SM had little effect on blood lipid profile in adults without MetS, including TC, TG, LDL-C, HDL-C, LDL-C/ HDL-C, ApoB, and ApoA1, as shown in Figures 5A–G. The overall effects of dietary SM supplementation significantly decreased the blood TC [MD: -12.97, 95% CI: (-14.57, -11.38), p < 0.00001] and LDL-C [MD: -6.62, 95% CI: (-10.74, -2.49), p = 0.002] levels, and increased HDL-C level [MD:1.41, 95% CI: (0.94, 1.88), p < 0.00001]. Upon examining various concentrations, the



meta-analysis results indicated that low dose dietary SM intervention ($\leq 400 \text{ mg/day}$) significantly decreased in blood TC [MD: -13.37, 95% CI: (-15.01, -11.73), p < 0.00001] and LDL-C [MD: -7.78, 95% CI: (-13.55, -2.01), p = 0.008] levels, increased in HDL-C [MD:1.48, 95% CI: (1.01, 1.95), p < 0.00001] level, while the other blood lipid indicators were not affected. However, the high dose dietary SM treatment did not change in any parameter of the blood lipid profile.

3.4.4 Impact of dietary SM on blood phospholipid profile

The impacts of dietary SM supplementation on blood PLs, PC, lyso-PC, PE, and PI levels in adults without MetS are depicted in Figures 6A–E. Dietary SM intervention did not change the levels of PLs and Lyso-PC. The intake of SM slightly decreased the blood PC [MD: -0.05; 95% CI (-0.09, -0.01), p=0.008], PE [MD: -0.03; 95% CI (-0.03, -0.03)

–0.03), $p\!<\!0.0001]$ and PI [MD: –0.02; 95% CI (–0.03, –0.02), $p\!<\!0.0001]$ levels.

3.4.5 Impact of dietary SM on blood glycemic indices

Figures 7A–C shows the meta-analysis results of blood glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR in adults without MetS after dietary SM supplementation. The dietary SM supplementation did not affect the glucose level. On the other hand, SM intervention significantly decreased the insulin level [MD: -0.63; 95% CI (-0.96, -0.31), p=0.0001] and HOMA-IR [MD: -0.23; 95% CI (-0.31, -0.16), p<0.00001].

3.4.6 Impact of dietary SM on liver function biomarkers

Forest plots for the effects of dietary SM intervention on liver function biomarkers, AST, ALT and CRP in adults without MetS are

| Included studies | Country | NO. (I/C) | Treatment group | Control group | Daily Dose Equivalent (mg) | Duration Time (d) | Clinical outcomes |
|--------------------------|---------|-----------|--------------------|------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| Ohlsson et al. (37) | Sweden | 29/19 | SM | Placebo | 700 | 28 days | 3456789 |
| Keller et al. (47) | Japan | 14/0 | SM | Placebo | 700 or 1,400 | 30 days | 789011234567 |
| Conway et al. (46) | Canada | 17/17 | SM | Placebo | 23.62 | 56 days | 34567 |
| Keller et al. (39) | German | 19/20 | SM | Placebo | 750 | 42 days | 1234345670 |
| Ota et al. (40) | Japan | 22/22 | SM | Placebo | 38.1 | 70 days | 563482022 |
| Minegishi et al. (49) | Japan | 11/11 | SM | Placebo | 80.3 | 70 days | 036 |
| Weiland et al. (42) | German | 31/31 | SM | Placebo | 462 | 56 days | 1234345678922 2325 |
| Yoshinaka et al. (50) | Japan | 36/35 | SM | Placebo | 38.1 | 56 days | 343 |
| Vors et al. (41) | France | 38/18 | SM | Placebo | 24 or 65 | 28 days | 123345678922 |
| Barz et al. (48) | France | 39/19 | SM | Placebo | 750 or 1,250 | 28 days | 7890112 |

TABLE 1 Information of included studies.

No., numbers of participants; I, intervention group; C, control group; Outcome Indicators: ① SBP, systolic blood pressure; ② DBP, diastolic blood pressure; ③ BMI, body mass index; ④ BF%, body fat percentage; ③ Knee extension; ④ MFCV, muscle fiber conduction velocity; ⑦ SM, sphingomyelin; ⑧ PLs, total phospholipids; ⑨ Lyso-PC, Lyso-phosphatidyl cholines; ⑨ PC, phosphatidyl-ethanolamine; ⑫ PI, phosphatidyl-inositol; ⑲ TC, total cholesterol; ⑲ TG, triglyceride; ⑤ LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; ⑲ HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; ⑲ ADA, apolipoprotein A; ⑲ ApoB, apolipoprotein B; ⑳ Glucose; ⑳ insulin; ㉒ HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; ⑳ AST, aspartate transaminase; ⑳ ALT, alanine transaminease; ⑳ CRP, C-reactive protein.

shown in Figures 8A–C. The dietary SM supplementation did not significantly affect serum AST, ALT, and CRP levels.

3.5 Publication bias

Publication bias was assessed using funnel plots as shown in Figure 9. Funnel plots for serum SM, BF%, knee extension, MFCV, SBP, DBP, TC, TG, LDL-C, HDL-C, LDL-C/HDL-C, ApoB, ApoA1, PL, PC, Lyso-PC, PE, PI, glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR, AST, ALT, CRP are shown, and publication bias may be present. However, due to the small number of literatures included, the results of funnel plot may not be sufficient to fully prove publication bias.

4 Discussion

SM is found in the brain, plasma, skin, as well as in dietary sources such as dairy products, meat, eggs, aquatic products and soybeans (10). Sphingolipid metabolites are regarded as bioactive lipids and are involved in numerous crucial cellular processes, including cell survival, apoptosis, metabolism, immune cell trafficking, autophagy, and mitochondrial function (51). SM and its metabolites Cer, C1P, and S1P are involved in MetS-related pathophysiological processes, including CVDs, T2DM, inflammation, non-alcoholic fatty disease, and cancer (52). Whether exogenous SM positively or negatively affects human health deserved to be evaluated thoroughly. Our systemic review and meta-analyze of the RCT data first systematically examined the effects of dietary SM on metabolic indexes in adults according to PRISMA principles. By employing explicit data extraction techniques and conducting rigorous and comprehensive searches across multiple databases, this meta-analysis is distinguished by its comprehensive indicators in adults.

Our meta-analysis of RCTs showed that dietary SM supplementation did not affect the blood PLs and SM levels, as well as anthropometric markers including BMI and BF% in adults without MetS. Meanwhile, the dietary SM supplementation increased MFCV and improved neuromuscular functions in adults. As reported by Le Barz et al., the intervention group that received 750 or 1,250 mg/d dietary SM from milk showed no significant differences in the concentrations of serum SM, Cer and PLs when compared with the control group (48). One possible reason for this is that the majority of SM and its hydrolysate Cer could not be absorbed in their original form and hence, do not contribute to the chylomicron and plasma SM pools (33, 48). An early study indicated that approximately 40% of ingested SM might be excreted intact as SM, Cer or sphingosine in the feces (53). Large amounts of dietary SM remain in the intestine unabsorbed due to absorption barriers in adults, which is likely co-excreted with cholesterol (54). Dietary SM and its metabolites have been shown to inhibit cholesterol absorption in Caco-2 cells and animal studies (28-30), and substantially alter the metabolism of TG and TC in rats (31, 32). SM possesses a greater interface area and a more effective capacity for hydrogen bond formation in comparison to other PLs, which is critical for facilitating interactions between SM and other lipids within the cell membrane (55). The crucial intermolecular hydrogen bond is established through the interaction between the hydroxyl group of cholesterol and the 2-NH of SM. Additionally, the formation of intermolecular hydrogen bonds and a network by the phosphate oxygen and 3-OH between SM molecules may impede the release of cholesterol from these lipid complexes (56). By virtue of their strong affinity for cholesterol, SM impedes the transfer of micellar lipids to the enterocytes, and inhibits luminal hydrolysis and micellar solubilization (57). A four-week milk

TABLE 2 Outcomes and results of included studies.

| First Author, year | Baseline SM | Endline SM | Baseline Outcomes | Endline Outcomes | Conclusion |
|------------------------------------|--------------|--|---|---|--|
| year Ohlsson et al., 2009 (37) | | | TC: I: male: 187.89 ± 7.73 female: 181.70 ± 11.21 C: male: 173.58 ± 8.89 female: 172.81 ± 8.89 female: 172.81 ± 8.89 female: 101.89 ± 13.29 female: 81.51 ± 11.51 C: male: 85.06 ± 10.63 female: 59.36 ± 6.20 LDL-C: I: male: 127.96 ± 6.96 female: 119.46 ± 10.44 C: male: 114.05 ± 8.51 female: 103.61 ± 5.80 HDL-C: I: male: 51.80 ± 3.09 female: 51.80 ± 3.09 female: 51.80 ± 3.09 female: 2.09 ± 2.75 female: 2.00 ± 2.75 female: 1.49 ± 0.75 ApoB: I: male: 0.88 ± 0.05 female: 0.79 ± 0.05 female: 0.69 ± 0.03 ApoA 1: I: male: 1.39 ± 0.03 female: 1.51 ± 0.07 C: male: 1.37 ± 0.05 | TC: I: male: 189.05 ± 5.41 female: 179.77 ± 5.41 C: male: 177.06 ± 15.46 female: 178.59 ± 20.10 TG: I: male: 101.89 ± 7.08 female: 178.59 ± 20.10 TG: I: male: 101.89 ± 7.08 female: 88.68 ± 27.47 C: male: 101.00 ± 35.44 female: 67.96 ± 13.29 LDL-C: I: male: 129.51 ± 11.21 female: 67.96 ± 13.29 LDL-C: I: male: 129.51 ± 11.21 female: 67.96 ± 13.29 LDL-C: I: male: 129.51 ± 11.21 female: 107.86 ± 15.07 HDL-C: I: male: 51.42 ± 3.48 female: 57.26 ± 4.41 C: male: 52.58 ± 5.41 female: 72.68 ± 10.05 LDL-C/HDL-C: I: male: 2.42 ± 3.22 female: 2.03 ± 0.88 C: male: 2.42 ± 3.22 female: 1.48 ± 1.50 ApoB: I: male: 0.88 ± 0.03 female: 0.78 ± 0.01 C: male: 0.80 ± 0.08 female: 0.72 ± 0.01 ApoA 1: | Increased daily SM consumption had no discernible effect on fasting plasma lipids or lipoprotein levels. |
| | | | femalee:1.60±0.04 TC: C: 197.93±24.36 | female: 1.58 ± 0.07 TC: I: 700 mg/d: 182.47 ± 27.44 I: 1400 mg/d: 196.01 ± 30.54 TG: | After SM consumption, there was no significant change in TC, TG, LDL-C concentration and the LDL/ HDL ratio compared to baseline. |
| Keller et al., 2013 (47) | C: 0.46±0.08 | 700 mg/d: 0.45±0.10 1,400 mg/d: 0.48±0.07 | TG: C: 93.92±18.60 | I: 700 mg/d: 95.68 ± 26.58 I: 1400 mg/d: 98.35 ± 31.89 | |
| | | | LDL-C: C: 104.76±29.76 | LDL-C: I: 700 mg/d: 98.19 ± 26.67 I: 1400 mg/d: 110.56 ± 32.47 | |

TABLE 2 (Continued)

| First Author, year | Baseline SM | Endline SM | Baseline Outcomes | Endline Outcomes | Conclusion |
|--------------------------|--------------|-------------|--|---|--|
| | | | HDL-C: C: 68.04±18.17 | HDL-C: I: 700 mg/d: 62.62 ± 15.46 I: 1400 mg/d: 64.94 ± 16.23 | |
| | | | LDL-C/HDL-C: C: 1.74±1.02 | LDL-C/HDL-C: I: 700 mg/d: 1.72±0.86 I: 1400 mg/d: 1.86±0.93 | |
| | | | PLs: C: 2.23±0.34 | PLs: I: 700 mg/d: 2.27±0.44 I: 1400 mg/d: 2.35±0.36 | |
| | | | Lyso-PC: C: 0.07±0.04 | Lyso-PC: I: 700 mg/d: 0.08 ± 0.03 I: 1400 mg/d: 0.08 ± 0.05 | |
| | | | PC: C: 1.58±0.24 | PC: I: 700 mg/d: 1.59±0.36 I: 1400 mg/d: 1.65±0.30 | |
| | | | PE: C: 0.09±0.04 | PE: I: 700 mg/d: 0.12±0.05 I: 1400 mg/d: 0.11±0.05 | |
| | | | PI: C: 0.03±0.01 | PI: I: 700 mg/d: 0.03 ± 0.01 I: 1400 mg/d: 0.03 ± 0.01 | |
| Conway et al., 2013 (46) | | | TC: C: 227.32±35.95 | TC: I: 221.91±31.31 C: 228.87±36.34 | |
| | | | TG: C: 107.21±52.27 | TG: I: 102.78±41.64 C: 115.18±53.16 | The consumption of dietary SM may potentially lead to. |
| | | | LDL-C: C: 144.98 ± 26.68 | LDL-C: I: 138.79±24.74 C: 143.43±27.45 | decreased the serum TC, LDL-C and TG levels in both men and women, primarily by impeding the |
| | | | HDL-C: C: 60.70±18.56 | HDL-C: I: 62.63±16.62 C: 62.63±18.17 | absorption of cholesterol into the intestines |
| | | | LDL-C/HDL-C: C: 2.38±1.43 | LDL-C/HDL-C: I: 2.21 ± 1.49 C: 2.29 ± 1.51 | |
| | | | TC: I: 172.04±21.65 C: 170.10±22.43 | TC: I: 172.81±24.74 C: 178.60±23.19 | |
| Keller et al., 2014 (39) | I: 0.63±0.13 | I:0.58±0.08 | TG: I: 93.91 ± 44.3 C: 94.80 ± 43.41 | TG: I: 93.03 ± 37.21 C: 92.14 ± 37.21 | There was no significant difference in plasma SM and lipid profile after |
| | C: 0.61±0.11 | C:0.57±0.10 | LDL-C: I: 92.78±19.71 C: 90.46±20.10 | LDL-C: I: 92.79±17.78 C: 95.49±20.49 | the dietary SM consumption. |
| | | | HDL-C: I: 59.15±14.69 C: 57.99±15.07 | HDL-C: I: 59.53 ± 14.30 C: 61.86 ± 14.30 | |

| First Author, year | Baseline SM | Endline SM | Baseline Outcomes | Endline Outcomes | Conclusion |
|-----------------------|-------------|------------|----------------------|---------------------|--|
| | | | LDL-C/HDL-C: | LDL-C/HDL-C: | |
| | | | I: 1.56±1.34 | I: 1.56±1.24 | |
| | | | C: 1.55±1.33 | C: 1.54±1.43 | |
| | | | PLs: | PLs: | - |
| | | | I: 2.13±0.36 | I: 2.09 ± 0.29 | |
| | | | C: 2.12±0.33 | C: 2.09±0.35 | |
| | | | Lyso-PC: | Lyso-PC: | - |
| | | | I: 0.074±0.017 | I: 0.076±0.013 | |
| | | | C: 0.0069±0.015 | C: 0.072 ± 0.015 | |
| | | | PC: | PC: | - |
| | | | I: 1.28±0.23 | I: 1.27±0.18 | |
| | | | C: 1.28 ± 0.21 | C: 1.28±0.22 | |
| | | | PE: | PE: | - |
| | | | $I{:}0.08\pm0.03$ | $I: 0.10 \pm 0.02$ | |
| | | | C: 0.09 ± 0.02 | C: 0.10 ± 0.02 | |
| | | | PI: | PI: | |
| | | | I: 0.09 ± 0.02 | $I{:}~0.09\pm0.01$ | |
| | | | C: 0.08 ± 0.02 | C: 0.08 ± 0.02 | |
| | | | CRP: | CRP: | |
| | | | I: 1.97±2.65 | I: 1.50 ± 1.79 | |
| | | | C: 3.26±6.90 | C: 1.43 ± 1.48 | |
| | | | Knee extension: | Knee extension: | |
| | | | $I{:}~34.1\pm3.2$ | I: 37.1±3.8 | |
| | | | C: 32.2 ± 3.1 | C: 33.8 ± 3.2 | |
| | | | MFCV: | MFCV: | |
| | | | $I: 5.77 \pm 0.32$ | $I{:}5.58\pm0.39$ | |
| | | | C: 5.91 ± 0.39 | C: 4.17±0.45 | |
| | | | TC: | TC: | |
| | | | $I{:}219\pm9.8$ | I: 212 ± 7.5 | |
| | | | C: 206 ± 9.2 | C: 211 ± 9.9 | There were no clinically significant |
| | | | TG: | TG: | changes in BMI, glucose, blood pressure, serum profile and muscle |
| Ota et al., 2015 (40) | | | $I{:}104\pm9.4$ | I: 95 ± 8.6 | strength after the dietary SM-rich |
| | | | C: 132±12.7 | C: 109±10.9 | globular membrane protein |
| | | | Glucose: | Glucose: | consumption. |
| | | | I: 90.4 ± 2.13 | I: 88.6±1.96 | ··· · · · · · |
| | | | C: 93.3 ± 2.01 | C: 90.4 ± 2.22 | |
| | | | AST: | AST: | |
| | | | I: 22.1 ± 0.98 | $I{:}\ 22.7\pm1.06$ | |
| | | | C: 24.5±1.82 | C: 24.1 ± 1.52 | |
| | | | ALT: | ALT: | |
| | | | I: 20.1 ± 2.02 | I: 19.7±2.38 | |
| | | | C: 25.1 ± 4.33 | C: 22.9 ± 2.79 | |

| irst Author, rear | Baseline SM | Endline SM | Baseline Outcomes | Endline Outcomes | Conclusion |
|--------------------------|-------------|------------|--------------------------------|--|------------------------------------|
| | | | BF%: | BF%: | |
| | | | I: 25.2 ± 1.8 | $I{:}25.5\pm1.6$ | |
| | | | C: 25.8 ± 2.1 | C: 26.4 ± 2.22 | There were no overall changes in |
| the stability of a 2016 | | | Knee extension: | Knee extension: | BF%, while knee extension |
| linegishi et al., 2016 | | | I: 27.9 ± 2.5 | I: 32.3±2.6 | strength and MFCV markedly |
| 9) | | | C: 28.2 ± 2.0 | C: 29.6±2.1 | increased after the dietary SM-ric |
| | | | MFCV: | MFCV: | globular membrane protein |
| | | | I: 4.72±0.28 | I: 5.55±0.27 | consumption. |
| | | | C: 4.65±0.28 | C: 4.62 ± 0.32 | |
| | | | BMI: | BMI: | |
| | | | I: 30.7±1.9 | I: 30.4±2.0 | |
| | | | C: 30.9±2.9 | C: 30.8±2.8 | |
| | | | BF%: | BF%: | |
| | | | I: 31.2±2.6 | $1: 30.9 \pm 2.8$ | |
| | | | C: 30.8 ± 2.4 | $1: 30.9 \pm 2.8$ C: 30.3 ± 2.6 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | SBP: | SBP: | |
| | | | I: 139.6±21.6 | I: 135.3 ± 19.1 | |
| | | | C: 131.7±17.2 | C: 131.7±16.4 | |
| | | | DBP: | DBP: | |
| | | | I: 86.4 ± 10.6 | I: 84.0±11.0 | |
| | | | C: 82.7 ± 8.9 | C: 82.6±8.9 | |
| | | | TC: | TC: | |
| | | | I: 233.12 ± 31.70 | I: 228.10 ± 40.21 | |
| | | | C: 220.36 ± 36.34 | C: 221.14±39.82 | |
| | | | TG: | TG: | |
| | | | I: 129.36±70.88 | I: 132.90±56.70 | |
| | | | C: 124.93 ± 43.41 | C: 150.62±94.80 | |
| | | | LDL-C: I: 146.13±31.70 | LDL-C: I: 148.45 ± 34.41 | |
| | | | C: 138.40 ± 29.38 | C: 142.66±31.31 | |
| eiland et al., 2016 (42) | | | HDL-C: | HDL-C: | Consumption of SM-rich milk d |
| | | | I: 55.28 ± 12.76 | I: 54.90 ± 14.30 | not affect plasma lipid paramete |
| | | | C: 51.03 ± 13.14 | C: 50.26 ± 10.82 | |
| | | | LDL-C/HDL-C: | LDL-C/HDL-C: | |
| | | | I: 2.64 ± 2.48 | I: 2.70 ± 2.40 | |
| | | | C: 2.71 ± 2.23 | C: 2.84 ± 2.89 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | ApoB: | ApoB: | |
| | | | I: 1.28±0.27 | I: 1.27 ± 0.25 | |
| | | | C: 1.25±0.23 | C: 1.26±0.22 | |
| | | | ApoA1: | ApoA1: | |
| | | | I: 1.64±0.21 | I: 1.61±0.23 | |
| | | | C: 1.56±0.24 | C: 1.56±0.22 | |
| | | | Glucose: | Glucose: | |
| | | | I: 98.82 ± 11.88 | I: 97.56 ± 11.34 | |
| | | | C: 99.18 ± 8.46 | C: 96.30 ± 7.74 | |
| | | | | Inculia | |
| | | | Insulin: | Insulin: | |
| | | | Insulin: I: 14.87±8.78 | I: 15.45±9.07 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | I: 14.87±8.78 | I: 15.45±9.07 | |
| | | | I: 14.87±8.78 C: 17.40±8.55 | I: 15.45±9.07 C: 17.97±16.48 | |

| First Author, /ear | Baseline SM | Endline SM | Baseline Outcomes | Endline Outcomes | Conclusion |
|-----------------------|-------------|------------|---|--|-----------------------------------|
| | | | ALT: | ALT: | |
| | | | I: 17.5 ± 9.9 | I: 17.3±7.8 | |
| | | | C: 18.0±8.6 | C: 20.9±10.5 | |
| | | | AST: | AST: | |
| | | | $I{:}\ 25.0\pm7.1$ | $I{:}23.5{\pm}6.7$ | |
| | | | C: 26.2 ± 7.3 | C: 25.1 ± 6.2 | _ |
| | | | CRP: | CRP: | |
| | | | I: 2.53 ± 3.03 | I: 1.75 ± 1.47 | Ingestion of milk fat globular |
| oshinaka et al., 2018 | | | C: 2.19 ± 2.32 | C: 1.42 ± 1.30 | membrane containing SM had no |
| 50) | | | BMI: | BMI: | significant changes on BMI, BF% |
| | | | $I:21.6\pm3.1$ | $I{:}21.5\pm3.0$ | and knee extension. |
| | | | C: 21.8 ± 2.5 | $\text{C:}\ 21.7\pm2.4$ | |
| | | | BF%: | BF%: | |
| | | | I: 26.8±7.5 | I: 26.3 ± 7.4 | |
| | | | C: 26.7 ± 6.9 | C: 27.4±7.5 | |
| | | | Knee extension: | Knee extension: | |
| | | | I: 28.6±9.2 | I: 27.1±7.8 | |
| | | | C: 28.8±9.4 | C: 29.0±8.3 | |
| | | | BMI: | BMI: | |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d : 29.05 ± 0.58 | I: 24 mg/d: 29.03 ± 0.57 | |
| | | | 65 mg/d: 29.18 ± 0.56 | 65 mg/d: 29.06 ± 0.66 | |
| | | | C: 30.22±0.76 | C: 30.23±0.83 | |
| | | | SBP: | SBP: | |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d: 124.68 ± 4.17 | I: 24 mg/d: 123.05 ± 6.17 | |
| | | | $65 \text{ mg/d}: 124.47 \pm 3.94$ | $65 \text{ mg/d}: 120.26 \pm 6.82$ | |
| | | | C: 124.32±2.74 | C:119.53±5.02 | |
| | | | DBP: | DBP: | _ |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d: 76.21 ± 2.07 | I: 24 mg/d: 74.37 ± 3.94 | |
| | | | $65 \text{ mg/d}: 75.84 \pm 1.94$ | $65 \text{ mg/d}: 72.95 \pm 3.18$ | |
| | | | C: 71.68±2.28 | C: 72.52±3.97 | Consuming SM-rich milk can |
| | | | 0.71.00±2.20 | | lower cardiovascular lipid levels |
| ors et al., 2020 (41) | | | TC: | TC: | and improve heart health by |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d: 215.72 ± 7.73 | I: 24 mg/d: | decreasing several lipid |
| | | | 65 mg/d: 219.58 ± 9.28 | 207.60 ± 11.59 65 mg/d: 204.12 ± 12.75 | cardiovascular markers. |
| | | | C: 216.11±6.57 | C: 214.56 ± 10.44 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | TG: | TG: | |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d: 109.86 ± 9.74 | I: 24 mg/d: 108.98 ± 17.72 | |
| | | | 65 mg/d: 130.24 ± 11.52 | 108.98 ± 17.72 65 mg/d: 156.82 ± 7.08 | |
| | | | C: 109.86±7.08 | C: 119.61 ± 12.40 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | LDL-C: | LDL-C: | |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d: 136.86 ± 6.57 65 mg/d: 140.33 ± 7.34 | I: 24 mg/d: 130.28 ± 9.66 65 mg/d: 127.19 ± 10.44 | |
| | | | 65 mg/d: 140.33 ± 7.34 C: 143.04 ± 5.80 | 65 mg/d: 127.19 ± 10.44 C: 141.49 ± 8.89 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | HDL-C: | HDL-C: | |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d : 47.55 ± 1.93 | I: 24 mg/d : 46.01 ± 3.09 | |
| | | | 65 mg/d: 45.23 ± 2.32 C: 44.85 ± 1.93 | 65 mg/d: 47.55 ± 3.09 C: 44.07 ± 3.09 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | LDL-C/HDL-C: | LDL-C/HDL-C: | |
| | | | I: 24 mg/d : 2.88 ± 3.40 | I: 24 mg/d: 2.83 ± 3.12 | |
| | | | 65 mg/d: 3.10 ± 3.16 | 65 mg/d: 2.67 ± 3.38 | |

| First Author, year | Baseline SM | Endline SM | Baseline Outcomes | Endline Outcomes | Conclusion | |
|------------------------|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| | | | ApoB: I: 24 mg/d: 1.01±0.05 65 mg/d: 1.02±0.06 C: 24 mg/d 1.03±0.05 | ApoB: I: 24 mg/d: 0.07 ± 0.07 65 mg/d: 0.03 ± 0.09 C: 1.04 ± 0.07 | | |
| | | | ApoA1: I: 24 mg/d: 1.17 ± 0.02 65 mg/d: 1.19 ± 0.03 C: 1.16 ± 0.02 | ApoA1: I: 24 mg/d: 1.17±0.04 65 mg/d: 1.18±0.05 C: 1.15±0.04 | _ | |
| | | | Glucose: I: 24 mg/d: 91.98 ± 1.98 65 mg/d: 92.70 ± 1.8 C: 94.14 ± 1.8 | Glucose: I: 24 mg/d: 92.34±3.06 65 mg/d: 90.72±2.88 C: 93.60±3.06 | - | |
| | | | Insulin: I: 24 mg/d: 7.11±0.72 65 mg/d: 8.07±1.36 C:7.29±0.99 | Insulin: I: 24 mg/d: 7.05 ± 1.33 65 mg/d: 7.66 ± 2.26 C: 7.72 ± 1.62 | | |
| | | | HOMA-IR: I: 24 mg/d: 1.67 ± 0.19 65 mg/d: 1.82 ± 0.28 C: mg/d: 1.74 ± 0.26 | HOMA-IR: I: 24 mg/d: 1.64±0.33 65 mg/d: 1.72±0.46 C: 1.91±0.43 | | |
| | | | PLs: I: 750 mg/d: 2.20 ± 0.05 | PLs: I: 750 mg/d: 2.14±0.10 | | |
| | | | 1,250 mg/d: 2.30 ± 0.06 C: 2.28 ± 0.09 | 1,250 mg/d: 2.12±0.10 C: 2.21±0.14 | | |
| | | | Lyso-PC: I: 750 mg/d: 0.0899 ± 0.047 1,250 mg/d: 0.0938 ± 0.048 C: 0.0957 ± 0.063 | Lyso-PC: I: 750 mg/d: 0.089 ± 0.080 1,250 mg/d: 0.086 ± 0.082 C: 0.0925 ± 0.010 | | |
| Barz et al., 2021 (48) | I: 750 mg/d: 0.43 ± 0.015 1,250 mg/d: 0.422 ± 0.018 | I: 750 mg/d: 0.413±0.027 1,250 mg/d: 0.395±0.027 | PC: I: 750 mg/d: 1.44 ± 0.04 $1,250$ mg/d: 1.54 ± 0.04 C: 1.50 ± 0.05 | PC: I: 750 mg/d: 1.40 ± 0.07 $1,250$ mg/d: 1.42 ± 0.07 C: 1.48 ± 0.09 | Supplementation with SM-rich milk was associated with a reduction in atherogenic SM and Cer species, which improved | |
| | C: 0.436±0.017 | C: 0.407±0.029 | PE: I: 750 mg/d: 0.052 ± 0.0031 1,250 mg/d: 0.054 ± 0.0028 C: 0.049 ± 0.0036 | PE: I: 750 mg/d: 0.048 ± 0.0059 1,250 mg/d: 0.052 ± 0.0047 C: 0.048 ± 0.0052 | cardiovascular risk markers. | |
| | | | PI: I: 750 mg/d: 0.195±0.016 1,250 mg/d: 0.188±0.016 C: 0.192±0.019 | PI: I: 750 mg/d: 0.18±0.029 1,250 mg/d: 0. 17±0.032 C: 0.181±0.031 | | |

No, number of participants; I, intervention group; C, control group; Outcome Indicators: SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; BMI, body mass index; BF%, body fat percentage; Knee extension; MFCV, muscle fiber conduction velocity; SM, sphingomyelin; PLs, phospholipids; Lyso-PC, Lyso-phosphatidyl cholines; PC, phosphatidyl cholines; PE, phosphatidyl-ethanolamine; PI, phosphatidyl-inositol; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C/ HDL-C; Glucose; Insulin; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; AST, aspartate transaminase; ALT, alanine transaminease; CRP, C-reactive protein.



(F) DBP.

SM intervention resulted in a significant increase in fecal SM and Cer in comparison to the control group (48). It is unknown whether this is the result of decreased SM synthesis in enterocytes or liver following dietary SM intervention. Alternatively, the size of the body's total SM pool is large enough that the absorbed amount of dietary SM is an insignificant fraction of it. Whether any of these hypotheses is true remains to be determined.

The basic and clinical researchers agree that milk SM provides protection against dysfunctional lipid metabolism, intestinal dysbiosis, and inflammation (55). It is noteworthy that the inhibitory effect of SM derived from milk on cholesterol absorption surpasses that of SM derived from eggs. This disparity may be attributed to the presence of longer chain and greater degree of saturation of the fatty acyl group in the milk SM than that in the egg ones (55, 58). Milk SM has substantial proportion of very-long chain fatty acids (C22:0-C24:0) and diverse sphingoid bases (d16:0 to d19:0) (34, 57). Dietary SM is hydrolyzed in the intestinal mucosa by alkaline sphingomyelinase to Cer, and phosphorylcholine. Cer is subsequently hydrolyzed by neutral ceramidase and bile salt-stimulated lipase into sphingosine and fatty acids, which are then absorbed into the enterocytes. The majority of sphingosine is either dephosphorylated to generate S1P by sphingosine kinase, or to a lesser degree, form new Cer and SM (10). Multiple studies have demonstrated that distinct cellular functions can be carried out by various Cer species, contingent upon the fatty acyl chains that they contain (59). During the progression of T2DM and NAFLD, C16-Cer and C18-Cer species are thought to be generated de novo and deleterious in the liver and muscle tissues (60-63). On the contrary, Cer denoted as C22:0-, C24:1, and C24:0- are more widely regarded as having beneficial and protective effects on cells, particularly in the liver (62, 64-66). Research has demonstrated that mice with a deficiency in the Cer synthase 2, which is accountable for producing C24:1, C22:0-, and C24:0-Cer, were more susceptible to diet-induced hepatic steatohepatitis and developed insulin resistance (62). Le Barz et al. discovered that the atherogenic C16-SM, C18-SM, and C24:1-Cer species in serum were significantly reduced by the milk SM intervention, which leads to significant increases in the proportions of C22:0-SM, C24:0-SM, C22:0-Cer, and C24:0-Cer species (48). This might be attributed to the beneficial effects of milk SM.

According to Ramprasath et al., with the exception of an elevated HDL-C concentration, the blood lipid profile in humans remains unaffected by the consumption of 1 g/day of dietary SM. Additionally, cholesterol absorption, synthesis, and intraluminal solubilization remain unaffected when compared to the control group (38). However, our meta-analysis results showed that a low dose of dietary SM intervention ($\leq 400 \text{ mg/day}$) significantly reduced the blood TC and LDL-C levels, and increased HDL-C level. The levels of TG, LDL-C/ HDL-C, ApoB, and ApoA1 were not changed. Interestingly, the high dose dietary SM treatment did not change the lipid profile. Animal experiments have shown that dietary SM supplementation has no effect on atherosclerosis or circulating SM levels in HFD apoE^{-/-} mice, but it inhibits atherosclerosis in chow-fed apo $E^{-/-}$ mice (27). It is possible that the effects of dietary SM derived from milk on the lipid profile depends on other components in the diet. Alternatively, there is an interaction between the dietary SM and dietary energy content (37). The lack of response in the high dietary SM group could be due to a mechanism that induces excretion of SM in the feces or blocks absorptions of sphingosine when more SM is present in the gastrointestine tract. Whether this mechanism exists remains to be tested.

Circulating Cer has been linked to the development of atherosclerosis and CVDs over the past decade (67). The conversion of SM in the blood LDL-C particles to Cer by sphingomyelinase facilitates Cer aggregation. The increases in SM levels were associated with an early onset of atherosclerosis (68-70). Cer may undergo phosphorylation to form C1P, which promotes inflammation via oxidative stress or tumor necrosis factor- α and causes apoptosis and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (71, 72). Additionally, hydrolysis of Cer can produce sphingosine, which can be phosphorylated to produce S1P (10). Conversely, S1P has been thought to prevent apoptosis and linked to cellular proliferation and growth (73). The elevated concentration of S1P in the bloodstream serves vital homeostatic roles in preserving the integrity of blood vessels, while the S1P gradient is indispensable for the movement of immune cells (51). Research has indicated that impairments of fatty acid oxidation can be attributed to disturbances in sphingolipid metabolism, where Cer and S1P may play a role (74). The dogma is that accumulation of Cer is detrimental, whereas accumulation of S1P is advantageous (74, 75). So far, there is no discernible impact of dietary SM on blood SM and Cer levels. Therefore, more clinical studies are required to monitor its effects on the endogenous S1P and sphingolipidome in the bloodstream and along the gastrointestinal tract in humans.

A BMI

| | Exp | erimen | ital | С | ontrol | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------|----------|-----------|-----------|---------|--------|----------------------|---|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | t IV, Random, 95% CI | IV, Random, 95% CI |
| Vors et al 2020 | -0.12 | 0.1 | 20 | 0.01 | 0.07 | 19 | 49.4% | -0.13 [-0.18, -0.08] | |
| Vors et al 2020 | -0.02 | 0.09 | 19 | 0.01 | 0.07 | 19 | 50.3% | -0.03 [-0.08, 0.02] | • |
| Yoshinaka et al 2018 | -0.01 | 4.31 | 36 | -0.01 | 3.46 | 35 | 0.2% | 0.00 [-1.82, 1.82] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 75 | | | 73 | 100.0% | -0.08 [-0.17, 0.01] | • |
| Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0 | .00; Chi ² | = 6.94 | , df = 2 | (P = 0.0) | 03); l² : | = 71% | | | -2 -1 0 1 2 |
| Test for overall effect: Z | = 1.72 (| P = 0.0 | 9) | | | | | | -2 -1 0 1 2 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| BF% | | | | | | | | | |
| | Expe | rimenta | al | Co | ntrol | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD [·] | Total | Mean | SD | Total 1 | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% CI | IV, Fixed, 95% CI |
| Minegishi et al 2016 | 0.03 | 2.4 | 11 | 0.06 | 3.05 | 11 | 81.5% | -0.03 [-2.32, 2.26] | |
| Yoshinaka et al 2018 | -0.05 | 10.53 | 36 | 0.07 1 | 10.19 | 35 | 18.5% | -0.12 [-4.94, 4.70] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 47 | | | 46 | 100.0% | -0.05 [-2.12, 2.02] | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Heterogeneity: Chi² = 0.00, df = 1 (P = 0.97); l² = 0% Test for overall effect: Z = 0.04 (P = 0.96)

-4 -2 0 2 4 Favours [experimental] Favours [control]

c Knee extension

| | Exp | eriment | tal | Control | | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---------|-------|-------|--------|---------------------|--|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% CI | IV, Fixed, 95% CI |
| Minegishi et al 2016 | 4.4 | 3.6 | 11 | 1.4 | 2.9 | 11 | 45.7% | 3.00 [0.27, 5.73] | _ |
| Ota et al 2015 | 3 | 4.97 | 22 | 1.6 | 4.45 | 22 | 43.9% | 1.40 [-1.39, 4.19] | |
| Yoshinaka et al 2018 | -1.5 | 12.06 | 36 | 0.02 | 12.53 | 35 | 10.4% | -1.52 [-7.24, 4.20] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 69 | | | 68 | 100.0% | 1.83 [-0.02, 3.67] | • |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 2.1 | 1, df = 2 | ? (P = 0. | 35); l² : | = 5% | | | | | -10 -5 0 5 10 |
| Test for overall effect: Z = | = 1.94 (F | P = 0.05 |) | | | | | | Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |

D MFCV

| | | Expe | erimen | tal | Control | | Mean Difference | | Mean Difference | |
|----------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|---------|-----------|----------|---------|-----------------|--------|--------------------|--|
| Study or Sul | ogroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Random, 95% CI | IV, Random, 95% CI |
| Minegishi et a | al 2016 | 0.83 | 0.39 | 11 | -0.03 | 0.42 | 11 | 49.7% | 0.86 [0.52, 1.20] | |
| Ota et al 20 |)15 | -0.19 | 0.5 | 22 | -1.74 | 0.58 | 22 | 50.3% | 1.55 [1.23, 1.87] | |
| Total (95% C | :1) | | | 33 | | | 33 | 100.0% | 1.21 [0.53, 1.88] | |
| Heterogeneit | y: Tau ² = 0 | .21; Chi ² | = 8.42 | 2, df = 1 | (P = 0.) | 004); I | ² = 88% | 6 | 1 | -2 -1 0 1 2 |
| Test for overa | all effect: Z | = 3.50 (| P = 0.0 | 0005) | | | | | | Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |

E SBP

| | Expe | erimen | tal | Control | | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
|-----------------------------------|----------|--------|-------------|---------|------|-------|--------|--------------------|--|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Random, 95% CI | IV, Random, 95% CI |
| Vors et al 2020 | -4.21 | 2.88 | 20 | -4.79 | 2.28 | 19 | 48.5% | 0.58 [-1.05, 2.21] | |
| Vors et al 2020 | -1.63 | 2 | 19 | -4.79 | 2.28 | 19 | 51.5% | 3.16 [1.80, 4.52] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 39 | | | 38 | 100.0% | 1.91 [-0.62, 4.44] | |
| Heterogeneity: Tau ² = | | | -4 -2 0 2 4 | | | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: | Z = 1.48 | (P = 0 | .14) | | | | | | Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |

F DBP

| | Expe | erimen | tal | С | ontrol | | | Mean Difference | | Mean I | Difference | | |
|---|-------|--------|-------|------|--------|-------|--------|----------------------|--------------|-------------------------|----------------|----------------|----|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% CI | | IV, Fix | ed, 95% CI | | |
| Vors et al 2020 | -1.84 | 1.87 | 19 | 0.84 | 1.69 | 19 | 40.5% | -2.68 [-3.81, -1.55] | | | | | |
| Vors et al 2020 | -2.89 | 1.24 | 20 | 0.84 | 1.69 | 19 | 59.5% | -3.73 [-4.66, -2.80] | | | | | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 39 | | | 38 | 100.0% | -3.31 [-4.03, -2.58] | | . 🔶 | | | |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = Test for overall effect: | | , | , | | % | | | | -10 Favou | -5 Irs [experimental | 0] Favours | 5 [control] | 10 |

FIGURE 4

Forest plots for the effects of sphingomyelin (SM) on anthropometric parameters and blood pressure in adults without metabolic syndrome (MetS). (A) BMI, body mass index; (B) BF%, body fat percentage; (C) Knee extension; (D) MFCV, muscle fiber conduction velocity; (E) SBP, systolic blood pressure; (F) DBP, diastolic blood pressure. The horizontal bar represents the 95% confidence interval (CI). The magnitude of the rectangle at the center of the horizontal bar is proportional to the weight of the provided study. As indicated by the diamond at the bottom, the pooled mean difference (MD) is present.



Another thing worth noting in this meta-analysis is that dietary SM supplementation reduced insulin levels and HOMA-IR, but did not affect blood glucose or inflammatory response factors. This might be related to

the fact that dietary SM does not significantly affect serum SM, Cer, and PL concentrations (48). Congestive complications such as retinopathy, neuropathy, stroke, myocardial infarction, and arteritis of the lower limbs

E LDL-C/HDL-C



Experimental Control Mean Difference Mean Difference Study or Subgroup SD Total SD Total Weight IV, Fixed, 95% CI IV, Fixed, 95% CI Mean Mean 0.06 20 0.01 0.094 65.2% -0.01 [-0.07, 0.05] Ohlsson et al. - 2009 0 13 Ohlsson et al. - 2009 -0.04 0.06 9 0.03 0.1 6 27.1% -0.07 [-0.16, 0.02] Weiland et al. - 2016 0.36 -0.01 0.31 -0.01 31 31 7.7% 0.00 [-0.17, 0.17] Total (95% CI) 60 50 100.0% -0.03 [-0.07, 0.02] Heterogeneity: Chi² = 1.33, df = 2 (P = 0.52); l² = 0% -0.1 -0.05 Ó 0.05 0.1 Test for overall effect: Z = 1.08 (P = 0.28) Favours [control] Favours [experimental]

G ApoA1

| | Expe | erimen | tal | с | ontrol | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
|-------------------------------------|----------|--------|-------|---------------------|--------|-------|--------|----------------------|--|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% Cl | IV, Fixed, 95% CI |
| Ohlsson et al 2009 | -0.03 | 0.08 | 9 | -0.02 | 0.08 | 6 | 28.5% | -0.01 [-0.09, 0.07] | |
| Ohlsson et al 2009 | -0.05 | 0.05 | 20 | 0.01 | 0.1 | 13 | 56.7% | -0.06 [-0.12, -0.00] | |
| Weiland et al 2016 | -0.03 | 0.06 | 31 | 0 | 0.32 | 31 | 14.8% | -0.03 [-0.14, 0.08] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 60 | | | 50 | 100.0% | -0.04 [-0.09, 0.00] | |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = (| | | | I ² = 0% | | | | | -0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2 |
| Test for overall effect: | Z = 1.83 | (P = 0 | .07) | | | | | | Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |

FIGURE 5

Forest plots for the effects of sphingomyelin (SM) on blood lipid profile in adults without metabolic syndrome (MetS). (A) TC, total cholesterol; (B) TG, triglyceride; (C) LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; (D) HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; (E) LDL-C/HDL-C; (F) ApoB, apolipoprotein B; (G) ApoA1, apolipoprotein A1. The horizontal bar represents the 95% confidence interval (CI). The magnitude of the rectangle at the center of the horizontal bar is proportional to the weight of the provided study. As indicated by the diamond at the bottom, the pooled mean difference (MD) is present.

are all possible outcomes of T2DM (76). Studies have shown significant associations between increased levels of circulating Cer and insulin resistance as well as T2DM (25, 77–80). Jensen et al. discovered a positive link between elevated blood levels of Cer and C16-lactosyl-Cer and increased glucose levels. However, no significant associations were detected between SM and glucose levels (80). An intriguing study also shows that diabetic patients had higher circulating Cer levels than nondiabetic individuals (77). In contrast to blood Cer, which is found in conjunction with LDL and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), plasma S1P is bound to both albumin and apolipoprotein M, which associates preferentially with HDL (75). In addition to elevated levels of LDL-Cer, obesity and diabetes are correlated with reduced HDL-S1P levels. It has been demonstrated that LDL-Cer inhibits insulin signaling in muscle, while HDL-S1P improves insulin signaling and enhances the function and survival of pancreatic cells (77, 81, 82). HDL-S1P and LDL-Cer exhibit contrasting effects on the progression of T2DM (76). Hence, the process of interconversion among these sphingolipid species is subject to strict regulation. Even a minor disruption in anabolism, catabolism, or substrate accessibility can result in the atypical accumulation of one or more sphingolipid species, thereby causing an imbalanced supply of fatty acids within the metabolic system (83). As a result, changes in the profiles and concentrations of sphingolipids have emerged as a crucial area of
A PLs

| | Expe | rimen | tal | C | ontrol | | | Mean Difference | | Mean | Difference | | |
|---|----------|--------|-------|-------|--------|-------|--------|----------------------|-------|-----------------|-----------------------------|-------------|-----|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% C | | IV, Fi | ked, 95% C | :1 | |
| Keller et al 2013 | 2.27 | 0.44 | 14 | 2.23 | 0.34 | 14 | 4.0% | 0.04 [-0.25, 0.33] | | | | | |
| Keller et al 2013 | 2.35 | 0.36 | 14 | 2.23 | 0.34 | 14 | 5.0% | 0.12 [-0.14, 0.38] | | | | | |
| Keller et al 2014 | -0.04 | 0.46 | 19 | -0.03 | 0.48 | 20 | 3.9% | -0.01 [-0.31, 0.29] | | | - | | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.06 | 0.11 | 19 | -0.07 | 0.16 | 19 | 44.4% | 0.01 [-0.08, 0.10] | | _ | - | | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.18 | 0.12 | 20 | -0.07 | 0.16 | 19 | 42.6% | -0.11 [-0.20, -0.02] | | | - | | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 86 | | | 86 | 100.0% | -0.04 [-0.09, 0.02] | | • | | | |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 5.40, df = 4 (P = 0.25); l ² = 26% Test for overall effect: Z = 1.19 (P = 0.24) | | | | | | | | | | | 0 | 0.25 | 0.5 |
| rest for overall effect. | 2 - 1.19 | (P - 0 | .24) | | | | | | Favou | rs [experimenta | Favours | s [control] | |

В

| | Expe | erimen | tal | С | ontrol | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
|---|-------|--------|-------|-------|--------|-------|--------|----------------------|---|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% CI | IV, Fixed, 95% CI |
| Keller et al 2013 | 1.59 | 0.36 | 14 | 1.58 | 0.24 | 14 | 2.9% | 0.01 [-0.22, 0.24] | |
| Keller et al 2013 | 1.65 | 0.3 | 14 | 1.58 | 0.24 | 14 | 3.6% | 0.07 [-0.13, 0.27] | |
| Keller et al 2014 | -0.01 | 0.29 | 19 | 0 | 0.3 | 20 | 4.3% | -0.01 [-0.20, 0.18] | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.12 | 0.08 | 20 | -0.02 | 0.1 | 19 | 45.1% | -0.10 [-0.16, -0.04] | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.04 | 0.08 | 19 | -0.02 | 0.1 | 19 | 44.2% | -0.02 [-0.08, 0.04] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 86 | | | 86 | 100.0% | -0.05 [-0.09, -0.01] | • |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 5.80, df = 4 (P = 0.21); l ² = 31% | | | | | | | | | -0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2 |
| Test for overall effect: Z = 2.64 (P = 0.008) | | | | | | | | | -0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |

c Lyso-PC

PC

| | Experimental | | Control | | | Mean Difference | | Mean Difference | |
|-------------------------------------|--------------|---------|---------|-------|--|-----------------|--------|---------------------|-------------------|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% CI | IV, Fixed, 95% CI |
| Keller et al 2013 | 0.08 | 0.03 | 14 | 0.07 | 0.04 | 14 | 17.0% | 0.01 [-0.02, 0.04] | - - |
| Keller et al 2013 | 0.08 | 0.05 | 14 | 0.07 | 0.04 | 14 | 10.4% | 0.01 [-0.02, 0.04] | |
| Keller et al 2014 | 0.002 | 0.021 | 19 | 0.003 | 0.021 | 20 | 67.2% | -0.00 [-0.01, 0.01] | – |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | 0 | 0.09 | 19 | -0.03 | 0.063 | 19 | 4.8% | 0.03 [-0.02, 0.08] | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.08 | 0.3 | 20 | -0.03 | 0.063 | 19 | 0.6% | -0.05 [-0.18, 0.08] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 86 | | | 86 | 100.0% | 0.00 [-0.01, 0.01] | · · · • · · · |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 2 | | , | | | -0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2 | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: | Z = 0.58 | (P = 0. | 56) | | Favours [experimental] Favours [control] | | | | |

D

PE

| | Exp | erimen | tal | (| Control | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
|--|----------|----------|---------|-----------------------|---------|-------|--------|----------------------|---|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% CI | IV, Fixed, 95% Cl |
| Keller et al 2013 | 0.12 | 0.05 | 14 | 0.09 | 0.04 | 14 | 0.5% | 0.03 [-0.00, 0.06] | |
| Keller et al 2013 | 0.11 | 0.05 | 14 | 0.09 | 0.04 | 14 | 0.5% | 0.02 [-0.01, 0.05] | |
| Keller et al 2014 | 0.02 | 0.036 | 19 | 0.01 | 0.03 | 20 | 1.3% | 0.01 [-0.01, 0.03] | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.04 | 0.006 | 19 | 0 | 0.0054 | 19 | 43.8% | -0.04 [-0.04, -0.04] | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.02 | 0.005 | 20 | 0 | 0.0054 | 19 | 53.9% | -0.02 [-0.02, -0.02] | • |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 86 | | | 86 | 100.0% | -0.03 [-0.03, -0.03] | • |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = | 97.07, d | f = 4 (P | < 0.000 | -0.1 -0.05 0 0.05 0.1 | | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: Z = 22.77 (P < 0.00001) | | | | | | | | | -0.1 -0.05 0 0.05 0.1 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |

ΡI

Е

| 11 | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------------|----------|-----------|--------------------|----------|---------|-------|--------|----------------------|--|
| | Exp | erimen | tal | | Control | | | Mean Difference | Mean Difference |
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Fixed, 95% C | I IV. Fixed, 95% CI |
| Keller et al 2013 | 0.03 | 0.01 | 14 | 0.03 | 0.01 | 14 | 8.8% | 0.00 [-0.01, 0.01] | + |
| Keller et al 2013 | 0.03 | 0.01 | 14 | 0.03 | 0.01 | 14 | 8.8% | 0.00 [-0.01, 0.01] | + |
| Keller et al 2014 | 0.02 | 0.036 | 19 | 0.01 | 0.03 | 20 | 1.1% | 0.01 [-0.01, 0.03] | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.04 | 0.006 | 19 | 0 | 0.0054 | 19 | 36.5% | -0.04 [-0.04, -0.04] | |
| Le Barz et al 2021 | -0.02 | 0.005 | 20 | 0 | 0.0054 | 19 | 44.9% | -0.02 [-0.02, -0.02] | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 86 | | | 86 | 100.0% | -0.02 [-0.03, -0.02] | • |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = | 171.01, | df = 4 (F | > < 0.00 | 0001); l | ² = 98% | | | | -0.1 -0.05 0 0.05 0.1 |
| Test for overall effect: | Z = 20.9 | 8 (P < 0 | 0.0000 | 1) | | | | | Favours [experimental] Favours [control] |

FIGURE 6

Forest plots for the effects of sphingomyelin (SM) on blood phospholipid levels in adults without metabolic syndrome (MetS). (A) PLs, total phospholipids; (B) PC, phosphatidyl cholines; (C) Lyso-PC, Lyso-phosphatidyl cholines; (D) PE, phosphatidyl-ethanolamine; (E) PI, phosphatidyl-inositol. The horizontal bar represents the 95% confidence interval (CI). The magnitude of the rectangle at the center of the horizontal bar is proportional to the weight of the provided study. As indicated by the diamond at the bottom, the pooled mean difference (MD) is present.





bottom, the pooled mean difference (MD) is present.



FIGURE 9

Sensitivity analysis plot. (A) Serum SM, Serum sphingomyelin; (B) SBP, systolic blood pressure; (C) DBP, diastolic blood pressure; (D) BMI, body mass index, (E) BF%, body fat percentage; (F) Knee extension; (G) MFCV, muscle fiber conduction velocity; (H) TC, total cholesterol; (I) TG, triglyceride; (J) LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; (K) HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; (L) LDL-C/HDL-C, (M) ApoA, apolipoprotein A; (N) ApoB, apolipoprotein B; (O) PLs, phospholipids; (P) Lyso-PC, Lyso-phosphatidyl choline; (Q) PC, phosphatidyl choline; (R) PE, Phosphatidyl-ethanolamine; (S) PI, Phosphatidyl-inositol; (T) glucose; (U) insulin; (V) HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; (W) AST, aspartate transaminase; (X) ALT, alanine transaminease; (Y) CRP, C-reactive protein. Fixed effects model: (A,C,E,F,L–N,P,Q,U–Y). Random effects model: (B,D,G–K,O,R–T).

study in MetS research. It is very interesting to find that dietary SM supplementation can reduce blood insulin level. Whether this can be attributed to the abundant long-chain fatty acyl groups in Cer derived from milk SM remains to be analyzed. In addition, whether this reduced insulin level is due to the reduction of insulin secretion or an increase in insulin clearance is also deserved to be investigated.

Nevertheless, the current meta-analysis has a few limitations. Due to the limited number of articles included, the number of participants may not have been sufficient to create a relatively large sample size, thereby increasing the type-2 statistical error. The absence of waist circumference data for anthropometric parameters is the second issue of this study. Furthermore, in some of the included RCTs, the intervention group was given a diet or beverage that various doses of SM supplementation were based on normal intakes. A comprehensive stratified analysis of the blood lipid profile was conducted. However, the dose–response relationship between supplementation and biomarkers including anthropometric parameters, glycemia aspect, and inflammatory response factors could not be determined. Therefore, further comprehensive prospective investigations are required to examine the impact of dietary SM supplementation on the sphingolipidome and Cer-S1P in the gastrointestinal tract and bloodstream. Finally, sample size, intervention period, or other factors in this meta-analysis may also be source of heterogeneity, and stratified analyzes of these factors are also necessary.

5 Conclusion

In summary, dietary SM supplementation did not have a detrimental effect on metabolic indexes in adults without MetS, but had a protective effect on blood lipid profiles and insulin level. From the analysis results of the forest map, dietary SM supplementation can improve DBP, levels of TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, and insulin, and HOMA-IR. However, it does not affect BMI, SBP, and levels of TG, LDL-C/HDL-C and glucose. Therefore, dietary SM may serve as a protective factor for MetS, which needs to be confirmed via further clinical trials and basic research.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

C-ZL: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Software, Validation, Writing – original draft. L-MW: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Validation, Writing – original draft. C-XZ: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Writing – original draft. H-YD: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Software, Writing – original draft. G-XC: Data curation, Project administration, Supervision, Validation, Writing – review & editing. FY: Conceptualization, Data curation, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Resources, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

References

1. Saklayen MG. The global epidemic of the metabolic syndrome. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2018) 20:12. doi: 10.1007/s11906-018-0812-z

2. Ranasinghe P, Mathangasinghe Y, Jayawardena R, Hills AP, Misra A. Prevalence and trends of metabolic syndrome among adults in the asia-pacific region: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. (2017) 17:101. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4041-1

3. Chae J, Seo MY, Kim SH, Park MJ. Trends and risk factors of metabolic syndrome among Korean adolescents, 2007 to 2018. *Diabetes Metab J.* (2021) 45:880–9. doi: 10.4093/dmj.2020.0185

4. Saffari F, Jalilolghadr S, Esmailzadehha N, Azinfar P. Metabolic syndrome in a sample of the 6- to 16-year-old overweight or obese pediatric population: a comparison of two definitions. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2012) 8:55–63. doi: 10.2147/tcrm.S26673

5. Esposito K, Chiodini P, Colao A, Lenzi A, Giugliano D. Metabolic syndrome and risk of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*. (2012) 35:2402–11. doi: 10.2337/dc12-0336

6. Ford ES. Risks for all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes associated with the metabolic syndrome: a summary of the evidence. *Diabetes Care*. (2005) 28:1769–78. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.7.1769

7. Pucci G, Alcidi R, Tap L, Battista F, Mattace-Raso F, Schillaci G. Sex- and genderrelated prevalence, cardiovascular risk and therapeutic approach in metabolic syndrome: a review of the literature. *Pharmacol Res.* (2017) 120:34–42. doi: 10.1016/j. phrs.2017.03.008

8. Fahed G, Aoun L, Bou Zerdan M, Allam S, Bou Zerdan M, Bouferraa Y, et al. Metabolic syndrome: updates on pathophysiology and management in 2021. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:786. doi: 10.3390/ijms23020786

9. Fathi Dizaji B. The investigations of genetic determinants of the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Metab Syndr*. (2018) 12:783-9. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2018.04.009

10. Yang F, Chen G. The nutritional functions of dietary sphingomyelin and its applications in food. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:1002574. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1002574

11. Lupattelli G, De Vuono S, Mannarino E. Patterns of cholesterol metabolism: pathophysiological and therapeutic implications for dyslipidemias and the metabolic syndrome. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2011) 21:620–7. doi: 10.1016/j. numecd.2011.04.010

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The work was supported by the Scientific Research Plan of Hubei Provincial Health Commission (grant number: WJ2021Q050).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024.1363077/ full#supplementary-material

12. Goedeke L, Fernández-Hernando C. Regulation of cholesterol homeostasis. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2012) 69:915–30. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0857-5

13. Norris GH, Blesso CN. Dietary and endogenous sphingolipid metabolism in chronic inflammation. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1180. doi: 10.3390/nu9111180

14. Chen X, Sun A, Zou Y, Ge J, Lazar JM, Jiang XC. Impact of sphingomyelin levels on coronary heart disease and left ventricular systolic function in humans. *Nutr Metab* (*Lond*). (2011) 8:25. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-8-25

15. Goñi FM. Sphingomyelin: what is it good for? *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2022) 633:23-5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2022.08.074

16. Iqbal J, Walsh MT, Hammad SM, Hussain MM. Sphingolipids and lipoproteins in health and metabolic disorders. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2017) 28:506–18. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2017.03.005

17. Lambert JM, Anderson AK, Cowart LA. Sphingolipids in adipose tissue: What's tipping the scale? *Adv Biol Regul.* (2018) 70:19–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jbior.2018.10.002

18. Ross JS, Russo SB, Chavis GC, Cowart LA. Sphingolipid regulators of cellular dysfunction in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systems overview. *Clin Lipidol.* (2014) 9:553–69. doi: 10.2217/clp.14.37

19. Jiang XC, Paultre F, Pearson TA, Reed RG, Francis CK, Lin M, et al. Plasma sphingomyelin level as a risk factor for coronary artery disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2000) 20:2614–8. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.20.12.2614

20. Ichi I, Nakahara K, Miyashita Y, Hidaka A, Kutsukake S, Inoue K, et al. Association of ceramides in human plasma with risk factors of atherosclerosis. *Lipids.* (2006) 41:859–63. doi: 10.1007/s11745-006-5041-6

21. Nelson JC, Jiang XC, Tabas I, Tall A, Shea S. Plasma sphingomyelin and subclinical atherosclerosis: findings from the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2006) 163:903–12. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwj140

22. Schlitt A, Blankenberg S, Yan D, von Gizycki H, Buerke M, Werdan K, et al. Further evaluation of plasma sphingomyelin levels as a risk factor for coronary artery disease. *Nutr Metab (Lond).* (2006) 3:5. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-3-5

23. Sigruener A, Kleber ME, Heimerl S, Liebisch G, Schmitz G, Maerz W. Glycerophospholipid and sphingolipid species and mortality: the Ludwigshafen risk and cardiovascular health (LURIC) study. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e85724. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0085724

24. Chen Y, Jia H, Qian X, Wang J, Yu M, Gong Q, et al. Circulating palmitoyl sphingomyelin is associated with cardiovascular disease in individuals with type 2 diabetes: findings from the China Da qing diabetes study. *Diabetes Care*. (2022) 45:666–73. doi: 10.2337/dc21-1520

25. Jensen PN, Fretts AM, Hoofnagle AN, McKnight B, Howard BV, Umans JG, et al. Circulating ceramides and sphingomyelins and the risk of incident cardiovascular disease among people with diabetes: the strong heart study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2022) 21:167. doi: 10.1186/s12933-022-01596-4

26. Yeboah J, McNamara C, Jiang XC, Tabas I, Herrington DM, Burke GL, et al. Association of plasma sphingomyelin levels and incident coronary heart disease events in an adult population: multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2010) 30:628–33. doi: 10.1161/atvbaha.109.199281

27. Chung RWS, Wang Z, Bursill CA, Wu BJ, Barter PJ, Rye KA. Effect of long-term dietary sphingomyelin supplementation on atherosclerosis in mice. *PLoS One.* (2017) 12:e0189523. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189523

28. Eckhardt ER, Wang DQ, Donovan JM, Carey MC. Dietary sphingomyelin suppresses intestinal cholesterol absorption by decreasing thermodynamic activity of cholesterol monomers. *Gastroenterology*. (2002) 122:948–56. doi: 10.1053/gast.2002.32539

29. Noh SK, Koo SI. Egg sphingomyelin lowers the lymphatic absorption of cholesterol and alpha-tocopherol in rats. *J Nutr.* (2003) 133:3571–6. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.11.3571

30. Nyberg L, Duan RD, Nilsson A. A mutual inhibitory effect on absorption of sphingomyelin and cholesterol. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2000) 11:244–9. doi: 10.1016/ s0955-2863(00)00069-3

31. Imaizumi K, Tominaga A, Sato M, Sugano M. Effects of dietary sphingolipids on levels of serum and liver lipids in rats. *Nutr Res.* (1992) 12:543–8. doi: 10.1016/S0271-5317(05)80024-7

32. Kobayashi T, Shimizugawa T, Osakabe T, Watanabe S, Okuyama H. A long-term feeding of sphingolipids affected the levels of plasma cholesterol and hepatic triacylglycerol but not tissue phospholipids and sphingolipids. *Nutr Res.* (1997) 17:111-4. doi: 10.1016/S0271-5317(96)00237-0

33. Nilsson A, Duan RD. Absorption and lipoprotein transport of sphingomyelin. J Lipid Res. (2006) 47:154-71. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M500357-JLR200

34. Norris GH, Jiang C, Ryan J, Porter CM, Blesso CN. Milk sphingomyelin improves lipid metabolism and alters gut microbiota in high fat diet-fed mice. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2016) 30:93–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.12.003

35. Norris GH, Porter CM, Jiang C, Millar CL, Blesso CN. Dietary sphingomyelin attenuates hepatic steatosis and adipose tissue inflammation in high-fat-diet-induced obese mice. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2017) 40:36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.09.017

36. Cohn JS, Wat E, Kamili A, Tandy S. Dietary phospholipids, hepatic lipid metabolism and cardiovascular disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2008) 19:257–62. doi: 10.1097/MOL.0b013e3282ffaf96

37. Ohlsson L, Burling H, Nilsson A. Long term effects on human plasma lipoproteins of a formulation enriched in butter milk polar lipid. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2009) 8:44. doi: 10.1186/1476-511x-8-44

38. Ramprasath VR, Jones PJ, Buckley DD, Woollett LA, Heubi JE. Effect of dietary sphingomyelin on absorption and fractional synthetic rate of cholesterol and serum lipid profile in humans. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2013) 12:125. doi: 10.1186/1476-511x-12-125

39. Keller S, Le HY, Rödiger C, Hipler UC, Kertscher R, Malarski A, et al. Supplementation of a dairy drink enriched with milk phospholipids in patients with atopic dermatitis – a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, cross-over study. *Clin Nutr.* (2014) 33:1010–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2014.01.014

40. Ota N, Soga S, Hase T, Shimotoyodome A. Daily consumption of milk fat globule membrane plus habitual exercise improves physical performance in healthy middle-aged adults. *Springerplus*. (2015) 4:120. doi: 10.1186/s40064-015-0896-8

41. Vors C, Journard-Cubizolles L, Lecomte M, Combe E, Ouchchane L, Drai J, et al. Milk polar lipids reduce lipid cardiovascular risk factors in overweight postmenopausal women: towards a gut sphingomyelin-cholesterol interplay. *Gut.* (2020) 69:487–501. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-318155

42. Weiland A, Bub A, Barth SW, Schrezenmeir J, Pfeuffer M. Effects of dietary milkand soya-phospholipids on lipid-parameters and other risk indicators for cardiovascular diseases in overweight or obese men – two double-blind, randomised, controlled, clinical trials. J Nutr Sci. (2016) 5:e21. doi: 10.1017/jns.2016.9

43. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Int J Surg.* (2010) 8:336–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2010.02.007

44. Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Chandler J, Welch VA, Higgins JP, et al. Updated guidance for trusted systematic reviews: a new edition of the Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2019) 10:ED000142. doi: 10.1002/14651858.ED000142

45. Nakagawa S, Noble DW, Senior AM, Lagisz M. Meta-evaluation of meta-analysis: ten appraisal questions for biologists. *BMC Biol.* (2017) 15:18. doi: 10.1186/s12915-017-0357-7

46. Conway V, Couture P, Richard C, Gauthier SF, Pouliot Y, Lamarche B. Impact of buttermilk consumption on plasma lipids and surrogate markers of cholesterol homeostasis in men and women. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2013) 23:1255–62. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2013.03.003

47. Keller S, Malarski A, Reuther C, Kertscher R, Kiehntopf M, Jahreis G. Milk phospholipid and plant sterol-dependent modulation of plasma lipids in healthy volunteers. *Eur J Nutr.* (2013) 52:1169–79. doi: 10.1007/s00394-012-0427-0

48. Le Barz M, Vors C, Combe E, Joumard-Cubizolles L, Lecomte M, Joffre F, et al. Milk polar lipids favorably alter circulating and intestinal ceramide and sphingomyelin species in postmenopausal women. *JCI Insight*. (2021) 6:146161. doi: 10.1172/jci. insight.146161

49. Minegishi Y, Ota N, Soga S, Shimotoyodome A. Effects of nutritional supplementation with Milk fat globule membrane on physical and muscle function in healthy adults aged 60 and over with semiweekly light exercise: a randomized doubleblind, placebo-controlled pilot trial. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo)*. (2016) 62:409–15. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.62.409

50. Yoshinaka Y, Soga S, Ota N, Yokoyama K, Yamada Y, Kimura M. Light rhythmic exercise with dietary milk fat globule membrane improves physical fitness in an elderly Japanese population: a double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem.* (2018) 82:677–82. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2017.1412248

51. Maceyka M, Spiegel S. Sphingolipid metabolites in inflammatory disease. *Nature*. (2014) 510:58–67. doi: 10.1038/nature13475

52. Sindhu S, Leung YH, Arefanian H, Madiraju SRM, Al-Mulla F, Ahmad R, et al. Neutral sphingomyelinase-2 and cardiometabolic diseases. *Obes Rev.* (2021) 22:e13248. doi: 10.1111/obr.13248

53. Nilsson A. Metabolism of sphingomyelin in the intestinal tract of the rat. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (1968) 164:575–84. doi: 10.1016/0005-2760(68)90187-2

54. Jiang C, Cheong LZ, Zhang X, Ali AH, Jin Q, Wei W, et al. Dietary sphingomyelin metabolism and roles in gut health and cognitive development. *Adv Nutr.* (2022) 13:474–91. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmab117

55. Norris GH, Milard M, Michalski MC, Blesso CN. Protective properties of milk sphingomyelin against dysfunctional lipid metabolism, gut dysbiosis, and inflammation. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2019) 73:108224. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2019.108224

56. Slotte JP. The importance of hydrogen bonding in sphingomyelin's membrane interactions with co-lipids. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1858:304–10. doi: 10.1016/j. bbamem.2015.12.008

57. Noh SK, Koo SI. Milk sphingomyelin is more effective than egg sphingomyelin in inhibiting intestinal absorption of cholesterol and fat in rats. *J Nutr.* (2004) 134:2611–6. doi: 10.1093/jn/134.10.2611

58. Blesso CN. Egg phospholipids and cardiovascular health. Nutrients. (2015) 7:2731-47. doi: 10.3390/nu7042731

59. Mullen TD, Hannun YA, Obeid LM. Ceramide synthases at the Centre of sphingolipid metabolism and biology. *Biochem J.* (2012) 441:789–802. doi: 10.1042/bj20111626

60. Blachnio-Zabielska AU, Chacinska M, Vendelbo MH, Zabielski P. The crucial role of C18-Cer in fat-induced skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2016) 40:1207–20. doi: 10.1159/000453174

61. Raichur S, Brunner B, Bielohuby M, Hansen G, Pfenninger A, Wang B, et al. The role of C16:0 ceramide in the development of obesity and type 2 diabetes: CerS6 inhibition as a novel therapeutic approach. *Mol Metab*. (2019) 21:36–50. doi: 10.1016/j. molmet.2018.12.008

62. Raichur S, Wang ST, Chan PW, Li Y, Ching J, Chaurasia B, et al. CerS2 haploinsufficiency inhibits β -oxidation and confers susceptibility to diet-induced steatohepatitis and insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* (2014) 20:687–95. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2014.09.015

63. Tan-Chen S, Guitton J, Bourron O, Le Stunff H, Hajduch E. Sphingolipid metabolism and Signaling in skeletal muscle: from physiology to physiopathology. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* (2020) 11:491. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00491

64. Park JW, Park WJ, Kuperman Y, Boura-Halfon S, Pewzner-Jung Y, Futerman AH. Ablation of very long acyl chain sphingolipids causes hepatic insulin resistance in mice due to altered detergent-resistant membranes. *Hepatology.* (2013) 57:525–32. doi: 10.1002/hep.26015

65. Pewzner-Jung Y, Brenner O, Braun S, Laviad EL, Ben-Dor S, Feldmesser E, et al. A critical role for ceramide synthase 2 in liver homeostasis: II. Insights into molecular changes leading to hepatopathy. *J Biol Chem.* (2010) 285:10911–23. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M109.077610

66. Pewzner-Jung Y, Park H, Laviad EL, Silva LC, Lahiri S, Stiban J, et al. A critical role for ceramide synthase 2 in liver homeostasis: I. Alterations in lipid metabolic pathways. *J Biol Chem.* (2010) 285:10902–10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.077594

67. Zelnik ID, Kim JL, Futerman AH. The complex tail of circulating sphingolipids in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. *J Lipid Atheroscler*. (2021) 10:268–81. doi: 10.12997/jla.2021.10.3.268

68. Devlin CM, Leventhal AR, Kuriakose G, Schuchman EH, Williams KJ, Tabas I. Acid sphingomyelinase promotes lipoprotein retention within early atheromata and accelerates lesion progression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:1723–30. doi: 10.1161/atvbaha.108.173344

69. Hojjati MR, Li Z, Zhou H, Tang S, Huan C, Ooi E, et al. Effect of myriocin on plasma sphingolipid metabolism and atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:10284–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412348200

70. Marathe S, Choi Y, Leventhal AR, Tabas I. Sphingomyelinase converts lipoproteins from apolipoprotein E knockout mice into potent inducers of macrophage foam cell formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2000) 20:2607–13. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.20.12.2607

71. Arana L, Ordoñez M, Ouro A, Rivera IG, Gangoiti P, Trueba M, et al. Ceramide 1-phosphate induces macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 release: involvement in ceramide 1-phosphate-stimulated cell migration. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 304:E1213–26. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00480.2012

72. Simon J, Ouro A, Ala-Ibanibo L, Presa N, Delgado TC, Martínez-Chantar ML. Sphingolipids in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma: ceramide turnover. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 21:40. doi: 10.3390/ijms21010040

73. Van Brocklyn JR, Williams JB. The control of the balance between ceramide and sphingosine-1-phosphate by sphingosine kinase: oxidative stress and the seesaw of cell survival and death. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol.* (2012) 163:26–36. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2012.05.006

74. Schulze PC, Drosatos K, Goldberg IJ. Lipid use and misuse by the heart. *Circ Res.* (2016) 118:1736–51. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.116.306842

75. Waeber C, Walther T. Sphingosine-1-phosphate as a potential target for the treatment of myocardial infarction. *Circ J.* (2014) 78:795–802. doi: 10.1253/circj. cj-14-0178

76. Ali-Berrada S, Guitton J, Tan-Chen S, Gyulkhandanyan A, Hajduch E, Le Stunff H. Circulating sphingolipids and glucose homeostasis: An update. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2023) 24:12720. doi: 10.3390/ijms241612720

77. Boon J, Hoy AJ, Stark R, Brown RD, Meex RC, Henstridge DC, et al. Ceramides contained in LDL are elevated in type 2 diabetes and promote inflammation and skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Diabetes.* (2013) 62:401–10. doi: 10.2337/db12-0686

78. Fretts AM, Jensen PN, Hoofnagle A, McKnight B, Howard BV, Umans J, et al. Plasma ceramide species are associated with diabetes risk in participants of the strong heart study. *J Nutr.* (2020) 150:1214–22. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz259

79. Haus JM, Kashyap SR, Kasumov T, Zhang R, Kelly KR, Defronzo RA, et al. Plasma ceramides are elevated in obese subjects with type 2 diabetes and correlate with the severity of insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. (2009) 58:337–43. doi: 10.2337/ db08-1228

80. Jensen PN, Fretts AM, Yu C, Hoofnagle AN, Umans JG, Howard BV, et al. Circulating sphingolipids, fasting glucose, and impaired fasting glucose: the strong heart family study. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 41:44–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.12.046

81. Kurano M, Hara M, Tsuneyama K, Sakoda H, Shimizu T, Tsukamoto K, et al. Induction of insulin secretion by apolipoprotein M, a carrier for sphingosine 1-phosphate. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2014) 1841:1217–26. doi: 10.1016/j. bbalip.2014.05.002

82. Kurano M, Tsukamoto K, Shimizu T, Kassai H, Nakao K, Aiba A, et al. Protection against insulin resistance by apolipoprotein M/Sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Diabetes.* (2020) 69:867–81. doi: 10.2337/db19-0811

83. Pitson SM. Regulation of sphingosine kinase and sphingolipid signaling. Trends Biochem Sci. (2011) 36:97-107. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2010.08.001

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mauro Serafini, University of Teramo, Italy

REVIEWED BY Naheed Aryaeian, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran Mahdi Vajdi, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

*CORRESPONDENCE Jiahui Yu ⊠ dr_jiahuiyu@163.com

RECEIVED 09 November 2023 ACCEPTED 06 March 2024 PUBLISHED 18 March 2024

CITATION

Guo P and Yu J (2024) Association of multiple serum minerals and vitamins with metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in US adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017–2018. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1335831. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1335831

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Guo and Yu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Association of multiple serum minerals and vitamins with metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in US adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017–2018

Peisen Guo and Jiahui Yu*

The Center of Gastrointestinal and Minimally Invasive Surgery, Department of General Surgery, The Third People's Hospital of Chengdu, The Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Jiaotong University, Chengdu, China

Background: Despite the rapid increase in the global prevalence of Metabolic Dysfunction-Associated Fatty Liver Disease (MAFLD), there are no approved therapeutic drugs for MAFLD yet. Nutrient supplementation might mitigate the risk of MAFLD. It is more typical for individuals to consume multiple nutrients simultaneously. However, the studies exploring the combined effects of multiple nutrients on MAFLD are limited. This study aimed to investigate the relationship between both individual nutrients and their combined influence on the risk of MAFLD.

Methods: Data were obtained from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), and 18 types of nutrients were considered in this study. Logistic regression analysis was performed to evaluate the correlation between single nutrients and the risk of MAFLD. The Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) regression analysis was performed to pinpoint the most relevant nutrient associated with the risk of MAFLD. Subsequently, both Weighted Quantile Sum (WQS) regression and Quantile g-computation (Qgcomp) were used to assess the combined effects of multiple nutrients on the risk of MAFLD.

Results: A total of 3,069 participants were included in this study. LASSO regression analysis showed that Se, α -tocopherol, and γ -tocopherol exhibited a positive association with the risk of MAFLD. In contrast, the serum levels of Co, P, α -cryptoxanthin, LZ, and trans- β -carotene were inversely associated with the prevalence of MAFLD. When Se and two types of vitamin E were excluded, the WQS index showed a significant inverse relationship between the remaining 15 nutrients and the risk of MAFLD; α -cryptoxanthin showed the most substantial contribution. Similarly, Qgcomp suggested that the combined effects of these 15 nutrients were associated with a lower risk of MAFLD, with α -cryptoxanthin possessing the most significant negative weights.

Conclusion: This study suggested that the complex nutrients with either a low proportion of Se, α -tocopherol, and γ -tocopherol or without them should be recommended for patients with MAFLD to reduce its risk.

KEYWORDS

vitamins, minerals, joint effect, MAFLD, NHANES

1 Introduction

In 2020, an international panel of experts proposed the concept of Metabolic Dysfunction-Associated Fatty Liver Disease (MAFLD) (1). In contrast to Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD), MAFLD is defined using different diagnostic criteria (1) and is often depicted as a hepatic insulin-resistant disease, which is predominantly instigated by the dysfunction of lipid metabolism (2). The global prevalence of MAFLD is estimated to be 50.7% in overweight or obese individuals (3) and 33.87% in overweight or obese children and adolescents (4). Studies suggest that MAFLD is significantly correlated with adverse health outcomes, such as cardiovascular disease, hepatic events, extrahepatic malignancies, and renal disease (5). A distinguishing characteristic of MAFLD is excessive hepatic fat accumulation, which can be accurately and non-invasively assessed using FiberScan with Vibration-Controlled Instantaneous Elastography (VCTE) (6).

Hepatic steatosis is typically induced by unhealthy diets rich in fructose, saturated fats, and cholesterol. As there are no approved pharmacological treatments for MAFLD, the primary management strategies include physical activity and dietary modifications (2). Previous studies have indicated that a healthy lifestyle can decrease the risk of metabolic syndrome (7). Specific dietary nutrients can mitigate the symptoms of MAFLD and decrease its risk. For instance, vitamins C and D3 can modulate the gut microbiota and bile acid metabolism, thereby alleviating MAFLD symptoms (8). Moreover, a study indicated a positive correlation between the serum vitamin D concentration and a reduced risk of MAFLD (9). Similar findings have been reported regarding the dietary intake of vitamin K (10). On the other hand, a mendelian randomization study showed an elevated risk of MAFLD associated with an increase in liver iron concentration (11). Multiple factors, such as oxidative stress-induced lipotoxicity and cellular senescence, contribute to the pathogenesis and progression of MAFLD (12). Additionally, inflammatory responses accelerate the development of MAFLD (13). A study reported that several components of traditional Chinese herbal medicine could inhibit liver inflammation and alleviate liver damage (13). Therefore, supplementing the antioxidant or anti-inflammatory nutrients might have similar effects.

Numerous studies have focused on the correlations between individual nutrients and MAFLD. However, due to the intricate interactions among various nutrients, evaluating the effect of a single nutrient might lead to skewed results. For instance, the higher intake of calcium (Ca) and phosphorous (P) might affect the absorption of Mg, inducing various metabolic diseases (14). Moreover, a higher molar ratio of zinc (Zn) to copper (Cu) can cause Cu deficiency, leading to the dysregulation of metabolic factors (15). Notably, patients with liver diseases have dysregulated absorption and metabolism of several nutrients (16). Therefore, when the patients with MAFLD are supplemented with nutrients, the ratio among various nutrients is different from that of normal people. Mixed effects are commonly reported in studies assessing the effects of environmental pollution on human health (17-19). Correspondingly, individuals consume a combination of nutrients; however, the studies examining the combined effects of multiple nutrients are limited. Therefore, this study aimed to evaluate the association between individual serum nutrient levels and the combined effects of multiple serum vitamins and minerals on the risk of MAFLD. Meanwhile, the ratio among various nutrients was also determined. The evaluation was performed using Weighted Quantile Sum (WQS) regression and Quantile g-computation (Qgcomp) regression models on the data obtained from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2017–2018.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study population

The data of participants included in this study were obtained from the NHANES 2017–2018 survey. Among the 9,254 participants in the NHANES survey, 5,494 individuals went through the liver elastography examination. The participants below the age of 18 were subsequently excluded (n=748). Among the remaining subjects, the detection of serum cobalt (Co) concentration was performed for 3,133 individuals aged 40 years and above. Moreover, 53 participants who could not be definitively diagnosed with MAFLD, and 11 participants who responded with "refuse" or "do not know" during questionnaire interviews about alcohol use and education level were excluded. Ultimately, this study included a total of 3,069 participants.

2.2 Definition of MAFLD

As per the international panel of experts, MAFLD diagnosis is based on hepatic steatosis coupled with one of the following three conditions: overweight/obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, or metabolic dysregulation (20). Metabolic dysregulation is defined as the conditions with at least two of the following indicators (20): (a) waist circumference \geq 102/88 cm in Caucasian men and women; (b) blood pressure \geq 130/85 mmHg or specific drug treatment; (c) plasma triglycerides \geq 1.70 mmoL/L or specific drug treatment; (d) plasma high density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C) <1.0 mmol/L for men and <1.3 mmol/L for women or specific drug treatment; (e) prediabetes, such as fasting glucose level 5.6 to 6.9 mmol/L, or HbA1c 5.7 to 6.4%; (f) homeostasis model assessment (HOMA)-insulin resistance (IR) score \geq 2.5; and (g) plasma high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) level >2 mg/L. According to the existing literature, the condition with a controlled attenuated parameter (CAP) score of \geq 248 dB/m is diagnosed as liver steatosis (21); the CAP score is determined using the FibroScan® model 502 V2 Touch.

2.3 Covariates

The covariates considered in this study included age, sex, race, education level, family income, physical activity (PA), and smoking and drinking status. The patients were grouped into ≤ 60 and >60 based on age and Mexican American, Other Hispanic, Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black, and other races based on race. Based on education level, the patients were divided into less than high school, high school, and more than high school groups (22). Family income was assessed using the poverty income ratio (PIR), and the patients were classified into low-income (PIR < 1.30), middle-income (1.3 \leq PIR < 3.5), and high-income (PIR \geq 3.5) groups (23). Based on smoking status, the patients were divided into non-smoker (smoked

less than 100 cigarettes in their lifetime) and smoker (smoked more than 100 cigarettes in their lifetime) groups. Based on drinking status, they were divided into non-drinker (those who had never consumed alcohol or had not consumed alcohol in the past 12 months) and drinker (those who had consumed alcohol in the past 12 months) groups. According to the literature (24), PA was calculated using Eq. 1.

$$PA(MET - h / wk) = metabolic equivalent (MET) \times weekly frequency \times duration of each physical activity (1)$$

The three variables in Eq. 1 were obtained from the PA questionnaire on the NHANES website. Then, based on PA, the patients were classified into low PA (<1MET-h/week), moderate PA (1–48 MET-h/week), and high PA (>48 MET-h/week) groups.

2.4 Statistical analyses

All the statistical analyses were performed using the R software (4.2.2). A total of 18 nutrients, including vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin D, α -tocopherol, γ -tocopherol, lutein + zeaxanthin (LZ), α -carotene, trans- β -carotene, α -cryptoxanthin, β -cryptoxanthin, lycopene, iron (Fe), selenium (Se), Ca, Co, sodium (Na), potassium (K), and P were included in the analysis in this study. If the serum concentration of a specific substance was below the limits of detection (LOD), the value was represented as LOD divided by $\sqrt{2}$. For the 3,069 participants, any missing data, including house income, PA, smoking status and 18 nutrients, was imputed using grouping-based (age, gender, and race) median of the available samples for continuous variable, as well as the grouping-based mode for category variable, including drinking status. Variables, such as house income, PA, and smoking status, were then classified into category variables. Furthermore, the serum contents of the 18 nutrients were natural log-transformed. Continuous variables were represented as the means ± SD (standard deviation), and a student's t-test was used to compare differences between the two groups. Categorical variables were expressed as frequencies (percentages), and the differences between groups were compared using a chi-square test.

Initially, two logistic regression models, including model 1 and model 2, were used to explore the association between single nutrients and MAFLD. Model 1 was an unadjusted model, while, model 2 was adjusted for age, gender, race, education level, family income, smoking status, drinking status, and PA. The least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression analysis was used to identify the nutrient most relevant to the risk of MAFLD (25). The data of 18 nutrients were standardized and centralized and then subjected to LASSO regression analysis. The dose-response relationship between MAFLD and various vitamins and minerals was evaluated using a restricted cubic spline (RCS) model. The combined effects of multiple minerals and vitamins were evaluated using WQS and Qgcomp regression models. Notably, the RCS model, WQS regression model and Qgcomp regression model were adjusted for age, gender, race, education level, family income, smoking status, drinking status and PA. For the WQS regression, 40% of the participants were randomly selected as training dataset, and 60% of the participants served as validation datasets. The bootstrap value was set to 1,000 in the parameter estimations. The Qgcomp regression estimated the joint effects of increasing every nutrient simultaneously by one quantile (26). The Qgcomp regression was conducted without bootstrap to estimate the weight of each nutrient and with bootstrap set to 500 to estimate the marginal odds ratio of the joint effect. Finally, a sensitivity analysis was performed to validate the robustness of the results, and the data were re-analyzed after removing all the participants with missing values.

3 Results

3.1 Baseline characteristics of study participants

As per the definition of MAFLD, 1,968 individuals were diagnosed with MAFLD among the 3,069 participants (Table 1). The average age of all the participants was approximately 60 years. The incidence of MAFLD was higher in males than females (52.0% vs. 45.0%). There were no significant statistical discrepancies between the MAFLD and non-MAFLD groups in terms of education level, family income, smoking status, PA and drinking status. Moreover, the patients with MAFLD were more likely to have higher aspartate aminotransferase (AST), gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP). Strikingly, as compared to non-MAFLD patients, the serum concentrations of γ -tocopherol (1.43±0.52 vs. 1.23±0.54), α -tocopherol (3.38±0.31 vs. 3.35±0.31) and Se (0.89±0.13 vs. 0.87±0.14) were elevated in the MAFLD patients; all the differences were statistically significant (p < 0.05).

3.2 Impacts of individual nutrients on MAFLD

Logistic regression analysis was performed to assess the effects of individual nutrients on the risk of developing MAFLD (Supplementary Table S1). For minerals, the serum levels of Co (OR=0.503, 95% CI: 0.389-0.648) and Fe (OR=0.704, 95% CI: 0.564-0.877) in only the Q4 group exhibited an inverse correlation with the risk of MAFLD in model 2. In both the Q3 and Q4 groups, the serum Se concentration was associated with the prevalence of MAFLD. Vitamins and carotenoids, including vitamin C, vitamin D, LZ, β -cryptoxanthin, trans- β -carotene, α -cryptoxanthin and α -carotene, were associated with a reduced risk of MAFLD; the serum trans-βcarotene levels in the Q4 group showed the highest efficacy (OR=0.350, 95% CI: 0.277–0.442). Conversely, the serum levels of γ-tocopherol and α -tocopherol were positively correlated with the risk of MAFLD. LASSO regression analysis revealed the most critical variables for the risk of MAFLD. A 10-fold cross-validation was performed to select the optimal penalty parameter ($\lambda = 0.016$) (Figure 1A). As the parameters λ achieved this value, the Se, α -tocopherol, γ -tocopherol, P, Co, α -cryptoxanthin, trans-β-carotene, and LZ remained in the model (Figure 1B), indicating that the former three nutrients were positively correlated with the risk of MAFLD, while the latter five nutrients showed the opposite trend.

3.3 Dose-response relationship between nutrients and MAFLD

The RCS results revealed that an increase in the serum levels of Co, Fe, lycopene, LZ, trans- β -carotene, vitamin C, vitamin D, α -carotene, α -cryptoxanthin, and β -cryptoxanthin was significantly associated

TABLE 1 Basic characteristics of participants.

| Characteristic | MA | 2 | |
|---|----------------------|----------------------|--------|
| | No, <i>N</i> = 1,101 | Yes, <i>N</i> = 1968 | p |
| Age, year | 60.38 ± 12.21 | 60.39±11.17 | 0.987 |
| Age, % | | | 0.665 |
| ≤60 | 555 (50.4%) | 976 (49.6%) | |
| >60 | 546 (49.6%) | 992 (50.4%) | |
| Sex, % | | | <0.001 |
| Female | 605 (55.0%) | 944 (48.0%) | |
| Male | 496 (45.0%) | 1,024 (52.0%) | |
| Race, % | | | <0.001 |
| Mexican American | 97 (8.8%) | 290 (14.7%) | |
| Other Hispanic | 81 (7.4%) | 206 (10.5%) | |
| Non-Hispanic White | 386 (35.1%) | 692 (35.2%) | |
| Non-Hispanic Black | 310 (28.2%) | 420 (21.3%) | |
| Other Race | 227 (20.6%) | 360 (18.3%) | |
| Education level, % | | | 0.386 |
| <high school<="" td=""><td>222 (20.2%)</td><td>432 (22.0%)</td><td></td></high> | 222 (20.2%) | 432 (22.0%) | |
| High school | 254 (23.1%) | 466 (23.7%) | |
| >High school | 625 (56.8%) | 1,070 (54.4%) | |
| Family income, % | | | 0.315 |
| Low | 255 (23.2%) | 433 (22.0%) | |
| Middle | 514 (46.7%) | 975 (49.5%) | |
| High | 332 (30.2%) | 560 (28.5%) | |
| Smoking status, % | | | 0.786 |
| Never smoking | 607 (55.1%) | 1,075 (54.6%) | |
| Smoking | 494 (44.9%) | 893 (45.4%) | |
| Physical activity, % | | | 0.294 |
| High | 305 (27.7%) | 530 (26.9%) | |
| Middle | 493 (44.8%) | 844 (42.9%) | |
| Low | 303 (27.5%) | 594 (30.2%) | |
| Drinking status, % | | | 0.904 |
| Drinker | 707 (64.2%) | 1,268 (64.4%) | |
| Non-drinker | 394 (35.8%) | 700 (35.6%) | |
| Ln ALT, U/L | 2.83 ± 0.47 | 3.02±0.50 | <0.001 |
| Ln AST, U/L | 3.01±0.35 | 3.02±0.35 | 0.178 |
| Ln GGT, IU/L | 3.06±0.66 | 3.31±0.67 | <0.001 |
| Ln ALP, IU/L | 4.32±0.29 | 4.37±0.28 | <0.001 |
| Ln LZ, µmol/L | -1.06 ± 0.59 | -1.18±0.57 | <0.001 |
| Ln lycopene, µmol/L | -0.50 ± 0.60 | -0.51 ± 0.54 | 0.799 |
| Ln β -cryptoxanthin, μ mol/L | -1.98 ± 0.86 | -2.08±0.83 | 0.002 |
| Ln trans-β-carotene, μmol/L | -1.11±0.97 | -1.42 ± 0.88 | <0.001 |
| Ln α -cryptoxanthin, μ mol/L | -3.08 ± 0.60 | -3.21±0.56 | <0.001 |
| Ln α-carotene, µmol/L | -2.69±1.06 | -2.94 ± 0.99 | <0.001 |
| Ln γ-tocopherol, µmol/L | 1.23±0.54 | 1.43±0.52 | <0.001 |
| Ln vitamin A, µmol/L | 0.60 ± 0.30 | 0.62±0.29 | 0.103 |
| Ln α-tocopherol, µmol/L | 3.35±0.31 | 3.38±0.31 | 0.014 |
| Ln vitamin D, nmol/L | 4.24±0.45 | 4.19±0.46 | 0.001 |
| Ln vitamin C, µmol/L | 3.82±0.73 | 3.71±0.71 | <0.001 |
| Ln Se, µmol/L | 0.87±0.14 | 0.89±0.13 | <0.001 |
| Ln Fe, µmol/L | 2.68 ± 0.42 | 2.66±0.39 | 0.180 |
| Ln Co, nmol/L | 1.13 ± 0.48 | 1.03 ± 0.47 | <0.001 |
| Ln P, mmol/L | 0.13 ± 0.14 | 0.11±0.14 | <0.001 |
| Ln K, mmol/L | 1.41±0.09 | 1.41±0.09 | 0.556 |
| Ln Na, mmol/L | 4.94±0.02 | 4.95±0.02 | 0.582 |
| Ln Ca, mmol/L | 0.84±0.04 | 0.84±0.04 | 0.759 |

Data are represented as proportions (%) for categorical variables and as mean ± SD for continuous variables. Student's *t*-test and chi-square test were used for continuous and categorical variables to explore the difference between groups. LZ, lutein + zeaxanthin; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; GGT, gamma glutamyl transferase; ALP, alkaline phosphatase.



Results of LASSO regression model. (A) Plot for the coefficients of LASSO regression. (B) Ten-fold cross-validation for LASSO regression to select the optimal penalty coefficient.

with the lower risk of MAFLD (Supplementary Figures S1A–J). Conversely, an increase in the serum levels of Se and γ -tocopherol was correlated with a higher risk of MAFLD, particularly the γ -tocopherol level (Supplementary Figures S1K,L). Furthermore, an increase in the serum levels of Ca, Na, Vitamin A, and α -tocopherol could moderately increase the risk of MAFLD (Supplementary Figures S1M–P), while an increase in the serum levels of K and P could marginally mitigate the risk of MAFLD (Supplementary Figures S1Q,R).

3.4 Combined effects of multiple nutrients on MAFLD

The WQS regression showed statistically significant results in both the positive and negative constrains, suggesting that the mixture of nutrients might not affect MAFLD; this result was confirmed by Qgcomp regression analysis (Supplementary Table S2).

Given the significant contribution of five nutrients, including α -tocopherol, γ -tocopherol, Se, Na and Ca, to the positive relationship between the WQS index and MAFLD (Supplementary Figure S2A), WQS regression analysis was performed after consecutively excluding any one, two, or three of the five nutrients. As shown in Supplementary Figures S2B-D, the combined exclusion of Se, α -tocopherol and γ -tocopherol diminished the positive correlation between the WQS index and MAFLD. A 10% increase in the serum levels of the remaining 15 nutrients correlated with a 26.3% reduced risk of MAFLD (OR=0.736; 95% CI: 0.682-0.794) (Table 2), among which, α -cryptoxanthin, Co, α -carotene, vitamin C, P, LZ, and vitamin D significantly contributed to this combined effect (Figure 2A). Concurrently, the Qgcomp regression analysis also revealed that the combined effect of these 15 nutrients was negatively associated with the risk of MAFLD (Marginal OR=0.792; 95% CI: 0.732-0.856) (Table 2). The weights of these nutrients in the combined effect calculated using Qgcomp are shown in Figure 2B.

TABLE 2 Combined effect of 15 nutrients.

| Methods | OR (95% CI) |
|--------------|----------------------|
| WQS positive | 1.046 (0.986, 1.109) |
| WQS negative | 0.736 (0.682, 0.794) |
| Qgcomp | 0.792 (0.732, 0.856) |

Combined effects were evaluated using WQS regression with positive and negative constrains and Qgcomp. WQS, weighted quantile sum; Qgcomp, quantile-g-computation; OR, odds ratio; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval. Both WQS regression and Qgcomp were adjusted for age, gender, race, education level, smoking status, drinking status, physical activity and poverty income ratio.

3.5 Sensitivity analysis

The data of participants containing at least one missing value was discarded leaving a total of 1,974 subjects eligible for further analysis. Initially, both the WQS and Qgcomp regression analyses were employed to assess the combined effects of the 18 nutrients. The WQS results revealed both positive and negative constraints to be statistically significant (Supplementary Table S3), and the Qgcomp results suggested that the combined effect of the 18 nutrients did not confer any benefits towards the risk of MAFLD (Supplementary Table S3). Interestingly, excluding Se and two types of vitamin E resulted in retaining statistical significance in only the negative WQS index (Supplementary Table S4). Concurrently, the combined effects evaluated using the Qgcomp regression model displayed an inverse correlation with the risk of MAFLD (Supplementary Table S4).

4 Discussion

At present, MAFLD poses a significant threat to global health. Therefore, a cross-sectional study was conducted to investigate the combined effects of multiple nutrients on the risk of MAFLD. Three



different statistical models, including LASSO regression, WQS regression, and Qgcomp models, consistently highlighted that the serum levels of Se, α -tocopherol, and γ -tocopherol were positively correlated with the risk of MAFLD. Conversely, all three methods demonstrated that the serum levels of Co, P, α -cryptoxanthin, LZ, and trans- β -carotene were inversely related to the risk of MAFLD. Subsequently, the result showed that the combined effects of 15 nutrients in serum, excluding Se, α -tocopherol, and γ -tocopherol, were advantageous in reducing the incidence of MAFLD. These findings suggested that a complex nutrient supplement, which can lower the serum levels of Se, α -tocopherol and γ -tocopherol, should be advised for patients with MAFLD to mitigate its risk.

Typically, people are simultaneously exposed to countless minerals and vitamins in day-to-day life, resulting in potential interactions among various nutrients. The over-supplementation of one nutrient can disrupt the absorption of others. Hence, examining the health impacts of a single nutrient on human wellness might yield skewed results. Previous studies have illustrated that co-exposure to a mixture of nutrients, including β -carotene, vitamin A, vitamin D, vitamin C, α -tocopherol, folate, vitamin B6, and vitamin B12, could diminish the risk of all-cause mortality in diabetic patients (27). Furthermore, the combined effects of vitamin C, vitamin B9, and vitamin B12 could limit the risk of metabolic disorders (28). Researchers demonstrated that adherence to a mineral-based nutrient pattern, which refers to the inclusion of multiple vitamins and minerals in an individual's daily diet, was associated with healthier metabolic factors (29). They also suggested that increasing the plant-based nutrients, such as vitamins D, B6, B3, C, B1, E, etc., were associated with a lower risk of metabolic syndrome (30). These results demonstrated the beneficial effects of combined exposure to multiple nutrients, which were consistent with the findings in the current study. Moreover, a cocktail of 11 antioxidant nutrients, including Se and α -tocopherol, could decrease the risk of specific cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), with Se making the most substantial contribution (31). However, the findings in the current study indicated that a complex nutrient solution, including Se and two types of vitamin E, might not present beneficial effects on mitigating the risk of MAFLD. Interestingly, a low serum α -tocopherol level was correlated with a lower likelihood of overweight/obesity. Consequently, it was speculated that this phenomenon might be related to the age of participants, all of whom were over 40 years of age. Additionally, some unhealthy lifestyle choices or other unseen factors might diminish or even reverse the beneficial effects of certain nutrients. For instance, β -carotene supplementation in smokers might amplify the incidence of cardiovascular disease and mortality, as well as the risk of lung cancer (32, 33).

Vitamin E exerts its health benefits primarily through its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (34, 35). Both the α -tocopherol and γ -tocopherol can modulate mitochondrial oxidative metabolism to ameliorate Alzheimer's disease (36). Furthermore, γ -tocopherol could inhibit the inflammatory response and oxidative stress to enhance wound healing in diabetic rats (37), and α -tocopherol could also suppress inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α), interleukin (IL)-18, IL-12, and IL-6 (38). Although the onset and progression of metabolic disorders and fatty liver diseases are partially attributed to and concurrent with oxidative stress and inflammatory factors (39-41), Sabina reported that an increase in circulating α -and γ -tocopherol levels were positively associated with the risk of metabolic syndrome (42). This finding aligns with the current study results. This phenomenon might be partially explained by metabolic syndrome inhibiting the metabolism of α -tocopherol (43). Furthermore, the health effects of vitamin E and its metabolites are largely dependent upon the individual's lifestyles, such as smoking status and alcohol consumption (44). Gut dysbiosis induced by MAFLD might also affect the serum levels of vitamin E and its metabolites (45). In conclusion, further research is needed to elucidate the specific mechanisms of this.

Although Se has been recognized as an indispensable trace element, its effects remain a subject of debate. Several studies have suggested that Se possesses numerous health-enhancing effects, such as reducing fasting insulin (46), fasting plasma glucose (47) and serum CRP levels (48). In obese individuals, Se can decrease body fat mass and augment lean body and muscle mass (49). However, researchers have discerned a positive correlation between plasma Se levels and fasting plasma glucose levels in men (50). Furthermore, high dietary Se intake is positively correlated with HOMA-IR in obese/overweight adults (51). Shao et al. (52) reported that an elevated Se status could increase the risk of diabetes in individuals aged 40 years. Therefore, combined with the current study results, it was suggested that middleaged or elderly individuals might have elevated Se levels, increasing the risk of metabolic-dysfunction-associated diseases.

Both WQS and Qgcomp models revealed that α -cryptoxanthin played the most significant role in a negative correlation between the complex nutrients and the risk of MAFLD. To the best of our knowledge, though α -cryptoxanthin could induce mammalian phase 2 proteins to shield cells from damage by oxidants and electrophiles (53), few studies have reported beneficial effects of α -cryptoxanthin. Notably, numerous studies have focused on another cryptoxanthin known as β -cryptoxanthin, which is an antioxidant and a retinoid precursor that can mitigate the risk of NAFLD and other lifestylerelated diseases (54); however, it has deleterious effects on smokers and drinkers (55). In the current study, after excluding Se and two types of vitamin E, the Qgcomp demonstrated that β -cryptoxanthin had the most substantial positive weights. Moreover, WQS results indicated that β -cryptoxanthin slightly contributed to the negative correlation between the WQS index and MAFLD. These findings conflicted with the results of single nutrient analysis in RCS results. Similarly, Qgcomp results indicated that excluding Se and two types of vitamin E changed serum K from the largest positive weight to a slightly negative weight. These phenomena might be attributed to potential interactions among various nutrients. Further studies should investigate the contrasting effects of α -and β -cryptoxanthin on MAFLD.

The current study also suggested that trans-\beta-carotene played a pivotal role in decreasing the risk of MAFLD by ameliorating the indicators related to metabolic disorders. It may function as an antioxidant to decrease serum CRP levels and individual inflammatory burden (56). Researchers showed that a mixture of carotenoids was inversely associated with blood pressure, among which, trans-β-carotene had the most substantial contribution (57). Moreover, trans- β -carotene, as a provitamin A, could decrease children's body mass index (BMI), truncal fat mass, and total body fat mass, while vitamin A exhibited the opposite effects (58). Studies have indicated that increasing serum retinol level is positively associated with a higher prevalence of obesity and other metabolic indicators, including lower HDL-C and higher fasting blood glucose levels (59, 60). Moreover, in this study, the Qgcomp and RCS models showed that vitamin A was positively associated with the risk of MAFLD. This might be because vitamin A could exacerbate high-fat diet-induced hepatic steatosis, which dominates MAFLD patients (61). In addition, vitamin A is mainly dependent on its metabolite retinoic acid, which acts as a transcription factor, activating retinoic acid and retinoid X receptors to improve metabolic disorders (62). Thus, it was hypothesized that various dietary patterns might affect vitamin A, and vitamin A metabolism may be disturbed in patients with MAFLD.

Currently, numerous studies have mainly focused on the specific molecular mechanism of a single vitamin and mineral on NAFLD. For instance, VD3 could increase the levels of the mitochondrial contact site and cristae organizing system (MICOS) 60 by regulating vitamin D receptor (VDR) to ameliorate age-associated NAFLD (63). Vitamin E could activate the AMPK signaling pathway to reduce fatty acid synthesis and decrease oxidative stress (64). Ascorbic acid could activate the FGF21/FGFR2/adiponectin pathway to alleviate hepatocyte stress as well as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α (PPAR α) and improve the visceral obesity and NAFLD (65). Moreover, studies have demonstrated that vitamin B₁₂ and folate could facilitate the β -oxidation of fatty acids and regulate autophagy and inflammation by modifying multiple hepatic proteins to improve non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (66). In summary, a single vitamin and mineral can improve NAFLD by decreasing the level of oxidative stress and inflammation, inhibit the synthesis of fatty acids, and promote the utilization of fatty acids, providing a way forward in the MAFLD research. Moreover, the combined effects of multiple vitamins and minerals on NAFLD or MAFLD are not clear yet. Therefore, further studies are needed to explore it.

The current study has several strengths. First, this study probed into the combined effects of multiple nutrients using various statistical models to circumvent biased results. Second, the weight of individual nutrients on the combined effect was assessed, which helped in determining the relative contents of diverse nutrients in supplementation or dietary intake. Lastly, the data was obtained from NHANES, which strengthens the reliability of the results. However, there were also certain limitations to this study. A cross-sectional study design inherently poses challenges in establishing a causal relationship, necessitating further corroboration through longitudinal cohort studies or clinical trials. Additionally, although adjustments were made for several factors, some potential confounders might have been overlooked. Moreover, a singular measurement might not accurately reflect the long-term nutrient status of participants. Furthermore, this study did not include some crucial vitamins and trace elements, such as vitamin B groups and Zn. Future studies should incorporate a longitudinal follow-up of comprehensive nutrient concentrations and various metabolic indicators. Lastly, while VCTE is extensively used to diagnose liver steatosis and fibrosis due to its high efficiency and non-invasive nature, the cut-off value for diagnosis is still debatable, and liver biopsy retains its position as the gold standard.

5 Conclusion

This study suggested that the combination of 15 nutrients, excluding Se, α -tocopherol and γ -tocopherol, was inversely associated with the risk of MAFLD. Simultaneously, this study offered an appropriate compositional ratio. Consequently, it was suggested that the supplementation of multiple vitamins and minerals, either with reduced ratios of Se and two types of vitamin E or entirely without them, might reduce MAFLD prevalence. Nevertheless, additional research is imperative to corroborate these findings.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by National Center for Health Statistics Ethics Review Board. The studies were conducted

in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

PG: Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – original draft. JY: Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the participants in the NHANES study.

References

1. Gofton C, Upendran Y, Zheng MH, George J. MAFLD: how is it different from NAFLD? *Clin Mol Hepatol.* (2023) 29:S17–31. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2022.0367

2. Badmus OO, Hillhouse SA, Anderson CD, Hinds TD, Stec DE. Molecular mechanisms of metabolic associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD): functional analysis of lipid metabolism pathways. *Clin Sci.* (2022) 136:1347–66. doi: 10.1042/CS20220572

3. Liu J, Ayada I, Zhang X, Wang L, Li Y, Wen T, et al. Estimating global prevalence of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in overweight or obese adults. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2022) 20:e573–82. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2021.02.030

4. Liu J, Mu C, Li K, Luo H, Liu Y, Li Z. Estimating global prevalence of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in overweight or obese children and adolescents: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Public Health*. (2021) 66:1604371. doi: 10.3389/ijph.2021.1604371

5. Lin H, Zhang X, Li G, Wong GL, Wong VW. Epidemiology and clinical outcomes of metabolic (dysfunction)-associated fatty liver disease. *J Clin Transl Hepatol.* (2021) 9:972–82. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2021.00201

6. Castera L, Friedrich-Rust M, Loomba R. Noninvasive assessment of liver disease in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology*. (2019) 156:e4:1264–1281.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.12.036

7. Vajdi M, Karimi A, Farhangi MA, Ardekani AM. The association between healthy lifestyle score and risk of metabolic syndrome in Iranian adults: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Endocr Disord.* (2023) 23:16. doi: 10.1186/s12902-023-01270-0

8. Chen Q, Zhao L, Mei L, Zhao X, Han P, Liu J, et al. Vitamin C and vitamin D_3 alleviate metabolic-associated fatty liver disease by regulating the gut microbiota and bile acid metabolism via the gut-liver axis. *Front Pharmacol.* (2023) 14:1163694. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2023.1163694

9. Vigna L, Speciani MC, Tirelli AS, Bravi F, La Vecchia C, Conte C, et al. Vitamin D and metabolic syndrome in working age subjects from an obesity clinic. *Nutrients*. (2023) 15:4354. doi: 10.3390/nu15204354

10. Wang X, Zhang W, Huang J, Li H, Gao J. The relationship between vitamin K and metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease among the United States population: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017–2018. *Front Nutr.* (2023) 10:1086477. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1086477

11. He H, Liao S, Zeng Y, Liang L, Chen J, Tao C. Causal relationships between metabolic-associated fatty liver disease and iron status: two-sample Mendelian randomization. *Liver Int.* (2022) 42:2759–68. doi: 10.1111/liv.15455

12. Anastasopoulos NA, Charchanti AV, Barbouti A, Mastoridou EM, Goussia AC, Karampa AD, et al. The role of oxidative stress and cellular senescence in the pathogenesis of metabolic associated fatty liver disease and related hepatocellular carcinoma. *Antioxidants.* (2023) 12:12. doi: 10.3390/antiox12061269

13. Li Z, Ouyang H, Zhu J. Traditional Chinese medicines and natural products targeting immune cells in the treatment of metabolic-related fatty liver disease. *Front Pharmacol.* (2023) 14:1195146. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2023.1195146

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024.1335831/ full#supplementary-material

14. Ilich JZ. Osteosarcopenic adiposity syndrome update and the role of associated minerals and vitamins. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2021) 80:344–55. doi: 10.1017/S0029665121000586

15. Sandstead HH. Requirements and toxicity of essential trace elements, illustrated by zinc and copper. Am J Clin Nutr. (1995) 61:621S-4S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/61.3.621S

16. Jamiol-Milc D, Gudan A, Kazmierczak-Siedlecka K, Holowko-Ziolek J, Maciejewska-Markiewicz D, Janda-Milczarek K, et al. Nutritional support for liver diseases. *Nutrients*. (2023) 15:15. doi: 10.3390/nu15163640

17. Chen L, Zhao Y, Liu F, Chen H, Tan T, Yao P, et al. Biological aging mediates the associations between urinary metals and osteoarthritis among U.S. adults. *BMC Med.* (2022) 20:207. doi: 10.1186/s12916-022-02403-3

18. Zhang Y, Dong T, Hu W, Wang X, Xu B, Lin Z, et al. Association between exposure to a mixture of phenols, pesticides, and phthalates and obesity: comparison of three statistical models. *Environ Int.* (2019) 123:325–36. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.11.076

19. Shi W, Gao X, Cao Y, Chen Y, Cui Q, Deng F, et al. Personal airborne chemical exposure and epigenetic ageing biomarkers in healthy Chinese elderly individuals: evidence from mixture approaches. *Environ Int.* (2022) 170:107614. doi: 10.1016/j. envint.2022.107614

20. Eslam M, Newsome PN, Sarin SK, Anstee QM, Targher G, Romero-Gomez M, et al. A new definition for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: an international expert consensus statement. *J Hepatol.* (2020) 73:202–9. doi: 10.1016/j. jhep.2020.03.039

21. Han WM, Apornpong T, Su Lwin HM, Thammapiwan S, Bonrungsirisap J, Gatechompol S, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis with liver fibrosis as predictors of new-onset diabetes mellitus in people living with HIV: a longitudinal cohort study. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2023) 77:1687–95. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciad433

22. Zhou J, Meng X, Deng L, Liu N. Non-linear associations between metabolic syndrome and four typical heavy metals: data from NHANES 2011–2018. *Chemosphere*. (2022) 291:132953. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132953

23. Tian T, Zhang J, Xie W, Ni Y, Fang X, Liu M, et al. Dietary quality and relationships with metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) among United States adults, results from NHANES 2017–2018. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:4505. doi: 10.3390/nu14214505

24. Tian X, Xue B, Wang B, Lei R, Shan X, Niu J, et al. Physical activity reduces the role of blood cadmium on depression: a cross-sectional analysis with NHANES data. *Environ Pollut.* (2022) 304:119211. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119211

25. Tan Y, Fu Y, Huang F, Wen L, Weng X, Yao H, et al. Association between blood metal exposures and hyperuricemia in the U.S. general adult: a subgroup analysis from NHANES. *Chemosphere*. (2023) 318:137873. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2023.137873

26. Keil AP, Buckley JP, O'Brien KM, Ferguson KK, Zhao S, White AJ. A quantilebased g-computation approach to addressing the effects of exposure mixtures. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2020) 128:47004. doi: 10.1289/EHP5838 27. Zhou L, Zhang J, Zhang D, Yu Y, Jiang M, Liu H, et al. Co-exposure to multiple vitamins and the risk of all-cause mortality in patients with diabetes. *Front Endocrinol.* (2023) 14:1254133. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1254133

28. Pei X, Yao J, Ran S, Lu H, Yang S, Zhang Y, et al. Association of serum watersoluble vitamin exposures with the risk of metabolic syndrome: results from NHANES 2003–2006. *Front Endocrinol*. (2023) 14:1167317. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1167317

29. Nikniaz L, Mahmudiono T, Jasim SA, Vajdi M, Thangavelu L, Farhangi MA. Nutrient pattern analysis of mineral based, simple sugar based, and fat based diets and risk of metabolic syndrome: a comparative nutrient panel. *BMC Endocr Disord*. (2022) 22:51. doi: 10.1186/s12902-022-00963-2

30. Vajdi M, Farhangi MA, Nikniaz L. Diet-derived nutrient patterns and components of metabolic syndrome: a cross-sectional community-based study. *BMC Endocr Disord.* (2020) 20:69. doi: 10.1186/s12902-020-0547-0

31. Yin T, Zhu X, Xu D, Lin H, Lu X, Tang Y, et al. The association between dietary antioxidant micronutrients and cardiovascular disease in adults in the United States: a cross-sectional study. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:799095. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.799095

32. Kordiak J, Bielec F, Jablonski S, Pastuszak-Lewandoska D. Role of Beta-carotene in lung Cancer primary chemoprevention: a systematic review with meta-analysis and Meta-regression. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:1361. doi: 10.3390/nu14071361

33. Yang J, Zhang Y, Na X, Zhao A. β -Carotene supplementation and risk of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:1284. doi: 10.3390/nu14061284

34. Xiong Z, Liu L, Jian Z, Ma Y, Li H, Jin X, et al. Vitamin E and multiple health outcomes: an umbrella review of meta-analyses. *Nutrients*. (2023) 15:3301. doi: 10.3390/nu15153301

35. Zainal Z, Khaza'ai H, Kutty Radhakrishnan A, Chang SK. Therapeutic potential of palm oil vitamin E-derived tocotrienols in inflammation and chronic diseases: evidence from preclinical and clinical studies. *Food Res Int*. (2022) 156:111175. doi: 10.1016/j. foodres.2022.111175

36. Pahrudin Arrozi A, Wan Ngah WZ, Ahmad Damanhuri H, Makpol S. Modulatory effects of alpha-and gamma-tocopherol on the mitochondrial respiratory capacity and membrane potential in an in vitro model of Alzheimer's disease. *Front Pharmacol.* (2021) 12:698833. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.698833

37. Shin J, Yang SJ, Lim Y. Gamma-tocopherol supplementation ameliorated hyperinflammatory response during the early cutaneous wound healing in alloxan-induced diabetic mice. *Exp Biol Med.* (2017) 242:505–15. doi: 10.1177/1535370216683836

38. Fan X, Yin J, Yin J, Weng X, Ding R. Comparison of the anti-inflammatory effects of vitamin E and vitamin D on a rat model of dextran sulfate sodium-induced ulcerative colitis. *Exp Ther Med.* (2023) 25:98. doi: 10.3892/etm.2023.11797

39. Masenga SK, Kabwe LS, Chakulya M, Kirabo A. Mechanisms of oxidative stress in metabolic syndrome. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2023) 24:7898. doi: 10.3390/ijms24097898

40. Wang Y, Wang J, Tao SY, Liang Z, Xie R, Liu NN, et al. Mitochondrial damageassociated molecular patterns: a new insight into metabolic inflammation in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2023) 40:e3733. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3733

41. Banerjee P, Gaddam N, Chandler V, Chakraborty S. Oxidative stress-induced liver damage and remodeling of the liver vasculature. *Am J Pathol.* (2023) 193:1400–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2023.06.002

42. Waniek S, di Giuseppe R, Plachta-Danielzik S, Ratjen I, Jacobs G, Koch M, et al. Association of vitamin E Levels with metabolic syndrome, and MRI-derived body fat volumes and liver fat content. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1143. doi: 10.3390/nu9101143

43. Traber MG, Mah E, Leonard SW, Bobe G, Bruno RS. Metabolic syndrome increases dietary alpha-tocopherol requirements as assessed using urinary and plasma vitamin E catabolites: a double-blind, crossover clinical trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 105:571–9. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.138495

44. Ciarcia G, Bianchi S, Tomasello B, Acquaviva R, Malfa GA, Naletova I, et al. Vitamin E and non-communicable diseases: a review. *Biomedicines*. (2022) 10:10. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10102473

45. Ran L, Liu AB, Lee MJ, Xie P, Lin Y, Yang CS. Effects of antibiotics on degradation and bioavailability of different vitamin E forms in mice. *Biofactors*. (2019) 45:450–62. doi: 10.1002/biof.1492

46. Vajdi M, Hassanizadeh S, Gholami Z, Bagherniya M. Selenium supplementation effect on glycemic control: a GRADE-assessed systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Pharmacol Res.* (2023) 195:106888. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2023.106888

47. Rios-Lugo MJ, Palos-Lucio AG, Victoria-Campos CI, Lugo-Trampe A, Trujillo-Murillo KDC, Lopez-Garcia MA, et al. Sex-specific association between fasting plasma glucose and serum selenium levels in adults from southern Mexico. *Healthcare*. (2022) 10:10. doi: 10.3390/healthcare10091665 48. Gholami A, Amirkalali B, Baradaran HR, Hariri M. A systematic review and doseresponse meta-analysis of the effect of selenium supplementation on serum concentration of C-reactive protein. *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2023) 80:127273. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2023.127273

49. Cavedon E, Manso J, Negro I, Censi S, Serra R, Busetto L, et al. Selenium supplementation, body mass composition, and leptin levels in patients with obesity on a balanced mildly hypocaloric diet: a pilot study. *Int J Endocrinol.* (2020) 2020:4802739. doi: 10.1155/2020/4802739

50. Ge X, Yang A, Huang S, Luo X, Hou Q, Huang L, et al. Sex-specific associations of plasma metals and metal mixtures with glucose metabolism: an occupational population-based study in China. *Sci Total Environ*. (2021) 760:143906. doi: 10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.143906

51. Tan PY, Soma Roy M. Dietary copper and selenium are associated with insulin resistance in overweight and obese Malaysian adults. *Nutr Res.* (2021) 93:38–47. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2021.06.008

52. Shao R, Su L, Li L, Wu J, He X, Mao D, et al. Higher selenium was associated with higher risk of diabetes: consistent evidence from longitudinal and cross-sectional studies based on nail and serum selenium measures. *Sci Total Environ.* (2022) 840:156618. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156618

53. Fahey JW, Stephenson KK, Dinkova-Kostova AT, Egner PA, Kensler TW, Talalay P. Chlorophyll, chlorophyllin and related tetrapyrroles are significant inducers of mammalian phase 2 cytoprotective genes. *Carcinogenesis*. (2005) 26:1247–55. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgi068

54. Nishino A, Maoka T, Yasui H. Preventive effects of beta-cryptoxanthin, a potent antioxidant and provitamin A carotenoid, on lifestyle-related diseases-a central focus on its effects on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Antioxidants*. (2021) 11:43. doi: 10.3390/antiox11010043

55. Loh WQ, Yin X, Kishida R, Chia SE, Ong CN, Seow WJ. Association between vitamin A and E forms and prostate cancer risk in the Singapore prostate cancer study. *Nutrients*. (2023) 15:2677. doi: 10.3390/nu15122677

56. Mazidi M, Kengne AP, Katsiki N, Mikhailidis DP, Banach M. Inverse association between serum antioxidant levels and inflammatory markers is moderated by adiposity: a report based on a large representative population sample of American adults. *Br J Nutr.* (2018) 120:1272–8. doi: 10.1017/S0007114518002581

57. Zhu X, Shi M, Pang H, Cheang I, Zhu Q, Guo Q, et al. Inverse association of serum carotenoid levels with prevalence of hypertension in the general adult population. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:971879. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.971879

58. Gunanti IR, Marks GC, Al-Mamun A, Long KZ. Low serum concentrations of carotenoids and vitamin E are associated with high adiposity in Mexican-American children. *J Nutr.* (2014) 144:489–95. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.183137

59. Qorbani M, Seif E, Heshmat R, Ghonbalani ZN, Basiry P, Kazemian E, et al. Association of serum retinol concentrations with metabolic syndrome components in Iranian children and adolescents: the CASPIAN-V study. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:807634. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.807634

60. Tian T, Wang Y, Xie W, Zhang J, Ni Y, Peng X, et al. Associations between serum vitamin a and metabolic risk factors among eastern Chinese children and adolescents. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:6969. doi: 10.3390/nu14030610

61. Shymotiuk I, Froese N, Werlein C, Naasner L, Szaroszyk M, Kuhnel MP, et al. Vitamin a regulates tissue-specific organ remodeling in diet-induced obesity independent of mitochondrial function. *Front Endocrinol.* (2023) 14:1118751. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1118751

62. Chen G. The interactions of insulin and vitamin a signaling systems for the regulation of hepatic glucose and lipid metabolism. Cells. (2021) 10:2160. doi: 10.3390/ cells10082160

63. Kim GH, Jeong HJ, Lee YJ, Park HY, Koo SK, Lim JH. Vitamin D ameliorates ageinduced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease by increasing the mitochondrial contact site and cristae organizing system (MICOS) 60 level. *Exp Mol Med.* (2024) 56:142–55. doi: 10.1038/s12276-023-01125-7

64. Bai Y, Li T, Liu J, Wang Y, Wang C, Ju S, et al. Aerobic exercise and vitamin E improve high-fat diet-induced NAFLD in rats by regulating the AMPK pathway and oxidative stress. *Eur J Nutr.* (2023) 62:2621–32. doi: 10.1007/s00394-023-03179-9

65. Gu X, Luo X, Wang Y, He Z, Li X, Wu K, et al. Ascorbic acid attenuates cell stress by activating the fibroblast growth factor 21/fibroblast growth factor receptor 2/ adiponectin pathway in HepG2 cells. *Mol Med Rep.* (2019) 20:2450–8. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2019.10457

66. Tripathi M, Singh BK, Zhou J, Tikno K, Widjaja A, Sandireddy R, et al. Vitamin B₁₂ and folate decrease inflammation and fibrosis in NASH by preventing syntaxin 17 homocysteinylation. J Hepatol. (2022) 77:1246–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.06.033

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Cristina-Mihaela Lacatusu, Grigore T. Popa University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Romania Rout George Kerry, Utkal University, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Khamis Al Hashmi ⊠ kh@squ.edu.om

[†]These authors share first authorship

RECEIVED 14 December 2023 ACCEPTED 11 March 2024 PUBLISHED 19 March 2024

CITATION

Al Hashmi K, Giglio RV, Pantea Stoian A, Patti AM, Al Waili K, Al Rasadi K, Ciaccio M and Rizzo M (2024) Metabolic dysfunctionassociated fatty liver disease: current therapeutic strategies. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1355732. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1355732

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Al Hashmi, Giglio, Pantea Stoian, Patti, Al Waili, Al Rasadi, Ciaccio and Rizzo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: current therapeutic strategies

Khamis Al Hashmi^{1*†}, Rosaria Vincenza Giglio^{2,3†}, Anca Pantea Stoian^{4†}, Angelo Maria Patti^{5†}, Khalid Al Waili⁶, Khalid Al Rasadi^{7,8}, Marcello Ciaccio^{2,3} and Manfredi Rizzo^{9,10}

¹Department of Physiology, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman, ²Department of Biomedicine, Neuroscience and Advanced Diagnostics, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ³Department of Laboratory Medicine, University Hospital, Palermo, Italy, ⁴Department of Diabetes, Nutrition and Metabolic Diseases, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania, ⁵Internal Medicine Unit, "Vittorio Emanuele II" Hospital, Castelvetrano, Italy, ⁶Department of Biochemistry, Sultan Qaboos University Hospital, Muscat, Oman, ⁷Department of Biochemistry, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman, ⁸Medical Research Center, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman, ⁹College of Medicine, Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Dubai, United Arab Emirates, ¹⁰Department of Health Promotion Sciences, Maternal and Infant Care, Internal Medicine and Medical Specialties (PROMISE), University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

The definition of "Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease - MAFLD" has replaced the previous definition of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD), because cardiometabolic criteria have been added for the prevention of cardiological risk in these patients. This definition leads to an in-depth study of the bidirectional relationships between hepatic steatosis, Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM), Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) and/or their complications. Lifestyle modification, which includes correct nutrition combined with regular physical activity, represents the therapeutic cornerstone of MAFLD. When therapy is required, there is not clear accord on how to proceed in an optimal way with nutraceutical or pharmacological therapy. Numerous studies have attempted to identify nutraceuticals with a significant benefit on metabolic alterations and which contribute to the improvement of hepatic steatosis. Several evidences are supporting the use of silymarin, berberine, curcumin, Nigella sativa, Ascophyllum nodosum, and Fucus vesiculosus, vitamin E, coenzyme Q10 and Omega-3. However, more evidence regarding the long-term efficacy and safety of these compounds are required. There is numerous evidence that highlights the use of therapies such as incretins or the use of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin type 9 (PCSK9) inhibitors or other similar therapies which, by assisting existing therapies for pathologies such as diabetes, hypertension, insulin resistance, have given a breakthrough in prevention and the reduction of cardiometabolic risk. This review gave an overview of the current therapeutic strategies that are expected to aid in the treatment and prevention of MAFLD.

KEYWORDS

Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease (MAFLD), Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD), Cardiovascular Disease (CVD), nutraceuticals, innovative therapies

1 Introduction

In recent years, disapprovals took place on the traditional naming of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) which excludes excessive alcohol assumption and the absence of many chronic liver diseases. Therefore, the knowledge on the metabolic alterations of the disease and its high risk of cardio-metabolic complications have raised the necessity to find a new denomination that introduces valid criteria that describe the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms. The new definition "Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease - MAFLD" identifies a condition of hepatic steatosis associated with metabolic alterations that are defined by means of clear and easy-to-apply diagnostic criteria (1) and which underlines the importance of obesity, diabetes, and Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) in the pathogenesis of fat liver (Figure 1) (2). Numerous evidences suggest a strong association between an increase in cardiovascular risk and NAFLD. The Adolescent Brain Cognitive Development (ABCD) study shows that patients affected by fatty liver disease, matched to those who are free of the disease and after managing obesity, have higher Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease (ASCVD) score values and express a higher 10-year risk of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease events (3). Other clinical trials underline that fat liver is an independent risk factor both for enhancement carotid intima-media thickness (4) and for the presence of echocardiographic signs of diastolic cardiac dysfunction (5).

The association between NAFLD and cardiovascular risk is increasingly documented by studies that highlight ultrasound evaluations relating to the presence of carotid plaques after at least 2 years and the presence of fatty liver at the time of baseline evaluation as a factor of independent risk for the appearance of carotid atherosclerotic plaques (6). MAFLD tends to include more than NAFLD patients with metabolic alterations, and therefore with greater cardiovascular risk, older patients, subjects with advanced fibrosis, and patients with other associated liver diseases (the diagnosis is no longer one of exclusion). The internist and the diabetologist become a key figure in the diagnosis and initial care of subject affected by metabolic hepatic pathology. The criteria for the MAFLD diagnosis are important for the appropriate use of innovative therapies and nutraceutical supplements.

Therefore, tailored therapies are needed for the corollary cardiovascular risk lower factors in subject affected by MAFLD and to improve liver function.

1.1 Aim of the review

There is no consensus on the best therapeutic approach to manage patients with MAFLD. The aim of this review is to provide an overview of the current therapeutic strategies, whether pharmacological or otherwise, for the treatment and prevention of MAFLD.

2 Metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD)

Currently, NAFLD is the most frequent hepatic alteration; NAFLD is considered as the presence of fat in liver echography and/or biopsy in the absence of one more hepatic injury (alcohol, hepatotoxic drugs, toxins, viral infections, genetic liver disease) (7).

However, the term NAFLD refers only to liver disease unrelated to alcohol and not to alterations on metabolism and correlated cardiometabolic risk, for that reason, specialists in scientific societies



have taken action to modify and improve this definition. The term MAFLD was proposed in 2020 and is diagnosed on the presence of fatty liver disease (verified by liver echography and/or biopsy) and the presence of one of the following comorbidities: Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM), obesity and metabolic dysfunction (1).

The prevalence of this systemic disease is growing and in the future it could be the main cause of chronic hepatic condition (8).

The prevalence of obesity is implicated in the genesis of MAFLD, and the liver is often involved in obesity because the major metabolic processes linked to glucose and lipids take place in this organ. However, the metabolic dysfunctions do not only occur in the liver but also in other body area; in fact, Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD), osteoporosis, Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome (OSAS), endocrine disorders, depression, cognitive impairment and cardiovascular consequences happen in these patients (9).

There is not accord on how the degree of fatty liver influence atherosclerosis. The association between the severity of fatty liver disease and atherosclerosis may be explained in part by severe lipotoxicity, inflammation, and marked hepatic insulin resistance (10). However, NAFLD/MAFLD still needs to receive enough interest in the community of cardiologists (11). The relationship between MAFLD and Cardiovascular Diseases (CVD)/Subclinical Carotid Atherosclerosis (SCA) is generally assigned to presence of shared risk factors (lipid abnormalities and obesity) (12). MAFLD focuses in the systemic metabolic conditions accompanying steatotic hepatic pathology.

Thus, the relationship between the development of MAFLD and SCA needs to be further explored.

2.1 Metabolic profile of MAFLD

MAFLD is defined as the presence of fatty liver disease associated with at least two metabolic alterations among (13):

- Waist circumference≥102/88 cm in Caucasian men/women or≥90/80 cm in Asian men/women;
- Blood pressure \geq 130/85 mmHg or antihypertensive drugs;
- Plasma Triglycerides (TG) ≥ 150 mg/dL or TG lowering drugs;
 Plasma high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) < 40 mg/dL
- for men and < 50 mg/dL for women or lipid-lowering drugs;
 Fasting plasma glucose levels between 100 and 125 mg/dL or 2 h post-load;
- Glucose levels between 140–199 mg/dL or glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) between 5.7–6.4%;
- Homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) with insulin resistance score ≥2.5;
- High-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels >2 mg/L.

Hepatic steatosis is diagnosed by ultrasound and the hepatic parenchyma appears brightness (14). The presence of steatosis is not always an indication of MAFLD. The possible alternative causes of steatosis (drugs, celiac disease, prolonged fasting, severe weight loss, lipid metabolism disorders) must always be sought in the absence of the clinical criteria of MAFLD.

The pathophysiology of MAFLD is complicated and heterogeneous. The "two-hit hypothesis" proposed by some colleagues predicts that the first hit causes fat accumulation in hepatocytes and the second hit causes oxidative stress, increasing inflammation and leading to fibrosis (15). The second hypothesis instead proposed that MAFLD develops when the synthesis of triglycerides in the liver exceeds the catabolism of non-esterified fats and depends on the oxidation in the mitochondria and the export of the same triglycerides in Very Low-Density Lipoproteins (VLDL) ("multiple hit hypothesis") (16). In patients with MAFLD, the expression of Acetyl-Coenzyme-A Carboxylase 1 (ACC1), an enzyme in de novo lipogenesis, was decreased and acetyl-coenzyme-A was shown to be converted to malonyl-CoA. Accumulation of malonyl-CoA inhibits Carnitine Palmitoyl Transferase (CPT)-1, which transports fatty acids into the mitochondria and decreases β-oxidation. Fatty acid synthase (FAS) induces the conversion of malonyl-CoA to palmitic acid, and its expression is reduced in NASH patients (17), but the mechanism leading to the decrease in triglyceride synthesis appears to be the accumulation of harmful free fats.

MAFLD has been associated with MetS and it has been considered the liver expression of the MetS. MAFLD may facilitate the development of components of the metabolic syndrome, which may in turn predispose to MAFLD (14).

Patients with diabetes have a prevalence of MAFLD two to three times higher than patients without. The improper deposit of fat in the liver causes alterations in energy metabolism and the inflammatory state, generating insulin resistance. Due to this chronic hyperinsulinemia, patients with diabetes tend to accumulate more fat in the liver. In these patients the severity, morbidity, progression, and liver-related mortality associated with MAFLD are much higher (16, 17).

A distinction is no longer made between steatosis and steatohepatitis (therefore, the diagnostic concept of Metabolic dysfunction-Associated Steatohepatitis (MASH) does not exist), but the disease activity as well as the fibrosis are evaluated as a continuum based on the data of non-invasive methods (Table 1) or liver biopsy (NAFLD Activity Score and degree of fibrosis).

Laboratory tests support the MAFLD diagnosis and allow us to evaluate the conditions associated with hepatic steatosis evolution. Generally, liver fibrosis biomarkers reflect matrix turnover but not the extent of extracellular matrix deposition. None of the biomarkers available today are specific to fibrosis in the liver, and inflammatory

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE1}}$ Clinical-laboratory indexes for monitoring the steatosis activity and the fibrosis.

| Clinical-laboratory indexes |
|--|
| AST/platelet ratio index (APRI) |
| BARD score |
| Enhanced Liver Fibrosis (ELF) score |
| Fatty Liver Index (FLI) |
| Fibrosis-4 (FIB-4) index |
| Fibrotest |
| Hepatic Steatosis Index (HSI) |
| HepaScore |
| Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) Fibrometer |
| Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) Fibrosis score |
| Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) Liver Fat Score |
| SteatoTest |

and oxidative states in other sites can contribute to increasing circulating levels.

The indirect markers, which reflect alterations in liver function such as ASpartate aminoTransferase (AST), ALanine aminoTransferase (ALT), platelet count, Gamma-Glutamil Transferas (GGT), total bilirubin, alpha 2-macroglobulin or alpha 2-globulin (mainly haptoglobin), individually provide rather limited clinical information regarding the presence or absence of fibrosis. Hence, scores that consider multiple biomarkers combined in various ways which increase diagnostic accuracy (18) have been proposed (Table 1).

Direct markers which instead reflect liver fibrosis contain biomarkers of collagen synthesis or degradation, extracellular matrix glycoproteins, proteoglycans, and glycosaminoglycans (PIIINP: amino-terminal Propeptide of type III Procollagen; TIMP-1: Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase; TNF: Tumor Necrosis Factor; MMP: Matrix MetalloProteinase) must be consider. Furthermore, in the pathophysiological mechanisms involved in MAFLD, pro-inflammatory molecules such as Transforming Growth Factor beta-1 (TGF-\u03b31), Insulin-Like Growth Factor (IGF-1) and endothelin-1 and inflammatory mediators such as C-Reactive Protein (CRP), Interleukin (IL)-6, and pro-coagulant factors such as fibrinogen, factor VIII and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (19), which also determine insulin resistance (20) must also be considered.

There are different pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the link between MAFLD and atherosclerosis (21). In conditions of insulin resistance, the action of lipases leads to an abnormal flow of fatty acids and the production of chylomicrons (CM) at the intestinal level and VLDL to the liver. Hyperinsulinemia leads to increase fatty acid esterification and inhibit beta-oxidation which determining the triglycerides formation in liver. Dysmetabolic subjects have systematically more active processes of oxidative stress, increase levels of glucose in circulating and increase in blood lipoproteins, leading to foam cell formation and atherosclerotic disease (22).

2.2 Cardiovascular risk in MAFLD

The arterial stiffness and endothelial dysfunction present in MAFLD determine the increase in mortality for cerebrocardiovascular events. The cerebral hemodynamics modifications are detected by transcranial Doppler. This instrumental investigation allows to measure alterations such as the blood flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery, the Pulsatility Index (PI) and the Resistance Index (RI), markers of cerebrovascular vasoconstriction and the Index of Respiratory Retention (RRI).

Subclinical atherosclerosis is significantly correlated with an elevated risk of cardiovascular disease. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness (CIMT) and carotid plaque are surrogate markers for Acute Coronary Syndrome (ACS) risk (23). Through B-mode ultrasound, it is possible to examine the carotid artery, observing the bilateral parts of the internal, external, common, and bifurcations sites (24). High CIMT is defined as CIMT >1.1 mm and identified as carotid plaque CIMT >1.5 mm. ACS is diagnosed with carotid artery plaque or increased CIMT (24).

Subclinical atherosclerosis is closely related to NAFLD as demonstrated in previously conducted studies (25). This close association also applies to MAFLD as reflected in CIMT alterations in these patients (26). The impact of carotid atherosclerosis in MAFLD are most evident in younger subjects or those with severe fatty liver disease. NAFLD has insulin resistance as its pathophysiological mechanism and is regarded a manifestation of cardiometabolic alteration (27). Unfortunately, however, NAFLD is underestimated as an independent risk factor for ASCVD (28) and better attention should be paid to the diagnosis, monitoring, and management of these patients.

Several studies and meta-analyses have established the correlation between NAFLD and the onset of ACS. Surrogate markers of cardiovascular disease such as the presence of carotid plaque, carotid intima-media thickness, brachial artery vasodilatory responsiveness and coronary artery calcification score have been associated to NAFLD (29). MAFLD has been shown to identify high-risk subjects for fibrosis, metabolic dysfunction, and chronic kidney disease (30).

3 Current treatment of MAFLD

To date, there is no consensus on the best therapeutic approach, whether pharmacological or otherwise, for patients with MAFLD.

The therapeutic goals in patients with MAFLD are to reduce steatosis, chronic inflammation, and fibrosis and control the main cardio-metabolic risk factors. In this way, the reduction of hepatic and extrahepatic complications and cardiovascular mortality is hypothesized. According to clinical practice guidelines, optimal therapeutic strategies to halt the progression and development of MAFLD and CVD include lifestyle modification, smoking cessation, weight reduction, dietary intervention, and exercise (31). Smoking cessation is essential for the prevention of the primary causes of MAFLD and CVD (31). In overweight and obese patients with MAFLD, a weight loss of 7–10% is desirable to attain a reduction in hepatic steatosis and vascular and metabolic complications (31). The recommendations for both the treatment of MAFLD and the prevention of cardiovascular diseases envisage a low-carbohydrate, ketogenic, low-fat, high-protein, Mediterranean diet, which causes a reduction in dyslipidemia, fatty liver disease and of its associated comorbidities (31). High-intensity interval exercise, which has been shown to improve plasma lipid levels and insulin resistance as well as CVD risk factors, such as plasma levels of triglyceride-rich VLDL1 particles and LDL cholesterol, should be recommended in combination with proper diet (32).

In addition to modifying lifestyle, which must gradually leads to weight loss and therefore reduction of visceral fat, in recent years, attention has focused on the use of nutraceuticals and/or innovative therapies with proven improving effects on liver enzymes, hepatic steatosis, the reduction of insulin resistance, the lipid profile and that can in a more specific and tailor reduce the possibility of the onset of a cardiovascular event in patients affected by this condition. There is no pharmacological therapy with special indication for MAFLD. All therapies are off-label.

3.1 Nutraceutical supplements

The use of nutraceuticals for the management of NAFLD is a proposition that should not be underestimated. Nutraceuticals alone or in combination with diet and lifestyle modifications promoting weight loss and reducing insulin resistance (33). The use of nutraceuticals in terms of therapeutic intervention in the presence of NAFLD is evidence-based. However, partly due to the relative limitations of studies in this area compared to marketing studies on new drugs and partly due relatively small sample size with a short interval of follow-up, studies are basing their conclusions on surrogate endpoints, rather than purely clinical outcomes (34). The nutraceuticals considered are those bring a significant advantage on cardio metabolic risk, that contribute to the improvement of hepatic steatosis and act by improving metabolic factors. Some of these have rather low bioavailability, which could compromise their effectiveness. Individual genetic composition influences how nutraceuticals are assimilated, stored, and excreted and represents an individualized approach to disease.

Nutraceuticals have effects on health through different actions (inflammation, glycemia and insulinemia, LDL-C, hypertension). In addition, they have complementary actions and can have effects on different biomolecular targets (35).

Silymarin is an antioxidant composed of seven flavonolignans (silybin A, silybin B, isosilybin A, isosilybin B, silychristin, iso-silychristin, and silydianin) and one flavonoid (taxifolin). It represents one of the highly used natural compounds in the management of liver disorders for its anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antifibrotic and insulin-sensitive properties. In preclinical studies performed in mice models, it has been shown that a nutraceutical containing silymarin together with chlorogenic acid, guggul, curcumin and inulin was able to prevent NAFLD and atherosclerosis (36). Also, in patients with NAFLD, the combination of silybin, phosphatidylcholine and vitamin E, administered for 12 months, reduced transaminases, GGT and the degree of steatosis (37). A metaanalysis of eight RCTs showed a significant decrease in aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels. Several other studies confirmed a reduction in HOMA-IR, glycemia and insulinemia in patients affected by NAFLD (38).

Berberine is a quaternary ammonium salt of the isoquinoline alkaloid group known for its lipid-lowering and insulin-sensitizing activity (39). Treatment with 0.5 g of berberine resulted on a significant improvement in the lipid profile and a significant reduction in body weight, HOMA-IR, and hepatic steatosis (40). Furthermore, the coadministration of berberine and silymarin has been shown to be associated with several significant ameliorations in both the lipid and glucose profiles, suggesting that cardiometabolic and health level can be promoted with the potential use of this nutraceutical combination (41).

Curcumin, extracted from *Curcuma longa*, is an insulin-sensitizing nutraceutical that significantly reduces hepatic steatosis (42). Supplementation with curcumin for 8 weeks resulted in a significant improvement in insulinemia, HOMA-IR, waist circumference, blood pressure, TG, HDL-C, hepatic transaminases, GGT and hepatic steatosis in subjects with prediabetes (43).

Nigella sativa belongs to the Ranunculaceae family, whose antioxidant and anti-inflammatory outcomes are attributable to thymoquinone and is used for the treatment of liver diseases (44). Supplementation with *Nigella sativa* significantly improves transaminases, fasting blood sugar, lipid profile, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein and the degree of hepatic steatosis (45).

The combination of *Ascophyllum nodosum* and *Fucus vesiculosus* which slows the intestinal absorption of cholesterol by increasing intestinal viscosity and reduces the absorption of sugars by inhibiting

the enzymes α -amylase and α -glucosidase, significantly reduces insulinemia, HOMA-IR, blood glucose, and also waist circumference. In addition, it significantly increases plasma HDL-C levels after 6 months of therapy (46).

Coenzyme Q10 has anti-inflammatory properties taken into consideration in managing hepatic steatosis and metabolic alterations (47). Coenzyme Q10 regulates adipokine levels and decreases oxidative stress in patients with metabolic syndrome. The intake of 100 mg/day of coenzyme Q10 for 3 weeks led to a reduction in transaminases and GGT, an improvement in the adiponectin/leptin ratio and better glucose control (48). Coenzyme Q10 has a high safety profile without relevant pharmacological interactions. However, its relatively low bioavailability raised limitation concerns for its use.

Polyunsaturated fatty acids of the omega-3 series could play a role in the treatment of metabolic and hepatic disorders characterizing MAFLD (49). Long-term supplementation with omega-3 is associated with a significant improvement in AST, ALT, and the degree of hepatic steatosis (50), TG, HOMA-IR and glycemia (51).

The synergistic nutraceutical combination therapy prescribed for MAFLD could benefit a series of diseases perhaps unknown to the patient and indirectly treated can help in the prevention of cardiovascular risk factors. Silymarin, polyunsaturated fatty acids of the ω -3 series, coenzyme Q10, berberine and curcumin possess hepatoprotective activity and exert a favorable action on the CV system. Traditional Chinese herbal combinations such as Artemisia capillaris (Thunb), *Gardenia jasminoides* (Ellis), and *Rheum palmatum* (L) exert anti-NAFLD effects (33).

The consumption of chlorogenic acid and its derivatives and luteolin and its derivatives by individuals with MetS with a follow-up period of 6 months shown a significant improvement in body weight (p < 0.001), waist circumference (p = 0.003), HbA1c (p < 0.001), plasma lipids (p < 0.001 for Tchol. LDL and TG), Fatty Liver Index (FLI), a surrogate marker of fatty liver disease (p < 0.001), liver transaminases, flow-mediated dilatation (p < 0.001), and carotid intima-media thickness (p < 0.001), regardless of the degree of fatty liver disease (52). The effect of a supplement containing *Curcuma longa*, silymarin, guggul, chlorogenic acid, and inulin was evaluated in patients with MetS for 4 months. There were significant reductions in body weight (p < 0.0001), Body Mass Index (BMI) (p = 0.001), waist circumference (p = 0.0004), fasting glucose (p = 0.014), and total cholesterol (p = 0.03) (53).

3.2 Pharmacological treatment

Drug therapies for MAFLD management tend to decrease fat accumulation in the liver, activate metabolic pathways, and improve liver damage.

Acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) is recommended in an established atherosclerotic disease, reduces liver fibrosis, and prevents cardiovascular events (31). Statins are key elements in the pharmacological modification of cardiovascular risk and are recommended for patients with MAFLD and NASH (54). In subjects with elevated transaminases, atorvastatin reduced cardiovascular risk due to both cardiological and hepatological benefits (31). The use of ezetimibe is tolerable and effective for the prevention of CVD in MAFLD. It reduces hepatic lipid synthesis and improves liver histology (55). Bempedoic acid, an inhibitor of ATP citrate lyase (an enzyme involved in the synthesis of cholesterol upstream of HMGCoA reductase), reduces LDL cholesterol by 28% in monotherapy and in combination with statins and ezetimibe (56).

Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin type 9 (PCSK9) influences muscle and hepatic lipid accumulation and contribute to the pathogenesis and progression of MAFLD. No liver-related negative signals were reported in the Fourier (Evolocumab) and Odyssey (Alirocumab) studies, and it appears to be safe in the patients with liver disease (31). A beneficial activity is exerted by Pemafibrate, which is much more selective for PPAR alpha than PPAR gamma or PPAR delta (56). Pemafibrate improved macrophage accumulation, and ballooning degeneration of hepatocytes without a noticeable change in TG accumulation in the liver (57). It also improved markers of liver inflammation, function and fibrosis (58).

Obeticholic acid (OCA), a semisynthetic variant of the naturally occurring bile acid chenodeoxycholic acid, increased insulin sensitivity and decreased markers of liver fibrosis in NAFLD patients with T2DM (59).

The presence of MAFLD in T2DM raise the risk of microvascular complications (especially diabetic nephropathy), increases cardiovascular risk, and has a three times greater risk of presenting itself in the form of advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma. The hypoglycemic drugs used for the treatment of diabetes, a disease often associated with the onset of MAFLD, have been used for a long time in the treatment of MAFLD. Metformin used in MAFLD patients with T2DM had a greater benefit on improving aminotransferase levels than vitamin E treatment (60). In MAFLD, metformin directly reduced fat deposition and inhibited inflammation in the liver by enhancing phosphorylation of hepatic 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and ACC and reduced lipogenic enzymes and proinflammatory cytokines (61). Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors improve liver enzymes AST and ALT and liver fat accumulation (62).

SGLT2 inhibitors reduce body fluids and body weight and may be recommended in obese subjects with MAFLD (63). Treatment with canagliflozin for 20 weeks delayed the onset of NASH and caused reduction in liver enzymes [ALT, AST, Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP), and GGT] and body weight, and increased bilirubin (64). Empagliflozin reduces liver fat content and improves hepatic steatosis and fibrosis, decreases AST and ALT in MAFLD patients with or without T2DM (64). Furthermore, it decreased the expression of hepatic inflammatory genes such as TNF-a, interleukin-6 and Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1) in NASH and in combination with linagliptin, a DPP-4 inhibitor, it reduces mRNA expression for genes associated with fatty acid synthesis, collagen deposition and expression of Alpha Smooth Muscle Actin (α SMA), which is an indicator of fibrosis (64). Empagliflozin reduces insulin resistance and attenuates inflammasome and triglyceride NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP-3) activation in the liver (64). Empagliflozin has shown a beneficial effect on steatosis, ballooning, and fibrosis (65). Ipragliflozin reduced thiobarbituric acid reactive substances and carbonyl and inflammatory protein markers in NASH (66).

Another class of drugs that benefit patients with MAFLD are the Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) Receptor agonists (GLP-1RAs). GLP-1RAs delay the progression of MAFLD by inhibiting inflammation, insulin resistance, oxidative stress, enzymes participated in hepatic lipogenesis, and stimulating the autophagy/ mitophagy pathway, as well as enzymes responsible for β -oxidation (67-71). There is a downregulation of GLP-1 receptors in MAFLD (72): GLP-1 analogs inhibit MAFLD by inhibiting the NLRP3 inflammasome through potentiation of autophagic/mitophagic pathways, increasing antioxidant defense in the liver and inhibiting macrophage recruitment and activation (73). They improve insulin sensitivity by reducing JNK phosphorylation and enhancing $\ensuremath{\text{PPAR}\gamma}$ expression and activity (74). These drugs decrease liver enzymes, body weight, and liver content. Exenatide treatment reduced fatty liver disease associated with decreased body weight, visceral fat, and fasting glucose levels (75). In the Liraglutide Efficacy and Action in NASH (LEAN) study, 39% of patients treated with liraglutide showed resolution of steatohepatitis on liver biopsy with improvements in blood glucose, HbA1c, GGT, and HDL, along with a weight loss of approximately 5 kg (76). Use of Liraglutide in patients with T2DM and NAFLD reduced CIMT, a surrogate marker of atherosclerosis, independently of glucometabolic changes (77). The use of semaglutide in patients with diabetes reduces hepatic fibrosis and steatosis parameters and the anthropometric, hepatic, and glycemic indices, as well as plasma lipids independent to the variations in CIMT and HbA1c (78).

Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors work by impeding the activities of (DPP-4) to increase incretin levels and decrease glucagon release by increasing exocytosis of the insulin and fatty acid oxidation in the liver, decreasing gastric emptying, and lowering hepatic glucose production (79). Sitagliptin, a glyptin-based drug, has been found to cause reduction in liver enzymes, body weight, and hepatocyte swelling in patients with diabetes and NASH (80), but randomized clinical trials of this class of DPP-4 inhibitors in patients with NASH are needed.

4 Conclusion

MAFLD has a very important impact on the healthcare system. MAFLD is a fairly complex pathology, a condition for which strict metabolic control a tailored therapy that can also be efficient in the prevention of cardiovascular complications as well as in the treatment of the pathologies present in its corollary as T2DM is required (Figure 2). The replacement of the term "non-alcoholic" with the term "metabolic" of fatty liver disease brings with it series of psychological mechanisms that favor greater awareness and attention to the disease on the part of patients, doctors, and the pharmaceutical industry.

There are no specific therapies for MAFLD. It is clear that drugs used for the treatment of diabetes, obesity, insulin resistance, hypercholesterolemia and hypertension could be proposed for the treatment of MAFLD and studies on the mechanisms that regulate lipid accumulation in the liver may lead to promising future therapies. Incretin therapies have an anti-inflammatory, lipid-lowering action, and act directly on the atheromatous plaque, blocking its progression. In addition, they act on body weight directly on the metabolism of adipocytes and have a direct effect on hepatic steatosis. The PCSK9 inhibitor acts instead by modulating both the internalization of the LDL receptor at the liver level, but also by improving hepatic steatosis. All this leads to a reduction in serum and endothelial LDL with a reduction in the risk of plaque formation and progression. Innovative therapies have proven to be effective in managing patients with



diabetes, obesity, insulin resistance and hypercholesterolemia, but also in patients with MAFLD (56–81).

The evidence currently available regarding the use of nutraceuticals suggests hepatoprotective effects and positive outcomes on the metabolic front (33–53, 82, 83). Further studies are required to confirm observations and optimize nutraceutical treatment for MAFLD and to ensure their long-term efficacy and safety. In addition, it is wise to emphasize that dietary modification represents a very important lifestyle changes that over the years has been associated with lower cardiometabolic risk. The burden of cardiometabolic diseases is lowered by appropriate diet rich in proteins of animal and vegetable origin and poor in meat (84). The Mediterranean diet is still proposed by international guidelines as the treatment of choice (85, 86). To successfully alleviate MAFLD and associated comorbidities, new molecular markers should be identified and use as specific targets for the treatment of this pathology with high cardio-metabolic risk (87, 88).

Author contributions

KAH: Supervision, Writing – original draft. RVG: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – original draft. APS: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. AMP: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – original draft. KAW: Writing – review & editing. KAR: Writing – review & editing. MC: Conceptualization,

References

1. Eslam M, Newsome PN, Sarin SK, Anstee QM, Targher G, Romero-Gomez M, et al. A new definition for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: an

Supervision, Writing – review & editing. MR: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

international expert consensus statement. J Hepatol. (2020) 73:202–9. doi: 10.1016/j. jhep.2020.03.039

2. Fouad Y, Waked I, Bollipo S, Gomaa A, Ajlouni Y, Attia D. What's in a name renaming 'NAFLD' to 'MAFLD'. *Liver Int*. (2020) 40:1254–61. doi: 10.1111/liv.14478

3. Pennisi G, Di Marco V, Buscemi C, Mazzola G, Randazzo C, Spatola F, et al. Interplay between non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and cardiovascular risk in an asymptomatic general population. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 36:2389–96. doi: 10.1111/jgh.15523

4. Fracanzani AL, Burdick L, Raselli S, Pedotti P, Grigore L, Santorelli G, et al. Carotid artery intima-media thickness in non alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Am J Med.* (2008) 121:72–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2007.08.041

5. Bonapace S, Perseghin G, Molon G, Canali G, Bertolini L, Zoppini G, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2012) 35:389–95. doi: 10.2337/ dc11-1820

6. Pais R, Giral P, Khan JF, Rosenbaum D, Housset C, Poynard T, et al. Fatty liver is an independent predictor of early carotid atherosclerosis. *J Hepatol.* (2016) 65:95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.02.023

7. Rinella ME. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review. JAMA. (2015) 313:2263-73. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.5370

8. Eslam M, George J. Refining the role of epicardial adipose tissue in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatol Int.* (2019) 13:662–4. doi: 10.1007/s12072-019-09990-z

9. Li AA, Ahmed A, Kim D. Extrahepatic manifestations of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gut Liver*. (2020) 14:168–78. doi: 10.5009/gnl19069

10. Lyu K, Zhang Y, Zhang D, Kahn M, ter Horst KW, Rodrigues MRS, et al. A membrane-bound diacylglycerol species induces PKC-mediated hepatic insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* (2020) 32:654–664.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.08.001

11. Zhou XD, Cai J, Targher G, Byrne CD, Shapiro MD, Sung KC, et al. Metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease and implications for cardiovascular risk and disease prevention. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2022) 21:270. doi: 10.1186/s12933-022-01697-0

12. Miptah HN, Ramli AS, Mohamad M, Hashim H, Tharek Z. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and the cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk categories in primary care: is there an association? *BMC Fam Pract.* (2020) 21:238. doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01306-7

13. Lim S, Kim JW, Targher G. Links between metabolic syndrome and metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 32:500–14. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2021.04.008

14. National Workshop on Fatty Liver and Alcoholic Liver Disease, Chinese Society of Hepatology, Chinese Medical Association, Fatty Liver Expert Committee and Chinese Medical Doctor Association. Guidelines of prevention and treatment for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a 2018 update. *Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi.* 2018:195–203.

15. Day CP, James OF. Steatohepatitis: a tale of two "hits"? *Gastroenterology*. (1998) 114:842845

16. Santos RD, Valenti L, Romeo S. Does nonalcoholic fatty liver disease cause cardiovascular disease? *Curr Knowledge Gaps Atherosclerosis.* (2019) 282:110–20. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2019.01.029

17. Boeckmans J, Natale A, Buyl K, Rogiers V, de Kock J, Vanhaecke T, et al. Humanbased systems: mechanistic NASH modelling just around the corner? *Pharmacol Res.* (2018) 134:257–67. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2018.06.029

18. Mózes FE, Lee JA, Selvaraj EA, Jayaswal ANA, Trauner M, Boursier J, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of non-invasive tests for advanced fibrosis in patients with NAFLD: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Gut.* (2022) 71:1006–19. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324243

19. Elagizi A, Kachur S, Lavie CJ, Carbone S, Pandey A, Ortega FB, et al. An overview and update on obesity and the obesity paradox in cardiovascular diseases. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* (2018) 61:142–50. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2018.07.003

20. Ballestri S, Lonardo A, Bonapace S, Byrne CD, Loria P, Targher G. Risk of cardiovascular, cardiac and arrhythmic complications in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2014) 20:1724–45. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20. i7.1724

21. Tilg H, Effenberger M. From NAFLD to MAFLD: when pathophysiology succeeds. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020) 17:387–8. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-0316-6

22. Cai J, Zhang XJ, Ji YX, Zhang P, She ZG, Li H. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease pandemic fuels the upsurge in cardiovascular diseases. *Circ Res.* (2020) 126:679–704. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.316337

23. Lester SJ, Eleid MF, Khandheria BK, Hurst RT. Carotid intima-media thickness and coronary artery calcium score as indications of subclinical atherosclerosis. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2009) 84:229–33. doi: 10.4065/84.3.229

24. Patti AM, Nikolic D, Magan-Fernandez A, Giglio RV, Castellino G, Chianetta R, et al. Exenatide once-weekly improves metabolic parameters, endothelial dysfunction and carotid intima-media thickness in patients with type-2 diabetes: an 8-month prospective study. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2019) 149:163–9. doi: 10.1016/j. diabres.2019.02.006

25. Li W, Liu J, Cai J, Zhang XJ, Zhang P, She ZG, et al. NAFLD as a continuous driver in the whole spectrum of vascular disease. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* (2022) 163:118–32. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2021.10.007

26. Liu S, Wang J, Wu S, Niu J, Zheng R, Bie L, et al. The progression and regression of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease are associated with the development of subclinical atherosclerosis: a prospective analysis. *Metabolism.* (2021) 120:154779. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2021.154779

27. Than NN, Newsome PN. A concise review of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Atherosclerosis.* (2015) 239:192–202. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.01.001

28. Stefan N, Haring HU, Cusi K. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: causes, diagnosis, cardiometabolic consequences, and treatment strategies. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2019) 7:313–24. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30154-2

29. Buckley AJ, Thomas EL, Lessan N, Trovato FM, Trovato GM, Taylor-Robinson SD. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: relationship with cardiovascular risk markers and clinical endpoints. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2018) 144:144–52. doi: 10.1016/j. diabres.2018.08.011

30. Gofton C, Upendran Y, Zheng MH, George J. MAFLD: how is it different from NAFLD? *Clin Mol Hepatol.* (2023) 29:S17–31. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2022.0367

31. Niederseer D, Wernly B, Aigner E, Stickel F, Datz C. NAFLD and cardiovascular diseases: epidemiological, mechanistic and therapeutic considerations. *J Clin Med.* (2021) 10:467. doi: 10.3390/jcm10030467

32. Seebacher F, Zeigerer A, Kory N, Krahmer N. Hepatic lipid droplet homeostasis and fatty liver disease. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* (2020) 108:72–81. doi: 10.1016/j. semcdb.2020.04.011

33. Rizzo M, Colletti A, Pensonc PE, Katsiki N, Mikhailidis DP, Toth PP, et al. Nutraceutical approaches to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): a position paper from the international lipid expert panel (ILEP). *Pharmacol Res.* (2023) 189:106679. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2023.106679

34. Patti AM, Al-Rasadi K, Giglio RV, Nikolic D, Mannina C, Castellino G, et al. Natural approaches in metabolic syndrome management. *Arch Med Sci.* (2018) 14:422–41. doi: 10.5114/aoms.2017.68717

35. Giglio RV, Pantea Stoian A, Al-Rasadi K, Banach M, Patti AM, Ciaccio M, et al. Novel therapeutical approaches to managing atherosclerotic risk. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:4633. doi: 10.3390/ijms22094633

36. Amato A, Caldara GF, Nuzzo D, Baldassano S, Picone P, Rizzo M, et al. NAFLD and atherosclerosis are prevented by a natural dietary supplement containing curcumin, Silymarin, Guggul, Chlorogenic acid and inulin in mice fed a high-fat diet. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:492. doi: 10.3390/nu9050492

37. Loguercio C, Andreone P, Brisc C, Brisc MC, Bugianesi E, Chiaramonte M, et al. Silybin combined with phosphatidylcholine and vitamin E in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2012) 52:1658–65. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.02.008

38. Kalopitas G, Antza C, Doundoulakis I, Siargkas A, Kouroumalis E, Germanidis G, et al. Impact of Silymarin in individuals with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrition*. (2021) 83:111092. doi: 10.1016/j. nut.2020.111092

39. Caliceti C, Franco P, Spinozzi S, Roda A, Cicero AFG. Berberine: new insights from pharmacological aspects to clinical evidences in the management of metabolic disorders. *Curr Med Chem*. (2016) 23:1460–76. doi: 10.2174/092986732366616041114331 4

40. Wei X, Wang C, Hao S, Song H, Yang L. The therapeutic effect of Berberine in the treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a meta-analysis. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2016) 2016:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2016/3593951

41. Fogacci F, Grassi D, Rizzo M, Cicero AFG. Metabolic effect of berberine-silymarin association: a meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials. *Phytother Res.* (2019) 33:862–70. doi: 10.1002/ptr.6282

42. Zabihi NA, Pirro M, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A. Is there a role for curcumin supplementation in the treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease? The data suggest yes. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2017) 23:969–82. doi: 10.2174/1381612822666161010115235

43. Cicero AFG, Sahebkar A, Fogacci F, Bove M, Giovannini M, Borghi C. Effects of phytosomal curcumin on anthropometric parameters, insulin resistance, cortisolemia and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease indices: a double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Eur J Nutr.* (2020) 59:477–83. doi: 10.1007/s00394-019-01916-7

44. Khonche A, Huseini HF, Gholamian M, Mohtashami R, Nabati F, Kianbakht S. Standardized *Nigella sativa* seed oil ameliorates hepatic steatosis, aminotransferase and lipid levels in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized, double-blind and placebocontrolled clinical trial. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2019) 234:106–11. doi: 10.1016/j. jep.2019.01.009

45. Hallajzadeh J, Milajerdi A, Mobini M, Amirani E, Azizi S, Nikkhah E, et al. Effects of *Nigella sativa* on glycemic control, lipid profiles, and biomarkers of inflammatory and oxidative stress: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Phytother Res.* (2020) 34:2586–608. doi: 10.1002/ptr.6708

46. Nicolucci A, Rossi MC, Petrelli M. Effectiveness of *Ascophyllum nodosum* and *Fucus vesiculosus* on metabolic syndrome components: a real-world. *Observational Study* J Diabetes Res. (2021) 2021:1–8. doi: 10.1155/2021/3389316

47. Di Lorenzo A, Iannuzzo G, Parlato A, Cuomo G, Testa C, Coppola M, et al. Clinical evidence for Q10 coenzyme supplementation in heart failure: from energetics to functional improvement. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:1266. doi: 10.3390/jcm9051266

48. Farsi F, Mohammadshahi M, Alavinejad P, Rezazadeh A, Zarei M, Engali KA. Functions of co-enzyme Q10 supplementation on liver enzymes, markers of systemic inflammation, and Adipokines in patients affected by nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Nutr.* (2016) 35:346–53. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2015.1021057

49. Liu QK. Triglyceride-lowering and anti-inflammatory mechanisms of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids for atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk reduction. *J Clin Lipidol.* (2021) 15:556–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2021.05.007

50. Chen LH, Wang YF, Xu QH, Chen SS. Omega-3 fatty acids as a treatment for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin Nutr.* (2018) 37:516–21. doi: 10.1016/j. clnu.2016.12.009

51. Yan JH, Guan BJ, Gao HY, Peng XE. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2018) 97:e12271. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000012271

52. Castellino G, Nikolic D, Magán-Fernández A, Malfa GA, Chianetta R, Patti AM, et al. Altilix[®] supplement containing Chlorogenic acid and Luteolin improved hepatic and Cardiometabolic parameters in subjects with metabolic syndrome: a 6 month randomized, double-blind. *Placebo Controlled Study Nutrients.* (2019) 11:2580. doi: 10.3390/nu11112580

53. Patti AM, Al-Rasadi K, Katsiki N, Banerjee Y, Nikolic D, Vanella L, et al. Effect of a natural supplement containing *Curcuma Longa*, Guggul, and Chlorogenic acid in patients with metabolic syndrome. *Angiology*. (2015) 66:856–61. doi: 10.1177/0003319714568792

54. Perla FM, Prelati M, Lavorato M, Visicchio D, Anania C. The role of lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Children*. (2017) 4:46. doi: 10.3390/children4060046

55. Katzmann JL, Laufs U. New insights in the control of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol to prevent cardiovascular disease. *Curr Cardiol Rep.* (2019) 21:69. doi: 10.1007/s11886-019-1159-z

56. Ferri N, Corsini A, Sirtori C, Ruscica M. PPAR-alpha agonists are still on the rise: an update on clinical and experimental findings. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs*. (2017) 26:593–602. doi: 10.1080/13543784.2017.1312339

57. Sasaki Y, Asahiyama M, Tanaka T, Yamamoto S, Murakami K, Kamiya W, et al. Pemafibrate, a selective PPAR-alpha modulator, prevents non-alcoholic steatohepatitis development without reducing the hepatic triglyceride content. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:7818. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-64902-8

58. Shinozaki S, Tahara T, Lefor AK, Ogura M. Pemafibrate decreases markers of hepatic inflammation in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Exp Hepatol.* (2020) 6:270–4. doi: 10.5114/ceh.2020.99528

59. Mudaliar S, Henry RR, Sanyal AJ, Morrow L, Marschall H–U, Kipnes M, et al. Efficacy and safety of the farnesoid X receptor agonist obeticholic acid in patients with type 2 diabetes and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology.* (2013) 145:574–582.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.05.042

60. Mundi MS, Velapati S, Patel J, Kellogg TA, Abu Dayyeh BK, Hurt RT. Evolution of NAFLD and its management. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (2020) 35:72–84. doi: 10.1002/ncp.10449

61. Woo SL, Xu H, Li H, Zhao Y, Hu X, Zhao J, et al. Metformin ameliorates hepatic steatosis and inflammation without altering adipose phenotype in diet-induced obesity. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e91111. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091111

62. Ge X, Zheng L, Wang M, du Y, Jiang J. Prevalence trends in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease at the global, regional and national levels, 1990-2017: a population-based observational study. *BMJ Open*. (2020) 10:e036663. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-036663

63. Pereira MJ, Eriksson JW. Emerging role of SGLT-2 inhibitors for the treatment of obesity. *Drugs*. (2019) 79:219–30. doi: 10.1007/s40265-019-1057-0

64. Shiba K, Tsuchiya K, Komiya C, Miyachi Y, Mori K, Shimazu N, et al. Canagliflozin, an SGLT2 inhibitor, attenuates the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in a mouse model of human NASH. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:2362. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19658-7

65. Lai LL, Vethakkan SR, Mustapha SM, Mahadeva S, Chan W-K, et al. Empagliflozin for the treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2020) 65:623–31. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-5477-1

66. Tahara A, Kurosaki E, Yokono M, Yamajuku D, Kihara R, Hayashizaki Y, et al. Effects of SGLT2 selective inhibitor ipragliflozin on hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, hepatic steatosis, oxidative stress, inflammation, and obesity in type 2 diabetic mice. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2013) 715:246–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.05.014

67. Rizzo M, Nikolic D, Patti AM, Mannina C, Montalto G, McAdams BS, et al. GLP-1 receptor agonists and reduction of cardiometabolic risk: potential underlying mechanisms. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis.* (2018) 1864:2814–21. doi: 10.1016/j. bbadis.2018.05.012

68. Patti AM, Giglio RV, Papanas N, Rizzo M, Rizvi AA. Future perspectives of the pharmacological management of diabetic dyslipidemia. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol.* (2019) 12:129–43. doi: 10.1080/17512433.2019.1567328

69. Patti AM, Rizvi AA, Giglio RV, Stoian AP, Ligi D, Mannello F. Impact of glucoselowering medications on cardiovascular and metabolic risk in type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:912. doi: 10.3390/jcm9040912

70. Morrison AM, Sullivan AE, Aday AW. Atherosclerotic disease: pathogenesis and approaches to management. *Med Clin North Am.* (2023) 107:793–805. doi: 10.1016/j. mcna.2023.04.004

71. Rizzo M, Nikolic D, Banach M, Giglio RV, Patti AM, Bartolo VD, et al. The effects of liraglutide on glucose, inflammatory markers and lipoprotein metabolism: current knowledge and future perspective. *Clin. Lipidol.* (2013) 8:173–81. doi: 10.2217/clp.13.8

72. Sofogianni A, Filippidis A, Chrysavgis L, Tziomalos K, Cholongitas E. Glucagonlike peptide-1 receptor agonists in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: an update. *World J Hepatol.* (2020) 12:493–505. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v12.i8.493

73. Shao N, Yu XY, Ma XF, Lin W-J, Hao M, Kuang H-Y. Exenatide delays the progression of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in C57BL/6 mice, which may involve inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome through the mitophagy pathway. *Gastroenterol Res Pract.* (2018) 2018:1864307. doi: 10.1155/2018/1864307

74. Svegliati-Baroni G, Saccomanno S, Rychlicki C, Agostinelli L, de Minicis S, Candelaresi C, et al. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation stimulates hepatic lipid oxidation and restores hepatic signalling alteration induced by a high-fat diet in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Liver Int.* (2011) 31:1285–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02462.x

75. Liu L, Yan H, Xia M, Zhao L, Lv M, Zhao N, et al. Efficacy of exenatide and insulin glargine on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2020) 36:e3292. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3292

76. Armstrong MJ, Gaunt P, Aithal GP, Barton D, Hull D, Parker R, et al. Liraglutide safety and efficacy in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (LEAN): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 study. *Lancet.* (2016) 387:679–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00803-X

77. Rizvi AA, Patti AM, Giglio RV, Nikolic D, Amato A, al-Busaidi N, et al. Liraglutide improves carotid intima-media thickness in patients with type 2 diabetes and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: an 8-month prospective pilot study. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2015) 15:1391–7. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2015.1067299

78. Patti AM, Giglio RV, Allotta A, Bruno A, di Bella T, Pantea Stoian A, et al. Effect of semaglutide on subclinical atherosclerosis and cardiometabolic compensation: a realworld study in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Biomedicines*. (2023) 11:1362. doi: 10.3390/ biomedicines11051362

79. Sayari S, Neishaboori H, Jameshorani M. Combined effects of synbiotic and sitagliptin versus sitagliptin alone in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Mol Hepatol.* (2018) 24:331–8. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2018.0006

80. Yilmaz Y, Yonal O, Deyneli O, Celikel CA, Kalayci C, Duman DG. Effects of sitagliptin in diabetic patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Acta Gastroenterol Belg.* (2012) 75:240–4.

81. Giglio RV, Muzurović EM, Patti AM, Toth PP, Agarwal MA, Almahmeed W, et al. Treatment with proprotein convertase Subtilisin/Kexin type 9 inhibitors (PCSK9i): current evidence for expanding the paradigm? *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther*. (2023) 28:10742484231186855. doi: 10.1177/10742484231186855

82. Patti AM, Carruba G, Cicero AFG, Banach M, Nikolic D, Giglio RV, et al. Daily use of extra virgin olive oil with high oleocanthal concentration reduced body weight, waist circumference, alanine transaminase, inflammatory cytokines and hepatic steatosis in subjects with the metabolic syndrome: a 2-month intervention study. *Meta.* (2020) 10:392. doi: 10.3390/metabo10100392

83. Gheorghe G, Stoian AP, Gaman MA, Socea B, Neagu TP, Stanescu AMA, et al. The benefits and risks of antioxidant treatment in liver diseases. *Rev Chim.* (2019) 70:651–5. doi: 10.37358/RC.19.2.6977

84. Zhubi-Bakija F, Bajraktari G, Bytyçi I, Mikhailidis DP, Henein MY, Latkovskis G, et al. The impact of type of dietary protein, animal versus vegetable, in modifying cardiometabolic risk factors: a position paper from the international lipid expert panel (ILEP). *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:255–76. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.05.017

85. Zelber-Sagi S, Salomone F, Mlynarsky L. The Mediterranean dietary pattern as the diet of choice for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: evidence and plausible mechanisms. *Liver Int.* (2017) 37:936–49. doi: 10.1111/liv.13435

86. Xiao Y, Zhang X, Yi D, Qiu F, Wu L, Tang Y, et al. Mediterranean diet affects the metabolic outcome of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease. *Front Nutr.* (2023) 10:1225946. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1225946

87. Zhou XD, Targher G, Byrne CD, Somers V, Kim SU, Chahal CAA, et al. An international multidisciplinary consensus statement on MAFLD and the risk of CVD. *Hepatol Int.* (2023) 17:773–91. doi: 10.1007/s12072-023-10543-8

88. Aleknavičiūtė-Valienė G, Banys V. Clinical importance of laboratory biomarkers in liver fibrosis. *Biochem Med.* (2022) 32:030501. doi: 10.11613/BM.2022.030501

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Lucas Massier, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Pascal Gottmann, German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbruecke (DIfE), Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Mohamed A. Elrayess m.elrayess@qu.edu.qa

RECEIVED 11 January 2024 ACCEPTED 07 March 2024 PUBLISHED 25 March 2024

CITATION

Alser M, Naja K and Elrayess MA (2024) Mechanisms of body fat distribution and gluteal-femoral fat protection against metabolic disorders. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1368966. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1368966

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Alser, Naja and Elrayess. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mechanisms of body fat distribution and gluteal-femoral fat protection against metabolic disorders

Maha Alser¹, Khaled Naja¹ and Mohamed A. Elrayess^{1,2}*

¹Biomedical Research Center, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar, ²QU Health, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar

Obesity is a major health problem that affects millions of individuals, and it is associated with metabolic diseases including insulin resistance (IR), type 2 diabetes (T2D), and cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). However, Body fat distribution (BFD) rather than crude obesity is now considered as a more accurate factor associated with these diseases. The factors affecting BFD vary, from genetic background, epigenetic factors, ethnicity, aging, hormonal changes, to lifestyle and medication consumptions. The main goal of controlling BFD comes from the fact that fat accumulation in different depots has a different effect on the overall health and metabolic health of individuals. It is well established that fat storage in the abdominal visceral depot is associated with metabolic disorder occurrence, while gluteal-femoral subcutaneous fat depot seems to be protective against these diseases. In this paper, we will summarize the factors affecting fat distribution. Then, we will present evidence connecting glutealfemoral fat depot with protection against metabolic disorders including IR, T2D, and CVDs. Finally, we will list the suggested mechanisms that lead to this protective effect. The abstract is visualized in Graphical Abstract.

KEYWORDS

metabolic protection, prediabetes, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, body fat distribution, thigh fat

1 Introduction

Obesity is a major public health problem, affecting millions of individuals worldwide. According to World Obesity Atlas (1), the proportion of the obese population ($BMI \ge 30$) will reach 17% in 2025, and 20% in 2030 affecting more than 1.5 billion people. It is noteworthy to mention that COVID-19 pandemic has worsened the obesity epidemic, and the restrictions from 2020 to 2022 have increased the risk of weight gain by increasing sedentary and unhealthy dietary behaviors, and significantly reduced access to health care (2).

Obesity is a complex multifactorial disease, meaning it is caused by multiple interacting factors, including genetics, environmental, and behavioral factors (3). The long-term serious effect of obesity lies in the increasing likelihood of many diseases, including insulin resistance (IR) and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (4), chronic kidney disease (CKD) (5), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and some cancers (6). Additionally, both obesity and T2D increase the prevalence of cardiovascular disorders (CVDs) (7). Although obesity and BMI represent a good indicator of the overall metabolic health profile, studies have shown that the distribution of body fat into fat depots plays a more important role in the co-morbidity of the metabolic



diseases (8). This indicates that BFD measurements along BMI need to be considered to assess metabolic health. These measurements include simple waist to hip ratio, where the waist circumference (reflecting abdominal adiposity) is divided by the hip circumference [reflecting gluteal femoral (GF) fat adiposity]. Other more accurate measurements include body imaging to measure actual fat depot sizes.

Adipose tissue functions not only as a fat storage organ, but also as a dynamic organ (9); therefore, fat storage in different depots have diverse impact on human health. In fact, each fat depot contributes differently as metabolic and endocrine organ, leading to different levels of metabolic disorders (10). It is well established that over-accumulating fat in the abdominal fat depot is associated with metabolic disorders; Increases of abdominal adiposity as opposed to overall adiposity, is associated with increases in the likelihood of getting T2D and CVDs 4 (11). Some studies showed hip circumference and thigh fat adiposity alone as an independent indicator of obesity-related metabolic risks (12). More recent evidence suggests that GF fat depot shows a protective role against these metabolic disorders; fat storage in the GF depot is preferred over storage in the abdominal depot to gain a metabolically healthy state (13–16). These opposing relationships reflect the unique intrinsic characteristics of different fat depots.

Explaining the factors that lead to distinct BFD and resolving the mechanisms behind the protective role of some depots, may help in finding novel therapeutic venues for preventing or treating obesity-related diseases. In this review, we summarized the important factors affecting BFD, whether uncontrollable (genetics, epigenetic factors, age, and hormonal profile) or controllable (diet, exercise, and consumption of certain medications). Then, we compiled detailed evidence supporting the protective role of the GF fat depot against metabolic disorders, including IR, T2D, and CVDs. Finally, we summarized the reported possible mechanisms explaining how this protection is accomplished.

2 Fat depots and gluteal-femoral fat biology

Adipose fat depots are the specific location where the fat tissue is built and located in the body. The human body stores fat in 2 anatomically and physiologically distinct fat depots; subcutaneous adipose tissue (SCAT) and visceral adipose tissue (VAT). SCAT is located between the skin and superficial musculature, and it can be further classified into superficial SCAT and deep SCAT (17). The main depots where SCAT is stored are the inguinal region (GF regions), and the anterior and the back of the abdominal wall as shown in Figure 1. On the other hand, VAT depot, also known as intra-abdominal fat, is the fat tissue stored within/between the visceral organs, such as liver and intestines (8). Physiologically, VAT is more vascular, innervated, and contains less preadipocyte differentiating capacity, greater percentage of large adipocytes and larger number of inflammatory and immune cells as compared to SCAT (18). Individuals with enhanced abdominal obesity, more specifically with high VAT depot content are referred to apple shaped, as compared to pear shaped individuals that express higher GF content (19), as illustrated in Graphical Abstract.

The GF fat as a combined depot is referred to as gluteal-femoral fat (GF fat/GF adipose tissue) as shown in Figure 1. In literature, GF

fat is referred to as thigh, hip, or lower body fat, and could be further classified into different depots. These depots differ in their biology, histology, and physiological role. GF subcutaneous adipose tissue (GF-SCAT) is the fat tissue stored under the skin of the lower body part. Another thigh fat depot is the thigh intermuscular adipose tissue (thigh IMAT) illustrated in Figure 1, which is considered as an ectopic fat depot; fat stored in tissues other than specialized adipose tissue, skeletal muscle tissue in this case (8). In the following section, we discussed the factors affecting BFD, favoring specific depots over the others.

3 Factors affecting body fat distribution

Body fat distribution (BFD) is affected and mediated by multiple factors. Genetic background plays a significant role in determining BFD. Studies have shown that certain genes are associated with increased abdominal fat, while others are associated with increased fat in the hips and thighs (20–25). Epigenetic differences, which impact obesity, may also have an influence on body fat distribution (26–28). Ethnicity, aging, and hormonal changes also play a role in BFD (7, 29, 30). On the other hand, certain factors can be induced to manipulate



BFD. Diet restriction and exercise can lead to fat reduction in the abdominal region (31). Certain medications, such as those used to treat diabetes or high blood pressure, can also lead to a redistribution in body fat (19). The factors that affect BFD are summarized in Table 1.

4 Gluteal-femoral fat protection against insulin resistance

Insulin resistance (IR) is a defined as a state where the body cells become irresponsive to the physiological insulin levels secreted in the blood (46). IR is a risk factor for many chronic metabolic disorders. The major consequence of IR is the progression of type 2 diabetes, where individuals diagnosed with IR are expected to develop T2D in $5 \sim 10$ years (46). T2D is highly diverse disease. To personalize the treatment of T2D, a study attempted to classify the disease into clusters, depending on six variables: including glutamate decarboxylase antibodies, age, BMI, HbA1c, and homoeostatic model assessment 2 estimates of β -cell function and insulin resistance. The significance of this classification is to generate a way to estimate the risk of diabetic complications, which they successfully showed in their study. According to the researchers, one cluster (highest insulin resistance) showed more association to kidney disease, another cluster (insulin deficient) showed the highest risk of retinopathy, while a third cluster associated with higher fat liver, indicating a relevance of VAT to IR (47).

Previously, obesity was believed to be a major leading cause of IR. However, recent investigation showed that abdominal obesity is positively associated with IR, while considerable debate remains concerning the potential of a positive effect of thigh fat in metabolic protection against IR progression (19). This theory explains the metabolically healthy obese individuals and how their bodies escape the negative metabolic consequences of obesity (48). Thigh fat is protective against IR; a study demonstrated that lower thigh SCAT and higher VAT both contribute to insulin resistance profile. The study was conducted on a cohort from the general population, it demonstrated that high thigh SCAT alone or low VAT alone were positively associated with IS state while Individuals with combination of high SCAT and low IMAT had the highest IS state among all groups (49). A more recent study investigated both thigh fat depots (thigh SCAT and thigh IMAT) in a female cohort. They showed that higher thigh-SCAT and lower thigh-IMAT are associated with insulin sensitivity (14). The same findings were supported with studies done on children obese cohort (age of 7-17 years old), where a study suggested a protective effect of thigh fat, and its association to a healthy metabolic profile [more favorable HOMA-IR score, triglyceride serum level, systolic blood pressure (SBP), C-reactive protein (CRP), resistin, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), cholesterol, adiponectin, and blood lipid profile] (15). Whereas another study conducted on postmenopausal women suggested that thigh fat was associated with a favorable metabolic profile, including serum triglycerides, HDL-cholesterol, and various IR markers (50). Due to the reported association between thigh fat and protection against IR,

TABLE 1 Summary of the factors affecting body fat distribution.

| Factor | Description | References |
|------------|--|---------------------|
| Genetic | Many loci associated with BFD, that are greatly distinct from those of BMI and obesity risk. | (20-22, 24, 26, 29) |
| | S70C variant in Coiled-Coil Domain Containing 92 gene is associated with decreased visceral fat (VAT) and increased leg fat (GF- | |
| | SCAT). | |
| | Dynein axonemal heavy chain 10 (DNAH10), Plexin-D1 (PLXND1), R-spondin 3 (RSPO3), and lysophospholipase-like 1 | |
| | (LYPLAL1) genes are high determinants of BFD. | |
| | HOXA5 expression is upregulated in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue compared to gluteal subcutaneous adipose tissue. | |
| Epigenetic | DNA promoter methylation of IRS1 in human adipose tissue is related to fat distribution. | (32) |
| Ethnicity | Asian ethnic group has more visceral fat as compared to Europeans. | (13, 29, 33) |
| | Asian women have less GF-SCAT, and greater abdominal VAT compared to Caucasians and African Americans. | |
| | Mexican Americans have more visceral obesity as compared to non-Hispanic white Americans. | |
| Aging and | Aging leads to changes in BFD, with a shift from subcutaneous to visceral fat, especially in men. | (7, 30, 34) |
| hormonal | Estrogen accumulates fat in GF-SCAT depot, and not in abdominal fat depot. | |
| changes | Menopausal transition is associated with fat accumulation in the central body depot (abdominal) as compared to thigh depot. | |
| Diet and | Aerobic exercises and dietary restrictions have been found to be independent factors contributing to a substantial decrease in | (31, 35–37) |
| exercise | visceral adipose tissue (VAT). | |
| | Combined effect of exercise and diet may have more effect on BFD. | |
| | The Mediterranean diet leads to mobilizing ectopic fat to other healthy depots, while exercise only leads to ectopic fat loss. | |
| Medication | Glucocorticoid VAT mass through lipolysis stimulation by activating the hormone-sensitive lipase and increasing catecholamine | (38–45) |
| | sensitivity. | |
| | Metformin significantly decreases abdominal obesity, including SAT and VAT reduction. | |
| | Thiazolidinediones were associated with a reduction of VAT/SAT ratio in a dose-dependent manner. | |
| | SGLT2 inhibitors were associated with a significant reduction of liver and pancreatic fat. | |
| | Glucagon-like Peptide Receptor Agonists (GLP-1) lead to a significant reduction in VAT. | |
| | New GLP-1/GIP/glucagon triple agonist therapy normalizes body weight. | |
| | DPP-4 inhibitors, in combination with metformin are associated more reduction in visceral fat compared to metformin alone. | |

a study suggested that regional adiposity, including thigh fat size could be used as a predictive way to predict the risk of developing IR. They reported that each increase in thigh fat led to a 59% decrease in the odds of becoming insulin resistant, independently from confounders (age, BMI, visceral adiposity, and gender) (51).

It has been reported that a larger gluteal femoral fat is associates with lower prevalence of IR, prediabetes, and dyslipidemia (52). However, as explained in the previous section, not all thigh fat seems to be protective. A study assessed critical biomarkers and how their levels are different among individuals with different BFDs. The findings suggested a significantly lower insulin resistance and triglycerides levels in individuals with higher GF fat (13), but according to Snijder et al. (52), only thigh-SCAT was found to be associated with favorable metabolic profiles. Higher thigh-SCAT was shown to be associated with lower transformed triglycerides (in both genders), higher HDL-cholesterol, and lower blood glucose level (in males only).

The revised studies showed how GF-SCAT is beneficial as a protective fat depot against metabolic disease. In contrast, IMAT is an ectopic depot for fat storage. In contrary with SCAT, fat deposition in IMAT is highly associated with increase IR and T2D (53). One suggested mechanism of how IMAT promotes IR progression is because fat accumulation within the thigh muscular tissue leads to reduced blood circulation, and decreased insulin uptake efficiency by the muscle cells (54). These studies confirm the association between GF SCAT levels, not GF IMAT, and developing IR leading to multiple metabolic disorders, including type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease as explained in the following section.

5 Gluteal-femoral fat cardio protection

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are a general term that describes a range of pathologies affecting the health of the heart, the blood vessels, or the pericardium. It is critical to study the risk factors affecting and leading to CVDs as these diseases can be fatal. Previous studies have shown a clear association between BFD and the risk of developing CVDs (19, 50, 55). While increased fat storage in the abdominal depot; mainly ectopic visceral fat is associated with high CVDs progression risk, high GF fat storage was shown to be cardioprotective (56).

The cardioprotective role of GF fat has been confirmed in many studies involving diverse human subjects with different ages, BMIs, and diseases. As early as 1991, thigh fat has a negative association with cardiovascular diseases was first hypothesized. High thigh fat was shown to contribute to lipoprotein plasma profile; an indicator of lower risk of cardiovascular diseases (57). Following that finding, more research groups started showing the same correlation among different models. Accumulating evidence shows an association between increased lower body adiposity and GF fat and healthy lipid profile. Many studies showed evidence that elevated GF fat is associated with better serum lipid levels, including lower low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol profile, and higher highdensity-cholesterol levels, which are indicators of improved cardiovascular health⁸. Van Pelt et al. (50) showed an enhanced triglycerides level in individuals with higher GT fat as compared to others with the same BMI.

In addition to improved serum lipid profile, increased GF mass has been shown to be directly associated with enhanced vascular health, including lower aortic calcification, decreased progression of present aortic calcification, as well as decreased arterial stiffness in a women cohort (58). Furthermore, studies showed a direct effect between GF fat and cardiac diseases. Yusuf et al. (59), conducted a study that involved 27,000 participants, they showed a negative association between hip circumference and the risk of myocardial infarction. Another study confirmed that a larger hip circumference is associated with lower risk of developing coronary heart disease in a population involving both genders (60). Shay et al. (16) reported that women characterized with higher GF fat content and suffer from type-1-diabetes have shown less risk of developing coronary artery disease, which was not shown in men.

The protective effect of GF fat against CVD risk persists even with aging. A study was conducted on healthy elderly women, they confirmed a strong association between GF-fat and protection against vascular damage (55). These studies confirm the tight association between GF levels and the risk of CVDs. More studies were well revised by Manolopoulos et al. (61). In the following section, we will revise the reported mechanisms that explain this association, as well as the possible mechanisms that need more investigation to be proven.

6 Mechanisms of gluteal-femoral fat metabolic protection

As mentioned previously, thigh fat shows protective properties against IR and CVDs. While the mechanism behind this association remains not fully understood, research suggests three major mechanisms by which this protection is achieved. These mechanisms ultimately enhance metabolic health and lower the risk of developing IR and CVDs.

6.1 Catecholamine-mediated lipolysis

Lipids are mobilized by adipocyte lipolysis, a fundamental process of hydrolyzing triacylglycerol to fatty acids for internal or systemic energy use. The rate of lipolysis is low in the subcutaneous femoral-gluteal region, intermediate in the subcutaneous abdominal region and high in the visceral region (62). Indeed, abdominal adipocytes showed β -adrenergic lipolytic sensitivity 10–20-fold greater than gluteal adipocytes; this is due to an increase in the total number of β -adrenoceptors in this depot (63).

A study showed that the steady-state mRNA levels of betaadrenergic receptors BAR 1 and BAR 2 were about twice as high in abdominal as in gluteal adipocytes of men and women (p < 0.01) explained by an increased expression of the genes that encode for *BAR 1* and *BAR 2* (64). In women, variation in the affinity properties of the α -2 adrenoceptor is an additional factor. Abdominal adipocytes showed a 40 times lower α -2 adrenergic antilipolytic sensitivity than did gluteal adipocytes (63).

The decreased action of β -adrenergic receptors and increased activity of α_2 -adrenergic adrenoceptors in combination with defects in hormone sensitive lipase function inhibits the lipolytic effect of catecholamines in subcutaneous fat cells, whereas increased activity of β -adrenergic receptors and decreased activity of α_2 -adrenoceptors increases the lipolytic response in visceral fat cells. These abnormalities in catecholamine function promote release of free fatty acids from the visceral fat cells to the liver through the portal system and might cause several of the metabolic complications to upper-body obesity (62).

6.2 Gluteal-femoral adipose depot acts as a buffer to control excess lipids

The protective properties of GF fat against insulin resistance and cardiovascular diseases relies mainly on the fact that it is physiologically different from other fat depots, especially abdominal fat depot. This mechanism suggests that the protection is due to the nature of thigh depot. Most of the thigh stored fat is stored in the subcutaneous fat depot (GF SCAT) rather than the ectopic thigh depot (GF IMAT). Fat storage in the GF SCAT depot keeps the excess fat away from the visceral region, which is linked to high risk of metabolic disorder progression. Additionally, accumulating evidence from in vivo and in vitro studies showed a differential regulation of GF SCAT fat mechanisms of fatty acid uptake and release at the adipocyte level. In case of increased dietary lipid intake, GF SCAT depot becomes a long-term store of free fatty acids, preventing them from accumulating in ectopic fat depots, especially in the viscera and within vital organs (65). This is likely since GF fat depot has a relatively high lipoprotein lipase activity as compared to other depots, making it a better reservoir of excess circulating fatty acids. This storage prevents lipid overflow within abdominal visceral depot, causing reduced lipotoxicity, as well as decreased risk of IR and CVDs on the long run (13).

This theory simply shows that the protective association is due to the absence of the risk, rather than an actual protection mechanism (66). However, more recent research has shown other mechanisms that contribute to this protection. According to Tran et al. (67), the protective effect of GF SCAT is not due to its depot, but rather to intrinsic differences between this depot and visceral fat depot. This research group assessed how transplanting GF SCAT from healthy mice to the visceral depot of metabolically unhealthy mice, which lead to enhanced metabolic profile in the recipient mice, including decreased total body weight, fat mass, blood glucose, and insulin levels. These findings recommend that the difference is not as simple as GF SCAT working as a buffer to control excess fat from getting stored in the visceral region. GF SCAT certainly plays a more crucial role at the physiological level to gain this protection and improve insulin sensitivity. Recent studies suggest that GF SCAT is intrinsically different from other depots as is it plays a critical role as an endocrine organ that is associated with a protective adipokine profile. The protective role of GF SCAT as an endocrine organ is discussed in detail in the next section.

6.3 Gluteal-femoral adipose depot contributes to lipoprotein profile and secretes protective adipokines

Lipoproteins are molecular structures that consist of proteins associated with fat with the main function to transport lipids (triglycerides and cholesterols) throughout the body (68) and serve an important role in metabolic health. The two major types of lipoproteins are the high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL), which are often referred to as "good" and "bad" cholesterol in the metabolic disorder context. Terry et al. (57) showed a positive correlation between thigh fat and HDL levels, and where the first to suggest that thigh fat contributes to plasma lipoprotein profiles and might predict lower risk of metabolic disorders, mainly CVDs.

Conversely, Adipokines are special cytokines secreted by adipose tissue components, including adipocytes and other cells as macrophages. Adipokines (adiponectin and Leptin) are mainly produced by the adipocyte component of the adipose tissue, while interleukins (such as IL-6) are produced by residential macrophages (61). It is known that a healthy adipokine profile is associated with reduced risk developing CVDs. Recent studies suggested that GF depot has a different secretome profile than other depots. It was shown to be associated with elevated levels of beneficial adipokines, and less pro-inflammatory adipokines as opposed to abdominal fat depot.

6.3.1 Leptin

Leptin is a critical adipokine in terms of energy metabolism by controlling energy intake and storage as a fat mass (69). Leptin is predominantly expressed by isolated subcutaneous adipocytes as opposed to omental adipocytes, particularly in women (70). Leptin secretion levels are higher in SCAT as compared to VAT. In terms of mRNA expression of Leptin, no previous studies have compared leptin expression level among different SCATs. However, some studies indirectly suggested that the basal expression level of leptin does not differ among SCAT, and it is the same among abdominal SCAT and thigh SCAT (71). As a secreted adipokine, leptin levels negatively correlate with waist to hip ratio (72). A study conducted by Picó et al. (73) reported that the hormone leptin plays a key role in regulating the size and function of fat depots. Based on that, the authors suggest that targeting the leptin pathway may be a potential therapeutic strategy for managing metabolic disorders (73). All previous studies recommend a differential level of leptin and its association with fat distribution. However, the direct association and definition of leptin level as a mechanism of thigh fat protection is an area that needs more investigation.

6.3.2 Adiponectin

Adiponectin is a hormone, an adipokine associated with insulin sensitivity and inflammation. Low levels of adiponectin are associated with increased risk of several metabolic diseases, including CVDs. Recently, adiponectin levels were shown to be significantly lower in individuals with high abdominal fat depot, while adiponectin levels were higher with high GF fat depot (74). This opposing effect of different depots on differential serum adiponectin levels lead a more recent study to assess that as a suggested mechanism of GF fat cardioprotection (75). Gradidge et al. (75) conducted a cross sectional study on a female cohort. They first confirmed the positive association of GF fat with adiponectin serum levels. Then, they proved a negative correlation between GF fat with triglyceride level and insulin resistance, a critical risk factors of developing CVDs (75). Although the study was not conclusive, it gives insight of a tight association between GF fat, adiponectin serum levels, and CVD risk factors (75). Another study showed that higher thigh fat results in higher adiponectin level, leading to enhanced insulin sensitivity (76). In conclusion, a higher GF fat is associated with higher adiponectin secretion and enhanced metabolic health.

6.3.3 IL-6

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is an inflammatory cytokine produced by multiple tissues including adipose tissue, mainly by macrophages residing in the tissue (77). The secreted level of IL-6 correlates with obesity, the higher the BMI the higher the IL-6 levels in the plasma (78). In terms of different depots, IL-6 increases with visceral fat mass increase, and is negatively correlated with thigh fat mass (79). A study compared the IL-6 profile among obese individuals expressing different BFD profiles with and without metabolic syndrome. They first showed that BFD explains the difference between the obese participants in metabolic health, which they linked to higher levels of IL-6 blood levels, concluding that individuals with a more favorable BFD (lower VAT and higher thigh IMAT) express a more favorable inflammatory profile and metabolic health as compared to their unhealthy counterparts (same BMI, gender, and age group) (48). There are not enough studies to show a causality link between IL-6 profile and thigh fat protective role, and more investigation is needed in this area.

6.3.4 DPP4

DPP4 plays a major role in glucose metabolism. It is responsible for the degradation of incretins such as GLP-1. A comprehensive proteomic profiling of the human adipocyte secretome identified dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP4) as a novel adipokine that may impair insulin sensitivity in an autocrine and paracrine fashion, the protein levels of DPP4 are fivefold higher in VAT compared with SAT in a cohort of obese patients (80).

7 Conclusion

The BFD is a highly accurate indicator of metabolic health due to its association with IR, T2D, and CVDs. Th factors that contribute to fat distribution include genetic background, age, hormonal changes, lifestyle (diet and exercise), and medication consumption. It is necessary to understand BFD, as fat storage in certain depots shows a protective effect against metabolic disorders. The gluteal femoral fat depot is one of these depots. Many reports showed its protection against IR, and its metabolic complications (T2D and CVDs). The mechanisms of this protection include three major mechanisms: first, GF depot demonstrates a lower rate of lipolysis. Second, GF depot acts as a metabolic reservoir of excess lipids, preventing them from being stored in the visceral fat depot. And finally, GF depot has a unique physiological nature of GF in terms of lipoproteins, adipokines, and

References

1. World Obesity Federation Global Obesity Observatory. (2023). *World obesity day atlases | obesity atlas*. Available at: https://data.worldobesity.org/publications/?cat=19

2. Micheletti Cremasco M, Mulasso A, Moroni A, Testa A, Degan R, Rainoldi A, et al. Relation among perceived weight change, sedentary activities and sleep quality during COVID-19 lockdown: a study in an academic Community in Northern Italy. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:2943. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18062943

3. Lin X, Li H. Obesity: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and therapeutics. Front Endocrinol. (2021) 12:706978. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.706978

4. Goran MI, Ball GDC, Cruz ML. Obesity and risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in children and adolescents. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2003) 88:1417–27. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021442

5. Kovesdy CP, Furth SL, Zoccali C. Obesity and kidney disease. Can J Kidney Health Dis. (2017) 4:205435811769866. doi: 10.1177/2054358117698669

cytokines secretion, it produces protective cytokines (leptin and adiponectin) in higher levels as compared to other depots, while secreting lower levels of proinflammatory adipokines and cytokines (DPP4 ND IL-6). The protective effect of GF fat is interesting, and the mechanisms behind it is still an active area of research that merits further studying to be fully understood.

Author contributions

MA: Investigation, Visualization, Writing – original draft. KN: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. ME: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research was funded by the Qatar National Research Fund (QNRF) (grant no. NPRP13S-1230-190008).

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Qatar Foundation for funding this project.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Divella R, Mazzocca A, Daniele A, Sabbà C, Paradiso A. Obesity, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and adipocytokines network in promotion of Cancer. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2019) 15:610–6. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.29599

7. Frank AP, de Souza SR, Palmer BF, Clegg DJ. Determinants of body fat distribution in humans may provide insight about obesity-related health risks. *J Lipid Res.* (2019) 60:1710–9. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R086975

8. Chait A, den Hartigh LJ. Adipose tissue distribution, inflammation and its metabolic consequences, including diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2020) 7:22. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.00022

9. Palavicini JP, Chavez-Velazquez A, Fourcaudot M, Tripathy D, Pan M, Norton L, et al. The insulin-sensitizer pioglitazone remodels adipose tissue phospholipids in humans. *Front Physiol.* (2021) 12:784391. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.784391

10. Hermsdorff HHM, Monteiro JBR. Visceral, subcutaneous or intramuscular fat: where is the problem? *Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol.* (2004) 48:803–11. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302004000600005

11. Kobayashi M, Ogawa S, Tayama J, Sagara I, Takeoka A, Bernick P, et al. Intraabdominal fat accumulation is an important predictor of metabolic syndrome in young adults. *Medicine*. (2020) 99:e22202. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000022202

12. Lissner L, Björkelund C, Heitmann BL, Seidell JC, Bengtsson C. Larger hip circumference independently predicts health and longevity in a Swedish female cohort. *Obes Res.* (2001) 9:644–6. doi: 10.1038/oby.2001.85

13. Yim JE, Heshka S, Albu JB, Heymsfield S, Gallagher D. Femoral-gluteal subcutaneous and intermuscular adipose tissues have independent and opposing relationships with CVD risk. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md. (1985) 104:700–7. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.01035.2007

14. Goss AM, Gower BA. Insulin sensitivity is associated with thigh adipose tissue distribution in healthy postmenopausal women. *Metabolism*. (2012) 61:1817–23. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2012.05.016

15. Samouda H, De Beaufort C, Stranges S, Hirsch M, Van Nieuwenhuyse JP, Dooms G, et al. Cardiometabolic risk: leg fat is protective during childhood. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2016) 17:300–8. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12292

16. Shay CM, Secrest AM, Goodpaster BH, Kelsey SF, Strotmeyer ES, Orchard TJ. Regional adiposity and risk for coronary artery disease in type 1 diabetes: does having greater amounts of gluteal-femoral adiposity lower the risk? *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2010) 89:288–95. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2010.03.028

17. Wronska A, Kmiec Z. Structural and biochemical characteristics of various white adipose tissue depots. *Acta Physiol.* (2012) 205:194–208. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2012.02409.x

18. Pond CM. The evolution of mammalian adipose tissues In: ME Symonds, editor. *Adipose tissue biology*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2017). 1–59.

19. Alser M, Elrayess M. From an apple to a pear: moving fat around for reversing insulin resistance. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:14251. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph192114251

20. Neville MJ, Wittemans LBL, Pinnick KE, Todorčević M, Kaksonen R, Pietiläinen KH, et al. Regional fat depot masses are influenced by protein-coding gene variants. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0217644. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217644

21. Justice AE, Karaderi T, Highland HM, Young KL, Graff M, Lu Y, et al. Proteincoding variants implicate novel genes related to lipid homeostasis contributing to bodyfat distribution. *Nat Genet.* (2019) 51:452–69. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0334-2

22. Loh NY, Minchin JEN, Pinnick KE, Verma M, Todorčević M, Denton N, et al. RSPO3 impacts body fat distribution and regulates adipose cell biology in vitro. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:2797. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16592-z

23. Shungin D, Winkler TW, Croteau-Chonka DC, Ferreira T, Locke AE, Mägi R, et al. New genetic loci link adipose and insulin biology to body fat distribution. *Nature*. (2015) 518:187–96. doi: 10.1038/nature14132

24. Heid IM, Jackson AU, Randall JC, Winkler TW, Qi L, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. Meta-analysis identifies 13 new loci associated with waist-hip ratio and reveals sexual dimorphism in the genetic basis of fat distribution. *Nat Genet*. (2010) 42:949–60. doi: 10.1038/ng.685

25. Fox CS, Liu Y, White CC, Feitosa M, Smith AV, Heard-Costa N, et al. Genomewide association for abdominal subcutaneous and visceral adipose reveals a novel locus for visceral fat in women. *PLoS Genet.* (2012) 8:e1002695. doi: 10.1371/journal. pgen.1002695

26. Karastergiou K, Fried SK, Xie H, Lee MJ, Divoux A, Rosencrantz MA, et al. Distinct developmental signatures of human abdominal and gluteal subcutaneous adipose tissue depots. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 98:362–71. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2012-2953

27. Hilton C, Neville MJ, Wittemans LBL, Todorcevic M, Pinnick KE, Pulit SL, et al. MicroRNA-196a links human body fat distribution to adipose tissue extracellular matrix composition. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 44:467–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.05.047

28. Divoux A, Karastergiou K, Xie H, Guo W, Perera RJ, Fried SK, et al. Identification of a novel lncRNA in gluteal adipose tissue and evidence for its positive effect on preadipocyte differentiation. *Obes Silver Spring Md.* (2014) 22:1781–5. doi: 10.1002/oby.20793

29. Sun C, Kovacs P, Guiu-Jurado E. Genetics of body fat distribution: comparative analyses in populations with European, Asian and African ancestries. *Genes.* (2021) 12:841. doi: 10.3390/genes12060841

30. St-Onge MP, Gallagher D. Body composition changes with aging: the cause or the result of alterations in metabolic rate and macronutrient oxidation? *Nutr Burbank Los Angel Cty Calif.* (2010) 26:152–5. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2009.07.004

31. Gallagher D, Heshka S, Kelley DE, Thornton J, Boxt L, Pi-Sunyer FX, et al. Changes in adipose tissue depots and metabolic markers following a 1-year diet and exercise intervention in overweight and obese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. (2014) 37:3325–32. doi: 10.2337/dc14-1585

32. Rohde K, Klös M, Hopp L, Liu X, Keller M, Stumvoll M, et al. IRS1 DNA promoter methylation and expression in human adipose tissue are related to fat distribution and metabolic traits. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:12369. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12393-5

33. Haffner SM, Stern MP, Hazuda HP, Pugh J, Patterson JK, Malina R. Upper body and centralized adiposity in Mexican Americans and non-Hispanic whites: relationship

to body mass index and other behavioral and demographic variables. *Int J Obes.* (1986) 10:493–502.

34. Juppi HK, Sipilä S, Fachada V, Hyvärinen M, Cronin N, Aukee P, et al. Total and regional body adiposity increases during menopause-evidence from a follow-up study. *Aging Cell.* (2022) 21:e13621. doi: 10.1111/acel.13621

35. Sabag A, Way KL, Keating SE, Sultana RN, O'Connor HT, Baker MK, et al. Exercise and ectopic fat in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Metab.* (2017) 43:195–210. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2016.12.006

36. Verheggen RJHM, Maessen MFH, Green DJ, Hermus ARMM, Hopman MTE, Thijssen DHT. A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of exercise training versus hypocaloric diet: distinct effects on body weight and visceral adipose tissue. *Obes Rev Off J Int Assoc Study Obes*. (2016) 17:664–90. doi: 10.1111/obr.12406

37. Gepner Y, Shelef I, Schwarzfuchs D, Zelicha H, Tene L, Yaskolka Meir A, et al. Effect of distinct lifestyle interventions on mobilization of fat storage pools: CENTRAL magnetic resonance imaging randomized controlled trial. *Circulation*. (2018) 137:1143–57. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030501

38. Knerr PJ, Mowery SA, Douros JD, Premdjee B, Hjøllund KR, He Y, et al. Next generation GLP-1/GIP/glucagon triple agonists normalize body weight in obese mice. *Mol Metab.* (2022) 63:101533. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2022.101533

39. Ametov AS, Gusenbekova DG. DPP-4 inhibitors and fat metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes In: RG Ahmed, editor. *Diabetes and its complications* (2018). InTech.

40. Curtis JR, Westfall AO, Allison J, Bijlsma JW, Freeman A, George V, et al. Population-based assessment of adverse events associated with long-term glucocorticoid use. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2006) 55:420–6. doi: 10.1002/art.21984

41. Fardet L, Fève B. Systemic glucocorticoid therapy: a review of its metabolic and cardiovascular adverse events. *Drugs.* (2014) 74:1731–45. doi: 10.1007/s40265-014-0282-9

42. Pernicova I, Korbonits M. Metformin-mode of action and clinical implications for diabetes and cancer. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2014) 10:143–56. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.256

43. Wilding J. Thiazolidinediones, insulin resistance and obesity: finding a balance. *Int J Clin Pract*. (2006) 60:1272–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2006.01128.x

44. Ghosh A, Dutta K, Bhatt SP, Gupta R, Tyagi K, Ansari IA, et al. Dapagliflozin improves body fat patterning, and hepatic and pancreatic fat in patients with type 2 diabetes in North India. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 107:e2267–75. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgac138

45. Neeland IJ, Ross R, Després JP, Matsuzawa Y, Yamashita S, Shai I, et al. Visceral and ectopic fat, atherosclerosis, and cardiometabolic disease: a position statement. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2019) 7:715–25. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30084-1

46. Lee SH, Park SY, Choi CS. Insulin resistance: from mechanisms to therapeutic strategies. *Diabetes Metab J.* (2022) 46:15–37. doi: 10.4093/dmj.2021.0280

47. Ahlqvist E, Storm P, Käräjämäki A, Martinell M, Dorkhan M, Carlsson A, et al. Novel subgroups of adult-onset diabetes and their association with outcomes: a datadriven cluster analysis of six variables. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2018) 6:361–9. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30051-2

48. Koster A, Stenholm S, Alley DE, Kim LJ, Simonsick EM, Kanaya AM, et al. Body fat distribution and inflammation among obese older adults with and without metabolic syndrome. *Obesity*. (2010) 18:2354–61. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.86

49. Amati F, Pennant M, Azuma K, Dubé JJ, Toledo FGS, Rossi AP, et al. Lower thigh subcutaneous and higher visceral abdominal adipose tissue content both contribute to insulin resistance. *Obesity*. (2012) 20:1115–7. doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.401

50. Van Pelt RE, Jankowski CM, Gozansky WS, Schwartz RS, Kohrt WM. Lower-body adiposity and metabolic protection in postmenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. (2005) 90:4573–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-1764

51. McLaughlin T, Lamendola C, Liu A, Abbasi F. Preferential fat deposition in subcutaneous versus visceral depots is associated with insulin sensitivity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 96:E1756–60. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0615

52. Snijder MB, Dekker JM, Visser M, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CDA, Yudkin JS, et al. Trunk fat and leg fat have independent and opposite associations with fasting and postload glucose levels: the Hoorn study. *Diabetes Care*. (2004) 27:372–7. doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.2.372

53. Yu F, He B, Chen L, Wang F, Zhu H, Dong Y, et al. Intermuscular fat content in Young Chinese men with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: based on MR mDIXONquant quantitative technique. *Front Endocrinol.* (2021) 12:536018. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2021.536018

54. Goodpaster BH, Thaete FL, Kelley DE. Thigh adipose tissue distribution is associated with insulin resistance in obesity and in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 71:885–92. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.4.885

55. Fantin F, Rossi AP, Cazzadori M, Comellato G, Mazzali G, Gozzoli MP, et al. Central and peripheral fat and subclinical vascular damage in older women. *Age Ageing*. (2013) 42:359–65. doi: 10.1093/ageing/aft005

56. Sam S. Differential effect of subcutaneous abdominal and visceral adipose tissue on cardiometabolic risk. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig*, (2018) 33. doi: 10.1515/hmbci-2018-0014

57. Terry RB, Stefanick ML, Haskell WL, Wood PD. Contributions of regional adipose tissue depots to plasma lipoprotein concentrations in overweight men and women:

possible protective effects of thigh fat. *Metabolism*. (1991) 40:733-40. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(91)90093-C

58. Ferreira I, Snijder MB, Twisk JWR, van Mechelen W, Kemper HCG, Seidell JC, et al. Central fat mass versus peripheral fat and lean mass: opposite (adverse versus favorable) associations with arterial stiffness? The Amsterdam growth and health longitudinal study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2004) 89:2632–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031619

59. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Bautista L, Franzosi MG, Commerford P, et al. Obesity and the risk of myocardial infarction in 27,000 participants from 52 countries: a case-control study. *Lancet Lond Engl.* (2005) 366:1640–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67663-5

60. Canoy D, Boekholdt SM, Wareham N, Luben R, Welch A, Bingham S, et al. Body fat distribution and risk of coronary heart disease in men and women in the European prospective investigation into Cancer and nutrition in Norfolk cohort: a population-based prospective study. *Circulation.* (2007) 116:2933–43. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.673756

61. Manolopoulos KN, Karpe F, Frayn KN. Gluteofemoral body fat as a determinant of metabolic health. Int J Obes. (2005) 34:949–59. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2009.286

62. Arner P. Differences in lipolysis between human subcutaneous and omental adipose tissues. Ann Med. (1995) 27:435-8. doi: 10.3109/07853899709002451

63. Wahrenberg H, Lönnqvist F, Arner P. Mechanisms underlying regional differences in lipolysis in human adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest*. (1989) 84:458–67. doi: 10.1172/JCI114187

64. Arner P, Hellström L, Wahrenberg H, Brönnegård M. Beta-adrenoceptor expression in human fat cells from different regions. *J Clin Invest.* (1990) 86:1595–600. doi: 10.1172/JCI114880

65. Frayn KN. Adipose tissue as a buffer for daily lipid flux. *Diabetologia*. (2002) 45:1201–10. doi: 10.1007/s00125-002-0873-y

66. Van Pelt RE, Evans EM, Schechtman KB, Ehsani AA, Kohrt WM. Contributions of total and regional fat mass to risk for cardiovascular disease in older women. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2002) 282:E1023-8. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00467.2001

67. Tran TT, Yamamoto Y, Gesta S, Kahn CR. Beneficial effects of subcutaneous fat transplantation on metabolism. *Cell Metab.* (2008) 7:410–20. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2008.04.004

68. Feingold KR. Introduction to lipids and lipoproteins In: KR Feingold, B Anawalt, MR Blackman, A Boyce, G Chrousos and E Corpaset al, editors. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc. (2000)

69. Blüher S, Mantzoros CS. Leptin in humans: lessons from translational research. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 89:991S–7S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26788E

70. White UA, Tchoukalova YD. Sex dimorphism and depot differences in adipose tissue function. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2014) 1842:377–92. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.006

71. Chaparro J, Reeds DN, Wen W, Xueping E, Klein S, Semenkovich CF, et al. Alterations in thigh subcutaneous adipose tissue gene expression in protease inhibitorbased highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Metabolism*. (2005) 54:561–7. doi: 10.1016/j. metabol.2004.08.022

72. Minocci A, Savia G, Lucantoni R, Berselli ME, Tagliaferri M, Calò G, et al. Leptin plasma concentrations are dependent on body fat distribution in obese patients. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. (2000) 24:1139–44. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0801385

73. Picó C, Palou M, Pomar CA, Rodríguez AM, Palou A, Gigante DP, et al. Leptin as a key regulator of the adipose organ. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. (2022) 23:13–30.

74. Borges MC, Oliveira IO, Freitas DF, Horta BL, Ong KK, Gigante DP, et al. Obesityinduced hypoadiponectinaemia: the opposite influences of central and peripheral fat compartments. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2017) 46:2044–55. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyx022

75. Gradidge PJL, Jaff NG, Norris SA, Toman M, Crowther NJ. The negative association of lower body fat mass with cardiometabolic disease risk factors is partially mediated by adiponectin. *Endocr Connect.* (2022) 11:e220156. doi: 10.1530/ EC-22-0156

76. Buemann B, Astrup A, Pedersen O, Black E, Holst C, Toubro S, et al. Possible role of adiponectin and insulin sensitivity in mediating the favorable effects of lower body fat mass on blood lipids. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2006) 91:1698–704. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2005-1062

77. Kamimura D, Ishihara K, Hirano T. IL-6 signal transduction and its physiological roles: the signal orchestration model. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol.* (2003) 149:1–38. doi: 10.1007/s10254-003-0012-2

78. Fain JN, Madan AK, Hiler ML, Cheema P, Bahouth SW. Comparison of the release of adipokines by adipose tissue, adipose tissue matrix, and adipocytes from visceral and subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissues of obese humans. *Endocrinology*. (2004) 145:2273–82. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-1336

79. Willett WC, Dietz WH, Colditz GA. Guidelines for healthy weight. N Engl J Med. (1999) 341:427–34. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199908053410607

80. Lamers D, Famulla S, Wronkowitz N, Hartwig S, Lehr S, Ouwens DM, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is a novel adipokine potentially linking obesity to the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes*. (2011) 60:1917–25. doi: 10.2337/db10-1707

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rahele Ziaei, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Abeer M. Aljaadi, Umm al-Qura University, Saudi Arabia Dimitrios Richter, Athens Euroclinic, Greece

*CORRESPONDENCE Rehab Alawad ⊠ rehab.s.alawad@gmail.com

RECEIVED 13 October 2023 ACCEPTED 10 September 2024 PUBLISHED 25 September 2024

CITATION

Alkhunein S, Alawad R, Alhumaidan O, Fatani B, Alolayan A, Alfelyeh T, Alakeel S and Almuhtadi Y (2024) Impact of Iow-carbohydrate diet on health status: an umbrella review. *Front. Nutr.* 11:1321198. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2024.1321198

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Alkhunein, Alawad, Alhumaidan, Fatani, Alolayan, Alfelyeh, Alakeel and Almuhtadi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impact of low-carbohydrate diet on health status: an umbrella review

Sarah Alkhunein¹, Rehab Alawad^{2*}, Omar Alhumaidan¹, Bushra Fatani², Abeer Alolayan², Tarfah Alfelyeh², Shihana Alakeel¹ and Yara Almuhtadi²

¹National Nutrition Committee (NNC), Saudi Food and Drug Authority (SFDA), Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ²Department of Community Health Sciences, College of Applied Medical Sciences, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Introduction: The prevalence of diet-related non-communicable diseases has increased. A low-carbohydrate diet (LCDs) is one of the most popular interventions. Several systematic reviews and meta-analyses of randomised clinical trials (RCTs) and non-RCTs have linked LCDs to the management of obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, epilepsy, and cancer. However, there has been limited appraisal of the strength and quality of this evidence.

Objective: To systematically appraise existing meta-analyses and systematic reviews of RCTs and non-RCTs on the effects of LCDs on different health conditions. To understand their potential efficacy, we summarised the studies' findings and assessed the strength of the evidence.

Methods: A search was conducted using the PubMed database from inception to October 2021 for systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs and non-RCTs investigating the association between LCDs and multiple health outcomes in humans. The Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics Quality Criteria was used for the quality assessment. In addition, the evolution of heterogeneity, strength of the included studies, and effect sizes were extracted from each systematic review and meta-analysis.

Results: Ten systematic reviews and meta-analyses were included. Of the included reviews, 70% were of positive quality, 30% were neutral, and none were negative. The majority of the studies included strength in each systematic review, and the meta-analyses were of low to medium strength. The existing literature indicates that LCDs may help promote weight reduction in adults who are obese or overweight. This conclusion is supported by the findings of studies included in the analysis, which were of low to moderate strength. Furthermore, compelling data indicates a significant association between low-carbohydrate diets (LCDs) and a reduction in haemoglobin A1c levels among those diagnosed with type 2 diabetes mellitus. In contrast, there was a lack of evidence of this correlation in type 1 diabetes mellitus patients or those with cardiovascular diseases. Additionally, there was limited evidence regarding the effectiveness of LCDs in epilepsy and adult cancer patients.

Conclusion: This review thoroughly examines the current body of information on how LCDs affect various health outcomes. Studies have presented evidence to support the idea that incorporating LCDs can positively influence weight management and HbA1c levels. However, there is a lack of information regarding the association between LCDs and individuals with Type 1 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular diseases. Additionally, there is limited empirical evidence to substantiate the effectiveness of LCDs in the treatment of epilepsy and adult cancer patients. The long-term effects of LCDs on mortality and other chronic diseases that account for different carbohydrate subtypes is unclear. Further longitudinal cohort studies are required to reach definitive conclusions.

KEYWORDS

low-carbohydrate diet, ketogenic diet, nutrition, health, umbrella review

1 Introduction

Dietary interventions may affect Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs), which are considered a global public health challenge (1). NCDs are the leading cause of death worldwide, killing over 41 million people annually and accounting for 74 % of all deaths (2, 3). Although the aetiology of NCDs remains unclear, unhealthy diet is emerging as a major modifiable risk factor (4, 5). Thus, there has been an increased interest in the roles of diets and different dietary macronutrient distribution patterns in preventing and managing the severity of NCDs.

Dietary carbohydrates (CHO) are essential macronutrients that provide the body with energy and support its physiological functions (6). Consequently, the recommended intake differs according to age, body weight, physical activity and health conditions. However, the Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range for healthy adults is 45%–65% of the total calorie requirement (7). The various low carbohydrate dietary approaches all restrict the total consumption of carbohydrates to some degree, yet there is a lack of definitive consensus regarding the exact parameters that define low-carbohydrate diets (LCDs). Nonetheless, most LCDs involve decreasing carbohydrate intake to <45% of an individual's total caloric intake.

The different terms used for LCDs often imply differences in the distribution of macronutrients. For example, the Atkins, South Beach, and Zone diets are characterised by <40% CHO, $\sim30\%$ protein, and 30%-55% fat (8, 9). Additionally, the ketogenic diet (KD) was the most restrictive diet among LCDs, which includes 5%-10% CHO, about 10% protein, and replaces the remaining with dietary fat (9).

Several epidemiological studies have shown that high CHO intake is potentially associated with an increased risk of many diseases such as cancer, heart disease, diabetes, and metabolic syndrome (10–14). However, numerous systematic and metaanalysis reviews have shown that subsequent LCDs may lead to some potential improvements in metabolic risk factors, such as haemoglobin A1C (HbA1c) and lipid profile and may help in weight loss (8, 15–22). Nonetheless, studies on the strength and quality of this evidence are limited (8, 15–22). To date, two recent umbrella reviews have been published 2021-2023 have assessed the quality of evidence (23, 24). The first review included 17 metaanalyses of randomised control trials (RCTs) that assessed the association between KD and health outcomes. They found that the KD reduced triglyceride (TG) by MD, -18.36 mg/dl after 3 months and by MD, -24.10 mg/dl after 12 months compared with regular diet and increased low-density lipoprotein (LDL) by MD, 6.35 mg/dl for 12 months compared with regular diet in adults (23). In contrast, the KD decreased seizure frequency in children and adolescents with epilepsy by RR, 5.11 for 3–16 months when compared with regular diet (23).

The second review included 43 meta-analyses of observational studies addressing the association between CHO and 23 health outcomes categorised into five primary domains: (1) 11 types of cancer, (2) all-cause and cause-specific mortality, (3) metabolic diseases including T2DM and metabolic syndrome, (4) digestive system conditions including ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, and inflammatory bowel disorders, and (5) other outcomes comprising coronary heart disease, stroke, Parkinson's disease, and bone fracture (24). Based on a rigorous assessment of the quality of evidence, the study found high-quality evidence associating higher CHO intake with an increased incidence of metabolic syndrome, and potential link of high mortality, as well as a decreased likelihood of developing oesophageal cancer. However, the evidence regarding the relationship between carbohydrate intake and other health outcomes appears to be inconclusive or lacking.

Previous efforts of published umbrella reviews have focused on assessing either one type of LCDs (KD) or the included metaanalyses of observational studies. Hence, the present umbrella review aimed to systematically appraise existing meta-analyses and systematic reviews of RCTs and non RCTs on the effects of LCDs on multiple health conditions to understand their potential efficacy, summaries the studies' findings, and assess the strength of evidence to provide a comprehensive vision.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Design

This umbrella review was conducted to synthesis and investigate the quality of all existing published systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs and non-RCTs to assess the association between LCDs and diverse health conditions. This review was performed according to the 2020 PRISMA Statement and all items of the PRISMA checklist were completed (25).

Abbreviations: BW, body weight; CHO, carbohydrates; CVDs, cardiovascular diseases; FBG, fasting blood glucose; HbA1C, haemoglobin A1c; HDL, highdensity lipoprotein; KD, ketogenic diet; LCD, low carbohydrate Diet; LCKD, low carbohydrate ketogenic diet; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; LFD, low fat diet; N\A, Not available; NCDs, non-communicable diseases; PSA, prostatespecific antigens; RCTs, randomised control trials; T1DM, type 1 diabetes mellitus; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; TC, total cholesterol; TEI, total energy intake; TG, triglycerides; WC, waist circumference.

2.2 Search strategy

Two independent investigators conducted a search using the PubMed database from its inception to October 2021 to identify systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs and non-RCTs that assessed evidence regarding the effects of LCDs on health. The keywords used in this search strategy were: "carbohydrates," "carbohydrate," "carb," "fat," "proteins," "proteinous," "protein," "ketogenic," "keto," and "atkins." Search philtres were used to identify systematic reviews, meta- analyses, and full- text articles. All titles and abstracts were screened to remove duplicates and select potentially eligible articles. Discrepancies were resolved through discussion with a third investigator.

2.3 Study eligibility criteria

Articles were eligible for inclusion if they were systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs and non RCTs including human studies across all age groups, and articles that only aimed to investigate the associations between LCDs and health outcomes, with a restriction that the amount of CHO did not exceed 45% of the total daily caloric intake, were included. Articles meeting the following criteria were excluded: systematic reviews and metaanalyses based on animal studies, experiments with designs other than RCTs or non RCTs, studies that included diets with more than 45% CHO, and articles published in language other than English.

2.4 Data extraction

The research team developed a data extraction form. The data extracted from each systematic review and meta-analysis included the first author's name, publication year, study design, number of studies included in each systematic review and meta-analysis, study population, intervention, comparison group, duration, parameters of interest, evolution of heterogeneity (I²%), and quality of the studies included in each systematic review and meta-analysis. Data were independently extracted by two investigators. Disagreements were resolved through discussion with a third investigator.

2.5 Assessment of the quality of systematic reviews and meta-analyses

The quality of systematic reviews and meta-analyses was evaluated using the Quality Criteria Checklist created specifically for primary research articles by the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (26) and graded into three categories: "(1) Positive: indicates that the review has clearly addressed issues of inclusion/exclusion, bias, generalizability, and data collection and analysis. (2) Negative: indicates that these issues have not been adequately addressed. (3) Neutral: indicates that the review is neither exceptionally strong nor weak." Quality assessment was independently performed by four investigators. The decision was made when three of the four investigators agreed, and all discrepancies were resolved through a discussion with a fifth investigator. To ensure the accuracy of the evaluation, we shared the quality assessment with five Ph.D. nutrition experts. The evaluation was subsequently revised based on the expert feedback and comments.

2.6 Data analysis

The calculation of the effect size was measured in current review by Cohen's *d*. The effect size, denoted as *d*, is calculated manually using the following equation (27): d = (M1 - M2)/spooled. Here, M1 represents the mean of group 1, M2 represents the mean of group 2, and spooled refers to the pooled standard deviations for the two groups. It is crucial to note that the interpretation of the effect size depends on its value. If d falls within the range of $\geq 0.2 \leq 0.499$, it is considered a "small" effect. A value of $\geq 0.5 \leq 0.799$ indicates a "medium" effect, while a value of ≥ 0.8 suggests a "large" effect (28). We assessed heterogeneity using the I^2 statistics, considering $I^2\% \geq 50\%$ as indicative of high heterogeneity (29).

3 Results

3.1 Search results

A total of 274 articles were initially identified, and 255 were excluded after title and abstract screening. Nine of the 19 articles were excluded after applying the inclusion criteria. Finally, 10 eligible articles were included, as shown in Figure 1. A list of the excluded articles is presented in Supplementary material.

3.2 Characteristic of the included systematic reviews and meta-analyses

Among eligible systematic reviews and meta-analyses, different outcomes associated with five health conditions were examined: obesity, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, and epilepsy.

The characteristics of the included reviews are summarised in Table 1. The average number of studies included in each systematic review and meta-analysis was 31 (range: 6–121), and the average number of participants was 4,067 (range: 222–21,942). The participants in all the included reviews were adults, except for one review that included both children and adults (30). Most participants in the included studies were obese or overweight (80%) (8, 17–22, 31), followed by those with T2DM (40%) (17, 19, 22, 31). The most frequently measured health indicators in the included studies were weight (body weight (BW), waist circumference (WC), and body mass index), blood sugar levels [fasting blood glucose (FBG) and haemoglobin A1C (HbA1c)], and lipid profiles.

3.3 Quality and strength of evidence

Quality of evidence indicates the extent to which the article has clearly addressed the issues of inclusion/exclusion, bias, generalizability, and data collection and analysis. The quality of



the included systematic reviews and meta-analyses was assessed using the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics Quality Criteria Checklist, which categorised the quality of evidence into three categories (positive, negative, and neutral) (26). Seven of the 10 eligible reviews (70%) were positive (8, 17, 19–21, 30, 32), three of the 10 eligible reviews were neutral (30%) (18, 22, 31), and none of the included reviews were negative, as shown in Table 2. Based on the findings, the strengths of the included studies as reported by the included systematic reviews and meta-analyses were low to moderate in four of 10 eligible reviews (40%) (8, 17, 19, 21); low to very low in two reviews (20%) (20, 30); and moderate to high strength evidence in one review. Grading information was unavailable for three of 10 included reviews (30%) (18, 22, 31) as shown in Table 2.

3.4 Summary effect size

The results showed that TG, HbA1c, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), and BW were significantly associated with LCD in most of the included systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Figure 2 summarises the effect sizes of all included reviews with similar health indicators for comparison. The findings revealed that most of the reviews reported statistical significance associations between HDL and LCD; however, the effect size was small. In terms of blood glucose indicators, HbA1c was the most frequently reported statistically significant indicator with a medium effect size. Among

weight measurement indicators, the association between BW and LCD was considered to have a large effect size.

3.5 Heterogeneity between studies

There was high heterogeneity in most health indicators in the included studies (52%) and low heterogeneity in six health indicators (26%). In addition, 22% were not available. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses with high heterogeneity included health indicators such as TC, HbA1c, and FBG, as shown in Table 2.

3.6 Weight reduction outcomes

Five of the included reviews measured the indicators of weight gain (BW and WC) in obesity or overweight participants (8, 18, 20) and in participants with T2DM (17, 31). Among the included reviews, BW was the most frequently measured weight indicator. LCDs were linked to a BW decrease in individuals who were obese or overweight (8, 18), as well as those who had T2DM in adults (17, 31). However, only two of the included reviews had a strength rating of low to moderate, and their quality was positive, demonstrating that LCDs were associated with BW reduction with the mean difference of BW (-1 to 2, -3.81, and -7.78 kg in diabetes patients) (8, 17). Moreover, the effect size were medium to large Conversely, the reduction of WC by -0.74 cm was observed in one review with large effect size and P = 0.01; however, the strength

TABLE 1 General characteristics of included systematic reviews and meta-analyses.

| Study number | References | Study design of studies included in each systematic review and meta-analyses | Number of studies included in each systematic review and meta-analyses | Population | Intervention | Comparison group | Duration | Parameters of interest |
|-----------------|--------------------------------------|---|---|--------------------------------------|---------------------|--|---------------------|--|
| 1 | Yuan et al. (31) | 7 RCTs and 6 non-RCTs | 13 | Obese or overweight | KD | Pre-KD | 1-56 weeks | TC |
| | | | | adults with T2DM | | | | TG |
| | | | | | | | | HDL |
| | | | | | | | | LDL |
| | | | | | | | | BW |
| | | | | | | | | HbA1C |
| | | | | | | | | FBG |
| 2 | Choi et al. (17) | RCTs | 14 | Obese or overweight adults with or | KD | LFDs | 2 h to 12 months | HDL |
| | | | | without T2DM | | | | TG |
| | | | | | | | | BW |
| | | | | | | | | HbA1C |
| 3 | Sackner- Bernstein et al. (18) | RCTs | 17 | Obese or overweight adults | LCDs | LFDs | 2–24 months | BW |
| 4 | Ge et al. (8) | RCTs | 121 | Obese or overweight adults | LCDs | Moderate macronutrient dietary patterns (CHO: >40% of TEI) | 6 months | BW |
| 5 | Schwingshackl et al. (19) | RCTs | 56 | Obese or overweight adults | LCKDs + exercise | Usual diet + exercise | 4–24 weeks | HbA1C |
| 6 | Lee and Lee (20) | RCTs | 7 | Obese or overweight adults | LCKDs + exercise | Usual diet + exercise | 4–24 weeks | WCTG |
| 7 | Chawla et al. (21) | RCTs | 38 | Obese adults | LCDs | LFDs | 1-24 months | HDL |
| | | | | | | | | TG |
| 8 | Yang et al. (32) | RCTs | 6 | Adults with cancer | KD | Non-KD | 4-24 weeks | PSA—Tumour marker |
| 9 | Martin-McGill et al. (30) | RCTs | 13 | Children and adults with epilepsy | KD | Usual care | 2-16 months | Seizure freedom 50% or greater reduction in seizure frequency |
| 10 | Hu et al. (22) | RCTs | 23 | Adults with metabolic risk | LCDs | LFDs | 6-24months | HDL TG |

T2DM, Type 2 diabetes mellitus; KD, ketogenic diet; CHO, carbohydrate; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; BW, body Weight; HBA1C, Haemoglobin A1C; FBG, fasting blood glucose; LFDs, low-fat diets; LCDs, low carbohydrate diet; LCKDs, low-carbohydrate ketogenic diets; WC, Waist Circumference; PSA, Prostate-Specific Antigen; TEI, Total Energy intake; RCTs, randomised clinical trials.

| References | Parameters of interest | Evolution of heterogeneity (/²%) | The strength of the studies included in each systematic review and meta-analyses | The quality of the included systematic reviews and meta-analyses | Effect size |
|----------------------------------|---|--|---|---|---|
| Yuan et al. (31) | TC | 75% | N\A | Neutral | Medium effect |
| | TG | 67% | - | | Large effect |
| | HDL | 78% | | | Small effect |
| | LDL | 71% | | | Small effect |
| | BW | 92% | | | Large effect |
| | HbA1C | 68% | | | Medium effect |
| | FBG | 71% | | | Large effect |
| Choi et al. (17) | HDL | 10% | Low to moderate | Positive | Medium effect |
| | TG | 59% | | | Medium effect |
| | BW | 78% | | | Medium effect |
| | HbA1C | 23% | | | Medium effect |
| Sackner-Bernstein et al. (18) | BW | N\A | N\A | Neutral | Large effect |
| Ge et al. (8) | BW | N/A | Low to moderate | Positive | Large effect |
| Schwingshackl et al. (19) | HbA1C | N\A | Low to moderate | Positive | Small effect |
| Lee and Lee (20) | WC | 0% | Low | Positive | Large effect |
| | TG | 0% | | | Medium effect |
| Chawla et al. (21) | HDL | N/A | Low to moderate | Positive | Small effect |
| | TG | N\A | | | Small Effect |
| Yang et al. (32) | PSA— Tumour marker | 78.3% | Moderate to high | Positive | Large Effect |
| Martin-McGill et al. (30) | Seizure freedom | 0% | Low to very low | Positive | The association not statistically significant |
| | 50% or greater reduction in seizure frequency | 0% | | | The association not statistically significant |
| Hu et al. (22) | HDL | 78.6% | N\A | Neutral | Large effect |
| | TG | 55.6% | | | Large effect |

TABLE 2 Heterogeneity, strength of the included studies, quality of the included reviews, and effect size.

TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; BW, body Weight; HBA1C, haemoglobin A1C; FBG, fasting blood glucose; WC, waist circumference; PSA, prostate-specific antigen; NA, not available.

of evidence was low (20). Furthermore, the findings suggest that weight reduction is achievable if proper calories are estimated for weight loss regardless of the carbohydrate composition of the diet.

3.7 Cardiovascular diseases outcomes

The types of LCDs had different effects on risk factors associated with CVDs (total cholesterol, TG, HDL, and LDL) in different populations (17, 20–22, 31). However, there is a lack of studies that directly measure the incidence of CVDs or that were conducted on CVD patients. LCDs have been associated with decreased TG and increased HDL levels which are considered to reduce the risk of CVD. Different effect sizes between studies for TG and HDL as shown in Figure 2. These results were obtained in obese and overweight participants, with or without T2DM, and in participants with metabolic syndrome (17, 20–22, 31). Nevertheless, these results are supported by a low-to-moderate level of evidence. A limited review of Neutral qualities found that LCD was associated with decreased LDL with small effect size and TC levels with medium effect size (31).

3.8 Diabetes outcomes

Three of the included reviews compared the efficacy of LCDs and other diets on HbA1C percentage. The results from these reviews showed that LCDs resulted in a significant reduction in the



percentage of HbA1c compared to other diets (-0.82 to -0.47%, -0.5% to -0.42%, and 1.07\%) in T2DM patients with medium effect size (17, 31), and small effect size (19). Furthermore, data from one review with neutral quality showed that a who consumed the control diet (-1.29 mmol/L) with large effect size (31).

3.9 Cancer outcomes

Overall, there is limited evidence regarding the safety and effectiveness of LCDs in cancer patients. One included review with positive quality, moderate-to-high strength of included studies, and a large effect size found a statistically significant association between LCDs and one of the crucial tumour markers for prostate cancer (PSA); P = 0.03 in prostate cancer (32).

3.10 Epilepsy outcomes

A Cochrane review suggested that high levels of ketones in the blood caused by KD may reduce the frequency of epileptic seizures in children with drug-resistant epilepsy (30). However, it should be noted that some children experience frequent adverse effects of LCDs, such as constipation, vomiting, nausea, and diarrhoea (30). In adults, the current review showed that there are limited systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs and non-RCTs on the effectiveness of LCDs in epilepsy patients, and the results of the evidence are uncertain (30).

4 Discussion

4.1 Principal findings and possible mechanisms

This umbrella review provides an overview and appraisal of 10 systematic reviews and meta-analyses o RCTs and non RCTs on the effects of LCDs on different outcomes associated with five health conditions obesity, CVDs, T2DM, cancer, and epilepsy. Seventy percent of the included reviews were of positive quality (seven reviews), 30% were neutral (three reviews), and none were negative.

Although most reviews were of positive quality, the strengths of the studies included in each systematic review and metaanalysis ranged from low to medium. The current review includes a systematic and meta-analysis that evaluated prospective cohorts and RCTs studies. These studies included participants from several geographic locations, as well as ethnic and cultural diversity, to minimise variations that could potentially bias the findings. Some of the included meta-analyses contained duplicate articles (primary studies), due to the use of similar keywords during the search phase. In addition, most of the meta-analyses were published between 2020 and 2021. However, this review design focused on summarising the evidence, comparing the effect sizes across all investigated factors, and reporting the heterogeneity across the included studies in each meta-analysis. Pooling the data derived by the same studies, create forest plots, and other summing analyses may brought together to provide one estimate and cause overlapping by over/underestimation of some results, for that reason each meta-analysis review was assessed separately.

Multiple studies have identified various biological mechanisms that indicate significant metabolic and hormonal changes upon achieving high ketone body production or ketosis, in relation to the five health conditions focused in this review (33, 34). Ketone bodies produced by the liver serve as oxidative fuels and markers of carbohydrate deficiency. They may help conserve carbohydrates during periods of low carbohydrate availability by reducing insulin levels and anabolic processes and promoting the conversion of fatty acids from fat storage and diet into ketone bodies for energy (35, 36).

The utilisation of fats for ketone bodies production as energy has led some studies to suggest potential weight loss as a risk factor for the five health conditions on our review. This concept, known as the carbohydrate-insulin model of obesity, suggest that high-glycemic carbohydrates encourage fat storage and hunger, which can be mitigated through lifestyle changes, such as prolonged fasting, extended exercise, or a low-carbohydrate diet to lower insulin levels (37, 38). According to this model, low-carbohydrate diets may reduce the risk of obesity, CVDs, T2DM, and cancer by decreasing body weight and increasing fat utilisation by limiting carbohydrate intake. However, for epilepsy, there was no direct mechanism that suggests how weight loss in the carbohydrateinsulin model of obesity might help improve the outcomes of this condition.

According to the epidemiological study, a reduction of 5 kg/m^2 of height can lead to an average of 27% decrease in the risk of CVDs and a 17% decrease in the risk of T2DM. Additionally, this reduction in body mass may decrease the risk of pancreatic cancer by 14%, colon cancer by 3%, breast cancer by 3%, uterine cancer by 52%, kidney cancer by 31%, bladder cancer by 23%, and liver cancer by 59% (39, 40). Consequently, the effectiveness and efficiency of weight loss resulting from LCD are crucial factors in achieving results that are comparable to those achieved from these epidemiological studies.

Although the expected physiology and mechanisms appeared promising, the evidence reviewed in this paper showed varying degrees of effectiveness when such diet was tested. There was evidence suggesting the effectiveness of LCDs on weight reduction in obesity or overweight adults, supported by the low to moderate strength of the included studies. Moreover, evidence strongly suggested a correlation between LCDs and HbA1c reduction in T2DM patients. In contrast, systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs and non-RCTs that included T1DM patients or those with CVDs are lacking. In addition, the current review showed that there is limited evidence regarding the effectiveness of LCDs in epilepsy and adult cancer patients.

Epidemiological studies suggests that the harmful impact of such diets may be attributed to the significant concern of increased overall fat intake (41). The results indicate that an increase in calories derived from fats can lead to a rise in total serum cholesterol levels by \sim 0.02 mm/L. Additionally, a change of 1 mm/L in total cholesterol could potentially increase the risk of mortality from CVDs by 20%, as indicated by research (42). This might explain the lack of significant findings regarding CVDs on our review. However, it is important to note that the majority of the studies included in this review have not measured the change in cholesterol levels resulting from high fat intake and their subsequent association with CVDs risk outcomes. Instead, the primary focus has been on the direct dietary intake of LCDs in relation to CVDs. Therefore, further research in this area may be necessary to better understand the dose-response relationship, particularly with regards to this specific focus.

4.2 Comparison with other reviews and possible explanations

According to the European Food Safety Authority, individuals are recommended to consume carbohydrates within 45%–60% of their total energy intake (43). This dietary guideline effectively improves metabolic risk factors associated with chronic diseases when combined with reduced total fat and saturated fat consumption (44). Nevertheless, a precise consensus about the definition of LCDs has yet to be reached. Most LCDs typically involve reducing CHO intake to below 45% of the total caloric intake.

Two umbrella reviews have examined the impact of LCDs on various health outcomes. An umbrella summarises and evaluates 43 meta-analyses of observational studies investigating the association between CHO intake and health outcomes, including cancer, mortality, metabolic diseases, digestive system outcomes, and other outcomes (coronary heart disease, stroke, Parkinson's disease, and bone fracture). The findings of this review provided evidence in favour of the correlation between carbohydrate intake and metabolic syndrome. In addition, the researchers proposed that the evidence presented on the negative impact of CHO consumption on coronary heart disease and T2DM was lacking in strength. This finding is consistent with the results of our present review, which indicate that LCDs may enhance risk factors associated with cardiac illnesses and T2DM. Nevertheless, the findings presented in this study are supporting by a low to moderate degree quality of evidence. Additionally, a statistically significant correlation was seen between the use of LCDs and the proportion of HbA1c levels in individuals with T2DM (24).

A recent umbrella review was conducted to systematically identify and summarise relevant meta-analyses of RCTs on KD (23). The analysis included data from 17 meta-analyses, which consisted of a total of 68 RCTs (23). The primary objectives of the review were to identify the effects of KD on health outcomes and to assess the strength of the evidence supporting these effects (23). The study demonstrated positive correlations between KD and various cardiometabolic markers. Furthermore, it was observed that KD had inconsistent effects on TC and LDL levels, resulting in unfavourable outcomes. However, the authors considered 76% of the RCTs to be critically low quality (23). On the contrary, our findings demonstrated an inverse relationship between LCDs and CVD, as evidenced by reduced TG levels and elevated HDL levels. However, it should be noted that the findings presented in this study are supported by a level of evidence that ranges from low to moderate. Additionally, the review demonstrated positive results linked to the KD, including changes in BW, TG, HDL-C, and HbA1c levels. The discovery above aligns with the outcomes obtained from our research. Furthermore, high-quality evidence supports the notion that a KD can effectively reduce the frequency of seizures by 50% or more in children and adolescents (23). This finding is consistent with a large retrospective cohort study that compared KD with usual care, which aim to assess the safety, effectiveness, and retention rate of KD for paediatric with drug-resistant epilepsy found that after KD, the retention rate significantly increased over time by 82.0% at 3 months, 60.6% at 6 months, and 34.1% at 12 months. Additionally, the response rate improved dramatically over 3 months by 55.5%, 6 months by 43.2%, and 12 months by 31.5% (45).

When looking at the effect of other diets such as high-protein diet, the Mediterranean diet, and high fibre diet. We found that there were evidence supporting the improvement of health marks by following these diets. However, there were limited meta-analysis that have been compared the LCDs with different diets types other than control diets. Systematic review and meta-analysis of different dietary approaches to the management of type 2 diabetes was published in 2013, aimed to assess the effect of various diets including (low-carbohydrate, vegetarian, vegan, high-fibre, low glycemic index, Mediterranean, and high-protein diets) on glycemic control, lipids, and weight loss. The results showed that the LCDs, low glycemic, Mediterranean, and high-protein diets were effective in improving different indicators of cardiovascular risk in diabetic people (46).

4.3 Strength and limitations

To the best of our current understanding, this umbrella review represents a pioneering effort in offering a methodical and allencompassing evaluation of published systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs and non-RCTs that examine the impact of LCDs on various human health-related outcomes. This review can assist dietitians, nutritionists, and researchers in evaluating the comparative efficacy of LCDs on many health outcomes. Furthermore, we assessed the methodological rigour. We examined the magnitude of the effect size and heterogeneity among the included reviews to guide future research endeavours.

One potential constraint of this review is the need for a comparative analysis of various LCD kinds, which exhibit variations in the extent of carbohydrate, fat, and protein limits. This omission may have influenced the outcomes of the study. A further factor worthy of consideration pertains to the predominant focus of existing studies on quantifying immediate results, hence neglecting the possibility of secondary effects associated with LCDs that could be discerned using alternative research methodologies. Furthermore, similar to other literature reviews, umbrella reviews are susceptible to biases, particularly appraisal and selection biases.

In summary, this umbrella review comprehensively examines the available information on the effects of LCDs on various health-related outcomes. Several studies have provided data supporting the notion that the utilisation of LCDs can have a beneficial effect on weight management and HbA1c levels. Nevertheless, there is a scarcity of information about the correlation between this connexion in patients with T1DM and CVDs. Furthermore, there is limited empirical support for the effectiveness of LCDs in treating epilepsy and adult cancer patients. Moreover, it is recommended that future research endeavours prioritise investigating the enduring impacts of adhering to LCDs on mortality rates, the prevention and treatment of other chronic diseases, and the examination of how various sources of CHO influence this process.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

SAlk: Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology. RA: Formal analysis, Methodology, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Data

References

1. Corvalán C, Reyes M, Garmendia ML, Uauy R. Structural responses to the obesity and non-communicable diseases epidemic: update on the Chilean law of food labelling and advertising. *Obes Rev.* (2019) 20:367–374. doi: 10.1111/obr.12802

curation, Investigation. OA: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BF: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AA: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. TA: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SAla: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. YA: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. YA: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Moudi Altulayhi for her editorial assistance.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Author disclaimer

The views expressed in this study are those of the authors(s) and do not necessarily reflect those of the SFDA or its stakeholders. Guaranteeing the accuracy and validity of the data was the sole responsibility of the research team.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2024. 1321198/full#supplementary-material

^{2.} WHO [Internet]. (2023). *Noncommunicable diseases*. Available at: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases (accessed September 19, 2023).

3. Tyrovolas S, El Bcheraoui C, Alghnam SA, Alhabib KF, Almadi MAH, Al-Raddadi RM, et al. The burden of disease in Saudi Arabia 1990–2017: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet Planet Health*. (2020) 4:e195–208. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30075-9

4. Kau AL, Ahern PP, Griffin NW, Goodman AL, Gordon JI. Human nutrition, the gut microbiome and the immune system. *Nature*. (2011) 474:327–36. doi: 10.1038/nature10213

5. Varkevisser RDM, van Stralen MM, Kroeze W, Ket JCF, Steenhuis IHM. Determinants of weight loss maintenance: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* (2019) 20:171–211. doi: 10.1111/obr.12772

6. Cummings JH, Stephen AM. Carbohydrate terminology and classification. Eur J Clin Nutr. (2007) 61:S5–18. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602936

7. Trumbo P, Schlicker S, Yates AA, Poos M. Dietary reference intakes for energy, carbohydrate, fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol, protein and amino acids. *J Am Diet Assoc.* (2002) 102:1621–30. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(02)90346-9

8. Ge L, Sadeghirad B, Ball GDC, Da Costa BR, Hitchcock CL, Svendrovski A, et al. Comparison of dietary macronutrient patterns of 14 popular named dietary programmes for weight and cardiovascular risk factor reduction in adults: systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised trials. *BMJ.* (2020) 369. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m696

9. Bough KJ, Rho JM. Anticonvulsant mechanisms of the ketogenic diet. *Epilepsia*. (2007) 48:43–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.00915.x

10. Sadeghi A, Sadeghian M, Nasiri M, Rahmani J, Khodadost M, Pirouzi A, et al. Carbohydrate quantity and quality affect the risk of endometrial cancer: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Clin Nutr.* (2020) 39:1681–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2019.08.001

11. Huang J, Pan G, Jiang H, Li W, Dong J, Zhang H, et al. A meta-analysis between dietary carbohydrate intake and colorectal cancer risk: evidence from 17 observational studies. *Biosci Rep.* (2017) 37:BSR20160553. doi: 10.1042/BSR20160553

12. Livesey G, Livesey H. Coronary heart disease and dietary carbohydrate, glycemic index, and glycemic load: dose-response meta-analyses of prospective cohort studies. *Mayo Clin Proc Innov Qual Outcomes.* (2019) 3:52-69. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocpiqo.2018.12.007

13. Alhazmi A, Stojanovski E, McEvoy M, Garg ML. Macronutrient intakes and development of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J Am Coll Nutr.* (2012) 31:243–58. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2012.10720425

14. Liu YS, Wu QJ, Xia Y, Zhang JY, Jiang YT, Chang Q, et al. Carbohydrate intake and risk of metabolic syndrome: a dose–response meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2019) 29. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2019.09.003

15. Luo W, Zhang J, Xu D, Zhou Y, Qu Z, Yang Q, et al. Low carbohydrate ketogenic diets reduce cardiovascular risk factor levels in obese or overweight patients with T2DM: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9;3101. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1092031

 López-Espinoza MÁ, Chacón-Moscoso S, Sanduvete-Chaves S, Ortega-Maureira MJ, Barrientos-Bravo T. Effect of a ketogenic diet on the nutritional parameters of obese patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:2946. doi: 10.3390/nu13092946

17. Choi YJ, Jeon SM, Shin S. Impact of a ketogenic diet on metabolic parameters in patients with obesity or overweight and with or without type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:2005. doi: 10.3390/nu12072005

18. Sackner-Bernstein J, Kanter D, Kaul S. Dietary intervention for overweight and obese adults: comparison of low- carbohydrate and low-fat diets. a meta- analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0139817. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139817

19. Schwingshackl L, Chaimani A, Hoffmann G, Schwedhelm C, Boeing H. A network meta-analysis on the comparative efficacy of different dietary approaches on glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2018) 33:157–70. doi: 10.1007/s10654-017-0352-x

20. Lee HS, Lee J. Effects of combined exercise and low carbohydrate ketogenic diet interventions on waist circumference and triglycerides in overweight and obese individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:828. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18020828

21. Chawla S, Silva FT, Medeiros SA, Mekary RA, Radenkovic D. The effect of low-fat and low-carbohydrate diets on weight loss and lipid levels: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3774. doi: 10.3390/nu12123774

22. Hu T, Mills KT, Yao L, Demanelis K, Eloustaz M, Yancy WS, et al. Effects of low-carbohydrate diets versus low-fat diets on metabolic risk factors: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2012) 176. doi: 10.1093/aje/kws264

23. Patikorn C, Saidoung P, Pham T, Phisalprapa P, Lee YY, Varady KA, et al. Effects of ketogenic diet on health outcomes: an umbrella review of meta-analyses

of randomized clinical trials. BMC Med. (2023) 21:1-12. doi: 10.1186/s12916-023-02874-y

24. Liu YS, Wu QJ, Lv JL, Jiang YT, Sun H, Xia Y, et al. Dietary carbohydrate and diverse health outcomes: umbrella review of 30 systematic reviews and meta-analyses of 281 observational studies. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:670411. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.670411

25. PRISMA. *PRISMA Checklist.* (2020). Available at: http://prisma-statement. org/prismastatement/checklist.aspx?AspxAutoDetectCookieSupport\$=\$1 (accessed September 20, 2023).

26. Handu D, Moloney L, Wolfram T, Ziegler P, Acosta A, Steiber A. Academy of nutrition and dietetics methodology for conducting systematic reviews for the evidence analysis library. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. (2016) 116:311–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.11.008

27. Statistics how to. *Cohen's D: definition, Examples, Formulas - Statistics How To.* Available at: https://www.statisticshowto.com/probability-and-statistics/statistics-definitions/cohens-d/ (accessed 2024 July 3).

28. Cohen J. A power primer. *Psychol Bull.* (1992) 112:155–9. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.112.1.155

29. Ioannidis JPA, Patsopoulos NA, Evangelou E. Uncertainty in heterogeneity estimates in meta-analyses. *BMJ*. (2007) 335:914–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39343.408449.80

30. Martin-McGill KJ, Bresnahan R, Levy RG, Cooper PN. Ketogenic diets for drug-resistant epilepsy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2020) 6:CD001903. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001903.pub5

31. Yuan X, Wang J, Yang S, Gao M, Cao L, Li X, et al. Effect of the ketogenic diet on glycemic control, insulin resistance, and lipid metabolism in patients with T2DM: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Diabetes.* (2020) 10:38. doi: 10.1038/s41387-020-00142-z

32. Yang YF, Mattamel PB, Joseph T, Huang J, Chen Q, Akinwunmi BO, et al. Efficacy of low-carbohydrate ketogenic diet as an adjuvant cancer therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:1388. doi: 10.3390/nu13051388

33. Mayes PA, Felts JM. Regulation of fat metabolism in the liver. *Nature*. (1967) 215:716-8. doi: 10.1038/215716a0

34. McGarry JD, Foster DW. Hormonal control of ketogenesis. In: Hormones and Energy Metabolism. Boston, MA: Springer (1979), p. 79–96. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-0734-2_4

35. McGarry JD, Foster DW. Regulation of ketogenesis and clinical aspects of the ketotic state. *Metabolism.* (1972) 21:471–89. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(72)90059-5

36. Robinson AM, Williamson DH. Physiological roles of ketone bodies as substrates and signals in mammalian tissues. *Physiol Rev.* (1980) 60:143–87. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1980.60.1.143

37. Paoli A, Rubini A, Volek JS, Grimaldi KA. Beyond weight loss: a review of the therapeutic uses of very-low-carbohydrate (ketogenic) diets. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 67:789–6. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2013.116

38. Passmore R, Johnson RE. The modification of post-exercise ketosis (the CourticeDouglas effect) by environmental temperature and water balance. *Q J Exp Physiol.* (1958) 43:352. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.1958.sp001348

39. Prospective Studies Collaboration, Whitlock G, Lewington S, Sherliker P, Clarke R, Emberson J, et al. Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:1083–96. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60318-4

40. WCRF/AICR, Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and the Prevention of Cancer: A Global Perspective. Washington, DC: AICR (2007).

41. Prospective Studies Collaboration, Lewington S, Whitlock G, Clarke R, Sherliker P, Emberson J, et al. Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55,000 vascular deaths. *Lancet.* (2007) 370:1829–39. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61778-4

42. Clarke R, Frost C, Collins R, Appleby P, Peto R. Dietary lipids and blood cholesterol: quantitative meta-analysis of metabolic ward studies. *BMJ*. (1997) 314:112–7. doi: 10.1136/bmj.314.7074.112

43. EFSA. *EFSA sets European dietary reference values for nutrient intakes* | *EFSA.* Available at: https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/press/news/nda100326 (accessed June 22, 2024).

44. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for carbohydrates and dietary fibre. EFSA J. (2016) 8:2–3. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1462

45. Yang R, Wen J, Wei W, Chen H, Cao D, Chen L, et al. Improving the effects of ketogenic diet therapy in children with drug-resistant epilepsy. *Seizure*. (2022) 94:183–8. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2021.10.021

46. Ajala O, English P, Pinkney J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of different dietary approaches to the management of type 2 diabetes. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 97:505–16. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.042457

Frontiers in Nutrition

Explores what and how we eat in the context of health, sustainability and 21st century food science

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



